Springer INdAM Series 18

Alessandro Michelangeli Gianfausto Dell'Antonio *Editors* 

# Advances in Quantum Mechanics

Contemporary Trends and Open Problems



# **Springer INdAM Series**

#### Volume 18

Editor-in-Chief

G. Patrizio

#### **Series Editors**

C. Canuto G. Coletti G. Gentili A. Malchiodi P. Marcellini E. Mezzetti G. Moscariello T. Ruggeri More information about this series at http://www.springer.com/series/10283

Alessandro Michelangeli • Gianfausto Dell'Antonio Editors

# Advances in Quantum Mechanics

Contemporary Trends and Open Problems



*Editors* Alessandro Michelangeli International Sch. for Advanced Studies SISSA Trieste, Italy

Gianfausto Dell'Antonio International Sch. for Advanced Studies SISSA and Sapienza University of Rome Trieste, Italy

ISSN 2281-518X ISSN 2281-5198 (electronic) Springer INdAM Series ISBN 978-3-319-58903-9 ISBN 978-3-319-58904-6 (eBook) DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-58904-6

Library of Congress Control Number: 2017942781

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Printed on acid-free paper

This Springer imprint is published by Springer Nature The registered company is Springer International Publishing AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

# Preface

This volume is a collection of recent contributions and up-to-date surveys on many contemporary trends in the mathematics of quantum mechanics, and more generally on mathematical problems arising in quantum many-body dynamics, quantum graph theory, cold atoms and unitary gases. Special emphasis is devoted to development of the specific mathematical tools needed, including linear and nonlinear Schrödinger equations, topological invariants, non-commutative geometry, resonances and operator extension theory.

Most of the contributors are leading international experts or recognised young researchers in mathematical physics, PDE theory and operator theory. The material that they present is the fruit of recent studies that have already become a reference in the community. The underlying motivation from condensed matter physics, solid state physics and ultra-cold atom physics, and the topicality of the research topics, give the volume a distinctive perspective at the edge of mathematics and physics.

A large part of the material was presented and discussed thoroughly on the occasion of the INdAM international meeting entitled "Contemporary Trends in the Mathematics of Quantum Mechanics", which took place in Rome from 4 to 8 July 2016 and which we had the honour of organising thanks to a very generous funding and most helpful logistic support from INdAM. The remainder of the material was produced as a follow-up to that meeting or as closely related work.

First and foremost, our thanks go to the scientific board of INdAM and the responsible administrative staff at the INdAM headquarters in Rome for providing such a stimulating atmosphere and all the necessary practical help. We would also like to warmly acknowledge all contributors and anonymous reviewers for their careful work and the quality of their reports. Finally, we extend our gratitude to the extremely supportive team of the INdAM Springer Series for their services throughout the editing and publishing process.

Trieste, Italy Trieste, Italy April 2017 Gianfausto Dell'Antonio Alessandro Michelangeli

# Contents

Shell Interactions for Dirac Operators Naiara Arrizabalaga	1
<b>Correlation Inequalities for Classical and Quantum XY Models</b> Costanza Benassi, Benjamin Lees, and Daniel Ueltschi	15
<b>Dissipatively Generated Entanglement</b> Fabio Benatti	33
Abelian Gauge Potentials on Cubic Lattices M. Burrello, L. Lepori, S. Paganelli, and A. Trombettoni	47
Relative-Zeta and Casimir Energy for a Semitransparent Hyperplane Selecting Transverse Modes Claudio Cacciapuoti, Davide Fermi, and Andrea Posilicano	71
Analysis of Fluctuations Around Non-linear Effective Dynamics Serena Cenatiempo	99
<b>Logarithmic Sobolev Inequalities for an Ideal Bose Gas</b> Fabio Cipriani	121
Spherical Schrödinger Hamiltonians: Spectral Analysis and Time Decay Luca Fanelli	135
<b>On the Ground State for the NLS Equation on a General Graph</b> Domenico Finco	153
Self-Adjoint Extensions of Dirac Operator with Coulomb Potential Matteo Gallone	169
<b>Dispersive Estimates for Schrödinger Operators with Point</b> <b>Interactions in</b> $\mathbb{R}^3$ Felice Iandoli and Raffaele Scandone	187

Chern and Fu-Kane-Mele Invariants as Topological Obstructions Domenico Monaco	201
Norm Approximation for Many-Body Quantum Dynamics and Bogoliubov Theory Phan Thành Nam and Marcin Napiórkowski	223
Effective Non-linear Dynamics of Binary Condensates and Open Problems Alessandro Olgiati	239
Remarks on the Derivation of Gross-Pitaevskii Equation with Magnetic Laplacian Alessandro Olgiati	257
On the Inverse Spectral Problems for Quantum Graphs M. Olivieri and D. Finco	267
Double-Barrier Resonances and Time Decay of the Survival Probability: A Toy Model	283

# **About the Editors**

**Prof. Gianfausto Dell'Antonio's** research focuses on axiomatic quantum field theory, local field theory, mathematics of quantum mechanics, critical point theory, stochastic processes, singular interactions, and many-body problems. He graduated in theoretical physics in Milan, was research associate in Copenhagen (Niels Bohr institute), Zurich (ETH), and Evanson (Northwestern), then professor of theoretical physics in Naples and professor of rational mechanics and mathematical physics at La Sapienza Rome. He held visiting professorships at the IHES Paris, Courant Institute NY, The University of Marseille Luminy, Bielefeld University (as a recipient of a von Humboldt prize), CERN, SISSA Trieste, and the Interdisciplinary Laboratory of the Accademia dei Lincei. He held also visiting positions at the IAS Princeton, Ecole Politechnique Paris, Paris Dauphine, Harvard University, and the Max Planck Institute inMunich.

**Dr. Alessandro Michelangeli's** research is in the field at the interface between mathematical physics, functional analysis and non-linear dispersive PDE, and operator theory, with a special focus on the mathematical methods for quantum mechanical and condensed matter systems. He graduated in theoretical physics in Pisa and in mathematical physics at SISSA Trieste, held faculty positions at the LMU Munich and SISSA Trieste, and visiting positions at the University of Cambridge, SISSA Trieste, and Bilkent.

### **Shell Interactions for Dirac Operators**

Naiara Arrizabalaga

Abstract In this notes we gather the latest results on spectral theory for the coupling H + V, where  $H = -i\alpha \cdot \nabla + m\beta$  is the free Dirac operator in  $\mathbb{R}^3$ , m > 0 and *V* is a measure-valued potential. The potentials under consideration are given in terms of surface measures on the boundary of bounded regular domains in  $\mathbb{R}^3$ . We give three main results. We study the self-adjointness. We give a criterion for the existence of point spectrum, with applications to electrostatic shell potentials,  $V_{\lambda}$ , which depend on a parameter  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ . Finally, we prove an isoperimetric-type inequality for the admissible range of  $\lambda$ 's for which the coupling  $H + V_{\lambda}$  generates pure point spectrum in (-m, m). The ball is the unique optimizer of this inequality.

**Keywords** Dirac operator • Self-adjoint extension • Shell interaction • Singular integral

#### 1 Introduction and Main Results

The quantum mechanical model presented in these notes is a shell interaction for Dirac operators, which is nothing else than the free Dirac operator in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  coupled with a measure-valued potential.

Given  $m \ge 0$ , the free Dirac operator in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  is defined by  $H = -i\alpha \cdot \nabla + m\beta$ , where  $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \alpha_3)$ ,

$$\alpha_{j} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \sigma_{j} \\ \sigma_{j} & 0 \end{pmatrix} \quad \text{for } j = 1, 2, 3, \quad \beta = \begin{pmatrix} I_{2} & 0 \\ 0 & -I_{2} \end{pmatrix}, \quad I_{2} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix},$$
and
$$\sigma_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \sigma_{2} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -i \\ i & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \sigma_{3} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}$$
(1)

N. Arrizabalaga (🖂)

University of the Basque Country, UPV/EHU Apdo. 644, 48080 Bilbao, Spain e-mail: naiara.arrizabalaga@ehu.eus

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2017

A. Michelangeli, G. Dell'Antonio (eds.), Advances in Quantum Mechanics, Springer INdAM Series 18, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-58904-6\_1

is the family of *Pauli matrices*. It is a first order symmetric differential operator that was introduced by Paul Dirac in 1929. The operator is a local version of  $\sqrt{-\Delta + m^2}$  and satisfies

$$H^{2} = (-\Delta + m^{2})I_{4}, \tag{2}$$

which turns to be a very useful property. The equation associated to this operator describes a relativistic electron or positron which moves freely as there were no external forces nor other particles, and, has played a fundamental role in various areas of physics and mathematics.

In this work we show spectral properties of the coupling H + V where V is a singular potential located at the boundary of a bounded regular domain. The first point is to construct a domain where these operators are self-adjoint. Secondly, we give a criterion for the existence of eigenvalues of H + V. This criterion is a kind of Birman-Schwinger principle adapted to our setting. We apply this criterion to electrostatic shell potentials,  $V_{\lambda}$ , where  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$  is the coupling constant, for which we are able to prove more specific spectral properties. Finally, we study an isoperimetric-type inequality for the possible  $\lambda$ 's for which the operator  $H + V_{\lambda}$  have non trivial eigenvalues in (-m, m). We also show that the ball is the unique optimizer of this inequality.

Note that one can take m = 0 in the definition of H, however, throughout these notes we assume m > 0 to allow the existence of a nontrivial pure point spectrum in the interval (-m, m) for the corresponding couplings.

The results presented in these notes have been obtained in a joint work with Albert Mas and Luis Vega (see [1-3]).

#### 1.1 Self-Adjointness for H + V

The problem of self-adjointness of Dirac operators has a long history starting in the early 1970s. In what respects to shell interactions, the case of the sphere was previously studied in [4] by J. Dittrich, P. Exner and P. Seba. Since the proofs for that case rely heavily on spherical symmetry and spherical harmonics, it is not possible to extend those arguments to a more general domains, as it is our case.

First, let us present our setting. The ambient Hilbert space is  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3, \mu)^4$  with respect to the Lebesgue measure  $\mu$ . Given a bounded regular domain  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^3$  with boundary  $\partial \Omega$  and surface measure  $\sigma$ , our aim is to find domains  $D \subset L^2(\mathbb{R}^3, \mu)^4$  in which  $H + V : D \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^3, \mu)^4$  is an unbounded self-adjoint operator, where H is defined in the sense of distributions and V is a suitable  $L^2(\partial\Omega, \sigma)^4$ -valued potential. To shorten notation we denote  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3, \mu)^4$  and  $L^2(\partial\Omega, \sigma)^4$  by  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)^4$  and  $L^2(\sigma)^4$ , respectively. We construct the domain D as follows: by assumption, V is  $L^2(\sigma)^4$ valued. Thus, given  $\varphi \in D$ , we can write  $V(\varphi) = -g$  in the sense of distributions for some  $g \in L^2(\sigma)^4$ . Moreover, since  $(H + V)(\varphi) \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)^4$ , we can also write  $(H + V)(\varphi) = G$  for some  $G \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)^4$ . Therefore,  $H(\varphi) = G + g$  in the sense of distributions, and therefore,  $\varphi$  should be the convolution  $\phi * (G + g)$ , where

$$\phi(x) = \frac{e^{-m|x|}}{4\pi |x|} \left( m\beta + (1+m|x|) \ i\alpha \cdot \frac{x}{|x|^2} \right)$$

is a fundamental solution of H. This fundamental solution can be easily computed by using (2). In particular,

$$D \subset \{\varphi = \phi * (G+g) : G \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)^4, g \in L^2(\sigma)^4\} \text{ and}$$
  
$$V(\varphi) = -g \text{ for all } \varphi = \phi * (G+g) \in D.$$
(3)

To ensure that H+V is self-adjoint on D, we need to impose some relations between G and g with the aid of bounded self-adjoint operators  $\Lambda : L^2(\sigma)^4 \to L^2(\sigma)^4$ . In other words, given suitable  $\Lambda$ 's, following (3) we find domains  $D_{\Lambda}$  (which depend on  $\Lambda$ ) where H + V is self-adjoint.

We consider the potential V given by (3) as a generic potential since it seems to be prescribed from the beginning as  $V(\varphi) = -g$  for all  $\varphi = \phi * (G + g) \in D_A$ , so V is independent of  $\Lambda$ . Hence, if we want to work with a given boundary potential, that we will denote by  $V_{\sigma}$ , the key idea to construct a domain where  $H + V_{\sigma}$  is selfadjoint is to find a particular bounded self-adjoint operator  $\Lambda$  so that  $V_{\sigma}(\varphi) = -g$ for all  $\varphi \in D_{\Lambda}$ .

Let us roughly mention the idea behind the generic potential V given by (3). If we know that the gradient of a function  $\varphi$  has an absolutely continuous part G and a singular part g supported on  $\partial \Omega$  (in our setting,  $V(\varphi) \in L^2(\sigma)^4$  and  $(H + V)(\varphi) \in$  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)^4$ ), then  $\varphi$  must have a jump across  $\partial \Omega$ , and this jump completely determines the singular part of the gradient (that is, the jump determines the value  $V(\varphi)$ ). For a given potential  $V_{\sigma}$ , one manages to define a suitable domain D such that, for any  $\varphi \in D$ , the singular part which comes from the gradient on the jump of  $\varphi$  across  $\partial \Omega$ agrees with  $-V_{\sigma}(\varphi)$ . From now on we will simply denote by V the given boundary potential under study.

Observe that *H*, which is symmetric and initially defined in  $\mathscr{C}^{\infty}_{c}(\mathbb{R}^{3})^{4}(\mathbb{C}^{4}\text{-valued})$  functions in  $\mathbb{R}^{3}$  which are  $\mathscr{C}^{\infty}$  and with compact support), can be extended by duality to the space of distributions with respect to the test space  $\mathscr{C}^{\infty}_{c}(\mathbb{R}^{3})^{4}$  and, in particular, it can be defined on  $\mathscr{X} = \{G\mu + g\sigma : G \in L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3})^{4}, g \in L^{2}(\sigma)^{4}\}$ .

In order to construct a domain of definition where H + V is self-adjoint, we have to consider the trace operator on  $\partial \Omega$ . So, to ensure that the trace operator is well defined, we need to use the following lemma: if  $G \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)^4$ , then  $\phi * G \in W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^3)^4$  and  $(\phi * G)|_{\partial \Omega} \in L^2(\sigma)^4$  (see [1]).

Given an operator between vector spaces  $S : X \to Y$ , denote  $kr(S) = \{x \in X : S(x) = 0\}$  and  $rn(S) = \{S(x) \in Y : x \in X\}$ .

**Theorem 1.1** Let  $\Lambda : L^2(\sigma)^4 \to L^2(\sigma)^4$  be a bounded operator. Set

$$D = \{\phi * (G+g) : G\mu + g\sigma \in \mathscr{X}, \ (\phi * G)_{|_{\partial \Omega}} = \Lambda(g)\} \subset L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)^4$$

and H+V on D, where  $V(\varphi) = -g\sigma$  and  $(H+V)(\varphi) = G$  for all  $\varphi = \phi * (G+g) \in D$ . If  $\Lambda$  is self-adjoint and  $\operatorname{rn}(\Lambda)$  is closed, then  $H+V : D \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)^4$  is an essentially self-adjoint operator. Moreover, if  $\{\phi * h : h \in \operatorname{kr}(\Lambda)\}$  is closed in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)^4$ , then H+V is self-adjoint.

Furthermore, if  $\Lambda$  is self-adjoint and semi-Fredholm, then H + V is self-adjoint. We study other differential operators and measures and other relations between  $(\phi * G)_{|a_{\Omega}}$  and g, but we consider that they are not relevant for the purpose of these notes. In [7] (see also [8, Sect. 2]), A. Posilicano gives a more general result. There the author provides, in a very general framework, all self-adjoint extensions of symmetric operators obtained by restricting a self-adjoint operator to a dense subspace of the domain. See [1] for the complete details.

#### 1.2 Point Spectrum for H + V

The natural question that comes to our mind after studying the self-adjointness of shell interactions for Dirac operators is: what can we say about their point spectrum? In this section, we show a criterion for the existence of eigenvalues in (-m, m) for H + V. This criterion is a kind of Birman-Schwinger principle adapted to our setting. Afterwards, we show some applications to the case of electrostatic shell potentials.

For convenience, set  $\Omega = \Omega_+$ . Let  $\partial \Omega$  be the boundary of a bounded Lipschitz domain  $\Omega_+ \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ , let  $\sigma$  and N be the surface measure and outward unit normal vector field on  $\partial \Omega$ , respectively, and set  $\Omega_- = \mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \overline{\Omega_+}$ , so  $\partial \Omega = \partial \Omega_{\pm}$ . Note that  $\sigma$  is 2-dimensional. Since we are not interested in optimal regularity assumptions, for the sequel we assume that  $\partial \Omega$  is of class  $\mathscr{C}^2$ .

Before stating the main result of this subsection, we need to consider some properties of operators defined only at the boundary of the domain. Let  $a \in (-m, m)$ , a fundamental solution of H - a for  $x \in \mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \{0\}$  is given by

$$\phi^{a}(x) = \frac{e^{-\sqrt{m^{2}-a^{2}|x|}}}{4\pi |x|} \left( a + m\beta + \left( 1 + \sqrt{m^{2}-a^{2}}|x| \right) i\alpha \cdot \frac{x}{|x|^{2}} \right).$$

**Lemma 1.2** Given  $g \in L^2(\sigma)^4$  and  $x \in \partial \Omega$ , set

$$C^a_{\sigma}(g)(x) = \lim_{\epsilon \searrow 0} \int_{|x-z| > \epsilon} \phi^a(x-z)g(z) \, d\sigma(z)$$

and

$$C^{a}_{\pm}(g)(x) = \lim_{\Omega_{\pm} \ni y \xrightarrow{nt} x} (\phi^{a} * g\sigma)(y),$$

where  $\Omega_{\pm} \ni y \xrightarrow{nt} x$  means that  $y \in \Omega_{\pm}$  tends to  $x \in \partial \Omega$  non-tangentially. Then, the Cauchy type singular operator  $C^a_{\sigma}$  and the operators  $C^a_{\pm}$  are bounded and linear

in  $L^2(\sigma)^4$ . Moreover, the following holds:

(i)  $C^a_{\pm} = \mp \frac{i}{2} (\alpha \cdot N) + C^a_{\sigma}$  (Plemelj–Sokhotski jump formulae), (ii) for any  $a \in [-m, m]$ ,  $C^a_{\sigma}$  is self-adjoint and  $-4(C^a_{\sigma}(\alpha \cdot N))^2 = I_4$ .

The following criterion relates the eigenvalues of H + V with a spectral property of bounded operators in  $L^2(\sigma)^4$  mentioned in Lemma 1.2, that is, it relates a problem in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  with a problem settled exclusively on  $\partial \Omega$ .

**Proposition 1.3** Let H + V be as in Theorem 1.1. Given  $a \in (-m, m)$ , there exists  $\varphi = \phi * (G+g) \in D$  such that  $(H+V)(\varphi) = a\varphi$  if and only if  $\Lambda(g) = (C_{\sigma}^{a} - C_{\sigma})(g)$  and  $G = a\varphi^{a} * g$ . Therefore,  $\operatorname{kr}(H+V-a) \neq 0$  if and only if  $\operatorname{kr}(\Lambda + C_{\sigma} - C_{\sigma}^{a}) \neq 0$ .

#### **1.2.1** Applications to Electrostatic Shell Potentials

In this summary we are particularly interested in the case of electrostatic shell potentials as the ones defined in the theorem below,  $V_{\lambda}$ . These potentials are also known as  $\delta$ -shell potentials. It is for these potentials for which we give the isoperimetric-type inequality detailed in the next subsection.

**Theorem 1.4** Let  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$  and  $a \in (-m, m)$ .  $D = \{\varphi = \phi * (G + g) : (\phi * G)|_{\partial\Omega} = -(1/\lambda + C_{\sigma})g\}$ , and  $V_{\lambda}(\varphi) = \frac{\lambda}{2}(\varphi_{+} + \varphi_{-})$ , where  $\varphi_{\pm}$  are the boundary values of  $\varphi$  when approaching  $\partial\Omega$  from  $\Omega_{+}$  or  $\Omega_{-}$ .

- (i)  $H + V_{\lambda}$  defined on D is self-adjoint for all  $\lambda \neq \pm 2$ .
- (*ii*)  $Ker(H + V_{\lambda} a) \neq 0$  iff  $Ker(1/\lambda + C_{\sigma}^{a}) \neq 0$ .
- (iii)  $H + V_{\lambda}$  and  $H + V_{-4/\lambda}$  have the same eigenvalues in [-m, m].
- (iv) If  $|\lambda| \notin [1/\|C^a_{\sigma}\|, 4\|C^a_{\sigma}\|]$ , then  $Ker(H + V_{\lambda} a) = 0$ .
- (v) If  $|\lambda| \notin [1/C, 4C]$ , where  $C = \sup_{a \in (-m,m)} ||C_{\sigma}^{a}|| < \infty$ , then  $H + V_{\lambda}$  has no eigenvalues in (-m, m).
- (vi) If  $\Omega_{-}$  is connected, then  $H + V_{\lambda}$  has no eigenvalues in  $\mathbb{R} \setminus [-m, m]$ .

The last theorem shows that there are a lower and upper thresholds on the possible values of  $\lambda$  in order to have non trivial eigenvalues in (-m, m). This is different from what happens with other similar potentials, such as the Coulomb potential or the characteristic function of a ball. The Coulomb potential, for example, generates eigenvalues for any small  $\lambda$ . The self-adjointness for the cases  $\lambda = \pm 2$  is currently under study.

#### **1.3** Isoperimetric-Type Inequality

Previously, we found that for the case of electrostatic shell potentials there is no possible  $\varphi$  verifying

$$(H+V_{\lambda})(\varphi) = a\varphi \tag{4}$$

for any  $a \in (-m, m)$  if  $|\lambda|$  is either too big or too small. More precisely, we showed that there exist upper and lower thresholds  $\lambda_u(\partial \Omega)$  and  $\lambda_l(\partial \Omega)$ , respectively, with  $0 < \lambda_l(\partial \Omega) \le 2 \le \lambda_u(\partial \Omega)$  and such that if  $|\lambda| \notin [\lambda_l(\partial \Omega), \lambda_u(\partial \Omega)]$  then there exists no nontrivial  $\varphi$  verifying (4) for some  $a \in (-m, m)$ .

The main purpose of this section is to determine how small can  $[\lambda_l(\partial \Omega), \lambda_u(\partial \Omega)]$ be under some constraint on the size of  $\partial \Omega$  and/or  $\Omega$ .

Given a compact set  $E \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ , the *Newtonian capacity* of *E* (sometimes referred in the literature as *electrostatic* or *harmonic capacity*) is defined by

$$\operatorname{Cap}(E) = \left(\inf_{\nu} \iint \frac{d\nu(x) \, d\nu(y)}{4\pi \, |x-y|}\right)^{-1},$$

where the infimum is taken over all probability Borel measures  $\nu$  supported in *E*. Sometimes in the literature, the  $4\pi$  appearing in the definition of Cap(*E*) is changed by another precise constant. For the case of open sets  $U \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ , one defines

$$\operatorname{Cap}(U) = \sup{\operatorname{Cap}(E) : E \subset U, E \operatorname{compact}}$$

Let us mention some examples of constraints where the Newtonian capacity appears. Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^3$  be a bounded smooth domain. On the one hand, we have the following isoperimetric inequality

$$36\pi \operatorname{Vol}(\Omega)^2 \leq \operatorname{Area}(\partial \Omega)^3$$

On the other hand, the Pólya-Szegö inequality, [6], asserts that

$$\operatorname{Cap}(\overline{\Omega}) \ge 2(6\pi^2 \operatorname{Vol}(\Omega))^{1/3},$$

where  $\nu$  is the probability measure and supp $(\nu) \subset \overline{\Omega}$ . In both cases, equality holds if and only if  $\Omega$  is a ball. Our main result in this sense is the following one.

**Theorem 1.5** Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^3$  be a bounded domain with smooth boundary and assume that

$$m \frac{\operatorname{Area}(\partial \Omega)}{\operatorname{Cap}(\Omega)} > \frac{1}{4\sqrt{2}}.$$
(5)

Then

$$\sup\{|\lambda| : \operatorname{kr}(H+V_{\lambda}-a) \neq 0 \text{ for some } a \in (-m,m)\}$$
$$\geq 4\left(m \frac{\operatorname{Area}(\partial \Omega)}{\operatorname{Cap}(\Omega)} + \sqrt{m^{2} \left(\frac{\operatorname{Area}(\partial \Omega)}{\operatorname{Cap}(\Omega)}\right)^{2} + \frac{1}{4}}\right),$$

 $\inf\{|\lambda| : \operatorname{kr}(H + V_{\lambda} - a) \neq 0 \text{ for some } a \in (-m, m)\}$ 

$$\leq 4 \left( -m \frac{\operatorname{Area}(\partial \Omega)}{\operatorname{Cap}(\Omega)} + \sqrt{m^2 \left( \frac{\operatorname{Area}(\partial \Omega)}{\operatorname{Cap}(\Omega)} \right)^2 + \frac{1}{4}} \right)$$

In both cases, the equality holds if and only if  $\Omega$  is a ball.

#### 2 On the Proof of the Main Results

For the sake of shortness we focus our attention on the proof of the newest result, Theorem 1.5. See [1] for the details on the proof of Theorem 1.1 and [2] for Proposition 1.3 and Theorem 1.4.

There are three key steps on the proof of Theorem 1.5. First, recall that this result is for electrostatics shell potentials. Thus, the starting point is Theorem 1.4 (ii), where we relate (4) with the existence of a nontrivial eigenvalue c(a) of  $C_{\sigma}^{a}$ . Once we have this relation, we show that c(a) is a monotone function of  $a \in (-m, m)$ . This has important consequences because it reduces the problem to the study of the limiting cases  $a = \pm m$ . Thanks to the well-known properties of the Cauchy operator stated in Lemma 1.2, it is sufficient to consider just the case a = m. Hence, it is enough to study  $Ker(1/\lambda + C_{\sigma}^{m})$ . The next step is to prove that solving our optimization problem (to find the optimal  $\lambda$  for which  $Ker(1/\lambda + C_{\sigma}^{m}) \neq 0$ ) is equivalent to minimizing, in terms of  $\Omega$ , the infimum over all  $\lambda > 0$  such that

$$\left(\frac{4}{\lambda}\right)^2 \int_{\partial\Omega} |W(f)|^2 \, d\sigma + \frac{8m}{\lambda} \int_{\partial\Omega} K(f) \cdot \overline{f} \, d\sigma \le \int_{\partial\Omega} |f|^2 \, d\sigma, \tag{6}$$

for all  $f \in L^2(\sigma)^2$ . It is to this infimum  $\lambda$  to which we prove the isoperimetric-type inequality in Theorem 1.5. Finally, we write the isoperimetric-type inequality in terms of area and capacity.

#### 2.1 Monotonicity

The following lemma contains the monotonicity property mentioned above.

**Lemma 2.1** Given  $a \in [-m, m]$ , the eigenvalues of  $C^a_{\sigma}$  form a finite or countable sequence  $\emptyset \neq \{c_j(a)\}_j \subset \mathbb{R}$ , with 1/4 being the only possible accumulation point of  $\{c_j(a)^2\}_j$ . Moreover,  $\frac{d}{da}c_j(a) > 0$  for all  $a \in (-m, m)$  and all j.

As a consequence, given  $a \in (-m, m)$ , the set of real  $\lambda$ 's such that  $\operatorname{kr}(H + V_{\lambda} - a) \neq 0$  form a finite or countable sequence  $\emptyset \neq \{\lambda_j(a)\}_j \subset \mathbb{R}$ , with 4 being the only possible accumulation point of  $\{\lambda_j(a)^2\}_j$ . Furthermore,  $\lambda_j(a)$  is a strictly monotonous increasing function of  $a \in (-m, m)$  for all j.

For any  $a \in [-m, m]$ , the existence of the sequence  $\emptyset \neq \{c_j(a)\}_j \subset \mathbb{R}$  stated in the lemma and its possible accumulation point are guaranteed by the self-adjointness of  $C^a_{\sigma}$  and the fact that if we define  $\Lambda^a_{\pm} = 1/\lambda \pm C^a_{\sigma}$ , then

$$\Lambda^{a}_{+}\Lambda^{a}_{-} = \frac{1}{\lambda^{2}} - (C^{a}_{\sigma})^{2} = \frac{1}{\lambda^{2}} - \frac{1}{4} - C^{a}_{\sigma}(\alpha \cdot N) \{\alpha \cdot N, C^{a}_{\sigma}\},$$

where  $C^a_{\sigma}(\alpha \cdot N)\{\alpha \cdot N, C^a_{\sigma}\}$  is a compact operator and self-adjoint. We want to study  $\partial_a c_j(a)$ . We denote  $\partial_a \equiv \frac{d}{da}$  to shorten. Let  $g_j(a) \in L^2(\sigma)^4$  be such that  $||g_j(a)||_{\sigma} = 1$  and

$$C^a_{\sigma}(g_j(a)) = c_j(a)g_j(a). \tag{7}$$

To differentiate  $c_j(a)$  with respect to a, we take the scalar product of (7) with  $g_j(a)$ , so

$$c_j(a) = \langle c_j(a)g_j(a), g_j(a) \rangle_{\sigma} = \langle C^a_{\sigma}(g_j(a)), g_j(a) \rangle_{\sigma}.$$

Thus, at a formal level and by using that  $C^a_{\sigma}$  is self-adjoint,

$$\partial_a c_j(a) = \langle (\partial_a C^a_\sigma)(g_j(a)), g_j(a) \rangle_\sigma + 2 \operatorname{Re} \langle \partial_a g_j(a), C^a_\sigma(g_j(a)) \rangle_\sigma.$$
(8)

Since  $||g_i(a)||_{\sigma} = 1$  for all  $a \in (-m, m)$ , then (7) gives

$$0 = c_j(a)\partial_a \langle g_j(a), g_j(a) \rangle_{\sigma} = 2\operatorname{Re} \langle \partial_a g_j(a), C^a_{\sigma}(g_j(a)) \rangle_{\sigma}.$$

Hence, we obtain  $\partial_a c_j(a) = \langle (\partial_a C^a_{\sigma})(g_j(a)), g_j(a) \rangle_{\sigma}$ .

To justify the above computations, in particular in what respects to the issue of the principal value in the definition of  $C_{\sigma}^{a}$ , one can decompose the kernel

$$\begin{split} \phi^{a}(x) &= \frac{e^{-\sqrt{m^{2}-a^{2}|x|}}}{4\pi|x|} \left( a + m\beta + i\sqrt{m^{2}-a^{2}}\,\alpha \cdot \frac{x}{|x|} \right) + \frac{e^{-\sqrt{m^{2}-a^{2}|x|}-1}}{4\pi}\,i\left(\alpha \cdot \frac{x}{|x|^{3}}\right) \\ &+ \frac{i}{4\pi}\,\left(\alpha \cdot \frac{x}{|x|^{3}}\right). \end{split}$$

Note that the principal value only concerns to the last term, since the other two are absolutely integrable on  $\partial \Omega$  and actually define compact operators, but the last one does not depend on *a*. At this point, standard arguments in perturbation theory allow us to justify the formal computations carried out above concerning  $\partial_a$ .

The next step is to understand the operator  $\partial_a C_{\sigma}^a$ . Since  $C_{\sigma}^a$  is defined as the convolution operator on  $\partial \Omega$  with the fundamental solution of H - a, and formally  $\partial_a((H - a)^{-1}) = (H - a)^{-2}$ , then, as we may guess,  $\partial_a C_{\sigma}^a$  is defined as the convolution operator on  $\partial \Omega$  with the fundamental solution of  $(H - a)^2$ . In the following lines, we are going to prove the details of this argument. We can easily

compute

$$\partial_a(\phi^a(x)) = \frac{ae^{-\sqrt{m^2 - a^2}|x|}}{4\pi\sqrt{m^2 - a^2}} \left(a + m\beta + i\sqrt{m^2 - a^2}\,\alpha \cdot \frac{x}{|x|}\right) + \frac{e^{-\sqrt{m^2 - a^2}|x|}}{4\pi|x|}.$$
(9)

Since  $-i\alpha \cdot \nabla (e^{-\sqrt{m^2 - a^2}|x|}) = i\sqrt{m^2 - a^2} e^{-\sqrt{m^2 - a^2}|x|} \alpha \cdot \frac{x}{|x|}$ , then,

$$\partial_a(\phi^a(x)) = a \left(H + a\right) \frac{e^{-\sqrt{m^2 - a^2}|x|}}{4\pi\sqrt{m^2 - a^2}} + \frac{e^{-\sqrt{m^2 - a^2}|x|}}{4\pi|x|}.$$
 (10)

A simple calculation shows that

$$(-\Delta + m^2 - a^2) \frac{e^{-\sqrt{m^2 - a^2}|x|}}{8\pi\sqrt{m^2 - a^2}} = \frac{e^{-\sqrt{m^2 - a^2}|x|}}{4\pi|x|},$$
(11)

which combined with (10) and using that  $-\Delta + m^2 - a^2 = (H - a)(H + a)$ , yields

$$\partial_a(\phi^a(x)) = (H+a)^2 \frac{e^{-\sqrt{m^2 - a^2|x|}}}{8\pi\sqrt{m^2 - a^2}}.$$
(12)

By using that  $(4\pi |x|)^{-1}e^{-\sqrt{m^2-a^2}|x|}$  is a fundamental solution of  $-\Delta + m^2 - a^2$  and that  $(H-a)^2(H+a)^2 = (-\Delta + m^2 - a^2)^2$ , because  $-\Delta + m^2 - a^2$  commutes with H + a, then, we finally deduce that  $(H-a)^2 \partial_a(\phi^a(x)) = \delta_0$ , which means that  $\partial_a(\phi^a(x))$  is a fundamental solution of  $(H-a)^2$ , and  $\partial_a C^a_\sigma$  corresponds to the operator of convolution on  $\partial\Omega$  with this kernel. Note that  $\partial_a(\phi^a(x)) = O(1/|x|)$  for  $|x| \to 0$ , so in particular  $\partial_a C^a_\sigma$  is compact in  $L^2(\sigma)^4$ .

Given  $g \in L^2(\sigma)^4$ , set

$$u(x) = \int \partial_a (\phi^a(x - y)) g(y) \, d\sigma(y) \qquad \text{for } x \in \mathbb{R}^3,$$

so  $u = (\partial_a C^a_{\sigma})(g)$  on  $\partial \Omega$ . Using (12), that  $-\Delta + m^2 - a^2$  and H + a commute and (11), we see that for any  $x \in \mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \partial \Omega$ ,

$$(H-a)u(x) = \int (H_x - a)\partial_a(\phi^a(x - y))g(y) \, d\sigma(y) = \phi^a * (g)(x).$$
(13)

 $H_x$  denote the Dirac operator acting as a derivative on the x variable. Since  $\phi^a$  is a fundamental solution of H - a, we see from (13) that  $(H - a)^2 u = 0$  outside  $\partial \Omega$ .

From Lemma 1.2(*i*), we have  $g = i(\alpha \cdot N)(C^a_+(g) - C^a_-(g))$ . Therefore, using the divergence theorem for H - a, that  $(H - a)\phi^a * (g) = 0$  outside  $\partial \Omega$  and (13), we

finally get

$$\langle (\partial_a C^a_\sigma)(g), g \rangle_\sigma = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \partial \Omega} |\phi^a * (g)|^2 \, d\mu.$$
 (14)

Thanks to the Plemelj–Sokhotski jump formulae from Lemma 1.2(*i*), we see that if  $g \in L^2(\sigma)^4$  is such that  $\phi^a * (g) = 0$  in  $\mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \partial \Omega$  then  $C^a_{\pm}(g) = 0$ , and thus g = 0. Therefore, applying (14) to  $g_i(a)$  and plugging it into

$$\partial_a c_i(a) = \langle (\partial_a C^a_\sigma)(g_i(a)), g_i(a) \rangle_a$$

yields

$$\partial_a c_j(a) = \langle (\partial_a C^a_\sigma)(g_j(a)), g_j(a) \rangle_\sigma = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \partial \Omega} |\phi^a * (g_j(a))|^2 \, d\mu > 0.$$

Finally, by setting  $c_j(a) = -1/\lambda_j(a)$  we see that  $\lambda_j(a)$  is a strictly monotonous increasing function of  $a \in (-m, m)$  for all *j*. This finishes the proof of the lemma.

From Theorem1.4 (ii) we know that the study of the eigenvalues of  $H + V_{\lambda}$  is equivalent to the study of eigenvalues of  $C_{\sigma}^{a}$ , and from the previous result the eigenvalues of  $C_{\sigma}^{a}$  are a monotonous increasing function of *a*. Therefore, this reduces the problem to the study of  $a = \pm m$ . Moreover, by using the properties on Lemma 1.2, it is sufficient to consider just the case a = m. Therefore, the problem has been reduced to the study of  $kr(1/\lambda + C_{\sigma}^{m}) \neq 0$ .

#### 2.2 Quadratic Forms

Let us introduce some bounded operators defined exclusively on the boundary of the domain. For  $a \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $\sigma = (\sigma_1, \sigma_2, \sigma_3)$ , where the  $\sigma_j$ 's compose the family of Pauli matrices introduced in (1), define the kernels

$$k^{a}(x) = \frac{e^{-\sqrt{m^{2} - a^{2}|x|}}}{4\pi|x|} I_{2} \quad \text{and} \quad w^{a}(x) = \frac{e^{-\sqrt{m^{2} - a^{2}|x|}}}{4\pi|x|^{3}} \left(1 + \sqrt{m^{2} - a^{2}}|x|\right) i\sigma \cdot x$$

for  $x \in \mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \{0\}$ . Given  $f \in L^2(\sigma)^2$  and  $x \in \partial \Omega$ , set

$$K^{a}(f)(x) = \int k^{a}(x-z)f(z) \, d\sigma(z) \text{ and } W^{a}(f)(x) = \lim_{\epsilon \searrow 0} \int_{|x-z| > \epsilon} w^{a}(x-z)f(z) \, d\sigma(z).$$

That  $K^a$  and  $W^a$  are bounded operators in  $L^2(\sigma)^2$  can be verified similarly to the case of  $C^a_{\sigma}$  in  $L^2(\sigma)^4$ , we omit the details. Moreover, note that

$$C^a_{\sigma} = \begin{pmatrix} (a+m)K^a & W^a \\ W^a & (a-m)K^a \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (15)

For any  $a \in [-m, m]$ ,  $K^a$  is positive and both  $K^a$  and the singular integral operator  $W^a$  are self-adjoint. For simplicity of notation, we write k, w, K and W instead of  $k^m$ ,  $w^m$ ,  $K^m$  and  $W^m$ , respectively. Thus, the study of  $Ker(1/\lambda + C_{\sigma}^m) \neq 0$  is equivalent to find  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$  and u,  $h \in L^2(\sigma)^2$  such that

$$\begin{cases} 2mK(u) + W(h) = -u/\lambda, \\ W(u) = -h/\lambda. \end{cases}$$

Now by using the properties

$$\{(\sigma \cdot N)K, (\sigma \cdot N)W\} = 0 \quad \text{and} \quad [(\sigma \cdot N)W]^2 = -1/4, \tag{16}$$

we get  $u = (4/\lambda)(\sigma \cdot N)W(\sigma \cdot N)(h)$ . Plugging *u* into the first equation we obtain that there exists  $f \in L^2(\sigma)^2$ ,  $f \neq 0$  such that

$$\left(-\frac{8m}{\lambda}K+1-\frac{16}{\lambda^2}W^2\right)f=0.$$

Multiply by  $\overline{f}$ , integrate with respect to  $\sigma$  and we get

$$\left(\frac{4}{\lambda}\right)^2 \int |W(f)|^2 \, d\sigma + \frac{8m}{\lambda} \int K(f) \cdot \overline{f} \, d\sigma = \int |f|^2 \, d\sigma,$$

where the second term on the left hand side is positive. Thus, the quadratic form is decreasing for  $\lambda > 0$ . As a consequence we have

$$\lambda_{\Omega} = \inf\left\{\lambda > 0: \left(\frac{4}{\lambda}\right)^2 \int |W(f)|^2 \, d\sigma + \frac{8m}{\lambda} \int K(f) \cdot \overline{f} \, d\sigma \le \int |f|^2 \, d\sigma, \right\}$$

for all  $f \in L^2(\sigma)^2$ .

These arguments lead us to the next theorem, that is a key ingredient to derive the isoperimetric-type inequalities contained in Theorem 1.5. It gives the connection between the admissible  $\lambda$ 's that generate eigenvalues of  $C_{\sigma}^{\pm m}$  with the optimal constant of the inequality (17).

**Theorem 2.2** Let  $\lambda_{\Omega}$  be the infimum over all  $\lambda > 0$  such that

$$\left(\frac{4}{\lambda}\right)^2 \int |W(f)|^2 \, d\sigma + \frac{8m}{\lambda} \int K(f) \cdot \overline{f} \, d\sigma \le \int |f|^2 \, d\sigma \tag{17}$$

for all  $f \in L^2(\sigma)^2$ . Then,

- (i)  $4(m\|K\|_{\sigma} + \sqrt{m^2\|K\|_{\sigma}^2 + 1/4}) \le \lambda_{\Omega} \le 4(m\|K\|_{\sigma} + \sqrt{m^2\|K\|_{\sigma}^2 + \|W\|_{\sigma}^2}),$
- (ii) If  $\lambda > 0$  is such that  $\operatorname{kr}(1/\lambda + C_{\sigma}^{m}) \neq 0$  then  $\lambda \leq \lambda_{\Omega}$ ,
- (iii) If  $\lambda = \lambda_{\Omega} > 2\sqrt{2}$  then the equality holds, and the minimizers of (17) give rise to functions in kr $(1/\lambda_{\Omega} + C_{\sigma}^{m})$  and vice versa.

For the first part of the theorem, we denote by  $A(\lambda, f)$  the left hand side of (17) for a given  $\lambda > 0$  and  $f \in L^2(\sigma)^2$ . Note that

$$A(\lambda, f) \le \left( \left( \frac{4\|W\|_{\sigma}}{\lambda} \right)^2 + \frac{8m\|K\|_{\sigma}}{\lambda} \right) \|f\|_{\sigma}^2.$$
(18)

Hence, if  $\lambda \geq 4(m\|K\|_{\sigma} + \sqrt{m^2\|K\|_{\sigma}^2 + \|W\|_{\sigma}^2})$  then (18) yields  $A(\lambda, f) \leq \|f\|_{\sigma}^2$  for all  $f \in L^2(\sigma)^2$ , which in turn implies that  $\lambda_{\Omega} \leq 4(m\|K\|_{\sigma} + \sqrt{m^2\|K\|_{\sigma}^2 + \|W\|_{\sigma}^2})$ .

The inequality from below is a bit more involved. Let  $\lambda > 0$  be such that

$$A(\lambda, f) \le \|f\|_{\sigma}^2 \qquad \text{for all } f \in L^2(\sigma)^2.$$
(19)

If we set  $h = \frac{4}{\lambda}(\sigma \cdot N)W(f) \in L^2(\sigma)^2$ , then  $f = -\lambda(\sigma \cdot N)W(h)$  by (16). Furthermore,

$$\int |W(f)|^2 d\sigma = \left(\frac{\lambda}{4}\right)^2 \int |h|^2 d\sigma \quad \text{and} \quad \int |f|^2 d\sigma = \lambda^2 \int |W(h)|^2 d\sigma.$$
(20)

Moreover, using (16) again,

$$\int K(f) \cdot \overline{f} \, d\sigma = \lambda^2 \int K(\sigma \cdot N) W(h) \cdot \overline{(\sigma \cdot N) W(h)} \, d\sigma = \frac{\lambda^2}{4} \int K(h) \cdot \overline{h} \, d\sigma.$$
(21)

Gathering (19) with (20) and (21) yields

$$\int |h|^2 d\sigma + 2m\lambda \int K(h) \cdot \overline{h} \, d\sigma \le \lambda^2 \int |W(h)|^2 \, d\sigma \tag{22}$$

for all  $h \in L^2(\sigma)^2$ . If we multiply (22) by  $16/\lambda^4$  we get

$$\frac{16}{\lambda^4} \int |f|^2 \, d\sigma + \frac{32m}{\lambda^3} \int K(f) \cdot \overline{f} \, d\sigma \le \frac{16}{\lambda^2} \int |W(f)|^2 \, d\sigma$$

for all  $f \in L^2(\sigma)^2$ , which added to (19) gives

$$2m\int K(f)\cdot \overline{f}\,d\sigma \leq \left(\frac{\lambda}{4}-\frac{1}{\lambda}\right)\int |f|^2\,d\sigma \qquad \text{for all } f\in L^2(\sigma)^2.$$

Since K is bounded, positive and self-adjoint, we see from the above inequality that

$$2m\|K\|_{\sigma} = 2m \sup_{\|f\|_{\sigma}=1} \int K(f) \cdot \overline{f} \, d\sigma \leq \frac{\lambda}{4} - \frac{1}{\lambda},$$

which in turn is equivalent to  $\lambda^2 - 8m \|K\|_{\sigma} \lambda - 4 \ge 0$ , since  $\lambda > 0$  by assumption. Therefore, we must have  $\lambda \ge 4(m\|K\|_{\sigma} + \sqrt{m^2\|K\|_{\sigma}^2 + 1/4})$  for all  $\lambda > 0$  satisfying (19). This gives the desired inequality from below for  $\lambda_{\Omega}$ , and finishes the proof of (*i*). Observe that this lower bound for  $\lambda_{\Omega}$  is strictly greater than 2 because  $\|K\|_{\sigma} > 0$ . The proof of (ii) comes from the arguments presented before the theorem. And, for the last part, since *K* is positive,  $A(\lambda, f)$  is a non-increasing function of  $\lambda > 0$  for all  $f \in L^2(\sigma)^2$ . By the definition of  $\lambda_{\Omega}$ , this monotony implies that (17) holds for all  $\lambda \ge \lambda_{\Omega}$  and it is sharp for  $\lambda = \lambda_{\Omega}$ . It remains to be shown that if  $\lambda_{\Omega} > 2\sqrt{2}$  then the equality is attained and that the minimizers give rise to functions in  $kr(1/\lambda_{\Omega} + C_{\sigma}^m)$  and vice versa. We will not give these details in order to shorten the notes, see [3].

The constraint (5) needed in Theorem 1.5, appears precisely as a technical obstruction on the arguments that we use to prove that equality holds in (17). The items (ii) and (iii) in Theorem 2.2 ensure that

$$\lambda_{\Omega} = \sup\{|\lambda| : \operatorname{kr}(1/\lambda + C_{\sigma}^{m}) \neq 0\} \text{ and } 4/\lambda_{\Omega} = \inf\{|\lambda| : \operatorname{kr}(1/\lambda + C_{\sigma}^{m}) \neq 0\}.$$
(23)

#### 2.3 The Isoperimetric-Type Inequality

Finally, in this subsection we gather the previous results and give the isoperimetrictype inequality in terms of area and capacity. Notice that we are looking for an inequality for  $\lambda_{\Omega}$ .

At this point the following result become crucial. If  $\Omega$  is a ball then 2W is an isometry and  $||W_{\Omega}||_{\sigma}^2 = 1/4$ . The opposite implication is proved in [5]. Thus,  $\lambda_{\Omega} = 4(m||K||_{\sigma} + \sqrt{m^2||K||_{\sigma}^2 + 1/4})$ .

For a general  $\Omega$ ,  $||W||_{\sigma}^2 \ge 1/4$  holds. Then,

$$\begin{split} \|K\|_{\sigma} &= \sup_{f \neq 0} \frac{1}{\|f\|_{\sigma}^{2}} \int Kf \cdot \overline{f} \geq \sigma(\partial \Omega) \iint \frac{1}{4\pi |x - y|} \frac{d\sigma(x)}{\sigma(\partial \Omega)} \frac{d\sigma(y)}{\sigma(\partial \Omega)} \\ &\geq \frac{\operatorname{Area}(\partial \Omega)}{\operatorname{Cap}(\Omega)}. \end{split}$$

Equality holds in the las two inequalities if  $\Omega$  is a ball. Hence,

$$\lambda_{\Omega} \ge 4 \left( m \frac{\operatorname{Area}(\partial \Omega)}{\operatorname{Cap}(\Omega)} + \sqrt{m^2 \left( \frac{\operatorname{Area}(\partial \Omega)}{\operatorname{Cap}(\Omega)} \right)^2 + \frac{1}{4}} \right).$$
(24)

Therefore, combining (23) and (24) we get the desired result.

#### References

- N. Arrizabalaga, A. Mas, L. Vega, Shell interactions for Dirac operators. J. Math. Pures et App. 102, 617–639 (2014)
- 2. N. Arrizabalaga, A. Mas, L. Vega, Shell interactions for Dirac operators: on the point spectrum and the confinement. SIAM J. Math. Anal. **47**(2), 1044–1069 (2015)
- N. Arrizabalaga, A. Mas, L. Vega, An isoperimetric-type inequality for electrostatic shell interactions for Dirac operators. Commun. Math. Phys. 344(2), 483–505 (2016)
- J. Dittrich, P. Exner, P. Seba, Dirac operators with a spherically symmetric δ-shell interaction. J. Math. Phys. 30,2875–2882 (1989)
- S. Hofmann, E. Marmolejo-Olea, M. Mitrea, S. Pérez-Esteva, M. Taylor, Hardy spaces, singular integrals and the geometry of euclidean domains of locally finite perimeter. Geom. Funct. Anal. 19(3), 842–882 (2009)
- 6. G. Pólya, G. Szegö, *Isoperimetric Inequalities in Mathematical Physics. Annals of Mathematics Studies*, vol. 27 (Princeton University Press, Princeton, 1951)
- 7. A. Posilicano, Self-adjoint extensions of restrictions. Oper. Matrices 2, 483–506 (2008)
- 8. A. Posilicano, L. Raimondi, Krein's resolvent formula for self-adjoint extensions of symmetric second order elliptic differential operators. J. Phys. A Math. Theor. **42**, 015204 (2009)

# **Correlation Inequalities for Classical and Quantum XY Models**

Costanza Benassi, Benjamin Lees, and Daniel Ueltschi

**Abstract** We review correlation inequalities of truncated functions for the classical and quantum XY models. A consequence is that the critical temperature of the XY model is necessarily smaller than that of the Ising model, in both the classical and quantum cases. We also discuss an explicit lower bound on the critical temperature of the quantum XY model.

**Keywords** Classical XY model • Correlation inequalities • Lattice systems • Quantum XY model • Spin systems

#### 1 Setting and Results

The goal of this survey is to recall some results of old that have been rather neglected in recent years. We restrict ourselves to the cases of classical and quantum XY models. Correlation inequalities are an invaluable tool that allows to obtain the monotonicity of spontaneous magnetisation, the existence of infinite volume limits, and comparisons between the critical temperatures of various models. Many correlation inequalities have been established for the planar rotor (or classical XY) model, with interesting applications and consequences in the study of the phase diagram and the Gibbs states [1–7]. Some of these inequalities can also be proved for its quantum counterpart [8–11].

Let  $\Lambda$  be a finite set of sites. The classical XY model (or planar rotor model) is a model of interacting spins on such a lattice. The configuration space of the system is defined as  $\Omega_{\Lambda} = \{\{\sigma_x\}_{x \in \Lambda} : \sigma_x \in \mathbb{S}^1 \ \forall x \in \Lambda\}$ : each site hosts a unimodular vector lying on a unit circle. It is convenient to represent the spins by means of angles,

C. Benassi (⊠) • D. Ueltschi

B. Lees

Department of Mathematics, University of Warwick, Coventry CV4 7AL, UK e-mail: C.Benassi@warwick.ac.uk; daniel@ueltschi.org

Department of Mathematics, University of Gothenburg, Gothenburg, Sweden e-mail: benjaminlees90@gmail.com

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2017

A. Michelangeli, G. Dell'Antonio (eds.), *Advances in Quantum Mechanics*, Springer INdAM Series 18, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-58904-6\_2

namely

$$\sigma_x^1 = \cos \phi_x \tag{1}$$

$$\sigma_x^2 = \sin \phi_x \tag{2}$$

with  $\phi_x \in [0, 2\pi]$ . The energy of a configuration  $\sigma \in \Omega_\Lambda$  with angles  $\phi = {\{\phi_x\}_{x \in \Lambda}}$ is

$$H_{\Lambda}^{\rm cl}(\phi) = -\sum_{A \subset \Lambda} J_A^1 \prod_{x \in A} \sigma_x^1 + J_A^2 \prod_{x \in A} \sigma_x^2, \tag{3}$$

with  $J_A^i \in \mathbb{R}$  for all  $A \subset A$ . The expectation value at inverse temperature  $\beta$  of a functional f on the configuration space is

$$\langle f \rangle_{\Lambda,\beta}^{\rm cl} = \frac{1}{Z_{\Lambda,\beta}^{\rm cl}} \int d\phi e^{-\beta H_{\Lambda}^{\rm cl}(\phi)} f(\phi), \tag{4}$$

where  $Z_{\Lambda,\beta}^{cl} = \int d\phi e^{-\beta H_{\Lambda}^{cl}(\phi)}$  is the partition function and  $\int d\phi = \int_0^{2\pi} \dots \int_0^{2\pi}$  $\prod_{x \in \Lambda} \frac{d\phi_x}{2\pi}.$ 

We now define the quantum XY model. We restrict ourselves to the spin- $\frac{1}{2}$  case. As before, the model is defined on a finite set of sites  $\Lambda$ ; the Hilbert space is  $\mathcal{H}_{\Lambda}^{qu} = \bigotimes_{x \in \Lambda} \mathbb{C}^2$ . The spin operators acting on  $\mathbb{C}^2$  are the three hermitian matrices  $S^i$ , i = 1, 2, 3, that satisfy  $[S^1, S^2] = iS^3$  and its cyclic permutations, and  $(S^1)^2 + (S^2)^2 + iS^2 = iS^3$ .  $(S^3)^2 = \frac{3}{4}$ 1. They are explicitly formulated in terms of Pauli matrices:

$$S^{1} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad S^{2} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -i \\ i & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad S^{3} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (5)

The hamiltonian describing the interaction is

$$H^{\text{qu}}_{\Lambda} = -\sum_{A \subset \Lambda} J^1_A \prod_{x \in A} S^1_x + J^2_A \prod_{x \in A} S^2_A, \tag{6}$$

with  $S_x^i = S^i \otimes \mathbb{1}_{A \setminus \{x\}}$ . The  $\{J_A^i\}_{A \subset A}$  are nonnegative coupling constants. The Gibbs state at inverse temperature  $\beta$  is

$$\langle \mathscr{O} \rangle_{\Lambda,\beta}^{qu} = \frac{1}{Z_{\Lambda,\beta}^{qu}} \operatorname{Tr} \mathscr{O} e^{-\beta H_{\Lambda}^{qu}}, \qquad (7)$$

with  $Z_{\Lambda,\beta}^{qu} = \text{Tr } e^{-\beta H_{\Lambda}^{qu}}$  the partition function and  $\mathscr{O}$  any operator acting on  $\mathscr{H}_{\Lambda}^{qu}$ . The first result holds for both classical and quantum models.

**Theorem 1.1** Assume that  $J_A^1, J_A^2 \ge 0$  for all  $A \subset \Lambda$ . The following inequalities hold true for all  $X, Y \subset \Lambda$ , and for all  $\beta > 0$ .

$$Classical: \qquad \left\langle \prod_{x \in X} \sigma_x^1 \prod_{x \in Y} \sigma_x^1 \right\rangle_{A,\beta}^{cl} - \left\langle \prod_{x \in X} \sigma_x^1 \right\rangle_{A,\beta}^{cl} \left\langle \prod_{x \in Y} \sigma_x^1 \right\rangle_{A,\beta}^{cl} \ge 0, \\ \left\langle \prod_{x \in X} \sigma_x^1 \prod_{x \in Y} \sigma_x^2 \right\rangle_{A,\beta}^{cl} - \left\langle \prod_{x \in X} \sigma_x^1 \right\rangle_{A,\beta}^{cl} \left\langle \prod_{x \in Y} \sigma_x^2 \right\rangle_{A,\beta}^{cl} \le 0. \\ Quantum: \qquad \left\langle \prod_{x \in X} S_x^1 \prod_{x \in Y} S_x^1 \right\rangle_{A,\beta}^{qu} - \left\langle \prod_{x \in X} S_x^1 \right\rangle_{A,\beta}^{qu} \left\langle \prod_{x \in Y} S_x^1 \right\rangle_{A,\beta}^{qu} \ge 0, \\ \left\langle \prod_{x \in X} S_x^1 \prod_{x \in Y} S_x^2 \right\rangle_{A,\beta}^{qu} - \left\langle \prod_{x \in X} S_x^1 \right\rangle_{A,\beta}^{qu} \left\langle \prod_{x \in Y} S_x^1 \right\rangle_{A,\beta}^{qu} \le 0. \end{cases}$$

In the quantum case, similar inequalities hold for Schwinger functions, see [11] for details. The proofs are given in Sects. 3 and 4 respectively. These inequalities are known as Ginibre inequalities—first introduced by Griffiths for the Ising model [12] and systematised in a seminal work by Ginibre [13], which provides a general framework for inequalities of this form. Ginibre inequalities for the classical XY model have then been established with different techniques [1, 3–5, 13]. The equivalent result for the quantum case has been proved with different approaches [8–11]. An extension to the ground state of quantum systems with spin 1 was proposed in [11]. A straightforward corollary of this theorem is monotonicity with respect to coupling constants, as we see now.

**Corollary 1.2** Assume that  $J_A^1, J_A^2 \ge 0$  for all  $A \subset \Lambda$ . Then for all  $X, Y \subset \Lambda$ , and for all  $\beta > 0$ 

$$Classical: \qquad \frac{\partial}{\partial J_Y^1} \langle \prod_{x \in X} \sigma_x^1 \rangle_{A,\beta}^{cl} \ge 0,$$
$$\frac{\partial}{\partial J_Y^2} \langle \prod_{x \in X} \sigma_x^1 \rangle_{A,\beta}^{cl} \le 0.$$
$$Quantum: \qquad \frac{\partial}{\partial J_Y^1} \langle \prod_{x \in X} S_x^1 \rangle_{A,\beta}^{qu} \ge 0,$$
$$\frac{\partial}{\partial J_Y^2} \langle \prod_{x \in X} S_x^1 \rangle_{A,\beta}^{qu} \le 0.$$

Interestingly this result appears to be not trivially true for the quantum Heisenberg ferromagnet. Indeed a toy version of the fully SU(2) invariant model has been provided explicitly, for which this result does not hold (nearest neighbours)

interaction on a three-sites chain with open boundary conditions) [14]. The question whether this result might still be established in a proper setting is still open. On the other hand, Ginibre inequalities have been proved for the classical Heisenberg ferromagnet [1, 2, 4].

Monotonicity of correlations with respect to temperature does not follow straightforwardly from the corollary. This can nonetheless be proved for the classical XY model.

**Theorem 1.3** Classical model: Assume that  $J_A^1 \ge |J_A^2|$  for all  $A \subset A$ , and that  $J_A^2 = 0$  whenever |A| is odd. Then for all  $A, B \subset A$ , we have

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \beta} \left\langle \prod_{x \in B} \sigma_x^1 \right\rangle_{\Lambda,\beta}^{\text{cl}} \ge 0.$$

Let us restrict to the two-body case and assume that  $H^{cl}_{\Lambda}$  is given by

$$H_{\Lambda}^{\rm cl} = -\sum_{x,y\in\Lambda} J_{xy} \left( \sigma_x^1 \sigma_y^1 + \eta_{xy} \sigma_x^2 \sigma_y^2 \right).$$

Then if  $|\eta_{xy}| \leq 1$  for all x, y,

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial J_{xy}} \langle \prod_{z \in A} \sigma_z^1 \rangle_{\Lambda,\beta}^{\text{cl}} \ge 0.$$
(8)

Notice that this theorem has a wider range of applicability than Corollary 1.2: in the theorem above, the coupling constants along one of the directions are allowed to be negative (though not too negative), while in the corollary the nonnegativity of all coupling constants a is necessary hypothesis. This result has been proposed and discussed in various works [4, 6, 13]—see Sect. 3 for the details. Unfortunately we lack a quantum equivalent of these statements.

We conclude this section by remarking that correlation inequalities in the quantum case can be applied also to other models of interest. For example, we consider a certain formulation of Kitaev's model (see [15] for its original formulation and [16] for a review of the topic). Let  $\Lambda \subset \mathbb{Z}^2$  be a square lattice with edges  $\mathscr{E}_{\Lambda}$ . Each *edge* of the lattice hosts a spin, i.e. the Hilbert space of this model is  $\mathscr{H}_{\Lambda}^{\text{Kitaev}} = \bigotimes_{e \in \mathscr{E}_{\Lambda}} \mathbb{C}^2$ . The Kitaev hamiltonian is

$$H_{\Lambda}^{\text{Kitaev}} = -\sum_{x \in \Lambda} J_x \prod_{\substack{e \in \mathscr{E}_{\Lambda}:\\x \in e}} S_e^1 + \sum_{F \subset \Lambda} J_F \prod_{e \subset F} S_e^3, \tag{9}$$

where *F* denotes the faces of the lattice, i.e. the unit squares which are the building blocks of  $\mathbb{Z}^2$ ,  $J_x$ ,  $J_F$  are ferromagnetic coupling constants and  $S_e^i = S^i \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathscr{E}_A \setminus e}$ .  $H_A^{\text{Kitaev}}$  has the same structure as hamiltonian (6) so Ginibre inequalities apply as

well. It is not clear, though, whether this might lead to useful results for the study of this specific model.

Another relevant model is the *plaquette orbital model* that was studied in [17, 18]; interactions between neighbours *x*, *y* are of the form  $-S_x^i S_y^i$ , with *i* being equal to 1 or 3 depending on the edge.

#### 2 Comparison Between Ising and XY Models

We now compare the correlations of the Ising and XY models and their respective critical temperatures. The configuration space of the Ising model is  $\Omega_A^{Is} = \{-1, 1\}^A$ , that is, Ising configurations are given by  $\{s_x\}_{x \in A}$  with  $s_x = \pm 1$  for each  $x \in A$ . We consider many-body interactions, so the energy of a configuration  $s \in \Omega_A^{Is}$  is

$$H_{\Lambda,\{J_A\}}^{\rm Is}(s) = -\sum_{A \subset \Lambda} J_A \prod_{x \in A} s_x; \tag{10}$$

we assume that the system is "ferromagnetic", i.e. the coupling constants  $J_A \ge 0$  are nonnegative. The Gibbs state at inverse temperature  $\beta$  is

$$\langle f \rangle_{\Lambda,\{J_A\},\beta}^{\mathrm{Is}} = \frac{1}{Z_{\Lambda,\{J_A\},\beta}^{\mathrm{Is}}} \sum_{s \in \Omega_A^{\mathrm{Is}}} f(s) \, \mathrm{e}^{-\beta H_{\Lambda,\{J_A\}}^{\mathrm{Is}}} \,, \tag{11}$$

with *f* any functional on  $\Omega_{\Lambda}^{\text{Is}}$  and  $Z_{\Lambda,\{J_A\},\beta}^{\text{Is}} = \sum_{s \in \Omega_{\Lambda}^{\text{Is}}} e^{-\beta H_{\Lambda,\{J_A\}}^{\text{Is}}}$  is the partition function. The following result holds for both the classical [5] and the quantum case [9, 19].

**Theorem 2.1** Assume that  $J_A^1, J_A^2 \ge 0$  for all  $A \subset \Lambda$ . Then for all  $X \subset \Lambda$  and all  $\beta > 0$ ,

Classical: 
$$\langle \prod_{x \in X} \sigma_x^1 \rangle_{\Lambda,\beta}^{cl} \leq \langle \prod_{x \in X} s_x \rangle_{\Lambda,\{J_A^1\},\beta}^{ls}$$
  
Quantum:  $\langle \prod_{x \in X} S_x^1 \rangle_{\Lambda,\beta}^{qu} \leq 2^{-|X|} \langle \prod_{x \in X} s_x \rangle_{\Lambda,\{J_A^*\},\beta}^{ls}$ 

with  $J_A^* = 2^{-|A|} J_A^1$ .

A review of the proof of the classical case is proposed in Sect. 3. In the quantum case, this statement for spin- $\frac{1}{2}$  is a straightforward consequence of Corollary 1.2, but interestingly this result has been extended to any value of the spin [19]. We review the proof of this general case in Sect. 4.

We now consider the case of spin- $\frac{1}{2}$  and pair interactions, that is, the hamiltonian is

$$H_{\Lambda}^{\rm qu} = -\sum_{x,y\in\Lambda} (S_x^1 S_y^1 + S_x^2 S_y^2).$$
(12)

We define the *spontaneous magnetisation*  $m(\beta)$  at inverse temperature  $\beta$  by

$$m(\beta)^{2} = \liminf_{\Lambda \nearrow \mathbb{Z}^{d}} \frac{1}{|\Lambda|^{2}} \sum_{x, y \in \Lambda} \langle S_{x}^{1} S_{y}^{1} \rangle_{\Lambda, \beta}^{qu}.$$
 (13)

We define the critical temperature for the model  $T_c^{qu} = 1/\beta_c^{qu}$  as

$$\beta_{\rm c}^{\rm qu} = \sup\{\beta > 0 : m(\beta) = 0\},\tag{14}$$

where  $\beta_c^{qu} \in (0, \infty]$ . A consequence of Theorem 2.1 is the following.

Corollary 2.2 The critical temperatures satisfy

$$T_{\rm c}^{\rm qu} \leq \frac{1}{4} T_{\rm c}^{\rm Ising}$$

The critical temperature of the Ising model in the three-dimensional cubic lattice has been calculated numerically and is  $T_c^{\text{Ising}} = 4.511 \pm 0.001$  [20]. It is  $T_c^{\text{cl}} = 2.202 \pm 0.001$  [21] for the classical model and  $T_c^{\text{qu}} = 1.008 \pm 0.001$  for the quantum model (S. Wessel, private communication).

A major result of mathematical physics is the rigorous proof of the occurrence of long-range order in the classical and quantum XY models, in dimensions three and higher, and if the temperature is low enough [22, 23]. The method can be used to provide a rigorous lower bound on critical temperatures; the following theorem concerns the quantum model.

**Theorem 2.3** For the three-dimensional cubic lattice, the temperature of the quantum XY model satisfies

$$T_{\rm c}^{\rm qu} \ge 0.323$$

The best rigorous upper bound on the critical temperature of the threedimensional Ising model is  $T_c^{\text{Ising}} \leq 5.0010$  [24]. Together with the above corollary and theorem, we get

$$0.323 \le T_{\rm c}^{\rm qu} \le \frac{1}{4} T_{\rm c}^{\rm Ising} \le 1.250.$$
<sup>(15)</sup>

*Proof (Theorem 2.3)* We consider the XY model with spins in the 1–3 directions for convenience. We make use of the result [25, Theorem 5.1], that was obtained with

the method of reflection positivity and infrared bounds [22, 23]. Precisely, we use Eqs. (5.54), (5.57) and (5.63) of [25].

$$m(\beta)^{2} \geq \begin{cases} \frac{1}{4} - \frac{J_{3}}{2} \sqrt{\langle S_{0}^{1} S_{e_{1}}^{1} \rangle^{q_{u}}} - \frac{K_{3}}{\beta} \\ \langle S_{0}^{1} S_{e_{1}}^{1} \rangle_{\Lambda}^{q_{u}} - \frac{J_{3}}{2} \sqrt{\langle S_{0}^{1} S_{e_{1}}^{1} \rangle^{q_{u}}} - \frac{K_{3}}{\beta} \end{cases}$$
(16)

where  $e_1$  is a nearest neighbour of the origin, and  $J_3, I_3, K_3, K'_3$  are real numbers coming from explicit integrals. Their values are  $J_3 = 1.15672$ ;  $I_3 = 0.349884$ ;  $K_3 = 0.252731$ ; and  $K'_3 = 0.105107$ . Notice that  $\beta$  is rescaled by a factor 2 with respect to [25], due to a different choice of coupling constants in the hamiltonian. Let  $x = \sqrt{\langle S_0^1 S_{e_1}^1 \rangle^{q_1}}$ ; since we do not have good bounds on x, we treat it as an unknown. The magnetisation  $m(\beta)$  is guaranteed to be positive if  $x \le t$  where t is the zero of  $\frac{1}{4} - \frac{K_3}{\beta} - \frac{J_3}{2}x$ ; or  $x \ge r_+$ , where  $r_+$  is the largest zero of  $x^2 - \frac{I_3}{2}x - \frac{K'_3}{\beta}$ . At least one of these holds true when  $r_+ < t$ , that is, when

$$\frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{I_3}{2} + \sqrt{\frac{I_3^2}{4} + \frac{4K_3'}{\beta}} \right) < \frac{1}{2J_3} - \frac{1}{\beta} \frac{2K_3}{J_3}$$
(17)

This is the case for  $1/\beta < 0.323$  giving the upper bound  $T_c \ge 0.323$ .

#### **3** Proofs for the Classical XY Model

The proofs require several steps and additional lemmas. The following paragraphs are devoted to a complete study of their proofs. Given local variables  $\{\sigma_x\}_{x \in \Lambda}$ , we denote  $\sigma_A^i = \prod_{x \in \Lambda} \sigma_x^i$  for  $A \subset \Lambda$ .

#### 3.1 Griffiths and FKG Inequalities, and Proof of Theorem 1.1

We start with Theorem 1.1. We describe the approach proposed in [1, 5], and use a similar notation. Their framework relies on some well known properties of the Ising model and on the so called FKG inequality.

**Lemma 3.1 (Griffiths Inequalities for the Ising Model)** Let f and g be functionals on  $\Omega_{\Lambda}^{\text{Is}}$  such that they can be expressed as power series of  $\prod_{x \in A} s_x$ ,  $A \subset \Lambda$  with positive coefficients. Then

$$\begin{split} \langle f \rangle_{\Lambda,\{J_A\},\beta}^{\mathrm{Is}} &\geq 0; \\ \langle fg \rangle_{\Lambda,\{J_A\},\beta}^{\mathrm{Is}} &\geq \langle f \rangle_{\Lambda,\{J_A\},\beta}^{\mathrm{Is}} \langle g \rangle_{\Lambda,\{J_A\},\beta}^{\mathrm{Is}} \langle g \rangle_{\Lambda,\{J_A\},\beta}^{\mathrm{Is}}. \end{split}$$

We do not provide the proof of this result—see [12, 13] for the original formulation and [26] for a modern description. An immediate consequence is the following.

**Corollary 3.2** Given f with the properties in Lemma 3.1, we have for any  $A \subset \Lambda$ 

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial J_A} \langle f \rangle^{\mathrm{Is}}_{\Lambda, \{J_A\}, \beta} \ge 0.$$

Another result which is very useful in this framework is the so called FKG inequality. We formulate it in a specific setting. Let  $\mathscr{I}_N = \left[0, \frac{\pi}{2}\right]^N$  for some  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ . Any  $\psi \in \mathscr{I}_N$  is then a collection of angles  $\psi = (\psi_1, \ldots, \psi_N)$ . It is possible to introduce a partial ordering relation on  $\mathscr{I}_N$  as follows: for any  $\psi, \xi \in \mathscr{I}_N, \psi \leq \xi$  if and only if  $\psi_i \leq \xi_i$  for all  $i \in \{1, \ldots, N\}$ . A function f on  $\mathscr{I}_N$  is said to be increasing (or decreasing) if  $\psi \leq \xi$  implies  $f(\psi) \leq f(\xi)$  (or  $f(\psi) \geq f(\xi)$ ) for all  $\psi, \xi \in \mathscr{I}_N$ . The following result holds.

**Lemma 3.3 (FKG Inequality)** Let  $dv(\psi) = p(\psi) \prod_{i=1}^{N} d\mu(\psi_i)$  be a normalised measure on  $\mathscr{I}_N$ , with  $d\mu(\psi_i)$  a normalised measure on  $\left[0, \frac{\pi}{2}\right]$ ,  $p(\psi) \ge 0$  for all  $\psi \in \mathscr{I}_N$  and

$$p(\psi \lor \xi)p(\psi \land \xi) \ge p(\psi)p(\xi), \tag{18}$$

where  $(\psi \lor \xi)_i = \max(\psi_i, \xi_i)$  and  $(\psi \land \xi)_i = \min(\psi_i, \xi_i)$ . Then for any f and g increasing (or decreasing) functions on  $\mathscr{I}_N$ 

$$\int fgd\nu \geq \int fd\nu \int gd\nu.$$

The inequality changes sign if one of the functions is increasing and the other is decreasing.

We also skip the proof of this statement. We refer to [27] for the original result, to [5, 28] for the formulation above, and [26] for its relevance in the study of the Ising model.

Before turning to the actual proof of the theorem, we introduce another useful lemma.

**Lemma 3.4** Let  $\{q_x\}_{x \in \Lambda}$  be a collection of positive increasing (decreasing) functions on  $[0, \frac{\pi}{2}]$ . Then for any  $\theta, \psi \in \mathscr{I}_{|\Lambda|}$  and any  $\Lambda \subset \Lambda$ ,

$$q_A(\theta \lor \psi) + q_A(\theta \land \psi) \ge q_A(\psi) + q_A(\theta).$$

We do not provide the proof here, see [5, 28] for more details. We can now discuss the proof of Theorem 1.1.

*Proof (Theorem 1.1)* Since the temperature does not play any rôle in this section, we set  $\beta = 1$  in the following and we drop any dependency on it. The main idea of the proof is to describe a classical XY spin as a pair of Ising spins and an angular variable. The new notation for  $\sigma_x \in \mathbb{S}^1$  is

$$\sigma_x^1 = \cos(\theta_x) U_x,\tag{19}$$

$$\sigma_x^2 = \sin(\theta_x) V_x,\tag{20}$$

with  $U_x, V_x \in \{-1, 1\}$  for all  $x \in \Lambda$  and  $\theta = (\theta_{x_1}, \dots, \theta_{x_\Lambda}) \in \mathscr{I}_{|\Lambda|}$ . With this notation, it is possible to express  $H^{cl}_{\Lambda}$  of Eq. (3) as the sum of two Ising hamiltonians with spins  $\{U_x\}_{x \in \Lambda}, \{V_x\}_{x \in \Lambda}$  respectively:

$$H^{\rm cl}_{\Lambda}(\theta, U, V) = -\sum_{A \subset \Lambda} \left( J^{\rm l}_{A} \prod_{x \in A} \cos(\theta_x) U_A + J^{\rm l}_{A} \prod_{x \in A} \sin(\theta_x) V_A \right)$$
(21)

$$=H^{\mathrm{Is}}_{\Lambda,\{\cos(\theta)_A J^1_A\}}(U)+H^{\mathrm{Is}}_{\Lambda,\{\sin(\theta)_A J^2_A\}}(V).$$
(22)

Let us introduce the notation:  $J_A^1 \prod_{x \in A} \cos(\theta_x) = \mathcal{J}_A(\theta), J_A^2 \prod_{x \in A} \sin(\theta_x) = \mathcal{K}_A(\theta),$  $\int d\theta = \int_0^{\frac{\pi}{2}} \dots \int_0^{\frac{\pi}{2}} \prod_{x \in A} \frac{2}{\pi} d\theta_x.$  Then

$$\begin{split} \langle \sigma_X^1 \sigma_Y^1 \rangle_{H_A^{\text{cl}}} &= \frac{\int d\theta \, Z_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{J}_A(\theta)\}}^{\text{ls}} Z_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{J}_A(\theta)\}}^{\text{ls}} \cos(\theta)_X \cos(\theta)_Y \langle U_X U_Y \rangle_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{J}_A(\theta)\}}^{\text{ls}}}{\int d\theta \, Z_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{J}_A(\theta)\}}^{\text{ls}} Z_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{J}_A(\theta)\}}^{\text{ls}} Z_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{J}_A(\theta)\}}^{\text{ls}}} \\ &\geq \frac{\int d\theta \, Z_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{J}_A(\theta)\}}^{\text{ls}} Z_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{J}_A(\theta)\}}^{\text{ls}} \cos(\theta)_X \langle U_X \rangle_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{J}_A(\theta)\}}^{\text{ls}} \cos(\theta)_Y \langle U_Y \rangle_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{J}_A(\theta)\}}^{\text{ls}}}{\int d\theta \, Z_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{J}_A(\theta)\}}^{\text{ls}} Z_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{J}_A(\theta)\}}^{\text{ls}} Z_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{J}_A(\theta)\}}^{\text{ls}}} \cos(\theta)_Y \langle U_Y \rangle_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{J}_A(\theta)\}}^{\text{ls}}}. \end{split}$$

The inequality above follows from Lemma 3.1. Moreover

$$\langle \sigma_X^1 \sigma_Y^2 \rangle_{H_A^{\text{cl}}} = \frac{\int d\theta Z_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{J}_A(\theta)\}}^{\text{ls}} Z_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{K}_A(\theta)\}}^{\text{ls}} \cos(\theta)_X \langle U_X \rangle_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{J}_A(\theta)\}}^{\text{ls}} \sin(\theta)_Y \langle V_Y \rangle_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{K}_A(\theta)\}}^{\text{ls}}}{\int d\theta Z_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{J}_A(\theta)\}}^{\text{ls}} Z_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{K}_A(\theta)\}}^{\text{ls}}} Z_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{K}_A(\theta)\}}^{\text{ls}}}.$$

 $\cos(\theta)_X$  and  $\sin(\theta)_X$  are respectively decreasing and increasing on  $\mathscr{I}_{|\Lambda|}$  for any  $X \subset \Lambda$ . Let us now consider  $\langle U_X \rangle_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{I}_A(\theta)\}}^{\mathrm{Is}}$ . By Corollary 3.2, it is a decreasing function on  $\mathscr{I}_{|\Lambda|}$  for any  $X \subset \Lambda$ , since the coupling constants of  $H^I_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{I}_A(\theta)\}}$  are decreasing in  $\theta$ . Analogously,  $\langle V_X \rangle_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{K}_A(\theta)\}}^{\mathrm{Is}}$  is an increasing function on  $\mathscr{I}_{|\Lambda|}$  for any  $X \subset \Lambda$ . Theorem 1.1 is then a simple consequence of Lemma 3.3, with  $d\mu(\theta_x) = \frac{2}{\pi} d\theta_x$  and

$$p(\theta) = \frac{Z_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{J}_{\Lambda}(\theta)\}}^{\text{ls}} Z_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{H}_{\Lambda}(\theta)\}}^{\text{ls}}}{\int d\theta \, Z_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{J}_{\Lambda}(\theta)\}}^{\text{ls}} Z_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{H}_{\Lambda}(\theta)\}}^{\text{ls}}}.$$
(23)

The last step missing is to show that  $p(\theta)$  defined as above fulfills hypothesis (18) of Lemma 3.3. This amounts to showing

$$Z_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{K}_{A}(\theta \lor \psi)\}}^{\mathrm{Is}} Z_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{K}_{A}(\theta \land \psi)\}}^{\mathrm{Is}} \ge Z_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{K}_{A}(\theta)\}}^{\mathrm{Is}} Z_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{K}_{A}(\psi)\}}^{\mathrm{Is}};$$
(24)

$$Z^{\rm ls}_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{J}_{A}(\theta \lor \psi)\}}Z^{\rm l}_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{J}_{A}(\theta \land \psi)\}} \ge Z^{\rm ls}_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{J}_{A}(\theta)\}}Z^{\rm ls}_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{J}_{A}(\psi)\}}.$$
(25)

Since the arguments to prove these inequalities are very similar, we prove explicitly only the first one. Equation (24) is equivalent to

$$\left(\frac{Z_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{K}_{A}(\theta)\}}^{\mathrm{Is}}}{Z_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{K}_{A}(\theta\wedge\psi)\}}^{\mathrm{Is}}}\right)^{-1} \left(\frac{Z_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{K}_{A}(\theta\vee\psi)\}}^{\mathrm{Is}}}{Z_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{K}_{A}(\psi)\}}^{\mathrm{Is}}}\right) \ge 1$$
(26)

Notice that

$$\left(\frac{Z_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{K}_{A}(\theta)\}}^{\mathrm{Is}}}{Z_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{K}_{A}(\theta\wedge\psi)\}}^{\mathrm{Is}}}\right)^{-1}\left(\frac{Z_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{K}_{A}(\theta\vee\psi)\}}^{\mathrm{Is}}}{Z_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{K}_{A}(\psi)\}}^{\mathrm{Is}}}\right) = \frac{\langle e^{-H_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{K}_{A}(\theta\vee\psi)-\mathcal{K}_{A}(\psi)\}}} \rangle_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{K}_{A}(\psi)\}}^{\mathrm{Is}}}{\langle e^{-H_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{K}_{A}(\theta)-\mathcal{K}_{A}(\theta\wedge\psi)\}}} \rangle_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{K}_{A}(\theta\wedge\psi)\}}^{\mathrm{Is}}}.$$

Thanks to Lemma 3.4, the functions whose expectation value we are computing above fulfill the hypothesis of Lemma 3.1 and Corollary 3.2. Then, applying Lemma 3.4 and Corollary 3.2,

$$\langle e^{-H_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{K}_{A}(\theta \lor \psi) - \mathcal{K}_{A}(\psi)\}}} \rangle_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{K}_{A}(\psi)\}}^{\mathrm{Is}} \geq \langle e^{-H_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{K}_{A}(\theta) - \mathcal{K}_{A}(\theta \land \psi)\}}^{\mathrm{Is}}} \rangle_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{K}_{A}(\psi)\}}^{\mathrm{Is}}$$

$$\geq \langle e^{-H_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{K}_{A}(\theta) - \mathcal{K}_{A}(\theta \land \psi)\}}^{\mathrm{Is}}} \rangle_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{K}_{A}(\theta \land \psi)\}}^{\mathrm{Is}}.$$

$$(27)$$

Hence  $p(\theta)$  has the required property.

#### 3.2 Proof of Theorem 1.3

Let us now turn to Theorem 1.3. We follow the framework described in [4, 13].

**Lemma 3.5** Let  $H_{\Lambda}^{cl}$  be the hamiltonian defined in (3). If  $J_{\Lambda}^{1} \geq |J_{\Lambda}^{2}|$  for all  $\Lambda \subset \Lambda$ and  $J_{\Lambda}^{2} = 0$  for  $|\Lambda|$  odd, then there exist non negative coupling constants  $\{K_{M}\}_{M \in \mathbb{Z}^{\Lambda}}$ such that

$$H_{\Lambda}^{\rm cl}(\phi) = -\sum_{M \in \mathbb{Z}^{\Lambda}} K_M \cos\left(M \cdot \phi\right), \qquad (28)$$

where, given  $M \in \mathbb{Z}^{\Lambda}$ ,  $M = (m_1, m_2, \dots, m_{\Lambda})$ ,  $M \cdot \phi = \sum_{x \in \Lambda} m_x \phi_x$ .

*Proof* The statement follows from the two following identities:

$$\cos(\theta)\cos(\chi) = \frac{1}{2}(\cos(\theta - \chi) + \cos(\theta + \chi)), \tag{29}$$

$$\sin(\theta)\sin(\chi) = \frac{1}{2}(\cos(\theta - \chi) - \cos(\theta + \chi)), \tag{30}$$

 $\forall \theta, \chi \in [0, 2\pi].$ 

A necessary step for this lemma and for Theorem 1.3 is duplication of variables [13]: we consider two sets of angles (i.e. spins) on the lattice instead of just one, and denote them by  $\{\phi_x\}_{x \in \Lambda}$  and  $\{\bar{\phi}_x\}_{x \in \Lambda}$ . The hamiltonian for the  $\{\bar{\phi}_x\}$  is

$$\bar{H}_{A}^{cl}(\bar{\phi}) = -\sum_{A \subset A} \left( \bar{J}_{A}^{1} \bar{\sigma}_{A}^{1} + \bar{J}_{A}^{2} \bar{\sigma}_{A}^{2} \right) \\
= -\sum_{M \in \mathbb{Z}^{A}} \bar{K}_{M} \cos(M \cdot \bar{\phi}).$$
(31)

Here,  $\{\bar{\sigma}_x\}$  are related to  $\{\bar{\phi}_x\}$  as in Eqs. (1) and (2). The  $\bar{J}_A^i$  are non negative coupling constants with  $\bar{J}_A^1 \geq |\bar{J}_A^2| \geq 0$  and  $\{\bar{K}_M\}$  are as in Lemma 3.5. A composite hamiltonian can be defined as

$$-\hat{H}_{\Lambda}(\phi,\bar{\phi}) = -H_{\Lambda}^{\rm cl}(\phi) - \bar{H}_{\Lambda}^{\rm cl}(\bar{\phi})$$

$$= \sum_{M \in \mathscr{M}} \frac{K_M + \bar{K}_M}{2} \left( \cos(M \cdot \phi) + \cos(M \cdot \bar{\phi}) \right) + \frac{K_M - \bar{K}_M}{2} \left( \cos(M \cdot \phi) - \cos(M \cdot \bar{\phi}) \right)$$
(32)

In the following we always suppose  $K_M \ge \bar{K}_M$  for all  $M \in \mathbb{Z}^A$ . The expectation value of any functional  $f(\phi, \bar{\phi})$  can be written as

$$\langle f \rangle_{\hat{H}_{\Lambda},\beta} = \frac{1}{Z_{H_{\Lambda},\beta} Z_{\bar{H}_{\Lambda},\beta}} \int d\phi d\bar{\phi} e^{-\beta \hat{H}_{\Lambda}(\phi,\bar{\phi})} f(\phi,\bar{\phi}).$$
(33)

**Lemma 3.6** Suppose  $f(\phi, \overline{\phi})$  belongs to the cone generated by  $\cos(M \cdot \phi) \pm \cos(M \cdot \overline{\phi})$ ,  $M \in \mathbb{Z}^A$ , i.e. f can be written as product, sum or multiplication by a positive scalar of objects of that form. Then

$$\langle f \rangle_{\hat{H}_{\Lambda},\beta} \ge 0. \tag{34}$$

Proof Firstly, notice that

$$\int d\phi d\bar{\phi} \prod_{s=1}^{n} (\cos(M_s \cdot \phi) \pm \cos(M_s \cdot \bar{\phi}) \ge 0$$
(35)

for any  $M_1, \ldots, M_n \in \mathbb{Z}^{\Lambda}$  and any sequence of  $(\pm)$ . This follows from

$$\cos(M \cdot \phi) + \cos(M \cdot \bar{\phi}) = 2\cos(M \cdot \Phi)\cos(M \cdot \bar{\Phi}), \tag{36}$$

$$\cos(M \cdot \phi) - \cos(M \cdot \bar{\phi}) = 2\sin(M \cdot \Phi)\sin(M \cdot \bar{\Phi}), \qquad (37)$$

with  $\Phi_i = \frac{1}{2}(\phi_i + \bar{\phi}_i)$  and  $\bar{\Phi}_i = \frac{1}{2}(\phi_i - \bar{\phi}_i)$ . The integral (35) can be formulated as

$$\int d\Phi d\bar{\Phi} F(\Phi) F(\bar{\Phi}) = \left(\int d\Phi F(\Phi)\right)^2 \ge 0,$$
(38)

with  $F(\Phi)$  an appropriate product of sines, cosines and positive constants.

Let us now turn to  $\langle f \rangle_{\hat{H}_{\Lambda},\beta}$ . Since the partition function is always positive, we can focus on

$$\int d\phi d\bar{\phi} e^{-\beta \hat{H}_{\Lambda}(\phi,\bar{\phi})} f(\phi,\bar{\phi}).$$
(39)

By a Taylor expansion of  $e^{-\beta \hat{H}_A(\phi,\bar{\phi})}$  and by the properties of f, this can be expressed as a sum with positive coefficients of integrals in the form (35). Hence the nonnegativity of the expectation value.

We have now all we need to prove Theorem 1.3.

*Proof (Theorem 1.3)* In order to prove the first statement of the theorem we use the formulation of the hamiltonian described in Lemma 3.5. Moreover, since  $\sigma_A^1$  can be clearly expressed as the sum (with positive coefficients) of terms of the form  $\cos(M \cdot \phi), M \in \mathbb{Z}^A$ , it is enough to prove that for any  $M, N \in \mathbb{Z}^A$ 

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial K_N} \langle \cos(M \cdot \phi) \rangle_{\Lambda,\beta}^{\text{cl}} = \langle \cos(M \cdot \phi) \cos(N \cdot \phi) \rangle_{\Lambda,\beta}^{\text{cl}} - \langle \cos(M \cdot \phi) \rangle_{\Lambda,\beta}^{\text{cl}} \langle \cos(N \cdot \phi) \rangle_{\Lambda,\beta}^{\text{cl}} \ge 0.$$
(40)

Consider now the hamiltonian  $\hat{H}_{\Lambda}$  introduced above and  $\langle \cdot \rangle_{\hat{H}_{\Lambda},\beta}$  the corresponding Gibbs state. From Lemma 3.6 we have

$$\langle \left(\cos(M \cdot \phi) - \cos(M \cdot \bar{\phi})\right) \left(\cos(N \cdot \phi) - \cos(N \cdot \bar{\phi})\right) \rangle_{\hat{H}_{\Lambda,\beta}} \ge 0.$$
(41)

If we take the limit  $\overline{K}_M \nearrow K_M$ , we find twice the expression in Eq. (40). Hence the result.

Let us now turn to the second statement of the theorem. In the case of two-body interaction  $H_A^{cl}$  assumes the form (8), which, with a notation resembling the one introduced in Lemma 3.5 can be explicitly formulated as

$$H_{\Lambda}^{\rm cl}(\phi) = -\sum_{x,y \in \Lambda} K_{xy}^{-} \cos(\phi_x - \phi_y) + K_{xy}^{+} \cos(\phi_x + \phi_y)$$
(42)

with

$$K_{xy}^{\pm} = \frac{J_{xy}}{2} \left( 1 \mp \eta_{xy} \right).$$
 (43)

Clearly  $K_{xy}^{\pm}$  is analogous to the  $K_M$  introduced in Lemma 3.5 for  $M \in \mathbb{Z}^A$  such that all its elements are zero except  $m_x = 1$ ,  $m_y = \pm 1$ . Then we have

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial J_{xy}} \langle \sigma_A \rangle_{H_A^{\rm cl}} = \frac{1 + \eta_{xy}}{2} \frac{\partial}{\partial K_{xy}^{-}} \langle \sigma_A \rangle_{H_A^{\rm cl}} + \frac{1 - \eta_{xy}}{2} \frac{\partial}{\partial K_{xy}^{+}} \langle \sigma_A \rangle_{H_A^{\rm cl}}.$$
 (44)

Due to Eq. (40) the expression above is the sum of two positive terms, hence it is positive.

#### 3.3 Proof of Theorem 2.1

In this section we discuss the proof of Theorem 2.1 for the classical XY model. We use some of the concepts introduced in Sect. 3.2. The present proof has been proposed in [1, 5].

*Proof (Theorem 2.1)* As for the proof of Theorem 1.1, we express the XY spins by means of two Ising spins and an angle in  $[0, \frac{\pi}{2}]$ —see Eqs. (19) and (20) for the explicit expression of the spins and (22) for the new formulation of the hamiltonian  $H_{\Lambda}^{cl}$ . With the same notation:

$$\langle \sigma_X^{1} \rangle_{H_{\Lambda}^{\text{cl}}} = \frac{\int d\theta \, Z_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{J}_{\Lambda}(\theta)\}}^{\text{ls}} Z_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{K}_{\Lambda}(\theta)\}}^{\text{ls}} \cos(\theta)_X \langle U_X \rangle_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{J}_{\Lambda}(\theta)\}}^{\text{ls}}}{\int d\theta \, Z_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{J}_{\Lambda}(\theta)\}}^{\text{ls}} Z_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{K}_{\Lambda}(\theta)\}}^{\text{ls}}}$$

$$\leq \frac{\int d\theta \, Z_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{J}_{\Lambda}(\theta)\}}^{\text{ls}} Z_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{K}_{\Lambda}(\theta)\}}^{\text{ls}} \max_{\theta \in \mathscr{I}_{|\Lambda|}} \langle U_X \rangle_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{J}_{\Lambda}(\theta)\}}^{\text{ls}}}{\int d\theta \, Z_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{J}_{\Lambda}(\theta)\}}^{\text{ls}} Z_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{K}_{\Lambda}(\theta)\}}^{\text{ls}}}$$

$$= \langle U_A \rangle_{\Lambda,\{\mathcal{J}_{\Lambda}^{1}\}}^{\text{ls}}.$$

$$(45)$$

#### 4 **Proof for the Quantum XY Model**

We now discuss the proof of Theorem 1.1 in the quantum case. This theorem has been proved for pair interaction in [8], and it has been proposed independently in various works for more generic interactions [9–11]. We describe here the simpler approach proposed in [11]. Since the temperature does not play any role from now on, we set  $\beta = 1$  and omit any dependency on it in the following. As for the classical case we introduce the notation  $S_A^i = \prod_{x \in A} S_x^i$ .
*Proof (Theorem 1.1)* For the proof it is convenient to perform a unitary transformation on the hamiltonian (6) and consider its version with interactions along the first and third directions of spin, namely

$$H_{\Lambda}^{\rm qu} = -\sum_{A \subset \Lambda} J_A^1 S_A^1 + J_A^3 S_A^3, \tag{46}$$

with  $J_A^3 = J_A^2$  for all  $A \subset \Lambda$ .

The proof of this theorem uses some techniques similar to the ones introduced for the classical Theorem 1.3. These were indeed introduced by Ginibre [13] in a general framework. As for the classical case, it is convenient to duplicate the model. We introduce a new doubled Hilbert space  $\hat{\mathcal{H}}_{\Lambda} = \mathcal{H}_{\Lambda} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\Lambda}$ . Given an operator  $\mathcal{O}$ acting on  $\mathcal{H}_{\Lambda}$  we define two operators acting on  $\hat{\mathcal{H}}_{\Lambda}$ ,

$$\mathscr{O}_{\pm} = \mathscr{O} \otimes \mathbb{1} \pm \mathbb{1} \otimes \mathscr{O}. \tag{47}$$

The hamiltonian we consider for the doubled system is  $H_{A+}^{qu}$ :

$$H_{\Lambda,+}^{qu} = H_{\Lambda}^{qu} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\Lambda} + \mathbb{1}_{\Lambda} \otimes H_{\Lambda}^{qu} = -\sum_{A \subset \Lambda} J_{A}^{1} (S_{A}^{1})_{+} + J_{A}^{3} (S_{A}^{3})_{+}$$
(48)

The Gibbs state is denoted as

$$\langle \langle O \rangle \rangle = \frac{1}{(Z_A^{qu})^2} \operatorname{Tr} O \, \mathrm{e}^{-H_{A,+}^{qu}} \,, \tag{49}$$

for any operator O acting on  $\bar{\mathscr{H}}_{\Lambda}$ . It follows from some straightforward algebra that

$$\langle \mathscr{OP} \rangle^{qu}_{\Lambda} - \langle \mathscr{O} \rangle^{qu}_{\Lambda} \langle \mathscr{P} \rangle^{qu}_{\Lambda} = \frac{1}{2} \langle \langle \mathscr{O}_{-} \mathscr{P}_{-} \rangle \rangle;$$
(50)

$$(\mathscr{OP})_{\pm} = \frac{1}{2} \left( \mathscr{O}_{+} \mathscr{P}_{\pm} + \mathscr{O}_{-} \mathscr{P}_{\mp} \right), \tag{51}$$

for any  $\mathcal{O}$ ,  $\mathcal{P}$  operators on  $\mathcal{H}_{\Lambda}$ .

Just as  $\mathbb{C}^2$  constitutes the "building block" for  $\mathscr{H}_A$ , so  $\mathbb{C}^2 \otimes \mathbb{C}^2$  is to  $\overline{\mathscr{H}}_A$ . We can provide an explicit basis of  $\mathbb{C}^2 \otimes \mathbb{C}^2$  such that  $S_+^1$ ,  $S_-^1$ ,  $S_+^3$ ,  $-S_-^3$  have all non negative elements:

$$|\mu_{+}\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|++\rangle + |--\rangle), \quad |\mu_{-}\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|++\rangle - |--\rangle), \quad (52)$$

$$|\nu_{+}\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|+-\rangle + |-+\rangle), \quad |\nu_{-}\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|+-\rangle - |-+\rangle).$$
 (53)

Above by  $|+\rangle$  and  $|-\rangle$  we denote the basis of  $\mathbb{C}^2$  formed by eigenvectors of  $S^3$  with eigenvalues  $\frac{1}{2}$  and  $-\frac{1}{2}$  respectively, and  $|i, j\rangle = |i\rangle \otimes |j\rangle$ . It can be easily checked that the basis above has the required property. This result implies straightforwardly that there exists a basis of  $\mathcal{H}_A$  such that  $(S_x^1)_+, (S_x^1)_-, (S_x^3)_+$  and  $(-S_x^3)_-$  have non negative element for all  $x \in A$ . Let us consider the truncated correlation function we are interested in:

$$\left\langle \prod_{x \in X} S_x^1 \prod_{x \in Y} S_x^1 \right\rangle_A^{qu} - \left\langle \prod_{x \in X} S_x^1 \right\rangle_A^{qu} \left\langle \prod_{x \in Y} S_x^1 \right\rangle_A^{qu} = \frac{1}{2} \left\langle \left\langle \left( S_x^1 \right)_- \left( S_Y^1 \right)_- \right\rangle \right\rangle.$$
(54)

We can evaluate the right hand side of the equation above by a Taylor expansion:

$$(Z_{\Lambda}^{\mathrm{qu}})^{2}\langle\langle\left(S_{X}^{\mathrm{l}}\right)_{-}\left(S_{Y}^{\mathrm{l}}\right)_{-}\rangle\rangle = \sum_{n\geq0}\frac{1}{n!}\mathrm{Tr}\left(S_{X}^{\mathrm{l}}\right)_{-}\left(S_{Y}^{\mathrm{l}}\right)_{-}\left(-H_{\Lambda,+}^{\mathrm{qu}}\right)^{n}$$
(55)

Given the formulation of  $H_{A,+}^{qu}$  as in Eq. (48) and relation (51), it is clear that it can be expressed as a polynomial with positive coefficients of operators with nonnegative elements. The same holds for  $(S_X^1)_-$  and  $(S_Y^1)_-$ . The trace of operators with nonnegative elements is non negative, hence the first inequality of the theorem. The second inequality can be proved precisely in the same way (with  $S_Y^2$  substituted by  $S_Y^3$ ), by noticing that  $(S_Y^3)_-$  has necessarily non positive elements.

Let us now turn to Theorem 2.1. While in the classical case it is necessary to introduce an artificial framework, interestingly the proof for the quantum case does not require such a construction. For spin- $\frac{1}{2}$  the statement can be easily recovered by recalling that the *classical* Ising model can be recovered as a particular case of the *quantum* XY model (not of the classical one!). We review here a more general proof valid for any value of spin  $\mathscr{S}$  [19].

*Proof (Theorem 2.1)* We reformulate the quantum Hamiltonian in order to have the interaction along the first and the third axis, as in Eq. (46). We prove here the following result, which is unitarily equivalent to the statement of the theorem:

$$\left\langle S_X^3 \right\rangle_{\Lambda,\beta}^{qu} \le \mathscr{S}^{|X|} \left\langle s_A \right\rangle_{\Lambda,\{\mathscr{S}^{|A|}J_A^3\},\beta}^{\mathrm{Is}}.$$
(56)

From now on we set  $\beta = 1$  and drop all the dependencies on  $\beta$  since it does not play any role. Let  $S_x^i = \mathscr{S}^{-1}S_x^i$  be the rescaled spin operators. The models we compare are the following:

$$H^{\rm qu}_{\Lambda,S} = -\sum_{A \subseteq \Lambda} J^1_A S^1_A + J^3_A S^3_A,\tag{57}$$

$$H_{\Lambda,\{J_A^3\}}^{\rm Is} = -\sum_{A \subset \Lambda} J_A^3 s_A.$$
(58)

Clearly, (56) is equivalent to

$$\langle \mathcal{S}_X^3 \rangle_{\Lambda,\mathcal{S}}^{qu} \le \langle s_X \rangle_{\Lambda,\{J_A^3\}}^{ls}.$$
(59)

This is what we aim to prove. Let us now build a composite system where each site of the lattice hosts a quantum degree of freedom and an Ising variable at the same time. Let  $\mathscr{H} = H_{\Lambda,S}^{qu} + H_{\Lambda,S}^{Is}$ , i.e.

$$\mathscr{H} = -\sum_{A \subset \Lambda} J_A^1 \mathcal{S}_A^1 + J_A^3 (s_A + \mathcal{S}_A^3).$$
(60)

The Gibbs state is the natural one given the Gibbs states for the two separated systems. We denote it by  $\langle \cdot \rangle_A$ . We are interested in the expectation value  $\langle s_X - S_X^3 \rangle_A$  for some  $X \subset A$ . Since the trace is invariant under unitary transformations, we can apply on each site the unitary  $(S_x^1, S_x^2, S_x^3) \rightarrow (S_x^1, s_x S_s^2, s_x S_x^3)$  and find

$$\sum_{s \in \Omega_A} \operatorname{Tr} \left( s_X - \mathcal{S}_X^3 \right) e^{-\mathscr{H}} = \sum_{s \in \Omega_A} \operatorname{Tr} s_X (1 - \mathcal{S}_X^3) e^{\sum_{A \subset A} J_A^1 \mathcal{S}_A^1 + J_A^3 s_A (1 + \mathcal{S}_A^3)}$$
(61)

The expression evaluated above is just the expectation value we are interested in multiplied by the partition function of the system—which is positive and therefore not useful in the evaluation of the sign of  $\langle s_X - S_X^3 \rangle_A$ . By a Taylor expansion and by the property  $\sum_{s \in \Omega_A} \prod_{x \in A} s_x^{n_x} \ge 0$  with  $n_x \in \mathbb{N}$  for all  $x \in A$  and any  $A \subset A$ , it is clear that the expression above is nonnegative. This implies that

$$\langle s_X \rangle_{\Lambda, \{J_A^3\}}^{\text{Is}} - \langle \mathcal{S}_X^3 \rangle_{\Lambda, \mathcal{S}}^{\text{qu}} = \langle s_X - \mathcal{S}_X^3 \rangle_{\Lambda} \ge 0.$$
(62)

This proves Eq. (59).

Acknowledgements The authors thank S. Bachmann and C.E. Pfister for useful comments.

### References

- H. Kunz, C.E. Pfister, P.A. Vuillermot, Correlation inequalities for some classical spin vector models. Phys. Lett. 54A, 428–430 (1975)
- 2. F. Dunlop, Correlation inequalities for multicomponent rotors. Commun. Math. Phys. 49, 247–256 (1976)
- J.L. Monroe, Correlation inequalities for two-dimensional vector spin systems. J. Math. Phys. 16, 1809–1812 (1975)
- J.L. Monroe, P.A. Pearce, Correlation inequalities for vector spin Models. J. Stat. Phys. 21, 615 (1979)
- 5. H. Kunz, C.E. Pfister, P.A. Vuillermot, Inequalities for some classical spin vector models. J. Phys. A Math. Gen. **9**(10), 1673–1683 (1976)

- A. Messager, S. Miracle-Sole, C. Pfister, Correlation inequalities and uniqueness of the equilbrium state for the plane rotator ferromagnetic model. Commun. Math. Phys. 58, 19–29 (1978)
- J. Fröhlich, C.E. Pfister, Spin waves, vortices, and the structure of equilibrium states in classical XY model. Commun. Math. Phys. 89, 303–327 (1983)
- G. Gallavotti, A proof of the Griffiths inequalities for the X-Y model. Stud. Appl. Math. 50, 89–92 (1971)
- 9. M. Suzuki, Correlation inequalities and phase transition in the generalised X-Y model. J. Math. Phys. 14, 837–838 (1973)
- P.A. Pearce, J.L. Monoroe, A simple proof of spin-<sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub>X-Y inequalities. J. Phys. A Math. Gen. 12(7), L175 (1979)
- C. Benassi, B. Lees, D. Ueltschi, Correlation inequalities for the quantum XY model. J. Stat. Phys. 164, 1157–1166 (2016)
- 12. R.B. Griffiths, Correlations in Ising ferromagnets. I. J. Math. Phys. 8, 478-483 (1967)
- J. Ginibre, General formulation of Griffiths' inequalities. Commun. Math. Phys. 16, 310–328 (1970)
- C.A. Hurst, S. Sherman, Griffiths' theorems for the ferromagnetic Heisenberg model. Phys. Rev. Lett. 22, 1357 (1969)
- 15. A.Y. Kitaev, Fault-tolerant quantum computation by anyons. Ann. Phys. 303(1), 2-30 (2003)
- S. Bachmann, Local disorder, topological ground state degeneracy and entanglement entropy, and discrete anyons. arXiv:1608.03903 (2016)
- S. Wenzel, W. Janke, Finite-temperature Néel ordering of fluctuations in a plaquette orbital model. Phys. Rev. B 80, 054403 (2009)
- M. Biskup, R. Kotecký, True nature of long-range order in a plaquette orbital model. J. Statist. Mech. 2010, P11001 (2010)
- 19. P.A. Pearce, An inequality for spin-s X-Y ferromagnets. Phys. Lett. A 70(2), 117-118 (1979)
- T. Preis, P. Virnau, W. Paul, J.J. Schneider, GPU accelerated Monte Carlo simulation of the 2D and 3D Ising model. J. Comput. Phys. 228(12), 4468–4477 (2009)
- M. Hasenbusch, S. Meyer, Critical exponents of the 3D XY model from cluster update Monte Carlo. Phys. Lett. B 241(2), 238–242 (1990)
- J. Fröhlich, B. Simon, T. Spencer, Infrared bounds, phase transitions and continuous symmetry breaking. Commun. Math. Phys. 50, 79–95 (1976)
- F.J. Dyson, E.H. Lieb, B. Simon, Phase transitions in quantum spin systems with isotropic and nonisotropic interactions. J. Stat. Phys. 18, 335–383 (1978)
- 24. J.O. Vigfusson, Upper bound on the critical temperature in the 3D Ising model. J. Phys. A Math. Gen. 18(17), 3417 (1985)
- D. Ueltschi, Random loop representations for quantum spin systems. J. Math. Phys. 54(8), 083301 (2013)
- 26. S. Friedli, Y. Velenik, *Statistical Mechanics of Lattice Systems: a Concrete Mathematical Introduction*. http://www.unige.ch/math/folks/velenik/smbook/index.html
- C.M. Fortuin, P.W. Kasteleyn, J. Ginibre, Correlation inequalities on some partially ordered sets. Commun. Math. Phys. 22, 89–103 (1971)
- 28. C.J. Preston, A generalization of the FKG inequalities. Comm. Math. Phys. 36, 233-241 (1974)

# **Dissipatively Generated Entanglement**

#### Fabio Benatti

**Abstract** Given two non-interacting 2-level systems weakly coupled to an environment and thus evolving according to a statistically mixing dissipative reduced dynamics, we provide necessary and sufficient conditions for the generator of the time-evolution to entangle the two systems.

**Keywords** Entanglement • Markovian quantum evolutions • Open quantum systems

## 1 Introduction

Quantum systems always interact with the environment in which they are immersed; when the coupling to the environment is negligible, they evolve reversibly. Otherwise, when the interaction with the environment is weak, but cannot be neglected, quantum systems are called *open* [1, 2]. The weakness of the interaction allows one to derive a *reduced dynamics* that describes the noisy and dissipative effects due to the presence of the environment after it has been eliminated by tracing out its degrees of freedom. Usually, this operation yields an irreversible time-evolution characterised by memory effects that can be eliminated by suitable Markovian approximations that lead to master equations of the form

$$\partial_t \varrho_t = \mathbb{L}[\varrho_t] , \qquad (1)$$

for all  $t \ge 0$ , where  $\mathbb{L}$  is a time-independent generator. Assuming the system to be a *d*-level system, then  $\varrho_t \in M_d(\mathbb{C})$  must be a (positive and normalized)  $d \times d$  density matrix describing the state of the open quantum system at time  $t \ge 0$ .

Therefore, the dynamical maps  $\Lambda_t = e^{t\mathbb{L}}$  generated by (1) must preserve the positivity of any initial  $\rho$ , so that the eigenvalues of  $\rho_t = \Lambda_t[\rho] \ge 0$  might be interpretable as probabilities at all times  $t \ge 0$ ; namely,  $\Lambda_t$  must be positivity

F. Benatti (🖂)

Dipartimento di Fisica, Universitá di Trieste, Strada Costiera 11 I-34151 Trieste, Italy

INFN, Strada Costiera 11, I-34151 Trieste, Italy e-mail: benatti@ts.infn.it

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2017

A. Michelangeli, G. Dell'Antonio (eds.), Advances in Quantum Mechanics, Springer INdAM Series 18, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-58904-6\_3

preserving, positive in short, for all  $t \ge 0$ . This condition is necessary but not sufficient to ensure the full physical consistency of  $\Lambda_t$ ; indeed, one can always statistically couple an open quantum system *S* with another inert *d*-level system *S*, so that the states  $\rho \in M_d(\mathbb{C}) \otimes M_d(\mathbb{C})$  of the compound bipartite system S + Swould evolve under the action of a fully admissible dynamical map  $\Lambda_t \otimes id$ . If the states  $\rho$  were all of the form

$$\rho_{sep} = \sum_{k} \lambda_k \rho_k^{(1)} \otimes \rho_k^{(2)} , \quad \lambda_k \ge 0 , \ \sum_{k} \lambda_k = 1 , \qquad (2)$$

with their correlations only due to the mixing with weights  $\lambda_k$  of the uncorrelated tensor products of constituent system states  $\rho_k^{(1)} \otimes \rho_k^{(2)}$ , the positivity of  $\Lambda_t$  would clearly be sufficient to guarantee that  $\Lambda_t \otimes \operatorname{id}[\rho_{sep}] \ge 0$ . However, not all bipartite states are expressible in a separable form as in (2): those which cannot are called *entangled* [3]. It turns out that, when  $\Lambda_t$  is positive, but not completely positive, there surely exists an entangled state  $\varrho_{ent} \in M_d(\mathbb{C}) \otimes M_d(\mathbb{C})$  such that  $\Lambda_t \otimes \operatorname{id}[\varrho_{ent}]$ assumes negative eigenvalues in the course of time [4]. Summarizing, complete positivity of  $\Lambda_t$  is necessary (and sufficient) to guarantee that both  $\Lambda_t$  and  $\Lambda_t \otimes \operatorname{id}$  be positivity preserving and thus physically consistent.

In the Markovian case, the dynamical maps  $\Lambda_t$  are completely positive if and only if the generator is of the so-called Gorini-Kossakowski-Sudarshan-Lindblad form [5, 6]

$$\mathbb{L}[\varrho_t] = -i[H, \varrho_t] + \sum_{j=1}^{d^2 - 1} K_{ij} \Big( F_i \, \varrho_t \, F_j^{\dagger} - \frac{1}{2} \Big\{ F_j^{\dagger} F_i, \, \varrho_t \Big\} \Big) \,, \tag{3}$$

with traceless matrices such that  $\{F_j\}_{j=1}^{d^2-1}$ ,  $\operatorname{Tr}(F_i^{\dagger}F_j) = \delta_{ij}$ , which, together with  $F_{d^2} = 1/\sqrt{d}$ , constitute an orthonormal basis in  $M_d(\mathbb{C})$  and the  $(d^2 - 1) \times (d^2 - 1)$  matrix  $K = [K_{ij}]$ , known as *Kossakowski matrix*, being positive semi-definite.

Markovian semigroups of completely positive maps are used to describe decoherence processes detrimental to the persistence of non-classical correlations, like entanglement, and to their use to perform classically impossible informational tasks like teleportation and quantum cryptography [7]. However, not always the presence of an environment is negative; sometimes, it is also possible to engineer the environment in such a way that two non-directly interacting systems immersed in it become entangled [8–10].

For two 2-level systems, a sufficient condition for such a possibility to occur was provided in [9] in the case of a purely dissipative generator of the form

$$\mathbb{L}[\varrho_t] = -i[H, \varrho_t] + \sum_{j,k=1}^6 K_{j,k} \left( S_j \,\varrho_t \, S_k - \frac{1}{2} \left\{ S_k S_j \,, \, \varrho_t \right\} \right)$$
$$H = \sum_{j=1}^6 H_j \, S_j \,, \qquad H_j = H_j^* \,,$$

where  $S_j = \sigma_j \otimes \mathbf{1}$  for  $j = 1, 2, 3, S_j = \mathbf{1} \otimes \sigma_{j-3}$  for j = 4, 5, 6, with  $\sigma_{1,2,3}$  the Pauli matrices and  $\mathbf{1}$  the identity  $2 \times 2$  matrix, and the hermitean Kossakowski matrix  $K = [K_{jk}]$  is positive semi-dedefinite. Notice the absence in the above generator of operators pertaining simultaneously to the two qubits like  $\sigma_i \otimes \sigma_j$ . Then, the emergence of entanglement during the time-evolution may only be due to the mixing properties of the dissipation and not to dynamical effects.

In the following, we provide necessary and sufficient conditions for the above generator to create entanglement by focussing on just one part of the generator and proving the following result.

**Theorem 1** Let two 2-level systems immersed in a common environment evolve according to a master equation  $\partial_t \varrho_t = \mathbb{L}[\varrho_t]$  generated by  $\mathbb{L}$  as in (5). Given an initially separable state  $\varrho_{sep}$ , the generated dynamical maps  $\Lambda_t$  on  $M_2(\mathbb{C}) \otimes M_2(\mathbb{C})$  turns it into an entangled state, if and only if so does the dynamics generated by

$$\mathbb{Z}[\varrho] = -i\left(H - \frac{i}{2}\Gamma\right)\varrho + i\varrho\left(H + \frac{i}{2}\Gamma\right)$$
$$\Gamma = \sum_{j,k=1}^{6} K_{jk} S_k S_j \ge 0.$$

#### **2** Dissipative Entanglement Generation

The simplest introduction to the notion of entanglement is by means of two 2-level systems, or in the jargon of quantum information, by systems consisting of two qubits. We shall denote by  $\{|i\rangle\}_{i=0}^{1}$  the orthonormal basis of the eigenvectors of  $\sigma_3$  in the single qubit Hilbert space  $\mathbb{C}^2$ :  $\sigma|i\rangle = (-)^i|i\rangle$ .

Then, two qubit vector states  $|\Psi_{12}\rangle \in \mathbb{C}^4$  are entangled if they cannot be written as tensor products  $|\psi\rangle \otimes |\phi\rangle$  of single qubit vector states, the prototype of such states being the so-called symmetric state

$$|\Psi_{+}\rangle = \frac{|0\rangle \otimes |0\rangle + |1\rangle \otimes |1\rangle}{\sqrt{2}} . \tag{4}$$

Entanglement as a property of quantum states is strictly related to positive, but not completely positive maps on quantum observables [4, 11], the prototype of such maps being the transposition map  $\mathbb{T}$  (defined with respect to the chosen representation). Indeed, the latter is a positive map as it does not alter the spectrum of the matrices on which it acts; however, the partial transposition  $\mathbb{T}\otimes id$ , transposing only the first factor of a bipartite tensor product of operators, fails to be positive.

Indeed, the symmetric projector  $P_+ = |\Psi_+\rangle \langle \Psi_+|$  changes from

$$P_{+} = \frac{1}{2} \Big( |0\rangle \langle 0| \otimes |0\rangle \langle 0| + |1\rangle \langle 1| \otimes |1\rangle \langle 1| + |0\rangle \langle 1| \otimes |0\rangle \langle 1| + |1\rangle \langle 0| \otimes |1\rangle \langle 0| \Big)$$

into

$$(\mathbb{T} \otimes \mathrm{id})[P_+] = \frac{1}{2} \Big( |0\rangle \langle 0| \otimes |0\rangle \langle 0| + |1\rangle \langle 1| \otimes |1\rangle \langle 1| + |1\rangle \langle 0| \otimes |0\rangle \langle 1| + |0\rangle \langle 1| \otimes |1\rangle \langle 0| \Big)$$

which has the anti-symmetric state

$$|\Psi_{-}\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \Big( |0\rangle \otimes |1\rangle - |1\rangle \otimes |0\rangle \Big)$$

as eigenvector relative to the negative eigenvalue -1/2. Therefore, though  $\mathbb{T}$  is a sensible, positivity preserving map on single qubits, its so-called lifting  $\mathbb{T} \otimes$  id fails to be such when acting on systems consisting of two qubits due to the existence of entangled states. In practice, transposition acts as a witness for the entanglement of  $P_+$ ; actually for two qubits  $\mathbb{T}$  is an exhaustive entanglement witness [12].

**Theorem 2** A state  $\rho$  in  $M_2(\mathbb{C}) \otimes M_2(\mathbb{C})$  is entangled if and only if it does not remain positive semi-definite under partial transposition, namely if and only if

$$(\mathbb{T} \otimes \mathrm{id})[\varrho] \not\geq 0$$
.

The issue at stake in the following is the role of the dissipative part of the generator in Theorem 1,

$$\mathbb{L}[\varrho_t] = -i[H, \varrho_t] + \sum_{j,k=1}^{6} K_{jk} \Big( S_j \, \varrho_t \, S_k - \frac{1}{2} \Big\{ S_k S_j \, , \, \varrho_t \Big\} \Big)$$
(5)

$$H = \sum_{j=1}^{6} H_j S_j , \qquad H_j = H_j^* , \qquad (6)$$

with  $S_j = \sigma_j \otimes \mathbf{1}$  for j = 1, 2, 3 and  $S_j = \mathbf{1} \otimes \sigma_{j-3}$  for j = 4, 5, 6, in transforming an initial separable state (2) into an entangled state.

Notice that the Hamiltonian part splits into two terms acting independently on the two qubits and cannot thus entangle them, being thus only the dissipative contribution that can achieve it. The generator can be subdivided into two terms: the first one,  $\mathbb{Z}$ , consists of a pseudo-commutator

$$\mathbb{Z}[\varrho] = -i\left(H - \frac{i}{2}\Gamma\right)\varrho + i\varrho\left(H + \frac{i}{2}\Gamma\right)$$
(7)

$$\Gamma = \sum_{j,k=1}^{\circ} K_{jk} S_k S_j , \qquad (8)$$

with respect to a non-hermitean Hamiltonian. Since  $\Gamma \ge 0$  because the Kossakowski matirx  $K \ge 0$ ,  $\mathbb{Z}$  generates a damped quantum dynamics sending projections into non-normalized projections:

$$e^{t\mathbb{Z}}[|\psi\rangle\langle\psi|] = e^{-it(H-i\Gamma/2)} |\psi\rangle\langle\psi| e^{it(H+i\Gamma/2)} .$$
(9)

As to the remaining contribution to the generator,

$$\mathbb{B}[\varrho] = \sum_{j,k=1}^{6} K_{jk} S_j \varrho S_k , \qquad (10)$$

by using the spectral representation of the Kossakowski matrix  $K = [K_{jk}] \ge 0$ , it can be expressed in the standard Kraus-Stinespring form of completely positive maps

$$\mathbb{B}[\varrho] = \sum_{\ell=1}^{6} V_{\ell} \, \varrho \, V_{\ell}^{\dagger} \,. \tag{11}$$

Unlike the damping term,  $\mathbb{B}$  transforms projectors into mixtures of projections, thus representing a so-called *noisy channel*<sup>1</sup> The standard lore has it that entanglement comes from mutual interactions between the qubits described by the Hamiltonian *H*, while the remaining dissipative contributions are responsible for its depletion in time due to damping and noise.

This conclusion is not always true: suitably engineered dissipative dynamics may lead to dissipatively generated entanglement even in absence of direct qubit interactions and this entanglement can also persist asymptotically in time [8-10, 13].

Regarding the generator (5), in [9] a sufficient condition for entanglement generation was provided that was related to the structure of the  $6 \times 6$  Kossakowski matrix  $C = [C_{jk}]$ . In the following, we shall show that the actual source of entanglement might only be due to the pseudo-commutative contribution, the noise term being unable to counteract this fact.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Notice that the trace is preserved since  $Tr(\mathbb{B}[\varrho] + Tr(\mathbb{Z}[\varrho]) = 0$ .

## 2.1 Checking Entanglement Generation

In order to ascertain whether  $\Lambda_t = e^{t\mathbb{L}}$  acting on an initially separable two qubit state may or not entangle it in the course of time, we base our strategy upon Theorem 2 and the following observations:

- since general separable density matrices are liner convex combination of pure separable states, one need just study the action of Λ<sub>t</sub> on projections of the form P<sub>ψ</sub> ⊗ P<sub>φ</sub>;
- · one need check whether there exist separable projections such that

$$(\mathbb{T} \otimes \mathrm{id}) \circ \Lambda_t[P_{\psi} \otimes P_{\phi}] \not\geq 0;$$

one can focus upon very small times; indeed, in order to become negative an eigenvalue of (T ⊗ id) ∘ Λ<sub>t</sub>[P<sub>ψ</sub> ⊗ P<sub>φ</sub>] must first become zero at some time t<sub>\*</sub> ≥ 0 and then < 0 at t<sub>\*</sub> + ε, for ε > 0 sufficiently small.

Then, the maps  $\Lambda_t$  are entanglement generating if and only if there exists a separable pure state projection  $P_{\psi} \otimes P_{\phi}$  onto  $|\psi\rangle \otimes |\phi\rangle$  such that, at first order in *t*,

$$(\mathbb{T} \otimes \mathrm{id}) \circ \Lambda_t[P_{\psi} \otimes P_{\phi}] \simeq P_{\psi^*} \otimes P_{\phi} + t \, (\mathbb{T} \otimes \mathrm{id}) \circ \mathbb{L}[P_{\psi} \otimes P_{\phi}] \tag{12}$$

is not positive semi-definite. Here,  $|\psi^*\rangle$  is the conjugate of  $|\psi\rangle$  with respect to the orthonormal basis where  $\sigma_3$  is diagonal so that, under transposition,  $\sigma_j^T = \epsilon_j \sigma_j$  with  $\epsilon_j, j = 1, 2, 3$ , determined by

$$\sigma_1^T = \sigma_1 , \qquad \sigma_2^T = -\sigma_2 , \qquad \sigma_3^T = \sigma_3 . \tag{13}$$

For later use, we then introduce the following  $3 \times 3$  diagonal matrix

$$\mathscr{E} := \begin{pmatrix} \epsilon_1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \epsilon_2 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \epsilon_3 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} .$$
(14)

The lack of positive semi-definiteness of  $(\mathbb{T} \otimes id) \circ \Lambda_t[P_{\psi} \otimes P_{\phi}]$  can be studied by considering its expectation values with respect to an (entangled) pure state  $|\Psi\rangle$ orthogonal to  $|\psi^*\rangle \otimes |\phi\rangle$ , so that

$$\langle \Psi | (\mathbb{T} \otimes \mathrm{id}) \circ \Lambda_t [P_{\psi} \otimes P_{\phi}] \Psi \rangle \simeq t \, \langle \Psi | (\mathbb{T} \otimes \mathrm{id}) \circ \mathbb{L} [P_{\psi} \otimes P_{\phi}] | \Psi \rangle =: \Delta(t) \,. \tag{15}$$

*Remark 1* The vector  $|\Psi\rangle$  must be entangled: if  $P_{\Psi} = |\Psi\rangle\langle\Psi| = P_{\psi_1} \otimes P_{\psi_2}$ , where  $P_{\psi_1} = |\psi_1\rangle\langle\psi_1|$ ,  $P_{\psi_2} = |\psi_2\rangle\langle\psi_2|$ , by transferring the partial transposition from

 $\Lambda_t[P_{\psi} \otimes P_{\phi}]$  onto  $P_{\Psi}$ , one would obtain

$$\begin{split} \langle \Psi | (\mathbb{T} \otimes \mathrm{id}) \circ \Lambda_t [P_{\psi} \otimes P_{\phi}] \Psi \rangle &= \mathrm{Tr} \Big( (\mathbb{T} \otimes \mathrm{id}) [P_{\Psi}] \Lambda_t [P_{\psi} \otimes P_{\phi}] \Big) \\ &= \langle \psi_1^* \otimes \psi_2 | \Lambda_t [P_{\psi} \otimes P_{\phi}] \psi_1^* \otimes \psi_2 \rangle \geq 0 \,, \end{split}$$

where  $|\psi_1^*\rangle$  is the conjugate of  $|\psi_1\rangle$  that comes from transposing  $P_{\psi_1}$  in the fixed representation.

The action of the partial transposition on the generator  $\mathbb{L}$  is better understood by rewriting the 6 × 6 Kossakowski matrix  $K = [K_{jk}] \ge 0$  as

$$K = \begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ B^{\dagger} & C \end{pmatrix}$$
(16)

with  $A, B, C \in M_3(\mathbb{C})$  and A and C necessarily positive semi-definite, and then, recasting  $\Gamma$  as

$$\Gamma = \sum_{j,k=1}^{3} A_{jk} \sigma_k \sigma_j \otimes \mathbf{1} + \sum_{j,k=1}^{3} C_{jk} \mathbf{1} \otimes \sigma_k \sigma_j$$
$$+ \sum_{j,k=1}^{3} B_{jk} \sigma_j \otimes \sigma_k + \sum_{j,k=1}^{3} B_{kj}^* \sigma_k \otimes \sigma_j , \qquad (17)$$

and  $\mathbb{B}[\varrho]$  in (10) as

$$\mathbb{B}[\varrho] = \sum_{j,k=1}^{3} A_{jk} \, \sigma_j \otimes \mathbf{1} \, \varrho \, \sigma_k \otimes \mathbf{1} \, + \, \sum_{j,k=1}^{3} C_{jk} \, \mathbf{1} \otimes \sigma_j \, \varrho \, \mathbf{1} \otimes \sigma_k \tag{18}$$

+ 
$$\sum_{j,k=1}^{3} B_{jk} \sigma_j \otimes \mathbf{1} \varrho \, \mathbf{1} \otimes \sigma_k + \sum_{j,k=1}^{3} B_{jk}^* \, \mathbf{1} \otimes \sigma_k \, \varrho \, \sigma_j \otimes \mathbf{1}$$
. (19)

Then, using (13) one computes

$$(\mathbb{T} \otimes \mathrm{id}) \circ \mathbb{Z}[P_{\psi} \otimes P_{\phi}] = -i \sum_{j=1}^{3} H_{j} \epsilon_{j} \left[ P_{\psi^{*}}, \sigma_{j} \right] \otimes P_{\phi} - i \sum_{j=4}^{6} H_{j} P_{\psi^{*}} \otimes \left[ \sigma_{j}, P_{\phi} \right]$$
(20)

$$-\frac{1}{2}\sum_{j,k=1}^{3}A_{jk}\epsilon_{j}\epsilon_{k} \left\{P_{\psi^{*}}, \sigma_{j}\sigma_{k}\right\} \otimes P_{\phi} - \frac{1}{2}\sum_{j,k=1}^{3}C_{jk}P_{\psi^{*}} \otimes \left\{\sigma_{k}\sigma_{j}, P_{\phi}\right\}$$
(21)

$$-\sum_{j,k=1}^{3} \mathscr{R}e(B_{jk}) \epsilon_{j} \left( \sigma_{j} \otimes \mathbf{1} P_{\psi^{*}} \otimes P_{\phi} \mathbf{1} \otimes \sigma_{k} + \mathbf{1} \otimes \sigma_{k} P_{\psi^{*}} \otimes P_{\phi} \sigma_{j} \otimes \mathbf{1} \right),$$
(22)

and

$$(\mathbb{T} \otimes \mathrm{id}) \circ \mathbb{B}[P_{\psi} \otimes P_{\phi}] = \sum_{j,k=1}^{3} A_{jk} \epsilon_{j} \epsilon_{k} \sigma_{k} \otimes \mathbf{1} \left( P_{\psi^{*}} \otimes P_{\phi} \right) \sigma_{j} \otimes \mathbf{1}$$
(23)

+ 
$$\sum_{j,k=1}^{3} C_{jk} \mathbf{1} \otimes \sigma_j \left( P_{\psi^*} \otimes P_{\phi} \right) \sigma_k \otimes \mathbf{1}$$
 (24)

$$+\sum_{j,k=1}^{3}B_{jk}\epsilon_{j}\left(P_{\psi^{*}}\otimes P_{\phi}\right)\sigma_{j}\otimes\sigma_{k}$$
(25)

+ 
$$\sum_{j,k=1}^{3} B_{jk}^{*} \epsilon_{j} \sigma_{j} \otimes \sigma_{k} \left( P_{\psi *} \otimes P_{\phi} \right).$$
 (26)

Notice that, by putting together the above expressions, it thus turns out that partial transposition transforms the generator  $\mathbb{L}$  into a linear map  $\mathbb{N} := (\mathbb{T} \otimes id) \circ \mathbb{L} \circ (\mathbb{T} \otimes id)$  such that

$$\mathbb{N}[\varrho] = -i[\widetilde{H}, \varrho] + \sum_{j,k=1}^{6} N_{jk} \left( S_j \varrho S_k - \frac{1}{2} \left\{ S_k S_j, \varrho \right\} \right)$$
(27)

$$\widetilde{H} := -\sum_{j=1}^{3} \epsilon_{j} H_{j} S_{j} + \sum_{j=4}^{6} H_{j} S_{j} + \sum_{j,k=1}^{3} \epsilon_{j} \mathscr{I} m(B_{jk}) \sigma_{j} \otimes \sigma_{k}$$
(28)

$$N = [N_{jk}] := \mathscr{E} \begin{pmatrix} A^T & (B+B^*)/2\\ (B^{\dagger}+B^T)/2 & C \end{pmatrix} \mathscr{E} , \qquad (29)$$

where  $\mathscr{E}$  is the matrix introduced in (14),  $B^*$  is the matrix with entries  $B_{jk}^*$  and  $B + B^*$  is the  $3 \times 3$  matrix with real entries  $2 \mathscr{R}e(B_{jk})$ .

*Remark 2* The linear map  $\mathbb{N}$  generates a semigroup of maps  $\mathcal{N}_t = \exp(t\mathbb{N})$ . Since, the matrix  $N = [N_{jk}]$  need not be positive semi-definite, the partially transposed semigroup need not have any physical meaning.

We now expand  $|\Psi\rangle$  along the orthonormal basis of  $\mathbb{C}^2 \otimes \mathbb{C}^2$  given by the orthogonal pairs  $\{|\psi^*\rangle, |(\psi^*)^{\perp}\rangle\}$  and  $\{|\phi\rangle, |\phi^{\perp}\rangle\}$ ,

$$|\Psi\rangle = a |\psi^*\rangle \otimes |\phi\rangle + b |(\psi^*)^{\perp}\rangle \otimes |\phi\rangle + c |(\psi^*)^{\perp}\rangle \otimes |\phi^{\perp}\rangle.$$
(30)

Then, the orthogonality between  $|\Psi\rangle$  and  $|\psi^*\rangle \otimes |\phi_1\rangle$  reduces to one the contributions to  $\Delta(t)$  in (15):

$$\Delta(t) = t \langle \Psi | \mathbb{N}[P_{\psi^*} \otimes P_{\phi}] | \Psi \rangle = \sum_{j,k=1}^{6} \langle \Psi | S_j P_{\psi^*} \otimes P_{\phi} S_k | \Psi \rangle .$$
(31)

From these considerations the following result ensues [14]).

**Proposition 1** The dissipative semigroup of completely positive maps  $\Lambda_t = \exp(t\mathbb{L})$ , with  $\mathbb{L}$  as in (5), is entanglement generating if and only if there exist vectors  $|\psi\rangle$ ,  $|\phi\rangle \in \mathbb{C}^2$  such that  $\Delta(t)$  in (31) becomes negative at some t > 0.

#### 2.2 Case 1: $\mathbb{Z}$ Does Not Generate Entanglement

We shall first show that, if  $\mathbb{Z}$  in (7) and (8) cannot generate entanglement, then  $\mathbb{B}$  in (10) is such that  $\mathbb{L} = \mathbb{Z} + \mathbb{B}$  cannot either.

**Proposition 2** Suppose the pseudo-commutator  $\mathbb{Z}$  in (7) does not entangle any initial separable projection  $P_{\psi} \otimes P_{\phi}$ ; then, in (29),  $B + B^* = 0$ .

*Proof* The argument leading to Proposition 1 applies also when the time-evolution is generated by  $\mathbb{Z}$  only, the difference being that the evolving state is a non-normalized projection (see (9)). Then, to the corresponding quantity  $\Delta(t)$  there contributes only the term (22), so that  $\Delta(t)$  in (15) becomes

$$\begin{split} \Delta(t) &= t \langle \Psi | (\mathbb{T} \otimes \mathrm{id}) \circ \mathbb{Z}[P_{\psi^*} \otimes P_{\phi}] | \Psi \rangle \\ &= -2 \,\mathscr{I}m \Big( a \, b^* \, \sum_{j,k=1}^3 \varepsilon_j \,\mathscr{R}e(B_{jk}) \, \langle \psi^* | \sigma_j(\psi^*)^\perp \rangle \langle \phi^\perp | \sigma_k \phi \rangle \Big) \\ &= -2 \,\mathscr{I}m \left( a \, b^* \, \left\langle u \, \middle| \, \mathscr{E} \, \frac{B + B^*}{2} \, v \right\rangle \right) \end{split}$$

where  $|\Psi\rangle$  is the entangled state in (30) orthogonal to  $|\psi^*\rangle \otimes |\phi\rangle$  and

$$|u\rangle = \begin{pmatrix} \langle (\psi^*)^{\perp} | \sigma_1 \psi^* \rangle \\ -\langle (\psi^*)^{\perp} | \sigma_2 \psi^* \rangle \\ \langle (\psi^*)^{\perp} | \sigma_3 \psi^* \rangle \end{pmatrix}, \quad |v\rangle = \begin{pmatrix} \langle \phi^{\perp} | \sigma_1 \phi \rangle \\ \langle \phi^{\perp} | \sigma_2 \phi \rangle \\ \langle \phi^{\perp} | \sigma_3 \phi \rangle \end{pmatrix}.$$

The assumption that  $\mathbb{Z}$  generate no entanglement amounts to the request that  $\Delta(t)$  be non negative for all possible  $a, b \in \mathbb{C}$  and all  $|u\rangle, |v\rangle$ . This in turn asks for

$$\left\langle u \left| \mathscr{E} \frac{B+B^*}{2} v \right\rangle = 0$$

for all  $|u\rangle |v\rangle \in \mathbb{C}^3$ . By choosing  $|\psi\rangle$  to be an eigenstate of  $\sigma_1$ , then of  $\sigma_2$  and finally of  $\sigma_3$ , one gets three linearly independent  $|u\rangle \in \mathbb{C}^3$  and analogously for  $|v\rangle$ . Then, the request that  $\Delta(t)$  be non-negative for all  $|\psi\rangle$ ,  $|\phi\rangle \in \mathbb{C}^2$ , together with the invertibility of the matrix  $\mathscr{E}$  in (14) yields the result.

**Corollary 1** If  $\mathbb{Z}$  does not generate entanglement, neither does  $\mathbb{L}$  in (5).

*Proof* Given the hypothesis, the previous proposition makes diagonal the matrix  $N = [N_{ij}]$  in (29),

$$N = \begin{pmatrix} \mathscr{E}A^T \mathscr{E} & 0 \\ 0 & C \end{pmatrix} \ .$$

Since  $\mathbb{L}$  generates a semigroup of completely positive maps, then, by Gorini-Kossakowski-Sudarshan-Lindblad theorem (see (3)), the Kossakowski matrix K must be positive semi-definite, whence  $\mathscr{E}A^T\mathscr{E}$  and C are both positive semi-definite matrices. Then, by the same theorem, the partially transposed generator  $\mathbb{N}$  in (27) also generates a semigroup of completely positive maps  $\mathscr{N}_t = \exp(t\mathbb{N})$  (see Remark 2), so that  $\mathscr{N}_t[P_{\psi^*} \otimes P_{\phi}]$  is always positive semi-definite for all  $t \geq 0$  and  $\Delta(t)$  in (31) cannot become negative.

## 2.3 Case 2: Z Generates Entanglement

Without restricting to the specific generator  $\mathbb{L}$  in the previous section, we now cast the master Eq. (1) as an equation for the dynamical maps  $\Lambda_t$ ,  $\partial_t \Lambda_t = \mathbb{L} \circ \Lambda_t$ , and introduce the Laplace transform of the solution  $\Lambda_t$ ,

$$\widetilde{\Lambda}_s := \int_0^{+\infty} \mathrm{d}t \, \mathrm{e}^{-st} \, \Lambda_t \qquad s \ge 0 \;. \tag{32}$$

Then, the master equation translates into

$$\widetilde{\Lambda}_{s} = \frac{1}{s - \mathbb{L}} = \frac{1}{s - \mathbb{Z} - \mathbb{B}} = \frac{1}{s - \mathbb{Z}} + \frac{1}{s - \mathbb{Z}} \left( s - \mathbb{Z} - (s - \mathbb{Z} - \mathbb{B}) \right) \frac{1}{s - \mathbb{Z} - \mathbb{B}}$$
$$= \frac{1}{s - \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{k=0}^{+\infty} \left( \mathbb{B} \frac{1}{s - \mathbb{Z}} \right)^{k} .$$
(33)

One thus sees that if  $\Lambda_t$ ,  $t \ge 0$ , is positive, respectively completely positive, such is also the Laplace transform  $\widetilde{\Lambda}_s$ ,  $s \ge 0$ , since the latter is an integral of positive, respectively completely positive maps weighted by positive factors. Moreover, the same is true of

$$(-)^{k} \frac{\mathrm{d}^{k}}{\mathrm{d}s^{k}} \widetilde{\Lambda}_{s} = \int_{0}^{+\infty} \mathrm{d}t \, t^{k} \, \Lambda_{t} \qquad \forall \, k \ge 0 \;. \tag{34}$$

A theorem of Bernstein [15] asserts that the latter ones are not only necessary, but also sufficient conditions for  $\Lambda_t$  to be positive, respectively completely positive.

*Remark 3* The Laplace transform of the dynamics has been thoroughly used in dealing with the complete positivity of dynamical maps outside the Markovian regime when they are generated by time-dependent master equations of the form

$$\partial_t \varrho_t = \int_0^t \mathrm{d}\tau \, \mathbb{K}_{t-\tau}[\varrho_\tau] \,, \qquad \Lambda_{t=0} = \mathrm{id} \,, \tag{35}$$

where  $\mathbb{K}_t$  is a suitable kernel. In this case, not so many results are available regarding the form it ought to have in order to generate a complete positive dynamics. Postulating a kernel of the form  $\mathbb{K}_t := \mathbb{Z}_t + \mathbb{B}_t$  satisfying trace preservation (see footnote 1), the use of (33) allowed the construction of *legitimate pairs* ( $\mathbb{Z}_t$ ,  $\mathbb{B}_t$ ), such that the generated dynamics is completely positive [15]. In this approach, it clearly emerges the pivotal role played by the the  $\mathbb{Z}_t$  term with respect to  $\mathbb{B}_t$  in ensuring the complete positivity of the generated time-evolution.

Since we are dealing with two qubits, the linear maps  $\mathbb{Z}$  and  $\mathbb{B}$  have finite norms  $\|\mathbb{Z}\|$  and  $\|\mathbb{B}\|$  on  $M_4(\mathbb{C})$ . Then, from (33) one can estimate, for  $s > \|\mathbb{Z}\| + \|\mathbb{B}\|$ ,

$$\left\|\widetilde{\Lambda}_s - \frac{1}{s - \mathbb{Z}}\right\| \le \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \|\mathbb{B}\|^k \left\| \frac{1}{s - \mathbb{Z}} \right\|^{k+1} \le \frac{\|\mathbb{B}\|}{(s - \|\mathbb{B}\|)^2} \frac{1}{1 - \frac{\|\mathbb{B}\|}{s - \|\mathbb{Z}\|}}$$

whence, for large  $s \ge 0$ ,

$$\widetilde{\Lambda}_{s} = \frac{1}{s - \mathbb{Z}} + o\left(s^{-1}\right) , \qquad (-)^{k} \frac{d^{k}}{ds^{k}} \widetilde{\Lambda}_{s} = \frac{k!}{(s - \mathbb{Z})^{k+1}} + o\left(s^{-(k+1)}\right) .$$
(36)

Applying these considerations, we can prove the following result.

**Proposition 3** Consider a semigroup of completely positive maps  $\Lambda_t = \exp(t\mathbb{L})$ ,  $t \geq 0$ , on the state space of two qubits, with  $\mathbb{L} = \mathbb{Z} + \mathbb{B}$  as in (3). Then, if  $\mathbb{Z}$  generates entanglement, so does  $\mathbb{L}$ .

*Proof* Since  $\mathbb{Z}$  generates entanglement, the dynamical maps  $\gamma_t := \exp(t\mathbb{N}_Z)$ , with  $\mathbb{N}_Z := (\mathbb{T} \otimes id) \circ \mathbb{Z} \circ (\mathbb{T} \otimes id)$ , cannot be positive. Indeed, there must exist an initial separable projection  $P_{\psi} \otimes P_{\phi}$  such that  $\gamma_t[P_{\psi} \otimes P_{\phi}]$  becomes entangled at some

t > 0. Thus, Theorem 2 together with the fact that

$$(\mathbb{T} \otimes \mathrm{id}) \circ \mathrm{e}^{t\mathbb{Z}} \circ (\mathbb{T} \otimes \mathrm{id}) = \mathrm{e}^{t\mathbb{N}_Z},$$

and  $((\mathbb{T} \otimes id))^2 = id$  implies that

$$(\mathbb{T} \otimes \mathrm{id}) \circ \mathrm{e}^{t\mathbb{Z}}[P_{\psi} \otimes P_{\phi}] = \gamma_t[P_{\psi^*} \otimes P_{\phi}]$$

is no longer positive semi-definite. Then, going to the Laplace trasform  $\tilde{\gamma}_t$ , Bernstein theorem (see (34)) implies that there must exist an integer  $k \ge 0$  such that

$$(-)^k \frac{\mathrm{d}^k}{\mathrm{d}s^k} \widetilde{\gamma}_s = \frac{k!}{(s - \mathbb{N}_Z)^{k+1}}$$

is not a positive map. Let us now consider the full generator  $\mathbb{L} = \mathbb{Z} + \mathbb{B}$  and its partially transposed partner

$$\mathbb{N} = (\mathbb{T} \otimes \mathrm{id}) \circ \mathbb{L} \circ (\mathbb{T} \otimes \mathrm{id}) = \mathbb{N}_Z + \mathbb{N}_B, \qquad \mathbb{N}_B := (\mathbb{T} \otimes \mathrm{id}) \circ \mathbb{B} \circ (\mathbb{T} \otimes \mathrm{id}).$$

Then, regarding the Laplace transform  $\widetilde{\mathcal{N}}_s$  of the maps  $\mathcal{N}_t = e^{t\mathbb{N}}$ , from the asymptotic behaviour (36) for large  $s \ge 0$ , one can conclude that also

$$(-)^k \frac{\mathrm{d}^k}{\mathrm{d}s^k} \widetilde{\mathscr{N}}_s = \frac{k!}{(s - \mathbb{N}_Z)^{k+1}} + o\left(s^{-(k+1)}\right)$$

cannot be a positive map for sufficiently large  $s \ge 0$ . Therefore, again by Bernstein theorem,  $\mathcal{N}_t = (\mathbb{T} \otimes id) \circ \Lambda_t$  cannot be positive and thus  $\Lambda_t$  must be entanglement generating for some  $t \ge 0$ .

#### **3** Conclusions

Two qubits have been considered in weak interaction with a common environment that makes them evolve according to a dissipative semigroup of completely positive maps  $\Lambda_t = \exp(t\mathbb{L})$  that do not provide mediated interaction between the two open quantum systems, but only statistically mix them. The paper provides necessary and sufficient conditions on the generator  $\mathbb{L} = \mathbb{Z} + \mathbb{B}$  for the dynamical maps  $\Lambda_t$  to be able to entangle initial separable states. As is the case with master equations generating semigroups of completely positive maps, the generator  $\mathbb{L}$  consists of two terms: a pseudo-commutative term  $\mathbb{Z}$  responsible for a damped time-evolution transforming vector states into non-normalized vector states and a noise term  $\mathbb{B}$  transforming vector states into mixtures of projections. A Laplace transform technique has been used that reduced the problem to the discussion of the properties of the pseudo-commutator  $\mathbb{Z}$  showing that if the latter alone generates entanglement

so does  $\mathbb{L}$  and vice versa. As shortly mentioned in Remark 3, the Laplace transform had been used in [15] to study the complete positivity of the maps generated by a master equation with a time-dependent memory kernel  $\mathbb{K}_t = \mathbb{Z}_t + \mathbb{B}_t$ . There, it became apparent the prominence of the role of the pseudo-commutator  $\mathbb{Z}_t$  in fixing the properties of the generator  $\mathbb{K}_t$ . The result in Theorem 1 confirms such an evidence in a memory-less context and in relation to entanglement generation.

## References

- 1. R. Alicki, K. Lendi, *Quantum Dynamical Semigroups and Applications* (Springer, Berlin, 1987)
- H.-P. Breuer, F. Petruccione, *The Theory of Open Quantum Systems* (Oxford University Press, Oxford, 2007)
- 3. R. Horodecki, P. Horodecki, M. Horodecki, K. Horodecki, Rev. Mod. Phys. 81, 757-865 (2009)
- 4. F. Benatti, R. Floreanini, Int. J. Phys. B 19, 3063 (2005)
- 5. A. Gorini, A. Kossakowski, E.C.G. Sudarshan, J. Math. Phys. 17, 821 (1976)
- 6. G. Lindblad, Comm. Math. Phys. 48, 119 (1976)
- 7. M.A. Nielsen, I.L. Chuang, *Quantum Computation and Quantum Information* (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2002)
- 8. D. Braun, Phys. Rev. Lett. 89, 277901-277904 (2002)
- 9. F. Benatti, R. Floreanini, M. Piani, Phys. Rev. Lett. 91, 070402-070405 (2003)
- B. Kraus, H.P. Bchler, S. Diehl, A. Kantian, A. Micheli, P. Zoller, Phys. Rev. A 78, 042307 (2008)
- 11. I. Bengtsson, K. Życzkowski, *Geometry of Quantum States* (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2006)
- 12. M. Horodecki, P. Horodecki, R. Horodecki, Phys. Lett. A 223, 1 (1996)
- 13. F. Benatti, R. Floreanini, Phys. Rev. A 70, 012112 (2004)
- 14. F. Benatti, A.M. Liguori, A. Nagy, J. Math. Phys. 49, 042103 (2008)
- 15. D. Chruściński, A. Kossakowski, EPL 97, 20005 (2012)

# **Abelian Gauge Potentials on Cubic Lattices**

M. Burrello, L. Lepori, S. Paganelli, and A. Trombettoni

**Abstract** The study of the properties of quantum particles in a periodic potential subjected to a magnetic field is an active area of research both in physics and mathematics, and it has been and is yet deeply investigated. In this chapter we discuss how to implement and describe tunable Abelian magnetic fields in a system of ultracold atoms in optical lattices. After reviewing two of the main experimental schemes for the physical realization of synthetic gauge potentials in ultracold setups, we study cubic lattice tight-binding models with commensurate flux. We finally discuss applications of gauge potentials in one-dimensional rings.

**Keywords** Abelian gauge potentials • Lattice models • Quantum entanglement • Quantum transfer • Ultracold atoms

M. Burrello (🖂)

L. Lepori

INFN, Laboratori Nazionali del Gran Sasso, Via G. Acitelli, 22, I-67100 Assergi, Italy e-mail: llepori81@gmail.com

S. Paganellii Dipartimento di Scienze Fisiche e Chimiche, Universitá dell'Aquila, via Vetoio, I-67010 Coppito-L'Aquila, Italy e-mail: pascualox@gmail.com

#### A. Trombettoni CNR-IOM DEMOCRITOS Simulation Center, Via Bonomea 265, I-34136 Trieste, Italy

SISSA and INFN, Sezione di Trieste, via Bonomea 265, I-34136 Trieste, Italy e-mail: andreatr@sissa.it

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017 A. Michelangeli, G. Dell'Antonio (eds.), *Advances in Quantum Mechanics*, Springer INdAM Series 18, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-58904-6\_4

Niels Bohr International Academy and Center for Quantum Devices, University of Copenhagen, Juliane Maries Vej 30, 2100 Copenhagen, Denmark e-mail: michele.burrello@nbi.ku.dk

Dipartimento di Scienze Fisiche e Chimiche, Universitá dell'Aquila, via Vetoio, I-67010 Coppito-L'Aquila, Italy

## 1 Introduction

The study of the dynamics of a quantum particle in a magnetic field is a fascinating subject of perduring interest both in physics and mathematics literature. The quantization of energy levels giving rise to the Landau levels is at the basis of our understanding of integer and fractional quantum Hall effects [11, 13, 39, 66, 77] and its higher-dimensional counterparts and generalizations, including topological insulators [14, 19, 67]. The use of vector potentials in quantum mechanics is associated in itself to very interesting consequences, such as the purely quantum mechanical interference in the Aharonov-Bohm effect [3]. On the other side, the mathematical formalism for a particle in a magnetic field has been developed and refined along the time, based on the rigorous definition of Schrödinger operators with magnetic fields [10]. An important role is played by the construction of families of observables in the presence of gauge fields relying on the progresses in gauge covariant pseudodifferential calculus [42] and the  $C^*$ -algebraic formalism [58] (see for a review Ref. [57]). A major area of research in the field of single-particle and many-body properties in the presence of a magnetic field is provided by the study of the effects of periodic potentials. The interplay of the magnetic field and the discreteness induced by the lattice provides a paradigmatic system for the study of incommensurability effects [12, 38] and it results in an energy spectrum exhibiting a fractal structure, referred to as the Hofstadter butterfly [38]. Very interesting examples of the analysis of the so-called colored gaps can be found in [9, 68], while a discussion of the colored Hofstadter butterflies in honeycomb lattices can be found in [2].

The study of the Hofstadter Hamiltonian attracted in the years a sparkling activity, also due to its connections with the one-dimensional Harper model [36]. A concise, but very clear discussion is presented in [71], where it is shown how the Schrödinger equation for an electron in a magnetic field in the presence of a two-dimensional periodic potential can be mapped in a one-dimensional quasiperiodic equation. A derivation of Harper and Hofstadter models in the context of effective models for the conductance in magnetic fields was presented in [22], while a treatment of the Schrödinger operator in two dimensions with a periodic potential and a strong constant magnetic field perturbed by slowly varying non-periodic scalar and vector potentials has been recently discussed in [28]. A remarkable motivation for the studies of a two-dimensional electron gas in a uniform magnetic field and a periodic substrate potential is as well coming from the connection with topological invariants, as one can see from the study of the Hall conductance [72].

The theoretical studies on properties of lattice systems in a periodic potential found a experimental matching in the active research of solid-state realizations of the Hofstadter and related Hamiltonians. This effect has never been observed so far in a natural crystal due to the fact that a very large magnetic field would be required, however signatures of the Hofstadter bands has been observed in artificial superlattices [21, 27, 29, 59, 65]. This activity found recently a counterpart in the field of cold atoms, where it has been possible to load a neutral atomic gas in an

optical lattice and simulate by external lasers an artificial magnetic potential [5, 60]. Given the fact that ultracold atoms, due to the high level of control and tunability of parameters [64], are an ideal physical setup in which perform quantum simulation [15], these and related experimental achievements opened the way to study a variety of lattice systems in a magnetic potential. In particular one can load on the lattice interacting bosonic and/or fermionic atoms, control the parameters of the lattice, use several components in each lattice site [54] and implement a variety of lattices of different dimensionalities (not only D = 2, but also D = 1 and D = 3).

The rationale of this Chapter is to report an introduction to the different ways to implement artificial magnetic potentials in the presence of a controllable lattice, with the goal to create a link with the many available results in theoretical and mathematical physics. From the other side we think that the variety of lattice models in magnetic fields implementable with ultracold gases may be a context in which test and apply techniques from the mathematical literature, and motivate further analytical and rigorous results, starting from the treatment of three-dimensional fermionic lattice systems. With these objectives, we then present in Sect. 2 a discussion on several different ways of realizing artificial magnetic fluxes in optical lattice systems. In Sects. 3 and 4 we present two possible applications of the results presented in Sect. 2 both to illustrate the versatility of possible uses of artificial magnetic potentials and to show results for 3D and 1D lattices. In Sect. 3 we review and study cubic lattice tight-binding models with a commensurate Abelian flux, also presenting results for the case of anisotropic fluxes. In Sect. 4 we consider 1D rings pierced by a magnetic field discussing how the latter can enhance the quantum state transfer and the entanglement entropy in the system.

We acknowledge several discussions we had along the years on the subjects treated in this chapter with several people, and special acknowledgements go to M. Aidelsburger, E. Alba, T. Apollaro, H. Buljan, A. Celi, I. C. Fulga, N. Goldman, G. Gori, M. Mannarelli, G. Mussardo, G. Panati, H. Price, M. Rizzi, P. Sodano and A. Smerzi. S. P. is supported by a Rita Levi-Montalcini fellowship of MIUR.

## 2 Realization of Artificial Magnetic Fluxes in Optical Lattice Systems

In the last 10 years many experiments with ultracold atoms demonstrated the possibility of realizing artificial magnetic fluxes trapped in two-dimensional optical lattices. Similar setups pave the way for a systematic study of topological phases of matter in the highly controllable environment provided by ultracold atoms [15]. Such experiments offer, on one side, the possibility of reaching regimes that are hardly achievable in solid state devices and, on the other, to verify the emergence of topological phenomena through observables typical of ultracold gases, such as the motion of the center of mass of the system, or the momentum distribution of the atoms [64]. The measurement of these quantities therefore provides useful tools to

detect the appearance of topological phases of matter which are complementary to the usual transport measurements performed in solid state platforms.

The main result which enabled the experimental study of topological models in ultracold atomic systems was the realization of artificial gauge potentials. In this framework, we speak about *artificial* (or *synthetic*) gauge potentials because ultracold atoms are neutral, therefore their motion is not directly affected by the presence of a true electromagnetic field. Despite that, however, it turned out to be possible to engineer systems in which the dynamics of the slow and low-energy degrees of freedom can be described by an effective Hamiltonian in which the free, non-interacting, part is the one of a free-particle in a magnetic field. An interesting point to be observed is that the obtained Hamiltonian, featuring the presence of an artificial magnetic field, is interacting, with the interaction term tunable by e.g. Feshbach resonances or by acting on the geometry of the system. At the same time, typically, as we are going to discuss in the following, the synthetic field does not depend on the interactions or on the density of the system, being in a word a singleparticle effect.

An efficient way to implement a synthetic gauge potential **A** giving rise to an artificial, static magnetic field  $\mathbf{B} \propto \nabla \times \mathbf{A}$ , is to implement with ultracold atoms in optical lattice a tight-binding Hamiltonian with hopping amplitudes which are, in general, complex and whose phases depend on the position. To be more clear, we point out that the implementation of synthetic gauge potentials in lattices relies on the well-established experimental successes in the quantum simulation of tight-binding Hamiltonians for both bosons and fermions [15].

For ultracold bosons, if a condensate is loaded in an optical lattice, then one can expand the condensate wavefunctions in the basis of the Wannier functions and obtain a discrete nonlinear Schrödinger (DNLS) equation [73]. The coefficient of the nonlinear term in the DNLS equation is proportional to the s-wave scattering length a and in general the coefficients of the DNLS equation depend on integrals of the Wannier functions. For a = 0 (i.e., for an effectively non-interacting condensate) one gets the discrete linear Schrödinger, which is nothing but the tight-biding model for which one can apply consolidated numerical analyses [55] and rigorous [16] techniques for the definition and determination of the Wannier functions and their behaviour. When  $a \neq 0$  a rigorous theory of (nonlinear) Wannier functions does not exist, and the semiclassical equations of motion should be modified as a consequence of the existence of the nonlinearity. The development of a rigorous extension of Wannier functions in the presence of nonlinearity is a challenging mathematical problem for the future. We think this independently from the fact that an approximate determination of the Wannier functions (see e.g. for a variational approach in [18, 74, 75]) typically works very well to describe the experimental results when the laser intensity, i.e. the strength of the periodic potential, is large enough, also when the system approaches the superfluid-Mott transition and/or the gas is not longer condensate due to the presence of strong interactions [40]. Similar considerations apply for ultracold fermions: when there is in average no more than one particle per well and only the lowest band is occupied, a single-band tight-binding approximation works very well both when the dilute fermionic gas is polarized (corresponding to a = 0) and when more species or levels of fermions are present. In the following we consider tight-binding models describing ultracold atoms in optical lattices, sticking to the non-interacting limit and discussing how to simulate artificial gauge potentials in such systems. We alert anyway the reader that, albeit non-rigorous, the experimental techniques to implement synthetic magnetic field are the same also for interacting particles, even though the interacting terms may modify or generate additional coefficients in the tight-binding model and introduce corrections to the results obtained with the Peierls substitution [63].

To fix the notation, let us consider a lattice whose sites are denoted by **r**: for a cubic *D*-dimensional lattice we have  $\mathbf{r} \in \mathbb{Z}^{D}$ . By using the Peierls substitution to take into account the effect of the magnetic field [45, 53, 63], the Hamiltonian we consider then reads

$$H(\{\phi\}) = -\sum_{\mathbf{r},\hat{j}} w_{\hat{j}} c^{\dagger}_{\mathbf{r}+\hat{j}} e^{i\phi_{j}(\mathbf{r})} c_{\mathbf{r}} + \text{H.c.}, \qquad (1)$$

where  $\hat{j}$  are unitary vectors characterizing the links of the lattice,  $w_{\hat{j}}$  are the hopping amplitudes (assumed isotropic in the following of the Section:  $w_{\hat{j}} \equiv w$ ). The phases  $\theta_j$  depend in general on the position **r** and can be thought as the integral of an artificial and classical vector potential **A**(**r**) between neighboring sites:

$$\phi_j(\mathbf{r}) = \int_{\mathbf{r}}^{\mathbf{r}+\hat{j}} \mathbf{A}(\mathbf{x}) \cdot d\mathbf{x} \,. \tag{2}$$

The ladder operators  $c_{\mathbf{r}}$  and  $c_{\mathbf{r}}^{\dagger}$  annihilate and create an atom in the lattice site  $\mathbf{r}$  and they may obey either fermionic or bosonic commutation relations depending on the atoms species.

It is important to emphasize that the artificial vector potential **A** constitutes a classical and static field; despite that, we can define U(1) gauge transformations acting on the ladder operators of the previous Hamiltonian and on the vector potentials, which leave the dynamics of the system invariant; **A** is thus, in this context, a properly defined gauge potential (see the reviews [20, 32] for more details). Notice as well that one can simulate gauge potentials without a periodic potential [20, 32], but that typically the implementation of magnetic potential in an optical lattice can crucially take advantage of the presence of the lattice potential itself (in other words, decreasing to zero the intensity of the laser beams amounts to make vanishing the magnetic potentials as well).

The effect of the gauge symmetry is that the main observables we must consider are gauge-invariant observables - although, due to the artificial nature of these gauge potentials, also gauge-dependent quantity may be evaluated in the experimental setups, going beyond the previous effective Hamiltonian description. The main gauge-invariant quantity determining the dynamics of the system is the magnetic flux which characterizes each plaquette in the lattice. Such flux describes an Aharonov-Bohm phase acquired by an atom hopping around a lattice plaquette and can be defined as:

$$\Phi_p = \sum_{(\mathbf{r}, \hat{j}) \in p} \phi_j(\mathbf{r}) = \oint_p \mathbf{A}(\mathbf{x}) \cdot d\mathbf{x}, \qquad (3)$$

where  $(\mathbf{r}, \hat{j})$  labels the links along the plaquette *p* in order to consider a counterclockwise path. The lattice spacing is denoted by *a*, and if not differently stated is intended to be set to 1.

On the experimental side there are two broad classes of techniques which have been adopted to engineer effective Hamiltonians of the form in Eq.(1). The first corresponds to the "lattice shaking", which consists in a fast periodic modulation of the optical lattice trapping the atoms whose effect is to reproduce, at the level of the slow motion of the atoms, the required complex hopping amplitudes. The second is the "laser-assisted tunneling" of the atoms in optical lattices in which the atom motion is suppressed along one direction and restored through the introduction of additional Raman lasers able to imprint additional space-dependent phases to the tunneling of the particles. Both these techniques allow for the generation of artificial magnetic fluxes and are based on non-trivial time-dependent Hamiltonians which determine, at the level of the slow motion of the system, a dynamics which can be described by an effective Hamiltonian of the kind in Eq. (1). In the following we will summarize first the technique developed in [31] which provides a very useful tool for the analysis of these driven time-dependent systems, and then we will describe some of the main examples of systems obtained through lattice shaking or laserassisted tunneling.

## 2.1 An Effective Description for Periodically Driven Systems

The technique for the analysis of periodically driven systems proposed in [31], whose presentation we follow in this Section, is based on the distinction of two main ingredients whose combination describes the dynamics of modulated setups. The first is an effective Hamiltonian H, independent on the initial conditions of the dynamics, and capturing the long-time motion of the particles in the system. The second is a so-called kick-operator K describing the effects due to the initial and final phases of the modulation. In particular it is responsible for both the initial conditions of the system and for the so-called micro-motion, which includes the periodic dynamics of all the fast-evolving degrees of freedom. To be explicit, let us assume that the modulated system is described by a time-periodic Hamiltonian  $\tilde{H}(t) = \tilde{H}(t + T)$ . It is then possible to decompose the evolution of the system into:

$$U(t_i \to t_f) = e^{-iK(t_f)} e^{-iH(t_f - t_i)} e^{iK(t_i)} .$$
(4)

Here *H* is the effective, time-independent, Hamiltonian, not depending on  $t_i$  and  $t_f$ ; the kick operator K(t) = K(t + T) is a periodic time-dependent operator, and hereafter we set  $\hbar = 1$ . The approach in [31] consists in a series expansion of *H* and *K* in the small parameter  $1/\omega = T/(2\pi)$ , where  $\omega$  is the driving frequency of the system and must constitute the largest energy scale of the problem.

To study optical lattices with non-trivial artificial magnetic fluxes it is usually enough to consider the long-term dynamics of the driven system and thus the effective Hamiltonian only (the situation would be different for systems involving also spin degrees of freedom, or for the evaluation of the heating of the driven system). To this purpose, we decompose the time-dependent Hamiltonian  $\tilde{H}(t)$  into its Fourier component:

$$\tilde{H}(t) = H_0 + \sum_{n>0} e^{in\omega t} V^{(n)} + \sum_{n>0} e^{-in\omega t} V^{(-n)}$$
(5)

with  $V^{(-n)} = V^{(n)\dagger}$ .  $H_0$  is the time-independent component of  $\tilde{H}$ , whereas the operators  $V^{(-n)}$  are associated to its harmonics. In terms of these operators it is possible to show that the effective Hamiltonian reads:

$$H = H_0 + \frac{1}{\omega} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n} \left[ V^{(n)}, V^{(-n)} \right] + \frac{1}{2\omega^2} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n^2} \left( \left[ \left[ V^{(n)}, H_0 \right], V^{(-n)} \right] + \text{H.c.} \right) + O(T^3) \right].$$
(6)

This expansion allows for a determination of the effective Hamiltonian in the main examples of systems of ultracold atoms trapped in optical lattices, subject either to a modulation of the trapping lattice or two additional Raman couplings. One needs to consider carefully, though, the issue of the convergence of this series which must be evaluated specifically for each system. The readers are referred to [31] for more detail.

## 2.2 Artificial Gauge Potentials from Lattice Shaking

The first attempts to experimentally modify the hopping amplitudes of the effective tight-binding models for atoms trapped in optical lattices through the introduction of modulations date back to the works [25, 43, 51]. To understand how the effect of the lattice shaking can determine the tunneling amplitudes of the atoms let us first address a one-dimensional setup. Although, in this case, it is not possible to define magnetic fields and fluxes, the analysis of this simplified system will be useful to understand the appearance of artificial magnetic fluxes in higher dimensions. We consider an optical potential of the form  $V(t) = V_0 \sin^2 (x - \xi_0 \cos(\omega t))$  where  $\omega$ 

is the shaking frequency. The Hamiltonian with this oscillating potential can be mapped in a co-moving frame  $(x \rightarrow x + \xi_0 \cos(\omega t))$  characterized by the following Hamiltonian:

$$\tilde{H}(t) = p^2 + V_0 \sin^2(x) - \frac{1}{2} x \xi_0 \omega^2 \cos(\omega t) , \qquad (7)$$

where the last term accounts for the additional force in the non-inertial frame and we set the mass to m = 1/2 for the sake of simplicity. Finally, by approximating with a tight-binding model we obtain:

$$\tilde{H}(t) = \sum_{x} \left[ -w \, c_{x+1}^{\dagger} c_x - w \, c_x^{\dagger} c_{x+1} - \frac{1}{2} x \xi_0 \omega^2 \cos(\omega t) c_x^{\dagger} c_x \right]. \tag{8}$$

In this case it is possible to derive the full effective Hamiltonian without recurring to a series expansion to obtain [24]:

$$H = -w \mathscr{J}_0(\xi_0 \omega/2) \sum_x c_{x+1}^{\dagger} c_x + c_x^{\dagger} c_{x+1}$$
(9)

where  $\mathscr{J}_0$  is a Bessel function of the first kind which renormalizes the tunneling amplitude and may assume either positive or negative values depending on  $\xi_0 \omega$ . Despite the fact that, in this case, the hopping amplitude remains always real, it is interesting to notice that it can change sign.

In 1*D* systems, such a change of sign is simply translated in a different dispersion for the single particle problem; however, it is possible to extend this naive example to higher dimensions and less trivial geometries: in this case the result of the lattice shaking provides a first tool for the engineering of non-trivial fluxes. We also observe that, applying the formalism of [31], we have that  $H_0 = -w \sum_x c_{x+1}^{\dagger} c_x +$ H.c.,  $V^{(1)} = V^{(-1)} = -x\omega^2 c_x^{\dagger} c_x/4$  and all the other harmonics are absent. The effective Hamiltonian based on Eq. (6) would then correspond to a series expansion of the Bessel function in Eq. (9) [31].

The lattice shaking techniques can be also extended to obtain complex hopping amplitudes. To this purpose, in this simple one-dimensional model, it is necessary to change the time-dependence of the modulation of the lattice in order to break the time-reversal symmetry  $[V(t - t_0) = V(-t - t_0)]$  and a shift antisymmetry [V(t) = V(t + T/2)] [69]. This has been realized for the first time for a *Rb* Bose-Einstein condensate and the presence of non-trivial hopping phases has been verified through time-of-flight measurements of its momentum distribution as a function of the modulation amplitude [69]. This may be counterintuitive because, in one dimension, the observation of the hopping phase corresponds to the observation of a gauge-dependent quantity. We notice, however, that only the effective tightbinding models adopted in the description of the slow dynamics of the system, and the related observables, are indeed gauge-invariant; in the experiment, though, one can access also additional "gauge-dependent" observables through operations which do not have a physical counterpart in the effective toy model: this is the case of the time-of-flight imaging which follows from switching off the optical lattice. Such procedure maps the crystal momentum of the tight binding model (9) (which is a gauge-dependent quantity) into the velocity of the particles during the time of flight, which is an observable quantity which exists only considering the embedding of the system in the larger laboratory setting.

The effects of lattice shaking become even more remarkable in two-dimensional setups. In this case lattices may be accelerated along two different directions to cause a global periodic motion of the optical lattice around a closed orbit which yields, at the level of the effective Hamiltonian, a tight-binding model with non-trivial fluxes.

On triangular optical lattices this technique has been adopted to realize staggered flux configurations [70] and, more recently, the same method, with a circular modulation of the lattice position [61], has been used to simulate the topological Haldane model [35] on the honeycomb lattice with a gas of fermionic  ${}^{40}K$  [41]. The Haldane model represents a topological insulator of fermions hopping in a honeycomb lattice with nearest-neighbor and next-nearest-neighbor tunnelings. It is based on both the presence of a pattern of staggered fluxes  $\Phi$  to break time-reversal symmetry and an onsite staggering potential to break space inversion symmetry [35]. By varying the value of either of these parameters, the model undergoes topological phase transitions, characterized by discontinuities of the Chern number of the lowest energy band. These discontinuities have been experimentally detected through measurements of the drift of the center of mass of the system in the presence of an additional magnetic gradient to add an additional constant force [41].

## 2.3 Artificial Gauge Potential from Laser-Assisted Tunneling

Complex hopping amplitudes in the effective Hamiltonian can be obtained also through a different technique based on the introduction of pairs of Raman lasers coupling the low-energy states of the atoms trapped in the optical lattice. In this case the phase differences and space dependence of the Raman lasers may be inherited by the dynamics of the atoms, thus allowing for complex space-dependent amplitudes.

To reach this result, however, it is necessary to first suppress the motion of the atoms in the optical lattice, at least, along one direction. This is obtained through the introduction of suitable energy offsets, depending on the positions, which shift the energy of neighboring sites by an energy  $\Delta$ . These offsets can be obtained, for example, by tilting the lattice (i.e., with gravity), or by introducing suitable magnetic gradients in the system which couple with the atomic magnetic dipole moments (thus generating a position dependent Zeeman term) or through the introduction of superlattices.

Let us start by considering one of the simplest realization of strong fluxes in optical square lattices as experimentally realized [4]. In this experiment an optical superlattice, generated by a standing wave with wavelength 2a, was used to introduce an additional staggering along the  $\hat{x}$  direction for the trapped atoms,



**Fig. 1** Schematic illustration of the setup adopted in the experiment [4] for the realization of staggered magnetic fluxes. The tunneling along the horizontal direction is suppressed by the introduction of the staggering  $\Delta$  through a superlattice. A pair of Raman lasers (*red arrows*) are added to the system to restore the horizontal tunneling. As a result the even horizontal links (*blue dashed links*) acquire a tunneling phase  $e^{-i\mathbf{k}_R\mathbf{r}}$ , whereas the odd (*red dashed links*) acquire the opposite phase  $e^{i\mathbf{k}_R\mathbf{r}}$ .  $\mathbf{k}_R$  is the recoil momentum of the pair of Raman lasers

such that the initial, time-independent setup can be modeled by the following Hamiltonian:

$$\tilde{H}'_{0} = -w \sum_{\mathbf{r},\hat{j}} \left( c^{\dagger}_{\mathbf{r}+\hat{j}} c_{\mathbf{r}} + \text{H.c.} \right) + \frac{\Delta}{2} \sum_{\mathbf{r}} (-1)^{x} c^{\dagger}_{\mathbf{r}} c_{\mathbf{r}}$$
(10)

where  $\mathbf{r} = (x, y)$  and  $\Delta$  is the staggering related to the amplitude of the superlattice (see Fig. 1). Two running Raman lasers with wave vectors  $\mathbf{k}_{1,2}$  and frequencies  $\omega_{1,2}$ , tuned such that  $\omega_1 - \omega_2 = \Delta$ , are then introduced in the system. The associated electric field is  $E_1 \cos(\mathbf{k}_1 \mathbf{r} - \omega_1 t) + E_2 \cos(\mathbf{k}_2 \mathbf{r} - \omega_2 t)$  which, neglecting the fast oscillating terms, generates a potential:

$$V(t) = \kappa e^{i(\mathbf{k}_R \mathbf{r} - \Delta t)} c_{\mathbf{r}}^{\dagger} c_{\mathbf{r}} + \text{H.c.}, \qquad (11)$$

where  $\kappa = 2E_1E_2$  and  $\mathbf{k}_R = \mathbf{k}_1 - \mathbf{k}_2$  is the recoil momentum of the Raman lasers.

The time-evolution of the system is ruled by the Schrödinger equation  $i\partial_t \psi = \tilde{H}'(t)\psi$ , where  $\tilde{H}'(t) = \tilde{H}'_0 + V(t)$ . Since the static Hamiltonian  $\tilde{H}'_0$  contains the staggered-potential term that explicitly diverges with the driving frequency  $\Delta$ , it is convenient to apply the unitary transformation [33, 56]

$$\psi = R(t)\tilde{\psi} = \exp\left(-iWt\right)\tilde{\psi},\tag{12}$$

with W being the staggering term:

$$W = \frac{\Delta}{2} \sum_{\mathbf{r}} (-1)^{x} c_{\mathbf{r}}^{\dagger} c_{\mathbf{r}} .$$
<sup>(13)</sup>

Such transformation removes the diverging term and maps  $\tilde{H}'$  into:

$$\tilde{H}(t) = R^{\dagger}(t) \left[ \tilde{H}'_0 + V(t) \right] R(t) - W =$$
(14)

$$= H_0 + V^{(1)}e^{i\Delta t} + V^{(-1)}e^{-i\Delta t},$$
(15)

where

$$H_0 = -w \sum_{x,y} \left( c^{\dagger}_{x,y+1} c_{x,y} + c^{\dagger}_{x,y} c_{x,y+1} \right), \tag{16}$$

$$\hat{V}^{(1)} = \kappa \sum_{\mathbf{r}} e^{-i\mathbf{k}_{R}\mathbf{r}} c_{\mathbf{r}}^{\dagger} c_{\mathbf{r}} - w \sum_{x \text{ odd}, y} \left( c_{x+1, y}^{\dagger} c_{x, y} + c_{x-1, y}^{\dagger} c_{x, y} \right),$$
(17)

$$\hat{V}^{(-1)} = \kappa \sum_{\mathbf{r}} e^{i\mathbf{k}_{R}\mathbf{r}} c_{\mathbf{r}}^{\dagger} c_{\mathbf{r}} - w \sum_{x \text{ even}, y} \left( c_{x+1,y}^{\dagger} c_{x,y} + c_{x-1,y}^{\dagger} c_{x,y} \right).$$
(18)

From these terms it is easy to derive the effective Hamiltonian in Eq. (6) at first order:

$$H = -w \sum_{x,y} \left( c^{\dagger}_{x,y+1} c_{x,y} + c^{\dagger}_{x,y} c_{x,y+1} \right) -$$
(19)

$$-\frac{w\kappa}{\Delta}\sum_{x\,\text{even},y}\left[\left(e^{-i\mathbf{k}_{R}\hat{x}}-1\right)\left(e^{-i\mathbf{k}_{R}\mathbf{r}}c_{x+1,y}^{\dagger}c_{x,y}+e^{i\mathbf{k}_{R}\mathbf{r}}c_{x,y}^{\dagger}c_{x-1,y}\right)+\text{H.c.}\right]+O(1/\Delta^{2}),$$

This effective Hamiltonian describes in general a two-dimensional model with staggered magnetic fluxes where the sign of the fluxes alternate in the plaquettes belonging to even and odd columns. In the experiment [4], the recoil momentum was chosen as  $\mathbf{k}_R = (\hat{x} + \hat{y})\Phi$ . In this case the  $\hat{x}$  component has no relevance in the definition of the fluxes and the previous Hamiltonian becomes, after a suitable gauge transformation:

$$H = -w_{y} \sum_{x,y} \left( c_{x,y+1}^{\dagger} c_{x,y} + c_{x,y}^{\dagger} c_{x,y+1} \right) -$$

$$w_{x} \sum_{x \text{ even}, y} \left[ \left( e^{-i\Phi_{y}} c_{x+1,y}^{\dagger} c_{x,y} + e^{i\Phi_{y}} c_{x,y}^{\dagger} c_{x-1,y} \right) + \text{H.c.} \right] + O(1/\Delta^{2})$$
(20)

with  $w_y = w$  and  $w_x = 2w\kappa \sin(\Phi/2)/\Delta$  (this value is the one obtained at the first order in the perturbative expansion, and it must be considered only an

approximation). From the Hamiltonian in Eq. (20) it is evident the alternation of fluxes  $\pm \Phi$  on the plaquettes along the horizontal direction.

The introduction of the staggering term, however, allows also for more refined setups in which the even and odd links may be separately addressed [33]. This requires the introduction of two different pairs of Raman lasers with opposite frequency shifts  $\pm \Delta$  and it permits to obtain systems with a uniform magnetic flux  $\Phi$  in each plaquette [33]. In this way the Hofstadter model on the square lattice has been realized for <sup>87</sup>*Rb* [6] and it was possible to measure the Chern number of the different energy bands through the motion of the mass center of the system.

The staggered potential, however, it is not the only possible choice to suppress the motion along one direction. The first quantum simulations with ultracold atoms of the Hofstadter model [5, 60] were instead based on an external potential of the kind  $W = \sum_{\mathbf{r}} \Delta x c_{\mathbf{r}}^{\dagger} c_{\mathbf{r}}$ . In this case the introduction of two Raman lasers yields indeed to an effective Hamiltonian with rectified fluxes, and this result can be obtained with calculations analogous to the previous one where the distinction between even and odd links is no longer required, and all the horizontal links acquire a tunneling phase of the form  $e^{i\mathbf{k}_{\mathbf{r}}\mathbf{r}}$  consistent with a constant flux.

The laser-assisted techniques to design artificial gauge potentials are extremely versatile, and the previous approach can be generalized to different geometries and to multi-component species. The introduction of additional potential through superlattices, for example, enabled the realization of ladder models pierced by uniform fluxes which are characterized by chiral currents and a Meissner-like effect [8]. Furthermore the introduction of spin-dependent potentials, as in [5], permits to mix different spin-species subject to opposite magnetic fluxes and some theoretical proposals generalized these systems to engineer an artificial spin-orbit couplings for two-component atoms [31, 56].

## 3 Cubic Lattice Tight-Binding Models with Commensurate Flux

In this Section we consider cubic lattices in a magnetic field, focusing on the case of Abelian fluxes. This is a very interesting mathematical problem in itself and it has a counterpart in the experimental implementations we discussed in the previous Section.

## 3.1 Isotropic Flux

We start our study with a single-species tight-binding model on a cubic lattice with  $N = L^3$  sites, in the presence of an Abelian uniform and static magnetic field  $\mathbf{B} = \Phi(1, 1, 1)$  isotropic on the three directions. This field gives rise on each plaquette of

the lattice (with area  $a^2$ , a being the lattice spacing) to a magnetic flux  $\Phi = \mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{a}^2$ . The presence of this flux amounts to a phase  $e^{i\Phi}$  gathered by a particle hopping around a single plaquette, because of the Stokes theorem. The generalization of this model to many species is straightforward, since an Abelian gauge field does not mix the different species. The magnetic flux is chosen commensurate:

$$\Phi = 2\pi \frac{m}{n}.$$
(21)

The commensurate condition allows us to solve the model analytically, imposing periodic boundary condition on the lattice. At variance, in the incommensurate case the determination of spectrum requires a numerical solution of the real space tightbinding matrix, see e.g. [17, 52] - for a discussion of the Hofstadter butterfly in three dimensions see [46], while a study in higher dimensions is reported in [44].

By exploiting the gauge redundancy, the static magnetic field **B** can be associated to various physically equivalent gauge potentials  $A_{\mu}(\mathbf{x})$ . For the sake of simplicity, we choose here a time-independent gauge configuration, adopting the (static) Coulomb gauge  $A_0(\mathbf{x}) = 0$ .

Because of the magnetic phases in Eq. (2), the sites of the lattice, all equivalent each other at **B** = 0, get inequivalent, the inequivalence lying in the phases gathered after each hopping along the bonds starting from a certain site. In this way, the lattice gets divided, in a gauge-dependent way, in a certain number of sublattices. Exploiting this freedom, in order to perform calculations in the easiest way as possible, it is useful to look for the (set of) gauge(s) characterized, for a given commensurate magnetic flux  $\Phi = 2\pi \frac{m}{n}$ , by the smallest number of sublattices.

A simple (and still not unique) gauge fulfilling this requirement is [37]:

$$\mathbf{A} = \frac{2\pi}{a^2} \frac{m}{n} (0, x - y, y - x), \qquad (22)$$

with permutations in x, y, z also equally acceptable. This gauge is a threedimensional generalization of the Landau gauge in two dimensions [47], reducing indeed to the Landau gauge in this limit ( $w_{\hat{z}} \rightarrow 0$ ), up to a gauge redefinition to absorb the term -y in  $A_y$ .

Assuming the choice in Eq. (22), the Hamiltonian in Eq. (1) can be recast in the form

$$H = -\sum_{\mathbf{r}} \left[ w_{\hat{x}} c^{\dagger}_{\mathbf{r}+\hat{x}} c_{\mathbf{r}} + w_{\hat{y}} U_{\hat{y}}(x, y) c^{\dagger}_{\mathbf{r}+\hat{y}} c_{\mathbf{r}} + w_{\hat{z}} U_{\hat{z}}(x, y) c^{\dagger}_{\mathbf{r}+\hat{z}} c_{\mathbf{r}} \right] + \text{H.c.}, \quad (23)$$

where the tunneling magnetic phases  $U_{\hat{j}}(x, y) = e^{i\phi_{\hat{j}}(x,y)}$  are defined as:

$$U_x = 1, \qquad (24)$$

$$U_{\hat{y}}(x,y) = \exp\left(i\int_{x,y,z}^{x,y+a,z} A_y \,\mathrm{d}y\right) = \exp\left(i\,2\pi\left(\frac{x-y}{a} - \frac{1}{2}\right)\frac{m}{n}\right)\,,\tag{25}$$

$$U_{\hat{z}}(x,y) = \exp\left(i\int_{x,y,z}^{x,y,z+a} A_z \,\mathrm{d}z\right) = \exp\left(-i\,2\pi\left(\frac{x-y}{a}\right)\frac{m}{n}\right)\,.$$
 (26)

The hopping phases in Eqs. (25) and (26) explicitly depend on the positions labelled modulo *n*. Since the *z* coordinate is not present in Eq. (22), every wave-function of the Hamiltonian in Eq. (23) can be written as [50]:

$$\psi(x, y, z) = e^{ik_z z} u(x, y), \qquad (27)$$

allowing for a dimensional reduction of the eigenvalues problem as for the corresponding problem in two dimensions where the Harper equation is found [38, 71].

The Hamiltonian in Eq. (23) with the hopping phases in Eqs. (24)–(26) is translational invariant. For gauge invariant systems, translational invariance implies that a translation of the coordinates by a vector **w** transforms the Hamiltonian of the system to a gauge-equivalent one [50], and one may find [49]:

$$H(\mathbf{r} + \mathbf{w}) = \mathscr{T}_{\mathbf{w}}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{r})H(\mathbf{r})\mathscr{T}_{\mathbf{w}}(\mathbf{r}), \qquad (28)$$

with  $\mathscr{T}_{\mathbf{w}}(\mathbf{r}) \in U(1)$  being a suitably chosen local gauge transformation which depends on  $\mathbf{w}$ .

The Hamiltonian in Eq. (23) with the gauge potential in Eq. (22) is translationally invariant because it fulfills Eq. (28). We stress that the potentials of the form in Eq. (22) are not the only ones satisfying the condition in Eq. (28), but instead all the potentials obtained from Eq. (22) through local gauge transformation are characterized by the same physical translational invariance. The property in Eq. (28) is indeed a physical property of the system which is reflected on all the gaugeinvariant observables, as for example, the Wilson loops  $W(\mathscr{C}) = \mathbf{P}e^{i\oint_{\mathscr{C}} \mathbf{A}(\mathbf{r})\cdot d\mathbf{r}}$ evaluated on closed paths along the lattice.

The Hamiltonian in Eq. (23) is also periodic with period *n* along  $\hat{x}$   $\hat{y}$ , due to the presence of the nontrivial magnetic hopping phases  $U_{\hat{y}}(x, y)$ ,  $U_{\hat{z}}(x, y)$ , thus the reduced wavefunctions u(x, y) have the same periodicity. In this way the magnetic unitary cell, defined by the elementary translations leading from a site to equivalent ones in the three lattice directions, can be defined now as enlarged *n* times along two directions (say  $\hat{x}$ ,  $\hat{y}$ ).

The problem to find the eigenvalues of the Hamiltonian in Eq. (23) on a lattice with N number of sites would naïvely require in general the diagonalization of a  $N \times N$  adjacency matrix in real space. However, assuming translational invariance, the calculation can be remarkably simplified by exploiting the division in sublattices seen above. Indeed, in the presence of a magnetic flux  $\Phi = 2\pi \frac{m}{n}$  and working in the gauge in Eq. (22), the cubic lattice divides in *n* sublattices, labelled by the quantity  $(x - y) \mod(n)$ . In this way the Hamiltonian in Eq. (23) becomes:

$$H = -\sum_{\hat{j}} w_{\hat{j}} \sum_{s} e^{i\phi_{s\hat{j}}} \sum_{\mathbf{r}_{s}} c^{\dagger}_{\mathbf{r}_{s}+\hat{j}} c_{\mathbf{r}_{s}} + \text{H.c.}, \qquad (29)$$

where s labels the sublattices and  $\mathbf{r}_s$  labels the sites of the s-th sublattice.

Since the magnetic unitary cell is defined now as enlarged n times along two directions, the corresponding magnetic Brillouin zone (MBZ) in momentum space

becomes  $\{\frac{2\pi}{a}, \frac{2\pi}{an}, \frac{2\pi}{na}\}$  [or other permutations of the factors  $\frac{1}{n}$  between the space directions, consisting in a mere redefinition of  $\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{r})$ ]. Correspondingly, the allowed momenta  $\mathbf{k}$  are  $\frac{N}{n^2}$ , of the form  $\mathbf{k} = \{\frac{2\pi}{aL_x} p_x, \frac{2\pi}{aL_y} p_y, \frac{2\pi}{aL_z} p_z\}$ , with  $p_{\hat{x}} = 0, \dots, L-1$  and  $p_{\hat{y},\hat{z}} = 0, \dots, \frac{L}{n} - 1$ . In this way, all the physical quantities display a momentum periodicity  $\mathbf{k} \to \mathbf{k} + \frac{2\pi}{na}(l_x, l_y, l_z)$ , with  $l_i$  being again integer numbers.

The counting of the  $\frac{N}{n^2}$  allowed momenta proceeds as follows: each sublattice differs from another one by  $\pm \hat{x}$  or  $\pm \hat{y}$  translations that are not primary, then we correspondingly expect *n* sets of  $\frac{N}{n}$  inequivalent energy eigenstates [50]. These sets form *n* subbands in the MBZ. However, any sublattice is further divided in *n* sub-sublattices differing by a primary translation  $\pm(\hat{x} + \hat{y})$ , leaving invariant the potential in Eq. (22). In this way, any  $\frac{N}{n}$ -fold set of eigenstates is again partitioned in *n* equivalent and degenerate sub-sets, each one having  $\frac{N}{n^2}$  element. These elements are parametrized by the  $\frac{N}{n^2}$  momenta in the MBZ described above. Moreover the second partition translates in *n*-fold degeneracy of each subband. In the particular case  $\Phi = \pi$ , two sub-bands are obtained, touching in Weyl cones as discussed in [23, 48, 49]; in this case the system in Eq. (23) is the direct three-dimensional generalization of the square lattice model with  $\pi$ -fluxes in [1].

The Hamiltonian in Eq. (29) can be expressed in momentum space using the formulas  $c_{\mathbf{r}_s} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{N/n^2}} \sum_{\mathbf{k}} c(\mathbf{k}) e^{i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{r}_s}$  and  $\sum_{\mathbf{r}_s}' e^{i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{r}_s} = \frac{N}{n^2}$ . The vectorial label  $\mathbf{r}_s$  runs here on the  $\frac{N}{n^2}$  sites of one sub-sublattice of the sublattice *s*, the upper index in the sum of the second formula meaning this restriction. We obtain:

$$H = -\sum_{\mathbf{k}} \sum_{\hat{j}} w_{\hat{j}} \sum_{s} e^{i\phi_{s\hat{j}}} e^{-i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{j}} c^{\dagger}_{s'=s+\hat{j}}(\mathbf{k}) c_{s}(\mathbf{k}) + \text{H.c.}, \qquad (30)$$

where we have also taken into account that, starting from the *s*-th sublattices and moving in the  $\hat{j}$  direction, a new sublattice (denoted as s') is univocally found, as consequences of Eq. (22). This is the reason on the notation  $s' = s + \hat{j}$ .

The Hamiltonian in Eq. (30) can be recast in the sublattices basis as:

$$H = -\sum_{\mathbf{k}} \sum_{\hat{j}} w_{\hat{j}} \sum_{s} c^{\dagger}_{s'=s+\hat{j}}(\mathbf{k}) \left(T^{AB}_{\hat{j}}\right)_{s',s} e^{-i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{j}} c_{s}(\mathbf{k}) + \text{H. c.}, \qquad (31)$$

where  $T_{\hat{j}}^{AB}$  are  $n \times n$  hopping matrices in the sublattice basis, reading, up to ciclic permutations  $\mathbf{Z}_n$ :

$$T_{\hat{x}}^{AB} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \ 1 \ \dots \ 0 \\ 0 \ 0 \ \ddots \ 0 \\ 0 \ 0 \ \dots \ 1 \\ 1 \ 0 \ 0 \ 0 \end{pmatrix} T_{\hat{y}}^{AB} = e^{-i\pi \frac{m}{n}} \begin{pmatrix} 0 \ \dots \ 0 \ \varphi_{0} \\ \varphi_{1} \ 0 \ \dots \ 0 \\ 0 \ \ddots \ 0 \ 0 \\ 0 \ \dots \ \varphi_{n-1} \ 0 \end{pmatrix} T_{\hat{z}}^{AB} = \begin{pmatrix} \varphi_{0} \ 0 \ \dots \ 0 \\ 0 \ \varphi_{n-1} \ 0 \ 0 \\ 0 \ 0 \ \dots \ 0 \\ 0 \ 0 \ \dots \ \varphi_{1} \end{pmatrix},$$
(32)

with  $\varphi_l = e^{i2\pi \frac{m}{n}l}, \ l = 0, \dots, n-1.$ 

The matrices  $T_{x,\hat{y},z}^{AB}$  do not commute each other, implying that the unitary cell of the lattice does not coincides with its geometric smallest cell (with area  $a^2$ ), as seen above. However, the *n*-power of these matrices yields the identity:  $\left(T_{\{\hat{x},\hat{y},\hat{z}\}}^{AB}\right)^n = \mathbf{1}_{n \times n}$ , recovering the MBZ  $\{\frac{2\pi}{a}, \frac{2\pi}{an}, \frac{2\pi}{an}\}$ . Moreover, if  $\frac{m}{n} \neq \frac{1}{2}$  the unitary matrices  $T_{x,\hat{y},z}^{AB}$  are not invariant (even possibly up to a global phase) by the conjugate operation, reflecting the breaking of the time-reversal symmetry, due to the magnetic field **B** itself. A notable result of the discussion above is that the diagonalization of a  $N \times N$  matrix is reduced to the diagonalization of a  $n \times n$  one.

We conclude this Section by observing that in the presence of more species (labelled by the index  $\alpha = 1, ..., m$ ) hopping on the lattice and subject to the Abelian gauge potential in Eq. (22), the Hamiltonian in Eq. (31) generalizes to

$$H = -\sum_{\mathbf{k}} \sum_{\hat{j}} w_{\hat{j}} \sum_{s} c^{\dagger}_{s'=s+\hat{j},\alpha'}(\mathbf{k}) \left( T^{AB}_{\hat{j}} \otimes \mathbf{1}_{m \times m} \right)_{s',\alpha',s,\alpha} e^{-i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{j}} c_{s,\alpha}(\mathbf{k}) + \text{H. c.},$$
(33)

where no mixing of the different species involved occurs.

## 3.2 Generalization: Anisotropic Abelian Lattice Fluxes

In the previous analysis we assumed that the value of the fluxes was the same for the three orientations of the plaquettes. Now we discuss some extension in which we relax this hypothesis. We analyze first the case in which the magnetic field  $\hat{z}$  is perturbed, such that we introduce an anisotropy in the previous system:

$$\mathbf{B} = \frac{2\pi}{a^2} \left( \frac{m}{n}, \frac{m}{n}, \frac{m_z}{n_z} \right). \tag{34}$$

Again we may assume, without any loss of generality,  $m_z$  and  $n_z$  prime with each other as well as *m* and *n*. In the case of Eq. (34), a gauge similar to the one in Eq. (22) can be used:

$$\mathbf{A} = \frac{2\pi}{a^2} \left( 0, \frac{m_z}{n_z} (x - y), \frac{m}{n} (y - x) \right).$$
(35)

This choice still depends on one parameter only, thus ensuring the appearance of minimal gauge-dependent sublattices. More in detail, the lattice divides again in  $n_2 = 1$ . c. m.  $(n, n_z)$  inequivalent sublattices, defined by the periodicity of the phases in the  $\hat{x}$  and  $\hat{y}$  directions and labelled by the set  $(x - y) \mod(n_2)$ . Indeed the hopping phases from Eq. (35) are:

$$\phi_{\mathbf{r}+\hat{j},\mathbf{r}} = \frac{2\pi}{a} \left( 0, \frac{m_z}{n_z} \left( x - y - \frac{a}{2} \right), \frac{m}{n} \left( y - x \right) \right).$$
(36)

Similarly to the previous case, each sublattice is again divided in  $n_2$  equivalent subsublattices, each one having  $\frac{N}{n_2^2}$  sites. For this reason, similarly to the Sect. 3.1,  $n_2$  subbands appear, each of them with a  $n_2$  degeneracy. Correspondingly the BZ divides by  $n_2$  in two directions, so that  $\mathbf{k} = \{\frac{2\pi}{aL_x}p_x, \frac{2\pi}{aL_y}p_y, \frac{2\pi}{aL_z}p_z\}, p_{\hat{x}} = 0, \dots, L-1,$  $p_{\hat{y},\hat{z}} = 0, \dots, \frac{L}{n_2} - 1$ , or permutations in the pairs of the restricted momentum directions. The Hamiltonian in Eq. (1) can then be rewritten, in terms of these quasimomenta, as in Eq. (31), by means of three  $m_2 \times m_2$  matrices in the basis of the  $m_2$ sublattices, derived similarly to the ones in Eq. (32).

In the completely asymmetric case the magnetic potential reads

$$\mathbf{B} = \frac{2\pi}{a^2} \left( \frac{m_x}{n_x}, \frac{m_y}{n_y}, \frac{m_z}{n_z} \right),\tag{37}$$

a convenient gauge choice, inducing the magnetic field in Eq. (37), reads:

$$\mathbf{A_{AB}} = \frac{2\pi}{a^2} \left( \left( \frac{m_y}{n_y} - \frac{m_x}{n_x} \right) (z - x), \frac{m_z}{n_z} (x - y), \frac{m_x}{n_x} (y - x) \right).$$
(38)

The hopping phases from Eq. (38) are:

$$\phi_{\mathbf{r}+\hat{j},\mathbf{r}} = \frac{2\pi}{a} \left( \left( \frac{m_y}{n_y} - \frac{m_x}{n_x} \right) \left( z - x - \frac{a}{2} \right), \frac{m_z}{n_z} \left( x - y - \frac{a}{2} \right), \frac{m_x}{n_x} \left( y - x \right) \right).$$
(39)

The gauge in Eq. (38), similarly to the previous case, ensures the appearance of the minimum number of gauge-dependent sublattices. In particular, due to the simultaneous *x* dependence of all the components of  $A_{AB}$  and following the same logic as in the Sect. 3.1, we obtain

$$n_s = 1. \text{ c. m. } (n_x, n_y, n_z)$$
 (40)

inequivalent sublattices (obtained varying y and z at fixed x) and corresponding subbands. Again each sublattice is then further divided in equivalent subsublattices.

More in detail, the counting of these subsublattices proceeds as follows. Starting from a point  $(x_0, y_0, z_0)$  belonging to a certain sublattice, they are obtained by adding 1 to each components:  $(x_0, y_0, z_0) \rightarrow (x_0 + 1, y_0 + 1, z_0 + 1)$ . The variable *z* has periodicity given by l. c. m.  $(n_x, n_y)$  possible inequivalent values, *y* has periodicity l. c. m.  $(n_x, n_z)$  and finally *x* has l. c. m.  $(n_x, n_y, n_z)$  inequivalent values. For this reason each inequivalent sublattice divides in

$$n_d = \min\left(1. \text{ c. m. } (n_x, n_y), 1. \text{ c. m. } (n_x, n_z), 1. \text{ c. m. } (n_x, n_y, n_z)\right) = (41)$$
$$= \min\left(1. \text{ c. m. } (n_x, n_y), 1. \text{ c. m. } (n_x, n_z)\right)$$

equivalent subsublattices.

Correspondingly, we find  $\frac{N}{n_s \times n_d}$  quasi-momenta defining each subband:  $\mathbf{k} = \{\frac{2\pi}{aL_x}p_x, \frac{2\pi}{aL_y}p_y, \frac{2\pi}{aL_z}p_z\}, p_{\hat{x}} = 0, \dots, L-1, p_{\hat{y}} = 0, \dots, \frac{L}{n_s} - 1, p_{\hat{z}} = 0, \dots, \frac{L}{n_d} - 1$ , or permutations in the pairs of the restricted momentum directions. The Hamiltonian in Eq. (1) can be then rewritten, in terms of these quasi-momenta and in the basis of the  $n_s$  sublattices as in Eq. (31), by means of three  $n_s \times n_s$  matrices similar to the ones in Eq. (32).

## 4 Two Applications of Synthetic Gauge Potentials in 1D Rings

The possibilities offered by ultracold atoms in optical lattices to engineer tightbinding models in tunable magnetic potential open as well new possibilities also in the field of quantum information in the sense that they could be used in perspective to perform quantum information tasks and control the amount of entanglement of the system. Here, as two examples we believe paradigmatic of such potentialities, we want to shortly address two specific applications showing how tuning a gauge potential could modify the capability of a system to share quantum information. We consider one-dimensional models of free fermions on a ring geometry in the presence of a synthetic magnetic field piercing the ring. We first analyze for shortrange lattice models how a topological phase helps to enhance the fidelity in a quantum state transfer (QST) process between different sites of the lattice [7, 62]. Then we study a long-range model to see how the presence of a topological phase can lead to the a volume-law behavior of the entanglement entropy (EE) for the ground state of the system.

## 4.1 Quantum State Transfer in a Ring Pierced by a Magnetic Flux

We consider a one-dimensional tight-binding model for free fermions with nearestneighbors hopping in a ring geometry embedded in a magnetic field. Such magnetic field determines the boundary conditions of the problem: its role is to induce an Aharonov-Bohm phase in the transport of a particle along a full circle around the ring geometry. The Hamiltonian of the system reads

$$H = -w \sum_{j} e^{i\phi} c_{j}^{\dagger} c_{j+1} + h.c., \qquad (42)$$

where  $\phi = \frac{2\pi}{N_S} \phi$  ( $\phi$  being the Abelian magnetic flux piercing the ring chain in units of  $2\pi$ ),  $N_S$  is the number of sites, and the site coordinate is  $r = aj \mod N_S$ .

The single-particle energy dispersion is

$$E_k(\phi) = -2w\cos\left(ak - \phi\right) = 2t\cos\left(\frac{2\pi}{N_S}(n_k - \Phi)\right),\tag{43}$$

with  $k = \frac{2\pi}{aN_S} n_k$ . Due to the nontrivial phase  $e^{i\phi}$ , the single-particle dispersion is shifted, as well as the points corresponding to the Fermi surface. For a single fermion, the introduction of this topological phase affects the wave-packet diffusion, giving a useful tool to optimize the quantum state transfer of a certain state from a part of the chain to another one.

One can consider a fermion initially localized at the time t = 0 around the site j = 0:

$$|\psi_0(0)\rangle = \sum_j g_j c_j^{\dagger} |0\rangle , \qquad (44)$$

with a square wave packet distribution extended over  $\lambda = 2M + 1$  sites:

$$g_l = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2M+1}} & \text{If } -M \le l \le M\\ 0 & \text{elsewhere} \end{cases}$$
(45)

After the state evolution  $|\psi_0(t)\rangle = e^{-iHt} |\psi_0(0)\rangle$ , the capacity for the channel to produce QST from the site j = 0 to site j = d can be measured by the square projection of the evolved state on the initial state localized on the site d:

$$F_d(t) = |\langle \psi_d(0) | \psi_0(t) \rangle|^2 \simeq A(t) e^{-\frac{[d+2wt\sin\phi]^2}{2\sigma_F^2(t)}},$$
(46)

with

$$A(t) = \frac{3\lambda^2}{\pi\sqrt{(\lambda^2 - 1)^2 + 144w^2t^2\cos^2\phi}},$$
(47)

and

$$\sigma_F^2(t) = \frac{(\lambda^2 - 1)^2 + 144w^2t^2\cos^2\phi}{12(\lambda^2 - 1)}.$$
(48)

For  $\phi = -\pi/2$ , the dispersion becomes approximately linear and the wavepacket does not diffuse. Moreover, it propagates with velocity v = 2w causing an enhancement in the fidelity (see Fig. 2). In particular,  $F_d(t)$  assumes its maximum value at the approximate time

$$t^* = \frac{d}{2w}.\tag{49}$$


**Fig. 2** Time evolution of the fidelity  $F_d(t)$  in the square packet preparation (M = 5), with phase  $\phi = -\pi/2$ , different values for the final site d = 10, 30, 60, 90 and N = 500. The *thick line* indicates the maxima of fidelity reached by each site at different times

## 4.2 Violation of the Area-Law in Long-Range Systems

The study of the ground-state entanglement properties plays an essential role in the characterization of a quantum many-body system. In this Section, we show how the introduction of a gauge potential in a free-fermion model with a long-range hopping can qualitatively change the scaling behavior of the ground state entanglement. The amount of entanglement of a pure state is well quantified by the so-called Entanglement Entropy (EE), defined as follows. Partitioning a given system in two subsystems A and its complement  $\overline{A}$ , the EE is the Von Neumann entropy S of one of the two subsystems (say A) calculated from its reduced density matrix  $\rho_A$ :

$$S = -Tr\left(\rho_A \ln \rho_A\right) \,. \tag{50}$$

Typically for gapped short-range quantum systems (where gapped means with a finite energy difference of the first excited level, compared to the ground state energy), the EE grows as the boundary of the subsystem A, i.e., for a system in d dimensions the EE scales as  $S \propto \partial L^{d-1}$ . This is commonly known as the *area law* [26]. The physical origin of this law is that entanglement is appreciably nonvanishing only between parts of the system very close each others, since the quantum correlation functions between two points decay exponentially with their distance, with a finite decay constant  $\xi$  that increases as the mass gap decreases. At variance, for short-range free fermionic systems at a critical (gapless) point it has been shown that the divergence of  $\xi$  (resulting in an algebraic decay of quantum

correlations) produces a logarithmic correction of the area law,  $S \propto L^{d-1} \ln L$ [30, 76], so that in one dimension one expects to find  $S \propto \ln L$ . A more relevant, nonlogarithmic, violation of the area law is obtained when  $S \propto L^{\beta}$  with  $d-1 < \beta < d$ . When  $\beta = d$  one has a *volume law*.

Referring to free fermions on a lattice, in order to find violation to the area law in gapped regimes, one has to introduce longer-range connections, changing the Fermi surface in a suitable way. In one-dimensional short-range systems, the Fermi surface is typically composed by a finite set of points. This is what happens also in the simplest long-range models when, despite of the long-range hoppings, strong entanglement is created only between closed lattice sites. At variance, if the Fermi surface is a set of points with finite dimension, it can occurs that antipodal sites of the lattice becomes maximally entangled (Bell pairs). As a consequence, a bipartition into two connected complementary parts would cut a number of Bell pairs of the order of the volume of the smaller subsystem, giving rise to a violation of the area law. To this aim, a long-range connection appears useful but not sufficient.

A possible way to create a nontrivial Fermi surface is to introduce a gauge potential [34]. Let us consider a model with long-range hopping with periodic boundary conditions:

$$H = -\sum_{j} w_{ij} c_i^{\dagger} c_j + h.c.$$
(51)

with

$$w_{i,j} = w \frac{e^{i\phi \, d_{i,j}}}{|d_{i,j}|^{\alpha}},\tag{52}$$

where  $\phi = \frac{2\pi}{N_S} \Phi$ , being  $\Phi$  a constant,  $N_S$  the number of sites. The filling *f* is defined to be  $f = N/N_S$ , where *N* is the number of sites.  $d_{i,j}$  is the oriented distance between the sites *i* and *j*,

$$d_{i,j} = \begin{cases} (i-j) & \text{if } |i-j| \le N_S - |i-j| \\ -N_S + |i-j| & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(53)

Due to the translational invariance, the eigenstates are plane waves, and, for finite  $N_S$ , the spectrum is given by:

$$E_{k} = -2w \begin{cases} \sum_{m=1}^{\frac{N-1}{2}} \frac{1}{m^{\alpha}} \cos((k+\phi)m) & \text{for odd } N_{S}, \\ \\ \sum_{m=1}^{\frac{N}{2}-1} \frac{1}{j^{\alpha}} \cos((k+\phi)m) + \frac{\cos(\pi n_{k})}{2\left(\frac{N_{S}}{2}\right)^{\alpha}} & \text{for even } N_{S}. \end{cases}$$
(54)

For  $\phi = 0$ , the single-particle spectrum is always monotonous in the interval  $k \in [0, \pi]$ , while for  $\phi \neq 0$  the spectrum can split in two branches for  $\alpha < \alpha_c < 1$ ,



**Fig. 3** Spectrum of the Hamiltonian in Eq. (51) with  $\Phi = 0.1$ ,  $\alpha = 0.1$ , filling factor f = 0.5 and  $N_S = 100$ . *Left inset*: detail of the main plot showing the alternating occupation of the modes k, the Fermi energy corresponding to the *dashed line*. *Right inset*: decrease of the alternating occupation with increasing  $\alpha$ . We set  $\Phi = 0.1$ ,  $\alpha = 0.4$ , f = 0.5 and  $N_S = 100$ 

where the critical value  $\alpha_c$  depends both on *N* and  $\phi$ . This means that at fixed  $\phi$  and  $N_S \gg 1$  at half-filling, all the momenta *k* are occupied in an alternating way, as shown in Fig. 3. Thus, for  $\alpha < \alpha_c$  and at half-filling, the ground-state is a Bell-paired state, and the EE grows linearly with  $N_s$  (with slope ln 2), resulting in a volume law and the Fermi surface has a fractal counting box dimension  $d_{box} = 1$ . On the contrary, when  $\alpha > \alpha_c$  only a fraction of the momenta are occupied in an alternating way, since the "zig-zag" structure of the dispersion relation is partially lost. As a result, the slope of the EE decreases.

We conclude by observing that as long as the dispersion is such that the halffilling occupation is alternate in k, entanglement is created between antipodal sites and the system violates the area law behavior, in favour of a volume law.

#### References

- 1. I. Affleck, J.B. Marston, Phys. Rev. B 37, 3774 (1988)
- 2. A. Agazzi, J.-P. Eckmann, G.M. Graf, J. Stat. Phys. 156, 417 (2014)
- 3. Y. Aharonov, D. Bohm, Phys. Rev. 115, 485 (1959)
- M. Aidelsburger, M. Atala, S. Nascimbene, S. Trotzky, Y.-A. Chen, I. Bloch, Phys. Rev. Lett. 107, 255301 (2011)
- M. Aidelsburger, M. Atala, M. Lohse, J.T. Barreiro, B. Paredes, I. Bloch, Phys. Rev. Lett. 111, 185301 (2013)
- M. Aidelsburger, M. Lohse, C. Schweizer, M. Atala, J.T. Barreiro, S. Nascimbéne, N.R. Cooper, I. Bloch, N. Goldman, Nat. Phys. 11, 162 (2015)

- 7. T.J.G. Apollaro, S. Lorenzo, A. Sindona, S. Paganelli, G.L. Giorgi, F. Plastina, Phys. Scripta T165, 014036 (2015)
- M. Atala, M. Aidelsburger, M. Lohse, J.T. Barreiro, B. Paredes, I. Bloch, Nat. Phys. 10, 588 (2014)
- J.E. Avron, Colored Hofstadter Butterflies, in *Multiscale Methods in Quantum Mechanics: Theory and Experiment*, ed. by P. Blanchard, G. Dell'Antonio, pp. 11–22 (Birkhauser, Boston, 2004)
- 10. J. Avron, I. Herbst, B. Simon, Duke Math. J. 45, 847 (1978)
- 11. J.E. Avron, D. Osadchy, R. Seiler, Phys. Today 56, 38 (2003)
- 12. M.Ya. Azbel, Sov. Phys. JETP 19, 634 (1964)
- 13. J. Bellissard, A. van Elst, H. SchulzBaldes, J. Math. Phys. 35, 5373 (1994)
- B.A. Bernevig, T.L. Hughes, *Topological Insulators and Topological Superconductors* (Princeton University Press, Princeton, 2013)
- 15. I. Bloch, J. Dalibard, W. Zwerger, Rev. Mod. Phys. 80, 885 (2008)
- C. Brouder, G. Panati, M. Calandra, C. Mourougane, N. Marzari, Phys. Rev. Lett. 98, 046402 (2007)
- 17. J. Brüning, V.V. Demidov, V.A. Geyler, Phys. Rev. B 69, 033202 (2004)
- F.S. Cataliotti, S. Burger, C. Fort, P. Maddaloni, F. Minardi, A. Trombettoni, A. Smerzi, M. Inguscio, Science 293, 843 (2001)
- 19. C.-K. Chiu, J.C.Y. Teo, A.P. Schnyder, S. Ryu, Rev. Mod. Phys. 88, 035005 (2016)
- 20. J. Dalibard, F. Gerbier, G. Juzeliūnas, P. Öhberg, Rev. Mod. Phys. 83, 1523 (2011)
- C.R. Dean, L. Wang, P. Maher, C. Forsythe, F. Ghahari, Y. Gao, J. Katoch, M. Ishigami, P. Moon, M. Koshino, T. Taniguchi, K. Watanabe, K.L. Shepard, J. Hone, P. Kim, Nature 497, 598 (2013)
- 22. G. De Nittis, G. Panati, arXiv:1007.4786
- 23. T. Dubcek, C.J. Kennedy, L. Lu, W. Ketterle, M. Soljacic, H. Buljan, Phys. Rev. Lett. 114, 225301 (2015)
- 24. A. Eckardt, C. Weiss, M. Holthaus, Phys. Rev. Lett. 95, 260404 (2005)
- A. Eckardt, M. Holthaus, H. Lignier, A. Zenesini, D. Ciampini, O. Morsch, E. Arimondo, Phys. Rev. A 79, 013611 (2009)
- 26. J. Eisert, M. Cramer, M.B. Plenio, Rev. Mod. Phys. 82, 277 (2010)
- 27. T. Feil, K. Výborný, L. Smrčka, C. Gerl, W. Wegscheider, Phys. Rev. B 75, 075303 (2007)
- 28. S. Freund, S. Teufel, Anal. PDE 9, 773 (2016)
- M.C. Geisler, J.H. Smet, V. Umansky, K. von Klitzing, B. Naundorf, R. Ketzmerick, H. Schweizer, Phys. Rev. Lett. 92, 256801 (2004)
- 30. D. Gioev, I. Klich, Phys. Rev. Lett. 96, 100503 (2006)
- 31. N. Goldman, J. Dalibard, Phys. Rev. X 4, 031027 (2014)
- 32. N. Goldman, G. Juzeliunas, P. Ohberg, I.B. Spielman, Rep. Prog. Phys. 77, 126401 (2014)
- 33. N. Goldman, J. Dalibard, M. Aidelsburger, N.R. Cooper, Phys. Rev. A 91, 033632 (2015)
- 34. G. Gori, S. Paganelli, A. Sharma, P. Sodano, A. Trombettoni, Phys. Rev. B 91, 245138 (2015)
- 35. F.D.M. Haldane, Phys. Rev. Lett. 61, 2015 (1988)
- 36. P.G. Harper, Proc. Phys. Soc. A 68, 874 (1955)
- 37. Y. Hasegawa, J. Phys. Soc. Jap. 59 4384 (1990); Physica C 185-189, 1541 (1991)
- 38. D.R. Hofstadter, Phys. Rev. B 14, 2239 (1976)
- 39. J.K. Jain, Composite Fermions (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2007)
- 40. D. Jaksch, C. Bruder, J.I. Cirac, C.W. Gardiner, P. Zoller, Phys. Rev. Lett. 81, 3108 (1998). More
- G. Jotzu, M. Messer, R. Desbuquois, M. Lebrat, T. Uehlinger, D. Greif, T. Esslinger, Nature 515, 237 (2014)
- 42. M.V. Karasev, T.A. Osborn, J. Math. Phys. 43, 756 (2002)
- E. Kierig, U. Schnorrberger, A. Schietinger, J. Tomkovic, M.K. Oberthaler, Phys. Rev. Lett. 100, 190405 (2008)
- 44. T. Kimura, Prog. Theor. Exp. Phys. 2014(10), 103B05 (2014). doi:10.1093/ptep/ptu144
- 45. W. Kohn, Phys. Rev. 115, 1460 (1959)

- 46. M. Koshino, H. Aoki, K. Kuroki, S. Kagoshima, T. Osada, Phys. Rev. Lett. 86, 1062 (2001)
- 47. L.D. Landau, E.M. Lifschitz, Quantum Mechanics (Pergamon Press, New York, 1965)
- 48. L. Lepori, G. Mussardo, A. Trombettoni, Europhys. Lett. 92, 50003 (2010)
- 49. L. Lepori, I.C. Fulga, A. Trombettoni, M. Burrello, Phys. Rev. B. 94, 085107 (2016)
- 50. E.M. Lifschitz, L.P. Pitaevskii, Statistical Physics, Part 2 (Pergamon Press, New York, 1980)
- H. Lignier C. Sias, D. Ciampini, Y. Singh, A. Zenesini, O. Morsch, E. Arimondo, Phys. Rev. Lett. 99, 220403 (2007)
- 52. Y.-L. Lin, F. Nori, Phys. Rev. B 53, 13374 (1996)
- 53. J.M. Luttinger, Phys. Rev. 84, 814 (1951)
- M. Mancini, G. Pagano, G. Cappellini, L. Livi, M. Rider, J. Catani, C. Sias, P. Zoller, M. Inguscio, M. Dalmonte, L. Fallani, Science 349, 1510 (2015)
- 55. N. Marzari, D. Vanderbilt, Phys. Rev. B 56, 12847 (1997)
- L. Mazza, M. Aidelsburger, H.-H. Tu, N. Goldman, M. Burrello, New J. Phys. 17, 105001 (2015)
- 57. M. Măntoiu, R. Purice, The Mathematical Formalism of a Particle in a Magnetic Field, in Mathematical Physics of Quantum Mechanics: Selected and Refereed Lectures, ed. by J. Asch, A. Joye. Lecture Notes in Physics, vol. 690, pp. 417–434 (Springer, Berlin, 2006)
- 58. M. Măntoiu, R. Purice, S. Richard, J. Funct. Anal. 250, 42 (2007)
- S. Melinte, M. Berciu, C. Zhou, E. Tutuc, S.J. Papadakis, C. Harrison, E.P. De Poortere, M. Wu, P.M. Chaikin, M. Shayegan, R.N. Bhatt, R.A. Register, Phys. Rev. Lett. 92, 036802 (2004)
- H. Miyake, G.A. Siviloglou, C.J. Kennedy, W.C. Burton, W. Ketterle, Phys. Rev. Lett. 111, 185302 (2013)
- 61. T. Oka, H. Aoki, Phys. Rev. B 79, 081406 (2009)
- 62. S. Paganelli, G.L. Giorgi, F. de Pasquale, Fortschr. Phys. 57, 1094 (2009)
- 63. R. Peierls, Z. Phys. 80, 763 (1933)
- 64. L. Pitaevskii, S. Stringari, *Bose-Einstein Condensation and Superfluidity* (Oxford University Press, Oxford, 2016)
- 65. L.A. Ponomarenko, R.V. Gorbachev, G.L. Yu, D.C. Elias, R. Jalil, A.A. Patel, A. Mishchenko, A.S. Mayorov, C.R. Woods, J.R. Wallbank, M. Mucha-Kruczynski, B.A. Piot, M. Potemski, I.V. Grigorieva, K.S. Novoselov, F. Guinea, V.I. Falko, A. K. Geim, Nature **497**, 594 (2013)
- 66. R. Prange, S.M. Girvin (eds.), The Quantum Hall Effect (Springer-Verlag, New York, 1990)
- 67. E. Prodan, H. Schulz-Baldes, Bulk and Boundary Invariants for Complex Topological Insulators: From K-Theory to Physics (Springer, Cham, 2016)
- 68. See the web-page http://physics.technion.ac.il/~odim/downloads.html
- 69. J. Struck, C. Ölschläger, M. Weinberg, P. Hauke, J. Simonet, A. Eckardt, M. Lewenstein, K. Sengstock, P. Windpassinger, Phys. Rev. Lett. 108, 225304 (2012)
- 70. J. Struck, M. Weinberg, C. Ölschläger, P. Windpassinger, J. Simonet, K. Sengstock, R. Höppner, P. Hauke, A. Eckardt, M. Lewenstein, L. Mathey, Nat. Phys. 9, 738 (2013)
- D.J. Thouless, The quantum hall effect and the Schrödinger equation with competing periods, in *Number Theory and Physics*, ed. by J.M. Luck, P. Moussa, M. Waldschmidt. Springer Proceedings in Physics, vol. 47, pp. 170–176 (Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1990)
- 72. D.J. Thouless, M. Kohmoto, M.P. Nightingale, M. den Nijs, Phys. Rev. Lett. 49, 405 (1982)
- 73. A. Trombettoni, A. Smerzi, Phys. Rev. Lett. 86, 2353 (2001)
- 74. A. Trombettoni, A. Smerzi, P. Sodano, New J. Phys. 7, 57 (2005)
- 75. D. van Oosten, P. van der Straten, H.T.C. Stoof, Phys. Rev. A 63, 053601 (2001)
- 76. M.M. Wolf, Phys. Rev. Lett. 96, 010404 (2006)
- 77. D. Yoshioka, The Quantum Hall Effect (Springer, Berlin, 2002)

# **Relative-Zeta and Casimir Energy** for a Semitransparent Hyperplane Selecting Transverse Modes

Claudio Cacciapuoti, Davide Fermi, and Andrea Posilicano

**Abstract** We study the relative zeta function for the couple of operators  $A_0$  and  $A_{\alpha}$ , where  $A_0$  is the free unconstrained Laplacian in  $L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)$  ( $d \ge 2$ ) and  $A_{\alpha}$  is the singular perturbation of  $A_0$  associated to the presence of a delta interaction supported by a hyperplane. In our setting the operatorial parameter  $\alpha$ , which is related to the strength of the perturbation, is of the kind  $\alpha = \alpha(-\Delta_{\parallel})$ , where  $-\Delta_{\parallel}$  is the free Laplacian in  $L^2(\mathbf{R}^{d-1})$ . Thus  $\alpha$  may depend on the components of the wave vector parallel to the hyperplane; in this sense  $A_{\alpha}$  describes a semitransparent hyperplane selecting transverse modes.

As an application we give an expression for the associated thermal Casimir energy. Whenever  $\alpha = \chi_I(-\Delta_{\parallel})$ , where  $\chi_I$  is the characteristic function of an interval *I*, the thermal Casimir energy can be explicitly computed.

**Keywords** Casimir effect • Delta-interactions • Finite temperature quantum fields • Relative zeta function • Zeta regularization

MSC 2010 81Q10, 81T55, 81T10

### 1 Introduction

Analytic continuation techniques are well known to be useful to give a meaning to otherwise divergent series. The most classical example is the Riemann zeta function. The series

$$\zeta^R(s) := \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n^s} \tag{1}$$

D. Fermi

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017

C. Cacciapuoti (🖂) • A. Posilicano

DiSAT, Sezione di Matematica, Università dell'Insubria, via Valleggio 11, I-22100 Como, Italy e-mail: claudio.cacciapuoti@uninsubria.it; andrea.posilicano@uninsubria.it

Dipartimento di Matematica, Università di Milano, Via Cesare Saldini 50, I-20133 Milano, Italy e-mail: davide.fermi@unimi.it

A. Michelangeli, G. Dell'Antonio (eds.), Advances in Quantum Mechanics, Springer INdAM Series 18, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-58904-6\_5

converges only for  $s \in \mathbb{C}$  with Re s > 1; however, it is well known that the function  $s \mapsto \zeta^{R}(s)$  can be analytically continued to all complex  $s \neq 1$ . In this way one can formally evaluate the series in Eq. (1) also for Re s < 1.

The same regularization procedure can be used to give a meaning to divergent series arising when computing traces of powers of operators, such as Tr  $A^{-s}$ . Indeed, when A is a positive, elliptic differential operator with pure point spectrum, which we denote by  $\{\lambda_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  ( $\lambda_n > 0$  and each eigenvalue is counted with its multiplicity), one can set, in analogy with Eq. (1),

$$\zeta(A;s) := \operatorname{Tr} A^{-s} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\lambda_n^s} .$$
<sup>(2)</sup>

The striking feature of the function  $\zeta(A; s)$  is that, even though the series on the r.h.s. converges only for large enough Re *s*, under certain assumptions on the operator *A* it can be extended to a meromorphic function with possible poles only on the real line, see [34].

When the essential spectrum of the operator *A* is not empty the regularization procedure described above cannot be applied. This is the case, for example, when the operator *A* is the Laplacian on a non compact manifold; in such a situation the trace Tr  $A^{-s}$  cannot be defined for any  $s \in \mathbb{C}$ .

Zeta-regularization techniques, however, turn out to be a powerful tool also in these circumstances if one is interested in the comparison between two operators: an operator *A* associated to the "interacting" dynamics and a reference "non interacting" or "free" operator  $A_0$ . Both *A* and  $A_0$  are assumed to be nonnegative, they may have non empty essential spectrum and the traces Tr  $A^{-s}$  and Tr  $A_0^{-s}$  may not be defined. Nevertheless, what may be defined is the *relative zeta function*  $\zeta(A, A_0; s) := \text{Tr} (A^{-s} - A_0^{-s}).$ 

In certain situations the relative zeta function can be equivalently expressed in terms of the heat semigroups. We recall the following result from [36]. If the operator  $(A-z)^{-1} - (A_0 - z)^{-1}$ , with z in the resolvent set of A and  $A_0$ , is trace class, and such trace has certain asymptotic expansions for  $z \to 0$  and  $z \to \infty$  (see [36] and [29] for the details), then the formula

$$\zeta(A, A_0; s) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_0^\infty t^{s-1} \operatorname{Tr} \left( e^{-tA} - e^{-tA_0} \right) dt$$
(3)

holds true for  $s_0 \leq \text{Re } s \leq s_1$ , with  $s_0$  and  $s_1$  depending on the asymptotic expansions of the trace, and where  $\Gamma(s)$  is the Gamma function.

The subject of our paper is the study of the relative zeta function for the couple of operators  $A_0$  and  $A_{\alpha}$  defined as follows (see Sect. 2 for the rigorous definitions):

- $A_0$  is the free unconstrained Laplacian in  $L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)$   $(d \ge 2)$ .
- $A_{\alpha}$  is the Laplacian in the presence of a semitransparent hyperplane selecting transverse modes. More precisely, let  $\pi$  denote the hyperplane

$$\pi := \{ \mathbf{x} \in \mathbf{R}^d \, | \, x^1 = 0 \} ; \tag{4}$$

this is naturally identified with  $\mathbf{R}^{d-1}$ .  $A_{\alpha}$  is the self-adjoint operator in  $L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)$  which formally corresponds to the Laplacian plus a singular potential supported by the hyperplane  $\pi$ . In our setting the parameter  $\alpha$ , which is related to the "strength" of the potential, may depend on the components of the wave vector parallel to  $\pi$ . More precisely, we set  $\alpha = \alpha(-\Delta_{\parallel})$ , where  $-\Delta_{\parallel}$  is the free unconstrained Laplacian in  $L^2(\mathbf{R}^{d-1})$ . Heuristically speaking, this indicates that the singular potential supported on  $\pi$  acts differently, depending on the transverse modes (parallel to the hyperplane). Denoting by  $\delta_1$  the 1-dimensional Dirac delta in  $x^1 = 0$ , the operator  $A_{\alpha}$  formally corresponds to the heuristic expression " $A_{\alpha} = -\Delta + \langle \delta_1, \cdot \rangle \, \delta_1 \otimes \alpha(-\Delta_{\parallel})$ " on  $L^2(\mathbf{R}^d) \equiv L^2(\mathbf{R}) \otimes L^2(\mathbf{R}^{d-1})$ .

We remark that both operators,  $A_{\alpha}$  and  $A_0$ , enjoy the translation invariance in the directions  $\mathbf{x}_{\parallel}$  parallel to  $\pi$ . This symmetry of the system has two important consequences. On one side the operator  $A_{\alpha}^{-s} - A_0^{-s}$  is not trace class no matter how large Re *s* is (a similar remark holds true for the operator  $e^{-tA_{\alpha}} - e^{-tA_0}$ ). On the other hand it is clear that any relevant (possibly infinite) physical quantity cannot depend on the coordinate  $\mathbf{x}_{\parallel}$  and can be associated to a finite density by averaging on any finite subset of  $\pi$ . With this remark in mind, and by Eq. (3), we infer that the quantity of interest in our analysis is the relative zeta function

$$\zeta_1(s) \equiv \zeta_1(A_{\alpha}, A_0; s) := \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_0^{+\infty} dt \ t^{s-1} \int_{\mathbf{R}} dx^1 \mathcal{Q}^{rel}(t; x^1, x^1, \mathbf{0}) , \qquad (5)$$

where  $\mathscr{Q}^{rel}(t; x^1, y^1, \mathbf{x}_{\parallel} - \mathbf{y}_{\parallel})$  is the integral kernel of the operator  $Q^{rel}(t) := e^{-tA_{\alpha}} - e^{-tA_{\alpha}}$ . We remark that here we have used the translation invariance of the system to conclude that the integral kernel  $\mathscr{Q}^{rel}$  is a function of  $\mathbf{x}_{\parallel} - \mathbf{y}_{\parallel}$ .

We also note that the integrand function in Eq. (5) has been obtained by taking  $x^1 = y^1$  and  $\mathbf{x}_{\parallel} = \mathbf{y}_{\parallel}$  in the integral kernel  $\mathcal{Q}^{rel}(t; x^1, y^1, \mathbf{x}_{\parallel} - \mathbf{y}_{\parallel})$ . Since the integrand function does not depend on  $\mathbf{x}_{\parallel}$ , the integral  $\int_{\mathbf{R}} dx^1$  could be rewritten in terms of the average  $|\Omega|^{-1} \int_{\mathbf{R}} dx^1 \int_{\Omega} d\mathbf{x}_{\parallel}$ , where  $\Omega$  is any finite region of  $\pi$  of volume  $|\Omega|$ . In this way, taking the limit  $\Omega \to \mathbf{R}^{d-1}$ , would reconstruct an "averaged trace" of the operator  $Q^{rel}(t)$ . In the applications, for example when computing the thermal Casimir energy (see Sect. 4), the "average argument" could be made rigorous. A possible approach would be to constrain the system to a rectangular box of size L along the directions  $\mathbf{x}_{\parallel}$ , take the average with respect to the volume of the box, and then take the limit  $L \to \infty$ . Here we do not pursue this goal, we just recall that the problem of the reduction to a density was already present in the original paper by Casimir [7] as well as in more recent papers such as [22]. In the latter work this problem is approached by adding a mass parameter that afterwords is sent to infinity.

Our main result is summed up in Eqs. (41)–(43), where we give the analytic continuation of the map  $s \rightarrow \zeta_1(s)$ .

As an application, in Sect. 4, we compute the thermal Casimir energy per unit surface for a massless scalar field at temperature  $T = 2\pi/\beta$ , and discuss an explicit choice of the function  $\alpha$ .

In the remaining part of the introduction we discuss the physical motivations of our analysis and several related works.

Major applications of the zeta-regularization approach are related to the problem of *zero point oscillations* or *Casimir effect* in Quantum Field Theory (QFT).

In his 1948 paper [7] the Dutch physicists H. B. G. Casimir pointed out that two parallel, neutral, perfectly conducting plates will show an attractive force. This phenomenon, which was later on named Casimir effect, originates from the variation of the electromagnetic *zero point energy* due to the boundaries represented by the plates.

In his setting, Casimir considered a box-shaped cavity with a plate inside, placed parallel to the walls of the cavity. Casimir showed that the plate interacts with the walls through a force (later referred to as *Casimir force*) which is inversely proportional to the cube of the distance between the plate and the walls.

The crucial observation in the paper [7] is the following. The energy of the cavity is given by  $\frac{1}{2} \sum \hbar \omega$  (resp.  $\frac{1}{2} \sum \hbar \omega'$ ) where  $\omega$  (resp.  $\omega'$ ) are the resonant frequencies of the cavity with (resp. without) the plate inserted in it, and the sum runs over all the possible frequencies. Even though the sums  $\frac{1}{2} \sum \hbar \omega$  and  $\frac{1}{2} \sum \hbar \omega'$  diverge, a finite value (which depends on the position of the plate) can be assigned to the difference of these energies. The Casimir force was indeed computed by taking the derivative of this finite energy difference with respect to the parameter associated to the position of the plate.

Nowadays the term Casimir effect refers to a wide class of phenomena that are associated to the variation of the zero point energy or zero point oscillations in QFT, where a quantized field can be described as a set of oscillators. In a bounded region of the space, for example, the zero point energy of the field is given by a sum of the form  $\sum_{j} \omega_{j}$ , where  $\omega_{j}$  are all the possible frequencies of the oscillators and the sum runs over an infinite set of quantum numbers (here denoted by *j*). This series is, in general, divergent. Casimir's approach allows to regularize, by subtraction, this divergent quantity and extract the relevant information from the regularized energy.

The applications of Casimir's regularization are extremely numerous and the literature on the subject is massive. We refer to the monographs [4, 6, 25] for an exhaustive discussion on this topic and a list of related references. Here we just point out the evident relation between the divergent series in the Casimir effect and zeta-regularization techniques. Indeed, Casimir's force can be computed by regularizing a series of the form given in Eq. (2) through analytic continuation, and then taking the limit  $\lim_{s\to -1} \zeta(A; s)$  (see, e.g., [12]).

The first attempts to regularize sums involving the eigenvalues of elliptic operators through analytic continuation date back to the works of Minakshisundaram and Pleijel [27, 28]. A first example of an application of zeta-regularization to investigate geometrical properties of manifolds is in [33], where the authors used it to compute the analytic torsion of a smooth, compact manifold.

One of the first applications to QFT is in [10] to compute the effective Lagrangian and the energy-momentum tensor associated to a scalar field in a De Sitter background. In [10], the authors point out that this regularization procedure may produce a result different from the one obtained by dimensional regularization. Indeed, shortly afterwards zeta-regularization was discussed by Hawking, see [20], as a method to resolve the ambiguity in the dimensional regularization of path integrals for fields in curved spacetime. A slightly different (and to some extent more rigorous) formulation of Hawking's approach was developed by Wald in [37].

Temperature effects in the classical Casimir effect were first investigated by Fierz [18] and Mehra [24]. The general dependence on temperature in QFT, instead, was first discussed in [11]. A more recent work in this direction is [31].

More recently, the zeta-regularization approach was presented in [13–17] as a tool to cure the divergences in the vacuum expectation value of both local and global observables in QFT.

One of the first attempts at using models with singular potentials (deltainteractions) to compute the energy momentum tensor is in [23]. The same model was taken up again in [5]. Delta type interactions intuitively model semitransparent walls. From a mathematical point of view they offer a two-fold advantage: in a certain sense they are less singular than pure Dirichlet conditions; moreover they produce highly solvable models, i.e. are simple enough to perform explicit computations. In [19] the authors compute the Casimir energy of a boson field in the presence of two semitransparent walls in spatial dimension d = 1 and of a delta interaction supported by a circle in dimension d = 2. In a similar setting, but in d = 1 and d = 3 space dimensions, the Casimir energy and the pressure for a massless scalar field are explicitly computed in [26]. See [8] for a similar analysis in the case of a delta interaction supported on a cylindrical shell. A systematic analysis of the configuration with two semitransparent walls (with a discussion of the limit in which the boundary conditions become of Dirichlet type) is in [30].

We remark that none of the works mentioned in the discussion above uses the relative-zeta function regularization scheme. The general theory of the relative-zeta approach was developed by Müller in the seminal paper [29].

When computing the relative zeta function  $\zeta_1(s)$ , however, we will not use directly the results in [29] but we will follow the equivalent approach presented in [36]. Our choice relies on the fact that in [29] the relative-zeta function is computed by exploiting its relation with the difference of the semigroups  $e^{-tA_{\alpha}} - e^{-tA_0}$ ; in [36], instead, it is obtained by working with the difference of the resolvents

$$R_{\alpha}(z) - R_0(z) := (A_{\alpha} - z)^{-1} - (A_0 - z)^{-1}$$

In our setting the theory of self-adjoint extensions of symmetric operators, see, e.g. [32], allows us to obtain an explicit formula for  $R_{\alpha}(z) - R_0(z)$ , see Sect. 2, and perform exact calculations in a relatively easy way.

We conclude by mentioning few works in which the relative zeta function is used in a setting with singular interactions supported by points: [1] where the case of a point potential in the half-space is discussed; and [2] where the authors analyze the combined effect of the Coulomb together with a point potential, both centered at the origin.

The paper is structured as follows. In Sect. 2 we introduce the model and obtain an explicit formula for the resolvent of the operator  $A_{\alpha}$ , in terms of the resolvent of  $A_0$ . In Sect. 3 we obtain a formula for the relative zeta function and study its analytic continuation. In Sect. 4 we give a formula for the thermal Casimir energy; moreover we compute it explicitly in the case in which the function  $\alpha$  is the characteristic function of an interval. We conclude the paper with an Appendix in which we discuss the case  $\alpha = constant$ .

#### 2 The General Framework

We work in  $d \ge 2$  spatial dimensions and write  $\mathbf{x} \equiv (x^i)_{i=1,...,d}$  to denote points in  $\mathbf{R}^d$ . We identify the points of the plane  $\pi$  defined in Eq. (4) with  $\mathbf{x}_{\parallel} \equiv (x^2, ..., x^d) \in \mathbf{R}^{d-1}$ . Moreover, we shall use the notations

$$(x^{1}, \mathbf{x}_{\parallel}) \equiv \mathbf{x} \in \mathbf{R}^{d} \equiv \mathbf{R} \times \mathbf{R}^{d-1}.$$
 (6)

We denote by  $\mathscr{F}$  and  $\mathscr{F}^{-1}$  the distributional Fourier and inverse Fourier transform defined on integrable functions as

$$\mathscr{F}\varphi(\mathbf{k}) := \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} d\mathbf{x} \ e^{-i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{x}}\varphi(\mathbf{x}) , \qquad \mathscr{F}^{-1}\varphi(\mathbf{x}) := \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} d\mathbf{k} \ \frac{e^{i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{x}}}{(2\pi)^d} \ \varphi(\mathbf{k})$$

Notice that, with the above choice, the convolution of two functions  $\varphi, \psi$  fulfills

$$\mathscr{F}(\varphi * \psi)(\mathbf{k}) = \mathscr{F}\varphi(\mathbf{k}) \mathscr{F}\psi(\mathbf{k})$$
.

The free Laplacian on  $\mathbf{R}^d$  is the self-adjoint operator

$$A_0 := -\Delta : \operatorname{Dom}(A_0) \subset L^2(\mathbf{R}^d) \to L^2(\mathbf{R}^d),$$

where  $Dom(A_0) = H^2(\mathbf{R}^d)$  (the Sobolev space of order two); the associated resolvent is the bounded operator

$$R_0(z) := (A_0 - z)^{-1} : L^2(\mathbf{R}^d) \to H^2(\mathbf{R}^d), \qquad z \in \mathbf{C} \setminus [0, +\infty).$$

Throughout the paper we consider the natural determination of the argument for complex numbers, i.e. arg :  $\mathbf{C} \setminus [0, +\infty) \rightarrow (0, 2\pi)$ ; furthermore, for any  $z \in \mathbf{C} \setminus [0, +\infty)$ , we always use the notation  $\sqrt{z}$  to denote the principal square root, i.e. the one with positive imaginary part.

As well known, the action of  $R_0(z)$  can be expressed in terms of the corresponding convolution kernel as  $R_0(z)\varphi = \mathscr{R}_0(z) * \varphi$ , where  $\mathscr{R}_0(z; \mathbf{x}) = \frac{1}{2\pi} (\frac{-i\sqrt{z}}{2\pi |\mathbf{x}|})^{d/2-1} K_{d/2-1}(-i\sqrt{z} |\mathbf{x}|)$  ( $K_{\nu}$  is the modified Bessel function of second kind of order  $\nu$ ). We also recall that the Fourier transform of  $\mathscr{R}_0(z; \cdot)$  is given by  $(\mathscr{F}\mathscr{R}_0(z))(\mathbf{k}) = (|\mathbf{k}|^2 - z)^{-1}$ .

Together with the notation introduced in (6), we shall often write

$$(k_1, \mathbf{k}_{\parallel}) \equiv \mathbf{k} \in \mathbf{R}^d \equiv \mathbf{R} \times \mathbf{R}^{d-1}$$

Next, let us consider a non-negative, piecewise continuous, and compactly supported function  $\alpha$  such that, for some  $\delta > 0$ , it holds true:

$$\alpha(\rho) > \delta \quad \forall \rho \in \operatorname{supp}(\alpha). \tag{7}$$

The trace on the hyperplane  $\pi = \{ \mathbf{x} \in \mathbf{R}^d | x^1 = 0 \}$  is the unique linear bounded operator

$$\tau_{\pi}: H^{r}(\mathbf{R}^{d}) \to H^{r-\frac{1}{2}}(\mathbf{R}^{d-1}), \qquad r > 1/2,$$

such that, for any continuous  $\varphi$  there holds

$$(\tau_{\pi}\varphi)(\mathbf{x}_{\parallel}) = \varphi(0, \mathbf{x}_{\parallel}), \qquad \mathbf{x}_{\parallel} \in \mathbf{R}^{d-1}$$

Here and below  $H^s(\Omega)$ ,  $s \in \mathbf{R}$ , denotes the usual scale of Sobolev-Hilbert spaces on the open subset  $\Omega \subseteq \mathbf{R}^n$ . In particular, considering the Sobolev spaces on the half spaces  $\mathbf{R}^d_+ := \{\mathbf{x} \in \mathbf{R}^d \mid \pm x^1 > 0\}$ , one introduces the lateral traces

$$\tau_{\pi}^{\pm}: H^{r}(\mathbf{R}_{\pm}^{d}) \to H^{r-\frac{1}{2}}(\mathbf{R}^{d-1}), \qquad r > 1/2,$$

defined as the unique linear bounded operators such that, for any continuous (up to the boundary) function on  $\mathbf{R}^d_+$  there holds

$$(\tau_{\pi}^{\pm}\varphi)(\mathbf{x}_{\parallel}) = \varphi(0^{\pm}, \mathbf{x}_{\parallel}), \qquad \mathbf{x}_{\parallel} \in \mathbf{R}^{d-1}.$$

Setting

$$H^r(\mathbf{R}^d \setminus \pi) := H^r(\mathbf{R}^d_-) \oplus H^r(\mathbf{R}^d_+)$$

one has that  $\varphi = \varphi_- \oplus \varphi_+ \in H^r(\mathbf{R}^d \setminus \pi), 1/2 < r < 3/2$ , belongs to  $H^r(\mathbf{R}^d)$  if and only if  $\tau_\pi^- \varphi_- = \tau_\pi^+ \varphi_+$ ; in this case  $\tau_\pi^\pm \varphi_\pm = \tau_\pi \varphi$ .

To proceed, consider the free Laplacian on  $\mathbf{R}^{d-1}$ , indicated hereafter with  $-\Delta_{\parallel}$ ; since its spectrum coincides with the half-line  $[0, +\infty)$ , one can define via standard functional calculus the bounded self-adjoint operator

$$\alpha(-\Delta_{\parallel}): L^2(\mathbf{R}^{d-1}) \to L^2(\mathbf{R}^{d-1}).$$

We use such an operator to define a self-adjoint singular perturbation of the free Laplacian  $A_{\alpha}$ : Dom $(A_{\alpha}) \subset L^2(\mathbf{R}^d) \to L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)$  with domain

$$Dom(A_{\alpha}) = \{ \varphi = \varphi_{-} \oplus \varphi_{+} \in H^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{d} \setminus \pi) \mid \tau_{\pi}^{-} \varphi_{-} = \tau_{\pi}^{+} \varphi_{+} \tau_{\pi}^{+} \partial_{1} \varphi_{+} - \tau_{\pi}^{-} \partial_{1} \varphi_{-} = \alpha(-\Delta_{\parallel}) \tau_{\pi} \varphi \}.$$

$$(8)$$

Similar models, with momentum dependent delta-interactions supported on spherical shells, were studied in [3, 9, 35].

Let us consider, for any  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus [0, +\infty)$ , the bounded operator

$$\check{G}_z: L^2(\mathbf{R}^d) \to H^{3/2}(\mathbf{R}^{d-1}), \qquad \check{G}_z \varphi := \tau_\pi R_0(z) \varphi.$$

Next, consider the adjoint of  $\check{G}_{\bar{z}}$  with respect to the  $H^{-3/2}(\mathbf{R}^{d-1})-H^{3/2}(\mathbf{R}^{d-1})$  duality  $(\cdot|\cdot)$ , that is the unique bounded operator

$$G_z: H^{-3/2}(\mathbf{R}^{d-1}) \to L^2(\mathbf{R}^d),$$

fulfilling

$$\langle G_z q | \varphi \rangle_{L^2(\mathbf{R}^d)} = (q | \check{G}_{\bar{z}} \varphi) \qquad q \in H^{-3/2}(\mathbf{R}^{d-1}), \varphi \in L^2(\mathbf{R}^d).$$

One can easily check that  $G_z$  corresponds to the single layer operator of the hyperplane  $\pi$ .

Let us now introduce a convenient representation of  $R_0(z)$ ; since it is a bounded operator, it suffices to consider its action on any  $\varphi = \varphi_1 \otimes \varphi_{\parallel}$  belonging to the dense subset  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbf{R}) \otimes \mathscr{S}(\mathbf{R}^{d-1})$ . Recalling the explicit representation of the kernel of the resolvent of the free 1-dimensional Laplacian  $\Delta_1$ , one has

$$\begin{aligned} &(R_{0}(z)\varphi_{1}\otimes\varphi_{\parallel})\left(x^{1},\mathbf{x}_{\parallel}\right)=\left((A_{0}-z)^{-1}\varphi_{1}\otimes\varphi_{\parallel}\right)\left(x^{1},\mathbf{x}_{\parallel}\right)\\ &=\frac{1}{(2\pi)^{d}}\int_{\mathbf{R}^{d-1}}d\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}\;e^{i\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}\cdot\mathbf{y}_{\parallel}}\mathscr{F}\varphi_{\parallel}(\mathbf{k}_{\parallel})\left(\int_{\mathbf{R}}dk_{1}\;\frac{e^{ik_{1}x^{1}}\mathscr{F}\varphi_{1}(k_{1})}{k_{1}^{2}+|\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}|^{2}-z}\right)\\ &=\frac{1}{(2\pi)^{d-1}}\int_{\mathbf{R}^{d-1}}d\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}\;e^{i\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}\cdot\mathbf{y}_{\parallel}}\mathscr{F}\varphi_{\parallel}(\mathbf{k}_{\parallel})\left(\left(-\Delta_{1}+|\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}|^{2}-z\right)^{-1}\varphi_{1}\right)\left(x^{1}\right)\\ &=\frac{1}{(2\pi)^{d-1}}\int_{\mathbf{R}^{d-1}}d\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}\;e^{i\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}\cdot\mathbf{y}_{\parallel}}\mathscr{F}\varphi_{\parallel}(\mathbf{k}_{\parallel})\left(\int_{\mathbf{R}}dy^{1}\;\frac{ie^{i\sqrt{z-|\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}|^{2}}}{2\sqrt{z-|\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}|^{2}}}\;\varphi_{1}(y^{1})\right)\\ &=\frac{i}{2}\left(\left(\int_{\mathbf{R}}dy^{1}\;\varphi_{1}(y^{1})\;e^{i|x^{1}-y^{1}|\;(z+\Delta_{\parallel})^{1/2}}\right)\left(z+\Delta_{\parallel}\right)^{-1/2}\varphi_{\parallel}\right)\left(\mathbf{x}_{\parallel}\right).\end{aligned}$$

This gives

$$(\check{G}_{z}\varphi_{1}\otimes\varphi_{\parallel})(\mathbf{x}_{\parallel})=\frac{i}{2}\left(\left(\int_{\mathbf{R}}dy^{1}\varphi_{1}(y^{1})e^{i|y^{1}|(z+\Delta_{\parallel})^{1/2}}\right)(z+\Delta_{\parallel})^{-1/2}\varphi_{\parallel}\right)(\mathbf{x}_{\parallel})$$

and so

$$(G_{z}q)(x^{1},\mathbf{x}_{\parallel}) = \frac{i}{2} \left( e^{i|x^{1}|(z+\Delta_{\parallel})^{1/2}} (z+\Delta_{\parallel})^{-1/2} q \right) (\mathbf{x}_{\parallel}).$$
(9)

We note that the corresponding integral kernels are of convolution type in the variables  $x_{\|}$  and  $y_{\|},$  i.e.

$$\begin{split} (\check{G}_{z}\varphi)(\mathbf{x}_{\parallel}) &= \int_{\mathbf{R}} dy^{1} \int_{\mathbf{R}^{d-1}} d\mathbf{y}_{\parallel} \, \mathscr{G}_{z}(y^{1}, \mathbf{x}_{\parallel} - \mathbf{y}_{\parallel}) \varphi(y^{1}, \mathbf{y}_{\parallel}) = \int_{\mathbf{R}} dy^{1} (\mathscr{G}_{z}(y^{1}, \cdot) * \varphi(y^{1}, \cdot))(\mathbf{x}_{\parallel}) , \\ (G_{z}q)(x^{1}, \mathbf{x}_{\parallel}) &= \int_{\mathbf{R}^{d-1}} d\mathbf{y}_{\parallel} \, \mathscr{G}_{z}(x^{1}, \mathbf{x}_{\parallel} - \mathbf{y}_{\parallel}) q(\mathbf{y}_{\parallel}) = (\mathscr{G}_{z}(x^{1}, \cdot) * q)(\mathbf{x}_{\parallel}) . \end{split}$$

Moreover the Fourier transform (on  $\mathbf{x}_{\parallel}$ ) of the function  $\mathscr{G}_{z}(x^{1}, \mathbf{x}_{\parallel})$  is given by

$$(\mathscr{F}\mathscr{G}_{z}(x^{1},\cdot))(\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}) = \frac{ie^{i|x^{1}|}\sqrt{z-|\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}|^{2}}}{2\sqrt{z-|\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}|^{2}}}.$$

By Eq. (9), one infers that  $\tau_{\pi}G_z$ ,  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus [0, +\infty)$ , extends to a well defined pseudodifferential operator  $M_z$  of order (-1) defined on the whole scale of Sobolev-Hilbert spaces on  $\mathbb{R}^{d-1}$ :

$$M_z: H^r(\mathbf{R}^{d-1}) \to H^{r+1}(\mathbf{R}^{d-1}), \quad M_z:=\frac{i}{2} (z + \Delta_{\parallel})^{-1/2}$$

Then, by using  $M_z$ , we define, for any  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus [0, +\infty)$ ,

$$W_{\alpha}(z) := -\alpha(-\Delta_{\parallel}) \Big( 1 + \alpha(-\Delta_{\parallel})M_z \Big)^{-1} : L^2(\mathbf{R}^{d-1}) \to L^2(\mathbf{R}^{d-1}).$$

Notice that  $W_{\alpha}(z)$  is a bounded operator since, by functional calculus,  $W_{\alpha}(z) = w_z(-\Delta_{\parallel})$ , where

$$w_z(\rho) = -\frac{\alpha(\rho)\sqrt{z-\rho}}{\sqrt{z-\rho} + i\alpha(\rho)/2}$$

and  $w_z \in L^{\infty}(0, +\infty)$  for any  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus [0, +\infty)$ . Indeed, the associated convolution kernel is given by  $\mathscr{W}_{\alpha}(z; \mathbf{x}_{\parallel} - \mathbf{y}_{\parallel})$ , with  $(\mathscr{F}\mathscr{W}_{\alpha}(z; \cdot))(\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}) = w_z(|\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}|^2)$ .

Finally, for any  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus [0, +\infty)$  we define the bounded linear operator  $R_{\alpha}(z)$  by

$$R_{\alpha}(z): L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{d}) \to L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{d}), \quad R_{\alpha}(z) = R_{0}(z) + G_{z} W_{\alpha}(z) \check{G}_{z}.$$

By the results provided in [32, Sect. 2], applied to the case in which the map there denoted by  $\tau$  is given by  $\tau := \sqrt{\alpha}(-\Delta_{\parallel})\tau_{\pi}$ , one gets that  $R_{\alpha}$  is a pseudo-resolvent, i.e. it satisfies the resolvent identity  $R_{\alpha}(w) - R_{\alpha}(z) = (z - w)R_{\alpha}(w)R_{\alpha}(z)$ . Moreover, by Eq. (9),

$$\tau_{\pi}^{-}\partial_{1}G_{z}q - \tau_{\pi}^{+}\partial_{1}G_{z}q = q \tag{10}$$

and so  $\operatorname{Ran}(G_z) \cap H^2(\mathbf{R}^d) = \{0\}$ , i.e.  $R_\alpha(z)$  is injective. In conclusion, since  $R_\alpha(\bar{z}) = R_\alpha(z)^*$ ,  $R_\alpha(z)$  is the resolvent of the (z-independent) self-adjoint operator  $A_\alpha := R_\alpha(z)^{-1} + z$  defined on the domain  $\operatorname{Dom}(A_\alpha) := \operatorname{Ran}(R_\alpha(z))$ . Setting  $G := G_{-1}$  and  $W_\alpha := W_\alpha(-1)$ , one has

$$\operatorname{Dom}(A_{\alpha}) = \{ \varphi \in L^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{d}) \mid \varphi = \varphi_{0} + GW_{\alpha}\tau_{\pi}\varphi_{0}, \ \varphi_{0} \in H^{2}(\mathbf{R}^{d}) \}$$
(11)

and, by the identity  $R_{\alpha}(-1)(A_0+1)\varphi_0 = \varphi_0 + GW_{\alpha}\tau_{\pi}\varphi_0$ ,

$$(A_{\alpha} + 1)\varphi = (A_0 + 1)\varphi_0.$$
(12)

The representation of  $\text{Dom}(A_{\alpha})$  given in (11) coincides with (8) by  $\tau_{\pi}^{-}Gq = \tau_{\pi}^{+}Gq$  (which is consequence of Eq. (9)) and by the identities (here we use Eq. (10) and the definition of  $W_{\alpha}$ )

$$\begin{aligned} \tau_{\pi}^{+}\partial_{1}\varphi - \tau_{\pi}^{-}\partial_{1}\varphi &= \tau_{\pi}^{+}\partial_{1}GW_{\alpha}\tau_{\pi}\varphi_{0} - \tau_{\pi}^{-}\partial_{1}GW_{\alpha}\tau_{\pi}\varphi_{0} = -W_{\alpha}\tau_{\pi}\varphi_{0} \\ &= -(1+\alpha(-\Delta_{\parallel})\tau_{\pi}G)W_{\alpha}\tau_{\pi}\varphi_{0} + \alpha(-\Delta_{\parallel})\tau_{\pi}GW_{\alpha}\tau_{\pi}\varphi_{0} \\ &= \alpha(-\Delta_{\parallel})\tau_{\pi}\varphi_{0} + \alpha(-\Delta_{\parallel})\tau_{\pi}GW_{\alpha}\tau_{\pi}\varphi_{0} = \alpha(-\Delta_{\parallel})\tau_{\pi}\varphi \,. \end{aligned}$$

Moreover, since  $(-\Delta + 1)G = \delta_{\pi}$ , where  $\delta_{\pi}$  denotes the tempered distribution defined by  $\delta_{\pi}(\phi) := \int_{\mathbf{R}^{d-1}} \phi(0, \mathbf{x}_{\parallel}) d\mathbf{x}_{\parallel}, \phi \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbf{R}^d)$ , by Eq. (12) one has

$$A_{\alpha}\varphi = A_{0}\varphi_{0} + GW_{\alpha}\tau_{\pi}\varphi_{0} = -\Delta\varphi - W_{\alpha}\tau_{\pi}\varphi_{0}\delta_{\pi} = -\Delta\varphi + \alpha(-\Delta_{\parallel})\tau_{\pi}\varphi\delta_{\pi}.$$

#### **3** The Relative Zeta Function

In this section we obtain an explicit expression for the relative zeta function  $\zeta_1(s)$ . The formula is given in Eq. (16) and expresses the relative zeta function as an integral of the relative spectral measure  $e_1(v)$ . This identity holds true for the values of *s* in the strip (17). The function  $e_1(v)$  is defined in Eq. (15) and computed explicitly in Sect. 3.1. In the same section we also obtain the asymptotic expansions

of the function  $e_1(v)$  for  $v \to 0^+$  and  $v \to +\infty$ . We will use these asymptotic expansions in Sect. 3.3 to obtain the analytic continuation of the function  $\zeta_1(s)$  to the strip defined by Eq. (42).

Denote by  $R^{rel}(z)$  the operator

$$R^{rel}(z) := R_{\alpha}(z) - R_0(z) \qquad z \in \mathbf{C} \setminus [0, +\infty).$$

The integral kernel of  $R^{rel}(z)$  is of convolution type on the variables  $\mathbf{x}_{\parallel}$  and  $\mathbf{y}_{\parallel}$  and it is given by

$$\mathcal{R}^{rel}(z; x^{1}, y^{1}, \mathbf{x}_{\parallel} - \mathbf{y}_{\parallel}) = (\mathscr{G}_{z}(x^{1}, \cdot) * \mathscr{W}_{\alpha}(z; \cdot) * \mathscr{G}_{z}(y^{1}, \cdot))(\mathbf{x}_{\parallel} - \mathbf{y}_{\parallel})$$

$$= \frac{1}{4(2\pi)^{d-1}} \int_{\mathbf{R}^{d-1}} d\mathbf{k}_{\parallel} \ e^{i\mathbf{k}_{\parallel} \cdot (\mathbf{x}_{\parallel} - \mathbf{y}_{\parallel})} \frac{\alpha(|\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}|^{2}) \ e^{i(|x^{1}| + |y^{1}|)} \sqrt{z - |\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}|^{2}}}{\sqrt{z - |\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}|^{2}} \left(\sqrt{z - |\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}|^{2}} + i\alpha(|\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}|^{2})/2\right)} .$$
(13)

To compute the relative zeta function defined in Eq. (5) we will compute first the function

$$r_1(z) := \int_{\mathbf{R}} dx^1 \, \mathscr{R}^{rel}(z; x^1, x^1, \mathbf{0}) \qquad z \in \mathbf{C} \setminus [0, +\infty). \tag{14}$$

Then we will show that the *relative spectral measure*<sup>1</sup>

$$e_1(v) := \frac{v}{i\pi} \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \left[ r_1(v^2 + i\varepsilon) - r_1(v^2 - i\varepsilon) \right]$$
(15)

is well defined for any v > 0, see Sect. 3.1. Finally, is Sect. 3.2, we shall prove that the function  $\zeta_1(s)$  can be expressed through the following fundamental formula

$$\zeta_1(s) = \int_0^{+\infty} dv \ v^{-2s} \ e_1(v) \tag{16}$$

for any complex *s* in the strip

$$\left\{ s \in \mathbf{C} \mid -\frac{1}{2} < \operatorname{Re} \, s < \frac{d-1}{2} \right\}.$$
(17)

Formula (16), together with the asymptotic expansions of  $e_1(v)$  for  $v \to 0^+$  and  $v \to +\infty$ , see Eqs. (30) and (31), can be used to obtain the analytic continuation of the map  $s \to \xi_1(s)$  outside the strip (17), see Eqs. (41)–(43).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>We remark that here we are slightly abusing terminology, as "relative spectral measure" usually denotes the function  $e(v) := \frac{v}{i\pi} \lim_{\epsilon \to 0^+} \text{Tr} \left( R(v^2 + i\epsilon) - R_0(v^2 - i\epsilon) \right).$ 

We start by computing function  $r_1(z)$  defined in Eq. (14).

For notational convenience, we introduce the rescaled function

$$\tilde{\alpha}(\rho) := \frac{1}{2} \alpha(\rho) \qquad (\rho \in [0, +\infty)) . \tag{18}$$

Setting  $y^1 = x^1$  and  $\mathbf{y}_{\parallel} = \mathbf{x}_{\parallel}$  in Eq. (13) and integrating over  $x^1$ , we are left with

$$r_1(z) = \frac{i\pi}{(2\pi)^d} \int_{\mathbf{R}^{d-1}} d\mathbf{k}_{\parallel} \frac{\tilde{\alpha}(|\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}|^2)}{(z - |\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}|^2) \left(\sqrt{z - |\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}|^2} + i\tilde{\alpha}(|\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}|^2)\right)} .$$
(19)

Note that for any  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus [0, +\infty)$ , we have  $\operatorname{Im} \sqrt{z - |\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}|^2} > 0$  and recall that the function  $\alpha(\rho)$  is compactly supported by assumption. Hence, one can exchange order of integration and perform the integral over  $x^1$ .

Next, passing to polar coordinates and considering the change of variable  $\rho := |\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}|^2 \in (0, +\infty)$ , one obtains

$$r_1(z) = \frac{i\pi^2}{(2\pi)^{\frac{d+3}{2}} \Gamma(\frac{d-1}{2})} \int_0^{+\infty} d\rho \; \frac{\rho^{\frac{d-3}{2}} \tilde{\alpha}(\rho)}{(z-\rho)(\sqrt{z-\rho}+i\tilde{\alpha}(\rho))} , \tag{20}$$

where  $\Gamma(\cdot)$  denotes the Euler Gamma function.

# 3.1 The Relative Spectral Measure and Its Asymptotic Expansion

In this section we obtain an explicit formula for the function  $e_1(v)$  defined in Eq. (15) (see Eq. (26) below). Then compute its asymptotic expansion for  $v \to 0^+$ , see Eq. (30), and for  $v \to +\infty$ , see Eq. (31).

First of all, let us point out the trivial identity

$$\frac{\tilde{\alpha}(\rho)}{(z-\rho)(\sqrt{z-\rho}+i\tilde{\alpha}(\rho))} = -\frac{i}{z-\rho} + \frac{i}{\sqrt{z-\rho}(\sqrt{z-\rho}+i\tilde{\alpha}(\rho))}$$

In view of the above identity, and recalling Eq. (20), the difference  $r_1(v^2 + i\varepsilon) - r_1(v^2 - i\varepsilon)$  can be expressed via simple algebraic manipulations as

$$r_1(v^2 + i\varepsilon) - r_1(v^2 - i\varepsilon) = \frac{i\pi^2}{(2\pi)^{\frac{d+3}{2}}\Gamma\left(\frac{d-1}{2}\right)} \left(E_1(\varepsilon; v) + E_2(\varepsilon, v) + E_3(\varepsilon; v)\right)$$

where

$$E_{1}(\varepsilon; v) := -\int_{\operatorname{supp}\alpha} d\rho \rho^{\frac{d-3}{2}} \frac{2\varepsilon}{(v^{2} - \rho)^{2} + \varepsilon^{2}} ,$$

$$E_{2}(\varepsilon; v) := i \int_{\operatorname{supp}\alpha} d\rho \frac{\rho^{\frac{d-3}{2}}}{\sqrt{v^{2} - \rho + i\varepsilon} + i\tilde{\alpha}(\rho)} \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{v^{2} - \rho + i\varepsilon}} - \frac{1}{\sqrt{v^{2} - \rho - i\varepsilon}}\right) ,$$

$$E_{3}(\varepsilon; v) := i \int_{\operatorname{supp}\alpha} d\rho \frac{\rho^{\frac{d-3}{2}}}{\sqrt{v^{2} - \rho - i\varepsilon}} \times \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{v^{2} - \rho + i\varepsilon} + i\tilde{\alpha}(\rho)} - \frac{1}{\sqrt{v^{2} - \rho - i\varepsilon} + i\tilde{\alpha}(\rho)}\right) .$$

We study the convergence for  $\varepsilon \to 0^+$  term by term.

For the term  $E_1(\varepsilon; v)$  we use the fact that  $\frac{2\varepsilon}{(v^2 - \rho)^2 + \varepsilon^2} \rightarrow \pi \delta(\rho - v^2)$  and the fact that,  $\rho^{\frac{d-3}{2}} \chi_{\text{supp}\alpha}(\rho)$  is piecewise continuous (here and below  $\chi_{\text{supp}\alpha}(\cdot)$  denotes the characteristic function of supp $\alpha$ ) to get (see, e.g., [21, Ex. 1.13])

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} E_1(\varepsilon; v) = -2\pi v^{d-3} \chi_{\operatorname{supp}\alpha}(v^2)$$
(21)

To compute the limit of  $E_2(\varepsilon; v)$  and  $E_3(\varepsilon; v)$  requires a bit more work. We start by recalling the following inequalities, holding for some C > 0:

$$|\sqrt{\lambda + i\varepsilon} - \sqrt{\lambda - i\varepsilon} - 2\sqrt{\lambda}| \le C\sqrt{\varepsilon} \qquad \forall \lambda > 0 ;$$
 (22)

$$|\sqrt{\lambda + i\varepsilon} - \sqrt{\lambda - i\varepsilon}| \le C\sqrt{\varepsilon} \qquad \forall \lambda < 0.$$
<sup>(23)</sup>

Next, we analyze the term  $E_2(\varepsilon; v)$ . We note the identity

$$E_{2}(\varepsilon; v) - i \int_{\operatorname{supp}\alpha \cap (0, v^{2})} d\rho \frac{\rho^{\frac{d-3}{2}}}{\sqrt{v^{2} - \rho + i\varepsilon} + i\tilde{\alpha}(\rho)} \frac{2\sqrt{v^{2} - \rho}}{\sqrt{(v^{2} - \rho)^{2} + \varepsilon^{2}}}$$
  
=  $i \int_{\operatorname{supp}\alpha \cap (0, v^{2})} d\rho \frac{\rho^{\frac{d-3}{2}}}{\sqrt{v^{2} - \rho + i\varepsilon} + i\tilde{\alpha}(\rho)} \frac{\sqrt{v^{2} - \rho + i\varepsilon} - \sqrt{v^{2} - \rho - i\varepsilon} - 2\sqrt{v^{2} - \rho}}{\sqrt{(v^{2} - \rho)^{2} + \varepsilon^{2}}}$   
+  $i \int_{\operatorname{supp}\alpha \cap (v^{2}, +\infty)} d\rho \frac{\rho^{\frac{d-3}{2}}}{\sqrt{v^{2} - \rho + i\varepsilon} + i\tilde{\alpha}(\rho)} \frac{\sqrt{v^{2} - \rho + i\varepsilon} - \sqrt{v^{2} - \rho - i\varepsilon}}{\sqrt{(v^{2} - \rho)^{2} + \varepsilon^{2}}},$ 

where we used the fact that, due to our definition of the square root, we have that  $\sqrt{v^2 - \rho + i\varepsilon}\sqrt{v^2 - \rho - i\varepsilon} = -\sqrt{(v^2 - \rho^2) + \varepsilon^2}$ . To proceed, let us recall that the square root is taken with positive imaginary part and that  $\alpha(\rho) > \delta$  for all

 $\rho \in \text{supp}\alpha$ , see Eq. (7); then, by using the inequalities (22)–(23), we infer

$$\begin{aligned} \left| E_2(\varepsilon; v) - i \int_{\operatorname{supp}\alpha \cap (0, v^2)} d\rho \frac{\rho^{\frac{d-3}{2}}}{\sqrt{v^2 - \rho + i\varepsilon} + i\widetilde{\alpha}(\rho)} \frac{2\sqrt{v^2 - \rho}}{\sqrt{(v^2 - \rho)^2 + \varepsilon^2}} \right| \\ &\leq \frac{C}{\delta} \left( \int_{\operatorname{supp}\alpha} d\rho \rho^{\frac{d-3}{2}} \frac{\sqrt{\varepsilon}}{\sqrt{(v^2 - \rho)^2 + \varepsilon^2}} \right) \leq \frac{C\varepsilon^{1/4}}{\delta} \int_{\operatorname{supp}\alpha} d\rho \rho^{\frac{d-3}{2}} \frac{1}{|v^2 - \rho|^{3/4}} \\ &\leq C(\alpha, d)\varepsilon^{1/4} . \end{aligned}$$

Since, by dominated convergence, one has

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} i \int_{\operatorname{supp}\alpha \cap (0,v^2)} d\rho \frac{\rho^{\frac{d-3}{2}}}{\sqrt{v^2 - \rho + i\varepsilon} + i\tilde{\alpha}(\rho)} \frac{2\sqrt{v^2 - \rho}}{\sqrt{(v^2 - \rho)^2 + \varepsilon^2}}$$
$$= i \int_{\operatorname{supp}\alpha \cap (0,v^2)} d\rho \frac{\rho^{\frac{d-3}{2}}}{\sqrt{v^2 - \rho} + i\tilde{\alpha}(\rho)} \frac{2}{\sqrt{v^2 - \rho}},$$

we conclude that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} E_2(\varepsilon, v) = i \int_{\text{supp}\alpha \cap (0, v^2)} d\rho \frac{\rho^{\frac{d-3}{2}}}{\sqrt{v^2 - \rho} + i\tilde{\alpha}(\rho)} \frac{2}{\sqrt{v^2 - \rho}} .$$
(24)

Reasoning in a similar way, let us consider the identity

$$E_{3}(\varepsilon; v) - i \int_{\mathrm{supp}\alpha \cap (0, v^{2})} d\rho \frac{\rho^{\frac{d-3}{2}} (v^{2} - \rho - i\varepsilon)^{-1/2} 2\sqrt{v^{2} - \rho}}{(\mathrm{Re} \sqrt{v^{2} - \rho + i\varepsilon})^{2} + (\mathrm{Im} \sqrt{v^{2} - \rho + i\varepsilon} + \tilde{\alpha}(\rho))^{2}}$$
  
= $i \int_{\mathrm{supp}\alpha \cap (0, v^{2})} d\rho \frac{\rho^{\frac{d-3}{2}} (v^{2} - \rho - i\varepsilon)^{-1/2} (\sqrt{v^{2} - \rho + i\varepsilon} - \sqrt{v^{2} - \rho - i\varepsilon} - 2\sqrt{v^{2} - \rho})}{(\mathrm{Re} \sqrt{v^{2} - \rho + i\varepsilon})^{2} + (\mathrm{Im} \sqrt{v^{2} - \rho + i\varepsilon} + \tilde{\alpha}(\rho))^{2}}$   
+ $i \int_{\mathrm{supp}\alpha \cap (v^{2}, +\infty)} d\rho \frac{\rho^{\frac{d-3}{2}} (v^{2} - \rho - i\varepsilon)^{-1/2} (\sqrt{v^{2} - \rho + i\varepsilon} - \sqrt{v^{2} - \rho - i\varepsilon})}{(\mathrm{Re} \sqrt{v^{2} - \rho + i\varepsilon})^{2} + (\mathrm{Im} \sqrt{v^{2} - \rho + i\varepsilon} + \tilde{\alpha}(\rho))^{2}},$ 

where we used the fact that Re  $\sqrt{v^2 - \rho - i\varepsilon} = -\text{Re } \sqrt{v^2 - \rho + i\varepsilon}$  and Im  $\sqrt{v^2 - \rho - i\varepsilon} = \text{Im } \sqrt{v^2 - \rho + i\varepsilon}$ . This allows us to infer

$$\left| E_{3}(\varepsilon; v) - i \int_{\operatorname{supp}\alpha \cap (0, v^{2})} d\rho \frac{\rho^{\frac{d-3}{2}} (v^{2} - \rho - i\varepsilon)^{-1/2} 2\sqrt{v^{2} - \rho}}{\left(\operatorname{Re} \sqrt{v^{2} - \rho + i\varepsilon}\right)^{2} + \left(\operatorname{Im} \sqrt{v^{2} - \rho + i\varepsilon} + \tilde{\alpha}(\rho)\right)^{2}} \right|$$
  
$$\leq \frac{\sqrt{\varepsilon}}{\delta^{2}} \int_{\operatorname{supp}\alpha} d\rho \frac{\rho^{\frac{d-3}{2}}}{|\sqrt{v^{2} - \rho - i\varepsilon}|} \leq \frac{\sqrt{\varepsilon}}{\delta^{2}} \int_{\operatorname{supp}\alpha} d\rho \frac{\rho^{\frac{d-3}{2}}}{\sqrt{|v^{2} - \rho|}} \leq C(\alpha, d)\sqrt{\varepsilon}.$$

As before, by using the dominated convergence theorem, one can prove that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} E_3(\varepsilon; v) = -i \int_{\text{supp}\alpha \cap (0, v^2)} d\rho \frac{\rho^{\frac{d-3}{2}}}{\sqrt{v^2 - \rho}} \frac{2\sqrt{v^2 - \rho}}{v^2 - \rho + \tilde{\alpha}(\rho)^2}.$$
 (25)

Summing up the limits (24) and (25), we conclude

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \left( E_2(\varepsilon; v) + E_3(\varepsilon; v) \right) = \int_0^{v^2} d\rho \frac{\rho^{\frac{d-3}{2}}}{\sqrt{v^2 - \rho}} \frac{2\tilde{\alpha}(\rho)}{v^2 - \rho + \tilde{\alpha}(\rho)^2}.$$

Taking into account also the limit (21) we get the following expression:

$$e_1(v) = \frac{\pi v}{(2\pi)^{\frac{d+1}{2}} \Gamma(\frac{d-1}{2})} \Big[ -v^{d-3} \chi_{\text{supp}\alpha}(v^2) + I_\alpha(v^2) \chi_{(0,+\infty)}(v) \Big], \quad (26)$$

where we introduced the notation

$$I_{\alpha}(\lambda) := \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{0}^{\lambda} d\rho \, \frac{\rho^{\frac{d-3}{2}} \tilde{\alpha}(\rho)}{\sqrt{\lambda - \rho} \, (\lambda - \rho + \tilde{\alpha}(\rho)^2)} \qquad \text{for any } \lambda \in (0, +\infty) \,. \tag{27}$$

Before proceeding, let us stress that due to the assumptions on  $\alpha$ , the integral  $I_{\alpha}$  can be easily checked to be finite and positive for any  $\lambda \in (0, +\infty)$ . In fact, by Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem, one can infer that the map  $\lambda \mapsto I_{\alpha}(\lambda)$  is continuous on  $[0, +\infty)$ .

Next, let us pass to discuss the asymptotic behavior of the map  $\lambda \mapsto I_{\alpha}(\lambda)$  for  $\lambda \to 0^+$  and  $\lambda \to +\infty$ . For  $\lambda \to 0^+$ , we have that

$$I_{\alpha}(\lambda) \leq \frac{\|\alpha\|_{\infty}}{\pi\delta^{2}} \int_{0}^{\lambda} d\rho \, \frac{\rho^{\frac{d-3}{2}}}{\sqrt{\lambda-\rho}} \leq \frac{\|\alpha\|_{\infty}\lambda^{\frac{d-3}{2}}}{\pi\delta^{2}} \int_{0}^{\lambda} d\rho \, \frac{1}{\sqrt{\lambda-\rho}} \leq C(\alpha)\lambda^{\frac{d-2}{2}}.$$

Hence,

$$I_{\alpha}(\lambda) = O(\lambda^{\frac{d-2}{2}}) \quad \text{for } \lambda \to 0^+ .$$

Next we discuss the asymptotic behavior of  $I_{\alpha}(\lambda)$  in the limit  $\lambda \to +\infty$ ; in particular, we shall show that that there exits a family of real coefficients  $(p_n)_{n=0,1,2,...}$  such that, for any  $N \in \{0, 1, 2, ...\}$ ,

$$I_{\alpha}(\lambda) = \lambda^{-3/2} \sum_{n=0}^{N} p_n \, \lambda^{-n} + O(\lambda^{-N-\frac{5}{2}}) \quad \text{for } \lambda \to +\infty \; ; \tag{28}$$

for example, the first two coefficients are

$$p_{0} := \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{\text{supp}\alpha} d\rho \ \rho^{\frac{d-3}{2}} \tilde{\alpha}(\rho) ,$$

$$p_{1} := \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{\text{supp}\alpha} d\rho \ \rho^{\frac{d-3}{2}} \tilde{\alpha}(\rho) \left(\frac{3}{2} \rho - \tilde{\alpha}(\rho)^{2}\right) .$$
(29)

Keeping in mind that  $\alpha$  is assumed to have compact support, let us fix arbitrarily  $\rho_1 \in (0, +\infty)$  such that

supp
$$\alpha \subseteq [0, \rho_1]$$
.

Next, let us consider the representation (27) of  $I_{\alpha}(\lambda)$  and notice that, for any  $\lambda > \rho_1$ , it can be re-expressed as

$$I_{lpha}(\lambda) := rac{\lambda^{-3/2}}{\pi} \int_{0}^{
ho_{1}} d
ho \; rac{
ho^{rac{d-3}{2}} \, ilde{lpha}(
ho)}{\sqrt{1 - rac{
ho}{\lambda}} \, \left(1 + rac{ ilde{lpha}(
ho)^{2} - 
ho}{\lambda}
ight)} \; .$$

To proceed, notice that for any  $N \in \{0, 1, 2, ...\}$  and any fixed  $\rho \in (0, \rho_1)$  there exits a family of coefficients  $(g_n(\rho))_{n=0,...,N}$  and a Taylor-Lagrange reminder function  $T_N(\rho; \cdot) : (\rho_1, +\infty) \to \mathbf{R}, \lambda \mapsto T_N(\rho; \lambda)$ , such that

$$\frac{\tilde{\alpha}(\rho)}{\sqrt{1-\frac{\rho}{\lambda}\left(1+\frac{\tilde{\alpha}(\rho)^2-\rho}{\lambda}\right)}} = \sum_{n=0}^{N} g_n(\rho) \,\lambda^{-n} + T_N(\rho,\lambda) \quad \text{for all } \lambda > \rho_1 \;.$$

Let us mention that the coefficients  $g_n(\rho)$  (n = 0, ..., N) are all determined by integer powers of  $\alpha(\rho)$ ; for example, one has

$$g_0(\rho) := \tilde{\alpha}(\rho) , \qquad g_1(\rho) := \tilde{\alpha}(\rho) \left(\frac{3}{2} \rho - \tilde{\alpha}(\rho)^2\right), \qquad \dots$$

Therefore, since  $\alpha$  is assumed to be bounded, one easily infers that all the functions  $\rho \mapsto g_n(\rho)$  (n = 0, ..., N) are also uniformly bounded on  $(0, \rho_1)$ .

Concerning the reminder  $T_N$ , one has

$$|T_N(\rho;\lambda)| \le S_{N+1}(\rho) \ \lambda^{-(N+1)} \qquad \text{for all } \rho \in (0,\rho_1), \lambda \in (\rho_1+1,+\infty) \ .$$

where we have introduced the positive-valued function

$$S_{N+1}(\rho) := \sup_{\lambda \in (\rho_1+1,+\infty)} \left| \frac{1}{(N+1)!} \frac{d^{N+1}}{d\lambda^{N+1}} \left( \frac{\tilde{\alpha}(\rho)}{\sqrt{1 - \frac{\rho}{\lambda} \left(1 + \frac{\tilde{\alpha}(\rho)^2 - \rho}{\lambda}\right)}} \right) \right| ;$$

the latter can be easily proved to be uniformly bounded on  $(0, \rho_1)$ .

86

Summing up, the above results allow to infer that

$$I_{\alpha}(\lambda) = \frac{\lambda^{-3/2}}{\pi} \sum_{n=0}^{N} \left( \int_{0}^{\lambda_{0}} d\rho \ \rho^{\frac{d-3}{2}} g_{n}(\rho) \right) \lambda^{-n} + O(\lambda^{-N-\frac{5}{2}}) \quad \text{for } \lambda \to +\infty ,$$

thus proving Eqs. (28)–(29).

The above results on  $I_{\alpha}(\lambda)$ , along with the explicit expression (26) of the relative spectral measure, allow to infer straightforwardly the following facts concerning the map  $(0, +\infty) \rightarrow \mathbf{R}, v \mapsto e_1(v)$ :

1.  $e_1 \in C^0((0, +\infty); \mathbf{R})$ ; in particular,  $e_1$  is locally bounded on  $(0, +\infty)$ . 2. There holds

$$e_1(v) = O(v^{d-2}) \quad \text{for } v \to 0^+.$$
 (30)

3. For any  $N \in \{0, 1, 2, ...\}$ , there holds the asymptotic expansion

$$e_1(v) = \frac{1}{v^2} \sum_{n=0}^{N} \tilde{p}_n \, v^{-2n} + O(v^{-2-2(N+1)}) \qquad \text{for } v \to +\infty \,, \tag{31}$$

where the real coefficients  $(\tilde{p}_n)_{n=0,1,2,...}$  are related to the coefficients  $(p_n)_{n=0,1,2,...}$  appearing in Eq. (28) by the rescaling

$$\tilde{p}_n := \frac{\pi}{(2\pi)^{\frac{d+1}{2}} \Gamma(\frac{d-1}{2})} p_n \,. \tag{32}$$

# 3.2 Relative Zeta Function in Terms of the Relative Spectral Measure

This section is devoted to the proof of identity (16).

The function  $\zeta_1(s)$  is defined in terms of the integral kernel of the operator  $Q^{rel} = e^{-tA_{\alpha}} - e^{-tA_0}$  by Eq. (5). We start by recalling the well known identity

$$\mathscr{Q}^{rel}(t; x^{1}, y^{1}, \mathbf{x}_{\parallel} - \mathbf{y}_{\parallel}) = -\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\Lambda_{\varepsilon}} dz \, e^{-zt} \mathscr{R}^{rel}(z; x^{1}, y^{1}, \mathbf{x}_{\parallel} - \mathbf{y}_{\parallel}) , \qquad (33)$$

where, for any  $\varepsilon > 0$ ,  $\Lambda_{\varepsilon}$  is the contour

$$\Lambda_{\varepsilon} = \mathscr{C}_{\varepsilon} \cup \Lambda_{\varepsilon}^{+} \cup \Lambda_{\varepsilon}^{-} \quad \text{where}$$
$$\mathscr{C} = \{ z = \varepsilon e^{i\theta} | \ \theta \in [\pi/2, 3\pi/2] \}, \qquad \Lambda_{\varepsilon}^{\pm} = \{ z = \lambda \pm i\varepsilon | \ \lambda \in [0, +\infty) \},$$

and the integral over  $\Lambda_{\varepsilon}$  is taken counterclockwise. From the definition of  $\zeta_1(s)$ , see Eq. (5), and identity (33) one has

$$\zeta_1(s) = -\frac{1}{2\pi i \Gamma(s)} \int_0^{+\infty} dt \, t^{s-1} \int_{\mathbf{R}} dx^1 \int_{\Lambda_\varepsilon} dz \, e^{-zt} \mathscr{R}^{rel}(z; x^1, x^1, \mathbf{0}).$$

We claim that for all  $\varepsilon > 0$  and t > 0

$$\int_{\mathbf{R}} dx^1 \int_{\Lambda_{\varepsilon}} dz \ e^{-zt} \mathscr{R}^{rel}(z; x^1, x^1, \mathbf{0}) = \int_{\Lambda_{\varepsilon}} dz \ e^{-zt} r_1(z) \ .$$

To prove the latter identity it is enough to show that the integrals can be exchanged. To this aim we note that, by Eq. (13) and our assumptions on  $\alpha$  one has

$$\int_{\mathbf{R}} dx^{1} \int_{\Lambda_{\varepsilon}} dz \int_{\mathbf{R}^{d-1}} d\mathbf{k}_{\parallel} \frac{|e^{-zt}| \alpha(|\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}|^{2}) e^{-2|x^{1}|\operatorname{Im} \sqrt{z-|\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}|^{2}}}{\left|\sqrt{z-|\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}|^{2}}\right| \left|\sqrt{z-|\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}|^{2}}+i\alpha(|\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}|^{2})/2\right|} \leq \|\alpha\|_{\infty} \int_{\Lambda_{\varepsilon}} dz \int_{\{|\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}|^{2} \in \operatorname{supp}\alpha\}} d\mathbf{k}_{\parallel} \frac{|e^{-zt}|}{\left(\operatorname{Im} \sqrt{z-|\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}|^{2}}\right)^{3}};$$
(34)

moreover, using the inequality

$$\frac{1}{\mathrm{Im}\ \sqrt{z-|\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}|^2}} \leq \frac{C}{\sqrt{\varepsilon}} \max\left\{1, \sqrt{\frac{\lambda}{\varepsilon}}, \frac{|\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}|}{\sqrt{\varepsilon}}\right\} \qquad \text{for all } z \in \Lambda_{\varepsilon},$$

one can easily prove that the integral on the r.h.s. of Eq. (34) is bounded for all  $\varepsilon > 0$  and t > 0. This suffices to infer that the integrals can be exchanged, as stated previously.

Next we note that, by the analyticity properties of  $r_1(z)$ , there exists a sequence  $\varepsilon_n \to 0^+$  such that

$$\xi_{1}(s) = -\frac{1}{2\pi i\Gamma(s)} \int_{0}^{+\infty} dt \, t^{s-1} \int_{\Lambda_{\varepsilon}} dz \, e^{-zt} r_{1}(z)$$
  
=  $-\frac{1}{2\pi i\Gamma(s)} \int_{0}^{+\infty} dt \, t^{s-1} \lim_{n \to +\infty} \int_{\Lambda_{\varepsilon_{n}}} dz \, e^{-zt} r_{1}(z).$  (35)

We claim that for all t > 0 one has

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \int_{\Lambda_{\varepsilon}} dz \, e^{-zt} r_1(z) = -\int_0^{+\infty} dv \, e^{-v^2 t} e_1(v). \tag{36}$$

Then the identity (16) follows from Eqs. (35) and (36), by exchanging order of integration and by taking into account the identity  $\frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_0^\infty dt \, t^{s-1} e^{-v^2 t} = v^{-2s}$ . To prove Eq. (36) we start by noticing that for all t > 0

$$\int_{\Lambda_{\varepsilon}} dz \, e^{-zt} r_1(z) = -\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \int_0^{+\infty} d\lambda \left( e^{-(\lambda + i\varepsilon)t} r_1(\lambda + i\varepsilon) - e^{-(\lambda - i\varepsilon)t} r_1(\lambda - i\varepsilon) \right),\tag{37}$$

where we used the fact that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \int_{\mathscr{C}_{\varepsilon}} dz \ e^{-zt} r_1(z) = 0$$

The latter claim follows from the bound

$$|r_{1}(\varepsilon e^{i\theta})| \leq C \frac{\|\alpha\|_{\infty}}{\delta} \int_{\{|\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}|^{2} \in \operatorname{supp} \alpha\}} d\mathbf{k}_{\parallel} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\varepsilon^{2} + |\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}|^{4}}} \qquad \forall z \in \mathscr{C}_{\varepsilon},$$

where we used Eq. (19) and the fact that  $|z - |\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}|^2|^{-1} \le (\varepsilon^2 + |\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}|^4)^{-1/2}$  for all  $z \in \mathscr{C}_{\varepsilon}$ . In fact, in view of the estimate  $\int_{\{|\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}|^2 \in \text{supp}\alpha\}} d\mathbf{k}_{\parallel} (\varepsilon^2 + |\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}|^4)^{-1/2} \le C \varepsilon^{-3/4}$  for all  $0 < \varepsilon < 1$  (where *C* is a constant that depends on *d* and supp $\alpha$ ), the mentioned bound allows to infer  $\left| \int_{\mathscr{C}_{\varepsilon}} dz \ e^{-zt} r_1(z) \right| \le C \varepsilon^{1/4}$ , thus proving the previous claim.

To move the limit inside the integral in Eq. (37) we use dominated convergence theorem. To this aim, we use first the trivial bound

$$\left| e^{-(\lambda+i\varepsilon)t} r_1(\lambda+i\varepsilon) - e^{-(\lambda-i\varepsilon)t} r_1(\lambda-i\varepsilon) \right|$$

$$\leq e^{-\lambda t} \left| 2\sin(\varepsilon t) r_1(\lambda+i\varepsilon) \right| + e^{-\lambda t} \left| r_1(\lambda+i\varepsilon) - r_1(\lambda-i\varepsilon) \right|.$$
(38)

Next we note that

$$e^{-\lambda t} |2\sin(\varepsilon t)r_1(\lambda + i\varepsilon)| \le C e^{-\lambda t} t \sqrt{\varepsilon} \frac{\|\alpha\|_{\infty}}{\delta} \int_{\{|\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}|^2 \in \mathrm{supp}\alpha\}} d\mathbf{k}_{\parallel} \frac{1}{\left|\lambda - |\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}|^2\right|^{1/2}}.$$

Hence the limit for  $\varepsilon \to 0^+$  of the first term at the r.h.s. of Eq. (38) is zero. On the other hand, for the second term at the r.h.s. we use, see Eq. (19),

$$\begin{aligned} |r_{1}(\lambda+i\varepsilon)-r_{1}(\lambda-i\varepsilon)| &\leq C \|\alpha\|_{\infty} \left(\frac{1}{\delta} \int_{\{|\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}|^{2} \in \operatorname{supp}\alpha\}} d\mathbf{k}_{\parallel} \frac{\varepsilon}{(\lambda-|\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}|^{2})^{2}+\varepsilon^{2}} \right. \\ &\left. + \frac{1}{\delta^{2}} \int_{\{|\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}|^{2} \in \operatorname{supp}\alpha\}} d\mathbf{k}_{\parallel} \frac{\left|\sqrt{\lambda-|\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}|^{2}+i\varepsilon}-\sqrt{\lambda-|\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}|^{2}-i\varepsilon}\right|}{\left|\lambda-|\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}|^{2}+i\varepsilon\right|} \right). \end{aligned}$$

The first term is uniformly bounded in  $\varepsilon$ . For the second term we use the inequality  $\frac{\left|\sqrt{\rho+i\varepsilon}-\sqrt{\rho-i\varepsilon}\right|}{\left|\rho+i\varepsilon\right|} \leq \frac{C}{\sqrt{\left|\rho\right|}}$ , which holds true for all  $\rho \in \mathbf{R}$  and  $\varepsilon > 0$ , from which it follows that the second term is uniformly bounded as well. Identity (36) follows from the dominated convergence theorem applied to Eq. (37) together with the change of variables  $\lambda \to v^2$ .

#### 3.3 Analytic Continuation of the Relative Zeta Function

In this section we obtain the analytic continuation of the relative zeta function  $\zeta_1(s)$ . We start with the representation (16). In view of the continuity of the map  $v \mapsto e_1(v)$  on  $(0, +\infty)$  and of its asymptotic behaviours for  $v \to 0^+$  and  $v \to +\infty$  discussed previously (see, in particular, Eqs. (30) and (31)), it appears that the integral in Eq. (16) converges for any complex *s* in the strip given in Eq. (17).

To proceed, let us recall the well-known fact that the asymptotic expansions of  $e_1(v)$  for  $v \to 0^+$  and  $v \to +\infty$  can be used to construct explicitly the analytic continuation of the map  $s \mapsto \zeta_1(s)$  to larger regions of the complex plane, by means of standard techniques. Let us point out that, for the applications to be discussed in the forthcoming Sect. 4, it suffices to determine the said analytic continuation of  $\zeta_1(s)$  to regions with larger negative values of Re *s* (in particular, to a neighbour of s = -1/2); to this purpose, let us fix  $v_0 \in (0, +\infty)$  arbitrarily and re-express the relative partial zeta function as

$$\zeta_1(s) = \zeta_1^{(<)}(s) + \zeta_1^{(>)}(s) ,$$
  

$$\zeta_1^{(<)}(s) := \int_0^{v_0} dv \ v^{-2s} \ e(v) , \qquad \zeta_1^{(>)}(s) := \int_{v_0}^{+\infty} dv \ v^{-2s} \ e(v) .$$
(39)

Notice that the asymptotic behaviour in Eq. (30) suffices to infer that the map  $s \mapsto \zeta_1^{(<)}(s)$  is analytic for Re s < (d-1)/2. On the other hand, the integral defining  $\zeta_1^{(>)}(s)$  only converges for Re s > -1/2; in order to construct its analytic continuation to larger negative Re *s*, let us fix  $N \in \{0, 1, 2, ...\}$  and proceed to add and subtract to the integrand in Eq. (39) the first N + 1 terms of the asymptotic expansion of  $e_1(v)$  for  $v \to +\infty$  (see Eq. (31)); we thus obtain

$$\zeta_1^{(>)}(s) = \sum_{n=0}^N \tilde{p}_n \int_{v_0}^{+\infty} dv \ v^{-2s-2-2n} + \int_{v_0}^{+\infty} dv \ v^{-2s} \left( e_1(v) - \frac{1}{v^2} \sum_{n=0}^N \tilde{p}_n \ v^{-2n} \right).$$

Therefore, using the elementary identity

$$\int_{v_0}^{+\infty} dv \ v^{-2s-2-2n} = \frac{v_0^{-2s-2n-1}}{2s+2n+1} \quad \text{for all } s \in \mathbb{C}, n \in \mathbb{N} \text{ with } \mathbb{R} \text{e} \ s > -n - \frac{1}{2} \ ,$$

one obtains

$$\zeta_1^{(>)}(s) = \sum_{n=0}^N \frac{v_0^{-2s-2n-1}}{2s+2n+1} \,\tilde{p}_n + \int_{v_0}^{+\infty} dv \, v^{-2s} \left( e_1(v) - \frac{1}{v^2} \sum_{n=0}^N \tilde{p}_n \, v^{-2n} \right). \tag{40}$$

Even though the above expression was derived under the assumption Re s > -1/2, the following facts are apparent. On the one hand, the first term on the right-hand side of Eq. (40) is a sum of functions which are meromorphic on the whole complex plane, with only simple poles at the points  $\{-1/2, -3/2, \ldots, -N - 1/2\}$ ; on the other hand, the second term in Eq. (40) is an integral which converges by construction for any Re s > -N - 3/2 and defines an analytic function of *s* in this region.

Summing up, the above arguments allow to infer that the identity

$$\zeta_1(s) = \sum_{n=0}^N \frac{v_0^{-2s-2n-1}}{2s+2n+1} \,\tilde{p}_n + \int_0^{v_0} dv \, v^{-2s} \, e_1(v) + \int_{v_0}^{+\infty} dv \, v^{-2s} \left( e_1(v) - \frac{1}{v^2} \sum_{n=0}^N \tilde{p}_n \, v^{-2n} \right)$$
(41)

determines the analytic continuation of the map  $s \mapsto \zeta_1(s)$  to a function which is meromorphic in the larger strip

$$\left\{ s \in \mathbf{C} \mid -\frac{3}{2} - N < \operatorname{Re} \, s < \frac{d-1}{2} \right\} , \tag{42}$$

with possible simple pole singularities at the points

$$\{-1/2, -3/2, \dots, -N-1/2\}.$$
(43)

#### 4 The Thermal Casimir Energy

We work in natural units, meaning that we fix the speed of light *c*, the reduced Plank constant  $\hbar$  and the Boltzmann constant  $\kappa$  as follows:

$$c := 1$$
,  $\hbar := 1$ ,  $\kappa := 1$ .

In this section we proceed to compute the renormalized Casimir energy per unit surface  $\mathscr{E}(\beta)$  for a massless scalar field at temperature  $T = 2\pi/\beta$  ( $\beta \in (0, +\infty)$ ), living in (d + 1)-dimensional spacetime. A simple adaptation of the arguments

presented in [36] allows to infer that this observable is completely determined by the singular and regular parts of the Laurent expansion at s = -1/2 of the relative zeta function  $\zeta_1(s)$ , discussed in the previous section; more precisely, there holds

$$\mathscr{E}(\beta) = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Res}_0 \Big|_{s=-1/2} \zeta_1(s) + (1 - \log(2\ell)) \operatorname{Res}_1 \Big|_{s=-1/2} \zeta_1(s) + \partial_\beta \log \eta(\beta) ,$$
(44)

where  $\ell \in (0, +\infty)$  is a length parameter required by dimensional arguments and

$$\log \eta(\beta) := \int_0^{+\infty} dv \, \log(1 - e^{-\beta v}) \, e_1(v) \,. \tag{45}$$

In view of Eq. (41), here employed with N = 0 and any fixed  $v_0 \in (0, +\infty)$ , one readily infers the following<sup>2</sup>:

$$\operatorname{Res}_{1}\Big|_{s=-1/2}\zeta_{1}(s) = \frac{1}{2}\,\tilde{p}_{0}\,\,,\tag{46}$$

$$\operatorname{Res}_{0}\Big|_{s=-1/2}\zeta_{1}(s) = -\tilde{p}_{0} \log v_{0} + \int_{0}^{v_{0}} dv \ v \ e_{1}(v) + \int_{v_{0}}^{+\infty} dv \ v \left(e_{1}(v) - \frac{\tilde{p}_{0}}{v^{2}}\right).$$

$$(47)$$

Summing up, Eqs. (44)–(47) give the explicit expression for the renormalized Casimir energy

$$\mathscr{E}(\beta) = \tag{48}$$

$$\frac{1}{2}\left[\left(1 - \log(2\ell v_0)\right)\tilde{p}_0 + \int_0^{v_0} dv \ v \ e_1(v) + \int_{v_0}^{+\infty} dv \ v \left(e_1(v) - \frac{\tilde{p}_0}{v^2}\right) + \int_0^{+\infty} dv \ \frac{2 \ v \ e_1(v)}{e^{\beta v} - 1}\right],$$

where the relative spectral measure  $e_1(v)$  and the coefficient  $\tilde{p}_0$  are given, respectively, by Eqs. (26)–(27) and Eqs. (29) and (32).

Before proceeding, let us remark that the first three terms in Eq. (48) correspond to the zero temperature ( $\beta \rightarrow +\infty$ ) contribution, while the last term gives the temperature correction.

$$\operatorname{Res}_{n}\Big|_{s=s_{0}}\zeta_{1}(s) := \left\{ \begin{array}{c} \operatorname{coefficient} \text{ of } (s-s_{0})^{-n} \\ \operatorname{in the Laurent expansion of } \zeta_{1}(s) \text{ at } s = s_{0} \end{array} \right\} .$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Following [36], for any  $s_0 \in \mathbb{C}$  we use the notation

# 4.1 The Casimir Energy for a Simple Model in Spatial Dimension d = 3

As a simple application of the results derived previously, let us consider the 3dimensional configuration corresponding to the choice

$$\alpha(\rho) = \alpha_0 \chi_{(0,K^2)}(\rho)$$
 for some  $\alpha_0, K > 0$   $(d = 3)$ 

this clearly fulfils our assumptions on  $\alpha$ . In the following, in agreement with Eq. (18), we put

$$\tilde{\alpha}_0 := \alpha_0 / 2 . \tag{49}$$

In this case, one can derive a simple, fully explicit expression for the corresponding thermal Casimir energy. To this purpose, let us first notice that the expression (27) of the integral  $I_{\alpha}$  can be evaluated to give

$$I_{\alpha}(\lambda) = \frac{2}{\pi} \left[ \arctan\left(\frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{\tilde{\alpha}_0}\right) - \chi_{(K^2, +\infty)}(\lambda) \arctan\left(\frac{\sqrt{\lambda - K^2}}{\alpha_0}\right) \right].$$

Substituting the above result in Eq. (26) and making a few elementary manipulations, one obtains for the relative spectral measure

$$e_1(v) = -\frac{v}{2\pi^2} \left[ \arctan\left(\frac{\tilde{\alpha}_0}{v}\right) - \arctan\left(\frac{\tilde{\alpha}_0}{\sqrt{v^2 - K^2}}\right) \chi_{(K, +\infty)}(v) \right],$$

On the other hand, Eqs. (29) and (32) give straightforwardly

$$\tilde{p}_0 = \frac{1}{4\pi^2} \,\tilde{\alpha}_0 \, K^2 \, .$$

Due to the above results and upon evaluation of some elementary integrals, for any  $\beta, \ell \in (0, +\infty)$  and some fixed  $v_0 \in (0, K)$  chosen arbitrarily, Eq. (48) yields

$$\begin{aligned} \mathscr{E}(\beta) &= -\frac{1}{12\pi^2} \left[ \frac{\pi}{2} K^3 + \frac{3}{2} \tilde{\alpha}_0 K^2 \left( \log(\ell R) - \frac{7}{6} \right) + \tilde{\alpha}_0^3 \log\left(\frac{2\tilde{\alpha}_0}{K}\right) - \omega(\tilde{\alpha}_0, K) + \\ &+ \int_0^{+\infty} dv \left( \frac{6 v^2}{e^{\beta v} - 1} - \frac{6 v \sqrt{v^2 + K^2}}{e^{\beta \sqrt{v^2 + K^2}} - 1} \right) \arctan\left(\frac{\tilde{\alpha}_0}{v}\right) \right], \end{aligned}$$

where we have introduced the (continuous) function

$$\omega(x, y) := \begin{cases} (x^2 - y^2)^{3/2} \operatorname{arccoth}\left(\frac{x}{\sqrt{x^2 - y^2}}\right) & \text{for } x \ge y ,\\ (y^2 - x^2)^{3/2} \left[\frac{3\pi}{2} - \arctan\left(\frac{x}{\sqrt{y^2 - x^2}}\right)\right] & \text{for } x < y . \end{cases}$$

Note that the above result allows to infer by simple arguments that, in the limiting case where  $\alpha_0$  is kept fixed and  $K \to +\infty$ , there holds

$$\mathscr{E}(\beta) = \frac{\tilde{\alpha}_0^3}{12\pi^2} \left[ \pi \frac{K^3}{\tilde{\alpha}_0^3} - \frac{3}{2} \frac{K^2}{\tilde{\alpha}_0^2} \left( \log(\ell K) - \frac{1}{2} \right) - \frac{9\pi}{4} \frac{K}{\tilde{\alpha}_0} + \log(\ell K) + \left( \frac{4}{3} - \log(2\ell\tilde{\alpha}_0) \right) - \frac{1}{\tilde{\alpha}_0^3} \int_0^{+\infty} dv \, \frac{6 \, v^2}{e^{\beta v} - 1} \, \arctan\left( \frac{\tilde{\alpha}_0}{v} \right) + \, O\left( \frac{\tilde{\alpha}_0}{K} \right) \right].$$
(50)

Obviously enough, the above result allows to make a comparison with the model corresponding to a constant, not compactly supported function

$$\alpha(\rho) = \alpha_0 \quad \text{for all } \rho \in [0, +\infty) \text{ and some } \alpha_0 > 0 \qquad (d=3) ,$$
 (51)

that is the model typically considered in the literature [5, 19, 22, 23, 30]; as reviewed in Appendix, in this case the Casimir energy is given by

$$\mathscr{E}(\beta) = \frac{\tilde{\alpha}_0^3}{12\pi^2} \left(\frac{4}{3} - \log(2\ell\tilde{\alpha}_0)\right) - \frac{1}{2\pi^2} \int_0^{+\infty} dv \, \frac{v^2}{e^{\beta v} - 1} \, \arctan\left(\frac{\tilde{\alpha}_0}{v}\right) \,. \tag{52}$$

This appears to coincide with the finite, "renormalized" part of the asymptotic expansion (50), which is obtained removing by brute force the divergent terms in the cited expansion.

Acknowledgements C.C. and D.F. acknowledge the support of the FIR 2013 project "Condensed Matter in Mathematical Physics", Ministry of University and Research of Italian Republic (code RBFR13WAET).

## Appendix: The Case $\alpha = const.$ in Spatial Dimensions d = 3

In order to make connection with the existing literature, in the present appendix we briefly review the computation of the Casimir energy for the 3-dimensional model described in Eq. (51), that is

$$\alpha(\rho) = \alpha_0$$
 for all  $\rho \in [0, +\infty)$  and some  $\alpha_0 > 0$   $(d = 3)$ .

As a matter of fact, it can be easily checked that all the arguments described in the present manuscript continue to make sense also in this particular case, even though  $\alpha$  does not fulfil the required assumptions since it does not have compact support.

First of all, let us notice that the integral representation (20) for the function  $r_1(z)$  continues to make sense for any  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus [0, +\infty)$  (the integral in the cited equation is trivially seen to remain finite in the present case). Then, by the same arguments of Sect. 3.1 one obtains an expression like Eq. (26) for the relative spectral measure  $e_1(v)$ ; moreover, the term  $I_{\alpha}$  appearing therein (given by Eq. (27)) can be evaluated explicitly. This allows to infer for the relative spectral measure the expression

$$e_1(v) = -\frac{v}{2\pi^2} \arctan\left(\frac{\tilde{\alpha}_0}{v}\right) \chi_{(0,+\infty)}(v) , \qquad (53)$$

where  $\tilde{\alpha}_0$  is defined according to Eq. (49). This shows that the map  $v \mapsto e_1(v)$  is continuous on  $(0, +\infty)$  and fulfils, for any  $N \in \{0, 1, 2, ...\}$ ,

$$e_1(v) = \begin{cases} O(v) & \text{for } v \to 0^+ ,\\ \sum_{n=0}^N \frac{(-1)^{n+1} \tilde{\alpha}_0^{2n+1}}{2\pi^2 (2n+1)} v^{-2n} + O(v^{-2(N+1)}) & \text{for } v \to +\infty \end{cases}$$

Next, let us consider the representation (16) of the relative zeta function  $\zeta_1(s)$  in terms of  $e_1(v)$ ; in view of the above considerations, it appears that the integral in the cited equation is finite for any complex *s* inside the strip

$$\left\{s \in \mathbf{C} \mid \frac{1}{2} < \operatorname{Re} \, s < 1\right\}.$$

To proceed, notice that for any such *s* the integral in Eq. (16) can be evaluated explicitly using the expression (53) for  $e_1(v)$ ; one obtains

$$\zeta_1(s) = -\frac{\tilde{\alpha}_0^{2-2s}}{8\pi \ (s-1) \ \cos(\pi s)} \ .$$

which determines the analytic continuation of  $s \mapsto \zeta_1(s)$  to a function which is meromorphic on the whole complex plane, with simple pole singularities at s = 1 and  $s = \pm 1/2, \pm 3/2, \ldots$ 

Using the above expression for  $\zeta_1(s)$  and Eqs. (44)–(45) for the thermal Casimir energy  $\mathscr{E}(\beta)$ , one easily infers the final result (52), that is

$$\mathscr{E}(\beta) = \frac{\tilde{\alpha}_0^3}{12\pi^2} \left(\frac{4}{3} - \log(2\ell\tilde{\alpha}_0)\right) - \frac{1}{2\pi^2} \int_0^{+\infty} dv \; \frac{v^2}{e^{\beta v} - 1} \; \arctan\left(\frac{\tilde{\alpha}_0}{v}\right) \, .$$

For completeness, let us mention that the above expression can be easily employed to derive the zero temperature expansion  $(\beta \to +\infty)$  of the Casimir energy  $\mathscr{E}(\beta)$ .

#### References

- 1. S. Albeverio, G. Cognola, M. Spreafico, S. Zerbini, Singular perturbations with boundary conditions and the Casimir effect in the half space. J. Math. Phys. **51**, 063502 (2010)
- S. Albeverio, C. Cacciapuoti, M. Spreafico, Relative partition function of Coulomb plus delta interaction, arXiv:1510.04976 [math-ph], 24pp. To appear in the book J. Dittrich, H. Kovařík, A. Laptev (Eds.): *Functional Analysis and Operator Theory for Quantum Physics. A Festschrift in Honor of Pavel Exner*. (European Mathematical Society Publishing House, Zurich, 2016).
- J.-P. Antoine, F. Gesztesy, J. Shabani, Exactly Solvable Models of Sphere Interactions in Quantum Mechanics. J. Phys. A Math. Gen. 20, 3687–3712 (1987)
- 4. M. Bordag, The Casimir Effect 50 Years Later: Proceedings of the Fourth Workshop on Quantum Field Theory Under the Influence of External Conditions, Leipzig, Germany, 14–18 September 1998 (World Scientific, Singapore, 1999)
- 5. M. Bordag, D. Hennig, D. Robaschik, Vacuum energy in quantum field theory with external potentials concentrated on planes. J. Phys. A Math. Gen. **25**, 4483–4498 (1992)
- M. Bordag, G.L. Klimchitskaya, U. Mohideen, V.M. Mostepanenko, Advances in the Casimir Effect, vol. 145 (Oxford University Press, Oxford, 2009)
- 7. H.B. Casimir, On the attraction between two perfectly conducting plates. Proc. Kongl. Nedel. Akad. Wetensch **51**, 793–795 (1948)
- I. Cavero-Pelaez, K.A. Milton, K. Kirsten, Local and global Casimir energies for a semitransparent cylindrical shell. J. Phys. A 40, 3607–3632 (2007)
- 9. L. Dabrowski, J. Shabani, Finitely many sphere interactions in quantum mechanics: nonseparated boundary conditions. J. Math. Phys. **29**, 2241–2244 (1988)
- J.S. Dowker, R. Critchley, Effective Lagrangian and energy-momentum tensor in de Sitter space. Phys. Rev. D 13(12), 3224 (1976)
- J. Dowker, G. Kennedy, Finite temperature and boundary effects in static space-times. J. Phys. A Math. Gen. 11(5), 895–920 (1978)
- 12. E. Elizalde, S.D. Odintsov, A. Romeo, A.A. Bytsenko, S. Zerbini, Zeta Regularization Techniques with Applications (World Scientific, Singapore, 1994)
- D. Fermi, L. Pizzocchero, Local zeta regularization and the Casimir effect. Prog. Theor. Phys. 126(3), 419–434 (2011)
- 14. D. Fermi, L. Pizzocchero, Local zeta regularization and the scalar Casimir effect I. A general approach based on integral kernels, 91pp. (2015), arXiv:1505.00711 [math-ph]
- 15. D. Fermi, L. Pizzocchero, Local zeta regularization and the scalar Casimir effect II. Some explicitly solvable cases, 54pp. (2015), arXiv:1505.01044 [math-ph]
- 16. D. Fermi, L. Pizzocchero, Local zeta regularization and the scalar Casimir effect III. the case with a background harmonic potential. Int. J. Mod. Phys. A **30**(35), 1550213 (2015)
- 17. D. Fermi, L. Pizzocchero, Local zeta regularization and the scalar Casimir effect IV: the case of a rectangular box. Int. J. Mod. Phys. A **31**, 1650003 (2016)
- 18. M. Fierz, On the attraction of conducting planes in vacuum. Helv. Phys. Acta 33, 855 (1960)
- N. Graham, R.L. Jaffe, V. Khemani, M. Quandt, M. Scandurra, H. Weigel, Calculating vacuum energies in renormalizable quantum field theories: a new approach to the Casimir problem. Nucl. Phys. B 645, 49–84 (2002)
- S.W. Hawking, Zeta function regularization of path integrals in curved spacetime. Commun. Math. Phys. 55(2), 133–148 (1977)
- 21. R.P. Kanwal, *Generalized Functions: Theory and Applications* (Springer Science + Business Media, Boston, 2011)
- N.R. Khusnutdinov, Zeta-function approach to Casimir energy with singular potentials. Phys. Rev. D 73, 025003 (2006)
- S.G. Mamaev, N.N. Trunov, Vacuum expectation values of the energy-momentum tensor of quantized fields on manifolds of different topology and geometry. IV. Sov. Phys. J. 24(2), 171–174 (1981)
- 24. J. Mehra, Temperature correction to the Casimir effect, Physica 37(1), 145–152 (1967)

- 25. K.A. Milton, *The Casimir effect: physical manifestations of zero-point energy* (World Scientific, Singapore, 2001)
- K.A. Milton, Casimir energies and pressures for δ-function potentials. J. Phys. A 37, 6391– 6406 (2004)
- 27. S. Minakshisundaram, A generalization of Epstein zeta functions. Can. J. Math. 1, 320–327 (1949)
- S. Minakshisundaram, A. Pleijel, Some properties of the eigenfunctions of the Laplaceoperator on Riemannian manifolds. Canad. J. Math. 1, 242–256 (1949)
- 29. W. Müller, Relative zeta functions, relative determinants and scattering theory. Commun. Math. Phys. **192**, 309–347 (1998)
- J. Munoz-Castaneda, J.M. Guilarte, A.M. Mosquera, Quantum vacuum energies and Casimir forces between partially transparent δ-function plates. Phys. Rev. D 87, 105020 (2013)
- G. Ortenzi, M. Spreafico, Zeta function regularization for a scalar field in a compact domain. J. Phys. A 37, 11499–11518 (2004)
- 32. A. Posilicano, A Krein-like formula for singular perturbations of self-adjoint operators and applications. J. Funct. Anal. **183**(1), 109–147 (2001)
- D.B. Ray, I.M. Singer, R-torsion and the Laplacian on Riemannian manifolds. Adv. Math. 7(2), 145–210 (1971)
- 34. R.T. Seeley, Complex powers of an elliptic operator, in *Proceedings of Symposia in Pure Mathematics*, vol. 10 (American Mathematical Society, Providence, 1967), pp. 288–307
- 35. J. Shabani, Finitely many  $\delta$  interactions with supports on concentric spheres. J. Math. Phys. **29**, 660–664 (1988)
- 36. M. Spreafico, S. Zerbini, Finite temperature quantum field theory on noncompact domains and application to delta interactions. Rep. Math. Phys. **63**(1), 163–177 (2009)
- R.M. Wald, On the Euclidean approach to quantum field theory in curved spacetime. Commun. Math. Phys. 70(3), 221–242 (1979)

# Analysis of Fluctuations Around Non-linear Effective Dynamics

#### Serena Cenatiempo

Abstract We consider the derivation of effective equations approximating the many-body quantum dynamics of a large system of *N* bosons in three dimensions, interacting through a two-body potential  $N^{3\beta-1}V(N^{\beta}x)$ . For any  $0 \le \beta \le 1$  well known results establish the trace norm convergence of the k-particle reduced density matrices associated with the solution of the many-body Schrödinger equation towards products of solutions of a one-particle non linear Schrödinger equation, as  $N \to \infty$ . In collaboration with C. Boccato and B. Schlein we studied fluctuations around the approximate non linear Schrödinger dynamics, obtaining for all  $0 < \beta < 1$  a norm approximation of the evolution of an appropriate class of data on the Fock space.

**Keywords** Gross-Pitaevskii equation • Interacting bosons • Nonlinear Schrödinger equations • Quantum dynamics • Quantum fluctuations

#### 1 Introduction

The understanding of the properties of many body quantum systems is a challenging topic in quantum mechanics, the challenge being how to derive from the microscopic and fundamental description of the system those collective properties which are successfully exploited in condensed matter laboratories. The analysis of the time evolution of quantum many particle systems and the derivation of effective descriptions in interesting limiting regimes nestle in this research line. From a mathematical physics perspective the main goals in this field are on the one hand to justify the use of effective equations, and on the other hand to clarify the limits of applicability of the effective theories.

While we refer to [5] for an introduction on this topic, and a panorama on existing results and open problems in the context of bosonic and fermionic systems, we focus

S. Cenatiempo (🖂)

Gran Sasso Science Institute, Viale Francesco Crispi 7, 67100 L'Aquila, Italy e-mail: serena.cenatiempo@gssi.infn.it

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2017

A. Michelangeli, G. Dell'Antonio (eds.), Advances in Quantum Mechanics, Springer INdAM Series 18, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-58904-6\_6

here on some recent results concerning the analysis of the time evolution of bosonic systems in three dimensions.

A bosonic system of N particles moving in three space dimensions can be described through a complex-valued wave function  $\psi_N$  on the Hilbert space of permutation symmetric  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^{3N})$  wave functions

$$L_s^2(\mathbb{R}^{3N}) = \{ \psi_N \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^{3N}) :$$
  
$$\psi_N(x_{\pi(1)}, \dots, x_{\pi(N)}) = \psi_N(x_1, \dots, x_N) \text{ for any permutation } \pi \in S_N \}$$

with  $\|\psi_N\|_2 = 1$ . The evolution of an initial wave function  $\psi_{N,0} \in L^2_s(\mathbb{R}^{3N})$  is governed by the Schrödinger equation

$$i\partial_t \psi_{N,t} = H_N \psi_{N,t} \,, \tag{1}$$

where the subscript *t* indicates the time dependence of  $\psi_{N,t}$  and  $H_N$  is a self adjoint operator on  $L_s^2(\mathbb{R}^{3N})$  known as Hamiltonian of the system. We will restrict our attention to Hamiltonians with two body interactions, and we will consider interactions scaling with the number of particles, as follows:

$$H_N^{(\beta)} = \sum_{i=1}^N (-\Delta_{x_i}) + \sum_{i< j}^N N^{3\beta-1} V(N^\beta (x_i - x_j)), \qquad (2)$$

with  $0 \le \beta \le 1$  and V a spherically symmetric interaction potential. We will be interested in situations where the number of particles N is large.

For  $\beta = 0$  the Hamiltonian (2) describes *N* bosons interacting by a mean field potential  $N^{-1}V(x_i - x_j)$ ; this regime is a first approximation for the behaviour of dilute Bose gases and is characterized by very weak interactions for large *N*. A more accurate model for interactions among bosons in experiments on cold gases is given by the so called *Gross-Pitaevskii regime*, which corresponds to the  $\beta = 1$  case in (2). In this regime the interaction scales as  $N^2V(N(x_i - x_j))$ , corresponding to a situation where there are strong and short range collisions. While in the mean field regime, as we will see, correlations among particles can be neglected in order to obtain a (first) effective description of the system, they play a crucial role in the Gross-Pitaevskii regime, due to the singularity of the potential. Values of  $\beta$  between zero and one describe intermediate scalings between the mean field and Gross-Pitaevskii regimes, and therefore we may expect correlations to become more and more important as  $\beta$ approaches one.

We will be interested in studying the evolution under (2) of a particular class of initial data, exhibiting *complete condensation*, meaning that there exists a oneparticle wave function  $\varphi \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$  (the so called *condensate wave function*) such that the one-particle reduced density matrix associated to the many body wave function  $\psi_{N,0}$ 

$$\gamma_{N,0}^{(1)} := N \operatorname{Tr}_{2...N} |\psi_{N,0}\rangle \langle \psi_{N,0} |, \qquad (3)$$

Analysis of Fluctuations Around Non-linear Effective Dynamics

satisfies

$$\operatorname{Tr} \left| N^{-1} \gamma_{N,0}^{(1)} - |\varphi\rangle \langle \varphi| \right| \to 0 \qquad \text{as } N \to \infty \,, \tag{4}$$

where  $|\varphi\rangle\langle\varphi|$  denotes the orthogonal projection onto  $\varphi$ . From a physical point of view bosonic quantum states such that the one-particle reduced density matrix has an eigenvalue of order N in the limit of large N are models for *Bose-Einstein condensates*, as realized in experiments on low density cold gases since 20 years [1].

We recall that the expectation of a bounded one particle observable  $O^{(1)}$  on the many particle state described by  $\psi_{N,0}$  is given by  $\text{Tr}(\gamma_{N,0}^{(1)}O^{(1)})$ . Therefore whenever (4) occurs the knowledge of the condensate wave function is sufficient to determine the expectation of any bounded observable on the state described by  $\psi_{N,0}$  in the limit  $N \to \infty$ . Additionally, since property (4) for bosonic systems also implies that for any k = 2, 3, ..., N the *k*-particle reduced density matrix  $\gamma_{N,0}^{(k)} = {N \choose k} \text{Tr}_{k+1,...,N} |\psi_{N,0}\rangle \langle \psi_{N,0}|$  is given by a rank one projection onto  ${N \choose k} \varphi^{\otimes k}$ , we can also calculate the expectation of *any* bounded *k*-particle observable in the limit  $N \to \infty$ .

Now, let us start with an initial datum satisfying (4) and let the system evolve with the Hamiltonian (2). Due to the presence of the interaction we cannot expect (4) to hold at positive times. However one can show that this property remains approximately true in the limit of large *N*. Furthermore, one can derive an effective dynamics for the condensate wave function in the scaling regimes described by (2). More precisely one can prove (references will follow at the end of this section) that, for every family of initial data  $\psi_{N,0} \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^{3N})$  satisfying (4), the one-particle reduced density matrix  $\gamma_{N,t}^{(1)}$  corresponding to the evolved state  $\psi_{N,t} = e^{-itH_N^{(\beta)}}\psi_{N,0}$ (under suitable assumptions on the interacting potential) satisfies

$$\operatorname{Tr} \left| N^{-1} \gamma_{N,t}^{(1)} - |\varphi_t\rangle \langle \varphi_t | \right| \xrightarrow[N \to \infty]{} 0, \qquad (5)$$

with  $\varphi_t$  solution of a non linear Schrödinger equation with initial datum  $\varphi_0 = \varphi$ , whose precise form depends on  $\beta$ . In particular  $\varphi_t$  satisfies:

$$i\partial_t \varphi_t = -\Delta \varphi_t + (V \star |\varphi_t|^2) \varphi_t \qquad \text{if } \beta = 0, \qquad (6)$$

$$i\partial_t \varphi_t = -\Delta \varphi_t + (\int V) |\varphi_t|^2 \varphi_t \qquad \text{if } 0 < \beta < 1,$$
(7)

$$i\partial_t \varphi_t = -\Delta \varphi_t + 8\pi a_0 |\varphi_t|^2 \varphi_t \qquad \text{if } \beta = 1.$$
(8)

The parameter  $a_0$  appearing in (8) is the scattering length of the interaction *V*, *i.e.*  $8\pi a_0 = \int V(x)f(x)$  with f(x) the solution of the zero energy scattering equation

$$\left(-\Delta + \frac{1}{2}V\right)f = 0, \qquad f(x) \xrightarrow[x \to \infty]{} 1.$$
 (9)

From a physical point of view the scattering length  $a_0$  describes the low-energy scattering among particles, in the sense that two particles interacting through the potential *V*, when they are far apart, feel the other particle as a hard sphere with radius  $a_0$ .

The appearance of  $a_0$  in the effective equation (8) is a consequence of the fact that the many body Schrödinger evolution with Gross-Pitaevskii potential develops a singular correlation structure which varies on the same length scale of the potential. Heuristically this can be seen considering the evolution equation for the one-particle reduced density matrix

$$i\partial_t \gamma_{N,t}^{(1)} = \left[-\Delta, \gamma_{N,t}^{(1)}\right] + \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Tr}_2 \left[V_N(x_1 - x_2), \gamma_{N,t}^{(2)}\right].$$
(10)

To take into account correlations among the particles and the short scale structure they create in the marginal density  $\gamma_{N,t}^{(2)}$ , we may use the ansatz

$$N^{-1}\gamma_{N,t}^{(1)}(x_{1};x_{1}') = \varphi_{t}(x_{1})\varphi_{t}(x_{1}'),$$

$$\binom{N}{2}^{-1}\gamma_{N,t}^{(2)}(x_{1},x_{2};x_{1}',x_{2}') = f_{N}(x_{1}-x_{2})f_{N}(x_{1}'-x_{2}')\varphi_{t}(x_{1})\varphi_{t}(x_{2})\varphi_{t}(x_{1}')\varphi_{t}(x_{2}'),$$
(11)

with  $f_N(x) = f(Nx)$  the zero energy scattering function corresponding to the potential  $N^2V(Nx)$ . Then Eq. (8) arises from (10) as the self consistent equation for  $\varphi_t$ ; the coefficient in front of the non linearity is given by  $\int dx N^3 V(N(x)) f(Nx) = 8\pi a_0$ . Note that the ansatz (11) does not contradict complete condensation of the system at time t. On the contrary in the weak limit  $N \to \infty$  the function  $f_N$  converges to one, and therefore  $\gamma_{N,t}^{(2)}$  converges to  $|\varphi_t\rangle\langle\varphi_t|^{\otimes 2}$ .

This heuristics also explains why for  $0 < \beta < 1$  we get  $\int V$  instead of  $a_0$  in the effective equation for  $\varphi_t$ , starting from the ansatz (11). As shown for example in [7, Lemma 2.1] the potential  $N^{3\beta-1}V(N^{\beta}x)$  has scattering length of order  $N^{-1}$  for any choice of  $0 < \beta < 1$ , and the solution  $f_{N^{\beta}}(x)$  of the scattering equation with potential  $N^{3\beta-1}V(N^{\beta}x)$  satisfies the bound

$$(1-f_{N^{\beta}})(x) \le \frac{C}{N(|x|+N^{-\beta})} \quad \text{for } 0 < \beta < 1.$$
 (12)

Therefore the coefficient appearing in front of the non linearity in the self consistent equation for  $\varphi_t$ , obtained from (10) under the assumptions (11) with  $f_N(x)$  substituted by  $f_{N^\beta}(x)$ , is

$$\int dx N^{3\beta} V(N^{\beta} x) f_{N^{\beta}}(x) = \int V - c N^{\beta - 1}, \qquad (13)$$

which equals  $\int V$  in the limit  $N \to \infty$ , for any  $0 < \beta < 1$ . Thus  $\beta = 1$  is the only scaling for which the coefficient of the non linearity in the effective equation for  $\varphi_t$  is given by the scattering length of the unscaled potential *V*.
The rigourous derivation of the effective equation (6) (the *Hartree equation*), in the form presented in (5), has been first obtained by Spohn [36] for bounded potentials, and Erdős-Yau [2, 11] for singular potentials, analysing the BBGKY hierarchy for the density matrices. More recent approaches by Rodnianskii-Schlein [34] and Knowles-Pickl [23] also give the rate of convergence towards the Hartree dynamics. A derivation of the *Gross-Pitaevskii equation* (8) was obtained in a series of works [12, 14, 15] and later with an alternative approach in [30]. More recently, convergence towards the Gross-Pitaevskii dynamics with a precise rate of convergence has been obtained in [4]. The derivation of the non linear Schrödinger equation in the intermediate regimes  $0 < \beta < 1$  may be obtained with the same approaches, and it is in fact a simpler problem than the  $\beta = 1$  case (see for example [13, 30]; the proof in [4] could be also easily adapted to cover any  $\beta < 1$ ).

Beyond the approximation for the reduced density matrices, there is some interest in obtaining an approximation for the evolved *N*-particle wave function  $\psi_{N,t}$  in the appropriate Hilbert space norm. This corresponds to study fluctuations around the effective dynamics described by the non linear Schrödinger equation for the condensate wave function. Several results in this direction have been obtained in the mean field regime, starting from the pioneering works by Hepp and Ginibre-Velo [16, 22] and later in [3, 8, 9, 20, 21, 26, 27]. More recent results deal with the intermediate scalings with  $\beta > 0$ , see [7, 18, 19, 28, 29]. In particular, the result in [7] covers all  $\beta < 1$ . An analogous result for the Gross-Pitaevskii regime is up to now still open.

More generally, from a statical point of view, one would aim to completely construct the ground state wave function and study its excitation spectrum at least in the interesting limiting regimes described by (2) (and even more ambitiously in the thermodynamic limit). These goals have been partially achieved in the context of mean field bosons, where the ground state energy and excitation spectrum have been proved to be correctly described by the famous Bogoliubov approximation [10, 17, 25, 35] and the ground state has been fully constructed in the presence of an ultraviolet cutoff [31–33]. Up to now no similar results are available for any  $\beta > 0$ .<sup>1</sup> From this point of view studying the fluctuation dynamics for  $\beta > 0$  may also give some insight into the problem of approximating the ground state.

The aim of this contribution is to present the strategy used in [7] to obtain a norm approximation for the dynamics described by the Hamiltonian  $H_N^{(\beta)}$ , with  $0 < \beta < 1$ . This approximation is obtained for a special class of initial data in the Fock space. The choice of the initial data is a main point in our analysis, since in order to cover all  $\beta < 1$  we need to introduce a suitable correlation structure among particles. We will come back to the role of correlations in our analysis in the next sections.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Very recently, after the submission of this contribution, the validity of Bogoliubov prediction for the ground state energy and the low-lying excitation spectrum has been established for any  $\beta > 0$  [6].

#### 2 The Coherent State Approach

The strategy used in [7], also known as *coherent state approach*, was first introduced by Hepp in [22]. More recently it has been further developed in [34] and [4] to obtain the rate of the trace norm convergence in the mean field and Gross-Pitaevskii regimes respectively. The main idea of this approach is that even if the dynamics described by  $H_N^{(\beta)}$  preserves the particle number, it is convenient to represent our bosonic system in the Fock space, where we have the opportunity to consider a more general class of initial data than wave functions in  $L_s^2(\mathbb{R}^{3N})$ . The choice of the class of initial data crucially depends on the scaling of the potential. For this reason we first describe which choice turns out to be convenient in the mean field regime, and then present the physical and mathematical motivations leading to a different choice in the Gross-Pitaevskii regime. Before that, let us start with summarising the Fock space representation of a bosonic system.

#### Fock Space Representation

We represent our bosonic system in the bosonic Fock space

$$\mathscr{F} = \bigoplus_{n \ge 0} L_s^2(\mathbb{R}^{3n}) \,. \tag{14}$$

A state  $\Psi \in \mathscr{F}$  is therefore a sequence  $\Psi = \{\psi^{(n)}\}_{n \ge 0}$ , where  $\psi^{(0)} \in \mathbb{C}$  and  $\psi^{(n)} \in L^2_s(\mathbb{R}^{3n})$ . The space  $\mathscr{F}$  is a Hilbert space with respect to the inner product

$$\left\langle \Psi, \Phi \right\rangle = \overline{\psi^{(0)}} \varphi^{(0)} + \sum_{n \ge 1} \left\langle \psi^{(n)}, \varphi^{(n)} \right\rangle,\tag{15}$$

and each component of  $\Psi \in \mathscr{F}$  has a probabilistic interpretation, namely  $\|\psi^{(n)}\|_2^2$  is the probability of having *n* particle in the state described by  $\psi$ . Clearly we are interested in states where  $\sum_{n\geq 0} \|\psi^{(n)}\|_2^2 = 1$ . The number of particles operator is defined requiring that

$$(\mathscr{N}\Psi)^{(n)} = n\psi^{(n)}, \qquad (16)$$

and therefore the expected number of particles in a state  $\Psi \in \mathscr{F}$  is given by

$$\left\langle \Psi, \mathscr{N}\Psi \right\rangle = \sum_{n \ge 0} n \|\psi^{(n)}\|_2^2.$$
(17)

A state with exactly N particles is represented by a vector in  $\mathscr{F}$  where only the N-th component is non zero. A special example of such a state is the vacuum state with  $\Omega = \{1, 0, 0, \dots, 0\}$ , describing a state with no particles. More in general, given

a one-particle operator  $O^{(1)}$  the corresponding operator  $d\Gamma(O^{(1)})$  on  $\mathscr{F}$  (called *the* second quantization of  $O^{(1)}$ ) is defined by the requirement that

$$\left(d\Gamma(O^{(1)})\Psi\right)^{(n)} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} O_i^{(1)}\psi^{(n)}, \qquad (18)$$

where  $O_i^{(1)}$  denotes the operator acting on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^{3n})$  as  $O^{(1)}$  on the *i*-th particle and as the identity on the other (n-1) particles.

In order to define a time evolution on  $\mathscr{F}$  we introduce the Hamilton operator  $\mathscr{H}_{N}^{(\beta)}$ , which is defined through its action on vectors of  $\mathscr{F}$ :

$$(\mathscr{H}_{N}^{(\beta)}\Psi)^{(n)} = (H_{N}^{(\beta)})^{(n)}\psi^{(n)},$$
  

$$(H_{N}^{(\beta)})^{(n)} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} (-\Delta_{x_{i}}) + \sum_{i< j}^{n} N^{3\beta-1}V(N^{\beta}(x_{i}-x_{j})).$$
(19)

By definition the operator  $\mathscr{H}_N^{(\beta)}$  acts on states with a variable number of particles but leaves all sectors with fixed number of particles invariant. Note that the scaling parameter *N* in  $\mathscr{H}_N^{(\beta)}$  in general has nothing to do with the number of particles of the system (which is not fixed now). To recover the relevant scaling limits we are interested in, we will consider in the following the evolution of states with expected number of particle *N*.

Being the number of particles in  $\mathscr{F}$  not fixed, it is useful to introduce operators that create or annihilate a particle. For  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$  we define the creation operator  $a^*(f)$  and the annihilation operator a(f) by

$$\left(a^{*}(f)\Psi\right)^{(n)}(x_{1},\ldots,x_{n}) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{n}}\sum_{j=1}^{n}f(x_{j})\psi^{(n-1)}(x_{1},\ldots,x_{j},\ldots,x_{n}) \quad n \ge 1, \qquad (20)$$

$$\left(a(f)\Psi\right)^{(n)}(x_1,\ldots,x_n) = \sqrt{n+1} \int \mathrm{d}x \,\overline{f(x)}\psi^{(n+1)}(x,x_1,\ldots,x_n) \qquad n \ge 0\,, \quad (21)$$

and we set  $(a^*(f)\Psi)^{(0)} := 0$ . It is simply to check that  $a^*(f) = (a(f))^*$ , and that the following commutation relations hold:

$$[a(f), a^*(g)] = \langle f, g \rangle_{L^2}, \qquad [a(f), a(g)] = [a^*(f), a^*(g)] = 0.$$
(22)

We have  $a(f)\Omega = 0$ . The action of  $(a^*(f))^N$  on the vacuum generates a state with exactly N particles with wave function f, that is

$$(\sqrt{N!})^{-1}(a^*(f))^N = \{0, \dots, 0, f^{\otimes N}, 0, \dots\}.$$
(23)

We also introduce operator valued distribution  $a_x^*$  and  $a_x$ , defined by

$$a^*(f) = \int \mathrm{d}x f(x) a_x^*$$
, and  $a(f) = \int \mathrm{d}x \overline{f(x)} a_x$ , (24)

which formally creates or annihilates a particle in the point *x*. From (22) we have  $[a_x, a_y^*] = \delta_{x,y}$  and  $[a_x, a_y] = [a_x^*, a_y^*] = 0$ .

The second quantization of any (densely defined) self adjoint operator can be conveniently expressed by means of  $a_x^*$  and  $a_x$ , see e.g. [5, Sect. 3] and [24, Sect. 1.3]. The expressions for the particle number operator and the Hamiltonian are

$$\mathcal{N} = \int \mathrm{d}x a_x^* a_x \,, \tag{25}$$

and

$$\mathscr{H}_{N}^{(\beta)} = \int \mathrm{d}x \nabla_{x} a_{x}^{*} \nabla_{x} a_{x} + \frac{1}{2} \int \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}y N^{3\beta-1} V(N^{\beta}(x-y)) a_{x}^{*} a_{y}^{*} a_{x} a_{y}$$
(26)

respectively. The r. h. s. of (25) and (26) should be understood in the sense of forms; for example (25) means that for any  $\Psi, \Phi \in \mathscr{F}$  we have  $\langle \Psi, \mathscr{N}\Phi \rangle = \int dx \langle a_x \Psi, a_x \Phi \rangle$ .

Moreover, the kernel of the one-particle reduced density matrix  $\gamma^{(1)}$  associated to the state  $\Psi \in \mathscr{F}$  can be expressed as

$$\gamma^{(1)}(x;y) = \left\langle \Psi, a_x^* a_y \Psi \right\rangle. \tag{27}$$

The expression (25) for  $\mathcal{N}$  suggests that, although creation and annihilation operators are unbounded operators, they can be bounded with respect to the square root of the number of particles operator, in the sense that

$$\|a(f)\Psi\| \le \|f\|_2 \|\mathcal{N}^{1/2}\Psi\|$$
  
$$\|a^*(f)\Psi\| \le \|f\|_2 \|(\mathcal{N}+1)^{1/2}\Psi\|$$
(28)

for all  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ ,  $\Psi \in \mathscr{F}$ . Moreover, given a bounded one particle operator  $O^{(1)}$  on the  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$  space, its second quantization  $d\Gamma(O^{(1)})$ , although generally unbounded, is bounded with respect to the number of particles operator:

$$|\langle \Psi, d\Gamma(O^{(1)})\Psi \rangle| \le ||O^{(1)}|| \langle \Psi, \mathscr{N}\Psi \rangle, \quad \Psi \in \mathscr{F}.$$
(29)

Properties (28) and (29) will be essential for our analysis.

#### 2.1 Choice of the Class of Initial States in the Mean Field Regime

Our goal is to study the time evolution under  $\mathscr{H}_N^{(\beta)}$  of a suitable class of initial data in  $\mathscr{F}$  with expected number of particles *N* and one-particle reduced density matrix  $\gamma_{N,0}^{(1)}$  satisfying (4) for some  $\varphi \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ . In the mean field regime  $\beta = 0$  a natural choice is to consider as class of initial data the so called *coherent states*.

A coherent state with wave function  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$  is a linear combination of states with all possible number of particles, all described by the same wave function f. Such a state is built acting on the vacuum with the so called *Weyl operator* 

$$W(f) = \exp(a^*(f) - a(f)),$$
(30)

thus obtaining

$$W(f)\Omega = e^{-\|f\|^2/2} \left\{ 1, f, \frac{f^{\otimes 2}}{\sqrt{2!}}, \dots, \frac{f^{\otimes n}}{\sqrt{n!}}, \dots \right\} .$$
(31)

The Weyl operator is a unitary operator on  $\mathscr{F}$  which acts on the annihilation and creation operators as follows:

$$W^{*}(f) a_{x} W(f) = a_{x} + f(x)$$
  

$$W^{*}(f) a_{x}^{*} W(f) = a_{x}^{*} + \overline{f(x)}.$$
(32)

Since the expected particle number of the coherent state  $W(f)\Omega$  is equal to

$$\langle W(f)\Omega, \mathcal{N}W(f)\Omega \rangle = \|f\|_2^2,$$
(33)

a coherent state with expected particle number N is given by

$$W(\sqrt{N}\varphi)\Omega, \quad \|\varphi\|_2 = 1.$$
(34)

Using (32) it is also simple to check that the kernel of the one-particle density associated to  $W(\sqrt{N}\varphi)\Omega$  is

$$\gamma_N^{(1)}(x, y) = \left\langle W(\sqrt{N}\varphi)\Omega, a_x^* a_y W(\sqrt{N}\varphi)\Omega \right\rangle = N\overline{\varphi(x)}\varphi(y) \,. \tag{35}$$

For this class of initial data the following theorem was proven in [34], in the mean field regime.

**Theorem 1** Let V be a measurable function, satisfying the operator inequality  $V^2(x) \leq C(1-\Delta)$  for some C > 0 and let  $\varphi \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^3)$ . Let  $\gamma_{N,t}^{(1)}$  be the one-particle reduced density associated with

$$\Psi_{N,t} = e^{-it\mathscr{H}_N^{(0)}} W(\sqrt{N}\varphi)\Omega$$

Then, there exist constants D, k > 0 s.t.

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left|\gamma_{N,t}^{(1)} - N|\varphi_t\rangle\langle\varphi_t|\right| \le De^{k|t|}$$

for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  and all  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ , with  $\varphi_t$  satisfying (6) with initial data  $\varphi_0 = \varphi$ .

*Remark 1* Note that the assumptions on *V* in Theorem 1 include the Coulomb case  $V(x) = \pm 1/|x|$ .

The strategy to prove Theorem 1 is to define a unitary operator  $U_N(t)$  through the requirement:

$$\Psi_{N,t} = e^{-it\mathscr{H}_N^{(0)}} W(\sqrt{N}\varphi)\Omega := W(\sqrt{N}\varphi_t)U_N(t)\Omega.$$
(36)

Note that if  $U_N(t)$  was the identity operator, than the evolution of  $W(\sqrt{N}\varphi)\Omega$  under the mean field Hamiltonian would be exactly a coherent state with evolved wave function  $\varphi_t$ . In this sense the vector  $U_N(t)\Omega$  is a fluctuation vector and

$$U_N(t) = W^*(\sqrt{N}\varphi_t)e^{-it\mathscr{H}_N^{(0)}}W(\sqrt{N}\varphi).$$
(37)

can be interpreted as a fluctuation dynamics. Using the definition (36) we can write the kernel of the one particle reduced density matrix associated to the evolved state  $\Psi_{N,t}$  as follows

$$\gamma_{N,t}^{(1)}(x,y) = \left\langle U_N(t)\Omega, W^*(\sqrt{N}\varphi)a_x^*a_yW(\sqrt{N}\varphi)U_N(t)\Omega \right\rangle.$$
(38)

For any compact one-particle observable  $O^{(1)}$  on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$  one has

$$\operatorname{Tr} O^{(1)}\left(\gamma_{N,t}^{(1)} - N|\varphi_t\rangle\langle\varphi_t|\right) = \sqrt{N}\left\langle U_N(t)\Omega, \left[a^*(O^{(1)}\varphi_t) + a(O^{(1)}\varphi_t)\right]U_N(t)\Omega\right\rangle + \left\langle U_N(t)\Omega, d\Gamma(O^{(1)})U_N(t)\Omega\right\rangle,$$
(39)

with  $d\Gamma(O^{(1)})$  defined in (18). Using (28) and (29) we have

$$\left|\operatorname{Tr} O^{(1)}\left(\gamma_{N,t}^{(1)} - N|\varphi_t\rangle\langle\varphi_t|\right)\right| \le \sqrt{N}\left\langle U_N(t)\Omega, (\mathcal{N}+1)U_N(t)\Omega\right\rangle.$$
(40)

Since the space of trace class operators on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ , equipped with the trace norm, is the dual of the space of compact operators, equipped with the operator norm, the

proof of Theorem 1 ends up with controlling the r.h.s. of (40). In particular, to get a bound on the rate of the convergence of the many body evolution towards the mean field dynamics proportional to  $\sqrt{N}$  it is enough to show that the number of particles with respect to the fluctuation dynamics  $U_N(t)$  grows uniformly in N. To this aim we compute

$$i\partial_t \langle U_N(t)\Omega, \mathcal{N} U_N(t)\Omega \rangle = \langle U_N(t)\Omega, [\mathcal{L}_N^{(0)}(t), \mathcal{N}] U_N(t)\Omega \rangle, \qquad (41)$$

with

$$\mathscr{L}_{N}^{(0)}(t) = \left(i\partial_{t}W^{*}(\sqrt{N}\varphi_{t})\right)W(\sqrt{N}\varphi_{t}) + W^{*}(\sqrt{N}\varphi_{t})\mathscr{H}_{N}^{(0)}W(\sqrt{N}\varphi_{t}).$$
(42)

the generator of the fluctuation dynamics  $U_N(t)$ . In contrast with the original Hamiltonian,  $\mathscr{L}_N^{(0)}(t)$  contains terms which do not commute with  $\mathscr{N}$ . As a consequence, the expectation of  $\mathscr{N}$  is not preserved along the evolution of  $U_N$ , that is fluctuations are going to grow. However, under the assumption on the regularity of the potential stated in Theorem 1 it can be shown that

$$\pm \left[\mathscr{L}_{N}^{(0)}(t), \mathscr{N}\right] \le C(\mathscr{N}+1).$$
(43)

Using a Gronwall lemma, we obtain that  $\langle U_N(t)\Omega, (\mathcal{N}+1)U_N(t)\Omega \rangle$  is bounded uniformly in N. The fact that  $\varphi_t$  should satisfy the Hartree equation (6) arises quite naturally, because this is the condition to be imposed in order to cancel some terms of order  $\sqrt{N}$  in the generator which are linear in  $a_x^*$  and  $a_x$  and therefore do not commute with  $\mathcal{N}$ . Some more work is needed to get the (optimal) rate of convergence in Theorem 1 rather than the factor  $\sqrt{N}$  in (40), but this issue is not relevant for the aim of this contribution.

#### 2.2 Choice of the Class of Initial States in the Gross-Pitaevskii Regime

We consider now the Gross-Pitaevskii regime  $\beta = 1$ . To get the trace norm convergence result in this regime, the initial data (34) has to be suitably modified to take into account correlations among particles, that play now a crucial role. In fact the Gross-Pitaevskii evolution develops singular correlations which are not captured by an approximation given in terms of coherent states.

From the mathematical point of view this reflects into the fact that we cannot approximate the evolution of the class of coherent states (34) under  $\mathscr{H}_N^{(GP)} := \mathscr{H}_N^{(1)}$  with a new coherent state with evolved wave function given by the Gross-Pitaevskii equation (8). If we defined the fluctuation dynamics

$$\tilde{U}_N(t) = W^*(\sqrt{N}\varphi_t)e^{-it\mathscr{H}_N^{(GP)}}W(\sqrt{N}\varphi), \qquad (44)$$

analogously to what was done in the mean field regime, then the number of fluctuations  $\langle \tilde{U}_N(t)\Omega, \mathcal{N}\tilde{U}_N(t)\Omega \rangle$  would grow with *N*. In fact the generator of the dynamics  $\tilde{U}_N(t)$  contains some linear and quadratic terms in the annihilation and creation operators whose commutator with  $\mathcal{N}$  cannot be bounded uniformly in *N*.

The idea used in [4] to implement the appropriate correlation structure in the Fock space is to define the correlation kernel

$$k_t(x, y) = -N\omega(N(x - y)\varphi_t^N(x)\varphi_t^N(y)), \qquad (45)$$

with  $\omega(x) = 1 - f(x)$ , f(x) the solution of the zero energy scattering equation (9), and  $\varphi_t^N$  the solution of the following modified Gross-Pitaevskii equation<sup>2</sup>:

$$i\partial_t \varphi_t^N = -\Delta \varphi_t^N + \left( N^3 V(N \cdot) f(N \cdot) \star |\varphi_t^N|^2 \right) \varphi_t^N.$$
(46)

It is simple to check that the function  $\omega(x)$  satisfies the bound  $N\omega(Nx) \leq C(|x| + 1/N)^{-1}$  and  $k_t$  is the kernel of an Hilbert-Schmidt operator. In the following we identify the function  $k_t \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{R}^3)$  with the operator having  $k_t$  as its integral kernel. Using  $k_t$  we define a unitary operator  $T(k_t)$  acting on the Fock space  $\mathscr{F}$  by

$$T(k_t) = e^{\frac{1}{2} \int dx dy (k_t(x,y) a_x^* a_y^* - \overline{k}_t(x,y) a_x a_y)}.$$
(47)

The action of  $T(k_t)$  on the creation and annihilation operators can be explicitly computed. For any  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$  we have (see [4, Lemma 2.3])

$$T^{*}(k_{t}) a(f)T(k_{t}) = a(\cosh_{k_{t}}(f)) + a^{*}(\sinh_{k_{t}}(\bar{f}))$$
$$T^{*}(k_{t}) a^{*}(f)T(k_{t}) = a^{*}(\cosh_{k_{t}}(f)) + a(\sinh_{k_{t}}(\bar{f})),$$

where we used the notation  $\cosh_{k_t}$  and  $\sinh_{k_t}$  for the linear operators on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$  given by

$$\cosh_{k_{t}} = \sum_{n \ge 0} \frac{1}{(2n)!} (k_{t} \overline{k}_{t})^{n}, \qquad \sinh_{k_{t}} = \sum_{n \ge 0} \frac{1}{(2n+1)!} (k_{t} \overline{k}_{t})^{n} k_{t}, \qquad (48)$$

where products of  $k_t$  and  $\bar{k}_t$  have to be understood as products of operators. We now use the unitary operator  $T(k_t)$  to approximate the correlation structure developed by the many-body evolution. To this aim, we consider the evolution of initial data

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The choice of using the solution of the modified Gross-Pitaevskii equation (46) rather than the solution of Eq. (8) is due to technical reasons; however note that in the limit  $N \rightarrow \infty$  the solution of (46) approaches the solution of (8), as shown in [4, Proposition 3.1]. Despite the operators  $k_t$  being N-dependent we do not put an extra N-index to keep the notation light.

Analysis of Fluctuations Around Non-linear Effective Dynamics

having the form

$$\Psi_{N,0} = W(\sqrt{N}\varphi)T(k_0)\Omega.$$
<sup>(49)</sup>

Initial data given by Eq. (49), known as *squeezed coherent states*, are a natural class of initial data approximating the ground state of Bose-Einstein condensates trapped in a volume of order one. In fact they have expected particle number  $N + ||k_t||_2$  (with  $||k_t||$  of order one) and energy equal at leading order to ground state energy for trapped bosons in the Gross-Pitaevskii regime, see [5, Appendix A]. From a physical point of view a good approximation for the ground state energy of a system of N bosons is believed to be of the form  $\varphi^{\otimes N} \prod_{i < j} f(N(x_i - x_j))$ . Then, the class of states  $W(\sqrt{N}\varphi)T(k_0)\Omega \in \mathscr{F}$  captures some of the correlations which are believed to truly appear in the ground state of dilute bosonic systems.

The trace norm convergence result in the Gross-Pitaevskii regime is obtained studying the dynamics of states of the form  $\Psi_{N,0} = W(\sqrt{N}\varphi)T(k_0)\Omega$  under the Gross-Pitaevskii Hamiltonian  $\mathscr{H}_N^{(GP)}$ . The fluctuation operator  $\mathscr{U}_N(t)$  is defined through the requirement that the many body evolution preserves the form of the initial data, up for the evolution of  $\varphi$  into  $\varphi_t^N$ , that is

$$\Psi_{N,t} = e^{-it\mathscr{H}_N^{(GP)}} W(\sqrt{N}\varphi) T(k_0) \Omega := W(\sqrt{N}\varphi_t^N) T(k_t) \mathscr{U}_N(t) \Omega .$$
(50)

If  $\mathscr{U}_N(t)$  was the identity operator then the evolution of a state of the form (49) would be a state of the same type with evolved condensate wave function  $\varphi_t^N$  given by the modified Gross-Pitaevskii equation (46). In this sense  $\mathscr{U}_N(t)\Omega$  is a fluctuation vector and we refer to  $\mathscr{U}_N(t)$  as a fluctuation dynamics. Using the definition (50) we can write the kernel of the one particle reduced density matrix associated to the evolved state  $\Psi_{N,t}$  as follows

$$\gamma_{N,t}^{(1)}(x,y) = \left\langle \mathscr{U}_N(t)\Omega, T^*(k_t)W^*(\sqrt{N}\varphi_t^N)a_x^*a_yW(\sqrt{N}\varphi_t^N)T(k_t)\mathscr{U}_N(t)\Omega \right\rangle,$$
(51)

with

$$\mathscr{U}_{N}(t) = T^{*}(k_{t})W^{*}(\sqrt{N}\varphi_{t}^{N})e^{-it\mathscr{H}_{N}^{(GP)}}W(\sqrt{N}\varphi)T(k_{0}).$$
(52)

The generator of the fluctuation dynamics  $\mathscr{U}_N(t)$  is given by

$$\mathcal{L}_{N}(t) = (i\partial_{t}T^{*}(k_{t}))T(k_{t})$$

$$+T^{*}(k_{t})\left[\left(i\partial_{t}W^{*}(\sqrt{N}\varphi_{t}^{N})\right)W(\sqrt{N}\varphi_{t}^{N}) + W^{*}(\sqrt{N}\varphi_{t}^{N})\mathcal{H}_{N}^{(GP)}W(\sqrt{N}\varphi_{t}^{N})\right]T(k_{t}),$$
(53)

where

$$T^*(k_t)W^*(\sqrt{N}\varphi_t^N)a_xW(\sqrt{N}\varphi_t^N)T(k_t) = \sqrt{N}\varphi_t^N(x) + a(c_x) + a^*(s_x)$$
  
$$T^*(k_t)W^*(\sqrt{N}\varphi_t^N)a_x^*W(\sqrt{N}\varphi_t^N)T(k_t) = \sqrt{N}\overline{\varphi_t^N(x)} + a^*(c_x) + a(s_x), \quad (54)$$

with  $c_x(z) = \cosh_{k_t}(z, x)$  and  $s_x(z) = \sinh_{k_t}(z, x)$ . Note that the action of the Bogoliubov transformation  $T(k_t)$  in Eq. (53) generates terms in  $\mathcal{L}_N(t)$  where the creation and annihilation operators are not in normal order (a product of creation and annihilation operators). When we use the commutation relations (22) to restore the normal order, this procedure generates some new linear and quadratic terms in the creation and annihilation operators, coming from the normal ordering of some cubic and quartic terms respectively. These terms, together with the fact that the correlations in the generator  $\mathcal{L}_N$  which are essential to control the growth of the number of fluctuations uniformly in N. In particular, the sum of the linear terms (which would be of order  $\sqrt{N}$ ) gives zero when  $\varphi_t^N$  is chosen to satisfy the effective equation (46). A second cancellation arises between some quadratic terms that are too singular in the Gross-Piteavskii regime. After these cancellations (see [4, Sect. 3] for details) we have

$$\pm \left[\mathscr{L}_{N}(t), \mathscr{N}\right] \le \mathscr{H}_{N} + c \mathscr{N}^{2} / N + C e^{k|t|} (\mathscr{N} + 1)$$
(55)

for some C, c, k > 0 independent on N and t. The time dependence on the r.h.s. of the last equation arises through high Sobolev norms of the solution  $\varphi_t$  of the Gross-Pitaevskii equation.

The bound (55) shows a further difference with respect to the strategy used to prove Theorem 1: in order to control the growth of the number of fluctuations  $\langle \mathcal{U}_N(t)\Omega, \mathcal{N}\mathcal{U}_N(t)\Omega \rangle$  in the Gross-Pitaevskii case we also need to control the growth of  $\mathcal{H}_N$ . To this aim, in a very similar way as used to prove (55) one can also obtain the bounds

$$\mathscr{L}_{N}(t) \leq \frac{3}{2} \mathscr{H}_{N} + c \mathscr{N}^{2}/N + c e^{k|t|} (\mathscr{N} + 1), \qquad (56)$$

$$\mathscr{L}_{N}(t) \geq \frac{1}{2} \mathscr{H}_{N} - c \mathscr{N}^{2} / N - c e^{k|t|} (\mathscr{N} + 1), \qquad (57)$$

$$\pm \dot{\mathscr{L}}_N(t) \le 2\,\mathscr{L}_N(t) + ce^{k|t|}(\mathscr{N} + 1 + \mathscr{N}^2/N)\,.$$
(58)

Moreover, it is easy to show that the number of fluctuations is just bounded by the total number of particles:

$$\left\langle \mathscr{U}_{N}(t)\Omega, (\mathscr{N}^{2}/N)\mathscr{U}_{N}(t)\Omega \right\rangle \leq \left\langle \mathscr{U}_{N}(t)\Omega, \mathscr{N}\mathscr{U}_{N}(t)\Omega \right\rangle + \left\langle \Omega, (\mathscr{N}^{2}/N)\Omega \right\rangle.$$
(59)

Using (55), (56), (58) and (59) one is able to close a Gronwall type estimate for the expectation

$$\left\langle \mathscr{U}_{N}(t)\Omega, \left( \mathscr{L}_{N}(t) + De^{k|t|}(\mathscr{N}+1) \right) \mathscr{U}_{N}(t)\Omega \right\rangle,$$
(60)

for some D > 0, and show that it remains bounded uniformly in *N*. We get finally the desired bound on the growth of  $\mathcal{N}$  observing that the lower bound (57) together with (59) implies

$$\langle U_N(t)\Omega, (2\mathscr{L}_N(t)+c_1e^{k|t|}(\mathscr{N}+1)) U_N(t)\Omega \rangle \geq \langle U_N(t)\Omega, \mathscr{H}_N U_N(t)\Omega \rangle \geq 0,$$

for some  $c_1 > 0$ . Since *D* can be chosen to be greater than  $(c_1 + 1)$ , the bound for (60) also implies that  $\langle U_N(t)\Omega, \mathcal{N}U_N(t)\Omega \rangle$  remains bounded uniformly in *N*. This allows to prove the following theorem, see [4].

**Theorem 2** Consider a non-negative and spherically symmetric potential  $V \in L^1 \cap L^3(\mathbb{R}^3, (1 + |x|^6)dx)$ . Let  $\varphi \in H^4(\mathbb{R}^3)$  and  $\Omega \in \mathscr{F}$  the vacuum state. Consider the family of initial data

$$\Psi_N = W(\sqrt{N}\varphi)T(k_0)\Omega ,$$

and denote by  $\gamma_{N,t}^{(1)}$  the one-particle reduced density matrix associated with the evolution  $\Psi_{N,t} = e^{-it\mathscr{H}_N^{(GP)}}\Psi_N$ . Then

$$\operatorname{Tr} \left| \gamma_{N,t}^{(1)} - N | \varphi_t \rangle \langle \varphi_t | \right| \le C N^{1/2} \exp(\exp(c|t|))$$

for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ . Here  $\varphi_t$  satisfies the Gross-Pitaevskii equation (8).

*Remark 2* Theorem 2 still holds if we substitute the vacuum state  $\Omega$  with a sequence of states  $\xi_N \in \mathscr{F}$  such that  $\|\xi_N\| = 1$  and  $\langle \xi_N, (\mathscr{H}_N^{(GP)} + \mathscr{N} + \mathscr{N}^2/N)\xi_N \rangle \leq C$ , for some C > 0 independent on N.

#### **3** Norm Approximation Result and Ideas of the Proof

We switch now to the problem of studying fluctuations around the effective dynamics described by (6), (7) or (8). The fact that the coherent state approach could also be used to describe fluctuations around the limiting equation has been first exploited in [16, 22, 34] in the mean field setting.

In [7] we follow the strategy used in [34], the main difference coming from the necessity of taking into account correlations among particles in the condensate. As discussed in the introduction, the many body evolution given by  $\mathcal{H}_N^{(\beta)}$  for  $0 < \beta < 1$  develops weaker correlations than in the Gross-Pitaevskii regime. This is the reason why the effective dynamics is described by the non linear Schrödinger equation (7), rather than the Gross-Pitaevskii equation (8). Anyway two body correlations are not negligible in the analysis of fluctuations. In fact, to get a norm approximation result valid for all  $\beta < 1$ , we need to introduce a correlation

structure, which is a suitable modification of the one defined in (45). More precisely, instead of working with the kernel defined in (45) we consider

$$k_{\ell,t}(x;y) = -N\omega_{N,\ell}(x-y)(\tilde{\varphi}_t^N((x+y)/2))^2.$$
(61)

Here  $\tilde{\varphi}_t^N$  is the solution of the *N*-dependent Schrödinger equation

$$i\partial_t \tilde{\varphi}_t^N = -\Delta \tilde{\varphi}_t^N + \left( N^{3\beta} V(N^\beta \cdot) f_{N,\ell} \star |\tilde{\varphi}_t^N|^2 \right) \tilde{\varphi}_t^N,$$
(62)

 $\omega_{N,\ell} = 1 - f_{N,\ell}$ , and  $f_{N,\ell}$  is the solution of the eigenvalue problem

$$\left[-\Delta + \frac{1}{2}N^{3\beta-1}V(N^{\beta}x)\right]f_{N,\ell}(x) = \lambda_{N,\ell}f_{N,\ell}(x)\chi(|x| \le \ell),$$
(63)

associated with the smallest possible eigenvalue  $\lambda_{N,\ell}$ , normalized so that  $f_{N,\ell} = 1$ for  $|x| = \ell$  and continued to  $\mathbb{R}^3$  by requiring that  $f_{N,\ell} = 1$  for all  $|x| \ge \ell$ . With this choice the kernel  $k_{\ell,t}(x; y) = 0$  for all  $|x-y| > \ell$ , that is we are considering particles correlated up to relative distance  $\ell$ . Note that, for all  $0 < \beta < 1$ , the solution  $\tilde{\varphi}_t^N$ of (62) approaches the solution of the non linear equation (7) as  $N \to \infty$ . However it furnishes a better approximation for the dynamics of the condensate wave function, since it contains the factor  $f_{N,\ell}$  which takes into account the correlations among the particles.

Using  $k_{\ell,t}$  we define the Bogoliubov transformation  $T(k_{\ell,t})$  through (47). For any  $0 < \beta < 1$  we consider the evolution of initial data of the form  $W(\sqrt{N}\varphi)T(k_{\ell,0})\Omega$ , defining the fluctuation dynamics:

$$\mathscr{U}_{\ell,N}(t) = T^*(k_{\ell,t})W^*(\sqrt{N}\tilde{\varphi}_t^N)e^{-it\mathscr{H}_N^{(\beta)}}W(\sqrt{N}\varphi)T(k_{\ell,0}), \qquad (64)$$

with  $\tilde{\varphi}_0^N = \varphi$ . The following result holds.

**Theorem 3** Let  $V \ge 0$ , smooth, spherically symmetric and compactly supported. Fix  $0 < \beta < 1$  and consider  $\mathscr{H}_N^{(\beta)}$  defined in (26). Let  $\tilde{\varphi}_t^N$  defined in (62) with  $\tilde{\varphi}_0^N = \varphi \in H^4(\mathbb{R}^3)$ . Fix  $\ell > 0$  and consider  $k_{\ell,t}$  defined in (61). Let  $\alpha = \min(\beta/2, (1 - \beta)/2)$ . Then there exist a unitary evolution  $\mathscr{U}_{2,N}(t)$  with a quadratic (in the creation and annihilation operators) generator and constants  $C, c_1, c_2 > 0$  such that

$$\| e^{-it\mathscr{H}_{N}^{(\beta)}} W(\sqrt{N}\varphi)T(k_{\ell,0})\Omega - e^{-i\int_{0}^{t}\eta_{N}(s)ds} W(\sqrt{N}\widetilde{\varphi}_{t}^{N})T(k_{\ell,t})\mathscr{U}_{2,N}(t)\Omega \|^{2} \leq CN^{-\alpha} e^{c_{1}\exp(c_{2}|t|)}$$
(65)

for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  and N large enough.

Theorem 3 still holds if we substitute the vacuum state  $\Omega$  with a sequence of states  $\xi_N \in \mathscr{F}$  such that  $\|\xi_N\| = 1$  and  $\langle \xi_N, (\mathscr{N}^2 + \mathscr{H}^2 + \mathscr{H}_N^{(\beta)}) \xi_N \rangle \leq C$ uniformly in *N*. Here  $\mathscr{H} = \int dx \nabla_x a_x^* \nabla_x a_x$  is the kinetic energy operator. It is also possible to approximate the dynamics of the fluctuations by a limiting evolution  $\mathscr{U}_{2,\infty}(t)$ , again with a quadratic generator, but now independent of *N*, as shown in [7, Prop. 2.1].

While we refer to [7] for a complete proof of Theorem 3, we briefly describe here the general strategy used there. The main idea is to identify a limiting fluctuation dynamics with a quadratic generator, and then apply it to obtain the norm bound for the many body dynamics of our class of initial data. The fact that this limiting dynamics may exist is suggested by the form of the generator  $\mathscr{L}_{\ell,N}(t)$  of the dynamics  $\mathscr{U}_{\ell,N}$ , where the cubic and quartic terms seem to vanish in the limit of large *N*. From (64) is apparent that, W(f) and  $T(k_{\ell,t})$  being unitary operators, the following proposition is sufficient to prove Theorem 3.

**Proposition 1** Let  $\mathcal{U}_{\ell,N}$  defined in (64), and  $\alpha = \min(\beta/2, (1-\beta)/2)$ . Then, there exist a unitary quadratic evolution  $\mathcal{U}_{2,N}$  and constants  $C, c_1, c_2 > 0$  such that, for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  and all N large enough,

$$\|\mathscr{U}_{\ell,N}(t;0)\Omega - e^{-i\int_0^t \eta_N(s)ds}\mathscr{U}_{2,N}(t;0)\Omega\| \le CN^{-\alpha}\exp(\exp(c_2|t|)).$$
(66)

The proposition follows from the fact that the generator  $\mathscr{L}_{\ell,N}(t)$  can be written as

$$\mathscr{L}_{\ell,N}(t) = \eta_N(t) + \mathscr{L}_{2,N}(t) + \mathscr{V}_N + \mathscr{E}_N(t), \qquad (67)$$

where  $\eta_N(t)$  is a phase,  $\mathscr{L}_{2,N}(t)$  is a quadratic generator,

$$\mathscr{V}_{N} = \frac{1}{2} \int dx dy N^{3\beta - 1} V(N^{\beta}(x - y)) a_{x}^{*} a_{y}^{*} a_{x} a_{y}$$
(68)

is the interaction, and  $\mathscr{E}_N(t)$  satisfies

$$\begin{aligned} |\langle \psi_1, \mathscr{E}_N(t)\psi_2\rangle| &\leq CN^{-\alpha} e^{K|t|} \Big[ \langle \psi_1, (\mathscr{K} + \mathscr{N} + 1)\psi_1 \rangle \\ &+ \langle \psi_2, (\mathscr{K}^2 + (\mathscr{N} + 1)^2)\psi_2 \rangle \Big] \end{aligned}$$
(69)

for all  $\psi_1, \psi_2 \in \mathscr{F}$ . To prove Proposition 1 we use that

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \| \mathscr{U}_{\ell,N}(t)\Omega - e^{-i\int_0^t \eta_N(s)\mathrm{d}s} \mathscr{U}_{2,N}(t)\Omega \|^2 
= 2\mathrm{Im} \left\langle \mathscr{U}_{\ell,N}\Omega, (\mathscr{L}_{\ell,N}(t) - \mathscr{L}_{2,N}(t) - \eta_N(t))e^{-i\int_0^t \eta_N(s)\mathrm{d}s} \mathscr{U}_{2,N}(t)\Omega \right\rangle, \quad (70)$$

with  $\mathscr{U}_{2,N}(t)$  the dynamics generated by  $\mathscr{L}_{2,N}(t)$ . The r.h.s. of (70) is controlled using (67) and (69):

$$\begin{split} |\langle \mathscr{U}_{\ell,N}(t)\Omega, (\mathscr{V}_{N} + \mathscr{E}_{N}(t))\mathscr{U}_{2,N}(t)\Omega \rangle| \\ &\leq CN^{-\alpha} e^{k|t|} \Big[ \langle \mathscr{U}_{\ell,N}(t)\Omega, (\mathscr{H}_{N} + \mathscr{N} + 1)\mathscr{U}_{\ell,N}(t)\Omega \rangle \\ &+ \langle \mathscr{U}_{2,N}(t)\Omega, (\mathscr{K}^{2} + \mathscr{N}^{2} + 1)\mathscr{U}_{2,N}(t)\Omega \rangle \Big]. \end{split}$$

$$(71)$$

The problem ends up in showing that the expectations appearing in the r.h.s. of (71) are all bounded uniformly in N. The growth of  $\mathcal{N}$  and  $\mathcal{H}_N$  with respect to the full dynamics  $\mathcal{U}_{\ell,N}$  are controlled by means of Gronwall type estimates for the expectation of  $\mathcal{N}$  and  $\mathcal{L}_{\ell,N}(t)$ , following the same strategy described at the end of Sect. 2 for the trace norm convergence result. The new issue here is that we also need to prove bounds for the growth of the expectation of  $\mathcal{N}^2$  and  $\mathcal{H}^2$  with respect to the dynamics generated by the quadratic part of the generator  $\mathcal{L}_{2,N}(t)$ . We prove that the quadratic generator  $\mathcal{L}_{2,N}(t)$  satisfies the bounds

$$\pm (\mathscr{L}_{2,N}(t) - \mathscr{K}) \leq Ce^{K|t|}(\mathscr{N} + 1), \qquad (\mathscr{L}_{2,N}(t) - \mathscr{K})^2 \leq Ce^{K|t|}(\mathscr{N} + 1)^2$$

$$\pm [\mathscr{N}, \mathscr{L}_{2,N}(t)] \leq Ce^{K|t|}(\mathscr{N} + 1), \qquad \pm [\mathscr{N}^2, \mathscr{L}_{2,N}(t)] \leq Ce^{K|t|}(\mathscr{N} + 1)^2$$

$$\pm \dot{\mathscr{L}}_{2,N}(t) \leq Ce^{K|t|}(\mathscr{N} + 1), \qquad |\dot{\mathscr{L}}_{2,N}(t)|^2 \leq Ce^{K|t|}(\mathscr{N} + 1)^2.$$

$$(72)$$

Using Gronwall's Lemma and the bounds in (72), we obtain

$$\langle \mathscr{U}_{2,N}(t;0)\Omega, \mathscr{N}^2 \mathscr{U}_{2,N}(t;0)\Omega \rangle \leq C \exp(c_1 \exp(c_2|t|)) \langle \Omega, (\mathscr{N}+1)^2 \Omega \rangle$$
  
 
$$\langle \mathscr{U}_{2,N}(t;0)\Omega, \mathscr{L}^2_{2,N}(t) \mathscr{U}_{2,N}(t;0)\Omega \rangle \leq C \exp(c_1 \exp(c_2|t|)) \langle \Omega, (\mathscr{K}+\mathscr{N}+1)^2 \Omega \rangle .$$

The last bounds, combined with the bound for  $(\mathscr{L}_{2,N}(t) - \mathscr{K})^2$ , also implies that

$$\langle \mathscr{U}_{2,N}(t;0)\Omega, \mathscr{K}^2 \, \mathscr{U}_{2,N}(t;0)\Omega \rangle \leq C \exp(c_1 \exp(c_2|t|)) \langle \Omega, (\mathscr{K}+\mathscr{N}+1)^2 \Omega \rangle.$$

Note that some of the bounds in (72) would not hold if we used the correlation structure defined in (45); this is the reason why we implemented correlations through the kernel defined in (61).

*Remark 3* In [7] we considered fluctuations around the non linear Schrödinger dynamics for initial states on the Fock space. For *N* particle initial data a more convenient approach to study fluctuations around the effective dynamics has been introduced in [26] in the mean field scaling. This approach was later exploited in [28, 29] to analyze fluctuations in the regimes up to  $\beta < 1/2$ . The major difficulty in the extension of these results to larger values of  $\beta$  is the introduction of correlations in the *N* particle approach proposed in [26].

#### 4 Conclusions and Open Problems

We reported on the proof of a norm approximation for the many-body dynamics described by (26) of a particular class of initial data in the Fock space which is a good candidate to describe the ground state of trapped bosons interacting with a pair potential of the form  $N^{3\beta-1}V(N^{\beta}x)$ , with  $0 < \beta < 1$ . In particular we showed that for any  $0 < \beta < 1$  one can approximate the fluctuation dynamics  $\mathscr{U}_{\ell,N}$  defined in (64) by a quadratic evolution in norm.

Instead of considering fluctuations of the time evolution around the time dependent non linear Schrödinger equation, it is also possible to approach the problem from a static point of view. To this end, one can trap the system in a finite volume (either by imposing boundary conditions or by turning on an external potential) and one can study the difference between the many-body ground state energy and the minimum of the energy functional

$$\mathscr{E}(\varphi) = \int \mathrm{d}x \Big[ |\nabla \varphi(x)|^2 + (\int V) |\varphi(x)|^4 \Big].$$
(73)

In this respect Theorem 3 suggests that a good approximation for the manybody ground state of the Hamiltonian  $\mathscr{H}_N^{(\beta)}$ , with  $0 < \beta < 1$ , may have the form  $W(\sqrt{N\varphi})S\Omega$ , where  $\varphi$  minimizes the energy functional (73) and *S* is the exponential of a quadratic expression, related to the limiting quadratic evolution. Similarly, a good approximation for low-lying excited states may be of the form  $W(\sqrt{N_0\varphi})Sa^*(g_1) \dots a^*(g_k)\Omega$ , for appropriate  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $N_0 = N - k$  and orbitals  $g_1, \dots, g_k$  orthogonal to  $\varphi$ . It would be very interesting to obtain a proof of the above mentioned conjectures.

Concerning the extension of our result to the Gross-Pitaevskii regime, new ideas are needed. In fact, if we follow the same strategy that we use for  $\beta < 1$ , it turns out that in the Gross-Pitaevskii regime one cannot approximate the fluctuation dynamics  $\mathscr{U}_{\ell,N}$  by a quadratic evolution in norm. In fact, although one can control their effect on the growth of the number of particles (needed to prove the trace norm convergence), the cubic and quartic components of the generator of  $\mathscr{U}_{\ell,N}$ are not negligible in the limit of large N as soon as  $\beta = 1$ . In other words the fluctuation dynamics of quasi-free states is not described by a quadratic generator. One may interpret this difficulty saying that the action of  $T(k_{\ell,0})$  is not sufficient to describe the correlation structure developed in the Gross-Pitaevskii regime with the precision needed to get a norm approximation result. In this perspective the analysis of the fluctuation dynamics around the Gross-Pitaevskii equation may be useful to get some information on the ground state wave function in this physically relevant regime. Vice versa some new results on the time-independent characterization of bosonic systems in the Gross-Pitaevskii regime may help the understanding of the dynamical properties of the system.

We hope to be able to address some of these problems in the next future.

#### References

- M.H. Anderson et al., Observation of Bose–Einstein condensation in a dilute atomic vapor. Science 269, 5221 (1995); C.C. Bradley et al., Evidence of Bose–Einstein condensation in an atomic gas with attractive interactions. Phys. Rev. Lett. 75 (1995); K.B. Davis et al., Bose– Einstein condensation in a gas of sodium atoms. Phys. Rev. Lett. 75, (1995)
- C. Bardos, F. Golse, N.J. Mauser, Weak coupling limit of the *N*-particle Schrödinger equation. Methods Appl. Anal. 2, 275–293 (2000)
- 3. G. Ben Arous, K. Kirkpatrick, B. Schlein, A central limit theorem in many-body quantum dynamics. Commun. Math. Phys. **321**, 371–417 (2013)
- 4. N. Benedikter, G. de Oliveira, B. Schlein: Quantitative derivation of the Gross-Pitaevskii equation. Commun. Pure Appl. Math. **68**(8), 1399–1482 (2015)
- 5. N. Benedikter, M. Porta, B. Schlein, *Effective Evolution Equations from Quantum Dynamics*. Springer, Berlin (2016)
- C. Boccato, C. Brennecke S. Cenatiempo, B. Schlein, The excitation spectrum of Bose gases interacting through singular potentials (2017). Preprint, arXiv:1704.04819
- C. Boccato, S. Cenatiempo, B. Schlein, Quantum many-body fluctuations around nonlinear Schrödinger dynamics. Ann. Henri Poincaré 18(1), 113–191 (2017)
- S. Buchholz, C. Saffirio, B. Schlein, Multivariate central limit theorem in quantum dynamics. J. Stat. Phys. 154, 113–152 (2014)
- X. Chen, Second order corrections to mean-field evolution for weakly interacting bosons in the case of three-body interactions. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 203, 455–497 (2012)
- J. Derezinski, M. Napiórkowski, Excitation spectrum of interacting bosons in the mean-field infinite-volume limit. Ann. Henri Poincaré 15(12), 2409–2439 (2014)
- L. Erdős, H.-T. Yau, Derivation of the nonlinear Schrödinger equation from a many-body Coulomb system. Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 5(6), 1169–1205 (2001)
- L. Erdős, B. Schlein, H.T. Yau, Derivation of the Gross-Pitaevskii hierarchy for the dynamics of Bose-Einstein condensate. Commun. Pure Appl. Math. 59(12) 1659–1741 (2006)
- 13. L. Erdős, B. Schlein, H.-T. Yau, Derivation of the cubic nonlinear Schrödinger equation from quantum dynamics of many-body systems. Inv. Math. **167**, 515–614 (2006)
- L. Erdős, B. Schlein, H.-T. Yau, Rigorous derivation of the Gross-Pitaevskii equation with a large interaction potential. J. Am. Math. Soc. 22, 1099–1156 (2009)
- L. Erdős, B. Schlein, H.-T. Yau, Derivation of the Gross-Pitaevskii equation for the dynamics of Bose-Einstein condensate. Ann. Math. (2) 172(1), 291–370 (2010)
- J. Ginibre, G. Velo, The classical field limit of scattering theory for nonrelativistic many-boson systems. I and II. Commun. Math. Phys. 66(1), 37–76 (1979) and 68(1), 45–68 (1979)
- P. Grech, R. Seiringer, The excitation spectrum for weakly interacting bosons in a trap. Commun. Math. Phys. **322**(2), 559–591 (2013)
- M. Grillakis, M. Machedon, Pair excitations and the mean field approximation of interacting bosons, I. Commun. Math. Phys. 324, 601–636 (2013)
- M. Grillakis, M. Machedon, Pair excitations and the mean field approximation of interacting bosons, II. Preprint. arXiv:1509.05911 (2015)
- M. Grillakis, M. Machedon, D. Margetis, Second-order corrections to mean-field evolution of weakly interacting bosons. I. Commun. Math. Phys. 294(1), 273–301 (2010)
- M. Grillakis, M. Machedon, D. Margetis, Second-order corrections to mean-field evolution of weakly interacting bosons. II. Adv. Math. 228(3), 1788–1815 (2011)
- 22. K. Hepp, The classical limit for quantum mechanical correlation functions. Commun. Math. Phys. **35**, 265–277 (1974)
- A. Knowles, P. Pickl, Mean-field dynamics: singular potentials and rate of convergence. Commun. Math. Phys. 298(1), 101–138 (2010)
- M. Lewin, Geometric methods for nonlinear many-body quantum systems J. Funct. Anal. 260(12), 3535–3595 (2011)

- M. Lewin, P.T. Nam, S. Serfaty, J.P. Solovej, Bogoliubov spectrum of interacting Bose gases. Commun. Pure Appl. Math. 68(3), 413–471 (2014)
- M. Lewin, P.T. Nam, B. Schlein, Fluctuations around Hartree states in the mean-field regime. Am. J. Math. 137(6), 1613–1650 (2015)
- D. Mitrouskas, S. Petrat, P. Pickl, Bogoliubov corrections and trace norm convergence for the Hartree dynamics. Preprint. arXiv: 1609.06264 (2016)
- P.T. Nam, M. Napiórkowski, Bogoliubov correction to the mean-field dynamics of interacting bosons (2015). Preprint, arXiv:1509.04631
- 29. P.T. Nam, M. Napiórkowski, A note on the validity of Bogoliubov correction to mean-field dynamics. J. Math. Pures Appl. (2017). Online first
- P. Pickl, Derivation of the time dependent Gross Pitaevskii equation with external fields. Rev. Math. Phys. 27(1), 1550003 (2015)
- A. Pizzo, Bose particles in a box I. A convergent expansion of the ground state of a three-modes Bogoliubov Hamiltonian. Preprint. arXiv:1511.07022 (2015)
- 32. A. Pizzo, Bose particles in a box II. A convergent expansion of the ground state of the Bogoliubov Hamiltonian in the mean field limiting regime. Preprint. arXiv:1511.07025 (2015)
- 33. A. Pizzo, Bose particles in a box III. A convergent expansion of the ground state of the Hamiltonian in the mean field limiting regime. Preprint. arXiv:1511.07026 (2015)
- I. Rodnianski, B. Schlein, Quantum fluctuations and rate of convergence towards mean-field dynamics. Commun. Math. Phys. 291(1), 31–61 (2009)
- 35. R. Seiringer, The excitation spectrum for weakly interacting bosons. Commun. Math. Phys. **306**, 565–578 (2011)
- H. Spohn, Kinetic equations from Hamiltonian dynamics: Markovian limits. Rev. Mod. Phys. 52(3), 569–615 (1980)

### Logarithmic Sobolev Inequalities for an Ideal Bose Gas

Fabio Cipriani

**Abstract** The aim of this work is to derive logarithmic Sobolev inequalities, with respect to the Fock vacuum state and for the second quantized Hamiltonian  $d\Gamma(H^{\Lambda} - \mu \mathbb{I})$  of an ideal Bose gas with Dirichlet boundary conditions in a finite volume  $\Lambda$ , from the free energy variation with respect to a Gibbs temperature state and from the monotonicity of the relative entropy. Hypercontractivity of the semigroup  $e^{-\beta d\Gamma(H^{\Lambda})}$  is also deduced.

**Keywords** Free energy • Gibbs state • Hypercontractivity • Ideal bose gas • Logarithmic sobolev inequality • Relative entropy

#### 1 Introduction

In the 1938 the mathematical physicist S.L. Sobolev proved the following inequality

$$\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\psi(x)|^p \, dx\right)^{2/p} \le c_n \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\nabla \psi(x)|^2 \, dx, \qquad \psi \in C^1_c(\mathbb{R}^n) \, ,$$

for  $n \ge 3$ ,  $p = \frac{2n}{n-2}$  and some constant  $c_n > 0$ . Due to the possible interpretation of the Dirichlet integral on the right hand side as an energy functional, their are of great use in mathematical physics and became such a basic tool of investigation in linear and nonlinear PDE, that is impossible to exaggerate their importance.

In Quantum Mechanics, Dirichlet integrals are the quadratic form of the Laplace operator  $H_0 := -\Delta$  that represent the kinetic energy observable of a finite system of particles and the use of the inequality above provides, among other things, classes of possibly unbounded potentials *V* whose quantum Hamiltonians  $H_0 + V$  are self-adjoint on the Lebesgue space  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n, dx)$ .

F. Cipriani (🖂)

Dipartimento di Matematica, Politecnico di Milano, Piazza Leonardo da Vinci 32, 20133 Milano, Italy

e-mail: fabio.cipriani@polimi.it

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2017

A. Michelangeli, G. Dell'Antonio (eds.), Advances in Quantum Mechanics, Springer INdAM Series 18, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-58904-6\_7

At a more fundamental level, E. Lieb recognized in the Sobolev inequalities an *uncertainty principle* which is one of the fundamental ingredients to prove the Stability of the Matter [8].

In 1976, L. Gross [7] proved the following Logarithmic Sobolev inequality for  $f \in C_c^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and  $||f||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n,\gamma)} = 1$ 

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \gamma(dx) |f(x)|^2 \log |f(x)|^2 \le \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \gamma(dx) |\nabla f(x)|^2$$

with respect to the Gaussian probability measure  $\gamma(dx) = (2\pi)^{-n/2} e^{-|x|^2/2} dx$ . He demonstrated that this inequality is an infinitesimal version of the Nelson's hypercontractivity

$$\|e^{-t\widetilde{H}}u\|_{L^4(\mathbb{R}^n,\gamma)} \le \|u\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n,\gamma)}, \qquad t > 0, \quad u \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n,\gamma)$$

of the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck semigroup  $e^{-t\widetilde{H}}$  generated by the ground state representation  $\widetilde{H}$  of the Hamiltonian  $H = \frac{1}{2}(-\Delta + |x|^2 - 1)$  of the quantum harmonic oscillator (see [10]).

A first key difference between SI and LSI is that in the latter, the constant in front the Gaussian Dirichlet integral is dimension independent. This fact allowed Gross to prove LSI on infinite dimensional Gaussian Banach spaces, providing a useful tool to infinite dimensional analysis.

Both E. Nelson and L. Gross were motivated in discovering their results by the problems of constructive Quantum Field Theory where hypercontractivity and logarithmic Sobolev inequalities provide sufficient compactness near the bottom of the spectrum of free Hamiltonians  $H_0$  to prove essential self-adjointness, lower semiboundedness, existence and finite degeneracy of the ground state as well its uniqueness in case of ergodicity, for interacting Hamiltonians  $H_0 + V$  (see [6, 9] and also [13, 14]).

Among the applications of infinite dimensional LSI to Mathematical Physics, we recall the work of E. Carlen and D. Stroock [3] on the extension of the Bakry-Emery criterion and its use to prove LSI for non product Gibbs measures for continuous spin systems as well as the work of D. Stroock and B. Zegarlinski [15] about the equivalence of LSI with the Dobrushin-Shlosman mixing condition for lattice gases with compact continuous spin space.

Later, E.B. Davies and B. Simon [5] discovered that families of LSI

$$\int_{X} dm |u|^{2} \log |u|^{2} \le \beta \mathscr{E}[u] + b(\beta), \qquad \beta > 0, \quad \|u\|_{L^{2}(X,\mu)} = 1$$

on a locally compact measured space  $(X, \mu)$ , are deeply connected with the ultracontractivity of the heat semigroup associated to the Dirichlet form  $\mathscr{E}$ , provided the local norm  $b(\beta)$  is not too singular as  $\beta$  goes to zero. This theory was subsequently used by E.B. Davies [D] to get sharp off diagonal bounds upon the

heat kernel of the Markovian semigroup generated by a Dirichlet form  $\mathscr{E}$  satisfying such logarithmic Sobolev inequality.

The first aim of this work is prove logarithmic Sobolev inequalities LSI( $\Lambda$ ), with respect to the Fock vacuum state  $\omega_F^{\Lambda}$  or measure  $\mu_F^{\Lambda}$ , for the second quantized Hamiltonian  $\beta d\Gamma (H^{\Lambda} - \mu \mathbb{I})$  (at fixed inverse temperature  $\beta > 0$  and activity  $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$ ) of a gas of non interacting identical particles obeying the Bose-Einstein statistics and confined in a bounded Euclidean domain where they are subject to Dirichlet boundary conditions.

Our second aim is to introduce a new approach to logarithmic Sobolev inequality based on two fundamental ideas of Quantum Statistical Mechanics, namely, the relation between *Helmholtz free energy*, *Gibbs states* and *relative entropy*, on one hand, and the *monotonicity of relative entropy*, on the other hand.

#### 2 Logarithmic Sobolev Inequalities for Ideal Bosons Gas in Finite Volume

To properly state the main result of the paper and introduce notations, we start to describe the framework of the work. For the standard fundamental result we will use, we refer to the standard classical monographies [2, 13].

Warning: Whenever a self-adjoint operator H is semi-bounded, to ease notation the expression  $(\psi, H\psi)$  will be denote the value of the lower semicontinuous quadratic form of H at an element  $\psi$  of its quadratic form domain.

Let  $\Lambda \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  be a bounded Euclidean domain and  $H^{\Lambda}$  be the Dirichlet-Laplacian operator on the complex Hilbert space  $\mathfrak{h}_{\Lambda} := L^2(\Lambda)$ , considered with respect to the Lebesgue measure on  $\Lambda$ , defined as the closure of  $-\Delta$  on the domain  $C_c^{\infty}(\Lambda)$ .

Denote by  $\mathfrak{F}(\mathfrak{h}_{\Lambda})$  the bosonic Fock space and by  $\mathfrak{U}(h_{\Lambda})$  the CCR algebra builded on  $\mathfrak{h}_{\Lambda}$ , when considered as a symplectic real vector space with the symplectic form

$$\sigma(f,g) := \operatorname{Im}(f,g)_{\mathfrak{h}_A}, \qquad f,g \in \mathfrak{h}_A.$$

The vacuum vector  $\Omega \in \mathfrak{F}(h_{\Lambda})$  is cyclic for  $\mathfrak{U}(h_{\Lambda})$  and defines on it the Fock vacuum state

$$\omega_F^{\Lambda}(A) := (\Omega, A\Omega)_{\mathfrak{h}_{\Lambda}}.$$

The annihilation and creation operators  $\{a(f), a^*(f) : f \in \mathfrak{h}_A\}$  define the selfadjoint field operators  $\{\Phi(f) : f \in \mathfrak{h}_A\}$ 

$$\Phi(f) := \frac{\overline{a(f) + a^*(f)}}{\sqrt{2}}$$

which give rise to the Weyl unitaries

$$W(f) := e^{i\Phi(f)}$$

that satisfy the Weyl's form of the Canonical Commutation Relation

$$W(f)W(g) = W(f+g)e^{-i\sigma(f,g)/2}, \qquad f,g \in \mathfrak{h}_A.$$

The subspace  $L^2_{\mathbb{R}}(\Lambda)$  of real functions is a Lagrangian submanifold of  $L^2(\Lambda)$  in the sense that the symplectic form vanishes identically so that the corresponding Weyl operators commute

$$W(f)W(g) = W(f+g) = W(g)W(f), \qquad f, g \in L^2_{\mathbb{R}}(\Lambda)$$

and the (double commutant) von Neumann algebra

$$\mathfrak{M}_{\Lambda} := \{ W(f) \in \mathscr{B}(\mathfrak{F}(\mathfrak{h}_{\Lambda})) : f \in L^{2}_{\mathbb{R}}(\Lambda) \}''$$

is abelian. By a fundamental theorem due to J. von Neumann,  $\mathfrak{M}_A$  is identical with the weak closure of the subspace of linear combinations of Weyl unitaries in the algebra of all bounded operators on the Fock space.

The Fock vacuum state  $\omega_F^A$  is normal on  $\mathfrak{M}_A$  so that the pair  $(\mathfrak{M}_A, \omega_F^A)$  can be realized as the abelian von Neumann algebra  $L^{\infty}(Q_A, \mu_F^A)$  of essentially bounded measurable functions on a suitable measurable space  $Q_A$ , endowed with a probability measure. The fundamental relation

$$\omega_F^{\Lambda}(W(f)) = \omega_F^{\Lambda}(e^{i\Phi(f)}) = e^{-\frac{1}{4}\|f\|^2}, \qquad f \in \mathfrak{h}_{\Lambda}$$

allow the identification of the system of self-adjoint operators  $\{\Phi(f) : f \in \mathfrak{h}_A^{\mathbb{R}}\}\$  as a Gaussian random field (or process)  $\{\phi(f) : f \in \mathfrak{h}_A^{\mathbb{R}}\}\$  on a Gaussian space  $(Q_\lambda, \mu_F^{\Lambda})$ , where the following relations hold true for  $f, g \in \mathfrak{h}_A^{\mathbb{R}}$ 

$$\omega_F^{\Lambda}(\Phi(f)\Phi(g)) = \int_{\mathcal{Q}_{\Lambda}} \phi(f)\phi(g) \, d\mu_F^{\Lambda} = \frac{1}{2} (f,g)_{\mathfrak{h}_{\Lambda}} = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Lambda} f(x)g(x) dx.$$

Under the Segal isomorphism, the complex Hilbert space  $L^2(Q_A, \mu_F^A)$  is identified with the Fock space  $\mathfrak{F}(\mathfrak{h}_A)$  and the constant function 1 on  $Q_A$  is identified or with the identity  $\mathbb{I}$  operator, when considered as the unit of  $L^{\infty}(Q_A, \mu_F^A)$ , or with the vacuum vector  $\Omega$ , when considered as an element of  $L^2(Q_A, \mu_F^A)$ .

We shall make use of the particular realization of the Gaussian random process where  $Q_A$  is the infinite product of the one-point compactification of the real line  $Q_A := \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} \dot{\mathbb{R}}$  and where the Gaussian measure  $\mu_F^A$  is the infinite product of copies of the Gaussian probability measure on  $\dot{\mathbb{R}}$ 

$$\gamma(dx) := \pi^{-\frac{1}{2}} e^{-x^2} dx.$$

Choosing an orthonormal basis  $\{f_n : n \ge 1\} \subset \mathfrak{h}_A^{\mathbb{R}}$ , the field operator  $\Phi(f_n)$  is identified with the multiplication operator  $\phi(f_n)$  on  $L^2(Q_A, \mu_F^A)$ 

$$(\phi(f_n)g)(x_1,\ldots)=x_ng(x_1,\ldots), \qquad (x_1,\ldots)\in Q_\Lambda, \qquad g\in L^2(Q_\Lambda,\mu_F^\Lambda).$$

Notice that, using the Segal isomorphism, the relative entropy  $H_{\mathfrak{M}_A}(\omega_1, \omega_2)$  of restrictions to the abelian von Neumann algebra  $\mathfrak{M}_A$  of states  $\omega_1$ ,  $\omega_2$  of the CCR algebra  $\mathfrak{U}(\mathfrak{h}_A)$ , appears as

$$H_{\mathfrak{M}_{\Lambda}}(\omega_{2},\omega_{1})=\int_{\mathcal{Q}_{\Lambda}}d\mu_{2}\ln\Bigl(\frac{d\mu_{2}}{d\mu_{1}}\Bigr)$$

in terms of the probability measures  $\mu_1$ ,  $\mu_2$  on  $Q_\Lambda$  representing  $\omega_1$ ,  $\omega_2$  restricted to  $\mathfrak{M}_\Lambda$ , provided  $\mu_2$  is absolutely continuous with respect to  $\mu_1$ .

We shall denote by

$$\omega_{\beta}^{\Lambda}(A) := \frac{\operatorname{Tr}\left(e^{-\beta K_{\mu}^{\Lambda}}A\right)}{\operatorname{Tr}\left(e^{-\beta K_{\mu}^{\Lambda}}\right)} \tag{1}$$

the Gibbs grand canonical equilibrium state, at inverse temperature  $\beta > 0$  and activity  $\mu < \inf \sigma(H^{\Lambda})$ , over the CCR algebra  $\mathfrak{U}(h_{\Lambda})$ , corresponding to the second quantization Hamiltonian  $K^{\Lambda}_{\mu} := d\Gamma(H^{\Lambda} - \mu\mathbb{I})$  on  $\mathfrak{F}(\mathfrak{h}_{\Lambda})$  of the one-particle Hamiltonian  $H^{\Lambda} - \mu\mathbb{I}$  on  $L^{2}(\Lambda)$  [2, 5.2.5]. Concerning the existence of the Gibbs state above, notice that, since  $\Lambda$  is bounded then  $e^{-\beta H^{\Lambda}}$  is trace class for any  $\beta > 0$ and consequently, by [2] Proposition 5.2.27,  $e^{-\beta K^{\Lambda}_{\mu}}$  is trace class too for any  $\beta > 0$ (and in fact for any real  $\mu$ ). We shall denote by  $N^{\Lambda} := d\Gamma(\mathbb{I})$  the number operator on  $\mathfrak{F}(\mathfrak{h}_{\Lambda})$ . For a unit vector  $\psi \in \mathfrak{F}(\mathfrak{h}_{\Lambda})$ , we shall denote by  $\omega_{\psi}$  the corresponding vector state on  $\mathfrak{U}(\mathfrak{h}_{\Lambda})$ , as well as its restriction to  $\mathfrak{M}_{\Lambda}$ .

The first step to the main result of the work is the following observation.

**Lemma 1 (Free Energy Variation, Gibbs State and Relative Entropy)** Denote by N the von Neumann algebra  $\mathscr{B}(\mathfrak{F}(\mathfrak{h}_{\Lambda}))$  of all bounded operators on the Fock space. On its normal state space  $N_{*,1}$ , identified with the space of nonnegative trace class operators  $\rho$  such that  $\operatorname{Tr}(\rho) = 1$  (called density matrices), define the energy functional

$$E: N_{*,1} \to [0, +\infty], \qquad E(\rho) := \operatorname{Tr}(\rho^{1/2} K^{\Lambda}_{\mu} \rho^{1/2}), \qquad \rho \in N_{*,1},$$

the von Neumann entropy functional

$$S_N: N_{*,1} \to [0, +\infty], \qquad S_N(\rho) := -\text{Tr}(\rho \ln \rho), \qquad \rho \in N_{*,1},$$

and the Helmholtz free energy functional at inverse temperature  $\beta > 0$ 

$$F_{\beta}: N_{*,1} \to [0, +\infty], \qquad F_{\beta}(\rho) := E(\rho) - \frac{1}{\beta}S(\rho), \qquad \rho \in N_{*,1}.$$

The free energy functional attains its minimum value  $F_{\beta}(\rho_{\beta}) = -\beta^{-1} \ln \operatorname{Tr} (e^{-\beta K_{\mu}^{\Lambda}})$ at the Gibbs state  $\omega_{\beta}^{\Lambda}$ , represented by the density matrix  $\rho_{\beta} := e^{-\beta K_{\mu}^{\Lambda}}/\operatorname{Tr} (e^{-\beta K_{\mu}^{\Lambda}})$ . Moreover, the variation of the free energy with respect to the Gibbs state, is proportional by  $\beta$ , to the relative entropy  $H_N$  of the states

$$0 \le H_N(\rho, \rho_\beta) = \beta(F(\rho) - F(\rho_\beta)), \qquad \rho \in N_{*,1}.$$
(2)

*Proof* We may assume that  $\beta = 1$  and that  $\text{Tr}(e^{-\beta K_{\mu}^{\Lambda}}) = 1$ . By the cyclicity of the trace

$$F_{1}(\rho_{1}) = E(\rho_{1}) - S_{N}(\rho_{1}) = \operatorname{Tr}(\rho_{1}^{1/2}K_{\mu}^{A}\rho_{1}^{1/2}) + \operatorname{Tr}(\rho_{1}\ln\rho_{1})$$
  
$$= -\operatorname{Tr}(\rho_{1}^{1/2}(\ln e^{-K_{\mu}^{A}})\rho_{1}^{1/2}) + \operatorname{Tr}(\rho_{1}\ln\rho_{1})$$
  
$$= -\operatorname{Tr}(\rho_{1}^{1/2}(\ln\rho_{1})\rho_{1}^{1/2}) + \operatorname{Tr}(\rho_{1}\ln\rho_{1})$$
  
$$= -\operatorname{Tr}(\rho_{1}\ln\rho_{1}) + \operatorname{Tr}(\rho_{1}\ln\rho_{1}) = 0$$

and, for all  $\rho \in N_{*,1}$ , by the definition of the relative entropy  $H_N$  (see [16]) we have

$$F_{1}(\rho) = E(\rho) - S_{N}(\rho) = \operatorname{Tr}(\rho^{1/2}K_{\mu}^{\Lambda}\rho^{1/2}) + \operatorname{Tr}(\rho \ln \rho)$$
  
=  $-\operatorname{Tr}(\rho^{1/2}(\ln \rho_{1})\rho^{1/2}) + \operatorname{Tr}(\rho \ln \rho)$   
=  $\operatorname{Tr}(\rho^{1/2}(\ln \rho - \ln \rho_{1})\rho^{1/2})$   
=  $H_{N}(\rho, \rho_{1})$ .

The second step in the proof of the our main result is the following fundamental property.

**Theorem 1 (Relative Entropy Monotonicity, [16] Theorem 4')** Let  $\omega_1, \omega_2$  be normal states on  $N := \mathscr{B}(\mathfrak{F}(\mathfrak{h}_A))$  and  $\omega'_1, \omega'_2$  their restriction to the von Neumann subalgebra  $\mathfrak{M}_A$ . Denoting by  $H_N$  and  $H_{\mathfrak{M}_A}$ , the relative entropy on N and  $\mathfrak{M}_A$ , respectively, one has

$$H_{\mathfrak{M}_{\Lambda}}(\omega_1',\omega_2') \le H_N(\omega_1,\omega_2).$$
(3)

More explicitly, if  $\rho_1$ ,  $\rho_2$  are the density matrices representing  $\omega_1$ ,  $\omega_2$  and  $\mu_1$ ,  $\mu_2$  are the probability measures on  $Q_A$  representing the restrictions  $\omega'_1$ ,  $\omega'_2$ , then one has

$$\int_{Q_{\Lambda}} d\mu_2 \left(\frac{d\mu_1}{d\mu_2}\right) \ln\left(\frac{d\mu_1}{d\mu_2}\right) \le \operatorname{Tr}\left(\rho_1^{1/2} (\ln \rho_1 - \ln \rho_2)\rho_1^{1/2}\right).$$
(4)

The following is the main result of the work.

**Theorem 2** Let  $\Lambda \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  be a bounded Euclidean domain and  $H^\Lambda$  be the Dirichlet-Laplacian operator on  $\mathfrak{h}_\Lambda := L^2(\Lambda)$ . Denote by  $K^\Lambda_\mu := d\Gamma(H^\Lambda - \mu \mathbb{I})$  its second quantization on the Fock space  $\mathfrak{F}(\mathfrak{h}_\Lambda)$ , with activity  $\mu < \inf \sigma(H^\Lambda)$ .

Then the following logarithmic Sobolev inequalities hold true for any  $\beta > 0$  and  $\|\psi\|_{\mathfrak{F}(\mathfrak{h}_A)} = 1$ 

$$H_{\mathfrak{M}_{\Lambda}}(\omega_{\psi},\omega_{F}^{\Lambda}) \leq \beta(\psi,K_{\mu}^{\Lambda}\psi) + \ln \operatorname{Tr} e^{-\beta K_{\mu}^{\Lambda}} + 4d(\beta,\mu)(\psi,N^{\Lambda}\psi) + d(\beta,\mu)$$
(5)

where  $z := e^{\beta\mu}$  and  $d(\beta, \mu) := \text{Tr}(ze^{-\beta H^{\Lambda}}(\mathbb{I} + ze^{-\beta H^{\Lambda}})^{-1})$ . In terms of the free energy of the system the inequality reads as follows

$$H_{\mathfrak{M}_{\Lambda}}(\omega_{\psi},\omega_{F}^{\Lambda}) \leq \beta(F(\omega_{\psi}) - F(\omega_{\beta}^{\Lambda})) + 4d(\beta,\mu)(\psi,N^{\Lambda}\psi) + d(\beta,\mu).$$
(6)

Notice that, when  $\mathfrak{M}_{\Lambda}$  is identified with  $L^{\infty}(Q_{\Lambda}, d\mu_{F}^{\Lambda})$ , we have

$$H_{\mathfrak{M}_{\Lambda}}(\omega_{\psi},\omega_{F}^{\Lambda}) = \int_{Q_{\Lambda}} d\mu_{F}^{\Lambda} |\psi|^{2} \ln |\psi|^{2}, \qquad \|\psi\|_{L^{2}(Q_{\Lambda},\mu_{F}^{\Lambda})} = 1$$

Notice also that, by a classical result [4, 1.9], the following bound holds true

$$d(\beta,\mu) \le z(1+ze^{-\beta\lambda_0})^{-1}(4\pi\beta)^{-d/2}|\Lambda|, \qquad \beta > 0.$$

*Proof* Denoting by  $\mu$  and  $\mu_{\beta}$  the probability measures on  $Q_{\Lambda}$  representing the restriction to  $\mathfrak{M}_{\Lambda} \simeq L^{\infty}(Q_{\Lambda}, \mu_{F})$  of the normal states represented by the density matrix  $\rho$  and  $\rho_{\beta}$ , by Uhlmann's monotonicity theorem [16] or Theorem 1 above, we have

$$H_{\mathfrak{M}_A}(\mu,\mu_\beta) \leq H_N(\rho,\rho_\beta), \qquad \rho \in N_{*,1}$$

so that, by Lemma 1 above, the following inequality holds true

$$H_{\mathfrak{M}_{\Lambda}}(\mu,\mu_{\beta}) \leq \beta(F(\rho) - F(\rho_{\beta})), \qquad \rho \in N_{*,1}.$$

The density matrix  $\rho_{\psi}$  representing a vector state  $\omega_{\psi}$  is the orthogonal projection onto the subspace generated by  $\psi$ . On it the von Neumann entropy vanishes  $S(\rho_{\psi}) = 0$  and the value of the energy functional is given by  $E(\rho_{\psi}) =$  Tr  $(\rho_{\psi}^{1/2} K_{\mu}^{\Lambda} \rho_{\psi}^{1/2}) = (\psi, K_{\mu}^{\Lambda} \psi)$  so that  $F(\rho_{\psi}) = \beta(\psi, K_{\mu}^{\Lambda} \psi)$ . Denoting by  $\mu_{\psi} = |\psi|^2 \cdot \mu_F$  the probability measure on  $Q_{\Lambda}$  representing the restriction to  $\mathfrak{M}_{\Lambda}$  of the state represented by  $\rho_{\psi}$ , we obtain the following logarithmic Sobolev inequality with respect to the Gaussian measure  $\mu_{\beta}$ 

$$H_{\mathfrak{M}_{\Lambda}}(\mu_{\psi},\mu_{\beta}) \leq \beta(\psi,K_{\mu}^{\Lambda}\psi) + \ln \operatorname{Tr}(e^{-\beta K_{\mu}^{\Lambda}}), \qquad \|\psi\|_{\mathfrak{F}(\mathfrak{h}_{\Lambda})} = 1$$

which can be written as

$$\int_{\mathcal{Q}_{\Lambda}} d\mu_{\psi} \ln\left(\frac{d\mu_{\psi}}{d\mu_{\beta}}\right) \leq \beta(\psi, K_{\mu}^{\Lambda}\psi) + \ln \operatorname{Tr}\left(e^{-\beta K_{\mu}^{\Lambda}}\right), \qquad \|\psi\|_{\mathfrak{F}(\mathfrak{h}_{\Lambda})} = 1$$

and as

$$\int_{Q_{\Lambda}} d\mu_{\beta} \left( \frac{d\mu_{\psi}}{d\mu_{\beta}} \right) \ln \left( \frac{d\mu_{\psi}}{d\mu_{\beta}} \right) \leq \beta(\psi, K_{\mu}^{\Lambda} \psi) + \ln \operatorname{Tr} \left( e^{-\beta K_{\mu}^{\Lambda}} \right), \qquad \|\psi\|_{\mathfrak{F}(\mathfrak{h}_{\Lambda})} = 1.$$

Since

$$\frac{d\mu_{\psi}}{d\mu_{\beta}} = |\psi|^2 \frac{d\mu_F^{\Lambda}}{d\mu_{\beta}}$$

we have, for  $\|\psi\|_{\mathfrak{F}(\mathfrak{h}_{\Lambda})} = 1$ ,

$$\int_{Q_{\Lambda}} d\mu_{F}^{\Lambda} \left(\frac{d\mu_{\beta}}{d\mu_{F}^{\Lambda}}\right) \left(\frac{d\mu_{\psi}}{d\mu_{\beta}}\right) \ln\left(\frac{d\mu_{\psi}}{d\mu_{\beta}}\right) \leq \beta(\psi, K_{\mu}^{\Lambda}\psi) + \ln \operatorname{Tr}\left(e^{-\beta K_{\mu}^{\Lambda}}\right) \\
\int_{Q_{\Lambda}} d\mu_{F}^{\Lambda} \left(\frac{d\mu_{\psi}}{d\mu_{F}^{\Lambda}}\right) \ln\left(\frac{d\mu_{\psi}}{d\mu_{F}^{\Lambda}}\right) \leq \beta(\psi, K_{\mu}^{\Lambda}\psi) + \ln \operatorname{Tr}\left(e^{-\beta K_{\mu}^{\Lambda}}\right) \\
\int_{Q_{\Lambda}} d\mu_{F}^{\Lambda} \left(\frac{d\mu_{\psi}}{d\mu_{F}^{\Lambda}}\right) \ln\left(\frac{d\mu_{\psi}}{d\mu_{F}^{\Lambda}}\frac{d\mu_{F}^{\Lambda}}{d\mu_{\beta}}\right) \leq \beta(\psi, K_{\mu}^{\Lambda}\psi) + \ln \operatorname{Tr}\left(e^{-\beta K_{\mu}^{\Lambda}}\right) \\
\int_{Q_{\Lambda}} d\mu_{F}^{\Lambda} |\psi|^{2} \ln\left(|\psi|^{2}\frac{d\mu_{F}^{\Lambda}}{d\mu_{\beta}}\right) \leq \beta(\psi, K_{\mu}^{\Lambda}\psi) + \ln \operatorname{Tr}\left(e^{-\beta K_{\mu}^{\Lambda}}\right) \\
\int_{Q_{\Lambda}} d\mu_{F}^{\Lambda} |\psi|^{2} \ln |\psi|^{2} \leq \beta(\psi, K_{\mu}^{\Lambda}\psi) + \ln \operatorname{Tr}\left(e^{-\beta K_{\mu}^{\Lambda}}\right) + \\
+ \int_{Q_{\Lambda}} d\mu_{F}^{\Lambda} |\psi|^{2} \ln\left(\frac{d\mu_{\beta}}{d\mu_{F}^{\Lambda}}\right)$$
(7)

provided we show that measure associated to the Gibbs state is absolutely continuous with respect to the one associated to the Fock vacuum state. Since  $e^{-\beta H^{\Lambda}}$  is trace class on  $\mathfrak{h}_{\Lambda}$ , by Proposition 5.2.7 and Theorem 5.2.8 in [2], the operator  $e^{-\beta K_{\mu}^{\Lambda}}$  is trace class over the Fock space  $\mathfrak{F}(\mathfrak{h}_{\Lambda})$  and the Gibbs grand canonical equilibrium state  $\omega_{\beta}^{\Lambda}$  is a gauge-invariant quasi-free state over the CCR algebra  $\mathfrak{U}(\mathfrak{h}_{\Lambda})$  with two-point function

$$\omega_{\beta}^{\Lambda}(a^{*}(f)a(g)) = (g, T_{\beta,\mu}^{\Lambda}f), \qquad f, g \in \mathfrak{h}_{\Lambda}$$

where  $T^{\Lambda}_{\beta,\mu} := ze^{-\beta H^{\Lambda}} (\mathbb{I} - ze^{-\beta H^{\Lambda}})^{-1}$  and  $z := e^{\beta\mu}$ . Since  $\omega_F^{\Lambda}(W(f)) = e^{-\frac{1}{4}\|f\|_{\mathfrak{h}^{\Lambda}}^2}$ , by Example 5.2.18 in [2] Example 5.2.18 we have that the two-point function of the Fock vacuum state vanishes identically so that the operator  $T^{\Lambda}_F$  defined by its two-point function vanishes too

$$0 = \omega_F^{\Lambda}(a^*(f)a(g)) =: (g, T_F^{\Lambda}f), \qquad f, g \in \mathfrak{h}_{\Lambda}.$$

Since  $T^{\Lambda}_{\beta,\mu} \leq z e^{-\beta H^{\Lambda}} (\mathbb{I} - z e^{-\beta \lambda_0})^{-1}$  then  $T^{\Lambda}_{\beta,\mu}$  is a trace class operator and

$$\sqrt{T^{\Lambda}_{eta,\mu}} - \sqrt{T^{\Lambda}_F} = \sqrt{T^{\Lambda}_{eta,\mu}}$$

is an Hilbert-Schmidt operator. By [1], main Theorem p. 285, the state  $\omega_{\beta}^{\Lambda}$  is quasiequivalent to the Fock vacuum state  $\omega_{F}^{\Lambda}$  in the sense that they have quasi-equivalent GNS representation and thus give rise to the same (abelian) von Neumann algebra  $\mathfrak{M}_{\Lambda}$  which can be identified with  $L^{\infty}(Q_{\Lambda}, \mu_{F}^{\Lambda})$ . We thus have the mutual absolute continuity of the Gaussian measures  $\mu_{\beta}^{\Lambda}$  and  $\mu_{F}^{\Lambda}$  on  $Q_{\Lambda}$  representing the states  $\omega_{\beta}^{\Lambda}$ and  $\omega_{F}^{\Lambda}$ . By [12], Theorem 3, the Radon-Nikodym derivative  $d\mu_{\beta}^{\Lambda}/d\mu_{F}^{\Lambda}$  is given by

$$\frac{d\mu_{\beta}^{\Lambda}}{d\mu_{F}^{\Lambda}}(f) = (\det(A))^{-1/2} \exp[(f, (\mathbb{I} - A^{-1})f)], \qquad f \in \mathfrak{h}_{\Lambda},$$

where

$$A := \frac{\mathbb{I} + z e^{-\beta H^{\Lambda}}}{\mathbb{I} - z e^{-\beta H^{\Lambda}}}, \qquad \mathbb{I} - A^{-1} = \mathbb{I} - \frac{\mathbb{I} - z e^{-\beta H^{\Lambda}}}{\mathbb{I} + z e^{-\beta H^{\Lambda}}} = \frac{2z e^{-\beta H^{\Lambda}}}{\mathbb{I} + z e^{-\beta H^{\Lambda}}},$$

provided we show that det A is well defined. In fact, since

$$0 \leq A - \mathbb{I} = \frac{2ze^{-\beta H^{\Lambda}}}{\mathbb{I} - ze^{-\beta H^{\Lambda}}} \leq \frac{2e^{\beta\mu}}{1 - e^{-\beta(\lambda_0 - \mu)}}e^{-\beta H^{\Lambda}}$$

the trace class property of  $e^{-\beta H^{\Lambda}}$  implies the same property for  $A - \mathbb{I}$  and then

$$\det A \leq e^{\operatorname{Tr}(A-\mathbb{I})} < +\infty.$$

In particular

$$\ln \frac{d\mu_{\beta}^{A}}{d\mu_{F}^{A}}(f) = -\frac{1}{2} \ln \det A + (f, (\mathbb{I} - A^{-1})f)$$
$$= -\frac{1}{2} \ln \det A + (f, 2ze^{-\beta H^{A}} (\mathbb{I} + ze^{-\beta H^{A}})^{-1}f).$$

Recall now that, in the model where the space  $Q_A$  of the Gaussian random process associated to  $\mathfrak{h}_A$  is identified with the infinite product of the one-point compactification of the real line  $Q_A := \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} \dot{\mathbb{R}}$ , the logarithm of the Radon-Nikodym derivative above is the random variable which associates to  $(x_1, x_2, \ldots) \in Q_A$  the value

$$\ln \frac{d\mu_{\beta}^{A}}{d\mu_{F}^{A}}(x_{1}, x_{2}, \dots) = -\frac{1}{2} \ln \det A + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} 2z e^{-\beta \lambda_{n}} (1 + z e^{-\beta \lambda_{n}})^{-1} x_{n}^{2}.$$

If we choose as a basis for  $\mathfrak{h}_A$  the normalized eigenfunctions  $\{f_n \in \mathfrak{h}_A : n \ge 1\}$ of  $H^A$  corresponding to the eigenvalues  $\{\lambda_n \in (0, +\infty) : n \ge 1\}$ ,  $H^A f_n = \lambda_n f_n$ , then the self-adjoint operator on the Fock space corresponding to the real random variable  $\ln d\mu_{\beta}^{A}/d\mu_{F}^{A}$  is given by

$$\ln \frac{d\mu_{\beta}^{\Lambda}}{d\mu_{F}^{\Lambda}} = -\frac{1}{2} \Big( \ln \det A \Big) \mathbb{I} + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} 2z e^{-\beta\lambda_{n}} (1 + z e^{-\beta\lambda_{n}})^{-1} \phi(f_{n})^{2}.$$

Since by [2] Lemma 5.2.12

$$\phi(f_n)^2 \le 2a^*(f_n)a(f_n) + \mathbb{I} = 2N(f_n) + \mathbb{I}$$

we have

$$\ln \frac{d\mu_{\beta}^{\Lambda}}{d\mu_{F}^{\Lambda}} \leq -\frac{1}{2} \Big( \ln \det A \Big) \mathbb{I} + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} 2z e^{-\beta\lambda_{n}} (1 + z e^{-\beta\lambda_{n}})^{-1} (2N(f_{n}) + \mathbb{I}).$$

Since moreover

$$\ln \det A = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \ln \left( \frac{1 + z e^{-\beta \lambda_n}}{1 - z e^{-\beta \lambda_n}} \right),$$

setting

$$b(\beta,\mu) := \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{2ze^{-\beta\lambda_n}}{1+ze^{-\beta\lambda_n}} + \frac{1}{2}\ln\left(1-\frac{2ze^{-\beta\lambda_n}}{1+ze^{-\beta\lambda_n}}\right)$$
$$c(\beta,\mu) := 4\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} ze^{-\beta\lambda_n}(1+ze^{-\beta\lambda_n})^{-1}$$

we have

$$\ln \frac{d\mu_{\beta}^{\Lambda}}{d\mu_{F}^{\Lambda}} \leq b(\beta,\mu)\mathbb{I} + c(\beta,\mu)N.$$

If  $d(\beta, \mu) := \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} z e^{-\beta \lambda_n} (1 + z e^{-\beta \lambda_n})^{-1}$  then  $b(\beta, \mu) \le d(\beta, \mu)$  and  $c(\beta, \mu) = 4d(\beta, \mu)$  so that

$$\ln \frac{d\mu_{\beta}^{\Lambda}}{d\mu_{F}^{\Lambda}} \le d(\beta,\mu)\mathbb{I} + 4d(\beta,\mu)N.$$
(8)

From the *intrinsic logarithmic Sobolev inequality* (2.8) for the operator  $K^A_{\mu}$  on the Gaussian space  $L^2(Q_A, \mu^A_F)$  obtained above, we have

$$\int_{Q_{\Lambda}} d\mu_F^{\Lambda} |\psi|^2 \ln |\psi|^2 \le \beta(\psi, K_{\mu}^{\Lambda}\psi) + \ln \operatorname{Tr} e^{-\beta K_{\mu}^{\Lambda}} + \int_{Q_{\Lambda}} d\mu_F^{\Lambda} |\psi|^2 \ln \frac{d\mu_{\beta}^{\Lambda}}{d\mu_F^{\Lambda}}$$
(9)

for  $\|\psi\|_{L^2(Q_A,\mu_E^A)} = 1$ , which, on the Fock space, reads as follows

$$H_{\mathfrak{M}_{\Lambda}}(\omega_{\psi},\omega_{F}^{\Lambda}) \leq \beta(\psi,K_{\mu}^{\Lambda}\psi) + \ln \operatorname{Tr} e^{-\beta K_{\mu}^{\Lambda}} + (\psi,\ln\frac{d\mu_{\beta}^{\Lambda}}{d\mu_{F}^{\Lambda}}\psi)$$
(10)

for  $\|\psi\|_{\mathfrak{F}(\mathfrak{h}_A)} = 1$ . By the bound (2.8) above we have the desired logarithmic Sobolev inequalities (2.5)

$$H_{\mathfrak{M}_{\Lambda}}(\omega_{\psi},\omega_{F}^{\Lambda}) \leq \beta(\psi,K_{\mu}^{\Lambda}\psi) + \ln \operatorname{Tr} e^{-\beta K_{\mu}^{\Lambda}} + 4d(\beta,\mu)(\psi,N^{\Lambda}\psi) + d(\beta,\mu)$$

for  $\|\psi\|_{\mathfrak{F}(\mathfrak{h}_A)} = 1$ .

**Corollary 1** There exists  $\beta_0 > 0$  depending on  $0 < \mu < \lambda_0$  such that the following logarithmic Sobolev inequalities hold true for all  $\beta \ge \beta_0$ 

$$H_{\mathfrak{M}_{\Lambda}}(\omega_{\psi},\mu_{F}^{\Lambda}) \leq \beta(\psi,d\Gamma(H^{\Lambda})\psi) + \ln \operatorname{Tr} e^{-\beta K_{\mu}^{\Lambda}} + z\operatorname{Tr}(e^{-\beta H^{\Lambda}}),$$
(11)

$$H_{\mathfrak{M}_{\Lambda}}(\omega_{\psi},\mu_{F}^{\Lambda}) \leq \beta(\psi,d\Gamma(H^{\Lambda})\psi) + \frac{z}{1-ze^{-\beta\lambda_{0}}}\mathrm{Tr}\left(e^{-\beta H^{\Lambda}}\right)$$
(12)

with  $\|\psi\|_{\mathfrak{F}(\mathfrak{h}_A)} = 1$ .

*Proof* Since  $K^{\Lambda}_{\mu} = d\Gamma(H^{\Lambda} - \mu \mathbb{I}) = d\Gamma(H^{\Lambda}) - \mu N$ , from the theorem above we have

$$H_{\mathfrak{M}_{\Lambda}}(\omega_{\psi},\omega_{F}^{\Lambda}) \leq \\ \leq \beta(\psi,d\Gamma(H_{\Lambda})\psi) + \ln \operatorname{Tr} e^{-\beta K_{\mu}^{\Lambda}} + d(\beta,\mu) + (4d(\beta,\mu) - \beta\mu)(\psi,N\psi)$$

for all  $\|\psi\|_{\mathfrak{F}(\mathfrak{h}_{\Lambda})} = 1$ . Since  $d(\beta, \mu) \leq z \operatorname{Tr} (e^{-\beta H^{\Lambda}})$  and  $d(\beta, \mu)$  is decreasing to 0 as  $\beta$  increase to  $+\infty$ , there exists  $\beta_0 > 0$  such that  $4d(\beta, \mu) - \beta\mu \leq 0$  for all  $\beta \geq \beta_0$  and we get (2.11). Finally, by Proposition 5.2.27 in [2] we have

$$\ln \operatorname{Tr} \left( e^{-\beta K_{\mu}^{\Lambda}} \right) \le z (1 - z e^{-\beta \lambda_0})^{-1} \operatorname{Tr} \left( e^{-\beta H^{\Lambda}} \right)$$

so that

$$\ln \operatorname{Tr} e^{-\beta K_{\mu}^{\Lambda}} + z \operatorname{Tr} \left( e^{-\beta H^{\Lambda}} \right) \leq [z + z(1 - ze^{-\beta \lambda_{0}})^{-1}] \operatorname{Tr} \left( e^{-\beta H^{\Lambda}} \right) \leq \frac{z}{1 - ze^{-\beta \lambda_{0}}} \operatorname{Tr} \left( e^{-\beta H^{\Lambda}} \right)$$

from which (2.12) follows.

**Corollary 2** The semigroup  $\{e^{-\beta d\Gamma(H^{\Lambda})} : \beta > 0\}$  is hypercontractive, i.e. it is Markovian in the sense that it is positivity preserving and contractive on  $L^{p}(Q_{\Lambda}, \mu_{F}^{\Lambda})$ for any  $p \in [0, +\infty]$  and  $e^{-\beta_{0}H^{\Lambda}}$  is bounded from  $L^{2}(Q_{\Lambda}, \mu_{F}^{\Lambda})$  to  $L^{4}(Q_{\Lambda}, \mu_{F}^{\Lambda})$ . In particular, the following logarithmic Sobolev inequality holds true for some  $\beta_{h} > \beta_{0}$ 

$$H_{\mathfrak{M}_{A}}(\omega_{\psi},\mu_{F}^{A}) \leq \beta_{h}(\psi,d\Gamma(H^{A})\psi), \qquad \|\psi\|_{\mathfrak{F}(\mathfrak{h}_{A})} = 1.$$
(13)

*Proof* Since  $\beta H^{\Lambda} \ge 0$  for all  $\beta > 0$ , then  $e^{-\beta d\Gamma(H^{\Lambda})} = d\Gamma(e^{-\beta H^{\Lambda}})$  is positive preserving (see [11]). Since, by construction,  $e^{-\beta d\Gamma(H^{\Lambda})}\Omega = \Omega$  for all  $\beta > 0$ , the semigroup is also contractive on  $\mathfrak{M}_{\Lambda} \simeq L^{\infty}(Q_{\Lambda}, \mu_{F}^{\Lambda})$ , hence Markovian.

Fix now  $0 < \mu < \lambda_0$  and consider the value  $\beta_0$  determined in Corollary 2. Since, by construction, the spectrum of  $d\Gamma(H^{\Lambda})$  is discrete,  $0 = \inf \sigma(d\Gamma(H^{\Lambda}))$  and the logarithmic Sobolev inequality (2.12) holds true, the stated results follow from Theorem 6.1.22 ii) in [5].

Acknowledgements This work has been supported by GREFI-GENCO INDAM Italy-CNRS France and MIUR PRIN 2012 Project No 2012TC7588-003.

#### References

- 1. H. Araki, S. Yamagami, On quasi-equivalence of quasifree states of canonical commutation relations. Publ. RIMS Kyoto Univ. **18**, 283–338 (1982)
- O. Bratteli, D.W. Robinson, "Operator algebras and Quantum Statistical Mechanics 2", 2nd edn. (Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York, 1996), 517 p.
- E. Carlen, D. Stroock, An Application of the Bakry-Emery Criterion to Infinite-Dimensional Diffusions. Séminaire de Probabilités, XX, 1984/85, Lecture Notes in Math., vol. 1204 (Springer, Berlin, 1986), pp. 341–348
- 4. E.B. Davies, Heat Kernels and Spectral Theory, vol. 92 (Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics, Cambridge, 1989)
- E.B. Davies, B. Simon, Ultracontractivity and the heat kernel for Schroedinger operators and Dirichlet Laplacians. J. Funct. Anal. 59, 335–395 (1984)
- 6. L. Gross, Existence and uniqueness of physical ground states. J. Funct. Anal. 10, 59-109 (1972)
- L. Gross, Hypercontractivity and logarithmic Sobolev inequalities for the Clifford–Dirichlet form. Duke Math. J. 42, 383–396 (1975)
- 8. E. Lieb, The stability of matter. Rev. Modern Phys. 48(4), 553-569 (1976)
- E. Nelson, A quartic interaction in two dimension, Mathematical theory of elementary particles (Proceedings of the Conference on the mathematical Theory of Elementary particles held at Hendicott House in Dedham, Mass., September 12–15, 1965), Roe Goodman and Irving E. Segal eds. (1966), 69–73
- 10. E. Nelson, The free Markov field. J. Funct. Anal. 12, 211-227 (1973)
- 11. I.E. Segal, Tensor algebras over Hilbert spaces I. Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 81, 106-134 (1956)
- I.E. Segal, Distributions in Hilbert space and canonical systems of operators. Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 88, 12–41 (1958)
- 13. B. Simon, "The  $P(\Phi)_2$  Euclidean (Quantum) Field Theory" (Princeton University Press, Princeton, New Jersey, 1974)
- B. Simon, R. Hoegh-Krohn, Hypercontractivity semigroups and two dimensional self-coupled Bose fields. J. Funct. Anal. 9, 121–180 (1972)
- 15. D. Stroock, B. Zegarlinski, The equivalence of Logarithmic Sobolev Inequality and the Dobrushin-Shlosmann mixing condition. Comm. Math. Phys. **144**, 303–323 (1992)
- H. Umegaki, Conditional expectation in an operator algebra. IV. Entropy and information. Kodai Math. Sem. Rep. 14, 59–85 (1962)

# Spherical Schrödinger Hamiltonians: Spectral Analysis and Time Decay

#### Luca Fanelli

Abstract In this survey, we review recent results concerning the canonical dispersive flow  $e^{itH}$  led by a Schrödinger Hamiltonian H. We study, in particular, how the time decay of space  $L^p$ -norms depends on the frequency localization of the initial datum with respect to the some suitable spherical expansion. A quite complete description of the phenomenon is given in terms of the eigenvalues and eigenfunctions of the restriction of H to the unit sphere, and a comparison with some uncertainty inequality is presented.

**Keywords** Dispersive estimates • Electromagnetic potentials • Schrödinger equation

#### 1 Introduction

For  $\psi = \psi(t, x) : \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{C}$ , let us consider the free Schrödinger equation

$$\partial_t \psi = i \Delta \psi, \qquad \psi(0, x) = \psi_0(x).$$
 (1)

Solving (1) with initial datum  $\psi_0(x) \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  is to find a wavefunction  $\psi \in \mathscr{C}^1(\mathbb{R}; L^2(\mathbb{R}^d))$  such that  $\widehat{\psi}(t, \xi) = e^{-it|\xi|^2} \widehat{\psi}_0(\xi)$ , the hat denoting the Fourier transform in the *x*-variable

$$\widehat{\psi}(t,\xi) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} e^{-itx\cdot\xi} \psi(t,x) \, dx$$

Computing the distributional Fourier transform of  $e^{-it|\xi|^2}$ , one finds that the unique solution to (1), in the above sense, is given by

$$\psi(t,x) = (4\pi i t)^{-\frac{d}{2}} e^{i\frac{|x|^2}{4t}} * \psi_0(x) = (4\pi i t)^{-\frac{d}{2}} e^{i\frac{|x|^2}{4t}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} e^{i\frac{xy}{2t}} e^{i\frac{|y|^2}{4t}} \psi_0(y) \, dy.$$
(2)

L. Fanelli (🖂)

e-mail: fanelli@mat.uniroma1.it

Dipartimento di Matematica, SAPIENZA Università di Roma, P. le Aldo Moro 5, 00185 Roma, Italy

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2017

A. Michelangeli, G. Dell'Antonio (eds.), Advances in Quantum Mechanics, Springer INdAM Series 18, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-58904-6\_8

From now on, we will denote by  $e^{it\Delta}$  the one-parameter flow on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  defined by formula (2), namely  $e^{it\Delta}\psi_0(\cdot) = \psi(t, \cdot)$ , being  $\psi$  as in (2). By Plancherel Theorem it follows that  $e^{it\Delta}$  is unitary on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , namely

$$\left\|e^{it\Delta}\psi_0(\cdot)\right\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)} = \left\|\psi_0\right\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)}, \qquad \forall t \in \mathbb{R}.$$
(3)

By (2), it also immediately follows that

$$\left\| e^{it\Delta} \psi_0(\cdot) \right\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)} \leq C|t|^{-\frac{d}{2}} \|\psi_0\|_{L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)}, \qquad \forall t \in \mathbb{R},$$
(4)

with a constant C > 0 independent on t and  $\psi_0$ . The last inequality, together with (3), gives by Riesz-Thorin the full list of *time decay estimates* for the free Schrödinger equation

$$\left\|e^{it\Delta}\psi_0(\cdot)\right\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^d)} \leq C|t|^{-d\left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p}\right)} \|\psi_0\|_{L^{p'}(\mathbb{R}^d)}, \qquad \forall t \in \mathbb{R}, \qquad \forall p \ge 2$$
(5)

where the constant *C* only depends on *p* and *d*. Inequalities (5) turn out to be a crucial tool in Scattering Theory and Nonlinear Analysis; in particular, a suitable time average of the same leads to the so called *Strichartz estimates* (see the standard reference [23]), which play a fundamental role both for fixed point results and as Restriction Theorems for the Fourier transform:

$$\left\| e^{it\Delta} \psi_0 \right\|_{L^q_t L^r_x} \le C \| \psi_0 \|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)}, \tag{6}$$

with 2/q = d/2 - d/r,  $q \ge 2$  and  $(q, r, d) \ne (2, \infty, 2)$ , and

$$\left\|e^{it\Delta}\psi_0(\cdot)\right\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^d)} := \left\|\left\|e^{it\Delta}\psi_0(\cdot)\right\|_{L^r(\mathbb{R}^d)}\right\|_{L^q(\mathbb{R})}$$

From now on, we point our attention on estimate (4) and try to give it a deeper insight. First of all, it is clear by (2) that a crucial role is played by the plane wave  $K(x, y) := e^{i\frac{xy}{2t}}$  which is uniformly bounded with respect to the *x*, *y* variables, for any fixed time  $t \neq 0$ , i.e.

$$\sup_{x,y \in \mathbb{R}^d} \left| e^{i\frac{x \cdot y}{2t}} \right| = 1 < \infty, \qquad \forall t \neq 0.$$
(7)

We stress that a completely analogous behavior occurs when one solves, for positive times, the Heat Equation

$$\partial_t u = \Delta u, \qquad u(0, x) = u_0(x) \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d),$$
(8)

since the solution is given by the convolution

$$u(t,x) = (4\pi t)^{-\frac{d}{2}} e^{\frac{-|x|^2}{4t}} * u_0(x), \qquad (t>0)$$
<sup>(9)</sup>

for all  $p \in [1, +\infty]$ . This shows that (8) satisfies the same a priori estimates (5) as equation (1). Notice that (1) and (8) enjoy the same scaling invariance: namely, if  $\psi$  and *u* solve (1) and (8), respectively, then the rescaled function  $\psi_{\lambda}$ ,  $u_{\lambda}$ , where

$$f_{\lambda}(t,x) := f\left(\frac{t}{\lambda^2}, \frac{x}{\lambda}\right) \qquad \lambda > 0.$$

solve the same equations as  $\psi$  and u, respectively, for any  $\lambda > 0$ . In addition, the Gaussian decay in (9) is much smoother than the oscillating character of the fundamental solution in (2), and leads to much stronger phenomena than the ones led by the dispersive flow  $e^{it\Delta}$ . Nevertheless, from the point of view of estimate (4) the behavior is the same for the flows  $e^{t\Delta}$ ,  $e^{it\Delta}$ , when t > 0. Our first question is the following:

## **A** is the time decay of the flows $e^{t\Delta}$ , $e^{it\Delta}$ related to the lowest frequency behavior of the corresponding fundamental solutions?

We now pass to a more precise analysis of the decay estimate in (4), to describe some additional phenomenon which is hidden in formula (2). To this aim, let us recall the *Jacobi-Anger* expansion of plane waves, which combined with the Addition Theorem for spherical harmonics (see for example [21, formula (4.8.3), p. 116] and [2, Corollary 1]) yields

$$e^{ix \cdot y} = (2\pi)^{d/2} \left( |x| |y| \right)^{-\frac{d-2}{2}} \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} i^{\ell} J_{\ell+\frac{d-2}{2}} \left( |x| |y| \right) \left( \sum_{m=1}^{m_{\ell}} Y_{\ell,m} \left( \frac{x}{|x|} \right) \overline{Y_{\ell,m} \left( \frac{y}{|y|} \right)} \right)$$
(10)

for all  $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^d$ . Here  $J_{\nu}$  denotes the  $\nu$ -th Bessel function of the first kind

$$J_{\nu}(t) = \left(\frac{t}{2}\right)^{\nu} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^{k}}{\Gamma(k+1)\Gamma(k+\nu+1)} \left(\frac{t}{2}\right)^{2k}$$

and the  $Y_{\ell,m}$  are usual spherical harmonics. Recalling that  $J_{\nu}(t) \sim t^{\nu}$ , for  $\nu \ge 0$ , as *t* goes to 0, we see that an additional time-decay, for *t* large is hidden in formula (2), in the term  $e^{i\frac{x\nu}{t}}$ . Roughly speaking, we expect that initial data localized at higher frequencies (with respect to the spherical harmonics expansion) decay polynomially faster along a Schrödinger evolution, in suitable topologies. This leads to our second question:

**B** how can the above described phenomenon be quantified, and how stable is it under lower-order perturbations?

Looking to identity (10), the presence of spherical harmonics and special functions gives the hint that the spherical laplacian is playing an important role in the description of the above mentioned phenomena. The aim of this survey is to describe this role, giving partial answers to the above questions and leaving some open problems, corroborated by some recent results.

#### 2 A Stationary Viewpoint: Hardy's Inequality

We devote a preliminary section to introduce an interesting stationary viewpoint of the above picture, related to some uncertainty inequalities. To this aim, we recall the well known *Hardy's inequality*:

$$\frac{(d-2)^2}{4} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{|\psi(x)|^2}{|x|^2} \, dx \le \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |\nabla \psi(x)|^2 \, dx, \qquad (d \ge 3)$$
(11)

which holds for any function  $\psi \in \dot{H}^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , being  $\dot{H}^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$  the completion of  $\mathscr{C}^{\infty}_c(\mathbb{R}^d)$  with respect to the seminorm

$$||f||^2_{\dot{H}^1(\mathbb{R}^d)} := \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |\nabla f|^2 \, dx$$

taking its quotient by the equivalence relation

$$f \sim g \text{ if } \exists c \in \mathbb{R} : f = g + c.$$

The constant in front of inequality (11) is sharp, and it is not attained on any function  $\psi$  for which the right-hand side is finite, as we see in a while. Inequality (11) can be rewritten in operator terms as

$$-\Delta - \frac{\lambda}{|x|^2} \ge 0, \qquad \forall \lambda \le \frac{(d-2)^2}{4} \qquad (d \ge 3). \tag{12}$$

This has to be interpreted in the sense of the associated quadratic form. The proof of (11) relies on the following fact: given a symmetric operator  $\mathscr{S}$  and a skew-symmetric operator  $\mathscr{A}$  on  $L^2$ , one can (formally) compute

$$0 \leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |(\mathscr{A} + \mathscr{S})\psi|^2 \, dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |\mathscr{A}\psi|^2 \, dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |\mathscr{S}\psi|^2 \, dx - \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \overline{\psi} \, [\mathscr{A}, \mathscr{S}] \, \psi \, dx,$$

where  $[\mathscr{A}, \mathscr{S}] = \mathscr{A}\mathscr{S} - \mathscr{S}\mathscr{A}$ . Then the choices

$$\mathscr{A} := \nabla, \qquad \mathscr{S} := \frac{d-2}{2} \frac{x}{|x|^2} \qquad \Rightarrow \qquad [\mathscr{A}, \mathscr{S}] = \frac{(d-2)^2}{2|x|^2}$$

immediately give (11) for functions  $\psi$  smooth enough, and a regularization argument completes the proof. Also notice the equality in (11) is attained when  $(\mathscr{A} + \mathscr{S})\psi \equiv 0$ , which yields the maximizing function  $\psi(x) = |x|^{1-\frac{d}{2}}$ , and we see that  $|\nabla \psi| \notin L^2$ , as mentioned above. In addition, one immediately realizes that, given  $\widetilde{\mathscr{A}} = \partial_r = \nabla \cdot \frac{x}{|x|}$ , then

$$[\widetilde{\mathscr{A}},\mathscr{S}] = [\mathscr{A},\mathscr{S}] = \frac{(d-2)^2}{2|x|^2},$$

which yields the more precise inequality

$$\frac{(d-2)^2}{4} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{|\psi(x)|^2}{|x|^2} dx \leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |\partial_r \psi(x)|^2 dx, \qquad (d \ge 3)$$
(13)

In other words, inequality (13) shows that the angular component of  $-\Delta$  is not playing a role in (11)–(12). To understand this fact, it is convenient to use spherical coordinates and write

$$\Delta = \partial_r^2 + \frac{d-1}{r} \partial_r + \frac{1}{r^2} \Delta_{\mathbb{S}^{d-1}},\tag{14}$$

being  $\Delta_{\mathbb{S}^{d-1}}$  the spherical laplacian, i.e. the Laplace-Beltrami operator on the (d-1)dimensional unit sphere. We recall that  $-\Delta_{\mathbb{S}^{d-1}}$  is a (positive) operator with compact inverse, hence it has purely point spectrum which accumulates at infinity, which is explicitly given by the set

$$\sigma\left(-\Delta_{\mathbb{S}^{d-1}}\right) = \sigma_{p}\left(-\Delta_{\mathbb{S}^{d-1}}\right) = \{\ell(\ell+d-2)\}_{\ell=0,1,2,\dots}.$$
(15)

Spherical harmonics  $\{Y_{\ell,m}\}$  are associated eigenfunctions, which form a complete orthonormal set in  $L^2(\mathbb{S}^{d-1})$ . Denoting by  $H_\ell$  the eigenspace associated to the  $\ell$ -th eigenvalue of  $-\Delta_{\mathbb{S}^{d-1}}$ , by  $D_\ell$  its algebraic dimension, and by  $H_{\ell,m}$  the space generated by  $Y_{\ell,m}$ , we have the well known decomposition

$$L^{2}(\mathbb{S}^{d-1}) = \bigoplus_{\substack{l \ge 0\\ 1 \le m \le D_{\ell}}} H_{\ell,m}$$

Therefore any function  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  has a (unique) expansion

$$\psi(x) = \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=1}^{D_{\ell}} \psi_{\ell,m}(r) Y_{\ell,m}(\omega) \qquad x = r\omega, \quad r := |x|$$
(16)

and moreover

$$\|f(r\omega)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{S}^{d-1})} = \sum_{\substack{\ell \ge 0\\ 1 \le m \le D_\ell}} |f_{\ell,m}|^2.$$

We can hence use (14) to write

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |\nabla \psi|^2 dx = -\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \overline{\psi} \Delta \psi dx \tag{17}$$
$$= \underbrace{-\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \overline{\psi} \left( \partial_r^2 \psi + \frac{d-1}{r} \partial_r \psi \right) dx}_{=:I} + \underbrace{\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{1}{|x|^2} \langle \psi, -\Delta_{\mathbb{S}^{d-1}} \psi \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{S}^{d-1})} dx}_{=:II}.$$

where the brackets  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{S}^{d-1})}$  denote the inner product in  $L^2(\mathbb{S}^{d-1})$ . Arguing as above we see that

$$I \ge \frac{(d-2)^2}{4} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{|\psi(x)|^2}{|x|^2} \, dx, \qquad (d \ge 3)$$

which is inequality (13). On the other hand, it follows by (15) that

$$H \ge 0$$
,

therefore no additional contribution to (11) is given by  $-\Delta_{\mathbb{S}^{d-1}}$ . Nevertheless, given  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^{d-1})$ , if  $\psi_{0,1} = 0$  in the expansion (16) (notice that  $H_{0,1}$  coincides with the space of  $L^2$ -radial functions), then by (15) it follows that

$$\langle \psi, -\Delta_{\mathbb{S}^{d-1}}\psi \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{S}^{d-1})} \ge (d-1) \|\psi(\omega)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{S}^{d-1})} \quad \text{if } \psi_{0,1} = 0$$

and inequality (13) improves:

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |\partial_r \psi(x)|^2 \, dx \ge \left(\frac{(d-2)^2}{4} + (d-1)\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{|\psi(x)|^2}{|x|^2} \, dx, \quad (d \ge 2) \quad \psi_{0,1} = 0.$$
(18)

Notice that the previous gives a non trivial 2D-inequality, holding on functions  $\psi$  which are orthogonal to  $L^2$ -radial functions. More in general, given  $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , let

$$\ell_0 := \min\{\ell \in \mathbb{N} \text{ such that } \exists m = 1, \dots, D_\ell : \psi_{\ell,m} \neq 0\}.$$

Then, by (17), the following Hardy's inequality holds:

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |\partial_r \psi(x)|^2 \, dx \ge \left(\frac{(d-2)^2}{4} + \ell_0(\ell_0 + d - 2)\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{|\psi(x)|^2}{|x|^2} \, dx. \qquad (d \ge 1)$$
(19)
Inequality (19) is a quantitative stationary manifestation of the phenomenon described by question **B** in the Introduction. Here it is clear that the improvement comes from the angular component of the free Hamiltonian. In addition, the above arguments clearly suggest that the sharp constant in front of inequality (19) only depends the *lowest energies*, which is reminiscent of question **A** in the Introduction.

Having this in mind, we now see how linear lower-order perturbations of the free spherical Hamiltonian can perturb the spectral picture in (15), with consequences on the Hardy's inequality (19).

*Example 1* (0-Order Perturbations) For  $a \in \mathbb{R}$ , consider the shifted Hamiltonians in dimension  $d \ge 3$ 

$$H = -\Delta + \frac{a}{|x|^2}, \qquad L = -\Delta_{\mathbb{S}^{d-1}} + a.$$

Clearly L only has point spectrum, which is just a shift of (15)

$$\sigma(L) = \sigma_{p}(L) = \{\ell(\ell + d - 2) + a\}_{\ell=0,1,2,\dots}$$

and spherical harmonics are still eigenfunctions. The corresponding Hardy's inequality is trivially

$$\left(\frac{(d-2)^2}{4} + a\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{|\psi(x)|^2}{|x|^2} \, dx \leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |\nabla \psi(x)|^2 \, dx + a \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{|\psi(x)|^2}{|x|^2} \, dx. \qquad (d \ge 3)$$
(20)

More in general, if  $a = a(\omega) : \mathbb{S}^{d-1} \to \mathbb{R}$ , then it is still true that *L* as only point spectrum, but the picture is more complicated. A typical phenomenon is the formation of clusters of eigenvalues around the (shifted) free eigenvalues. The size of the clusters depends on some universal dimensional quantity related to  $a(\omega)$  (see e.g. the standard references [3, 20, 29, 30, 33] and Lemma 1 below). Moreover, for the lowest eigenvalue of *L* we have

$$\mu_0 := \min \sigma (L) = \inf_{\omega \in \mathbb{S}^{d-1}} a(\omega).$$

One easily see by the same arguments as above that the following Hardy's inequality holds

$$\left(\frac{(d-2)^2}{4} + \mu_0\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{|\psi(x)|^2}{|x|^2} \, dx \leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \overline{\psi} H \psi \, dx. \tag{21}$$

*Example 2* (1*st-Order Perturbations*) Let  $A \in L^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , and recall the *diamagnetic inequality* 

$$|(-i\nabla + A)\psi(x)| \ge |\nabla|\psi(x)||.$$

This gives for free, together with (11), that

$$\frac{(d-2)^2}{4} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{|\psi(x)|^2}{|x|^2} \, dx \leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |(-i\nabla + A)\psi(x)| \, dx, \qquad (d \ge 3).$$
(22)

We wonder if an improvement to the best constant of inequality (22) can occur, due to the presence of an angular perturbation of the associated Hamiltonian, in the same style as in the above example. The main example we have in mind is given by the 2D-*Aharonov-Bohm* vector potential: for  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ , consider let us denote by

$$A: \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2, \qquad A(x, y):=\lambda\left(\frac{-y}{x^2+y^2}, \frac{x}{x^2+y^2}\right)$$

and consider the following quadratic form

$$q[\psi] := \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} |(-i\nabla + A)\psi|^2 \, dx.$$

Since q is positive, we can consider the *Friedrichs' extension* of the self-adjoint Hamiltonian  $H := -\nabla_A^2$ , on the natural form domain induced by q (see Sect. 3 below for details). The angular component of H is the operator

$$L := \left(-i\nabla_{\mathbb{S}^1} + \mathscr{A}(\omega)\right)^2, \qquad \mathscr{A} : \mathbb{S}^1 \to \mathbb{S}^1, \qquad \mathscr{A}(x, y) = \lambda\left(\frac{-y}{\sqrt{x^2 + y^2}}, \frac{x}{\sqrt{x^2 + y^2}}\right).$$

As above, L has compact inverse and its spectrum is explicitly given by

$$\sigma(L) = \sigma_{p}(L) = \{(\lambda - z)^{2}\}_{z \in \mathbb{Z}}.$$

Therefore, the lowest eigenvalue is given by

$$\mu_0 := \min \sigma(L) = \operatorname{dist} (\lambda, \mathbb{Z})^2 \ge 0$$

and we gain the following 2D-Hardy's inequality, proved in [24]

$$\mu_0 \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \frac{|\psi(x)|^2}{|x|^2} \, dx \leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} |(-i\nabla + A)\psi|^2 \, dx. \tag{23}$$

As soon as  $\lambda \notin \mathbb{Z}$ , this is an improvement with respect to the free case  $A \equiv 0$ , in which such an inequality cannot hold for any function  $\psi$  such that  $|\nabla \psi| \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^2)$  (since the weight  $|x|^{-2}$  is not locally integrable in 2D).

In view of the above considerations, we will restrict our attention, from now on, to some scaling-critical electromagnetic Hamiltonians and we will present some recent results which partially answer to questions A and B in the Introduction of this survey.

# **3** Decay Estimates: Main Results

From now on, for any  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ , we denote by  $x = r\omega$ , r = |x|. Let

$$\mathbf{A} = \mathbf{A}(\omega) : \mathbb{S}^{d-1} \to \mathbb{R}^d, \qquad a = a(\omega) : \mathbb{S}^{d-1} \to \mathbb{R}^d$$

be 0-degree homogeneous functions, and consider the quadratic form

$$q[\psi] := \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left| \left( -i\nabla + \frac{A(\omega)}{r} \right) \psi(x) \right|^2 dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{a(\omega)}{r^2} |\psi(x)|^2 dx.$$
(24)

As we see in the sequel, under suitable conditions, a self-adjoint Hamiltonian

$$H := \left(-i\nabla + \frac{A(\omega)}{r}\right)^2 + \frac{a(\omega)}{r^2},\tag{25}$$

associated to q (Friedrichs' Extension) is well defined on a domain containing  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , therefore the  $L^2$ -initial value problem

$$\begin{cases} i\partial_t \psi = -iH\psi, \\ \psi(0) = \psi_0 \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d), \end{cases}$$
(26)

for the wavefunction  $\psi = \psi(t, x) : \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{C}$  makes sense. Here  $d \ge 2$ , and we choose a *transversal gauge* for the magnetic vector potential, i.e. we assume

$$\mathbf{A}(\omega) \cdot \omega = 0 \quad \text{for all } \omega \in \mathbb{S}^{d-1}.$$
(27)

Notice that equation (26) is invariant under the scaling  $u_{\lambda}(x, t) := u(x/\lambda, t/\lambda^2)$ , which is the same of the free Schrödinger equation.

The aim is to understand the role of the spherical operator L associated to H, defined by

$$L = \left(-i\nabla_{\mathbb{S}^{d-1}} + \mathbf{A}\right)^2 + a(\omega), \tag{28}$$

where  $\nabla_{\mathbb{S}^{d-1}}$  is the spherical gradient on the unit sphere  $\mathbb{S}^{d-1}$ . Assuming  $a \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{S}^{d-1};\mathbb{R}), \mathbf{A} \in \mathscr{C}^{1}(\mathbb{S}^{d-1};\mathbb{R}^{d})$ , then the spectrum of the operator *L* is formed by a diverging sequence of real eigenvalues with finite multiplicity  $\mu_{0}(\mathbf{A}, a) \leq \mu_{1}(\mathbf{A}, a) \leq \cdots \leq \mu_{k}(\mathbf{A}, a) \leq \cdots$  (see e.g. [16, Lemma A.5]), where each eigenvalue is repeated according to its multiplicity. Moreover we have that  $\lim_{k\to\infty} \mu_{k}(\mathbf{A}, a) = +\infty$ . To each  $k \geq 1$ , we can associate a  $L^{2}(\mathbb{S}^{d-1}, \mathbb{C})$ -normalized eigenfunction  $\varphi_{k}$  of the operator *L* on  $\mathbb{S}^{d-1}$  corresponding to the *k*-th

eigenvalue  $\mu_k(\mathbf{A}, a)$ , i.e. satisfying

$$\begin{cases} L\varphi_k = \mu_k(\mathbf{A}, a) \,\varphi_k, & \text{in } \mathbb{S}^{d-1}, \\ \int_{\mathbb{S}^{d-1}} |\varphi_k|^2 \, dS(\theta) = 1. \end{cases}$$
(29)

In particular, if d = 2,  $\varphi_k$  are one-variable  $2\pi$ -periodic functions, i.e.  $\varphi_k(0) = \varphi_k(2\pi)$ . Since the eigenvalues  $\mu_k(\mathbf{A}, a)$  are repeated according to their multiplicity, exactly one eigenfunction  $\varphi_k$  corresponds to each index  $k \ge 1$ . We can choose the functions  $\varphi_k$  in such a way that they form an orthonormal basis of  $L^2(\mathbb{S}^{d-1}, \mathbb{C})$ . We also introduce the numbers

$$\alpha_k := \frac{d-2}{2} - \sqrt{\left(\frac{d-2}{2}\right)^2 + \mu_k(\mathbf{A}, a)}, \quad \beta_k := \sqrt{\left(\frac{d-2}{2}\right)^2 + \mu_k(\mathbf{A}, a)},$$
(30)

so that  $\beta_k = \frac{d-2}{2} - \alpha_k$ , for  $k = 1, 2, \dots$ .

Under the condition

$$\mu_0(\mathbf{A}, a) > -\frac{(d-2)^2}{4} \tag{31}$$

the quadratic form q in (24) associated to H is positive definite, and the Friedrichs' extension of H is well defined, with domain

$$\mathscr{D} := \left\{ f \in H^1_*(\mathbb{R}^d) : Hf \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d) \right\},\tag{32}$$

where  $H^1_*(\mathbb{R}^d)$  is the completion of  $C^{\infty}_c(\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \{0\}, \mathbb{C})$  with respect to the norm

$$\|f\|_{H^1_*(\mathbb{R}^d)} = \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \left(|\nabla f(x)|^2 + \frac{|f(x)|^2}{|x|^2} + |f(x)|^2\right)\right) dx\right)^{1/2}$$

By the Hardy's inequality (11),  $H_*^1(\mathbb{R}^d) = H^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$  with equivalent norms if  $d \ge 3$ , while  $H_*^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$  is strictly smaller than  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$  if d = 2. Furthermore, from condition (31) and [16, Lemma 2.2], it follows that  $H_*^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$  coincides with the space obtained by completion of  $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \{0\}, \mathbb{C})$  with respect to the norm naturally associated to H, i.e.

$$q[\psi] + \|\psi\|_2^2$$

We remark that *H* could be not essentially self-adjoint. Indeed, in the case  $\mathbf{A} \equiv 0$ , Kalf, Schmincke, Walter, and Wüst [22] and Simon [28] proved that *H* is essentially self-adjoint if and only if  $\mu_0(\mathbf{0}, a) \ge -\left(\frac{d-2}{2}\right)^2 + 1$  and, consequently, admits a unique self-adjoint extension (which coincides with the Friedrichs' extension); otherwise,

i.e. if  $\mu_0(\mathbf{0}, a) < -(\frac{d-2}{2})^2 + 1$ , *H* is not essentially self-adjoint and admits infinitely many self-adjoint extensions, among which the Friedrichs' extension is the only one whose domain is included in the domain of the associated quadratic form (see also [9, Remark 2.5]).

The Friedrichs' extension H naturally extends to a self adjoint operator on the dual  $\mathscr{D}^*$  of  $\mathscr{D}$  and the unitary group  $e^{-itH}$  extends to a group of isometries on the dual of  $\mathscr{D}$  which will be still denoted as  $e^{-itH}$  (see [6], Section 1.6 for further details). Then for every  $\psi_0 \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,

$$\psi(t,x) := e^{-itH}\psi_0(x) \in \mathscr{C}(\mathbb{R}; L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)) \cap \mathscr{C}^1(\mathbb{R}; \mathscr{D}^*),$$

is the unique solution to (26).

Now, by means of (29) and (30) define the following kernel:

$$K(x,y) = \sum_{k=-\infty}^{\infty} i^{-\beta_k} j_{-\alpha_k}(|x||y|) \varphi_k\left(\frac{x}{|x|}\right) \overline{\varphi_k\left(\frac{y}{|y|}\right)},$$
(33)

where

$$j_{\nu}(r) := r^{-\frac{d-2}{2}} J_{\nu+\frac{d-2}{2}}(r)$$

and  $J_{\nu}$  denotes the usual Bessel function of the first kind

$$J_{\nu}(t) = \left(\frac{t}{2}\right)^{\nu} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^{k}}{\Gamma(k+1)\Gamma(k+\nu+1)} \left(\frac{t}{2}\right)^{2k}.$$

Notice that (33) reduces to (10), in the free case  $\mathbf{A} \equiv a \equiv 0$ . The first result we mention in this survey is the following representation formula for  $e^{-itH}$ :

**Theorem 1 (L. Fanelli, V. Felli, M. Fontelos, A. Primo**[12]) Let  $d \ge 3$ ,  $a \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{S}^{d-1}, \mathbb{R})$  and  $\mathbf{A} \in C^{1}(\mathbb{S}^{d-1}, \mathbb{R}^{N})$ , and assume (27) and (31). Then, for any  $\psi_{0} \in L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})$ ,

$$e^{-itH}\psi_0(x) = \frac{e^{\frac{|x|^2}{4t}}}{i(2t)^{d/2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} K\left(\frac{x}{\sqrt{2t}}, \frac{y}{\sqrt{2t}}\right) e^{i\frac{|y|^2}{4t}}\psi_0(y) \, dy.$$
(34)

As an immediate consequence, we see by (34) that the analog to condition (7) gives for *H* the complete list of usual time decay estimates (5):

**Corollary 1** Let  $d \ge 3$ ,  $a \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{S}^{d-1}, \mathbb{R})$  and  $\mathbf{A} \in C^1(\mathbb{S}^{d-1}, \mathbb{R}^N)$ , and assume (27) and (31). If

$$\sup_{x,y\in\mathbb{R}^d} |K(x,y)| < \infty, \tag{35}$$

then

$$\left\|e^{-itH}\psi_{0}(\cdot)\right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} \leq C|t|^{-d\left(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{p}\right)} \left\|\psi_{0}\right\|_{L^{p'}(\mathbb{R}^{d})}, \qquad \forall t \in \mathbb{R}, \qquad \forall p \geq 2, \qquad (36)$$

#### for some C > 0 independent on $\psi_0$ .

In the two last decades, estimates (36) were intensively studied by several authors. The following is an incomplete list of results about this topic [1, 7, 8, 10, 11, 17, 18, 25–27, 31, 32, 34–37]. In all these papers, the potentials are sub-critical with respect to the functional scale of the Hardy's inequality (11): in other words, the critical potentials in (25) are never considered, and it does not seem that one could handle them by perturbation techniques, which are a common factor of all the above mentioned papers. Now, formula (34) and Corollary 1 give a usual tool to reduce matters to prove time decay, to a spectral analysis problem. This allowed us to prove some new positive results concerning with estimates (36). In 2D, the picture is quite well understood, thanks to the following theorem.

**Theorem 2 (L. Fanelli, V. Felli, M. Fontelos, A. Primo**[13]) Let  $d = 2, a \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{S}^1, \mathbb{R})$ ,  $\mathbf{A} \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{S}^1, \mathbb{R}^2)$  satisfying (27) and  $\mu_1(\mathbf{A}, a) > 0$ , and H be given by (25). Then, for any  $\psi_0 \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap L^{p'}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,

$$\|e^{-itH}\psi_{0}(\cdot)\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{2})} \leq C|t|^{-2\left(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{p}\right)}\|\psi_{0}\|_{L^{p'}(\mathbb{R}^{2})}, \qquad \forall t \in \mathbb{R}, \qquad \forall p \geq 2, \qquad (37)$$

for some C > 0 independent on  $\psi_0$ .

Theorem 2 is proved in [13]. The core consists in proving that (35) holds, and a crucial role is played by the following Lemma, which gives a quite explicit expansion of eigenvalues and eigenfunctions of *L*, generalizing the results in [20]:

**Lemma 1 (L. Fanelli, V. Felli, M. Fontelos, A. Primo**[13]) Let  $a \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{S}^1)$ ,  $\widetilde{a} := \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} a(s) \, ds$ ,  $\mathbf{A} \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{S}^1)$  such that

$$\widetilde{\mathbf{A}} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} A(s) \, ds \notin \frac{1}{2} \mathbb{Z}.$$
(38)

Then there exist  $k^*, \ell \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $\{\mu_k : k > k^*\} = \{\lambda_j : j \in \mathbb{Z}, |j| \ge \ell\},\$ 

$$\sqrt{\lambda_j - \widetilde{a}} = (\operatorname{sgn} j) \left( \widetilde{\mathbf{A}} - \left\lfloor \widetilde{\mathbf{A}} + \frac{1}{2} \right\rfloor \right) + |j| + O\left(\frac{1}{|j|^3}\right), \quad as \ |j| \to +\infty$$

and

$$\lambda_j = \widetilde{a} + \left(j + \widetilde{\mathbf{A}} - \left\lfloor \widetilde{\mathbf{A}} + \frac{1}{2} \right\rfloor \right)^2 + O\left(\frac{1}{j^2}\right), \quad as \ |j| \to +\infty.$$
(39)

Furthermore, for all  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,  $|j| \ge \ell$ , there exists a  $L^2(\mathbb{S}^1, \mathbb{C})$ -normalized eigenfunction  $\varphi_j$  of the operator L on  $\mathbb{S}^1$  corresponding to the eigenvalue  $\lambda_j$  such that

$$\varphi_{j}(\theta) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} e^{-i\left(\widetilde{[\mathbf{A}+1/2]}\theta + \int_{0}^{\theta} A(t) dt\right)} \left(e^{i(\widetilde{\mathbf{A}}+j)\theta} + R_{j}(\theta)\right), \tag{40}$$

where  $||R_j||_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{S}^1)} = O(\frac{1}{|j|^3})$  as  $|j| \to \infty$ . In the above formula  $\lfloor \cdot \rfloor$  denotes the floor function  $\lfloor x \rfloor = \max\{k \in \mathbb{Z} : k \leq x\}$ .

Analogous results to Lemma 1 can be proved (and are in part available) in higher dimension  $d \ge 3$ . Nevertheless, the higher dimensional scenario is quite more complicate, and some chaotic behavior of the eigenvalues of *L* can occur. This makes the generic validity of (36) completely unclear in dimension  $d \ge 3$ . In this direction, the only result which is available at the moment is concerned with the 3D-inverse square electric potential, and reads as follows:

**Theorem 3 (L. Fanelli, V. Felli, M. Fontelos, A. Primo**—[12]) *Let* d = 3,  $\mathbf{A} \equiv 0$  and  $a(\omega) \equiv a \in \mathbb{R}$ , with  $a > -\frac{1}{4}$ .

*i)* If  $a \ge 0$ , then, for any  $\psi_0 \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3) \cap L^{p'}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ ,

$$\left\|e^{-itH}\psi_0(\cdot)\right\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^2)} \leqslant C|t|^{-3\left(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{p}\right)} \|\psi_0\|_{L^{p'}(\mathbb{R}^2)}, \qquad \forall t \in \mathbb{R}, \qquad \forall p \ge 2,$$
(41)

for some C > 0 which does not depend on  $\psi_0$ . ii) If  $-\frac{1}{4} < a < 0$ , let  $\alpha_1$  as in (30), and define

$$\|\psi\|_{p,\alpha_1} := \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} (1+|x|^{-\alpha_1})^{2-p} |\psi(x)|^p \, dx\right)^{1/p}, \quad p \ge 1.$$

Then the following estimates hold

$$\left\|e^{-itH}\psi_{0}(\cdot)\right\|_{p,\alpha_{1}} \leq \frac{C(1+|t|^{\alpha_{0}})^{1-\frac{2}{p}}}{|t|^{3\left(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{p}\right)}} \|\psi\|_{p',\alpha_{0}}, \quad p \geq 2, \quad \frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{p'} = 1, \quad (42)$$

for some constant C > 0 which does not depend on  $\psi_0$ .

*Remark 1* It is interesting to remark that, in the range -1/4 < a < 0, (41) does not hold, while the full set of usual Strichartz estimates hold (see [4, 5]). This is now clearly understood in terms of formula (34): notice that, if  $a = \mu_0 < 0$ , then  $\alpha_0 > 0$  and a negative-index Bessel function appears in the kernel *K* given by (33); since negative-index functions  $J_{\nu}$  are singular at the origin, one cannot either expect the solution (34) to be in  $L^{\infty}$ .

This can be proved as a general fact:

**Theorem 4 (L. Fanelli, V. Felli, M. Fontelos, A. Primo**[13]) Let  $d \ge 3$ ,  $a \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{S}^{d-1}, \mathbb{R})$ ,  $\mathbf{A} \in C^{1}(\mathbb{S}^{d-1}, \mathbb{R}^{d})$ , and assume (27), (31), and  $\mu_{0} < 0$ . Then, for almost every  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $e^{-itH}(L^{1}) \not\subseteq L^{\infty}$ ; in particular  $e^{-itH}$  is not a bounded operator from  $L^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{d})$  to  $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{d})$ .

The above phenomenon can be quantified. To this aim, let us restrict our attention to the case

$$H = -\Delta + \frac{a}{|x|^2}, \qquad x \in \mathbb{R}^3.$$

Let us define

$$V_{n,j}(x) = |x|^{-\alpha_j} e^{-\frac{|x|^2}{4}} P_{j,n}\left(\frac{|x|^2}{2}\right) \psi_j\left(\frac{x}{|x|}\right), \quad n, j \in \mathbb{N}, \ j \ge 1,$$
(43)

where  $P_{j,n}$  is the polynomial of degree *n* given by

$$P_{j,n}(t) = \sum_{i=0}^{n} \frac{(-n)_i}{\left(\frac{d}{2} - \alpha_j\right)_i} \frac{t^i}{i!}$$

denoting as  $(s)_i$ , for all  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ , the Pochhammer's symbol

$$(s)_i = \prod_{j=0}^{i-1} (s+j), \qquad (s)_0 = 1.$$

Moreover, for all k > 1, define

$$\mathscr{U}_k = \operatorname{span} \{ V_{n,j} : n \in \mathbb{N}, 1 \leq j < k \} \subset L^2(\mathbb{R}^N).$$

The functions  $V_{n,j}$  spans  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$  (see [14] for details). Moreover, as initial data for (1), these functions have a quite explicit evolution: indeed, denoting by  $\widetilde{V}_{n,j} := V_{n,j}/||V_{n,j}||_2$ , the following identity holds:

$$e^{-itH}\widetilde{V}_{n,j}(x) = e^{it\left(-\Delta + \frac{a}{|x|^2}\right)} V_{n,j}(x)$$

$$= (1+t^2)^{-\frac{d}{4} + \frac{a_j}{2}} |x|^{-\alpha_j} \frac{e^{\frac{-|x|^2}{4(1+t^2)}}}{\|V_{n,j}\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)}} e^{i\frac{|x|^2_I}{4(1+t^2)}} e^{-i\gamma_{n,j}\arctan t} \psi_j(\frac{x}{|x|}) P_{n,j}(\frac{|x|^2}{2(1+t^2)}).$$
(44)

Formula (44) has been proved in [14]. Clearly, if  $a = \mu_0 \ge 0$ , then  $\alpha_0 \le 0$  and the first function  $\widetilde{V}_{1,0}$  decays polynomially faster than usual, in a weighted space. This is reminiscent to question **B** in the Introduction, and gives us the following evolution version of the frequency-dependent Hardy's inequality (19):

**Theorem 5 (L. Fanelli, V. Felli, M. Fontelos, A. Primo**–[14]) Let d = 3,  $a = \mu_0 \ge 0$ ,  $\alpha_0 as in$  (30).

(i) There exists C > 0 such that, for all  $\psi_0 \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$  with  $|x|^{-\alpha_0}\psi_0 \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^3)$ ,

$$\left\| |x|^{\alpha_0} e^{-itH} \psi_0(\cdot) \right\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq C |t|^{-\frac{3}{2} + \alpha_0} \| |x|^{-\alpha_0} \psi_0\|_{L^1}.$$

(ii) For all  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $k \ge 1$ , there exists  $C_k > 0$  such that, for all  $\psi_0 \in \mathscr{U}_k^{\perp}$  with  $|x|^{-\alpha_k}\psi_0 \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^3)$ ,

$$\| |x|^{\alpha_k} e^{-itH} \psi_0(\cdot) \|_{L^{\infty}} \leq C_k |t|^{-\frac{3}{2} + \alpha_k} \| |x|^{-\alpha_k} \psi_0 \|_{L^{1/2}}$$

Some analogous results, only concerning with the decay of the first frequency space, had been previously proven in [15, 19].

To complete the survey, we leave some open questions.

- (i) Concerning Theorems 2, 3, does any general result hold in dimension  $d \ge 3$ ?
- (ii) In what extent can one perturb the models in (25)? What is the real role played by the scaling invariance?
- (iii) The proof of formula (34) strongly relies on some pseudoconformal law associated to the free Schrödinger flow (Appell transform; see [12]). Is there any analog for other dispersive models, e.g. the wave equation?
- (iv) One can use formula (34) to represent the wave operators

$$W_{\pm} := L^2 - \lim_{t \to \pm \infty} e^{itH} e^{-itH_0}, \qquad H_0 := -\Delta.$$

What can one prove about the boundedness of  $W_{\pm}$  in  $L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{d})$ , in the same style as in [31, 32, 34–37] (at least in 2D, having in mind Theorem 2.

(v) By standard  $TT^*$ -arguments, one can obtain some weighted Strichartz estimates by Theorem 5. Which kind of informations do these estimates give for nonlinear Schrödinger equations associated to H?

Acknowledgements The author sincerely thanks all the organizers of the event *Contemporary Trends in the Mathematics of Quantum Mechanics* for the kind invitation, in particular Alessandro Michelangeli for his job. A special acknowledgement is to Prof. Gianfausto Dell'Antonio, for his beautiful scientific contributions, for his teachings, and for his friendship.

#### References

- 1. M. Beceanu, M. Goldberg, Schrödinger dispersive estimates for a scaling-critical class of potentials. Commun. Math. Phys. **314**, 471–481 (2012)
- 2. A. Bezubik, A. Strasburger, A new form of the spherical expansion of zonal functions and Fourier transforms of SO(d)-finite functions. SIGMA Symmetry Integrability Geom. Methods Appl. **2**, Paper 033, 8 pp. (2006)

- G. Borg, Umkerhrung der Sturm-Liouvillischen Eigebnvertanfgabe Bestimung der difúerentialgleichung die Eigenverte. Acta Math. 78, 1–96 (1946)
- N. Burq, F. Planchon, J. Stalker, S. Tahvildar-Zadeh, Strichartz estimates for the wave and Schrödinger equations with the inverse-square potential. J. Funct. Anal. 203(2), 519–549 (2003)
- N. Burq, F. Planchon, J. Stalker, S. Tahvildar-Zadeh, Strichartz estimates for the wave and Schrödinger equations with potentials of critical decay. Indiana Univ. Math. J. 53(6), 1665– 1680 (2004)
- T. Cazenave, Semilinear Schrödinger Equations. Courant Lecture Notes in Mathematics, vol. 10, New York University, Courant Institute of Mathematical Sciences, New York (American Mathematical Society, Providence, 2003)
- 7. P. D'Ancona, L. Fanelli, *L<sup>p</sup>*-boundedness of the wave operator for the one dimensional Schrödinger operators. Commun. Math. Phys. **268**, 415–438 (2006)
- P. D'Ancona, L. Fanelli, Decay estimates for the wave and Dirac equations with a magnetic potential. Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 60, 357–392 (2007)
- T. Duyckaerts, Inégalités de résolvante pour l'opérateur de Schrödinger avec potentiel multipolaire critique. Bulletin de la Société mathématique de France 134, 201–239 (2006)
- 10. M.B. Erdogan, M. Goldberg, W. Schlag, Strichartz and smoothing estimates for Schrodinger operators with large magnetic potentials in ℝ<sup>3</sup>. J. Eur. Math. Soc. **10**, 507–531 (2008)
- M.B. Erdogan, M. Goldberg, W. Schlag, Strichartz and smoothing estimates for Schrödinger operators with almost critical magnetic potentials in three and higher dimensions. Forum Math. 21, 687–722 (2009)
- L. Fanelli, V. Felli, M. Fontelos, A. Primo, Time decay of scaling critical electromagnetic Schrödinger flows. Commun. Math. Phys. 324, 1033–1067 (2013)
- L. Fanelli, V. Felli, M. Fontelos, A. Primo, Time decay of scaling invariant electromagnetic Schrödinger equations on the plane. Commun. Math. Phys. 337, 1515–1533 (2015)
- 14. L. Fanelli, V. Felli, M. Fontelos, A. Primo, Frequency-dependent time decay of Schrödinger flows. J. Spectral Theory (to appear in)
- L. Fanelli, G. Grillo, H. Kovařík, Improved time-decay for a class of scaling critical electromagnetic Schrödinger flows. J. Funct. Anal. 269, 3336–3346 (2015)
- V. Felli, A. Ferrero, S. Terracini, Asymptotic behavior of solutions to Schrödinger equations near an isolated singularity of the electromagnetic potential. J. Eur. Math. Soc. 13(1), 119–174 (2011)
- M. Goldberg, Dispersive estimates for the three-dimensional schrödinger equation with rough potential. Am. J. Math. 128, 731–750 (2006)
- M. Goldberg, W. Schlag, Dispersive estimates for Schrödinger operators in dimensions one and three. Commun. Math. Phys. 251(1), 157–178 (2004)
- G. Grillo, H. Kovarik, Weighted dispersive estimates for two-dimensional Schrödinger operators with Aharonov-Bohm magnetic field. J. Differ. Equ. 256, 3889–3911 (2014)
- 20. D. Gurarie, Zonal Schrödinger operators on the *n*-Sphere: inverse spectral problem and rRigidity. Commun. Math. Phys. **131** (1990), 571–603
- M.E.H. Ismail, *Classical and Quantum Orthogonal Polynomials in One Variable*. Encyclopedia of Mathematics and Its Applications, vol. 98 (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2005)
- 22. H. Kalf, U.-W. Schmincke, J. Walter, R. Wüst, On the Spectral Theory of Schrödinger and Dirac Operators with Strongly Singular Potentials. Spectral Theory and Differential Equations (Proc. Sympos., Dundee, 1974; dedicated to Konrad Jörgens). Lecture Notes in Math., vol. 448 (Springer, Berlin, 1975), pp. 182–226
- 23. M. Keel, T. Tao, Endpoint strichartz estimates. Am. J. Math. 120(5), 955-980 (1998)
- A. Laptev, T. Weidl, Hardy inequalities for magnetic Dirichlet forms. Mathematical results in quantum mechanics (Prague, 1998), 299–305; Oper. Theory Adv. Appl. 108, (Birkhäuser, Basel, 1999)
- 25. F. Planchon, J. Stalker, S. Tahvildar-Zadeh, Dispersive estimates for the wave equation with the inverse-square potential. Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. 9, 1387–1400 (2003)

- 26. I. Rodnianski, W. Schlag, Time decay for solutions of Schrödinger equations with rough and time-dependent potentials. Invent. Math. **155**(3), 451–513 (2004)
- W. Schlag, Dispersive estimates for Schrödinger operators: a survey. *Mathematical Aspects of Nonlinear Dispersive Equations*, 255285, Ann. of Math. Stud., vol. 163 (Princeton University Press, Princeton, 2007)
- B. Simon, Essential self-adjointness of Schrödinger operators with singular potentials. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 52, 44–48 (1973)
- L.E. Thomas, C. Villegas-Blas, Singular continuous limiting eigenvalue distributions for Schrödinger operators on a 2-sphere. J. Funct. Anal. 141, 249–273 (1996)
- L.E. Thomas, S.R. Wassell, Semiclassical Approximation for Schrödinger operators on a twosphere at high energy. J. Math. Phys. 36(10), 5480–5505 (1995)
- 31. R. Weder, The  $W_{k,p}$ -continuity of the Schrödinger wave operators on the line. Commun. Math. Phys. **208**, 507–520 (1999)
- 32. R. Weder,  $L^p L^{p'}$  estimates for the Schrödinger equations on the line and inverse scattering for the nonlinear Schrödinger equation with a potential. J. Funct. Anal. **170**, 37–68 (2000)
- A. Weinstein, Asymptotics for eigenvalue clusters for the laplacian plus a potencial. Duke Math. J. 44(4), 883..892 (1977)
- K. Yajima, Existence of solutions for Schrödinger evolution equations. Commun. Math. Phys. 110, 415–426 (1987)
- K. Yajima, The W<sup>k,p</sup>-continuity of wave operators for Schrödinger operators. J. Math. Soc. Jpn. 47(3), 551–581 (1995)
- 36. K. Yajima, The  $W^{k,p}$ -continuity of wave operators for Schrödinger operators III, even dimensional cases  $m \ge 4$ . J. Math. Sci. Univ. Tokyo **2**, 311–346 (1995)
- K. Yajima, L<sup>p</sup>-boundedness of wave operators for two-dimensional Schrödinger operators. Commun. Math. Phys. 208(1), 125–152 (1999)

# On the Ground State for the NLS Equation on a General Graph

#### **Domenico Finco**

**Abstract** We review some recent results on the existence of the ground state for a nonlinear Schrödinger equation (NLS) posed on a graph or network composed of a generic compact part to which a finite number of half-lines are attached. In particular we concentrate on the main theorem in Cacciapuoti et al. (Ground state and orbital stability for the NLS equation on a general starlike graph with potentials, preprint arXiv:1608.01506) which covers the most general setting and we compare it with similar results.

**Keywords** Concentration-compactness techniques • Quantum graphs • Nonlinear Schrödinger equation

# 1 Introduction

Analysis on metric graphs and networks is a growing subject with many potential applications of physical and technological character. The interest in these structures, also from a mathematical point of view lies in the fact that they are relatively simple analytically, being essentially one dimensional, but on the other hand they can have in a sense arbitrary complexity due to nontrivial connectivity and topology.

A large part of the literature is devoted to linear equations on graphs (see [15, 30] for an overview of theory and the many applications), as limit model for propagation of waves in thin domains where the transverse dimensions are much smaller than the longitudinal one. A special emphasis is placed on Schrödinger equation describing the so called quantum graphs. Recently nonlinear equations have attracted attention, and a certain amount of mathematical work has been done on nonlinear Schrödinger equation on quantum graphs, at least in some special situations. The NLS is used in many situations, among them we mention the propagations of pulses in nonlinear Kerr media and the dynamics of Bose-Einstein condensates. A relevant feature of NLS in homogeneous media, or in general in presence of symmetries, is that it

D. Finco (🖂)

Facoltà di Ingegneria, Università Telematica Internazionale Uninettuno, Corso Vittorio Emanuele II 39, 00186 Roma, Italy

e-mail: d.finco@uninettunouniversity.net

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2017

A. Michelangeli, G. Dell'Antonio (eds.), Advances in Quantum Mechanics, Springer INdAM Series 18, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-58904-6\_9

admits solitons or traveling waves, non dispersive solutions which evolves rigidly translating without modifying their profile. The NLS on graphs can be used as model for a number of phenomena: propagation and splitting of pulses in various optical devices such as Y-junctions, H-junctions and others, symmetry breaking due to defects and formation of pinned stationary states around the inhomogeneities, (see for example [2–4, 6, 8, 11–14, 17, 27, 29, 32, 33]; a review with references to related physical research is in [31]). Such pinned states may have relevant influence on the dynamics of traveling waves producing effective potentials well and capturing part of incoming waves. The mathematical analysis of such situation is very difficult with very few rigorous results, see [35, 36].

A first relevant question has been recently addressed in a wide generality at mathematical level is the existence of the ground state for the focusing NLS with power nonlinearity on a graph. That is the existence of an absolute minimizer of the energy functional with a mass constraint. Here we review the main theorem in [18] which provides the most general setting. In Sect. 2 we give a precise statement of the theorem and give some ideas of proof while in Sect. 3 we discuss some other recent related results in the literature.

#### 2 Main Result

In this section we present and discuss the main theorem in [18]. We skip technical details and omit proofs referring to the original paper.

We consider a connected metric graph  $\mathscr{G} = (V, E)$  where V is the set of vertices and E is the set of edges. We assume that the cardinalities |V| and |E| of V and E are finite. We identify each edge  $e \in E$  with length  $L_e \in (0, \infty]$  with the interval  $I_e = [0, L_e]$ , if  $L_e$  is finite, or  $[0, \infty)$ , if  $L_e$  is infinite. The set of edges with finite length is denoted by  $E^{in}$  while the set of edges with infinite length is denoted by  $E^{ex}$ . Moreover we associate each finite length edge with two vertices, and each infinite length edges with one vertex. The notation  $\underline{v} \in e$  with  $\underline{v} \in V$  and  $e \in E$ , denotes that  $\underline{v}$  is a vertex of the edge e. Two vertices  $\underline{v}_1$  and  $\underline{v}_2$  are adjacent,  $\underline{v}_1 \sim \underline{v}_2$  if they are vertices of a common edge which connects them. The degree of a vertex is the number of edges emanating from it. We denote by  $\{e \prec \underline{v}\}$  the set of edges connecting the vertex e. We fix a coordinate x on each interval  $I_e$  such that x = 0and  $x = L_e$  correspond to vertices if  $L_e < \infty$  while if  $L_e = \infty$  the vertex attached to the rest of the graph corresponds to x = 0. Any choice of orientation of finite length edges is equivalent for our purposes. To avoid ambiguities, from now on we will denote points on the graph with  $\underline{x} = (e, x)$ , where  $e \in E$  identifies the edge and  $x \in I_e$  is the coordinate on the corresponding edge. In this paper we will assume that there is at least one edge with infinite length, so that the considered graph is non compact. A function  $\Psi : \mathscr{G} \to \mathbb{C}$  is equivalent to a family of functions  $\{\psi_e\}_{e \in E}$  with  $\psi_e: I_e \to \mathbb{C}$ . In our notation, if  $\underline{x} = (e, x)$ 

$$\Psi(\underline{x}) = \psi_e(x).$$

The spaces  $L^p(\mathscr{G})$ ,  $1 \leq p \leq \infty$ , are made of functions  $\Psi$  such that  $\psi_e \in L^p(I_e)$  for all  $e \in E$  and

$$\|\Psi\|_{p}^{p} = \sum_{e \in E} \|\psi_{e}\|_{L^{p}(I_{e})}^{p}, 1 \leq p < \infty \qquad \|\Psi\|_{\infty} = \max_{e \in E} \|\psi_{e}\|_{L^{\infty}(I_{e})}.$$

We denote by  $(\cdot, \cdot)$  the inner product associated with  $L^2(\mathcal{G})$ . When p = 2, the index will be omitted We denote by  $C(\mathcal{G})$  the set of continuous functions on  $\mathcal{G}$  and introduce the spaces

$$H^1(\mathscr{G}) := \{ \Psi \in C(\mathscr{G}) \text{ s.t. } \psi_e \in H^1(I_e) \ \forall e \in E \}$$

equipped with the norm

$$\|\Psi\|_{H^1(\mathscr{G})}^2 = \sum_{e \in E} \|\psi_e\|_{H^1(I_e)}^2$$

and

$$H^{2}(\mathscr{G}) := \left\{ \Psi \in H^{1}(\mathscr{G}) \text{ s.t. } \psi_{e} \in H^{2}(I_{e}) \forall e \in E \right\}$$

equipped with the norm

$$\|\Psi\|^2_{H^2(\mathscr{G})} = \sum_{e \in E} \|\psi_e\|^2_{H^2(I_e)}.$$

In the following, whenever a functional norm refers to a function defined on the graph, we omit the symbol  $\mathcal{G}$ .

Here we consider a connected graph  $\mathcal{G}$ , composed by a compact core to which a finite number of half-lines are attached (and at least one), see Fig. 1, and a defocusing NLS with power nonlinearity of the form

$$i\frac{d}{dt}\Psi = H\Psi - |\Psi|^{2\mu}\Psi.$$
(1)



Fig. 1 13 edges (10 interior, 3 exterior); 6 vertices

We denote by *H* the Hamiltonian with a  $\delta$ -coupling of strength  $\alpha(\underline{v}) \in \mathbb{R}$  at each vertex and a potential term *W* on each edge. It is defined as the operator in  $L^2(\mathscr{G})$  with domain

$$\mathscr{D}(H) := \left\{ \Psi \in H^2 \text{ s.t. } \sum_{e \prec \underline{v}} \partial_o \psi_e(\underline{v}) = \alpha(\underline{v}) \psi_e(\underline{v}) \quad \forall \underline{v} \in V \right\}.$$

where we have denoted by  $\partial_o$  the outward derivative from the vertex, it coincides with  $\frac{d}{dx}$  or  $-\frac{d}{dx}$  according to the orientation on the edge. The action of *H* is defined by

$$(H\Psi)_e = -\psi_e'' + W_e\psi_e,$$

where  $W_e$  is the component of the potential W on the edge e. If one has in mind as reference physical model, the propagation of concentrated wave packets, the compact core plays the role of a quantum logic port that is, it reflects, splits and transmits the pulses into the infinite edges as a sort of black box scattering. The complexity of the graph together with a  $\delta$ -interaction in should cover a large class of possibilities. This phenomenon was discussed at the linear level in [21] in the free case (W = 0), where it was proved that for a graph made by N half lines and one vertex, all the time reversal conditions can be approximated by suitable rescaled compact core with  $\delta$  interactions in the added vertices.

We make very weak hypothesis in the potential W:

Assumption 1  $W = W_+ - W_-$  with  $W_{\pm} \ge 0$ ,  $W_+ \in L^1(\mathscr{G}) + L^{\infty}(\mathscr{G})$ , and  $W_- \in L^r(\mathscr{G})$  for some  $r \in [1, 1 + 1/\mu]$ .

The quadratic form of this operator is defined on the energy space given by  $H^1(\mathscr{G})$  and it is explicitly given by

$$E^{lin}[\Psi] = \|\Psi'\|^2 + (\Psi, W\Psi) + \sum_{\underline{v} \in V} \alpha(\underline{v}) |\Psi(\underline{v})|^2$$

Notice that  $\Psi(\underline{v})$  is well defined due to the continuity condition in  $H^1(\mathcal{G})$ . One can prove that under Assumption 1 one has

$$\left| (\Psi, W\Psi) + \sum_{\underline{v} \in V} \alpha(\underline{v}) |\Psi(\underline{v})|^2 \right| \leq a \|\Psi'\|^2 + b \|\Psi\|^2, \quad \text{with } 0 < a < 1, b > 0,$$

which, by KLMN theorem, implies that the form  $E^{lin}$  is closed and hence defines a selfadjoint operator. It is easy to prove that the corresponding operator coincides with H.

Let us define

$$-E_0 = \inf \left\{ E^{lin}[\Psi], \ \Psi \in H^1(\mathscr{G}), \ \|\Psi\| = 1 \right\}.$$

This corresponds to the bottom of the spectrum of H. A second assumption is needed in the proof of the main theorem.

**Assumption 2** inf  $\sigma(H) := -E_0$  is strictly negative

Notice that this implies that  $-E_0 < 0$  is an isolated simple eigenvalue. We denote by  $\Phi_0$  the corresponding normalized eigenfunction.

Equation (1) is well posed in  $H^1(\mathscr{G})$  and the proof proceeds along well known lines as an application of Banach fixed point theorem. Global well-posedness then follows by conservation laws. We introduce the integral form of Eq. (1)

$$\Psi(t) = e^{-iHt}\Psi_0 + i \int_0^t e^{-iH(t-s)} |\Psi(s)|^{2\mu} \Psi(s) \, ds \tag{2}$$

**Proposition 1 (Local Well-Posedness in**  $H^1(\mathcal{G})$ ) Let  $\mu > 0$  and Assumption 1 hold true. For any  $\Psi_0 \in H^1(\mathcal{G})$ , there exists T > 0 such that the Eq. (2) has a unique solution  $\Psi \in C([0, T), H^1(\mathcal{G})) \cap C^1([0, T), H^1(\mathcal{G})^*)$ . Moreover, Eq. (2) has a maximal solution defined on an interval of the form  $[0, T^*)$ , and the following "blow-up alternative" holds: either  $T^* = \infty$  or

$$\lim_{t\to T^{\star}} \|\Psi(t)\|_{H^1(\mathscr{G})} = +\infty.$$

The nonlinear energy reads

$$E[\Psi] = E^{lin}[\Psi] - \frac{1}{\mu+1} \|\Psi\|_{2\mu+2}^{2\mu+2}$$
  
=  $\|\Psi'\|^2 + (\Psi, W\Psi) + \sum_{\underline{v} \in V} \alpha(\underline{v}) |\Psi(\underline{v})|^2 - \frac{1}{\mu+1} \|\Psi\|_{2\mu+2}^{2\mu+2}$ 

and it is defined on  $H^1(\mathscr{G})$ . The mass functional is given by

$$M[\Psi] = \|\Psi\|^2.$$

**Proposition 2 (Conservation Laws)** Let  $\mu > 0$ . For any solution  $\Psi \in C^0([0,T), H^1(\mathcal{G})) \cap C^1([0,T), H^1(\mathcal{G})^*)$  to the problem (2), the following conservation laws hold at any time t:

$$M[\Psi(t)] = M[\Psi(0)], \qquad E[\Psi(t)] = E[\Psi(0)].$$

**Proposition 3 (Global Well-Posedness)** Let  $0 < \mu < 2$ . For any  $\Psi_0 \in H^1(\mathscr{G})$ , the Eq. (2) has a unique solution  $\Psi \in C^0([0,\infty), H^1(\mathscr{G})) \cap C^1([0,\infty), H^1(\mathscr{G})^*)$ .

The main theorem in [18] gives the existence of nonlinear ground state under the above assumptions.

**Theorem 1** Let  $0 < \mu < 2$  and consider on a graph  $\mathcal{G}$  the following minimization problem:

$$-\nu = \inf\{E[\Psi] \text{ s.t. } \Psi \in H^1(\mathscr{G}), M[\Psi] = m\}.$$
(3)

If Assumptions 1, and 2 hold true, then  $mE_0 < v < +\infty$  for any m > 0. Moreover, there exists  $m^* > 0$  such that for  $0 < m < m^*$  there exists  $\hat{\Psi} \in H^1(\mathcal{G})$ , with  $M[\hat{\Psi}] = m$ , such that  $E[\hat{\Psi}] = -v$ .

Notice that by standard arguments  $\hat{\Psi}$  is orbitally stable, see [19]. We make some comments on the assumptions and then we sketch some ideas of the proof.

We remark that if  $\mathscr{G}$  is a compact connected graph without infinite edges, the minimization problem (3) admits a solution whenever the energy functional  $E[\Psi]$  is bounded from below.

Assumption 1 is a rather weak hypothesis which is sufficient to guarantee that  $E^{lin}$  is the quadratic form of a selfadjoint operator bounded from below.

Assumption 2 assures existence of a unique *linear* ground state and it is satisfied in many relevant examples, such as the following:

- (a) No delta terms, i.e.  $\alpha(\underline{v}) = 0$  for all  $\underline{v}$  (also called Kirchhoff boundary conditions at vertices, see, e.g. [28]) and a sufficiently well behaved and decaying external potential attractive in the mean, i.e. such that  $\int_{\mathscr{G}} W < 0$ . In the pure Kirchhoff case (with no potentials) an extensive analysis of NLS with power nonlinearity has been given in the recent papers [8, 11], where in particular it is shown that existence of a ground state for subcritical nonlinearity holds true only in some exceptional cases, the simplest one being the tadpole graph [17, 32]. Here we show that summing a small negative potential restores the ground state generically.
- (b) Absence of potential term and delta interactions negative in the mean:  $\sum_{v \in V} \alpha(\underline{v}) < 0$  (Se also [20] for an explicit example in this case).
- (c) A mixing of the two: delta interaction at the vertices and well behaved potentials with negative potential energy:  $\sum_{v \in V} \alpha(\underline{v}) + \int_{\mathscr{A}} W < 0.$

Notice that at the level of quadratic form and in this one dimensional problem, strictly speaking, one could consider on the same footing both the delta terms and the regular potential term. We have a preference to keep separate the two contributions because this is the usual way they are treated in quantum graph literature.

Assumption 1 with the additional request that the potential W is relatively compact with respect to the laplacian on the graph (Kirchhoff or delta boundary conditions or a mixing of the two) assures that the Hamiltonian H admits an essential spectrum  $\sigma_e(H) = [0, +\infty)$ . So that, with this additional condition, a necessary hypothesis for Assumption 2 be satisfied is that at least a negative eigenvalue exists. It is straightforward to prove, considering a trial function constant on the compact part of the graph and smoothly vanishing at infinity that if  $\sum_{\underline{v}\in V} |\alpha(\underline{v})| + \int_{\mathscr{G}} W$  is negative the quadratic form is negative on this trial function and so a negative eigenvalue exists. Moreover the delta interactions contribute at most with a finite number of eigenvalues and the same holds true if  $W_{-}$  is vanishing sufficiently fast at infinity. The additional request  $\int_{\mathscr{G}} W(\underline{x})(1 + |\underline{x}|)d\underline{x} < \infty$ , as in the line or half line cases is sufficient to guarantee that the discrete spectrum is finite. In particular  $-E_0 < 0$  is an isolated eigenvalue.

The non degeneracy of the principal eigenvalue is a subtler problem. When a ground state exists this property is assured by and is equivalent to the fact that the heat semigroup  $S(t) = \exp(-tH)$  associated to *H* is positivity improving (see [34, Theorem XIII.44]). Moreover, a positivity preserving heat semigroup S(t) is positivity improving, its generator has no ground state degeneracy and its ground state is positive if and only if S(t) is irreducible. The Hamiltonian operator  $H_0$ , corresponding to the operator *H* with W = 0 and  $\alpha(\underline{v}) \equiv 0$  generates a positive improving heat semigroup, see [25, 26]. This property is recovered for *H* by a standard approximation argument. We add, by way of information, that simplicity of *all* eigenvalues of quantum graph with delta interactions at vertices can be shown to be a generic property up to changing edge lengths and intensity of delta interactions, and again in absence of tadpoles (see [16] for details).

The main tool of the proof is an adaptation of concentration compactness lemma to the considered class of graphs. Notice that the translation invariance of the domain is broken and this forces a more detailed analysis of the Compact case which is split into Convergence and Runaway.

Let  $d(\underline{x}, \underline{y})$  be the distance between two points of the graph, defined as the infimum of the length of the paths connecting  $\underline{x}$  to  $\underline{y}$  and let  $B(\underline{y}, t)$  be the open ball of radius *t* and center *y* 

$$B(y, t) := \{ \underline{x} \in \mathcal{G} \text{ s.t. } d(\underline{x}, y) < t \}.$$

For any function  $\Psi \in L^2$  and  $t \ge 0$  we define the concentration function  $\rho(\Psi, t)$  as

$$\rho(\Psi, t) = \sup_{y \in \mathscr{G}} \|\Psi\|_{B(\underline{y}, t)}^2.$$

For any sequence  $\Psi_n \in L^2$  we define the concentrated mass parameter  $\tau$  as

$$\tau = \lim_{t\to\infty} \liminf_{n\to\infty} \rho(\Psi_n, t) \, .$$

The parameter  $\tau$  plays a key role in the concentration compactness lemma because it distinguishes the occurrence of vanishing, dichotomy or compactness in  $H^1(\mathcal{G})$ -bounded sequences.

**Lemma 1** (Concentration Compactness) Let m > 0 and  $\{\Psi_n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  be such that:  $\Psi_n \in H^1(\mathcal{G})$ ,

$$M[\Psi_n] \to m \quad as \quad n \to \infty ,$$
$$\sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \|\Psi'_n\| < \infty .$$

Then there exists a subsequence  $\{\Psi_{n_k}\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$  such that:

- *i)* (Compactness) If  $\tau = m$ , at least one of the two following cases occurs:
  - *i*<sub>1</sub>) (Convergence) There exists a function  $\Psi \in H^1(\mathscr{G})$  such that  $\Psi_{n_k} \to \Psi$  in  $L^p$  as  $k \to \infty$  for all  $2 \leq p \leq \infty$ .
  - *i*<sub>2</sub>) (*Runaway*) There exists  $e^* \in E^{ex}$ , such that for any t > 0, and  $2 \le p \le \infty$

$$\lim_{k\to\infty}\left(\sum_{e\neq e^*}\|(\Psi_{n_k})_e\|_{L^p(I_e)}^p+\|(\Psi_{n_k})_{e^*}\|_{L^p((0,t))}^p\right)=0.$$

- *ii)* (Vanishing) If  $\tau = 0$ , then  $\Psi_{n_k} \to 0$  in  $L^p$  as  $k \to \infty$  for all 2 .
- iii) (Dichotomy) If  $0 < \tau < m$ , then there exist two sequences  $\{R_k\}_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$  and  $\{S_k\}_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ in  $H^1(\mathscr{G})$  such that

$$\begin{split} \sup R_k \cap \sup S_k &= \emptyset \\ |R_k(\underline{x})| + |S_k(\underline{x})| \leq |\Psi_{n_k}(\underline{x})| \qquad \forall \underline{x} \in \mathscr{G} \\ \|R_k\|_{H^1(\mathscr{G})} + \|S_k\|_{H^1(\mathscr{G})} \leq c \|\Psi_{n_k}\|_{H^1(\mathscr{G})} \\ \lim_{k \to \infty} M[R_k] &= \tau \qquad \lim_{k \to \infty} M[S_k] = m - \tau \\ \lim_{k \to \infty} (\|\Psi_{n_k}\|_p^2 - \|R_k\|_p^2 - \|S_k\|_p^2) \geq 0 \\ \lim_{k \to \infty} (\|\Psi_{n_k}\|_p^p - \|R_k\|_p^p - \|S_k\|_p^p) = 0 \qquad 2 \leq p < \infty \\ \lim_{k \to \infty} \||\Psi_{n_k}\|_p^2 - |R_k|_p^2 - |S_k|^2\|_{\infty} = 0. \end{split}$$

The strategy of the proof is simple. We have to prove that a minimizing sequence  $\{\Psi_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  can not be Vanishing, Dychotomic and Runaway as in the Concentration Compactness Lemma. Then it is straightforward to prove Theorem 1 from the Convergent case.

Up to subsequence,  $\Psi_n$  satisfy the following lower bound:

$$\frac{1}{\mu+1} \|\Psi_n\|_{2\mu+2}^{2\mu+2} + (\Psi, W_-\Psi) + \sum_{\underline{v}\in V_-} |\alpha(\underline{v})| |\Psi_n(\underline{v})|^2 \ge \frac{\nu}{2}.$$

where  $V_{-}$  is the set of vertices where  $\alpha(\underline{v}) < 0$ . This is sufficient to rule out the Vanishing and the Dichotomy case. In order to rule out the Runaway case a more detailed analysis is required.

First it is proved that the energy of a Runaway sequence admits a lower bound by  $E_{\infty} = E_{\infty}(m, \mu)$  which provides a threshold. This energy is associated with the corresponding variational problem on the line, that is:

$$E_{\infty} = \inf\left\{\frac{1}{2}\int_{\mathbb{R}} |\phi'(x)|^2 dx - \frac{1}{2\mu + 2}\int_{\mathbb{R}} |\phi(x)|^{2\mu + 2} \text{ s.t. } \phi \in H^1(\mathbb{R}), \int_{\mathbb{R}} |\phi(x)|^2 dx = m\right\}$$

Such a value is a crucial threshold in the minimization problem: if we can exhibit a trial function with lower energy then the Runaway case does not occur. Otherwise we can not exclude that  $\Psi_n$  converges weakly to 0 and we expect that the minimizer  $\hat{\Psi}$  does not exist. This lower bound is quite natural since in the Runaway case  $\Psi_n$  is localized a single edge farther and farther from the compact region and therefore its contribution is negligible. We can say in general that for minimizing sequence  $\{\Psi_n\}$  there is a competition between the possibility of staying in the compact region and running away at infinity along a single edge. Intuitively if the potential well is sufficiently deep the first possibility is favored otherwise the second occurs. It turns out that it is sufficient to assume that the potential creates a negative eigenvalue for *H* in order to rule out the Runaway case.

In order to exhibit such a trial function one need some guess on the ground state. In [18] it has been provided by bifurcation analysis of stationary state equation

$$H\Phi_{\omega} - |\Phi_{\omega}|^{2\mu}\Phi_{\omega} = -\omega\Phi_{\omega} \qquad \Phi \in \mathscr{D}(H), \ \omega > 0, \tag{4}$$

It has been proved that for sufficiently small *m* there is a continuous branch of solutions  $\Phi_{\omega}$  of (4) bifurcating from the linear ground state  $\Phi_0$  that has lower energy than the threshold described above and therefore the Runaway case does not happen and we are in the convergent case. Assumption 2 allows to apply bifurcation theory from an eigenvalue in its easiest version and to construct the nonlinear ground state. We stress that there is no obstruction in principle to consider bifurcation from a degenerate eigenvalue but we prefer to avoid unnecessary complications. Moreover the ground state is an element of such branch of stationary states.

#### **3** Comparison with Other Results

In this section we compare Theorem 1 with other similar recent results in the literature. First of all notice that it ensures the existence of an absolute minimum just for an interval of masses. This is due to the nature of the problem and not to technical limitations as the results in [7] show. We comment on such results.

In [7] the same variational problem as in Theorem 1 is considered but in a simpler setting. First no external potential is present and then the underlying graph is a star graph, N half-lines with a common vertex, with an attractive  $\delta$ -interaction of strength  $\alpha$  in the vertex. Similar results are obtained.

**Theorem 2** Let  $m^{**}$  be defined by

$$m^{**} = 2 \frac{(\mu+1)^{1/\mu}}{\mu} \left(\frac{|\alpha|}{N}\right)^{\frac{2-\mu}{\mu}} \int_0^1 (1-t^2)^{\frac{1}{\mu}-1} dt.$$

Let  $\alpha < 0$  and assume  $m \leq m^{**}$  and  $0 < \mu < 2$ . Define

$$-\nu = \inf\{E[\Psi] \text{ s.t. } \Psi \in \mathscr{E}, \ M[\Psi] = m\},\$$

then  $0 < v < \infty$  and there exists  $\hat{\Psi}$  such that  $M[\hat{\Psi}] = m$  and  $E[\hat{\Psi}] = -v$ .

The explicit expression of  $\hat{\Psi}$  and of any other critical points of the energy functional can be given. For any  $\omega > 0$ , we label the soliton profile on the real line as

$$\phi_{\omega}(x) = \left[(\mu+1)\omega\right]^{\frac{1}{2\mu}}\operatorname{sech}^{\frac{1}{\mu}}(\mu\sqrt{\omega}x).$$
(5)

For any  $\alpha < 0, j = 0, \dots, \left[\frac{N-1}{2}\right]$  ([x] denoting the integer part of x) and  $\omega > \frac{\alpha^2}{(N-2j)^2}$  we define  $\Psi_{\omega,j}$  as

$$\left(\Phi_{\omega,j}\right)(x,i) = \begin{cases} \phi_{\omega}(x-a_j) & i=1,\dots,j\\ \phi_{\omega}(x+a_j) & i=j+1,\dots,N \end{cases}$$
(6)

with

$$a_j = \frac{1}{\mu\sqrt{\omega}}\operatorname{arctanh}\left(\frac{|\alpha|}{(N-2j)\sqrt{\omega}}\right).$$
(7)

The functions  $\Phi_{\omega,j} \in \mathscr{D}(H)$  and are solutions of the stationary equation

$$H\Phi_{\omega} - |\Phi_{\omega}|^{2\mu}\Phi_{\omega} = -\omega\Phi_{\omega}.$$
(8)

We say that  $\Phi_{\omega,j}$  has a "bump" (resp. a "tail") on the edge *i* if  $(\Phi_{\omega,j})(x, i)$  is of the form  $\phi_{\omega}(x - a_j)$  (resp.  $\phi_{\omega}(x + a_j)$ ). The index *j* in  $\Phi_{\omega,j}$  denotes the number of bumps of the state  $\Phi_{\omega,j}$ . For this reason, we refer to the stationary state  $\Phi_{\omega,0}$  as the "*N*-tail state". We remark that the *N*-tail state is the only symmetric (i.e. invariant under permutation of the edges) solution of Eq. (8). For  $j \ge 1$  there are  $\binom{N}{j}$  distinct solutions obtained by formulae (6) and (7) by positioning the bumps on the edges in all the possible ways. For instance, if N = 3 then there are two stationary states, a three-tail state and a two-tail/one-bump state. They are shown in Fig. 2.



**Fig. 2** Stationary states for N = 3,  $\alpha < 0$ 

**Theorem 3** Let  $\alpha < 0$  and assume  $m \leq m^{**}$  and  $0 < \mu < 2$ ; then the minimizer  $\hat{\Psi}$  coincides with the N-tail state defined by  $\Phi_{\omega_0,0}$  where  $\omega_0$  is chosen such that  $M[\Phi_{\omega_0,0}] = m$ .

The explicit knowledge of the putative ground allows to obtain an explicit estimate of  $m^{**}$  in a straightforward way by giving a sufficient condition such that  $E[\Psi_{\omega_0,0}] < E_{\infty}$  and the Runaway case is excluded. For  $\mu = 1$  the energy of the ground state takes a simple expression and it is given by

$$E[\Phi_{\omega_{0},0}] = -\frac{1}{24N^{2}}m(m^{2} + 6m|\alpha| + 12|\alpha|^{2})$$

while the threshold at infinity is given by

$$E_{\infty} = -\frac{m^3}{96}$$

Then if N > 2 and  $m/|\alpha|$  is sufficiently big, we have that  $E[\Phi_{\omega_0,0}] > E_{\infty}$  and no absolute minimizer exists since any other critical points has higher energy than the *N*-tail state. It is interesting noticing that in such limit  $\Phi_{\omega_0,0}$  is still a stationary state and in facts it becomes a local minimizers for large *m*, see [10]. This concrete example shows that we can not expect to find a ground state for the NLS at any mass *m*. The case  $N \leq 2$  is not included in this remark, indeed in the case of the line with a delta interaction, the existence of the ground state for every value of the mass was given in [5], which covers also other examples of point interactions, while an even more singular interaction is treated in [1]. One unusual feature of the star graph is the possibility to find all the critical points of the energy functional. This is due to the simplicity of the compact core, which is in this case just a point. If one consider a more general solution, when the compact case admit cycles (a closed path), a much more complex scenario is expected. In particular if the edges of a cycles are rationally dependent, the linear operator H admits infinitely many eigenvalues embedded in the continuum spectrum with corresponding eigenvectors localized in the compact core of the graph. Stationary states of the non linear problem may bifurcate from such eigenvalues of the linear problem. This phenomenon is observed in [17] where the stationary equation is considered for a cubic NLS on a tadpole graph.

$$H\Phi_{\omega} - |\Phi_{\omega}|^{2\mu}\Phi_{\omega} = -\omega\Phi_{\omega} \qquad \Phi \in \mathscr{D}(H), \tag{9}$$

A tadpole is a cycle with one vertex and one infinite edge, see Fig. 3. A Kirchhoff boundary condition is considered in the vertex. In the cubic case, solutions of (9)in compact region, i.e. the cycle, are written in term of Jacobi elliptic functions. The Hamiltonian admits  $\lambda_n = (n\pi/L)^2$  as eigenvalues and the corresponding eigenvectors are localized on the head of the tadpole. Two families of stationary states are found. The first family called cn-solutions is infinite for every  $\omega$  and is made by solutions  $\Phi_{\omega,n}$  of (9) which bifurcate from the vacuum as  $\omega$  crosses  $\lambda_n$  and are localized on the head of the tadpole. Moreover each branch of cn-solution  $\Phi_{\omega,n}$ has an unexpected secondary bifurcation at  $\omega = 0$  splitting into  $\Phi_{\omega,n}^+$  and  $\Phi_{\omega,n}^-$ ; this related to the presence of zero energy resonance of H. See Fig. 4 for a plot of the first elements of this family and for the secondary bifurcation of an element. The second family called dn-solutions and denoted by  $\Xi_{\omega,n,1}$  (left) and  $\Xi_{\omega,n,2}$ , exist only for  $\omega < 0$  and it is finite although the number of existing dn-solutions depend on  $\omega$ . They are non zero everywhere and have no linear counterpart. See Fig. 5 for a plot of the first elements of this family. The tadpole graph shows that it would be extremely difficult for a general graph to have even a partial picture of the nonlinear spectrum, that is the set of critical points of the energy functional, although it is expected that they influence the propagation in the time dependent problem, see e.g. [24]. The analysis stationary states for general graphs in a suitable regime with weak nonlinearity has been carried out in [22] and [23].



Fig. 3 Tadpole graph



**Fig. 4** Left: plots of representatives of cn-state  $\Phi_{\omega,1}$  (left) and  $\Phi_{\omega,2}$  (right). Right: plots of representatives of cn-state  $\Phi_{\omega,1}^+$  (left) and  $\Phi_{\omega,1}^-$  (right). On the left of the horizontal axis the ring [-L, L]; on the right the halfline



**Fig. 5** Left: plots of representatives of dn-state  $\Xi_{\omega,0,1}$  (*left*) and  $\Xi_{\omega,0,2}$  (*right*). Right: plots of representatives of dn-state  $\Xi_{\omega,1,1}$  (*left*) and  $\Xi_{\omega,1,2}$  (*right*)

The ground state for the NLS on a general graph, like in Theorem 1, with Kirchhoff boundary condition, i.e.  $\alpha(\underline{v}) = 0$ , and no potential *W*, has been studied in a series of detailed papers, see [8, 9, 11]. It is clear that in this case the main hypothesis of Theorem 1, namely Assumption 2, is not satisfied since H > 0 and no negative eigenvalue is possible. In this setting there is no negative potential favoring Convergence over Runaway for a minimizing sequence and therefore the existence of ground state is not expected. They prove that for a very large class of graphs this the case, see [8]:

**Theorem 4** Assume that every point of  $\mathscr{G}$  lies in a path connecting different vertices at infinity, then  $-v = E_{\infty}$  and it is not achieved unless  $\mathscr{G}$  is a special class of graphs called "bubble tower".

These techniques and these results seem to be limited only to the Kirchhoff case. Indeed if we perturb a single vertex  $\underline{v}$  such that  $\alpha(\underline{v}) < 0$  and 0 otherwise, it is straightforward to prove that Assumption 2 is satisfied and Theorem 1 holds true, therefore a ground state exists.

It is also proved in [11] that if the topological assumption in Theorem 4 is violated, for certain graphs the a minimizer may exist depending on m. One example of such graph is the tadpole graph described above due to the presence of single half-line.

A second example is a star graph with a edge of length *l*. Notice this situation is qualitatively different from the situation considered in [7]. The reason is that, when looking for stationary states, one has a Neumann boundary condition in the vertex of

degree one instead of Dirichlet one. Therefore we do not expect that the minimizer, for instance, approaches the *N*-tail state of [7] as  $l \to \infty$ . Indeed they prove that the ground state exists for sufficiently large masses which is the opposite of Theorem 2.

# References

- 1. R. Adami, D. Noja, Stability and symmetry-breaking bifurcation for the ground states of a NLS with a  $\delta'$  interaction. Commun. Math. Phys. **318**, 247–289 (2013)
- R. Adami, C. Cacciapuoti, D. Finco, D. Noja, Fast solitons on star graphs. Rev. Math. Phys. 23(4), 409–451 (2011)
- 3. R. Adami, C. Cacciapuoti, D. Finco, D. Noja, On the structure of critical energy levels for the cubic focusing NLS on star graphs. J. Phys. A Math. Theor. **45**, 192001, 7pp. (2012)
- 4. R. Adami, C. Cacciapuoti, D. Finco, D. Noja, Stationary states of NLS on star graphs. Europhys. Lett. **100**, 10003, 6pp. (2012)
- R. Adami, D. Noja, N. Visciglia, Constrained energy minimization and ground states for NLS with point defects. Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. B 18, 1155–1188 (2013)
- R. Adami, C. Cacciapuoti, D. Finco, D. Noja, Variational properties and orbital stability of standing waves for NLS equation on a star graph. J. Differ. Equ. 257, 3738–3777 (2014)
- R. Adami, C. Cacciapuoti, D. Finco, D. Noja, Constrained energy minimization and orbital stability for the NLS equation on a star graph. Ann. Inst. Poincaré Anal. Non Linear 31(6), 1289–1310 (2014)
- R. Adami, E. Serra, P. Tilli, NLS ground states on graphs. Calc. Var. Partial Differ. Equ. 54(1), 743–761 (2015)
- 9. R. Adami, E. Serra, P. Tilli, *Lack of Ground State for NLSE on Bridge-Type Graphs*. Springer Proceedings in Mathematics and Statistics, vol. 128 (Springer, Berlin 2015)
- R. Adami, C. Cacciapuoti, D. Finco, D. Noja, Stable standing waves for a NLS on star graphs as local minimizers of the constrained energy. J. Differ. Equ. 260, 7397–7415 (2016)
- 11. R. Adami, E. Serra, P. Tilli, Threshold phenomena and existence results for NLS ground states on metric graphs. J. Funct. Anal. **271**(1), 201–223 (2016)
- F. Ali Mehmeti, K. Ammari, S. Nicaise, Dispersive effects for the Schrödinger equation on a tadpole graph. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 448, 262–280 (2017)
- V. Banica, L.I. Ignat, Dispersion for the Schrödinger equation on networks. J. Math. Phys. 52(8), 083703, 14pp. (2011)
- V. Banica, L.I. Ignat, Dispersion for the Schrödinger equation on the line with multiple Dirac delta potentials and on delta trees. Anal. Partial Differ. Equ. 7(4), 903–927 (2014)
- G. Berkolaiko, P. Kuchment, *Introduction to Quantum Graphs*. Mathematical Surveys and Monographs, vol. 186 (American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2013)
- G. Berkolaiko, W. Liu, Simplicity of eigenvalues and non-vanishing of eigenfunctions of a quantum graph. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 445, 803–818 (2017)
- C. Cacciapuoti, D. Finco, D. Noja, Topology induced bifurcations for the NLS on the tadpole graph. Phys. Rev. E 91(1), 013206, 8 pp. (2015)
- 18. C. Cacciapuoti, D. Finco, D. Noja, Ground state and orbital stability for the NLS equation on a general starlike graph with potentials (2016). preprint arXiv:1608.01506
- T. Cazenave, P.-L. Lions, Orbital stability of standing waves for some nonlinear Schrödinger equations. Commun. Math. Phys. 85, 549–561 (1982)
- 20. P. Exner, M. Jex, On the ground state of quantum graphs with attractive  $\delta$ -coupling. Phys. Lett. A **376**, 713–717 (2012)
- P. Exner, O. Turek, Approximations of singular vertex couplings in quantum graphs. Rev. Math. Phys. 19, 571–606 (2007)

- 22. S. Gnutzman, D. Walter, Stationary waves on nonlinear quantum graphs: general framework and canonical perturbation theory. Phys. Rev. E **93**, 032204 (2016)
- 23. S. Gnutzman, D. Walter, Stationary waves on nonlinear quantum graphs II: application of canonical perturbation theory in basic graph structures. Phys. Rev. E 94, 062216 (2016)
- S. Gnutzman, U. Smilansky, S. Derevyanko, Stationary scattering from a nonlinear network. Phys. Rev. A 83, 033831 (2011)
- 25. S. Haeseler, Heat kernel estimates and related inequalities on metric graphs. arXiv:1101.3010v1 (2011)
- M. Keller, D. Lenz, R. Wojciechowski, Note on basic features of large time behaviour of heat kernels. J. Reine Angew. Math. 708, 73–95 (2015)
- E. Kirr, P.G. Kevrekidis, D.E. Pelinovsky, Symmetry-breaking bifurcation in the nonlinear Schrödinger equation with symmetric potentials. Commun. Math. Phys. 308, 795–844 (2011)
- V. Kostrykin, R. Schrader, Kirchhoff's rule for quantum wires. J. Phys. A Math. Gen. 32(4), 595–630 (1999)
- J. Marzuola, D. E. Pelinovsky, Ground states on the dumbbell graph. Appl. Math. Res. Exp. 2016, 98–145 (2016)
- D. Mugnolo, Semigroup Methods for Evolution Equations on Networks (Springer, New York, 2014)
- D. Noja, Nonlinear Schrödinger equations on graphs: recent results and open problems. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. A 372, 20130002, 20 pp. (2014)
- D. Noja, D. Pelinovsky, G. Shaikhova, Bifurcation and stability of standing waves in the nonlinear Schrödinger equation on the tadpole graph. Nonlinearity 28, 2343–2378 (2015)
- D. Pelinovsky, G. Schneider, Bifurcations of standing localized waves on periodic graphs. Ann. Henri Poincaré 18, 1185 (2017). doi:10.1007/s00023-016-0536-z
- 34. M. Reed, B. Simon, *Methods of Modern Mathematical Physics IV, Analysis of Operators* (Academic, London, 1978)
- A. Soffer, M.I. Weinstein, Multichannel nonlinear scattering for nonintegrable equations. Commun. Math. Phys. 133, 119–146 (1990)
- A. Soffer, M.I. Weinstein, Selection of the ground state for nonlinear Schroedinger equations. Rev. Math. Phys. 16, 977–1071 (2004)

# Self-Adjoint Extensions of Dirac Operator with Coulomb Potential

**Matteo Gallone** 

**Abstract** In this note we give a concise review of the present state-of-art for the problem of self-adjoint realisations for the Dirac operator with a Coulomblike singular scalar potential  $V(\mathbf{x}) = \phi(\mathbf{x})I_4$ . We try to follow the historical and conceptual path that leads to the present understanding of the problem and to highlight the techniques employed and the main ideas. In the final part we outline a few major open questions that concern the topical problem of the multiplicity of self-adjoint realisations of the model, and which are worth addressing in the future.

**Keywords** Dirac-Coulomb operator • Distinguished self-adjoint extension • Self-adjoint extensions • von Neumann extension theory

# 1 Introduction

In relativistic quantum mechanics one is interested in the study of Dirac equation, a partial differential equation that describes the dynamics of a  $\frac{1}{2}$ -spin fermion. The phase space of the physical system is the Hilbert space  $\mathscr{L}^2 := L^2(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^4, \mathrm{d}^3x)$  which is

$$\mathscr{L}^{2} := \left\{ u \,|\, u : \mathbb{R}^{3} \to \mathbb{C}^{4}, \, \|u\|_{\mathscr{L}^{2}} < \infty \right\},\tag{1}$$

where if  $u = (u_1, u_2, u_3, u_4)$ , with  $u_j : \mathbb{R}^3 \to \mathbb{C}$ ,  $||u||_{\mathcal{L}^2}^2 = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \sum_{j=1}^4 |u_j(\mathbf{x})|^2 d^3x$ .

The minimal Dirac operator is defined by

$$T = \alpha \cdot \mathbf{p} + \beta + V(\mathbf{x}) \tag{2}$$

on the compactly supported smooth functions:

$$\mathscr{D}(T) = \mathscr{C}_c^{\infty} := C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \{0\}; \mathbb{C}^4), \tag{3}$$

169

M. Gallone  $(\boxtimes)$ 

SISSA, Via Bonomea 265, 34136 Trieste, Italy e-mail: matteo.gallone@sissa.it

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2017

A. Michelangeli, G. Dell'Antonio (eds.), *Advances in Quantum Mechanics*, Springer INdAM Series 18, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-58904-6\_10

where  $\mathbf{p} = -i\nabla$  is the momentum operator,  $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \alpha_3)$ ,  $\alpha_j$  and  $\alpha_4 = \beta$  are  $4 \times 4$  Hermitian matrices which satisfy the anti-commutation relation

$$\alpha_j \alpha_k + \alpha_k \alpha_j = 2\delta_{jk} I_4, \tag{4}$$

 $I_n$  is the  $n \times n$  identity matrix and V(x) is a real  $4 \times 4$  matrix valued function called *potential*. A standard form for the  $\alpha$  matrices is the following

$$\alpha_j = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \sigma_j \\ \sigma_j & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \beta = \begin{pmatrix} I_2 & 0 \\ 0 & -I_2 \end{pmatrix}, \tag{5}$$

where  $\sigma_i$  are the Pauli matrices

$$\sigma_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \sigma_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -i \\ i & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \sigma_3 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}. \tag{6}$$

In these notes we are interested in real scalar potentials of the form  $V(\mathbf{x}) = \phi(\mathbf{x})I_4$  which have a Coulomb-like singularity at the origin, namely  $\lim_{\mathbf{x}\to 0} |\mathbf{x}|\phi(\mathbf{x}) = \nu \in \mathbb{R}$ . For the sake of simplicity we will denote by  $T_0$  the free Dirac operator and will refer to the operator  $T = T_0 + V$  as the *Dirac-Coulomb* operator. A natural choice for  $\phi$  is the Coulomb potential

$$\phi(\mathbf{x}) = \frac{\nu}{|\mathbf{x}|},\tag{7}$$

and this means that one is modelling an electron subject to the electric field generated by v positive charge in the origin.

In atomic models  $\nu$  is related to the atomic number by

$$\nu = \frac{Z}{\alpha},\tag{8}$$

where Z is the atomic number and  $\alpha$  is the fine-structure constant  $\alpha \sim 137$ .

In the case of a multi-electron atom one can use some kind of screening approximation and an effective potential which is still Coulomb-like but it loses some properties like the spherical symmetry. This makes the study of self-adjoint extensions physically interesting also in the case of potentials with non spherical symmetry.

We collect in the following theorem what is known about the existence and uniqueness of self-adjoint extensions of the minimal Dirac-Coulomb operator [11, 14, 22–24, 26, 29].

**Theorem 1 (Self-Adjoint Extensions of the Minimal Dirac-Coulomb Operator)** Let  $T = T_0 + V$  be a Dirac-Coulomb operator defined on  $\mathscr{C}_c^{\infty}$  with  $V(\mathbf{x}) = \phi(\mathbf{x})I_4$ and

$$\lim_{\mathbf{x}\to 0} |\mathbf{x}|\phi(\mathbf{x}) = \nu.$$
(9)

Then:

*i)* if  $|v| < \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}$ , then the operator T is essentially self-adjoint and its unique self-adjoint extension has domain

$$\mathscr{D}(\bar{T}) = \mathscr{H}^1 := H^1(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}^4, \mathrm{d}^3 x).$$
(10)

*ii)* If  $\frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} < |v| < 1$ , then the operator T has infinitely many self-adjoint extensions and if  $\phi(\mathbf{x})$  is bounded below or above there exists a unique distinguished extension  $T_d$  with the properties

$$\mathscr{D}(T_d) \subset \mathscr{D}(|\mathbf{x}|^{-1/2}), \qquad \mathscr{D}(T_d) \subset \mathscr{D}(|T_0|^{1/2}).$$
(11)

*iii)* If |v| > 1, then there are infinitely many self-adjoint extensions of T.

The reason why in the regime  $\frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} < |\nu| < 1$  we call  $T_d$  distinguished is that physically the condition (11) is a requirement for the functions in  $\mathcal{D}(T_d)$  to have a finite kinetic and potential energy. It is also notice-worthy that  $T_d$  is the unique self-adjoint extension with this property (see Sect. 3.2).

Another important remark is on the threshold value  $|\nu| = \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}$ . In fact, in this case, it is not possible to determine whereas *T* is essentially self-adjoint or not without any further information on *V* (see [29] for more details). In the special case of the pure Coulomb potential (7) for the choice  $|\nu| = \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}$  the operator *T* is essentially self-adjoint.

Due to these reasons, in the literature one usually refers to (i) as the *regular regime*, to (ii) as the *transitory regime*, and to (iii) as the *critical regime*.

The first step in the study of self-adjoint extensions is the computation of the deficiency indices of the Dirac-Coulomb operator: we discuss it in Sect. 2. In Sect. 3 we place the study of the self-adjoint extensions of Dirac-Coulomb operators into a historical perspective from Kato's paper in 1951 up to recent works. This includes also the sketch of some key proofs, with no pretension of completeness. In Sect. 4 we present what is known about the classification of self-adjoint extensions of the Dirac operator. Last, in Sect. 5 we present some questions that, to our opinion, are more relevant and deserve further investigations.

# 2 Deficiency Indices

In this section we compute the deficiency indices for the Dirac-Coulomb operator. We recall that given a densely defined symmetric operator T its deficiency indices are

$$n_{\pm} := \dim \ker(T^* \mp i). \tag{12}$$

In a sense they measure 'how far' the operator *T* is from being self-adjoint. More precisely, by a well-known result (see [18] Corollary to Theorem X.2), a densely defined symmetric operator admits non-trivial self-adjoint extensions if and only if the deficiency indices are equal and different from zero:  $n_+ = n_- \neq 0$ . If this is true and  $n_+ < \infty$ , then all the self-adjoint extensions of *T* are parametrized by  $n_+^2$  real parameters. It is therefore very natural to begin this review on self-adjoint extensions of Dirac-Coulomb operator with the computation of the deficiency indices.

**Theorem 2 ([26], Theorem 6.9)** Let *T* be the Dirac operator with Coulomb potential with  $V(x) = \frac{\nu}{|x|} I_4$  defined on  $\mathscr{C}_c^{\infty}$ . Then the deficiency indices are

*i*) (0,0) if  $|\nu| \le \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}$ ; *ii*) (2n(n+1), 2n(n+1)) if  $\sqrt{n^2 - \frac{1}{4}} < |\nu| \le \sqrt{(1+n)^2 - \frac{1}{4}}$  with  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ .

*Remark 1* The deficiency indices for the Dirac operator with scalar potential are the same even if we relax the hypothesis of spherical symmetry of the potential. In fact, the statement of the theorem remains unchanged except for the fact that the inequalities become all strict. In order to compute the deficiency indices for  $v = \sqrt{n^2 - \frac{1}{4}}$  in the general case of non spherical symmetry one needs additional information on the potential (see [29] Theorem 4.2).

*Proof* By passing to polar coordinates and denoting with  $d\Omega$  the surface measure of the unit sphere we obtain an isomorphism

$$U: L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3}, \mathbb{C}, \mathrm{d}^{3}x) \to L^{2}((0, \infty), \mathbb{C}, \mathrm{d}r) \otimes L^{2}(\mathbb{S}^{2}, \mathbb{C}, \mathrm{d}\Omega)$$
(13)

by setting for each  $\Psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{C}, d^3x)$ 

$$(U\Psi)(r,\vartheta,\varphi) = r\Psi(\mathbf{x}(r,\vartheta,\varphi)). \tag{14}$$

The isomorphism can be extended to  $\mathscr{L}^2$  component-wise and it will be denoted with the same symbol. Under this transformation the free Dirac operator takes the form

$$UT_0 U^* = -\mathbf{i}(\alpha \cdot \hat{\mathbf{r}}) \left( \frac{\partial}{\partial r} - \frac{2}{r} \mathbf{S} \cdot \mathbf{L} \right) + \beta.$$
(15)

Here  $\mathbf{L} = \mathbf{x} \times \mathbf{p}$  denotes the angular momentum operator,  $\mathbf{S} = -\frac{1}{4}\alpha \times \alpha$  the spin operator and  $\hat{\mathbf{r}}$  is the radial versor.

A direct computation shows that the operator  $\mathbf{S} \cdot \mathbf{L}$  commutes with the free Dirac operator  $UT_0U^*$ . To proceed in the analysis it is convenient to introduce the operator  $K = 2\beta(\mathbf{S} \cdot \mathbf{L} + 1)$  in order to re-write the free Dirac operator as

$$UT_0 U^* = -\mathbf{i}(\alpha \cdot \hat{\mathbf{r}}) \left( \frac{\partial}{\partial r} + \frac{1}{r} - \frac{1}{r} \beta K \right) + \beta.$$
(16)

Denoting with  $\mathbf{J} = \mathbf{L} + \mathbf{S}$  the total angular momentum operator, it is possible to show that the operator *K* commutes with  $J^2$  and with the third component of the total angular momentum operator  $J_3$ . Moreover, it is possible to find a common basis of infinitely differentiable orthonormal eigenfunctions on  $L^2(\mathbb{S}^2, \mathbb{C}^4, d\Omega)$  and to prove that all these operators have pure point spectrum (see [26] appendix to section 1).

The Hilbert space decomposes into the direct sum of 2-dimensional spaces

$$L^{2}(\mathbb{S}^{2}, \mathbb{C}^{4}, \mathrm{d}\Omega) = \bigoplus_{j \in \mathbb{N} + \frac{1}{2}} \bigoplus_{m_{j} = -j}^{j} \bigoplus_{\kappa_{j} = \pm(j + \frac{1}{2})} \mathscr{K}_{m_{j}, \kappa_{j}},$$
(17)

where  $\mathscr{K}_{m_j,\kappa_j} = \operatorname{span}\{\Phi_{m_j,\kappa_j}^+, \Phi_{m_j,\kappa_j}^-\}$  and  $\Phi_{\kappa_j,m_j}^{\pm}$  are smooth common eigenfunctions of  $J^2$ , K,  $J_3$  with eigenvalues j(j+1),  $\kappa_j$  and  $m_j$  respectively.

Now each vector  $\psi \in U^* \mathscr{C}^{\infty}_c$  can be written as

$$\psi(r,\vartheta,\varphi) = \frac{1}{r} \sum_{j,m_j,\kappa_j} \left( f^+_{m_j,\kappa_j}(r) \Phi^+_{m_j,\kappa_j}(\vartheta,\varphi) + f^-_{m_j,\kappa_j}(r) \Phi^-_{m_j,\kappa_j}(\vartheta,\varphi) \right)$$
(18)

with coefficient functions  $f_{m_j,\kappa_j}^{\pm}(r) \in C_c^{\infty}((0,\infty))$ . Hence, by putting together all the ingredients, we can compute the action of the radial Dirac-Coulomb operator on each reducing subspace  $\mathscr{K}_{m_j,\kappa_j} \otimes C_c^{\infty}((0,\infty))$  as

$$t_{m_j,\kappa_j} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 + \frac{\nu}{r} & -\frac{d}{dr} + \frac{\kappa_j}{r} \\ \frac{d}{dr} + \frac{\kappa_j}{r} & -1 + \frac{\nu}{r} \end{pmatrix},\tag{19}$$

and one is left with the computation of the deficiency indices for this ordinary differential operator.

Following Weidmann's argument we exploit a limit-point/limit-circle analysis. The differential operator  $t_{m_j,\kappa_j}$  is said to be in the *limit point case* at 0 (resp. at  $\infty$ ) if for every  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$  all solutions of  $(t_{m_j,\kappa_j} - \lambda)u = 0$  are square integrable in (0, 1) (resp. in  $(1, \infty)$ ). The operator  $t_{m_j,\kappa_j}$  is said to be in the *limit circle case* at 0 (resp. at  $\infty$ ) if for every  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$  there is at least one solution of  $(t_{m_j,\kappa_j} - \lambda)u = 0$  which is not square integrable in (0, 1) (resp. in  $(1, \infty)$ ).

Once we know if  $t_{m_j,\kappa_j}$  is in the limit circle case or in the limit point case the following general theorem gives us the deficiency indices.

#### **Theorem 3** ([26], **Theorem 5.7**) *The deficiency indices of* $t_{m_i,\kappa_i}$ *are*

- *i*) (2, 2) if  $t_{m_j,\kappa_j}$  is in limit circle case at both 0 and  $\infty$ ;
- *ii)* (1, 1) *if*  $t_{m_j,\kappa_j}$  *is in limit circle case at one end point and in limit point case at the other;*
- *iii)* (0,0) *if*  $t_{m_i,\kappa_i}$  *is in limit point case at both* 0 *and*  $\infty$ *.*

By Weyl's alternative theorem (see [26] Theorem 5.6), either for every  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$  all solutions of  $(t_{m_j,\kappa_j} - \lambda)u = 0$  are square integrable in (0, 1) (resp. in  $(1, \infty)$ ), or for every  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$  there exists a unique (up to a multiplicative constant) solution u of  $(t_{m_j,\kappa_j} - \lambda)u = 0$  which is square integrable in (0, 1) (resp. in  $(1, \infty)$ ). Therefore, since no third option is possible, it is sufficient to check whether both the solutions of  $t_{m_j,\kappa_j}u = 0$  are square integrable in (0, 1) and  $(1, \infty)$ .

To check if  $t_{m_j,\kappa_j}$  is in the limit-point or in the limit-circle case we consider the operator  $(t_{m_j,\kappa_j} - \beta)$ . The subtraction of a bounded operator does not change the computation of the deficiency indices. Choosing  $\lambda = 0$ , the equation to be solved is  $(t_{m_i,\kappa_j} - \beta)u = 0$ . Its solutions are

$$u(r) = \begin{pmatrix} u^{+}(r) \\ u^{-}(r) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \pm \sqrt{\kappa_{j}^{2} - \nu^{2} - \kappa_{j}} \\ \nu \end{pmatrix} r^{\pm \sqrt{\kappa_{j}^{2} - \nu^{2}}}.$$
 (20)

From this explicit expression we see that the solution with positive exponent cannot be square integrable in  $(1, \infty)$  and hence independently of the parameters  $\kappa_j$  and  $\nu$  the operator is always in the limit point case at infinity.

The solution with positive exponent is always square integrable in (0, 1) while the one with negative square root is square integrable near zero if and only if

$$-2\sqrt{\kappa_j^2 - \nu^2} \le -1,\tag{21}$$

which means

$$\nu^2 \le \kappa_j^2 - \frac{1}{4}.\tag{22}$$

Then if  $\nu$  satisfies (22), the operator is in the limit point case at both endpoints. By Theorem 3, if (22) holds the deficiency indices of the operator are (0,0), otherwise the deficiency indices of the operator are (1,1).

To compute the deficiency indices of the full operator we have to count how many reduced operators are not essentially self-adjoint. Explicitly,

$$n_{\pm} = \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N} + \frac{1}{2}} \sum_{m_j = -j}^{j} \sum_{\kappa_j = \pm (j + \frac{1}{2})} \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } \nu^2 > \kappa_j - \frac{1}{4} \\ 0 & \text{else} \end{cases}$$
(23)

Let *n* be the integer such that  $n^2 - \frac{1}{4} < v^2 \le (n+1)^2 - \frac{1}{4}$ . We obtain

$$n_{\pm} = \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N} + \frac{1}{2}}^{n - \frac{1}{2}} \sum_{m_j = -j}^{j} 2 = 2n(n+1).$$
(24)

#### **3** Potential with Coulomb-Like Singularity

In this section we review the historical path that, together with the results in the previous section, led to the present understanding on the existence and uniqueness of self-adjoint extensions of the minimal Dirac-Coulomb operator.

Conceptually and historically the two main questions addressed so far, and that we are going to analyse are:

- 1. Is the operator  $T_0 + V$  essentially self-adjoint?
- 2. If it is not, is there a special self-adjoint extension which is physically relevant?

The technique employed in answering the first question is essentially a perturbative argument based on the Kato-Rellich theorem and it is addressed in the first subsection.

The second question presents a wider range of answers and many authors provided different meaningful special extensions. Only at a later stage they recognized that, under some hypothesis, they were referring to the same operator. This subject is addressed in the second subsection.

#### 3.1 Essential Self-Adjointness via Kato-Rellich Theorem

One of the first proofs of the essential self-adjointness for the Dirac-Coulomb operator is due to Kato in 1951 as a direct application of the Kato-Rellich theorem. Despite the simplicity of the proof, this does not cover the whole range of the parameter  $\nu$  on which the Dirac-Coulomb operator is essentially self-adjoint.

Some years later two different approaches based on the same theorem were developed in order to cover the range  $[0, \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}]$ : the first one, due to Rejtö and Gustafsson [10, 19] aimed to weaken its hypotheses, the other one due to Schminke [22] uses the original theorem. Instead of looking to V as a perturbation of  $T_0$  he introduced an operator C and considered  $T_0 + V = (T_0 + C) + (V - C)$ . To prove the essential self-adjointness of  $T_0 + V$  he proved separately the essential self-adjointness of  $T_0 + C$  as a perturbation satisfying the hypothesis of Kato-Rellich.

Several other works dealt with the same problem, among which we mention [5, 7, 15, 20, 21, 25]. For a self-contained conceptual review we present in detail only the above-mentioned ones of Rejtö-Gustaffson and Schmincke.

Since it will play a central role in this subsection, we recall the classical statement of the Kato-Rellich theorem.

**Theorem 4 (Kato-Rellich)** Suppose that A is an essentially self-adjoint operator, B is a symmetric operator that is A-bounded with relative bound a < 1, namely

- i)  $\mathscr{D}(B) \supset \mathscr{D}(A);$
- *ii)* For some a < 1,  $b \in \mathbb{R}$  and for all  $\varphi \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ ,

$$\|B\varphi\| \le a\|A\varphi\| + b\|\varphi\|.$$
<sup>(25)</sup>

Then  $\overline{A + B}$  is self-adjoint on  $\mathcal{D}(\overline{A})$  and essentially self-adjoint on any core of A.

Let us start with surveying Kato's proof from [12, 13]. The starting point is the well-known Hardy inequality (see [18] section X.2 p.169)

$$\|\mathbf{p}u\|^2 \ge \frac{1}{4} \|r^{-1}u\|^2, \quad \forall u \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3).$$
 (26)

By using the properties of the  $\alpha$  matrices we get the identity

$$||T_0u||^2 = ||\mathbf{p}u||^2 + \langle (\beta \alpha \cdot \mathbf{p} + \alpha \cdot \mathbf{p}\beta)u, u \rangle + ||u||^2 = ||\mathbf{p}u||^2 + ||u||^2.$$
(27)

Thus, we see that if the potential is  $|\phi(\mathbf{x})| \leq \frac{\nu}{|\mathbf{x}|}$ , we get the following chain of inequalities

$$\|\mathbf{p}u\|^{2} \geq \frac{1}{4} \|r^{-1}u\|^{2} \geq \frac{1}{4\nu^{2}} \|\phi(\mathbf{x})u\|^{2},$$
(28)

from which it follows that

$$\|\phi(\mathbf{x})u\| \le 4\nu^2 \|T_0 u\|^2 - 4\nu^2 \|u\|^2.$$
<sup>(29)</sup>

If  $\nu < \frac{1}{2}$ , the hypotheses of the Kato-Rellich theorem are satisfied and one deduces that  $T_0 + V$  is essentially self-adjoint and the domain of the unique self adjoint extension is

$$\mathscr{D}(\overline{T_0 + V}) = \mathscr{H}^1.$$
(30)

*Remark 2* By using Wüst theorem (see [18] theorem X.14) one can cover the case  $v = \frac{1}{2}$ . However the information on the domain of the self-adjoint extension is lost.

*Remark 3* The result is independent of the possible spherical symmetry and of precise matricial form of the potential: the conclusion holds if  $\lim_{x\to 0} |x| |V_{ij}(x)| < \frac{1}{2}$ , where i, j = 1, 2 and  $V_{ij}$  are the entries of the matrix V.

*Remark* 4 Arai [1, 2] showed that by considering more general matrix-valued potentials of the form

$$V(x) = \frac{Z}{r}I_4 + \frac{i}{r}\alpha \cdot \hat{\mathbf{r}}\beta b_1 + \frac{\beta}{r}b_2$$
(31)

the necessary and sufficient condition for the essential self-adjointness is  $(\kappa_i + b_1)^2 +$  $b_2^2 \ge Z^2 + \frac{1}{4}$  and hence the threshold  $\frac{1}{2}$  is optimal, in the sense that if V is in the form above and one of the entry of the matrix satisfies  $|x||V_{ij}| > \frac{1}{2}$  then it is possible to choose  $Z, b_1, b_2$  such that the operator is not essentially self-adjoint.

In a work from 1970, Rejtö [19] discussed the particular case of spherically symmetric Coulomb-like potentials. By denoting with  $B(\mathcal{L}^2)$  the set of bounded operators on  $\mathscr{L}^2$ , the requirement on V for the operator  $T_0 + V$  to be essentially selfadjoint on  $\mathscr{C}^{\infty}_{c}$  boils down to asking that  $\exists \mu_{\pm}$  in the upper/lower closed complex half plane such that

$$(1 - \bar{V}(\mu_{\pm} - \bar{A}_0)^{-1}) \in \mathcal{B}(\mathscr{L}^2).$$
(32)

Proving that the Dirac operator with Coulomb interaction satisfies this hypothesis for  $\nu \in [0, \frac{3}{4})$ , he was able to show that under this condition such an operator is essentially self-adjoint and the domain of its self-adjoint extension is  $\mathcal{H}^1$ .

In fact [19] provides some sort of intermediate results that led to the more relevant work [10] by Gustaffson and Rejtö. In this relevant continuation they generalized further Kato-Rellich theorem and they were able to achieve the essential selfadjointness for the Dirac operator in the regime  $\nu \in [0, \sqrt{3}/2)$ .

Their generalization relies on Fredholm's theory, that we briefly recall here for the self-consistency of the presentation. A densely defined operator A in a Banach space  $\mathscr{X}$  is said to be Fredholm if A is closed, ran A is closed, and both dim ker A and dim  $\mathscr{X}$ /ran T are finite. The index of a Fredholm operator A is the number  $i(T) = \dim \ker A - \dim \mathscr{X} / \operatorname{ran} A.$ 

**Theorem 5** ([10], Theorem 3.1, Generalized Kato-Rellich Theorem) Let  $T_0$  be essentially self-adjoint, V symmetric with  $\mathscr{D}(V) \supset \mathscr{D}(T_0)$  where V is  $T_0$ -bounded. For each  $\mu$  in the resolvent set of  $T_0$  define the operator  $A_{\mu} \in B(\mathcal{L}^2)$  by

$$A_{\mu} := I - \bar{V}(\mu - \bar{T}_0)^{-1}.$$
(33)

Then the three conditions below

- i)  $T_0 + V$  is essentially self-adjoint; ii)  $\overline{T_0 + V} = \overline{T}_0 + \overline{V};$ iii)  $\mathcal{D}(\overline{T_0 + V}) = \mathcal{D}(\overline{T}_0);$

hold if and only if there exists  $\mu_+$  in the closed upper half plane and  $\mu_-$  in the closed lower half plane such that the operators  $A_{\mu_{\pm}}$  are Fredholm of index zero.

*Proof* (Sketch) We start from the identity

$$\mu - \bar{T}_0 - \bar{V} = [I - \bar{V}(\mu - \bar{T}_0)^{-1}](\mu - \bar{T}_0).$$
(34)

Since  $\mu \in \rho(T_0)$ ,  $\mu - \overline{T}_0$  is Fredholm of index zero and since the composition of Fredholm operators is Fredholm and the index of the composition is the sum of the indices, by using a standard criterion of essential self-adjointness, we prove the sufficient condition.

The necessity follows using the same index-formula and the fact that if  $A_1A_2$  is Fredholm with  $A_2$  Fredholm and  $A_1$  closed, then  $A_1$  is Fredholm and therefore by the above formula  $A_{\pm i}$  is Fredholm of index 0.

*Remark 5* This theorem includes the classical Kato-Rellich noting that with  $\mu_{\pm} =$  $\pm i \frac{a}{b}$  one has  $\|\bar{V}(\mu_{\pm} - \bar{T}_0)^{-1}\| < 1$ . Hence  $A_{\mu_{\pm}}$  are invertible and therefore Fredholm of index zero.

The proof of the essential self-adjointness of the Dirac operator with Coulomb potential uses the following corollary:

**Corollary 1** If there exist  $\mu_+$  and  $\mu_-$  as in the previous theorem such that  $A_{\mu_{\pm}} = B_{\pm} + C_{\pm}$  where  $B_{\pm}^{-1} \in B(\mathscr{L}^2)$  and  $C_{\pm}$  are compact, then  $T_0 + V$  is essentially self-adjoint and  $\mathscr{D}(\overline{\overline{T_0} + V}) = \mathscr{D}(\overline{T_0}).$ 

*Proof* This corollary follows from the fact that an invertible operator is Fredholm of index zero and that this property is stable under compact perturbations.

By using the spherical symmetry and the decomposition of the Dirac operator Rejtö and Gustaffson prove that for  $|\nu| \in [0, \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2})$  the hypothesis of Corollary 1 are satisfied and hence the spherically symmetric Dirac-Coulomb operator is essentially self-adjoint for that range of parameters.

In this respect the work of Schmincke [22] is of interest in that the same conclusion on essential self-adjointness was obtained *independently* of the spherical symmetry of the potential.

**Theorem 6 ([22])** Let  $\phi \in L^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \{0\}, \mathbb{R}, d^3x)$  be a real-valued function that can be expressed as  $\phi = \phi_1 + \phi_2$  with  $\phi_1 \in C^0(\mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \{0\}, \mathbb{R})$  and  $\phi_2 \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \{0\}, \mathbb{R})$  $\{0\}, \mathbb{R}, d^3x$ ) with

$$|\phi_1(\mathbf{x})| \le \frac{\nu}{|\mathbf{x}|} \tag{35}$$

and  $v \in [0, \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2})$ . Then  $T_0 + V$  is essentially self-adjoint. The way Schmincke proves its result consists of using the standard Kato-Rellich theorem. He introduces a certain intercalary operator C in order to write  $T_0 + V =$  $(T_0 + C) + (V - C)$  and to regard V - C as a small perturbation of  $T_0 + C$ .
More precisely he continues

$$C := \frac{1}{4} \left( a - \frac{1}{r} \right) \boldsymbol{\alpha} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{r}}, \qquad 1 < a < 3$$
(36)

and  $T_0 = \alpha \cdot \mathbf{p} + \beta$ . He further introduces a bounded operator  $S_2$  on which we omit the details. From these definitions it is clear that for  $z \in \mathbb{C}$ , 0 < |z| < 1,

$$T_0 + V = (A + \beta + zC) + (V - zC - S_2) + S_2 = F + G + S_2.$$
 (37)

With these definitions Schmincke proves that  $||Gu||^2 \le k||Fu||^2$  with k < 1 and hence Gu is *F*-bounded with a small bound. One can thus apply Kato-Rellich<sup>1</sup> to obtain that  $T + V + S_2$  is essentially self-adjoint and, since  $S_2$  is a bounded operator, this also implies the essentially self-adjointness of *T*.

#### 3.2 The Distinguished Self-Adjoint Extension

As stated in Theorem 1, in the transitory regime there are infinitely many selfadjoint extensions of the minimal Dirac-Coulomb operator. Before considering their classification the main interest throughout the 1970s was the study of a *distinguished* extension characterized by being the most physically meaningful. The first work that introduced this particular self-adjoint extension is due to Schmincke [23] who obtained this extension by means of a multiplicative intercalary operator. This selfadjoint realisation is physically relevant because its domain is contained in the domain of the potential energy form and hence each function on the domain has a finite expectation value of the potential energy operator.

A second and more explicit construction of a distinguished self-adjoint extension of the minimal Dirac-Coulomb operator was found by Wüst [27, 28] by means of cut-off potentials. He built a sequence of self-adjoint operators that converges strongly in the operator graph topology to a self-adjoint extension of the minimal Dirac-Coulomb operator. Remarkably that the domain of this self-adjoint extension is also contained in the domain of the potential energy.

At that point it was not clear whether Wüst's and Schmincke's self-adjoint extensions were the same or not. The first attempt to look for a distinguished self-adjoint extension with a requirement of uniqueness was made by Nenciu [17] who found that there exists a unique self-adjoint extension of the minimal Dirac operator whose domain is contained in the domain of the kinetic energy form.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Schmincke used a complex version of Kato-Rellich that deals with closed operators instead of self-adjoint ones. This is necessary because, in general, the *z* appearing in the proof is not real.

In 1979 Klaus and Wüst [14] proved that in the regime  $v \in (\frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}, 1)$  if the potential  $\phi$  is semi-bounded all the above mentioned distinguished self-adjoint extensions coincide.

Let us start with Schmincke's result.

**Theorem 7 ([23], Theorems 2 and 3)** Let  $\phi \in L^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \{0\}, \mathbb{R}, d^3x)$  be a realvalued function such that  $\phi = \phi_1 + \phi_2$  with  $\phi_1$  and  $\phi_2$  both real valued,  $\phi_1 \in C^0(\mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \{0\})$ , and  $\phi_2 \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{R}, d^3x)$ . Let  $s \in [0, 1)$ . Suppose there exists k > 1, c > 1 and  $f \in C^1((0, \infty))$  positive valued and bounded from above by  $\frac{1-s}{2c}$  such that

$$\frac{1}{r^2} \left( f(r) + \frac{s}{2} \right)^2 \le k \left( |\phi_1(\mathbf{x})|^2 + \frac{1}{r^2} f^2(r) \right) \le \frac{1}{r^2} \left( f(r) + \frac{s+1}{2} \right)^2 + \frac{1}{r} f'(r).$$
(38)

Then there exists a bounded symmetric operator S such that

$$T_G := \left(\overline{r^{-\frac{s}{2}}}\right) \left(\overline{r^{\frac{s}{2}}(T-S)}\right) + \bar{S}$$
(39)

is an essential self-adjoint extension of T and  $\forall m \in [\frac{1}{2}, 1 - \frac{s}{2}]$ 

$$\mathscr{D}(\overline{T}_G) = \mathscr{D}(T^*) \cap \mathscr{D}\left(\overline{r^{-m}}\right).$$
(40)

*Remark* 6 Note that in particular  $\mathscr{D}(T_G) \subset \mathscr{D}(\overline{r^{-1/2}})$ , which physically means that all the functions in the domain of this distinguished self-adjoint extension have a finite expectation of the potential energy.

Schmincke proved this using a multiplicative intercalary operator. If  $T = T_0 + V$  with  $T_0$  essentially self-adjoint and if there exists a symmetric operator G satisfying suitable properties (see Theorem 1 in [23]), then

$$T_G := \overline{G^{-1}} \, \overline{GT} \tag{41}$$

is an essentially self-adjoint extension of T.

Noticeably in the case of Coulomb potential the assumptions of the theorem are satisfied when

$$1 - 4\nu^2 \le (1 - s^2) \le 4(1 - \nu^2), \tag{42}$$

which means  $\nu < 1$ .

Wüst, instead, showed that given a potential  $\phi(\mathbf{x}) \in C^0(\mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \{0\})$  such that

$$|\phi(\mathbf{x})| \le \frac{\nu}{|\mathbf{x}|} \qquad |\nu| < 1,\tag{43}$$

if one fixes a positive constant c > 0 and defines

$$V_t(\mathbf{x}) := \begin{cases} V(\mathbf{x}) & |\mathbf{x}| \ge \frac{c}{t} \\ R(\mathbf{x}) & |\mathbf{x}| < \frac{c}{t}, \end{cases}$$
(44)

where *R* is chosen such that the components of  $V_t$  are continuous functions. If  $V_t(\mathbf{x})$  is definitely monotone, the sequence of operators  $T_t = T_0 + V_t$  g-converges to a self-adjoint operator  $T_g$  which is a self-adjoint extension of *T* with the property that

$$\mathscr{D}(T_g) \subset \mathscr{D}\left(\overline{r^{1/2}}\right). \tag{45}$$

In 1976 Nenciu [17] proposed an alternative distinguished self-adjoint extension  $T_N$  by requiring this extension to be the unique with the property that all the functions in its domain have finite kinetic energy, namely

$$\mathscr{D}(T_N) \subset \mathscr{D}(|\bar{T}_0|^{\frac{1}{2}}). \tag{46}$$

The precise result can be stated as follows.

**Theorem 8** ([17], **Theorem 5.1**) Let w(t) be a decreasing function on  $[0, \infty)$  such that  $0 \le w(t) \le 1$ ,  $\lim_{t\to\infty} w(t) = 0$ ,  $T_0$  and V be a matrix-valued potential. If

- *i)*  $V(\mathbf{x}) = w(|\mathbf{x}|)W(\mathbf{x})$  where W is a small perturbation of  $T_0$ , or
- *ii)*  $V(\mathbf{x}) = V_1(\mathbf{x}) + V_2(\mathbf{x})$  where  $V_1$  is dominated by the Coulomb potential with coupling constant  $\nu < 1$  and  $V_2 = w(|\mathbf{x}|)W_2(\mathbf{x})$  where  $W_2$  is non-singular,

then

i) there exists a unique operator  $T_N$  such that

$$\mathscr{D}(T) \subset \mathscr{D}(|\overline{T}_0|^{\frac{1}{2}}); \tag{47}$$

*ii*)  $\sigma_{ess}(T) \subset \sigma_{ess}(T_0)$ .

The proof relies on a variant of Lax-Milgram lemma and has the inconvenience not to be constructive.

In 1979 Klaus and Wüst [14] showed that in the case of semi-bounded potential Wüst's and Nenciu's distinguished extensions actually coincide. This is an interesting fact both from a physical and from a mathematical point of view. Physically this coincidence means that the distinguished self-adjoint extension has the property of being the only one whose functions in the domain have finite potential *and* kinetic energy. From a mathematical point of view this overcomes the fact that Nenciu's method was not constructive and provides instead an explicit expression for its self-adjoint extension in terms of *g*-limit of  $T_t$ .

The identification of a certain *distinguished extension* was pushed further by Esteban and Loss [6] up to the value v = 1. In that paper they proposed to define the distinguished self-adjoint extension via Hardy-Dirac inequalities. By a limit argument this procedure can define a sort of distinguished self-adjoint extension also when v = 1 but, in that case, the domain of this self-adjoint extension will be neither contained in the domain of the kinetic energy form nor in the domain of the potential energy form. In a subsequent work, Arrizabalaga [3] weakened further the hypothesis on the construction of the self-adjoint extension of Esteban and Loss.

#### 4 Classification of the Self-Adjoint Extensions

In the previous section we discussed the distinguished extension of the minimal Dirac-Coulomb operator with respect to an infinite multiplicity of others. We come now to the major problem of classifying the one-parameter family of self-adjoint extensions of such an operator.

There is essentially one work, by Hogreve [11], that deals systematically with this problem. There the classification is made by means of von Neumann's extension theory. We start by recalling von Neumann's theorem on general parametrization of symmetric extension.

**Theorem 9 (von Neumann)** Let T be a densely defined, closed and symmetric operator. The closed symmetric extensions of T are in one to one correspondence with the set of partial isometries (in the usual inner product) of ker $(T^* + i)$  into ker $(T^* - i)$ . If U is such an isometry with initial space  $I(U) \subseteq \text{ker}(T^* + i)$ , then the corresponding closed symmetric extension  $T_U$  has domain

$$D(T_U) = \{ \varphi + \varphi^{(i)} + U\varphi^{(i)} \, | \, \varphi \in D(T), \, \varphi^{(i)} \in I(U) \}$$
(48)

and

$$T_U(\varphi + \varphi^{(i)} + U\varphi^{(i)}) = T\varphi + i\varphi^{(i)} - iU\varphi^{(i)}.$$
(49)

If dim  $I(U) < \infty$ , the deficiency indices of  $T_U$  are

$$n_{\pm}(T_U) = n_{\pm}(T) - \dim[I(U)].$$
(50)

Recalling that if  $\nu^2 > \kappa_j^2 - \frac{1}{4}$  the deficiency indices of  $t_{m_j,\kappa_j}$  are (1, 1), the isometries are just phases: given  $\theta \in [0, 2\pi)$  we have

$$U_{\theta} : \ker(T^* + i) \to \ker(T^* - i)$$
  
$$\psi^{(i)} \mapsto e^{i\theta}\psi^{(-i)}, \qquad (51)$$

and hence at every value of  $\theta$  there corresponds one self-adjoint extension of the minimal operator  $t_{m_i,\kappa_i}$ .

Let 
$$\psi(r) = (\psi_1(r), \psi_2(r)) \in AC((0, \infty), \mathbb{C}^2)$$
. We define

$$(\Theta_{\theta}\psi)(r) = (\psi_{2}^{(-i)}(r) + e^{i\theta}\psi_{2}^{(i)}(r), -\psi_{1}^{(-i)}(r) - e^{i\theta}\psi_{1}^{(i)}(r)) \cdot \begin{pmatrix}\psi_{1}(r)\\\psi_{2}(r)\end{pmatrix}.$$
 (52)

**Theorem 10 ([11], Theorem 7.1)** Let  $|\nu| > \sqrt{\kappa_j^2 - \frac{1}{4}}$ , the self-adjoint extensions  $t_{m_j,\kappa_j}^{\theta}$  of the minimal operator  $t_{m_j,\kappa_j}$  of (19) are uniquely determined by  $\theta \in [0, 2\pi)$  via the formulas

$$\mathscr{D}(t^{\theta}_{m_{j},\kappa_{j}}) = \{ \psi \in L^{2}((0,\infty), \mathbb{C}^{2}) \cap AC((0,\infty), \mathbb{C}^{2}) \mid \lim_{r \to 0} (\Theta_{\theta}\psi)(r), t_{m_{j},\kappa_{j}}\psi \in L^{2}((0,\infty)) \}$$
(53)

$$t^{\theta}_{m_j,\kappa_j}\psi = t^*_{m_j,\kappa_j}\psi.$$
(54)

*Proof* We prove only one direction of the theorem.

By von Neumann's theorem above and the explicit formula for the unitary transformation we have

$$\mathscr{D}(t^{\theta}_{m_{j},\kappa_{j}}) = \mathscr{D}\left(\overline{t^{\theta}_{m_{j},\kappa_{j}}}\right) + \{c(\psi^{(i)} + e^{i\theta}\psi^{(-i)}) \mid c \in \mathbb{C}\}$$
(55)

and hence by taking the limit  $r \rightarrow 0$  one gets

$$c = \lim_{r \to 0} \frac{\psi_n(r) - \phi_n(r)}{\psi_n^{(-i)} + e^{i\theta}\psi_n^{(i)}(r)}$$
(56)

with n = 1, 2. This implies that taking into account that  $\psi_n \to 0$ , for  $r \to 0$  the quantity with n = 1 equals the one with n = 2 and this is precisely the condition  $\lim_{r\to 0} (\Theta_{\theta} \psi) = 0$ .

## 5 Future Perspectives: A Selection of Main Open Problems

In the final part of these notes we survey a few topical questions concerning the multiplicity of self-adjoint realisations of the model.

(i) *Characterisation of D*(t<sup>θ</sup><sub>mj,Kj</sub>). The sole characterisation of the domains of the self-adjoint extensions present in the literature, namely (53) above, does not give any explicit detail on the behaviour of the functions near the origin. More refined information on this short scale behaviour is expected to be achievable by means of the self-adjoint extension theory of Kreĭn-Višik-Birman (KVB) (see for example [16]).

- (ii) Adaptation of the original extension formulas for initial operators that are not semi-bounded (as is the case for  $t^{\theta}_{m_j,\kappa_j}$ ). The original KVB theory is developed in order to classify the self-adjoint extensions of a semi-bounded operator. An operator version of the extension formula for non semi-bounded operators with a spectral gap can be found in [8, 9] but, to our knowledge, a similar theorem for the corresponding quadratic forms is not available in the literature.
- (iii) Qualification of further features of the domain of the distinguished extension. Beside the huge amount of studies concerning the domain of the distinguished extension (see for example [3, 4]), the available knowledge on such operator remains somewhat implicit. Among the other informations, one would like to qualify the most singular behaviour at zero of the generic element of the domain, and how this behaviour may depend on the magnitude of the coupling constant v.
- (iv) General classification of the extensions both in the operator sense and in the quadratic form sense, where the effectiveness of the classification relies in the possibility of qualifying special subclasses of interest (e.g. invertible ones). In particular, it would be of relevance to reproduce, in analogy to what happens for semi-bounded operators, the natural ordering of the quadratic forms.
- (v) Study of the spectral properties of the generic extension, with particular focus on the discrete spectrum lying in [-1, 1]. For example, one would like to identify the self-adjoint realisation with the highest number of eigenvalues or the one with the lowest eigenvalue or one could even try to identify the lowest possible (absolute value of the) eigenvalue among the extensions.
- (vi) *Identification of an analogous notion of distinguished extension in the regime*  $\nu > 1$ . The reason for which if  $\nu > 1$  there is no self-adjoint realisation with the property that its domain is contained in the domain of the potential energy form can be seen with the decomposition (17). If  $\nu > 1$  the functions in the domain of the reduced operator in the sector with  $j = \frac{1}{2}$  do not vanish at r = 0. In all the other sectors, however, this is not the case. It is thus possible to prove the existence of a special self-adjoint realisation of the reduced Dirac operator in the sectors with  $j \ge \frac{3}{2}$  that retains most of the properties of the distinguished extension in the regime  $\nu \in [\frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}, 1)$ .

Acknowledgements This work is partially supported by INdAM (GNFM) and by the 2014–2017 MIUR-FIR grant *Cond-Math: Condensed Matter and Mathematical Physics* code RBFR13WAET.

#### References

- M. Arai, On essential self-adjointness of Dirac operators. RIMS Kokyuroku, Kyoto Univ. 242, 10–21 (1975)
- M. Arai, On essential self-adjointness, distinguished self-adjoint extension and essential spectrum of Dirac operators with matrix valued potentials. Publ. RIMS, Kyoto Univ. 19, 33–57 (1983)

- 3. N. Arrizabalaga, Distinguished self-adjoint extensions of Dirac operators via Hardy-Dirac inequalities. J. Math. Phys. **52**, 092301 (2011)
- N. Arrizabalaga, J. Duoandikoetxea, L. Vega, Self-Adjoint extensions of Dirac operators with Coulomb-like singularity. J. Math. Phys. 54, 041504 (2013)
- 5. P.R. Chernhoff, Schrödinger and Dirac operators with singular potentials and hyperbolic equations. Pac. J. Math. **72**, 361–382 (1977)
- M. Esteban, L. Loss, Self-adjointness for Dirac operators via Hardy-Dirac inequalities. J. Math. Phys. 48(11), 112107 (2007)
- 7. W.D. Evans, On the unique self-adjoint extension of the Dirac operator and the existence of the Green matrix. Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. (3) **20**, 537–557 (1970)
- 8. G. Grubb, A characterization of the non-local boundary value problems associated with an elliptic operator. Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa (3), **22**, 425–513 (1968)
- G. Grubb, *Distributions and Operators*, vol. 252 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics (Springer, New York, 2009)
- K.E. Gustafson, P.A. Rejtö, Some essentially self-adjoint Dirac operators with spherically symmetric potentials. Isr. J. Math. 14, 63–75 (1973)
- 11. G. Hogreve, The overcritical Dirac-Coulomb Operator. J. Phys. A Math. Theor. 46, 025301 (2013)
- T. Kato, Fundamental properties of Hamiltonian operators of Schrödinger type. Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 70, 195–211 (1951)
- 13. T. Kato, Perturbation Theory for Linear Operators (Springer, New York, 1966)
- M. Klaus, R. Wüst, Characterization and uniqueness of distinguished self-adjoint extensions of Dirac operators. Commun. Math. Phys., 64, 171–176 (1979)
- J.J. Landgren, P.A. Rejtö, On a theorem of Jörgens and Chernoff concerning essential selfadjointness of Dirac operators. J. Reine Angew. Math. 332, 1–14 (1981)
- A. Michelangeli, The Kreĭn-Višik-Birman self-adjoint extension theory revisited. SISSA preprint 59/2015/MAT http://urania.sissa.it/xmlui/handle/1936/35174 (2015)
- 17. G. Nenciu, Self-adjointness and invariance of the essential spectrum for Dirac operators defined as quadratic forms. Commun. Math. Phys. 48, 235–247 (1976)
- M. Reed, B. Simon, *Methods of Modern Mathematical Physics*, vol. 2 (Academic Press, New York, 1975)
- P.A. Rejtö, Some essentially self-adjoint one-electron Dirac operators. Isr. J. Math. 9, 144–171 (1971)
- 20. F. Rellich, *Eigenwerttheorie Partieller Differentialgleichungen II* (Vorlesungsmanuskript, Göttingen, 1953)
- B.W. Roos, W.C. Sangren, Spectral theory of Dirac's radial relativistic wave equations. J. Math. Phys. 3, 702–723 (1962)
- U.W. Schmincke, Essential selfadjointness of Dirac operators with a strongly singular potential. Math. Z. 126, 71–81 (1972)
- U.W. Schmincke, Distinguished self-adjoint extensions of Dirac Operators. Math. Z. 129, 335– 349 (1972)
- 24. B. Thaller, The Dirac Equation (Springer, Berlin, 1992)
- J. Weidmann Oszillationsmethoden für Systeme gewöhnlicher Differentialgleichungen. Math. Z. 119, 349–373 (1971)
- 26. J. Weidmann, Spectral Theory of Ordinary Differential Operators (Springer, Berlin, 1987)
- R. Wüst, Distinguished self-adjoint extensions of Dirac operators constructed by means of cutoff potentials. Math. Z. 141, 93–98 (1975)
- R. Wüst, Dirac Operations with Strongly Singular Potentials-distinguished self-adjoint extensions constructed with a spectral gap theorem and cut-off potentials. Math. Z. 152, 259–271 (1977)
- 29. J. Xia, On the contribution of the coulomb singularity of arbitrary charge to the Dirac Hamiltonian. Trans. Am. Math. Soc. **351**, 1989–2023 (1999)

# Dispersive Estimates for Schrödinger Operators with Point Interactions in $\mathbb{R}^3$

Felice Iandoli and Raffaele Scandone

Abstract The study of dispersive properties of Schrödinger operators with point interactions is a fundamental tool for understanding the behavior of many body quantum systems interacting with very short range potential, whose dynamics can be approximated by non linear Schrödinger equations with singular interactions. In this work we proved that, in the case of one point interaction in  $\mathbb{R}^3$ , the perturbed Laplacian satisfies the same  $L^p - L^q$  estimates of the free Laplacian in the smaller regime  $q \in [2, 3)$ . These estimates are implied by a recent result concerning the  $L^p$  boundedness of the wave operators for the perturbed Laplacian. Our approach, however, is more direct and relatively simple, and could potentially be useful to prove optimal weighted estimates also in the regime  $q \ge 3$ .

**Keywords** Dispersive estimates • Point interactions • Schrödinger operators • Weighted Fourier inequalities

#### 1 Introduction

In quantum mechanics, a huge variety of phenomena are described by system of quantum particles interacting with a very short range potentials, supported near away a discrete set of points in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . This leads to the study of Hamiltonians which formally are defined as

$$H_{\mu,Y} = "-\Delta + \sum_{y \in Y} \mu_j \delta_y" \tag{1}$$

where  $-\Delta$  is the free Laplacian on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ ,  $Y := \{y_1, y_2, \ldots\}$  is a countable discrete subset of  $\mathbb{R}^d$  and  $\mu_{y_j}$  are real coupling constants. Thus *H* describes the motion of a quantum particle interacting with a "contact potentials", created by point sources of strength  $\mu_{y_j}$  centered at  $y_j$ . The first appearance of such Hamiltonians dates back to the celebrated paper of Kronig and Penney [14], where they consider the case

F. Iandoli (🖂) • R. Scandone

International School for Advanced Studies SISSA, via Bonomea 265 34136 Trieste, Italy e-mail: fiandoli@sissa.it; rscandone@sissa.it

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2017

A. Michelangeli, G. Dell'Antonio (eds.), *Advances in Quantum Mechanics*, Springer INdAM Series 18, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-58904-6\_11

 $d = 1, Y = \mathbb{Z}$  and  $\mu_y$  independent on y as a model of a nonrelativistic electron moving in a fixed crystal lattice. The mathematical rigorous study of  $H_{\mu,Y}$  was initiated by Albeverio et al. [1], and subsequently continued by other authors (see for instance [8, 11, 12, 21]). In this work we focus on the case of finitely many point interactions on  $\mathbb{R}^3$ . The rigorous definition of  $H_{\mu,Y}$  is based on the theory of self adjoint extensions of symmetric operators (see [2] for a complete and detailed discussion): one starts with

$$\tilde{H}_Y := -\Delta | \mathscr{C}_0^\infty(\mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \{Y\}), \tag{2}$$

which is a densely defined, non-negative, symmetric operator on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ , with deficiency indices (N, N), and hence it admits a  $N^2$ -parameter family of self adjoint extensions. Among these, we find the important subfamily of the so called local extensions, characterized by the following proposition (see [2, 9]):

**Proposition 1** Fix  $Y := (y_1, \ldots, y_N) \subset \mathbb{R}^3$  and  $\alpha := (\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \ldots, \alpha_N) \in (-\infty, +\infty]^N$ . Given  $z \in \mathbb{C}$ , define

$$G_{z}(x) := \frac{e^{iz|x|}}{4\pi|x|}, \qquad \tilde{G}_{z}(x) := \begin{cases} \frac{e^{iz|x|}}{4\pi|x|} & x \neq 0\\ 0 & x = 0 \end{cases}$$
(3)

and the  $N \times N$  matrix

$$[\Gamma_{\alpha,Y}(z)]_{(j,l)} := \left[ \left( \alpha_j - \frac{iz}{4\pi} \right) \delta_{j,l} - \tilde{G}_z(y_j - y_l) \right]_{(j,l)} \tag{4}$$

The mesomorphic function  $z \mapsto [\Gamma_{\alpha,Y}(z)]^{-1}$  has at most N poles in the upper half space  $\mathbb{C}^+$ , which are all located along the positive imaginary semi-axis. We denote by  $\mathscr{E}$  the set of such poles. There exists a self adjoint extension  $H_{\alpha,Y}$  of  $\tilde{H}_Y$  with the following properties:

• Given  $z \in \mathbb{C}^+ \setminus \{\mathscr{E}\}$ , the domain of  $H_{\alpha,Y}$  can be written as:

$$\mathscr{D}(H_{\alpha,Y}) = \left\{ \psi := \phi_z + \sum_{j,l=1}^{N} (\Gamma_{\alpha,Y}(z)^{-1})_{j,l} \phi_z(j_l) G_z(\cdot - y_j) , \, \phi_z \in H^2 \right\}.$$
 (5)

The decomposition is unique for a given z.

• With respect to the decomposition (5), the action of  $H_{\alpha,Y}$  is given by

$$(H_{\alpha,Y} - z^2)\psi := (-\Delta - z^2)\phi.$$
(6)

*Remark 1* The family of self adjoint operators  $H_{\alpha,Y}$  realizes in a rigorous way the heuristic definition given by expression (1). It is worth noticing the different roles played by parameters: while  $\mu_j$  measures the strength of the point interactions at  $y_j$ ,  $\alpha_j$  is related to the scattering length. Indeed, a generic function  $\psi \in \mathcal{D}(H_{\alpha,Y})$ 

satisfies the so called Bethe-Peierls contact condition

$$\psi(x) \underset{x \to y_i}{\sim} \frac{1}{|x - y_j|} + 4\pi \alpha_j, \quad j = 1, \dots, N$$
 (7)

which is typical for the low-energy behavior of an eigenstate of the Schrödinger equation for a quantum particle subject to a very short range potential, centered at  $y_j$  and with *s*-wave scattering length  $-(4\pi\alpha_j)^{-1}$  (see the works of Bethe and Peierls [5, 6]). When  $\alpha_j = +\infty$ , no actual interactions take place at  $y_j$  (the s-wave has zero scattering length); in particular when  $\alpha = +\infty$  we recover the Friedrichs extension of  $\tilde{H}_Y$ , namely the free Laplacian on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ .

The spectral properties of  $H_{\alpha,Y}$  are well known and completely characterized; we encode them in the following proposition (see [2, 9]):

#### **Proposition 2**

- 1. The spectrum  $\sigma(H_{\alpha,Y})$  of  $H_{\alpha,Y}$  consists of at most N negative eigenvalues and the absolutely continuous part  $\sigma_{ac}(H_{\alpha,Y}) = [0, +\infty)$ . Moreover, there exists a one to one correspondence between the poles  $i\lambda \in \mathcal{E}$  and the negative eigenvalues  $-\lambda^2$  of  $H_{\alpha,Y}$ , counted with multiplicity.
- 2. The resolvent of  $H_{\alpha,Y}$  is a rank N perturbation of the free resolvent, and it is given by:

$$(H_{\alpha,Y} - z^2)^{-1} - (H_0 - z^2)^{-1} = \sum_{j,k=1}^N (\Gamma_{\alpha,Y}(z)^{-1})_{jk} G_z^{y_j} \otimes \overline{G_z^{y_k}}.$$
 (8)

We conclude this introduction by observing that  $H_{\alpha,Y}$  can be also realized as limit of scaled short range Schrödinger operator. Indeed we have the following Proposition (see [2]):

**Proposition 3** Fix  $\alpha \in (-\infty, +\infty]^N$  and  $Y = \{y_1, \ldots, y_N\} \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ . There exist real valued potentials  $V_1, \ldots, V_N$  of finite Rollnik norm, and real analytic functions  $\lambda_j : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ , with  $\lambda_j(0) = 1$ , such that the family of Schrödinger operators

$$H_{\varepsilon} := -\Delta + \sum_{j=1}^{N} \frac{\lambda_j(\varepsilon)}{\varepsilon^2} V\left(\frac{x - y_j}{\varepsilon}\right)$$
(9)

converges in strong resolvent sense to  $H_{\alpha,Y}$  as  $\varepsilon$  goes to zero. Moreover:

$$\alpha_i \neq +\infty$$
 for some  $j \iff -\Delta + V_i$  has a zero energy resonance. (10)

*Remark 2* Proposition 3 makes more convincing the idea of considering the Hamiltonian  $H_{\alpha,Y}$  as an approximation of more realistic phenomena, governed by very short range interactions.

## **2** Dispersive Properties of $H_{\alpha,Y}$

Since  $H_{\alpha}$  is a self adjoint operator, it generates a unitary group of operators  $e^{itH_{\alpha,Y}}$ ; in particular the  $L^2$  norm is preserved by the evolution:

$$\|e^{itH_{\alpha,Y}}f\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)} = \|f\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)}.$$
(11)

It is natural to investigate the dispersive properties of  $e^{itH_{\alpha,Y}}$ . The first work in this direction is by D'ancona et al. [7], who proved weighted  $L^1 - L^{\infty}$  estimates

$$\|w^{-1}e^{itH_{\alpha,Y}}P_{ac}f\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{3})} \lesssim t^{-\frac{3}{2}}\|wf\|_{L^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{3})}$$
(12)

where  $P_{ac}$  is the projection onto the absolutely continuous spectrum of  $H_{\alpha,Y}$  and

$$w(x) = \sum_{j=1}^{N} \left( 1 + \frac{1}{|x - y_j|} \right),$$
(13)

under the following assumption:

**Assumption 1** The matrix  $\Gamma_{\alpha,Y}(z)$  is invertible for  $z \ge 0$ , with locally bounded inverse.

It is worth noticing that the presence of a weight in (12) is unavoidable, because of the singularities appearing in the domain of  $H_{\alpha,Y}$ . In the case of one single point interaction, Assumption 1 is always satisfied except for  $\alpha = 0$ , in which case the perturbed Hamiltonian has a zero energy resonance. Nevertheless, exploiting the explicit formula for the propagator  $e^{itH}$  available in the case N = 1 (see [3, 18]), also the case  $\alpha = 0$  was settle down in [7], by showing weighted dispersive inequality with a slower decay in *t*, a typical phenomenon for Schrödinger operators with zero energy resonances:

$$\|w^{-1}e^{itH_{0,y}}f\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3)} \lesssim t^{-\frac{1}{2}} \|wf\|_{L^1(\mathbb{R}^3)}.$$
(14)

Observe now that, interpolating (12) and (14) with the trivial bound (11), we get weighted dispersive inequalities in the full range  $q \in [2, +\infty]$ :

#### **Proposition 4**

1. Under Assumption 1, the following estimates holds:

$$\|w^{-\left(1-\frac{2}{q}\right)}e^{itH_{\alpha,Y}}P_{ac}f\|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{3})} \lesssim t^{-\frac{3}{2}(\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{q})}\|w^{\frac{2}{p}-1}f\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{3})}$$
(15)

where  $q \in [2, +\infty]$  and p is the dual exponent of q.

Dispersive Estimates for Schrödinger Operators with Point Interactions in  $\mathbb{R}^3$ 

2. In the case N = 1,  $\alpha = 0$  we have

$$\|w^{-\left(1-\frac{2}{q}\right)}e^{itH_{0,y}}f\|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{3})} \lesssim t^{-\frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{q}\right)}\|w^{\frac{2}{p}-1}f\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{3})}$$
(16)

where  $q \in [2, +\infty]$  and p is the dual exponent of q.

However, since the singularities  $G_i(x - y_j)$  belong to  $L^q(\mathbb{R}^3)$  for  $q \in [2, 3)$ , one may hope, at least in principle, to prove an unweighted version of (15) and (16). This is true indeed, and it is a consequence of a recent result [9]:

**Theorem 1** For any Y and  $\alpha$ , the wave operators

$$W_{\alpha,Y}^{\pm} = s - \lim_{t \to +\infty} e^{itH_{\alpha,Y}} e^{it\Delta}$$
(17)

for the pair  $(H_{\alpha,Y}, -\Delta)$  exist and are complete on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ , and they are bounded on  $L^q(\mathbb{R}^3)$  for 1 < q < 3.

*Remark 3* The restriction 1 < q < 3 already emerges at level of approximating Schrödinger operators. Indeed, if  $H = -\Delta + V$  has a zero energy resonance (which by Proposition 3 is a necessary condition for  $H_{\varepsilon}$  to converges to H), then the wave operators

$$W_V^{\pm} := s - \lim_{t \to +\infty} e^{it(-\Delta + V)} e^{it\Delta}$$
(18)

are bounded on  $L^q$  if and only if 1 < q < 3 (see Yajima [20]) Owing to Theorem 1 and the intertwining property of wave operators, viz.

$$f(H_{\alpha,Y})P_{ac}H_{\alpha,Y} = W_{\alpha,Y}^{\pm}f(-\Delta)(W_{\alpha,Y}^{\pm})^*$$
(19)

for any Borel function f on  $\mathbb{R}^3$ , one can lift the classical dispersive estimates for the free Laplacian into analogous estimates for  $H_{\alpha,Y}$ , albeit for the restriction on the exponent q. Thus we find:

**Proposition 5** For any  $\alpha$  and Y, we have the estimate

$$\|e^{itH_{\alpha,Y}}P_{ac}f\|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{3})} \lesssim t^{-\frac{3}{2}(\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{q})}\|f\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{3})} \quad for \ q \in [2,3).$$
(20)

Interpolating (20) respectively with (12) and (14), we deduce also the following:

#### **Corollary 1**

1. Under Assumption 1, we have

$$\|w^{-\left(1-\frac{3-\varepsilon}{q}\right)}e^{itH_{\alpha,Y}}P_{ac}f\|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{3})} \lesssim t^{-\frac{3}{2}\left(\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{q}\right)}\|w^{\left(1-\frac{3-\varepsilon}{q}\right)}f\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{3})}$$
(21)

in the regime  $q \in [3, +\infty]$ .

2. When N = 1 and  $\alpha = 0$ , we have

$$\|w^{-\left(1-\frac{3-\varepsilon}{q}\right)}e^{itH_{0,y}}f\|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{3})} \lesssim t^{-\frac{1}{2}+\frac{\varepsilon}{q}}\|w^{\left(1-\frac{3-\varepsilon}{q}\right)}f\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{3})}$$
(22)

in the regime  $q \in [3, +\infty]$ .

We can see that the results in [9] improves the one in [7] in various ways:

- 1. In the regime  $q \in [2, 3)$ , with an arbitrary number of centers, both the weights and the hypothesis 1 on  $\Gamma$  are removed.
- 2. In the regime  $q \in [3, +\infty]$ , with an arbitrary number of centers and under the hypothesis 1, the weights are strengthened to be almost optimal [indeed we can not remove  $\varepsilon$  in estimate (21)].
- 3. In the case N = 1,  $\alpha = 0$  and in the regime  $q \in [2, 3)$ , the weights are removed and the time decay is strengthened.
- 4. In the case N = 1,  $\alpha = 0$  and in the regime  $q \in [3, +\infty]$ , both the weights and the time decay are strengthened, and again the weights are almost optimal.

In this work we want to provide a new and simpler proof of Proposition 5 in the particular case N = 1, without using any knowledge about the wave operators.

#### 3 Proof of Proposition 5, Case N = 1

The operators  $H_{\alpha,y_1}$  and  $H_{\alpha,y_2}$  are conjugated by translations, hence we can assume y = 0 and we will simply write  $H_{\alpha}$  instead of  $H_{\alpha,0}$ . We recall an useful factorization for the operator  $H_{\alpha}$  (see [2]). Introducing spherical coordinates on  $\mathbb{R}^3$ , we can decompose  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$  with respect to angular momenta:

$$L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3}) = L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{+}, r^{2}dr) \otimes L^{2}(S^{2})$$
(23)

where  $S^2$  is the unit sphere in  $\mathbb{R}^3$ . Moreover, using the unitary transformation

$$U: L^{2}((0, +\infty), r^{2}dr) \to L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{+}, rdr), \quad (Uf)(r) = rf(r)$$
(24)

and decomposing  $L^2(S^2)$  into spherical harmonics

$$\{Y_{l,m}l \in \mathbb{N}, m = 0, \pm 1, \dots, \pm l\},$$
(25)

we obtain

$$L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3}) = \bigoplus_{l=0}^{+\infty} U^{-1}L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{+}, rdr) \otimes \langle Y_{l,-l}, \dots, Y_{l,l} \rangle.$$

$$(26)$$

With respect to this decomposition, the symmetric operator  $\tilde{H} := \tilde{H}_{\{0\}}$  writes as

$$\tilde{H} = \bigoplus_{l=0}^{+\infty} U^{-1} h_l U \otimes 1$$
(27)

where  $h_l, l \ge 0$  are symmetric operators on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^+)$ , with common domain  $\mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^+)$ and actions given by

$$h_l = -\frac{d^2}{dr^2} + \frac{l(l+1)}{r^2}, \quad r > 0.$$
 (28)

It is well known [17] that  $h_l$  are essentially self adjoint for  $l \ge 1$ , while  $h_0$  admits a one parameter family of selfadjoint extension  $\dot{h}_{0,\alpha}$  such that

$$H_{\alpha} = \dot{h}_{0,\alpha} \oplus \bigoplus_{l=1}^{+\infty} U^{-1} \dot{h}_l U \otimes 1$$
<sup>(29)</sup>

where  $\dot{h}_l$  is the unique self adjoint extension of  $h_l$ , for  $l \ge 1$ . Identity (29) tells us that  $H_{\alpha}$  completely diagonalizes with respect to decomposition (26), and that it coincides with  $-\Delta$  after projecting out the subspace of radial functions. Hence it immediately follows

**Lemma 1** Suppose  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$  is orthogonal to the subspace of radial functions. Then

$$e^{itH_{\alpha}}f = e^{-it\Delta}f \tag{30}$$

Lemma 1 has an important Corollary, which considerably simplifies our proof:

**Corollary 2** In the proof of Proposition 5 (in the special case N = 1) we can suppose f to be radial.

*Proof* Suppose (20) to be true for radial functions. Given a generic  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ , we can decompose it as  $f_1 + f_2$ , where

$$f_1 := \frac{4\pi}{|y|^2} \int_{S_y} f(r, \omega) d\mathcal{H}^2(\omega)$$
(31)

is the orthogonal projection onto  $L^2_{rad}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ . By Lemma 1, we get

$$e^{itH_{\alpha}}f = e^{itH_{\alpha}}f_1 + e^{-it\Delta}f_2.$$
(32)

By hypothesis and using the dispersive estimates for the free Laplacian, we deduce

$$\|e^{itH_{\alpha}}f\|_{L^{q}} \leq t^{\frac{3}{2}\left(\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{q}\right)}(\|f_{1}\|_{L^{p}}+\|f_{2}\|_{L^{p}}).$$
(33)

Now, using Hölder inequality, we get

$$\begin{split} \|f_1\|_{L^p}^p &\leq \int_0^{+\infty} r^{2-2p} \left( \int_{S_r} |f(r,\omega)| d\mathcal{H}^2(\omega) \right)^p dr \\ &\leq \int_0^{+\infty} r^{2-2p+\frac{2p}{q}} \int_{S_r} |f(r,\omega)|^p d\mathcal{H}^2(\omega) dr = \\ &\int_0^{+\infty} \int_{S_r} ||f(r,\omega)| d\mathcal{H}^2(\omega)|^p = \|f\|_{L^p}^p \end{split}$$

and consequently

$$\|f_2\|_{L^p} \le \|f\|_{L^p} + \|f_1\|_{L^p} \lesssim \|f\|_{L^p}$$
(34)

which concludes the proof.

Now we are in turn to prove our main result. As mentioned before, in the case N = 1, the propagator associated to  $H_{\alpha}$  is explicitly known. In particular, Scarlatti and Teta [18] have proved the following characterization:

$$e^{itH_{\alpha}}f = \begin{cases} e^{-it\Delta}f + \lim_{R \to \infty} M_R f & \text{if } \alpha = 0\\ e^{itH_0}f + \lim_{R \to \infty} M_{\alpha,R} f & \text{if } \alpha > 0\\ e^{itH_0}f + \lim_{R \to \infty} \widetilde{M}_{\alpha,R} f & \text{if } \alpha < 0 \end{cases}$$
(35)

where the limit is taken in the  $L^2$  sense and

$$M_R f(x) := (4\pi i t)^{-1/2} \frac{1}{4\pi |x|} \int_{B_R} \frac{\widetilde{f}(|y|)}{|y|} e^{-i \frac{(|x|+|y|)^2}{4t}} dy,$$
(36)

$$M_{\alpha,R}f(x) := -(4\pi it)^{-1/2} \frac{\alpha}{|x|} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \frac{f(y)}{|y|} \int_0^{+\infty} e^{-4\pi\alpha s} e^{-i\frac{(|x|+|y|+s)^2}{4t}} ds dy,$$
(37)

$$\widetilde{M}_{\alpha,R}f(x) := \left(-\psi_{\alpha}(x)\int_{B_{R}}\psi_{\alpha}(y)f(y)e^{it(4\pi\alpha)^{2}}dy - \frac{\alpha}{|x|}(it\pi)^{-1/2}\int_{B_{R}}\frac{f(y)}{|y|}\int_{0}^{+\infty}e^{4\pi\alpha s}\exp\left(-\frac{(u-|x|-|y|)^{2}}{4it}\right)dsdy\right),$$
(38)

and  $\psi_{\alpha}(x) = \sqrt{-2\alpha} \frac{e^{4\pi\alpha|x|}}{|x|}$  is the normalized eigenfunction associated to the negative eigenvalue  $-(4\pi\alpha)^2$  for  $\alpha < 0$ . We are going to show that the following estimates hold uniformly in R > 0:

$$\|M_R f\|_{L^q} \lesssim t^{-\frac{3}{2}(\frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{q})} \|f\|_{L^p},$$
(39)

$$\|M_{\alpha,R}f\|_{L^{q}} \lesssim t^{-\frac{3}{2}(\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{q})} \|f\|_{L^{p}},\tag{40}$$

$$\|\widetilde{M}_{\alpha,R}P_{ac}f\|_{L^{q}} \lesssim t^{-\frac{3}{2}(\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{q})} \|f\|_{L^{p}}.$$
(41)

The latter inequalities are clearly sufficient to prove Proposition 5 in the special case N = 1. Let us start by proving inequality (39). Thanks to Corollary 2 we can suppose  $f(y) = \tilde{f}(|y|)$  for some  $\tilde{f} : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ . Using spherical coordinates in both variables *x* and *y* we get

$$\|M_R f\|_{L^q} \lesssim t^{-1/2} \left[ \int_0^{+\infty} r^{2-q} \left| \int_0^R \exp\left(-i\frac{\rho r}{2t} - i\frac{\rho^2}{4t}\right) \rho \widetilde{f}(\rho) d\rho \right|^q dr \right]^{1/q}.$$
 (42)

Setting

$$h(\rho) := \begin{cases} e^{-i\rho^2/4t}\rho \widetilde{f}(\rho) & 0 \le \rho \le R\\ 0 & \rho \in \mathbb{R} \setminus [0, R] \end{cases}$$
(43)

the latter expression becomes

$$t^{-1/2} \left[ \int_0^{+\infty} r^{2-q} \left| \widehat{h} \left( \frac{r}{2t} \right) \right|^q dr \right]^{1/q}, \tag{44}$$

which is equal to

$$t^{-\frac{3}{2}(\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{q})} \left[ \int_{0}^{+\infty} r^{2-q} |\widehat{h}(r)|^{q} dr \right]^{1/q}.$$
 (45)

At this point we are ready to use a classical weighted Fourier transform norm inequality, also known in literature as Pitt's inequality. We state here the original theorem proved by Pitt in 1937 [16]:

**Theorem 2 (Pitt's Theorem)** Let  $1 < \gamma \le \eta < \infty$ , choose  $0 < b < \frac{1}{\gamma'}$  with  $\frac{1}{\gamma} + \frac{1}{\gamma'} = 1$ , set  $\beta = 1 - \frac{1}{\gamma} - \frac{1}{\eta} - b < 0$  and define  $v(x) = |x|^{b\gamma}$  for all  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ . There is a constant C > 0 such that

$$\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}}|\widehat{f}(\xi)|^{\eta}|\xi|^{\beta\eta}d\xi\right)^{1/\eta} \le C\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}}|f(x)|^{\gamma}|x|^{b\gamma}dx\right)^{1/\gamma},\tag{46}$$

for all  $f \in L_v^{\gamma}(\mathbb{R})$ .

Since q < 3 we may use this Theorem in the case  $\eta = q$ ,  $\gamma = p$ ,  $\beta = \frac{2-q}{q}$  and  $b = \frac{2-p}{p}$  obtaining

$$t^{-\frac{3}{2}(\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{q})} \left[ \int_{0}^{+\infty} r^{2-q} |\widehat{h}(r)|^{q} dr \right]^{1/q} \lesssim t^{-\frac{3}{2}(\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{q})} \left[ \int_{0}^{+\infty} |h(r)|^{p} r^{2-p} dr \right]^{1/p}, \quad (47)$$

which essentially is the desired estimate, indeed

$$\left[\int_{0}^{+\infty} |h(r)|^{p} r^{2-p} dr\right]^{1/p} = \|f\|_{L^{p}}.$$
(48)

This concludes the proof of (39), which, together with the standard dispersive estimates for the free Laplacian, implies the dispersive estimates for the semigroup  $\{e^{itH_0}\}_{t>0}$ .

Let us turn in to proving (40). Since q < 3 the function 1/|y| belongs to  $L^q(B_R)$ , hence we can exchange the order of integration and use Minkowski inequality

$$\begin{split} \|M_R f\|_{L^q} &\lesssim \\ &\lesssim t^{-1/2} \int_0^{+\infty} \left\| \int_{B_R} \frac{1}{|x|} \exp\left(-4\pi\alpha s - i\frac{(|x|+|y|+s)^2}{4t}\right) \frac{\widetilde{f}(y)}{|y|} dy \right\|_{L^q} ds \\ &= t^{-1/2} \int_0^{+\infty} e^{-4\pi\alpha s} \left\| \int_{B_R} \frac{1}{|x|} \exp\left(-i\frac{|y|^2}{4t} - i\frac{|x||y|}{2t} - i\frac{s|y|}{2t}\right) \frac{f(y)}{|y|} dy \right\|_{L^q} ds, \end{split}$$

$$(49)$$

which, as before, in spherical coordinates is bounded, up to constants, by

$$t^{-1/2} \int_{0}^{+\infty} e^{-4\pi\alpha s} \left( \int_{0}^{+\infty} r^{2-q} \left| \int_{0}^{R} e^{-i\frac{r\rho}{2t}} h_{s}(\rho)(\rho) d\rho \right|^{q} dr \right) ds,$$
(50)

where

$$h_{s}(\rho) := \begin{cases} \exp\left(-i\frac{\rho^{2}}{4t} - i\frac{s\rho}{2t}\right)\rho\widetilde{f}(\rho) & 0 \le \rho \le R\\ 0 & \rho \in \mathbb{R} \setminus [0, R] \end{cases}.$$
(51)

The quantity (50) is nothing but

$$t^{-1/2} \int_{0}^{+\infty} e^{-4\pi\alpha s} \left( \int_{0}^{+\infty} r^{2-q} \left| \widehat{h_s} \left( \frac{r}{2t} \right) \right|^q dr \right)^{1/q} ds,$$
(52)

which, arguing as before, is bounded by  $t^{-\frac{3}{2}(\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{q})} ||f||_{L^p}$ . This concludes the proof of (40).

The proof of (41) is very similar, indeed after projecting f onto the absolutely continuous spectrum of  $H_{\alpha}$ , the first summand in the right hand side of (38) disappears and hence the remaining part can be treated exactly in the same way as done in the proof of (40).

#### 4 Conclusions

The proof given in Sect. 3 is quite direct and does not use any deep results from scattering theory for the perturbed Hamiltonian  $H_{\alpha,Y}$ . Nevertheless, it is worth noticing that the proof of Pitt's inequality, the main tool of our argument, requires some technical results from harmonic analysis such as Muckenhaupt estimates [10, 15], which play an essential role also in the proof of the  $L^p$  boundedness of the wave operators  $W^{\pm}$  given in [9]. The main advantage of our approach is that, owing to more general weighted Fourier inequalities (see for instance [4, 13]) rather than Pitt's inequality (in which the weights are forced to be pure powers), it can potentially be adapted to prove optimal  $L^p - L^q$  estimates also in the regime  $q \ge 3$ . In particular, we conjecture the following result:

*Conjecture 1* Fix  $q \in [3, +\infty]$ , and let  $w_q(x)$  a weight such that  $w(x) \equiv 1$  outside a ball centered at the origin and  $w_q^{-1}G_i \in L^q(\mathbb{R}^3)$ . Then for every  $\alpha \neq 0$  and  $y \in \mathbb{R}^3$ , the following estimates hold:

$$\|w_{q}(\cdot - y)^{-1}e^{itH_{\alpha,y}}P_{ac}f\|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{3})} \lesssim t^{-\frac{3}{2}\left(\frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{q}\right)}\|w_{q}(\cdot - y)f\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{3})}.$$
(53)

When  $\alpha = 0$ , a similar estimate holds but with a slower time decay:

$$\|w_q(\cdot - y)^{-1} e^{itH_{\alpha,y}} f\|_{L^q(\mathbb{R}^3)} \lesssim t^{-\frac{1}{2}} \|w_q(\cdot - y)f\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^3)}.$$
(54)

*Remark 4* Conjecture 1 is motivated by the natural principle for which removing the local singularity is enough to get dispersive estimates, and it would improve the result in Corollary 1. For example when q = 3 we expect that a logarithmic weight would suffice, while in estimates (21) and (22) there appear polynomial weights. An alternative conjecture can be expressed in term of weighted Lorentz space, in which context there are other generalizations of Pitt's inequality (see for instance [19]):

*Conjecture 2* Given  $q \in [3, +\infty]$ , define the weight

$$w_q := 1 + |x|^{\frac{3}{q}-1}$$

Then for every  $\alpha \neq 0$  and  $y \in \mathbb{R}^3$ , the following estimates hold:

$$\|w_{q}(\cdot - y)^{-1}e^{itH_{\alpha,y}}P_{ac}f\|_{L^{q,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{3})} \lesssim t^{-\frac{3}{2}\left(\frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{q}\right)} \|w_{q}(\cdot - y)f\|_{L^{p,1}(\mathbb{R}^{3})}.$$
(55)

When  $\alpha = 0$ , a similar estimates holds but with a slower time decay:

$$\left\| w_{q}(\cdot - y)^{-1} e^{itH_{\alpha,y}} f \right\|_{L^{q,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{3})} \lesssim t^{-\frac{1}{2}} \left\| w_{q}(\cdot - y) f \right\|_{L^{p,1}(\mathbb{R}^{3})}.$$
(56)

*Remark 5* The function  $w_q^{-1}G_i$  belongs to  $L^{q,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ , hence the plausibility of the conjecture. Observe moreover that it would be enough to prove (55) and (56) when q = 3, the general case following by interpolation with  $q = \infty$ , in which case we recover the weighted  $L^1 - L^\infty$  estimates (12) and (14) proved in [7].

Acknowledgements Raffaele Scandone is partially supported by the 2014–2017 MIUR-FIR grant "Cond-Math: Condensed Matter and Mathematical Physics", code RBFR13WAET and by Gruppo Nazionale per la Fisica Matematica (GNFM-INdAM).

#### References

- S. Albeverio, J.E. Fenstad, R. Høegh-Krohn, Singular perturbations and nonstandard analysis. Trans. Am. Math. Soc. (1979). doi:10.2307/1998089
- 2. S. Albeverio, F. Gesztesy, R. Høegh-Khron, H. Holden, *Solvable Methods in Quantum Mechanics*. Texts and Monographs in Physics (Springer, New York, 1988)
- 3. S. Albeverio, Z. Brzeźniak, L. Dabrowski, Fundamental solution of the heat and Schrödinger equations with point interaction. J. Funct. Anal. (1995). doi:10.1006/jfan.1995.1068
- J.J. Benedetto, H.P. Heinig, Weighted Fourier inequalities: new proofs and generalizations. J. Fourier Anal. Appl. 9, 1–37 (2003)
- 5. H. Bethe, R. Peierls, Quantum theory of the Diplon. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. Ser. A Math. Phys. Sci. 148, 146–156 (1935)
- 6. H. Bethe, R. Peierls, The scattering of neutrons by protons. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. Ser. A Math. Phys. Sci. **149**, 176–183 (1935)
- 7. P. D'Ancona, V. Pierfelice, A. Teta, Dispersive estimate for the Schrödinger equation with point interactions. Math. Methods Appl. Sci. (2006). doi:10.1002/mma.682
- L. Dabrowsky, H. Grosse, On nonlocal point interactions in one, two and three dimensions. J. Math. Phys. 26, 2777–2780 (1985)
- G. Dell'Antonio, A. Michelangeli, R. Scandone, K. Yajima, The L<sup>p</sup>-boundedness of wave operators for the three-dimensional multi-center point interaction (2017). Preprint SISSA 70/2016/MATE
- L. Grafakos, *Classical Fourier Analysis*. Graduate Texts in Mathematics, 3rd edn., vol. 249 (Springer, New York, 2014)
- A. Grossmann, R. Høegh-Krohn, M. Mebkhout, A class of explicitly soluble, local, manycenter Hamiltonians for one-particle quantum mechanics in two and three dimensions I. J. Math. Phys. (1980). doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1063/1.524694
- A. Grossmann, R. Høegh-Krohn, M. Mebkhout, The one particle theory of periodic point interactions. Polymers, monomolecular layers, and crystals. Commun. Math. Phys. (1980). doi:10.1007/BF01205040

- H.P. Heinig, Weighted norm inequalities for classes of operators. Indiana Univ. Math. J. (1984). doi:10.1512/iumj.1984.33.33030
- R.D.L. Kronig, W.G. Penney, Quantum mechanics of electrons in crystal lattices. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. A Math. Phys. Eng. Sci. (1931). doi:10.1098/rspa.1931.0019
- 15. B. Muckenhoupt, Weighted norm inequalities for the Fourier transform. Trans. Am. Math. Soc. (1983). doi:10.2307/1999080
- 16. H.R. Pitt, Theorems on fourier series and power series. Duke Math. J. (1937). doi:10.1215/S0012-7094-37-00363-6
- 17. M. Reed, B. Simon, Methods of Modern Mathematical Physics. II. Fourier Analysis, Self-Adjointness (Academic, New York, 1975)
- S. Scarlatti, A. Teta, Derivation of the time-dependent propagator for the three-dimensional Schrödinger equation with one point interaction. J. Phys. A 23, 1033–1035 (1990)
- G. Sinnamon, The Fourier transform in weighted Lorentz spaces. Publ. Math. (2003). doi:10.5565/publmat4710301
- K. Yajima, On wave operators for Schrödinger operators with threshold singularities in three dimensions (2016). arxiv.org/pdf/1606.03575.pdf
- J. Zorbas, Perturbation of self-adjoint operators by Dirac distributions. J. Math. Phys. (1980) doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1063/1.524464

## Chern and Fu–Kane–Mele Invariants as Topological Obstructions

#### **Domenico Monaco**

**Abstract** The use of topological invariants to describe geometric phases of quantum matter has become an essential tool in modern solid state physics. The first instance of this paradigmatic trend can be traced to the study of the quantum Hall effect, in which the Chern number underlies the quantization of the transverse Hall conductivity. More recently, in the framework of time-reversal symmetric topological insulators and quantum spin Hall systems, a new topological classification has been proposed by Fu, Kane and Mele, where the label takes value in  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ .

We illustrate how both the Chern number  $c \in \mathbb{Z}$  and the Fu–Kane–Mele invariant  $\delta \in \mathbb{Z}_2$  of 2-dimensional topological insulators can be characterized as topological obstructions. Indeed, *c* quantifies the obstruction to the existence of a frame of Bloch states for the crystal which is both continuous and periodic with respect to the crystal momentum. Instead,  $\delta$  measures the possibility to impose a further time-reversal symmetry constraint on the Bloch frame.

**Keywords** Chern numbers • Fu–Kane–Mele invariants • Obstruction theory • Quantum hall effect • Quantum spin hall effect • Topological insulators

## 1 Introduction

One of the most prominent instances of Wigner's "unresonable effectiveness of mathematics" in condensed matter systems is provided by *topological insulators* [15]. These materials, although insulating in the bulk, have the property of conducting currents on their boundary, making them amenable to various types of applications in material science, and even in quantum computing. A thorough understanding of the transport properties of these materials, however, can be achieved only by investigating the topology of the occupied states that fill the bulk energy bands, by virtue of a principle known as the bulk-edge correspondence. Consequently, some of the techniques of topology and differential geometry, once

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017

D. Monaco (🖂)

Eberhard Karls Universität Tübingen, Auf der Morgenstelle 10, 72076 Tübingen, Germany e-mail: domenico.monaco@uni-tuebingen.de

A. Michelangeli, G. Dell'Antonio (eds.), Advances in Quantum Mechanics, Springer INdAM Series 18, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-58904-6\_12

relegated to abstract mathematics, have nowadays become common knowledge also among solid state physicists.

To better understand how topology enters in the world of condensed matter systems, it is particularly instructive to consider the archetypal example of a topological insulator, given by a *quantum Hall system* [13]. An effectively 2-dimensional crystalline medium is immersed in a uniform magnetic field perpendicular to the plane of the sample, and an electric current is driven in one direction along the crystal. The induced current is measured in the transverse direction. In a remarkable experiment, performed at very low temperatures by von Klitzing and his collaborators [28], the (Hall) conductivity  $\sigma_{\rm H}$  associated to this transverse current was shown to display *plateaux* which occurred at integer multiples of a fundamental constant, measured moreover with an astounding precision:

$$\sigma_{\rm H} = n \, \frac{e^2}{h}, \quad n \in \mathbb{Z}. \tag{1}$$

Later theoretical investigations showed that a topological phenomenon underlies this quantization: the integer n in the above formula was shown to be the first Chern number of a vector bundle, naturally associated to the quantum system [1, 2, 27].

The only role played by the magnetic field in quantum Hall systems is that of breaking time-reversal symmetry: if the system were time-reversal symmetric, then the Hall conductivity would vanish, and the system would remain in an insulating state. This fact was clarified by Haldane [14], who showed that nontrivial topological phases can be displayed also in absence of a magnetic field, thus initiating the field of *Chern insulators* [3, 5]. Picking up on the work by Haldane, Fu, Kane and Mele [11, 12, 18] later introduced a model which still displays a topological phase even if time-reversal symmetry is preserved, and is by now recognized as a milestone in the history of topological insulators. The phenomenon that the model proposed to illustrate is that of the quantum spin Hall effect, which differs from the quantum Hall effect in that the external magnetic field is replaced by spin-orbit interactions (exactly to preserve time-reversal symmetry), and spin rather than charge currents flow on the boundary of the sample. From the point of view of topological phases, the peculiarity of this phenomenon is that, contrary to what happens for Chern and quantum Hall insulators, one can only distinguish between the trivial (insulating) and non-trivial (quantum spin Hall) phase: the label is then assigned by a  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ -valued topological index. Giving a full account of the geometric nature of this invariant has been a primary objective for mathematical physicists in the last decade, and a plethora of mathematical tools has been used in this endeavour, ranging from K-theory to homotopy theory, from functional analysis to noncommutative geometry, from equivariant cohomology to operator theory. We refer to [7, 10, 25] for recent accounts on the ever-growing literature on the subject.

The purpose of this contribution is to express both the Chern number and the Fu–Kane–Mele  $\mathbb{Z}_2$  index of 2-dimensional topological insulators in a common framework, provided by *obstruction theory*. It will be shown how both invariants arise as *topological obstructions* to the existence of a Bloch frame, which roughly speaking can be described as a set of continuous functions which parametrize the

occupied states of the physical systems and are compatible with its symmetries, namely periodicity with respect to the Bravais lattice of the crystal and, possibly, time-reversal symmetry; a precise definition will be given in the next Section. The nature of these topological invariants as obstructions was early realized [11, 20], employing methods from bundle theory and using local trivializing charts. Our strategy relies instead on successive extensions of the definition of the Bloch frame, which is well-suited for induction on the dimension of the system and is reminiscent of the extension of a section of a bundle along the cellular decomposition of its base space. We use only basic facts from linear algebra and the topology of the group of unitary matrices U(m); besides, our method has the further advantage of constructing the required Bloch frame in an algorithmic fashion.

#### 2 Topology of Crystalline Systems

#### 2.1 Periodic Hamiltonians

To set up a rigorous investigation of topological phases of quantum matter, we first have to understand the mathematical description of crystalline systems. The starting point is a *periodic Hamiltonian*: one could think of continuous models described by Schrödinger operators, or of discrete, tight-binding models described by hopping matrices. Periodicity means that the operator H should commute with the translations associated to a lattice  $\Gamma \simeq \mathbb{Z}^d \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ , namely the Bravais lattice of the crystal under scrutiny. This symmetry of the Hamiltonian leads to a partial diagonalization of it, by looking at common (generalized) eigenstates for the Hamiltonian and the translations: this procedure, which is reminiscent of the Fourier decomposition, goes by the name of *Bloch-Floquet reduction* [22]. In this representation, the Hamiltonian becomes a fibered operator, with fibre H(k) acting on a space  $\mathcal{H}_{f}$  containing the degrees of freedom associated to a unit cell for  $\Gamma$ . The parameter  $k \in \mathbb{R}^d$ , also called *crystal* or *Bloch momentum*, is determined up to translations by vectors in the dual lattice  $\Lambda := \Gamma^*$ , and thus can be considered as an element of the Brillouin torus  $\mathbb{T}^d := \mathbb{R}^d / \Lambda$ . Indeed, the fibre Hamiltonians at k and  $k + \lambda$ ,  $\lambda \in \Lambda$ , are unitarily intertwined by a representation  $\tau: \Lambda \to \mathscr{U}(\mathscr{H}_{f})$ , namely

$$H(k + \lambda) = \tau_{\lambda} H(k) \tau_{\lambda}^{-1}.$$

The above relation will be called  $\tau$ -covariance in what follows.

Due to the compactness of the unit cell, under fairly general assumptions<sup>1</sup> the operator H(k) has discrete spectrum: the function  $k \mapsto E_n(k)$ , associated to one of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>In continuous models, where *H* is a Schrödinger operator, these assumptions usually amount to asking that the electromagnetic potentials be infinitesimally Kato-small (possibly in the sense of quadratic forms) with respect to the kinetic part [26].

its eigenvalues (labelled, say, in increasing order), is called the *Bloch band*. The spectrum of the original Hamiltonian is recovered by considering the (possibly overlapping) ranges of all these functions, and leads to the well-known band-gap structure of the spectrum of a periodic operator. If one assumes that the Fermi energy of the system lies in a spectral gap for H, then it makes sense to consider the Fermi projector P(k) on the *m* occupied bands. The gap condition implies that the dependence of P(k) on *k* is analytic, and the family of operators P(k) is also  $\tau$ -covariant (see e.g. [24, Proposition 2.1]).

For the applications to topological insulators that we are aiming at, we need to consider also a further symmetry of the Hamiltonian, namely *time-reversal symmetry*. This is implemented antiunitarily on the Hilbert space of the quantum particle, and flips the arrow of time (and hence the crystal momentum). Mathematically, this amounts to require the existence of an antiunitary operator  $\Theta$  on  $\mathscr{H}_{f}$ , squaring to  $\pm 1_{\mathscr{H}_{f}}$ , and such that

$$H(-k) = \Theta H(k) \Theta^{-1}.$$

We say that the family of operators H(k) is *time-reversal symmetric* if the above holds. It is easy to verify that the Fermi projectors associated to a time-reversal symmetric Hamiltonians are time-reversal symmetric as well. In what follows, we will focus mainly on the case of a *fermionic* time-reversal symmetry operator, namely on the case where  $\Theta^2 = -\mathbf{1}_{\mathcal{H}_1}$ , as is the case for example for quantum spin Hall systems.

#### 2.2 Bloch Bundle, Berry Connection and Berry Curvature

From the previous analysis of periodic and time-reversal symmetric Hamiltonians, we ended up with a family of projectors  $\{P(k)\}_{k \in \mathbb{R}^d} \subset \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_f), P(k)^* = P(k) = P(k)^2$ , satisfying the following properties:

- (P<sub>1</sub>) analyticity: the map  $k \mapsto P(k)$  is a real-analytic map on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  with values in  $\mathscr{B}(\mathscr{H}_{\mathbf{f}})$ ;
- (P<sub>2</sub>)  $\tau$ -covariance: the map  $k \mapsto P(k)$  satisfies

$$P(k+\lambda) = \tau_{\lambda} P(k) \tau_{\lambda}^{-1}$$

for a unitary representation  $\tau: \Lambda \to \mathscr{U}(\mathscr{H}_{f})$  of the lattice  $\Lambda \simeq \mathbb{Z}^{d} \subset \mathbb{R}^{d}$ ; (P<sub>3</sub>) *time-reversal symmetry*: the map  $k \mapsto P(k)$  satisfies

$$P(-k) = \Theta P(k) \Theta^{-1}$$

for an antiunitary operator  $\Theta: \mathscr{H}_{f} \to \mathscr{H}_{f}$  such that  $\Theta^{2} = -\mathbf{1}_{\mathscr{H}_{f}}$ .

The topology underlying the quantum system described by the Hamiltonian H is encoded in its eigenprojectors, satisfying the above properties.<sup>2</sup> Indeed, one can associate to any family of projectors satisfying (P<sub>1</sub>) and (P<sub>2</sub>) a vector bundle  $\mathscr{E}$  over the torus  $\mathbb{T}^d$ , called the *Bloch bundle*, via a procedure reminiscent of the Serre–Swan construction: the fibre of  $\mathscr{E}$  over the point  $k \in \mathbb{T}^d$  is the *m*-dimensional vector space Ran P(k) (we refer to [22, 23] for details). The geometry of the Bloch bundle for d = 2 is what enters in the theoretical understanding of the quantum Hall effect: the integer *n* that equals the Hall conductivity (1) in natural units is the (*first*) *Chern number* of  $\mathscr{E}$ , defined as

$$c_1(P) := \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}^2} \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathscr{H}_{\mathbb{T}}} \left( P(k) \left[ \partial_1 P(k), \partial_2 P(k) \right] \right) \, \mathrm{d}k_1 \mathrm{d}k_2 \quad \in \mathbb{Z}.$$
(2)

When d = 2, the above integer characterizes the isomorphism class of  $\mathscr{E}$  as a vector bundle over  $\mathbb{T}^2$  [23]. Since both quantum Hall and quantum spin Hall systems are 2-dimensional, in the following we will mostly restrict ourselves to d = 2, where in particular the previous characterization holds.

In the case where  $\{P(k)\}_{k \in \mathbb{R}^d}$  satisfies also (P<sub>3</sub>), then the Bloch bundle can be equipped with further structure, namely that of a fiberwise antilinear endomorphism  $\widehat{\Theta}: \mathscr{E} \to \mathscr{E}$ , lifting the involution  $\theta(k) = -k$  on the base torus and squaring to the operator which multiplies fiberwise by -1. We call a vector bundle endowed with such an endomorphism  $\widehat{\Theta}$  a *time-reversal symmetric vector bundle*. One can verify that if d = 2 every such vector bundle is trivial, i.e. isomorphic to the product bundle  $\mathbb{T}^2 \times \mathbb{C}^m$ , since under (P<sub>3</sub>) the integrand in the definition (2) of the Chern number is an odd function of k, and hence integrates to zero on  $\mathbb{T}^2$  [22, 23]. However, the Bloch bundle may still be non-trivial as time-reversal symmetric bundle [8, 10]. The index that characterizes the isomorphism class of  $\mathscr{E}$  is the *Fu–Kane–Mele index*  $\delta(P) \in \mathbb{Z}_2$ , first introduced in [11] to describe quantum spin Hall systems. The expression of the  $\mathbb{Z}_2$  index is slightly more involved than the one for the Chern number, and requires the introduction of some further terminology, which will be however essential in what follows.

Given a family of projectors  $\{P(k)\}_{k \in \mathbb{R}^d}$  of constant rank *m*, a *Bloch frame* for it is a family of *m*-tuples of vectors  $\Psi = \{\psi_a(k)\}_{1 \le a \le m, k \in \mathbb{R}^d}$ , which are orthonormal and span the vector subspace  $\operatorname{Ran} P(k) \subset \mathscr{H}_f$  for all  $k \in \mathbb{R}^d$ . If P(k) depends smoothly on *k*, then the same can be required of the frame  $\Psi$ . We immediately stress that, when  $\{P(k)\}_{k \in \mathbb{R}^d}$  satisfies (P<sub>1</sub>) and (P<sub>2</sub>), then a Bloch frame is nothing but a trivializing frame for the associated Bloch bundle, and hence the existence of a continuous frame is in general guaranteed only *locally* in *k*. Let us also point out that, whenever a Bloch frame  $\Psi$  exists (say on an open domain  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ ), then any

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>In order for (P<sub>2</sub>) and (P<sub>3</sub>) to be compatible with each other, one should also require that  $\tau_{\lambda} \Theta = \tau_{\lambda}^{-1} \Theta$  for all  $\lambda \in \Lambda$ . We will assume this in the following.

other Bloch frame  $\Phi$  is obtained by setting

$$\phi_b(k) := \sum_{a=1}^m \psi_a(k) U(k)_{ab}, \quad 1 \le b \le m,$$
(3)

where U(k),  $k \in \Omega$ , is a unitary matrix, called the *Bloch gauge*. We use the shorthand notation

$$\Phi(k) = \Psi(k) \triangleleft U(k), \quad k \in \Omega, \tag{4}$$

to write (3) in a more compact form. This defines a free right action of U(m) on frames, meaning that  $(\Psi \triangleleft U_1) \triangleleft U_2 = \Psi \triangleleft (U_1 U_2)$  and that  $\Psi \triangleleft U_1 = \Psi \triangleleft U_2$  if and only if  $U_1 = U_2$ .

When a (local) Bloch frame  $\Psi = \{\psi_a(k)\}_{1 \le a \le m, k \in \mathbb{R}^d}$  is given, then one can define the *Berry connection*, i.e. the matrix-valued 1-form given by

$$A = \left(\sum_{\mu=1}^{d} A_{\mu}(k)_{ab} \, \mathrm{d}k_{\mu}\right)_{1 \le a, b \le m}, \quad A_{\mu}(k)_{ab} := -\mathrm{i} \left\{\psi_{a}(k), \partial_{\mu}\psi_{b}(k)\right\}.$$
(5)

This is indeed the matrix 1-form of the Grassmann connection on the Bloch bundle  $\mathscr{E}$  (i.e. the pullback of the standard connection d via the obvious inclusion  $\mathscr{E} \hookrightarrow \mathbb{T}^d \times \mathscr{H}_f$ ), subordinated to the local trivialization induced by the choice of the Bloch frame. The *abelian* or U(1) *Berry connection* is then the trace of the connection matrix, namely

$$\mathscr{A} := \operatorname{Tr}(A) = \sum_{\mu=1}^{d} \mathscr{A}_{\mu}(k) \, \mathrm{d}k_{\mu}, \quad \mathscr{A}_{\mu}(k) := -\mathrm{i} \sum_{a=1}^{m} \left\langle \psi_{a}(k), \partial_{\mu} \psi_{a}(k) \right\rangle.$$

The Berry curvature 2-form is the curvature of the Berry connection, namely

$$F := \mathrm{d}A - \mathrm{i}\left[A \stackrel{\wedge}{,} A\right]$$

which spells out to

$$F = \sum_{1 \le \mu < \nu \le d} F_{\mu\nu}(k) \, \mathrm{d}k_{\mu} \wedge \mathrm{d}k_{\nu},$$
$$F_{\mu\nu}(k) := \partial_{\mu}A_{\nu}(k) - \partial_{\nu}A_{\mu} - \mathrm{i}\left(A_{\nu} \wedge A_{\mu} - A_{\mu} \wedge A_{\nu}\right)$$

(the wedge product between matrix-valued 1-forms entails also the row-by-column product). Similarly, the *abelian* or U(1) *Berry curvature* is the trace

$$\mathscr{F} := \operatorname{Tr}(F) = \mathrm{d}\mathscr{A}. \tag{6}$$

In terms of the Bloch frame  $\Psi$ , the curvature  $\mathscr{F}$  reads

$$\mathscr{F} = \sum_{1 \leq \mu < \nu \leq d} \mathscr{F}_{\mu\nu}(k) \, \mathrm{d}k_{\mu} \wedge \mathrm{d}k_{\nu}, \quad \mathscr{F}_{\mu\nu}(k) := 2\mathrm{Im}\left(\sum_{a=1}^{m} \left\langle \partial_{\mu}\psi_{a}(k), \partial_{2}\psi_{a}(k) \right\rangle \right).$$

However, even if the Bloch frame is just a local object, the Berry curvature is a *global* one, as it can be expressed directly in terms of the family of projectors: a lengthy but straight-forward computation indeed shows that

$$\mathscr{F}_{\mu\nu}(k) = -\mathrm{i}\,\mathrm{Tr}_{\mathscr{H}_{\mathrm{f}}}\left(P(k)\left[\partial_{\mu}P(k),\partial_{\nu}P(k)\right]\right).\tag{7}$$

When d = 2, the above identity allows us to rewrite the Chern number as the integral of the (abelian) Berry curvature, namely

$$c_1(P) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{T}^2} \mathscr{F} \quad \in \mathbb{Z}$$
(8)

[compare (2)]. Moreover, coming back to the Fu–Kane–Mele index of a timereversal symmetric family of projectors, we can formulate  $\delta(P) \in \mathbb{Z}_2$  through the notions we have just introduced as

$$\delta(P) := \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{T}^2_+} \mathscr{F} - \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\partial \mathbb{T}^2_+} \mathscr{A} \mod 2 \tag{9}$$

where  $\mathbb{T}^2_+$  denotes the set of points in  $\mathbb{T}^2$  with non-negative  $k_1$  coordinate [7, 11]. Remember that the Berry connection depends on the choice of a Bloch frame: for the above formula to be well-posed one must require that the Bloch frame be *timereversal symmetric*, in a sense to be specified in the next Subsection. This point will be discussed further in Sect. 4.

Remark 1 (Gauge Dependence of Berry Connection and Curvature) For future reference, let us notice how the Berry connection and curvature matrices, as well as their abelian versions, change under a change of Bloch gauge. If  $\Phi$  and  $\Psi$  are related by the gauge transformation U as in (4), their connection matrices  $A^{\Phi}$  and

 $A^{\Phi}$  are linked by the equation<sup>3</sup>

$$A^{\Phi} = U^{-1} A^{\Psi} U - i U^{-1} dU.$$

Taking the trace of both sides of the above equation we obtain the corresponding relation for the abelian Berry connections, namely

$$\mathscr{A}^{\Phi}(k) = \mathscr{A}^{\Psi}(k) - \mathrm{i} \operatorname{Tr} \left( U^{-1} \, \mathrm{d} U \right). \tag{10}$$

One can similarly compute that the Berry curvature is a gauge-covariant object, namely

$$F^{\Phi} = U^{-1} F^{\Psi} U,$$

and consequently the abelian Berry curvature  $\mathscr{F}$  is gauge-invariant (namely  $\mathscr{F}^{\phi} = \mathscr{F}^{\psi}$ ), as could be deduced already from its expression (7) given directly in terms of the projectors P(k).

## 2.3 Obstruction Theory

Even though (2) and (9) express the Chern number and the Fu–Kane–Mele  $\mathbb{Z}_2$  index by means of geometric objects related to the family of projectors (its Berry connection and Berry curvature, specifically), the fact that they indeed compute integers or integers mod 2 is a highly non-trivial statement. In the next Sections, we will deduce this fact by means of *obstruction theory*, a framework which allows

$$\Psi(k) \triangleleft A^{\Psi}_{\mu}(k) = -\mathrm{i}\partial_{\mu}\Psi(k), \quad \Phi(k) \triangleleft A^{\Phi}_{\mu}(k) = -\mathrm{i}\partial_{\mu}\Phi(k).$$

As by definition we have  $\Phi(k) = \Psi(k) \triangleleft U(k)$ , we obtain

$$\begin{split} \Psi(k) \triangleleft (U(k)A^{\Phi}_{\mu}(k)) &= (\Psi(k) \triangleleft U(k)) \triangleleft A^{\Phi}_{\mu}(k) = \Phi(k) \triangleleft A^{\Phi}_{\mu}(k) = -\mathrm{i}\partial_{\mu}\Phi(k) \\ &= -\mathrm{i}\partial_{\mu}\left(\Psi(k) \triangleleft U(k)\right) = \left(-\mathrm{i}\partial_{\mu}\Psi(k)\right) \triangleleft U(k) + \Psi(k) \triangleleft \left(-\mathrm{i}\partial_{\mu}U(k)\right) \\ &= \left(\Psi(k) \triangleleft A^{\Psi}_{\mu}(k)\right) \triangleleft U(k) + \Psi(k) \triangleleft \left(-\mathrm{i}\partial_{\mu}U(k)\right) \\ &= \Psi(k) \triangleleft \left(A^{\Psi}_{\mu}(k)U(k) - \mathrm{i}\partial_{\mu}U(k)\right) \end{split}$$

by which we deduce that

$$U(k)A^{\Phi}_{\mu}(k) = A^{\Psi}_{\mu}(k)U(k) - \mathrm{i}\partial_{\mu}U(k).$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>An easy way to realize this is the following. The connection matrices  $A^{\psi}_{\mu}(k)$  and  $A^{\phi}_{\mu}(k)$  satisfy

to identify both indices as topological obstructions. This method has the advantage of manifesting both the quantization and the topological invariance of both indices, and requires only simple tools from linear algebra and basic topology.

Obstruction theory concerns the existence of a Bloch frame for a family of rank*m* projectors  $\{P(k)\}_{k \in \mathbb{R}^2}$  satisfying (P<sub>1</sub>), (P<sub>2</sub>) and, possibly, (P<sub>3</sub>), which obeys the same symmetries of the projectors themselves. More specifically, we say that a Bloch frame  $\Phi$  for  $\{P(k)\}_{k \in \mathbb{R}^2}$  is

(F<sub>1</sub>) *continuous* if the map  $k \mapsto \Phi(k)$  is a continuous map from  $\mathbb{R}^2$  to  $\mathscr{H}_{f}^{m}$ ;

(F<sub>2</sub>)  $\tau$ -equivariant if<sup>4</sup>

$$\Phi(k+\lambda) = \tau_{\lambda} \, \Phi(k) \quad \text{for all } k \in \mathbb{R}^2, \ \lambda \in \Lambda;$$

(F<sub>3</sub>) time-reversal symmetric if<sup>5</sup>

$$\Phi(-k) = \Theta \Phi(k) \triangleleft \varepsilon$$

for a skew-symmetric unitary matrix  $\varepsilon$ . Without loss of generality [16], it can be assumed that

$$\varepsilon = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \oplus \stackrel{m/2 \text{ times}}{\cdots} \oplus \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(11)

The above properties in general compete against each other, as was early realized [11, 20] and as becomes apparent upon observing that a continuous,  $\tau$ -equivariant (and time-reversal symmetric) Bloch frame would provide a global trivialization of the Bloch bundle as a (time-reversal symmetric) vector bundle.

The general strategy of obstruction theory consists in considering a continuous, globally defined Bloch frame  $\Psi$ , and trying to modify it in order to obtain a new Bloch frame  $\Phi$  which satisfies also the properties of being  $\tau$ -equivariant and, possibly, time-reversal symmetric. The input frame  $\Psi$  can be constructed by covering  $\mathbb{R}^d$  with open balls  $B_r(k_j)$ , r > 0,  $k_j \in \mathbb{R}^d$ , in which  $||P(k) - P(k_j)|| < 1$ ,  $k \in B_r(k_j)$ , and using the Kato–Nagy unitary  $U(k; k_j)$ , which intertwines P(k) and  $P(k_j)$ , to extend the choice of an orthonormal basis in the vector space Ran  $P(k_j)$  to a continuous choice of an orthonormal basis  $\Psi(k)$  in Ran P(k) (that is, by definition, to a continuous Bloch frame on  $B_r(k_j)$ ) [19]. An alternative construction makes use of the parallel transport associated to the family of projectors P(k), see e.g. [7]. The modification of  $\Psi$  into  $\Phi$  is performed by successive extensions, first at certain high-symmetry points, then along the edges that connect them, and finally on the whole

 $<sup>^4</sup> The action of any (anti)unitary operator on <math display="inline">\mathscr{H}_f$  is lifted to  $\mathscr{H}_f^{\it m}$  componentwise.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>The presence of the reshuffling matrix  $\varepsilon$  is needed to make the time-reversal symmetry condition self-consistent. This follows essentially from the fact that the antiunitary operator  $\Theta$  defines by restriction a symplectic structure on the invariant subspace Ran  $P(k_{\sharp}) \subset \mathscr{H}_{\mathrm{f}}$  if  $k_{\sharp} \equiv -k_{\sharp} \mod \Lambda$ . Notice that in particular the rank *m* of P(k) must be even under (P<sub>3</sub>).

 $\mathbb{R}^2$ . We will see that this latter step, from 1-dimensional lines to 2-dimensional faces, is in general topologically obstructed, and that this obstruction is encoded in the vanishing of the Chern number if one requires the Bloch frame  $\Phi$  to satisfy (F<sub>1</sub>) and (F<sub>2</sub>) (see Sect. 3), or in the vanishing of the Fu–Kane–Mele index if one also requires (F<sub>3</sub>) to hold (see Sect. 4).

*Remark 2 (Analytic Bloch Frames)* The obstruction to the existence of symmetric Bloch frames, being topological in nature, fits well inside the continuous category. However, one may wonder whether an analytic family of projectors as in ( $P_1$ ) admits a Bloch frame depending *analytically* on *k* as well. This question is crucial in the study of conduction/insulation properties in crystals via *maximally localized Wannier functions* (see e.g. [4, 21]). There are by now several techniques that are able to construct analytic frames out of continuous ones preserving moreover all the symmetries, for example by convolution with suitable kernels [6, 7]. These are all incarnations of the more general *Oka's principle*, which states that in fair generality the obstruction to the triviality of a vector bundle in the continuous category can be lifted to the analytic one [23].

#### **3** The Chern Number as a Topological Obstruction

In this section we illustrate how the Chern number in (2) encodes the topological obstruction to the existence of a continuous and  $\tau$ -equivariant Bloch frame for a family of projectors  $\{P(k)\}_{k \in \mathbb{R}^2}$  satisfying (P<sub>1</sub>) and (P<sub>2</sub>).

#### 3.1 Reduction to the Unit Cell

The  $\tau$ -covariance of the family of projectors allows one to focus on points *k* lying in the *fundamental unit cell* for the lattice  $\Lambda = \text{Span}_{\mathbb{Z}} \{e_1, e_2\}$ , namely

$$\mathbb{B} := \left\{ k = k_1 e_1 + k_2 e_2 \in \mathbb{R}^2 : |k_j| \le 1/2, \ 1 \le j \le 2 \right\}.$$

Indeed, if one can find a continuous Bloch frame  $\Phi$  on  $\mathbb{B}$  such that  $\Phi(k + \lambda) = \tau_{\lambda}\Phi(k)$  whenever  $k \in \mathbb{B}$  and  $\lambda \in \Lambda$  are such that  $k + \lambda \in \mathbb{B}$  (a condition to be imposed on the boundary of the fundamental unit cell), then one can enforce  $\tau$ -equivariance to extend the definition of  $\Phi$  to the whole  $\mathbb{R}^2$  in a continuous way. Conversely, the restriction  $\Phi$  to  $\mathbb{B}$  of a continuous,  $\tau$ -equivariant Bloch frame defined on the whole  $\mathbb{R}^2$  satisfies exactly the condition stated above.

As sketched in Sect. 2.3, the approach of obstruction theory starts from a Bloch frame  $\Psi$  defined on the unit cell. One then modifies its definition on the boundary of  $\mathbb{B}$  in order to enforce  $\tau$ -equivariance there, and then investigates whether it is possible to extend this modification continuously also on the interior of the unit

cell. In particular, this construction on the boundary requires to take care of what happens at the four vertices of  $\mathbb{B}$ , namely the four points

$$v_1 = \left(-\frac{1}{2}, -\frac{1}{2}\right), \quad v_2 = \left(\frac{1}{2}, -\frac{1}{2}\right), \quad v_3 = \left(\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}\right), \quad v_4 = \left(-\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}\right)$$

If this procedure is successful, then the "output" frame  $\Phi(k)$ ,  $k \in \mathbb{B}$ , will satisfy  $\tau$ -equivariance on the boundary, and it will then be continuously extendable to the whole  $\mathbb{R}^2$  by  $\tau$ -equivariant continuation, as explained above.

Notice that both the input frame  $\Psi(k)$  and the output frame  $\Phi(k)$  give orthonormal bases for the vector space Ran P(k), hence they differ by the action of a unitary transformation (a Bloch gauge)  $U(k) \in U(m)$ , as in (3). It is sometimes convenient to consider the continuous map  $U: \mathbb{B} \to U(m)$  as the unknown of the problem, rather than the Bloch frame  $\Phi$ .

We will see that the only step of the construction of  $\Phi$  which may be topologically obstructed is the "face" extension (from the boundary to the interior of  $\mathbb{B}$ ), and that a quantitative measure of the presence of this topological obstruction is given by the Chern number of the family of projectors.

#### 3.2 Bloch Frame on the Boundary

As a first step, we construct a continuous Bloch frame on the boundary of the fundamental unit cell which satisfies the  $\tau$ -equivariance condition. The construction can be performed as follows. Given the reference frame  $\Psi(v_1)$ , one can consider its  $\tau$ -translates  $\tau_{e_1}\Psi(v_1)$  and  $\tau_{e_2}\Psi(v_1)$ , which constitute orthonormal bases in the subspaces Ran  $P(v_2)$  and Ran  $P(v_4)$ , respectively. Let  $U_{obs}(v_2)$  (respectively  $U_{obs}(v_4)$ ) be the unitary matrix which maps the input frame  $\Psi(v_2)$  (respectively  $\Psi(v_4)$ ) to  $\tau_{e_1}\Psi(v_1)$  (respectively  $\tau_{e_2}\Psi(v_1)$ ):

$$\tau_{e_1}\Psi(v_1) = \Psi(v_2) \triangleleft U_{\text{obs}}(v_2), \quad \tau_{e_2}\Psi(v_1) = \Psi(v_4) \triangleleft U_{\text{obs}}(v_4).$$

If  $\Psi$  were already  $\tau$ -equivariant then these *obstruction unitaries* would equal the identity matrix. Write  $U_{obs}(v_{\sharp}) = e^{iT(v_{\sharp})}$ , with  $T(v_{\sharp}) = T(v_{\sharp})^*$  self-adjoint, for  $v_{\sharp} \in \{v_2, v_4\}$ . Define moreover

$$\widehat{\Phi}(k) := \begin{cases} \Psi(k_1, -\frac{1}{2}) \triangleleft e^{i(2k_1+1)T(v_2)/2} & \text{if } k = (k_1, -\frac{1}{2}), \ k_1 \in [-\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}], \\ \tau_{e_1}\Psi(-\frac{1}{2}, k_2) \triangleleft e^{i(2k_2+1)T(v_4)/2} & \text{if } k = (\frac{1}{2}, k_2), \ k_2 \in [-\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}], \\ \tau_{e_2}\Psi(k_1, -\frac{1}{2}) \triangleleft e^{i(2k_1+1)T(v_2)/2} & \text{if } k = (k_1, \frac{1}{2}), \ k_1 \in [-\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}], \\ \Psi(-\frac{1}{2}, k_2) \triangleleft e^{i(2k_2+1)T(v_4)/2} & \text{if } k = (-\frac{1}{2}, k_2), \ k_2 \in [-\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}]. \end{cases}$$
(12)

The frame  $\widehat{\Phi}$  is defined on the boundary  $\partial \mathbb{B}$  of the fundamental unit cell, where it is also  $\tau$ -equivariant. Moreover, it is continuous, as on the vertex  $v_3$  the definitions coincide. Indeed we have

$$\tau_{e_1}\Psi(v_4) \triangleleft U_{\text{obs}}(v_4) = \tau_{e_1}\tau_{e_2}\Psi(v_1) = \tau_{e_2}\tau_{e_1}\Psi(v_1) = \tau_{e_2}\Psi(v_2) \triangleleft U_{\text{obs}}(v_2).$$

## 3.3 Extension to the Face: A Topological Obstruction

In order to see whether it is possible to extend the frame  $\widehat{\Phi}$  to a continuous  $\tau$ -equivariant Bloch frame  $\Phi$  defined on the whole unit cell  $\mathbb{B}$ , we first introduce the unitary map  $\widehat{U}(k)$  which maps the input frame  $\Psi(k)$  to the frame  $\widehat{\Phi}(k)$ , i.e. such that

$$\widehat{\Phi}(k) = \Psi(k) \triangleleft \widehat{U}(k), \quad k \in \partial \mathbb{B}$$
(13)

[compare (3)]. This defines a continuous map  $\widehat{U}: \partial \mathbb{B} \to U(m)$ . If we can find a continuous extension  $U: \mathbb{B} \to U(m)$  of  $\widehat{U}$  to the unit cell, then (3) can be used to define an extension of the frame  $\Phi$  which preserves continuity and  $\tau$ -equivariance: it turns out that also the converse is true (compare Proposition 1 below).

It is a well-known fact in topology [9, Theorem 17.3.1] that a continuous map  $\widehat{U}: \partial \mathbb{B} \to U(m)$  extends continuously to the inside of the unit cell if and only if the map is homotopically trivial, i.e. it can be continuously deformed to a constant map. This condition can be checked by verifying that the integral

$$c := \deg([\widehat{U}]) = \frac{i}{2\pi} \oint_{\partial \mathbb{B}} dk \operatorname{Tr}\left(\widehat{U}(k)^{-1} \partial_k \widehat{U}(k)\right)$$
(14)

vanishes: this is because two maps  $\partial \mathbb{B} \to U(m)$  are homotopic if and only if their *degrees*, defined like in (14), coincide. Notice that the integral above gives an integer, and provides an isomorphism of the fundamental group  $\pi_1(U(m))$  (whose elements are homotopy classes of maps  $\partial \mathbb{B} \to U(m)$ ) with the group of integers  $\mathbb{Z}$ by assigning  $\widehat{U} \mapsto \text{deg}([\widehat{U}])$  [17, Chap. 8, Sect. 12].

Remark 3 (Unwinding the Determinant is Forbidden) Since we have to extend the frame  $\widehat{\Phi}$  rather than the unitary  $\widehat{U}$ , one may argue that it may be possible to find another unitary-matrix-valued map that "unwinds" the determinant of  $\widehat{U}$ , while preserving the relevant symmetries of the Bloch frame. This possibility is ruled out by the following result.

**Proposition 1** Let  $\Phi$  be a continuous Bloch frame on  $\partial \mathbb{B}$  which is  $\tau$ -equivariant, and assume that  $X: \partial \mathbb{B} \to U(m)$  is a continuous map such that  $\Phi \triangleleft X$  is also  $\tau$ -equivariant. Then

$$\deg([X]) = 0.$$



Fig. 1 The fundamental unit cell  $\mathbb{B}$ , its vertices and its edges

*Proof* We spell out what it means for  $\Phi$  and  $\Phi \triangleleft X$  to be both  $\tau$ -equivariant:

$$\Phi(k+\lambda) \triangleleft X(k+\lambda) = \tau_{\lambda} \left( \Phi(k) \triangleleft X(k) \right) = \tau_{\lambda} \Phi(k) \triangleleft X(k) = \Phi(k+\lambda) \triangleleft X(k).$$

This implies that  $X(k + \lambda) = X(k)$ , whenever  $k \in \partial \mathbb{B}$  and  $\lambda \in \Lambda$  are such that  $k + \lambda \in \partial \mathbb{B}$ . As a consequence, the same is true for the expression  $x(k) := \operatorname{Tr} (X(k)^{-1} \partial_k X(k))$  appearing in the integral defining deg([X]) [compare (14)]. Denote by  $E_i$  the edge of  $\partial \mathbb{B}$  connecting  $v_i$  with  $v_{(i+1) \mod 4}$  (compare Fig. 1). Then the property  $x(k + \lambda) = x(k)$  implies that

$$\int_{E_3} \mathrm{d}k \, x(k) = \int_{-(E_1 + e_1)} \mathrm{d}k \, x(k) = -\int_{E_1} \mathrm{d}k \, x(k), \text{ that is } \int_{E_1 + E_3} \mathrm{d}k \, x(k) = 0.$$

Similarly

$$\int_{E_2+E_4} \mathrm{d}k \, x(k) = 0.$$

We conclude that

$$\deg([X]) = \frac{i}{2\pi} \int_{E_1 + E_2 + E_3 + E_4} dk \, x(k) = 0$$

as wanted.

## 3.4 The Obstruction is the Chern Number

We now want to rewrite the integer *c* in (14) and characterize it as a *topological invariant* of the family of projectors  $\{P(k)\}_{k \in \mathbb{R}^2}$  [showing in particular that it does not depend on the input Bloch frame  $\Psi$  and on the specific interpolation performed on the obstruction matrices in (12)]. To this end, we will make use of the (abelian) Berry connection and curvature, introduced in Sect. 2.2.

If we calculate  $\widehat{\mathscr{A}}$  on  $\partial \mathbb{B}$  as in (5) using the vectors of the frame  $\widehat{\Phi}$  and analogously compute  $\mathscr{A}$  using  $\Psi$ , then

$$\widehat{\mathscr{A}} = \mathscr{A} - \mathrm{i} \operatorname{Tr} \left( \widehat{U}^{-1} \mathrm{d} \widehat{U} \right) \quad \text{on } \partial \mathbb{B}, \tag{15}$$

in view of (13) and (10). Integrating both sides of Eq. (15) on  $\partial \mathbb{B}$ , we obtain that

$$\frac{1}{2\pi} \oint_{\partial \mathbb{B}} \widehat{\mathscr{A}} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \oint_{\partial \mathbb{B}} \mathscr{A} - \frac{i}{2\pi} \oint_{\partial \mathbb{B}} dk \operatorname{Tr} \left( \widehat{U}(k)^{-1} \partial_k \widehat{U}(k) \right)$$
$$= \left( \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{B}} \mathscr{F} \right) - c$$
(16)

by (6) and Stokes theorem.

We will now show that the left-hand side of the above equality vanishes. In order to do so, we exploit the  $\tau$ -equivariance of the Bloch frame  $\widehat{\Phi}$ , that is,  $\widehat{\Phi}(k + \lambda) = \tau_{\lambda}\widehat{\Phi}(k)$ . Indeed, in terms of the Berry connection matrix A = A(k) dk we have that

$$\widehat{\Phi}(k+\lambda) \triangleleft \widehat{A}(k+\lambda) = -i\partial_k \widehat{\Phi}(k+\lambda) = \tau_\lambda \left(-i\partial_k \widehat{\Phi}(k)\right)$$
$$= \tau_\lambda \left(\widehat{\Phi}(k+\lambda) \triangleleft \widehat{A}(k)\right) = \tau_\lambda \widehat{\Phi}(k+\lambda) \triangleleft \widehat{A}(k) \qquad (17)$$
$$= \widehat{\Phi}(k+\lambda) \triangleleft \widehat{A}(k)$$

so that  $\widehat{A}(k+\lambda) = \widehat{A}(k)$  and, taking the trace,  $\widehat{\mathscr{A}}(k+\lambda) = \widehat{\mathscr{A}}(k)$ . Arguing similarly to the proof of Proposition 1, one can show that the latter relation implies

$$\int_{E_1+E_3}\widehat{\mathscr{A}}=0,\quad \int_{E_2+E_4}\widehat{\mathscr{A}}=0,$$

yielding the vanishing of the left-hand side of (16).

Hence we conclude that

$$\left(\frac{1}{2\pi}\int_{\mathbb{B}}\mathscr{F}\right)-c=\frac{1}{2\pi}\oint_{\partial\mathbb{B}}\widehat{\mathscr{A}}=0$$

which in view of (8) yields

$$c = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{B}} \mathscr{F} = c_1(P) \tag{18}$$

as wanted.

#### 4 The Fu–Kane–Mele Invariant as a Topological Obstruction

In this Section, we switch to the time-reversal symmetric setting. As was already mentioned, in this case the presence of a further symmetry kills the topological obstruction given by the Chern number (2) [22, 23]. However, the same symmetry allows to refine the notion of "symmetric Bloch frame" by requiring that it be also time-reversal symmetric (compare Sect. 2.3). This gives rise to a new topological obstruction encoded in the Fu–Kane–Mele  $\mathbb{Z}_2$  invariant [10, 11], as we will now show.

Throughout this section,  $\{P(k)\}_{k \in \mathbb{R}^2}$  denotes a family of orthogonal projectors satisfying (P<sub>1</sub>), (P<sub>2</sub>) and (P<sub>3</sub>).

#### 4.1 Reduction to the Effective Unit Cell

In order to investigate the existence of a global Bloch frame for P(k) which is continuous,  $\tau$ -equivariant, and time-reversal symmetric, it is sufficient to focus one's attention to momenta in the *effective unit cell* for the lattice  $\Lambda = \text{Span}_{\mathbb{Z}} \{e_1, e_2\}$ , defined as

$$\mathbb{B}_{\text{eff}} := \{ k = k_1 e_1 + k_2 e_2 \in \mathbb{R}^2 : 0 \le k_1 \le 1/2, \ -1/2 \le k_2 \le 1/2 \}$$

Indeed, all points of  $\mathbb{R}^2$  can be mapped to  $\mathbb{B}_{\text{eff}}$  (in an a.e. unique way) by means of a combination of a translation  $k \mapsto k + \lambda$ ,  $\lambda \in \Lambda$ , and possibly an inversion  $k \mapsto -k$ . This means that if a Bloch frame is defined on  $\mathbb{B}_{\text{eff}}$  and satisfies the relevant symmetries there, then it is possible to extend its definition first to the unit cell  $\mathbb{B}$  by enforcing time-reversal symmetry, and secondly to the whole  $\mathbb{R}^2$ imposing  $\tau$ -equivariance. This dictates that the required frame  $\Phi$  on  $\mathbb{B}_{\text{eff}}$  satisfies certain compatibility conditions on the boundary of the effective unit cell, namely that  $\Phi(k + \lambda) = \tau_{\lambda} \Phi(k)$  and  $\Phi(-k) = \Theta \Phi(k) \triangleleft \varepsilon$ , whenever  $k \in \partial \mathbb{B}_{\text{eff}}$  and  $\lambda \in \Lambda$ are such that  $\pm k + \lambda \in \partial \mathbb{B}_{\text{eff}}$ .

We will again resort to the technique of obstruction theory. Consequently, we will choose a continuous Bloch frame  $\Psi$  on  $\mathbb{B}_{eff}$ , and try to modify it into a frame  $\Phi$  satisfying the symmetries mentioned above. The two frames  $\Psi(k)$  and  $\Phi(k)$  will be related by a unitary transformation, which we denote by U(k) as in (3). As in



Fig. 2 The effective unit cell  $\mathbb{B}_{eff}$  and the time-reversal invariant momenta

Sect. 3.1, a special role is played by the high-symmetry points  $k_{\lambda}$ , defined by the relation  $k_{\lambda} + \lambda = -k_{\lambda}$  with  $\lambda \in \Lambda$  (that is,  $k_{\lambda} = \lambda/2$ ). Six such points lie on the boundary of  $\mathbb{B}_{\text{eff}}$ , and are usually referred to as the *time-reversal invariant momenta* (compare Fig. 2).

#### 4.2 Bloch Frame on the Boundary

As a first step, we provide here the construction of a symmetric Bloch frame defined on the boundary of the effective unit cell  $\mathbb{B}_{eff}$ , following the obstruction-theoretic approach employed in the previous Section for the non-time-reversal-symmetric case.

Let  $k_{\lambda}$  be any of the time-reversal invariant momenta. Given the input frame  $\Psi(k_{\lambda})$ , the transformed frames  $\Theta \Psi(k_{\lambda}) \triangleleft \varepsilon$  and  $\tau_{\lambda} \Psi(k_{\lambda}) \Psi(k_{\lambda})$  both give bases of the same vector space Ran  $P(-k_{\lambda}) = \text{Ran } P(k_{\lambda} + \lambda)$ . As such, they must differ by the action of an *obstruction unitary* matrix:

$$\Theta \Psi(k_{\lambda}) \triangleleft \varepsilon = \tau_{\lambda} \Psi(k_{\lambda}) \triangleleft U_{\text{obs}}(k_{\lambda}). \tag{19}$$

These unitary matrices satisfy a further self-compatibility condition, namely

$$U_{\rm obs}(k_{\lambda})^{\mathsf{T}} \varepsilon = \varepsilon \, U_{\rm obs}(k_{\lambda}), \tag{20}$$
as can be deduced from the following considerations. Applying the operator  $\tau_{\lambda}\Theta = \Theta \tau_{\lambda}^{-1}$  to both sides of the identity (19), and using the defining properties of the time-reversal operator  $\Theta$ , we obtain

$$\tau_{\lambda}\Psi(k_{\lambda}) \triangleleft (-\overline{\varepsilon}) = \Theta\Psi(k_{\lambda}) \triangleleft U_{\rm obs}(k_{\lambda}).$$

Using the relation (19) again we can rewrite the above equality as

$$\Theta \Psi(k_{\lambda}) \triangleleft \left(-\varepsilon \ U_{\rm obs}(k_{\lambda})^{-1} \ \overline{\varepsilon}\right) = \Theta \Psi(k_{\lambda}) \triangleleft \overline{U_{\rm obs}(k_{\lambda})}$$

from which we deduce that  $-\varepsilon U_{obs}(k_{\lambda})^{-1}\overline{\varepsilon} = \overline{U_{obs}(k_{\lambda})}$ . Taking complex conjugates and using the fact that  $-\overline{\varepsilon} = \varepsilon^{-1}$  (by unitarity and skew-symmetry) yields exactly (20).

Write now  $U_{obs}(v_{\sharp}) = e^{iT(v_{\sharp})}$  for  $v_{\sharp} \in \{v_1, \ldots, v_4\}$ , with  $T(v_{\sharp}) = T(v_{\sharp})^*$  selfadjoint and satisfying  $\sigma(T(v_{\sharp})) \subset (-\pi, \pi]$ . This normalization on the arguments of the eigenvalues of  $U_{obs}(v_{\sharp})$  gives that  $T(v_{\sharp})$  inherits the property (20) in the form

$$T(v_{\sharp})^{\mathsf{T}} \varepsilon = \varepsilon T(v_{\sharp}) \tag{21}$$

(see [16, Sect. 6, Lemma]).

Set now

$$\widehat{\Phi}(k) := \begin{cases} \Psi(k) \triangleleft V(k) & \text{if } k \in S, \\ \tau_{e_1}^{-1} \Theta \Psi(\frac{1}{2}, -k_2) \triangleleft \left(\overline{V(\frac{1}{2}, -k_2)} \varepsilon\right) & \text{if } k = (\frac{1}{2}, k_2), \, k_2 \in [0, \frac{1}{2}], \\ \tau_{e_2} \Psi(k_1, -\frac{1}{2}) \triangleleft V(k_1, -\frac{1}{2}) & \text{if } k = (k_1, \frac{1}{2}), \, k_1 \in [0, \frac{1}{2}], \\ \Theta \Psi(0, -k_2) \triangleleft \left(\overline{V(0, -k_2)} \varepsilon\right) & \text{if } k = (0, k_2), \, k_2 \in [0, \frac{1}{2}], \end{cases}$$
(22)

where

$$S := \left\{ k = (0, k_2) : k_2 \in \left[ -\frac{1}{2}, 0 \right] \right\} \cup \left\{ k = \left( k_1, -\frac{1}{2} \right) : k_1 \in \left[ 0, \frac{1}{2} \right] \right\}$$
$$\cup \left\{ k = \left( \frac{1}{2}, k_2 \right) : k_2 \in \left[ -\frac{1}{2}, 0 \right] \right\}$$

and for  $k \in S$ 

$$V(k) := \begin{cases} e^{i[(1+2k_2)T(v_1)-2k_2T(v_2)]/2} & \text{if } k = (0,k_2), \ k_2 \in [-\frac{1}{2},0], \\ e^{i[(1-2k_1)T(v_2)+2k_1T(v_3)]/2} & \text{if } k = (k_1,-\frac{1}{2}), \ k_1 \in [-\frac{1}{2},0], \\ e^{i[(1+2k_2)T(v_3)-2k_2T(v_4)]/2} & \text{if } k = (\frac{1}{2},k_2), \ k_2 \in [-\frac{1}{2},0]. \end{cases}$$
(23)

Equation (22) above defines a Bloch frame  $\widehat{\Phi}$  on  $\partial \mathbb{B}_{eff}$  which is by construction  $\tau$ -equivariant and time-reversal symmetric. Notice also that (23) yields

$$U_{\rm obs}(k_{\lambda}) = V(k_{\lambda})^2 = V(k_{\lambda})\varepsilon^{-1}V(k_{\lambda})^{\mathsf{T}}\varepsilon$$

at the time-reversal invariant momenta. Repeated use of the defining property (19) for  $U_{obs}(k_{\lambda})$  and of its generator  $T(k_{\lambda})$ , together with (20) and (21), shows that  $\widehat{\Phi}$  also joins continuously at the time-reversal invariant momenta. For example, at  $k_{\lambda} = k_{e_1} = (1/2, 0)$  we have

$$\tau_{e_1}^{-1} \Theta \Psi(k_{e_1}) \triangleleft \left(\overline{V(k_{e_1})} \varepsilon\right) = \tau_{e_1}^{-1} \Theta \Psi(k_{e_1}) \triangleleft \left(\varepsilon V(k_{e_1})^*\right)$$
$$= \tau_{e_1}^{-1} \left(\Theta \Psi(k_{e_1}) \triangleleft \varepsilon\right) \triangleleft V(k_{e_1})^*$$
$$= \tau_{e_1}^{-1} \left(\tau_{e_1} \Psi(k_{e_1}) \triangleleft U_{\text{obs}}(k_{e_1})\right) \triangleleft V(k_{e_1})^{-1}$$
$$= \Psi(k_{e_1}) \triangleleft \left(V(k_{e_1})^2 V(k_{e_1})^{-1}\right) = \Psi(k_{e_1}) \triangleleft V(k_{e_1}).$$

### 4.3 Extension to the Face: A Topological Obstruction

Let  $\widehat{U}$  denote the unitary transformation mapping the input frame  $\Psi$  to the Bloch frame  $\widehat{\Phi}$  we just constructed, as in (13). We have already argued in the previous Section that the obstruction to the continuous extension of the map  $\widehat{U}: \partial \mathbb{B}_{eff} \to U(m)$ to the interior of the effective unit cell is measured precisely by the vanishing of the integer deg $([\widehat{U}]) \in \mathbb{Z}$  given by

$$\deg([\widehat{U}]) = \frac{\mathrm{i}}{2\pi} \oint_{\partial \mathbb{B}_{\mathrm{eff}}} \mathrm{d}k \operatorname{Tr}\left(\widehat{U}(k)^{-1}\partial_k \widehat{U}(k)\right)$$
(24)

[compare (14)]. However, in this new setting it is no longer the case that the extension problem for the unitary  $\widehat{U}$  is equivalent to the one for the frame  $\widehat{\Phi}$ , as opposed to the situation in Remark 3. Indeed, we have the following result.

**Proposition 2** Let  $\Phi$  be a continuous Bloch frame on  $\partial \mathbb{B}_{eff}$  which is symmetric, and assume that  $X: \partial \mathbb{B}_{eff} \to U(m)$  is a continuous map such that  $\Phi \triangleleft X$  is also symmetric. Then

$$deg([X]) \in 2\mathbb{Z}.$$

*Proof* One easily computes that asking that  $\Phi \triangleleft X$  be again  $\tau$ -equivariant and timereversal symmetric is equivalent to the conditions

$$X(k + \lambda) = X(k)$$
 and  $X(-k + \lambda)^{\mathsf{T}} \varepsilon X(k) = \varepsilon$  (25)

whenever  $k \in \partial \mathbb{B}_{eff}$  and  $\lambda \in \Lambda$  are such that  $\pm k + \lambda \in \partial \mathbb{B}_{eff}$ . In view of the above conditions, the integral computing the degree of *X*, as in (24), simplifies to

$$\deg([X]) = 2\left\{\frac{i}{2\pi} \int_{E_1} dk \, \operatorname{Tr}\left(X(k)^{-1} \partial_k X(k)\right) + \frac{i}{2\pi} \int_{E_3} dk \, \operatorname{Tr}\left(X(k)^{-1} \partial_k X(k)\right)\right\}$$
(26)

where the  $E_i$ 's are the portions of  $\partial \mathbb{B}_{eff}$  connecting two consecutive time-reversal invariant momenta (compare Fig. 2).

Notice now that for a unitary-matrix-valued map

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(X(k)^{-1}\partial_k X(k)\right) = \xi(k)^{-1}\partial_k \xi(k), \quad \text{with } \xi(k) = \det X(k) \in U(1)$$

(see e.g. [7, Lemma 2.12]). On  $E_1$  and  $E_3$ , the maps  $k \mapsto \xi(k)$  are actually periodic, since the second condition in (25) implies that at the time-reversal invariant momenta  $k_{\lambda}$  the matrix  $X(k_{\lambda})$  must be symplectic and thus of unit determinant. The term in curly brackets on the right-hand side of (26) then computes the sum of the winding numbers of the maps  $\xi|_{E_1}$  and  $\xi|_{E_3}$ , and is thus an integer. This concludes the proof of the Proposition.

The above result shows that if  $deg([\widehat{U}]) = 2r \in 2\mathbb{Z}$  is even, it is still possible to "unwind" the map  $\widehat{U}$  with the help of an auxiliary map X, without breaking the symmetries ( $\tau$ -equivariance, time-reversal) enjoyed by the frame  $\widehat{\Phi}$  as in (22). Indeed, it is easily verified that the map X:  $\partial \mathbb{B}_{eff} \to U(m)$  defined (in the basis where  $\varepsilon$  is of the form (11)) by

$$X(k) = \begin{cases} e^{-2\pi i r(k_2+1/2)} \mathbb{1}_2 \oplus \mathbb{1}_{m-2} & \text{if } k = (\frac{1}{2}, k_2) \in E_3 \cup E_4, \ k_2 \in [-\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}], \\ \mathbb{1}_m & \text{elsewhere in } \partial \mathbb{B}_{\text{eff}}, \end{cases}$$

satisfies (25) and deg([X]) = -2r. It follows that the frame  $\Psi \triangleleft (\widehat{U}X)$  is still continuous,  $\tau$ -equivariant and time-reversal symmetric, and extends to a continuous Bloch frame  $\Phi$  in the interior of  $\mathbb{B}_{\text{eff}}$  since deg( $[\widehat{U}X]$ ) = 0.

We conclude that the topological obstruction to the existence of a continuous and symmetric Bloch frame is measured by the quantity

$$d := \deg([\widehat{U}]) \mod 2. \tag{27}$$

It can be shown [10] that  $d \in \mathbb{Z}_2$  defines a true *topological invariant* for the family of projectors P(k) enjoying (P<sub>1</sub>), (P<sub>2</sub>) and (P<sub>3</sub>), that is, it does not depend on the choice of the input frame  $\Psi$  and on the explicit form of the interpolation V as in (23), and moreover it stays constant under continuous deformations (homotopies) of the family of projectors which preserve its symmetry properties.

## 4.4 The Obstruction is the Fu–Kane–Mele Index

Arguing along the same lines of Sect. 3.4, it is possible to write the topological invariant *d* in terms of the Berry connection and the Berry curvature associated to the family of projectors P(k), which in turn connects *d* with the Fu–Kane–Mele  $\mathbb{Z}_2$  index for time-reversal symmetric topological insulators [11]. Indeed, the analogue

of (16) reads now

$$\delta = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{B}_{\text{eff}}} \mathscr{F} - \frac{1}{2\pi} \oint_{\partial \mathbb{B}_{\text{eff}}} \mathscr{\hat{A}} \mod 2 = \delta(P), \tag{28}$$

compare (9). Let us stress that the Berry connection  $\widehat{\mathscr{A}}$  appearing in the above formula must be computed with respect to a frame  $\widehat{\Phi}$  which is  $\tau$ -equivariant *and time-reversal symmetric* on the boundary of the effective unit cell  $\mathbb{B}_{eff}$ . This guarantees, for example, that the expression on the right-hand side is gauge-independent, as we have seen how a change of unitary gauge which preserves the symmetries must have even degree (Proposition 2).

Notice that, contrary to the case of the Chern number treated in Sect. 3.4, the "boundary term" in (28) need not vanish. Indeed, the symmetries

$$\widehat{\mathscr{A}}(k+\lambda) = \widehat{\mathscr{A}}(k) = \widehat{\mathscr{A}}(-k)$$
(29)

of the coefficient of the Berry connection 1-form, which are inherited from the  $\tau$ equivariance and the time-reversal symmetry of the underlying frame  $\widehat{\Phi}$ , only imply
that its integral on  $\partial \mathbb{B}_{\text{eff}}$  can be simplified to

$$\oint_{\partial \mathbb{B}_{\text{eff}}} \widehat{\mathscr{A}} = 2 \int_{E_1 + E_3} \widehat{\mathscr{A}} = 2 \left( \int_0^{1/2} \mathrm{d}k_2 \left[ \widehat{\mathscr{A}}(1/2, k_2) - \widehat{\mathscr{A}}(0, k_2) \right] \right).$$

The first equality in (29) can be argued exactly as in (17), while for the second one we proceed as follows. From the time-reversal symmetry property  $\widehat{\Phi}(-k) = \Theta \widehat{\Phi}(k) \triangleleft \varepsilon$  it follows that

$$\Theta\left(\partial_k\widehat{\Phi}(k)\right) \triangleleft \varepsilon = -\left(\partial_k\widehat{\Phi}\right)(-k).$$

Using the relation above together with the defining property  $\widehat{\Phi}(k) \triangleleft \widehat{A}(k) = -i\partial_k \widehat{\Phi}(k)$  for the connection matrix  $\widehat{A}(k)$  we then obtain

$$\begin{split} \Theta\widehat{\Phi}(k) \triangleleft \left(\varepsilon\widehat{A}(-k)\right) &= \widehat{\Phi}(-k) \triangleleft \widehat{A}(-k) = -\mathrm{i}\left(\partial_k\widehat{\Phi}\right)(-k) \\ &= \mathrm{i}\Theta\left(\partial_k\widehat{\Phi}(k)\right) \triangleleft \varepsilon = \Theta\left(-\mathrm{i}\partial_k\widehat{\Phi}(k)\right) \triangleleft \varepsilon \\ &= \Theta\left(\widehat{\Phi}(k) \triangleleft \widehat{A}(k)\right) \triangleleft \varepsilon = \Theta\widehat{\Phi}(k) \triangleleft \left(\overline{\widehat{A}(k)\varepsilon}\right). \end{split}$$

We conclude that  $\widehat{A}(-k) = \varepsilon^{-1}\overline{\widehat{A}(k)}\varepsilon$ , and by taking the trace that  $\widehat{\mathscr{A}}(-k) = \widehat{\mathscr{A}}(k)$ , because  $\widehat{\mathscr{A}}(k)$  takes values in the Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{u}(1) = \mathbb{R}$ .

Acknowledgements The author is indebted with D. Fiorenza and G. Panati for valuable discussions, as well as with G. dell'Antonio and A. Michelangeli for the invitation to the INdAM meeting "Contemporary Trends in the Mathematics of Quantum Mechanics". Financial support from INdAM and from the German Science Foundation (DFG) within the GRK 1838 "Spectral theory and dynamics of quantum systems" is gratefully acknowledged.

### References

- J.E. Avron, R. Seiler, B. Simon, Charge deficiency, charge transport and comparison of dimensions. Commun. Math. Phys. 159, 399–422 (1994)
- 2. J. Bellissard, A. van Elst, H. Schulz-Baldes, The noncommutative geometry of the quantum Hall effect. J. Math. Phys. **35**, 5373–5451 (1994)
- A.J. Bestwick, E.J. Fox, X. Kou, L. Pan, K.L. Wang, D. Goldhaber-Gordon, Precise quantization of the anomalous Hall effect near zero magnetic field. Phys. Rev. Lett. 114, 187201 (2015)
- Ch. Brouder, G. Panati, M. Calandra, Ch. Mourougane, N. Marzari, Exponential localization of Wannier functions in insulators. Phys. Rev. Lett. 98, 046402 (2007)
- 5. C.Z. Chang et al., High-precision realization of robust quantum anomalous Hall state in a hard ferromagnetic topological insulator. Nat. Mater. **14**, 473 (2015)
- H.D. Cornean, I. Herbst, G. Nenciu, On the construction of composite Wannier functions. Ann. Henri Poincaré 17, 3361–3398 (2016)
- 7. H.D. Cornean, D. Monaco, S. Teufel, Wannier functions and  $\mathbb{Z}_2$  invariants in time-reversal symmetric topological insulators. Rev. Math. Phys. **29**, 1730001 (2017)
- G. De Nittis, K. Gomi, Classification of "Quaternionic" Bloch bundles. Commun. Math. Phys. 339, 1–55 (2015)
- B.A. Dubrovin, S.P. Novikov, A.T. Fomenko, *Modern Geometry Methods and Applications, Part II: The Geometry and Topology of Manifolds*. Graduate Texts in Mathematics, vol. 93 (Springer, New York, 1985)
- D. Fiorenza, D. Monaco, G. Panati, Z₂ invariants of topological insulators as geometric obstructions. Commun. Math. Phys. 343, 1115–1157 (2016)
- L. Fu, C.L. Kane, Time reversal polarization and a Z<sub>2</sub> adiabatic spin pump. Phys. Rev. B 74, 195312 (2006)
- K. Fu, C.L. Kane, E.J. Mele, Topological insulators in three dimensions. Phys. Rev. Lett. 98, 106803 (2007)
- G.M. Graf, Aspects of the integer quantum hall effect, in *Spectral Theory and Mathematical Physics: A Festschrift in Honor of Barry Simon's 60th Birthday*, ed. by F. Gesztesy, P. Deift, C. Galvez, P. Perry, W. Schlag. Proceedings of Symposia in Pure Mathematics, vol. 76 (American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2007), pp. 429–442
- F.D.M. Haldane, Model for a quantum Hall effect without Landau levels: condensed-matter realization of the "parity anomaly". Phys. Rev. Lett. 61, 2017 (1988)
- M.Z. Hasan, C.L. Kane, Colloquium: topological insulators. Rev. Mod. Phys. 82, 3045–3067 (2010)
- L.-K. Hua, On the theory of automorphic functions of a matrix variable I Geometrical basis. Am. J. Math. 66, 470–488 (1944)
- D. Husemoller, *Fibre Bundles*, 3rd edn. Graduate Texts in Mathematics, vol. 20 (Springer, New York, 1994)
- C.L. Kane, E.J. Mele, Z<sub>2</sub> topological order and the quantum spin Hall effect. Phys. Rev. Lett. 95, 146802 (2005)
- 19. T. Kato, Perturbation Theory for Linear Operators (Springer, Berlin, 1966)
- M. Kohmoto, Topological invariant and the quantization of the Hall conductance. Ann. Phys. 160, 343–354 (1985)

- N. Marzari, A.A. Mostofi, J.R. Yates, I. Souza, D. Vanderbilt, Maximally localized Wannier functions: theory and applications. Rev. Mod. Phys. 84, 1419 (2012)
- D. Monaco, G. Panati, Symmetry and localization in periodic crystals: triviality of Bloch bundles with a Fermionic time-reversal symmetry. Acta Appl. Math. 137, 185–203 (2015)
- 23. G. Panati, Triviality of Bloch and Bloch-Dirac bundles. Ann. Henri Poincaré 8, 995–1011 (2007)
- 24. G. Panati, A. Pisante, Bloch bundles, Marzari-Vanderbilt functional and maximally localized Wannier functions. Commun. Math. Phys. **322**, 835–875 (2013)
- E. Prodan, H. Schulz-Baldes, Bulk and Boundary Invariants for Complex Topological Insulators: From K-theory to Physics. Mathematical Physics Studies (Springer, Basel, 2016)
- 26. M. Reed, B. Simon, *Methods of Modern Mathematical Physics. Volume IV: Analysis of Operators* (Academic, New York, 1978)
- D.J. Thouless, M. Kohmoto, M.P. Nightingale, M. den Nijs, Quantized Hall conductance in a two-dimensional periodic potential. Phys. Rev. Lett. 49, 405–408 (1982)
- K. von Klitzing, G. Dorda, M. Pepper, New method for high-accuracy determination of the fine-structure constant based on quantized Hall resistance. Phys. Rev. Lett. 45, 494 (1980)

# Norm Approximation for Many-Body Quantum Dynamics and Bogoliubov Theory

Phan Thành Nam and Marcin Napiórkowski

**Abstract** We review some recent results on the norm approximation to the Schrödinger dynamics. We consider *N* bosons in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  with an interaction potential of the form  $N^{3\beta-1}w(N^\beta(x-y))$  with  $0 \le \beta < 1/2$ , and show that in the large *N* limit, the fluctuations around the condensate can be effectively described using Bogoliubov approximation.

**Keywords** Bogoliubov approximation • Bose-Einstein condensation • Many body quantum dynamics

### 1 Introduction

In 1924–1925, Bose [10] and Einstein [14] predicted that at a very low temperature, many bosons condense into a common quantum state. It took 70 years until this phenomenon was first observed by Cornell, Wieman and Ketterle [3, 12]. Since then, many interesting questions remain unsolved from the theoretical point of view. In fact, Bose and Einstein only considered the ideal gas. The study of interacting Bose gas was initiated in 1947 by Bogoliubov [9]. Roughly speaking, Bogoliubov theory is based on the reduction to quasi-free particles, which can be seen as the bosonic analogue to the Bardeen–Cooper–Schrieffer theory [5] for superconductivity.

In the last decades, there have been many attempts to justify Bogoliubov theory from the first principles of quantum mechanics, namely from Schrödinger equation. In the context of the ground state problem, this has been done successfully for one and two-component Bose gases [33, 34, 47], for the Lee-Huang-Yang formula of homogeneous, dilute gases [19, 27, 49] and for the excitation spectrum in the

P.T. Nam (🖂)

M. Napiórkowski

Department of Mathematics and Statistics, Masaryk University, Kotlářská 2, 611 37 Brno, Czech Republic

e-mail: ptnam@math.muni.cz

Faculty of Physics, Department of Mathematical Methods in Physics, University of Warsaw, Pasteura 5, 02-093 Warszawa, Poland e-mail: marcin.napiorkowski@fuw.edu.pl

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2017

A. Michelangeli, G. Dell'Antonio (eds.), Advances in Quantum Mechanics, Springer INdAM Series 18, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-58904-6\_13

mean-field regime [13, 22, 31, 41, 46]. In the context of the dynamical problem, Bogoliubov theory has been used widely to study the quantum dynamics of coherent states in Fock space [8, 20, 21, 23–26, 28, 29, 45]. Very recently, Lewin, Schlein and one of us [30] were able to justify Bogoliubov theory as a norm approximation for the *N*-particle quantum dynamics in the mean-field regime. In [39, 40], we revisited the approach in [30] and extended it to the case of a dilute gas. In the following, we will review our results in [39, 40] and explain the ideas of the proof.

We consider a system of N bosons in  $\mathbb{R}^3$ , described by a wave function  $\Psi_N(t)$  in the Hilbert space  $\mathfrak{H}^N = \bigotimes_{\text{sym}}^N L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ . The system is governed by Schrödinger equation  $\Psi_N(t) = e^{-itH_N}\Psi_N(0)$  with a typical N-body Hamiltonian

$$H_N = \sum_{j=1}^N -\Delta_{x_j} + \frac{1}{N-1} \sum_{1 \le j < k \le N} w_N(x_j - x_k).$$

We are interested in the delta-type interaction

$$w_N(x-y) = N^{3\beta} w(N^{\beta} (x-y))$$

where  $w \ge 0$  is a fixed function which is smooth, radially symmetric, decreasing and with compact support. We put the coupling constant 1/(N-1) in order to make the kinetic energy and interaction energy comparable in the large N limit.

The parameter  $\beta \ge 0$  describes the character of the interaction between the particles. In the mean-field regime  $\beta < 1/3$ , there are many but weak collisions and it is naturally to treat the particles as if they were independent but subjected to a common self-consistent mean-field potential. In the dilute regime  $\beta > 1/3$ , there are few but strong collisions and the particles are more correlated. The latter regime is more relevant physically, but also more difficult mathematically.

Our motivation is that  $\Psi_N(0)$  is the ground state of a trapped system and the time evolution  $\Psi_N(t)$  is observed when the trapping potential is turned off. From the rigorous result on the ground state in [31], we will assume that

$$\Psi_N(0) = \sum_{n=0}^N u(0)^{\otimes (N-n)} \otimes_s \varphi_n(0) = \sum_{n=0}^N \frac{(a^*(u(0)))^{N-n}}{\sqrt{(N-n)!}} \varphi_n(0)$$
(1)

where u(0) is a normalized function in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$  which describes the condensate and  $\Phi(0) = (\varphi_n(0))_{n=0}^{\infty}$  is a state in the Fock space of the excited particles. Here we use the usual notations of the annihilation and creation operators

$$a^*(f) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} f(x) a_x^* \, \mathrm{d}x, \quad a(f) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \overline{f(x)} a_x \, \mathrm{d}x, \quad \forall f \in \mathfrak{H},$$

where the operator valued distributions  $a_x$  and  $a_x^*$  satisfy  $[a_x^*, a_y^*] = [a_x, a_y] = 0$ ,  $[a_x, a_y^*] = \delta(x - y)$ .

When  $\beta = 0$ , it was shown in [30] that if (1) holds then

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \left\| \Psi_N(t) - \sum_{n=0}^N u(t)^{\otimes (N-n)} \otimes_s \varphi_n(t) \right\| = 0$$
(2)

(see also the recent work [38] for another approach). Here u(t) is the evolution of the condensate, governed by the (*N*-dependent) Hartree equation

$$i\partial_t u(t) = \left(-\Delta + w_N * |u(t)|^2 - \mu_N(t)\right)u(t), \quad u(t=0) = u(0).$$
(3)

The phase parameter  $\mu_N(t)$  plays the role of the chemical potential and it can be chosen as

$$\mu_N(t) = \frac{1}{2} \iint_{\mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{R}^3} |u(t,x)|^2 w_N(x-y) |u(t,y)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}y.$$

The vector  $\Phi(t) = (\varphi_n(t))_{n=0}^{\infty}$  in (2) is a state in the excited Fock space

$$\mathscr{F}_{+}(t) = \bigoplus_{n=0}^{\infty} \mathfrak{H}_{+}(t)^{n}, \quad \mathfrak{H}_{+}(t)^{n} = \bigotimes_{\text{sym}}^{n} \{u(t)\}^{\perp}$$

and it is determined by Bogoliubov equation

$$i\partial_t \Phi(t) = \mathbb{H}(t)\Phi(t), \quad \Phi(t=0) = \Phi(0).$$
 (4)

Here  $\mathbb{H}(t)$  is a quadratic Hamiltonian in Fock space:

$$\mathbb{H}(t) = \mathrm{d}\Gamma(h(t)) + \frac{1}{2} \iint_{\mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{R}^3} \left( K_2(t, x, y) a_x^* a_y^* + \overline{K_2(t, x, y)} a_x a_y \right) \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}y,$$

which is obtained from Bogoliubov approximation (which we will explain in Sect. 2). We use the notations  $d\Gamma(A) = \int a_x^* A_x a_x dx$  (for example,  $d\Gamma(1) = \mathcal{N}$  is the number operator) and

$$h(t) = -\Delta + |u(t, \cdot)|^2 * w_N - \mu_N(t) + Q(t)\widetilde{K}_1(t)Q(t),$$
  

$$K_2(t) = Q(t) \otimes Q(t)\widetilde{K}_2(t), \quad Q(t) = 1 - |u(t)\rangle\langle u(t)|,$$

where  $\widetilde{K}_2(t, x, y) = u(t, x)w_N(x-y)u(t, y)$  is a function in  $\mathfrak{H}^2$  and  $\widetilde{K}_1(t)$  is an operator on  $\mathfrak{H}$  with kernel  $\widetilde{K}_1(t, x, y) = u(t, x)w_N(x-y)u(t, y)$ .

In order to extend (2) to the case  $\beta > 0$ , we have to restrict the initial state  $\Phi(0)$  in (1) to quasi-free states (namely the states satisfying Wick theorem) with finite kinetic energy. This reduction is again admissible by the rigorous properties of ground states in [31] (in fact,  $\Phi(0)$  is the ground state of a quadratic Hamiltonian

on Fock space, and hence it is a quasi-free state with finite kinetic energy). Our main result in [40] is

**Theorem 1 (Validity of Bogoliubov Theory as a Norm Approximation)** Let  $\Psi_N(t) = e^{-itH_N}\Psi_N(0)$  with  $\Psi_N(0)$  given in (1). We assume

- u(t) satisfies Hartree equation (3) with the (possibly N-dependent) initial state  $u(0, \cdot)$  satisfying  $||u(0, \cdot)||_{W^{\ell,1}(\mathbb{R}^3)} \leq C$  for  $\ell$  sufficiently large;
- $\Phi(t) = (\varphi_n(t))_{n=0}^{\infty} \in \mathscr{F}_+(t)$  satisfies Bogoliubov equation (4) (or equivalently, Eq. (12) in Sect. 2) with the (possibly N-dependent) initial state  $\Phi(0)$  being a quasi-free state in  $\mathscr{F}_+(0)$  such that for all  $\varepsilon > 0$ ,

$$\langle \Phi(0), \mathscr{N}\Phi(0) \rangle \le C_{\varepsilon} N^{\varepsilon}, \quad \langle \Phi(0), \mathrm{d}\Gamma(1-\Delta)\Phi(0) \rangle \le C_{\varepsilon} N^{\beta+\varepsilon}.$$
 (5)

*Then for all*  $0 \le \beta < 1/2$ *, all*  $\varepsilon > 0$  *and all* t > 0 *we have* 

$$\left\|\Psi_N(t) - \sum_{n=0}^N u(t)^{\otimes (N-n)} \otimes_s \varphi_n(t)\right\|_{\mathfrak{H}^N}^2 \le C_{\varepsilon} (1+t)^{1+\varepsilon} N^{(2\beta-1+\varepsilon)/2}.$$
 (6)

*Convention* We always denote by C (or  $C_{\varepsilon}$ ) a general positive constant independent of N and t ( $C_{\varepsilon}$  may depend on  $\varepsilon$ ).

There are grand canonical analogues of (2) related to the fluctuations around coherent states in Fock space [20, 21, 23, 25, 26, 28, 29]. In particular, our Theorem 1 is comparable to the Fock-space result of Kuz [29]. Thanks to a heuristic argument in [29], the range  $0 \le \beta < 1/2$  is optimal for the norm approximation (2) to hold.

When  $\beta > 1/2$ , to achieve (2) we have to modify the effective equations to take two-body scattering processes into account. This has been done in the Fock space setting by Boccato, Cenatiempo and Schlein [8] and Grillakis and Machedon [24] (see also [4] for a related study). Similar results for *N*-particle dynamics are still open and we hope to be able to come back to this problem in the future.

The proof of Theorem 1 in [40] is built up on the previous works [30] and [39]. The main new ingredient is the following kinetic estimate.

**Theorem 2 (Kinetic Estimate)** Let  $\Psi_N(0)$  as in Theorem 1. Then for all  $0 < \beta < 1/2$ , all  $\varepsilon > 0$  and all t > 0, we have

$$\langle \Psi_N(t), \mathrm{d}\Gamma(Q(t)(1-\Delta)Q(t))\Psi_N(t) \rangle \le C_{\varepsilon}(N^{\beta+\varepsilon}+N^{3\beta-1}).$$
 (7)

We can introduce the density matrix  $\gamma_{\Psi_N(t)}^{(1)}$  :  $\mathfrak{H} \to \mathfrak{H}$  with kernel  $\gamma_{\Psi_N(t)}^{(1)}(x, y) = \langle \Psi_N(t), a_v^* a_x \Psi_N(t) \rangle$  and rewrite (7) as

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(\sqrt{1-\Delta}Q(t)\gamma_{\Psi_{N}(t)}^{(1)}Q(t)\sqrt{1-\Delta}\right) \leq C_{\varepsilon}(N^{\beta+\varepsilon}+N^{3\beta-1}).$$
(8)

By the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, (8) implies that for all  $0 < \beta < 2/3$ ,

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \operatorname{Tr} \left| \sqrt{1 - \Delta} \left( N^{-1} \gamma_{\psi_N}^{(1)} - |u(t)\rangle \langle u(t)| \right) \sqrt{1 - \Delta} \right| = 0 \tag{9}$$

(see Sect. 3 for more details). In case  $\beta = 0$ , the approximation of the form (9) has been studied in [2, 36–38]. Note that (9) is stronger than the standard definition of the Bose-Einstein condensation

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \operatorname{Tr} \left| N^{-1} \gamma_{\Psi_N}^{(1)} - |u(t)\rangle \langle u(t)| \right| = 0$$
(10)

which has been studied by many authors; see [1, 6, 15, 16, 48] for some pioneer works (in these works, the convergence (10) was derived using the BBGKY hierarchy, a method that is less quantitative than our approach).

Note that when  $\beta = 1$  (the Gross–Pitaevskii regime), the strong correlations between particles require a subtle correction: the nonlinear term  $w_N * |u(t)|^2$  in Hartree equation (3) is replaced by  $8\pi a|u(t)|^2$  with *a* the scattering length of *w*. This has been justified rigorously in the context of the Bose-Einstein condensation (10); see [32, 35, 43] for the ground state problem and [7, 17, 18, 44] for the dynamical problem. The norm approximation is completely open.

In the rest, we discuss Hartree and Bogoliubov equations in Sect. 2, and then go to the proofs of Theorems 2 and 1 in Sects. 3 and 4, respectively.

### **2** Effective Equations

We recall the well-posedness of Hartree equation from [23, Proposition 3.3 & Corollary 3.4].

**Lemma 1 (Hartree Equation)** If  $u(0, \cdot) \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ , then Hartree equation (3) has a unique global solution  $u \in C([0, \infty), H^2(\mathbb{R}^3)) \cap C^1((0, \infty), L^2(\mathbb{R}^3))$ . Moreover, if  $||u(0, \cdot)||_{W^{\ell,1}(\mathbb{R}^3)} \leq C$  with  $\ell$  sufficiently large, then

$$\|u(t,\cdot)\|_{H^2} \leq C, \quad \|\partial_t u(t,\cdot)\|_{L^2} \leq C, \quad \|u(t,\cdot)\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\partial_t u(t,\cdot)\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq C(1+t)^{-3/2}.$$

As in [31, Sect. 2.3], any vector  $\Psi \in \mathfrak{H}^N$  can be written uniquely as

$$\Psi = \sum_{n=0}^{N} u(t)^{\otimes (N-n)} \otimes_s \varphi_n = \sum_{n=0}^{N} \frac{(a^*(u(t)))^{N-n}}{\sqrt{(N-n)!}} \varphi_n$$

with  $\varphi_n \in \mathfrak{H}_+(t)^n$ . This gives rise to the unitary operator  $U_N(t) : \mathfrak{H}^N \to \mathbb{1}^{\leq N} \mathscr{F}_+(t)$ 

$$U_N(t)\Psi = \varphi_0 \oplus \varphi_1 \oplus \cdots \oplus \varphi_N.$$

Here  $\mathbb{1}^{\leq N}$  stands for the projection onto  $\mathbb{C} \oplus \mathfrak{H} \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathfrak{H}^N$ . Some fundamental properties of  $U_N(t)$  can be found in [31, Proposition 4.2] and [30, Lemma 6].

Next, as in [30], we introduce  $\Phi_N(t) := U_N(t)\Psi_N(t)$  and rewrite the Schrödinger equation as

$$i\partial_t \Phi_N(t) = \widetilde{H}_N(t)\Phi_N(t), \quad \Phi_N(0) = \mathbb{1}^{\leq N}\Phi(0).$$
 (11)

Here  $\widetilde{H}_{N}(t) = \mathbb{1}^{\leq N} \Big[ \mathbb{H}(t) + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=0}^{4} (R_{j} + R_{j}^{*}) \Big] \mathbb{1}^{\leq N}$  with  $R_{0} = d\Gamma(Q(t)[w_{N} * |u(t)|^{2} + \widetilde{K}_{1}(t) - \mu_{N}(t)]Q(t)) \frac{1 - \mathscr{N}}{N - 1},$   $R_{1} = -2 \frac{\mathscr{N}\sqrt{N - \mathscr{N}}}{N - 1} a(Q(t)[w_{N} * |u(t)|^{2}]u(t)),$   $R_{2} = \iint K_{2}(t, x, y)a_{x}^{*}a_{y}^{*} dx dy \left( \frac{\sqrt{(N - \mathscr{N})(N - \mathscr{N} - 1)}}{N - 1} - 1 \right),$   $R_{3} = \frac{\sqrt{N - \mathscr{N}}}{N - 1} \iiint (1 \otimes Q(t)w_{N}Q(t) \otimes Q(t))(x, y; x', y') \times \frac{u(t, x)a_{y}^{*}a_{x'}a_{y'}}{x dx dy dx' dy'},$   $R_{4} = \frac{1}{2(N - 1)} \iiint (Q(t) \otimes Q(t)w_{N}Q(t) \otimes Q(t))(x, y; x', y') \times \frac{a_{x}^{*}a_{y}^{*}a_{x'}a_{y'}}{x dx dy dx' dy'}.$ 

(In  $R_0$  and  $R_1$  we write  $w_N$  for the function  $w_N(x)$ , while in  $R_3$  and  $R_4$  we write  $w_N$  for the two-body multiplication operator  $w_N(x - y)$ .)

The idea of Bogoliubov approximation is that when  $N \to \infty$  all error terms  $R_j$ 's are so small that we can ignore them and replace (11) by Bogoliubov equation (4). Some important properties of this equation are collected in the following

#### Lemma 2 (Bogoliubov Equation)

(i) If Φ(0) belongs to the quadratic form domain 2(dΓ(1-Δ)), then Eq. (4) has a unique global solution in 2(dΓ(1-Δ)). Moreover, the pair of density matrices (γ<sub>Φ(t)</sub>, α<sub>Φ(t)</sub>) is the unique solution to

$$\begin{cases} i\partial_t \gamma = h\gamma - \gamma h + K_2 \alpha - \alpha^* K_2^*, \\ i\partial_t \alpha = h\alpha + \alpha h^{\mathrm{T}} + K_2 + K_2 \gamma^{\mathrm{T}} + \gamma K_2, \\ \gamma(t=0) = \gamma_{\Phi(0)}, \quad \alpha(t=0) = \alpha_{\Phi(0)}. \end{cases}$$
(12)

(ii) If we assume further that  $\Phi(0)$  is a quasi-free state in  $\mathscr{F}_+(0)$ , then  $\Phi(t)$  is a quasi-free state in  $\mathscr{F}_+(t)$  for all t > 0 and

$$\langle \Phi(t), \mathscr{N}\Phi(t) \rangle \le C \Big( \langle \Phi(0), \mathscr{N}\Phi(0) \rangle^2 + [\log(2+t)]^2 \Big).$$
 (13)

Recall that  $\gamma_{\Phi(t)} : \mathfrak{H} \to \mathfrak{H}, \alpha_{\Phi(t)} : \overline{\mathfrak{H}} \equiv \mathfrak{H}^* \to \mathfrak{H}$  are operators with kernels  $\gamma_{\Phi(t)}(x, y) = \langle \Phi(t), a_y^* a_x \Phi(t) \rangle, \alpha_{\Phi(t)}(x, y) = \langle \Phi(t), a_x a_y \Phi(t) \rangle$  and  $K_2 : \overline{\mathfrak{H}} \equiv \mathfrak{H}^* \to \mathfrak{H}$  is an operator with kernel  $K_2(t, x, y)$ . Note that (12) is similar (but not identical) to the effective equations used in the Fock space setting in [23, 29].

#### Proof

(i) For existence and uniqueness of  $\Phi(t)$ , we refer to [30, Theorem 7]. To derive (12), we use (4) to compute

$$\begin{split} i\partial_t \gamma_{\Phi(t)}(x',y') &= i\partial_t \langle \Phi(t), a_{y'}^* a_x \Phi(t) \rangle = \langle \Phi(t), [a_{y'}^* a_x, \mathbb{H}(t)] \Phi(t) \rangle \\ &= \iint h(t,x,y) \Big( \delta(x'-x) \gamma_{\Phi(t)}(y,y') - \delta(y'-y) \gamma_{\Phi(t)}(x',x) \Big) \, dx \, dy \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \iint k(t,x,y) \Big( \delta(x'-x) \alpha_{\Phi(t)}^*(y,y') + \delta(x'-y) \alpha_{\Phi(t)}^*(y',x) \Big) \, dx \, dy \\ &- \frac{1}{2} \iint k^*(t,x,y) \Big( \delta(y'-y) \alpha_{\Phi(t)}(x,x') + \delta(y'-x) \alpha_{\Phi(t)}(y,x') \Big) \, dx \, dy \\ &= \Big( h(t) \gamma_{\Phi(t)} - \gamma_{\Phi(t)} h(t) + K_2(t) \alpha_{\Phi(t)}^* - \alpha_{\Phi(t)} K_2^*(t) \Big) (x',y') \end{split}$$

This is the first equation in (12). The second equation is proved similarly.

(ii) Now we show that if  $\Phi(0)$  is a quasi-free state, then  $\Phi(t)$  is a quasi-free state for all t > 0. We will write  $(\gamma, \alpha) = (\gamma_{\Phi(t)}, \alpha_{\Phi(t)})$  for short. Let us introduce

$$X := \gamma + \gamma^2 - \alpha \alpha^*, \quad Y := \gamma \alpha - \alpha \gamma^{\mathrm{T}}.$$

It is a general fact (see, e.g., [39, Lemma 8]) that  $\Phi(t)$  is a quasi-free state if and only if X(t) = 0 and Y(t) = 0. In particular, we have X(0) = 0 and Y(0) = 0 by the assumption on  $\Phi(0)$ . Using (12) it is straightforward to see that

$$i\partial_t X = hX - Xh + kY^* - Yk^*,$$
  

$$i\partial_t X^2 = (i\partial_t X)X + X(i\partial_t X) = hX^2 - X^2h + (K_2Y^* - YK_2^*)X + X(K_2Y^* - YK_2^*).$$

Then we take the trace and use  $Tr(hX^2 - X^2h) = 0$  ( $hX^2$  and  $X^2h$  may be not trace class but we can introduce a cut-off; see [39] for details). We find that

$$\|X(t)\|_{\mathrm{HS}}^2 \le 4 \int_0^t \|K_2(s)\| \cdot \|X(s)\|_{\mathrm{HS}} \cdot \|Y(s)\|_{\mathrm{HS}} \, \mathrm{d}s$$

We also obtain a similar bound for  $||Y(t)||_{\text{HS}}$ . Then summing these estimates and using the fact that  $||K_2(t)||$  is bounded uniformly in time (see [40, Eq. (48)]), we conclude by Grönwall's inequality that X(t) = 0, Y(t) = 0 for all t > 0.

A similar argument can be used to the uniqueness of solutions to (12).

To obtain (13), we first estimate  $\|\alpha\|_{HS}^2 + \|\gamma\|_{HS}^2$  by a Grönwall-type inequality, and then use the identity  $\|\alpha\|_{HS}^2 = \text{Tr}(\gamma + \gamma^2)$ . We refer to [39] for details.

# 3 Kinetic Bounds

In this section, we discuss Theorem 2. As mentioned, it is equivalent to (8) and in case  $\beta < 2/3$  it implies (9). Let us explain the implication from (8) to (9) in more details. We will write  $P(t) = |u(t)\rangle\langle u(t)|$  for short. We can decompose

$$N^{-1}\gamma_{\Psi_{N}(t)}^{(1)} - P(t) = N^{-1}Q(t)\gamma_{\Psi_{N}(t)}^{(1)}Q(t) - N^{-1}\mathrm{Tr}\Big(Q(t)\gamma_{\Psi_{N}(t)}^{(1)}Q(t)\Big)P(t) + N^{-1}Q(t)\gamma_{\Psi_{N}(t)}^{(1)}P(t) + N^{-1}P(t)\gamma_{\Psi_{N}(t)}^{(1)}Q(t)$$

and use the triangle inequality of the trace norm to estimate

$$\operatorname{Tr} \left| \sqrt{1 - \Delta} \left( N^{-1} \gamma_{\Psi_{N}}^{(1)} - |u(t)\rangle \langle u(t)| \right) \sqrt{1 - \Delta} \right| \\
\leq N^{-1} \operatorname{Tr} \left( \sqrt{1 - \Delta} Q(t) \gamma_{\Psi_{N}(t)}^{(1)} Q(t) \sqrt{1 - \Delta} \right) + N^{-1} \operatorname{Tr} \left( Q(t) \gamma_{\Psi_{N}(t)}^{(1)} Q(t) \right) \|u(t, \cdot)\|_{H^{1}}^{2} \\
+ 2N^{-1} \operatorname{Tr} \left| \sqrt{1 - \Delta} Q(t) \gamma_{\Psi_{N}(t)}^{(1)} P(t) \sqrt{1 - \Delta} \right|.$$
(14)

Using the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality (for Schatten norm)

$$\operatorname{Tr} \left| (1 - \Delta)^{1/2} Q(t) \gamma_{\Psi_{N}(t)}^{(1)} P(t) (1 - \Delta)^{1/2} \right|$$
  
 
$$\leq \left\| (1 - \Delta)^{1/2} Q(t) \left( \gamma_{\Psi_{N}(t)}^{(1)} \right)^{1/2} \right\|_{\mathrm{HS}} \cdot \left\| \left( \gamma_{\Psi_{N}(t)}^{(1)} \right)^{1/2} \right\| \cdot \left\| P(t) (1 - \Delta)^{1/2} \right\|_{\mathrm{HS}}$$

we deduce from (8) and (14) that for all  $\varepsilon > 0$ ,

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left|\sqrt{1-\Delta}\left(N^{-1}\gamma_{\Psi_{N}}^{(1)}-|u(t)\rangle\langle u(t)|\right)\sqrt{1-\Delta}\right|\leq C_{\varepsilon}N^{a+\varepsilon}$$
(15)

where  $a = \max\{\beta - 1, (\beta - 1)/2, 3\beta - 2, (3\beta - 2)/2\}$ . If  $\beta < 2/3$ , then (9) holds.

Now we turn to another version of Theorem 2. From the definition  $\Phi_N(t) = U_N(t)\Psi_N(t)$ , we can check that  $Q(t)\gamma_{\Psi_N}^{(1)}Q(t) = \gamma_{\Phi_N}^{(1)}$  (e.g. by using [31, Proposition 4.2]). Thus Theorem 2 is equivalent to

**Theorem 3 (Kinetic Estimate)** Let  $\Phi_N(t)$  be as in (11), with  $\Phi(0)$  as in Theorem 1. Then for all  $\varepsilon > 0$  and all t > 0, we have

$$\langle \Phi_N(t), \mathrm{d}\Gamma(1-\Delta)\Phi_N(t) \rangle \le C_{\varepsilon}(N^{\beta+\varepsilon}+N^{3\beta-1+\varepsilon}).$$
 (16)

Before proving Theorem 3, let us start with a simpler bound.

**Lemma 3 (Bogoliubov Kinetic Bound)** Let  $\Phi(t)$  be as in Theorem 1. Then

$$\langle \Phi(t), \mathrm{d}\Gamma(1-\Delta)\Phi(t) \rangle \leq C_{\varepsilon} N^{\beta+\varepsilon}, \quad \forall t > 0.$$

Proof For a general quadratic Hamiltonian, we have

$$d\Gamma(H) + \frac{1}{2} \iint \left( K(x, y) a_x^* a_y^* + \overline{K(x, y)} a_x a_y \right) dx \, dy \ge -\frac{1}{2} \iint |(H_x^{-1/2} K(x, y))|^2 \, dx \, dy.$$

This bound can be found in our recent joint work with Solovej [42, Lemma 9] (see also [11, Theorem 5.4] for a similar result). Combining this with the Sobolev-type estimate (see [40, Lemma 6])

$$\|(1-\Delta_x)^{-1/2}K_2(t,\cdot,\cdot)\|_{L^2}^2 + \|(1-\Delta_x)^{-1/2}\partial_t K_2(t,\cdot,\cdot)\|_{L^2}^2 \le C_{\varepsilon}(1+t)^{-3}N^{\beta+\varepsilon}$$

we obtain the quadratic form inequalities (see [40, Lemma 7])

$$\pm \left( \mathbb{H}(t) + \mathrm{d}\Gamma(\Delta) \right) \le \eta \mathrm{d}\Gamma(1 - \Delta) + \frac{C_{\varepsilon}(\mathcal{N} + N^{\beta + \varepsilon})}{\eta(1 + t)^3}, \tag{17}$$

$$\pm \partial_t \mathbb{H}(t) \le \eta \mathrm{d}\Gamma(1-\Delta) + \frac{C_{\varepsilon}(\mathscr{N}+N^{\beta+\varepsilon})}{\eta(1+t)^3},\tag{18}$$

$$\pm i[\mathbb{H}(t), \mathscr{N}] \le \eta \mathrm{d}\Gamma(1-\Delta) + \frac{C_{\varepsilon}(\mathscr{N}+N^{\beta+\varepsilon})}{\eta(1+t)^3}$$
(19)

for all  $\eta > 0$ . On the other hand, from Bogoliubov equation (4), we have

$$\langle \Phi(t), \mathbb{H}(t)\Phi(t) \rangle - \langle \Phi(0), \mathbb{H}(0)\Phi(0) \rangle = \int_0^t \langle \Phi(s), \partial_s \mathbb{H}(s)\Phi(s) \rangle \mathrm{d}s.$$
 (20)

Using (17) with  $\eta = 1/2$  we have  $\langle \Phi(0), \mathbb{H}(0)\Phi(0) \rangle \leq C_{\varepsilon} N^{\beta+\varepsilon}$  and

$$\langle \Phi(t), \mathbb{H}(t)\Phi(t) \rangle \geq \frac{1}{2} \langle \Phi(t), d\Gamma(1-\Delta)\Phi(t) \rangle - C_{\varepsilon} \left( \langle \Phi(t), \mathcal{N}\Phi(t) \rangle + N^{\beta+\varepsilon} \right)$$

Using (18) with  $\eta = (1 + t)^{-3/2}$  we get

$$\langle \Phi(t), \partial_t \mathbb{H}(t) \Phi(t) \rangle \leq C_{\varepsilon} (1+t)^{-3/2} \Big( \langle \Phi(t), d\Gamma(1-\Delta) \Phi(t) \rangle + N^{\beta+\varepsilon} \Big).$$

Thus (20) implies that

$$\begin{split} \left\langle \Phi(t), \mathrm{d}\Gamma(1-\Delta)\Phi(t) \right\rangle &\leq C_{\varepsilon} \int_{0}^{t} (1+s)^{-3/2} \left\langle \Phi(s), \mathrm{d}\Gamma(1-\Delta)\Phi(s) \right\rangle \mathrm{d}s \\ &+ C_{\varepsilon} \left( \left\langle \Phi(t), \mathscr{N}\Phi(t) \right\rangle + N^{\beta+\varepsilon} \right). \end{split}$$
(21)

Similarly, we can estimate  $\partial_t \langle \Phi(t), \mathcal{N} \Phi(t) \rangle$  by using Bogoliubov equation (4) and (19) with  $\eta = (1 + t)^{-3/2}$ . Then we integrate the resulting bound and obtain

$$\langle \Phi(t), \mathscr{N}\Phi(t) \rangle \leq C_{\varepsilon} \int_0^t (1+s)^{-3/2} \langle \Phi(s), \mathrm{d}\Gamma(1-\Delta)\Phi(s) \rangle \mathrm{d}s + C_{\varepsilon} N^{\beta+\varepsilon}$$

Inserting the latter inequality into the right side of (21) we obtain

$$\langle \Phi(t), \mathrm{d}\Gamma(1-\Delta)\Phi(t) \rangle \leq C_{\varepsilon}(1+s)^{-3/2} \int_0^t \langle \Phi(s), \mathrm{d}\Gamma(1-\Delta)\Phi(s) \rangle \mathrm{d}s + C_{\varepsilon}N^{\beta+\varepsilon}.$$

The desired result then follows from a Gronwall-type inequality.  $\Box$ 

The proof of Theorem 3 is based on a similar argument. We will use the following estimates on the error terms  $R_j$ 's in (11) (see [40, Lemmas 9, 11]).

**Lemma 4 (Control of Error Terms)** Let  $R_j$ 's be as in (11). Then we have the quadratic form estimates on  $\mathbb{1}^{\leq N} \mathscr{F}_+(t)$ :

$$\pm (R_j + R_j^*) \le \eta \left( R_4 + \frac{\mathcal{N}^2}{N} \right) + \frac{C(1 + \mathcal{N})}{\eta (1 + t)^3}, \quad \forall \eta > 0, \; \forall j = 0, 1, 2, 3, 4$$

$$0 \le R_4 \le CN^{3\beta - 1} \mathcal{N}^2, \quad R_4 \le CN^{\beta - 1} \mathrm{d}\Gamma(-\Delta)\mathcal{N},$$

$$\pm \partial_t (R_j + R_j^*) \le \eta \left( R_4 + \frac{\mathcal{N}^2}{N} \right) + \frac{C(1 + \mathcal{N})}{\eta (1 + t)^3}, \; \forall j = 0, 1, 2, 3, 4,$$

$$\pm i [(R_j + R_j^*), \mathcal{N}] \le \eta \left( R_4 + \frac{\mathcal{N}^2}{N} \right) + \frac{C(1 + \mathcal{N})}{\eta (1 + t)^3}, \; \forall j = 0, 1, 2, 3, 4.$$

Now we are ready to provide

*Proof (of Theorem 3)* From (11) we have

$$\left\langle \Phi_N(t), \widetilde{H}_N(t)\Phi_N(t) \right\rangle - \left\langle \Phi_N(0), \widetilde{H}_N(0)\Phi_N(0) \right\rangle = \int_0^t \left\langle \Phi_N(s), \partial_s \widetilde{H}_N(s)\Phi_N(s) \right\rangle \mathrm{d}s.$$
(22)

Using (17) and Lemma 4, we can estimate

$$\begin{split} \left\langle \Phi_{N}(t), \widetilde{H}_{N}(t)\Phi_{N}(t) \right\rangle &\geq \frac{1}{2} \left\langle \Phi_{N}(t), \left( \mathrm{d}\Gamma(1-\Delta) + R_{4} \right) \Phi_{N}(t) \right\rangle \\ &- C_{\varepsilon} \left( N^{\beta+\varepsilon} + \left\langle \Phi_{N}(t), \mathscr{N} \Phi_{N}(t) \right\rangle \right), \\ \left\langle \Phi_{N}(0), \widetilde{H}_{N}(0) \Phi_{N}(0) \right\rangle &\leq C_{\varepsilon} (N^{\beta+\varepsilon} + N^{3\beta-1+\varepsilon}). \end{split}$$

Here in the last inequality, we have used  $R_4 \leq CN^{3\beta-1} \mathcal{N}^2$  (see Lemma 4) and a well-known moment estimate that holds for every quasi-free state  $\Phi$ :

$$\left\langle \Phi, (1+\mathcal{N})^{s}\Phi \right\rangle \leq C_{s}\left\langle \Phi, (1+\mathcal{N})\Phi \right\rangle^{s}$$
 (23)

where the constant  $C_s$  depends only on  $s \in \mathbb{N}$  (see e.g. [39, Lemma 5]). Moreover, from (18) and Lemma 4 we obtain

$$\langle \Phi_N(t), \partial_t \widetilde{H}_N(t) \Phi_N(t) \rangle \leq C_{\varepsilon} (1+t)^{-3/2} \Big( \langle \Phi_N(t), (\mathrm{d}\Gamma(1-\Delta)+R_4) \Phi_N(t) \rangle + N^{\beta+\varepsilon} \Big).$$

Thus (22) implies that

$$\begin{split} \left\langle \Phi_{N}(t), \left( \mathrm{d}\Gamma(1-\Delta) + R_{4}\right) \Phi_{N}(t) \right\rangle &\leq C_{\varepsilon} \int_{0}^{t} \frac{\left\langle \Phi_{N}(s), \left( \mathrm{d}\Gamma(1-\Delta) + R_{4}\right) \Phi_{N}(s) \right\rangle}{(1+s)^{3/2}} \,\mathrm{d}s \\ &+ C_{\varepsilon} \Big( N^{\beta+\varepsilon} + N^{3\beta-1+\varepsilon} + \left\langle \Phi_{N}(t), \mathscr{N} \Phi_{N}(t) \right\rangle \Big). \end{split}$$
(24)

Next, we estimate  $\partial_t \langle \Phi_N(t), \mathcal{N} \Phi_N(t) \rangle$  by using (11), (19) and the last inequality in Lemma 4. Then we integrate the resulting bound to get

$$\langle \Phi(t), \mathscr{N}\Phi(t) \rangle \leq C_{\varepsilon} \int_0^t (1+s)^{-3/2} \langle \Phi_N(s), (\mathrm{d}\Gamma(1-\Delta)+R_4)\Phi_N(s) \rangle \mathrm{d}s + C_{\varepsilon} N^{\beta+\varepsilon}.$$

Substituting the latter estimate into (24), we find that

$$\begin{split} \left\langle \Phi_{N}(t), \left( \mathrm{d}\Gamma(1-\Delta)+R_{4}\right) \Phi_{N}(t) \right\rangle \\ &\leq C_{\varepsilon} \int_{0}^{t} \frac{\left\langle \Phi_{N}(s), \left( \mathrm{d}\Gamma(1-\Delta)+R_{4}\right) \Phi_{N}(s) \right\rangle}{(1+s)^{3/2}} \, \mathrm{d}s + C_{\varepsilon}(N^{\beta+\varepsilon}+N^{3\beta-1+\varepsilon}). \end{split}$$

By a Gronwall-type inequality, we conclude that

$$\langle \Phi_N(t), (\mathrm{d}\Gamma(1-\Delta)+R_4)\Phi_N(t)\rangle \leq C_{\varepsilon}(N^{\beta+\varepsilon}+N^{3\beta-1+\varepsilon}).$$

Since  $R_4 \ge 0$ , the desired kinetic estimate follows.

# 4 Norm Approximation

*Proof* (of Theorem 1) Step 1. The desired estimate (6) is

$$\|\Psi_N(t) - U_N(t)^* \mathbb{1}^{\leq N} \Phi(t)\|_{\mathfrak{H}^N}^2 \leq C_{\varepsilon} (1+t)^{1+\varepsilon} N^{(2\beta+\varepsilon-1)/2}, \quad \forall \varepsilon > 0.$$

Since  $\Phi(t) = U_N(t)\Psi_N(t)$  and  $U_N(t) : \mathfrak{H}^N \to \mathbb{1}^{\leq N}\mathscr{F}_+(t)$  is a unitary operator,

$$\|\Psi_N(t) - U_N(t)^* \mathbb{1}^{\leq N} \Phi(t)\|_{\mathfrak{H}^N} = \|U_N(t)\Psi_N(t) - \mathbb{1}^{\leq N} \Phi(t)\| \le \|\Phi_N(t) - \Phi(t)\|.$$

It remains to bound  $\|\Phi_N(t) - \Phi(t)\|$ . Using Eqs. (4) and (11), we can write

$$\partial_t \| \Phi_N(t) - \Phi(t) \|^2 = 2\Re \left\langle i \Phi_N(t), (\widetilde{H}_N(t) - \mathbb{H}(t)) \Phi(t) \right\rangle$$

$$= \sum_{j=0}^4 \Re \left\langle i \Phi_N(t), (R_j + R_j^*) \mathbb{1}^{\leq N} \Phi(t) \right\rangle - 2\Re \left\langle i \Phi_N(t), \mathbb{H} \mathbb{1}^{>N} \Phi(t) \right\rangle$$
(25)

where  $\mathbb{1}^{>N} := \mathbb{1} - \mathbb{1}^{\leq N}$ . Next, we will estimate the right side of (25). **Step 2.** To bound the last term of (25), we use  $\Phi_N(t) \in \mathbb{1}^{\leq N} \mathscr{F}_+(t)$  to write

$$\langle \Phi_N(t), \mathbb{H}\mathbb{1}^{>N} \Phi(t) \rangle = \langle \Phi_N(t), (\mathbb{H} - \mathrm{d}\Gamma(h))\mathbb{1}^{>N} \Phi(t) \rangle$$

As in the proof of Lemma 3, we can show that

$$\pm (\mathbb{H} - \mathrm{d}\Gamma(h)) \le C(\mathcal{N} + N^{3\beta}).$$

It is a general fact that if  $\pm B \leq A$  as quadratic forms, then we have the Cauchy-Schwarz type inequality  $|\langle f, Bg \rangle| \leq 3 \langle f, Af \rangle^{1/2} \langle g, Ag \rangle^{1/2}$ . Consequently,

$$\begin{split} &|\langle \Phi_{N}(t), (\mathbb{H} - \mathrm{d}\Gamma(h))\mathbb{1}^{>N}\Phi(t)\rangle| \\ &\leq 3\langle \Phi_{N}(t), (\mathcal{N} + N^{3\beta})\Phi_{N}(t)\rangle^{1/2}\langle\mathbb{1}^{>N}\Phi(t), (\mathcal{N} + N^{3\beta})\mathbb{1}^{>N}\Phi(t)\rangle^{1/2} \\ &\leq 3(N + N^{3\beta})^{1/2}\rangle^{1/2}\langle\mathbb{1}^{>N}\Phi(t), (\mathcal{N} + N^{3\beta})\mathcal{N}^{s}N^{-s}\mathbb{1}^{>N}\Phi(t)\rangle^{1/2} \end{split}$$

for all  $s \ge 1$ . The term  $\langle \Phi(t), \mathscr{N}^s \Phi(t) \rangle$  can be bounded by (23) and the bound on  $\langle \Phi(t), \mathscr{N} \Phi(t) \rangle$  in Lemma 2. We can choose *s* large enough (but fixed) and obtain

$$\left|\left\langle \Phi_N(t), \mathbb{H}\mathbb{1}^{>N} \Phi(t)\right\rangle\right| \le C_{\varepsilon} (1+t)^{\varepsilon} N^{-1}.$$
(26)

**Step 3.** To control the first term on the right side of (25), we have to introduce a cut-off on the number of particles. Since there are at most 2 creation or annihilation operators in the expressions of  $R_i$ 's, we can write

$$\begin{split} \left\langle \Phi_N(t), (R_j + R_j^*) \mathbb{1}^{\leq N} \Phi(t) \right\rangle &= \left\langle \mathbb{1}^{\leq M} \Phi_N(t), (R_j + R_j^*) \mathbb{1}^{\leq M+2} \Phi(t) \right\rangle \\ &+ \left\langle \mathbb{1}^{>M} \Phi_N(t), (R_j + R_j^*) \mathbb{1}^{\leq N} \mathbb{1}^{>M-2} \Phi(t) \right\rangle \end{split}$$

for all 4 < M < N - 2. Then we estimate each term on the right side by Lemma 4 and the Cauchy-Schwarz type inequality as in Step 2. We obtain

$$\left| \left\langle \Phi_N(t), (R_j + R_j^*) \mathbb{1}^{\le N} \Phi(t) \right\rangle \right| \le C(E_1 + E_2)$$
 (27)

where

$$\begin{split} E_{1} &= \inf_{\eta > 0} \left\langle \mathbb{1}^{\leq M} \Phi_{N}(t), \left( (1+\eta)R_{4} + \eta \frac{\mathcal{N}^{2}}{N} + \frac{1+\mathcal{N}}{\eta(1+t)^{3}} \right) \mathbb{1}^{\leq M} \Phi_{N}(t) \right\rangle^{1/2} \\ &\times \left\langle \mathbb{1}^{\leq M+2} \Phi(t), \left( (1+\eta)R_{4} + \eta \frac{\mathcal{N}^{2}}{N} + \frac{1+\mathcal{N}}{\eta(1+t)^{3}} \right) \mathbb{1}^{\leq M+2} \Phi(t) \right\rangle^{1/2}, \\ E_{2} &= \inf_{\eta > 0} \left\langle \mathbb{1}^{>M} \Phi_{N}(t), \left( (1+\eta)R_{4} + \eta \frac{\mathcal{N}^{2}}{N} + \frac{1+\mathcal{N}}{\eta(1+t)^{3}} \right) \mathbb{1}^{>M} \Phi_{N}(t) \right\rangle^{1/2} \\ &\times \left\langle \mathbb{1}^{>M-2} \Phi(t), \left( (1+\eta)R_{4} + \eta \frac{\mathcal{N}^{2}}{N} + \frac{1+\mathcal{N}}{\eta(1+t)^{3}} \right) \mathbb{1}^{>M-2} \Phi(t) \right\rangle^{1/2}. \end{split}$$

To bound  $E_1$ , we use

$$\mathbb{1}^{\leq M} R_4 \leq C N^{\beta-1} \mathbb{1}^{\leq M} \mathscr{N} \mathrm{d} \Gamma(-\Delta) \leq C N^{\beta-1} M \mathrm{d} \Gamma(-\Delta)$$

(see Lemma 4) together with the kinetic estimate in Theorem 3, and then optimize over  $\eta > 0$ . We get

$$E_1 \leq C_{\varepsilon} \Big( M N^{(2\beta + \varepsilon - 1)/2} + M^{3/2} N^{-1/2} \Big).$$

(The error term  $N^{3\beta-1+\varepsilon}$  in Theorem 3 is absorbed by  $N^{\beta+\varepsilon}$  when  $\beta < 1/2$ .)

The bound on  $E_2$  is obtained using the argument in Step 2 and reads

$$E_2 \leq C_{\varepsilon,s} N^{3\beta+1} M^{1-s/2} N^{s\varepsilon} [\log(2+t)]^s.$$

In summary, from (27) it follows that

$$\begin{split} \left| \left\langle \Phi_N(t), (R_j + R_j^*) \mathbb{1}^{\le N} \Phi(t) \right\rangle \right| &\leq C_{\varepsilon} \left( M N^{(2\beta + \varepsilon - 1)/2} + M^{3/2} N^{-1/2} \right) \\ &+ C_{\varepsilon, s} N^{3\beta + 1} M^{1 - s/2} N^{s\varepsilon} [\log(2 + t)]^s \end{split}$$

for all 4 < M < N-2 and  $s \ge 2$ . We can choose  $M = N^{3\varepsilon}$  and  $s = s(\varepsilon)$  sufficiently large (e.g.  $s \ge 6(1 + \beta + \varepsilon)/\varepsilon$ ) to obtain

$$\left|\left\langle\Phi_N(t), (R_j + R_j^*)\mathbb{1}^{\leq N}\Phi(t)\right\rangle\right| \leq C_{\varepsilon} \left(N^{(2\beta + 9\varepsilon - 1)/2} + N^{-1}(1+t)^{\varepsilon}\right).$$
(28)

Step 4. Inserting (26) and (28) into (25), we find that

$$\partial_t \| \Phi_N(t) - \Phi(t) \|^2 \leq C_{\varepsilon} \Big( N^{(2\beta + 9\varepsilon - 1)/2} + N^{-1} (1+t)^{\varepsilon} \Big).$$

Integrating over t and using

$$\|\Phi_N(0) - \Phi(0)\|^2 = \langle \Phi(0), \mathbb{1}^{>N} \Phi(0) \rangle \le N^{-1} \langle \Phi(0), \mathscr{N} \Phi(0) \rangle \le C_{\varepsilon} N^{\varepsilon - 1}.$$

we obtain

$$\|\Phi_N(t) - \Phi(t)\|^2 \le C_{\varepsilon} (1+t)^{1+\varepsilon} N^{(2\beta+9\varepsilon-1)/2}$$

for all  $\varepsilon > 0$ . This leads to the desired estimate (6), as explained in Step 1.

### References

- 1. R. Adami, F. Golse, A. Teta, Rigorous derivation of the cubic NLS in dimension one. J. Stat. Phys. **127**(6) (2007), 1193–1220
- 2. I. Anapolitanos, M. Hott, A simple proof of convergence to the Hartree dynamics in Sobolev trace norms (2016). e-print arxiv:1608.01192
- M.H. Anderson, J.R. Ensher, M.R. Matthews, C.E. Wieman, E.A. Cornell, Observation of Bose–Einstein condensation in a dilute atomic vapor. Science 269, 198–201 (1995)
- 4. V. Bach, S. Breteaux, T. Chen, J. Fröhlich, I.M. Sigal, The time-dependent Hartree-Fock-Bogoliubov equations for Bosons (2015). e-print arXiv:1602.05171
- 5. J. Bardeen, L.N. Cooper, J.R. Schrieffer, Theory of superconductivity. Phys. Rev. 108, 1175 (1957)
- C. Bardos, F. Golse, N.J. Mauser, Weak coupling limit of the N-particle Schrödinger equation. Methods Appl. Anal. 7(2), 275–293 (2000)
- N. Benedikter, G. de Oliveira, B. Schlein, Quantitative derivation of the Gross-Pitaevskii equation. Commun. Pure Appl. Math. 68(8), 1399–1482 (2015)
- C. Boccato, S. Cenatiempo, B. Schlein, Quantum many-body fluctuations around nonlinear Schrödinger dynamics. Ann. Henri Poincaré (2016). Available online. doi:10.1007/s00023-016-0513-6
- 9. N. Bogoliubov, On the theory of superfluidity. J. Phys. (USSR) 11, 23 (1947)

- 10. S.N. Bose, Plancks Gesetz und Lichtquantenhypothese. Z. Phys. 26, 178–181 (1924)
- 11. L. Bruneau, J. Dereziński, Bogoliubov Hamiltonians and one-parameter groups of Bogoliubov transformations. J. Math. Phys. 48, 022101 (2007)
- K.B. Davis, M.-O. Mewes, M.R. Andrews, N.J. van Druten, D.S. Durfee, D.M. Kurn, W. Ketterle, Bose–Einstein condensation in a gas of sodium atoms. Phys. Rev. Lett. 75, 3969–3973 (1995)
- J. Dereziński, M. Napiórkowski, Excitation spectrum of interacting bosons in the mean-field infinite-volume limit. Ann. Henri Poincaré 15, 2409–2439 (2014). Erratum: Ann. Henri Poincaré 16, 1709–1711 (2015)
- 14. A. Einstein, Quantentheorie des einatomigen idealen Gases. Sitzungsberichte der Preussischen Akademie der Wissenschaften 1, 3 (1925)
- L. Erdös, H.-T. Yau, Derivation of the nonlinear Schrödinger equation from a many body Coulomb system. Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 5, 1169–1205 (2001)
- L. Erdös, B. Schlein, H.-T. Yau, Derivation of the cubic non-linear Schrödinger equation from quantum dynamics of many-body systems. Invent. Math. 167, 515–614 (2007)
- L. Erdös, B. Schlein, H.-T. Yau, Rigorous derivation of the Gross-Pitaevskii equation with a large interaction potential. J. Am. Math. Soc. 22, 1099–1156 (2009)
- L. Erdös, B. Schlein, H.-T. Yau, Derivation of the Gross-Pitaevskii equation for the dynamics of Bose-Einstein condensate. Ann. Math. (2) 172, 291–370 (2010)
- L. Erdös, B. Schlein, H.-T. Yau, Ground-state energy of a low-density Bose gas: a second-order upper bound. Phys. Rev. A 78, 053627 (2008)
- J. Ginibre, G. Velo, The classical field limit of scattering theory for nonrelativistic many-boson systems. I. Commun. Math. Phys. 66, 37–76 (1979)
- J. Ginibre, G. Velo, The classical field limit of scattering theory for nonrelativistic many-boson systems. II. Commun. Math. Phys. 68, 45–68 (1979)
- 22. P. Grech, R. Seiringer, The excitation spectrum for weakly interacting bosons in a trap. Commun. Math. Phys. **322**, 559–591 (2013)
- M. Grillakis, M. Machedon, Pair excitations and the mean field approximation of interacting Bosons, I. Commun. Math. Phys. **324**, 601–636 (2013)
- M. Grillakis, M. Machedon, Pair excitations and the mean field approximation of interacting Bosons, II (2015). e-print arXiv: 1509.05911
- M.G. Grillakis, M. Machedon, D. Margetis, Second-order corrections to mean field evolution of weakly interacting bosons. I. Commun. Math. Phys. 294, 273–301 (2010)
- M.G. Grillakis, M. Machedon, D. Margetis, Second-order corrections to mean field evolution of weakly interacting bosons. II. Adv. Math. 228, 1788–1815 (2011)
- A. Giuliani, R. Seiringer, The ground state energy of the weakly interacting Bose gas at high density. J. Stat. Phys. 135, 915–934 (2009)
- K. Hepp, The classical limit for quantum mechanical correlation functions. Commun. Math. Phys. 35, 265–277 (1974)
- E. Kuz, Exact evolution versus mean field with second-order correction for bosons interacting via short-range two-body potential (2015). e-print arXiv:1511.00487
- M. Lewin, P.T. Nam, B. Schlein, Fluctuations around Hartree states in the mean-field regime. Am. J. Math. 137, 1613–1650 (2015)
- M. Lewin, P.T. Nam, S. Serfaty, J.P. Solovej, Bogoliubov spectrum of interacting Bose gases. Commun. Pure Appl. Math. 68, 413–471 (2015)
- E.H. Lieb, R. Seiringer, Derivation of the Gross-Pitaevskii equation for rotating Bose gases. Commun. Math. Phys. 264, 505–537 (2006)
- E.H. Lieb, J.P. Solovej, Ground state energy of the one-component charged Bose gas. Commun. Math. Phys. 217, 127–163 (2001)

- E.H. Lieb, J.P. Solovej, Ground state energy of the two-component charged Bose gas. Commun. Math. Phys. 252, 485–534 (2004)
- E.H. Lieb, R. Seiringer, J. Yngvason, Bosons in a trap: a rigorous derivation of the Gross-Pitaevskii energy functional. Phys. Rev. A 61, 043602 (2000)
- J. Lührmann, Mean-field quantum dynamics with magnetic fields. J. Math. Phys. 53, 022105 (2012)
- A. Michelangeli, B. Schlein, Dynamical collapse of boson stars. Commun. Math. 11, 645–687 (2012)
- D. Mitrouskas, S. Petrat, P. Pickl, Bogoliubov corrections and trace norm convergence for the Hartree dynamics (2016). e-print arXiv:1609.06264
- P.T. Nam, M. Napiórkowski, Bogoliubov correction to the mean-field dynamics of interacting bosons. Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. (2015, to appear). e-print arXiv:1509.04631
- 40. P.T. Nam, M. Napiórkowski, A note on the validity Bogoliubov correction to the mean-field dynamics. J. Math. Pures Appl. (2016, to appear). e-print arXiv:1604.05240
- P. Nam, R. Seiringer, Collective excitations of Bose gases in the mean-field regime. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 215, 381–417 (2015)
- P.T. Nam, M. Napiórkowski, J.P. Solovej, Diagonalization of bosonic quadratic Hamiltonians by Bogoliubov transformations. J. Funct. Anal. 270(11), 4340–4368 (2016)
- P.T. Nam, N. Rougerie, R. Seiringer, Ground states of large bosonic systems: the Gross-Pitaevskii limit revisited. Anal. PDE 9(2), 459–485 (2016)
- 44. P. Pickl, Derivation of the time dependent Gross Pitaevskii equation with external fields. Rev. Math. Phys. 27, 1550003 (2015)
- 45. I. Rodnianski, B. Schlein, Quantum fluctuations and rate of convergence towards mean field dynamics. Commun. Math. Phys. **291**, 31–61 (2009)
- 46. R. Seiringer, The excitation spectrum for weakly interacting bosons. Commun. Math. Phys. **306**, 565–578 (2011)
- 47. J.P. Solovej, Upper bounds to the ground state energies of the one- and two-component charged Bose gases. Commun. Math. Phys. **266**, 797–818 (2006)
- H. Spohn, Kinetic equations from Hamiltonian dynamics: Markovian limits. Rev. Modern Phys. 52, 569–615 (1980)
- 49. H.-T. Yau, J. Yin, The second order upper bound for the ground energy of a Bose gas. J. Stat. Phys. **136**, 453–503 (2009)

# **Effective Non-linear Dynamics of Binary Condensates and Open Problems**

#### **Alessandro Olgiati**

**Abstract** We report on a recent result concerning the effective dynamics for a mixture of Bose-Einstein condensates, a class of systems much studied in physics and receiving a large amount of attention in the recent literature in mathematical physics; for such models, the effective dynamics is described by a coupled system of non-linear Schödinger equations. After reviewing and commenting our proof in the mean-field regime from a previous paper, we collect the main details needed to obtain the rigorous derivation of the effective dynamics in the Gross-Pitaevskii scaling limit.

**Keywords** Coupled nonlinear Schrödinger system • Cubic NLS • Effective non-linear evolution equations • Gross-Pitaevskii scaling • Manybody quantum dynamics • Mean-field regime • Mixture condensates • Partial trace • Reduced density matrix

### 1 Introduction

Bose-Einstein condensation is the physical phenomenon according to which a macroscopic number of bosons collapse onto the same quantum state. This was first predicted theoretically in the 1920s and then widely studied both in physics and mathematics in the later decades; the topic received a further strong boost since the mid 1990s, when the first condensates were produced in experiments.

Mathematically, to a system of N identical bosons is associated the Hilbert space  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)^{\otimes_{\text{sym}}N}$  and states are positive trace-class operators  $\gamma_N$  on such space, with unit trace. The notion of condensation is appropriately described in terms of the corresponding one-body reduced density matrix, or one-body marginal,

$$\gamma_N^{(1)} = \mathrm{Tr}_{N-1} \gamma_N,\tag{1}$$

A. Olgiati (🖂)

SISSA - International School for Advanced Studies, via Bonomea 265 Trieste, Italy e-mail: aolgiati@sissa.it

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2017

A. Michelangeli, G. Dell'Antonio (eds.), Advances in Quantum Mechanics, Springer INdAM Series 18, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-58904-6\_14

where the degrees of freedom 2 to *N* are traced out; the operation  $\text{Tr}_{N-1}$  in (1) is called the partial trace. Thus, given a *N*-body density matrix  $\gamma_N$  of the system, and a pure state  $u \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ , one says that  $\gamma_N$  exhibits complete asymptotic condensation on the condensate wave-function *u* if

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \gamma_N^{(1)} = |u\rangle \langle u|.$$
<sup>(2)</sup>

Since the limit in (2) is a rank-one projection, weak convergence implies trace-norm convergence, and thus, the limit can be considered in any of such topologies.

Within this framework, a problem naturally arising is the proof of persistence of condensation under the dynamics generated by some many-body Hamiltonian. Thus, given a time-evolution governed by  $H_N$ , and the flow

$$\gamma_N \mapsto \gamma_{N,t} = e^{-\mathrm{i}tH_N}\gamma_N e^{\mathrm{i}tH_N}$$

one would like to prove that

$$\gamma_N^{(1)} \simeq |u_0\rangle\langle u_0| \Rightarrow \gamma_{N,t}^{(1)} \simeq |u_t\rangle\langle u_t|.$$
 (3)

The interest in a result like (3) is manifest: a large system is well approximated by a single-particle orbital, an object much more manageable in computations and informative when one-body observables are considered. The price to pay is that in the limit the interparticle interactions result in a non-linearity, or self-interaction term; hence, a typical equation for  $u_t$  is

$$\mathrm{i}\partial_t u_t = -\Delta u_t + \mathcal{N}(u_t)u_t,$$

where, as said,  $\mathcal{N}(.)$  accounts for the effective two-body potential via a cubic selfinteraction. We refer to the review [3] for a comprehensive outlook on the problem. It has to be remarked that this class of problems has involved many different techniques, with tools from operator theory, measure theory and kinetic theory.

### 2 Two-Component Condensates

A consistent part of both theoretical and experimental studies on Bose-Einstein condensation is devoted to systems in which two (or more) components interact; such systems are usually referred to as two-component condensates (respectively multi-component condensates). This can be attained in multiple ways: either by considering bosons occupying different hyperfine spin states [16, 23] (spinor condensates) or by considering different atomic species [15] (mixture condensates); in the case of different spin states, one can also account for transitions between the two components, for example by turning on an external magnetic field or a spin-spin interaction (this is discussed in Sect. 5). Physical evidence suggests that the dynamics of a multi-component condensate is governed by a coupled system of non-linear Schrödinger equations (see [22, Sect. 21]), the unknowns being the condensate wave-functions of each component.

In this work we consider the case of the mixture condensate, namely a system consisting of  $N_1$  identical bosons of some atomic species A and  $N_2$  identical bosons of some (different) species B; the Hilbert space of such system is

$$\mathscr{H}_{N_1,N_2} = L^2_{\text{sym}}(\mathbb{R}^{3N_1}, dx_1 \dots dx_{N_1}) \otimes L^2_{\text{sym}}(\mathbb{R}^{3N_1}, dy_1 \dots dy_{N_2}).$$
(4)

We want to consider states of such system in which condensation is present in each component: this can be monitored by means of a "*double*" reduced density matrix. For each state  $\gamma_{N_1,N_2}$  of the system, we define the trace-class operator

$$\gamma_{N_1,N_2}^{(1,1)} = \operatorname{Tr}_{N_1-1} \otimes \operatorname{Tr}_{N_2-1} \gamma_{N_1,N_2},$$
(5)

acting on the space  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3, dx) \otimes L^2(\mathbb{R}^3, dy)$  of one particle of type A and one of type B.

In this setting, one can extend the notion of condensation, namely, one says  $\gamma_{N_1,N_2}$  exhibits complete condensation in both components, with condensate functions *u* and *v*, if

$$\lim_{\substack{N_1 \to \infty \\ N_2 \to \infty}} \gamma_{N_1,N_2}^{(1,1)} = |u \otimes v\rangle \langle u \otimes v| = |u\rangle \langle u| \otimes |v\rangle \langle v|.$$
(6)

In analogy to the one-component case, it is of interest to investigate the persistence of condensation simultaneously in each component. Of course one has to specify a Hamiltonian generating the time-evolution; moreover, since at the moment no result is attainable in a genuine thermodynamic limit of large system, the Hamiltonian must be chosen together with a scaling prescription that mimics the true limit [3, 10].

### 2.1 Mean-Field Regime

For the multi-component system built in Sect. 2, we define the three-dimensional mean-field Hamiltonian

$$H_{N_1,N_2} = \sum_{i=1}^{N_1} (-\Delta_{x_i}) + \frac{1}{N_1} \sum_{i < j}^{N_1} V_1(x_i - x_j) + \sum_{r=1}^{N_2} (-\Delta_{y_r}) + \frac{1}{N_2} \sum_{r < s}^{N_2} V_2(y_r - y_s) + \frac{1}{N_1 + N_2} \sum_{i=1}^{N_1} \sum_{r=1}^{N_2} V_{12}(x_i - y_r),$$
(7)

where the variables  $x_1, \ldots, x_{N_1}, y_1, \ldots, y_{N_2}$  are referred to the ones in Eq. (4).

Throughout this paper, we will consider the case in which  $N_1$  and  $N_2$  scale in such a way that their ratio is asymptotically constant, namely there exist constants  $c_1, c_2 > 0$  such that

$$c_i = \lim_{\substack{N_1 \to \infty \\ N_2 \to \infty}} \frac{N_i}{N_1 + N_2}, \quad i = 1, 2.$$
 (8)

For simplicity of presentation, we assume that (8) holds identically for every fixed  $N_1$  and  $N_2$ , and not only in the limit; this stronger assumption could easily be removed. Under such assumptions, it is easy to see that our choice of the mean-field pre-factors  $N_1^{-1}$ ,  $N_2^{-1}$ ,  $(N_1 + N_2)^{-1}$  ensures all terms in (7) to remain of the same order  $O(N_1 + N_2)$ . Of course, one could argue that many other choices would ensure this behavior, for example a common  $(N_1N_2)^{-1/2}$  factor; the reader can refer to Sect. 4 in [12] for a discussion of why the choice in (7) is *the* physically relevant mean-field scaling.

Our result is the proof of persistence of condensation under the dynamics generated by (7), namely

$$\gamma_{N_1,N_2}^{(1,1)}(0) \simeq |u_0 \otimes v_0\rangle \langle u_0 \otimes v_0| \quad \Rightarrow \quad \gamma_{N_1,N_2}^{(1,1)}(t) \simeq |u_t \otimes v_t\rangle \langle u_t \otimes v_t|, \tag{9}$$

where  $(u_t, v_t)$  solves the initial value problem

$$i\partial_t u_t = -\Delta u_t + (V_1 * |u_t|^2)u_t + c_2(V_{12} * |v_t|^2)u_t$$
  

$$i\partial_t v_t = -\Delta v_t + (V_2 * |v_t|^2)v_t + c_1(V_{12} * |u_t|^2)v_t,$$
(10)

with initial datum  $(u_0, v_0)$ .

Let us now state the assumptions on  $V_j$  and  $(u_0, v_0)$  under which it is possible to prove (9).

• (A1) The potentials  $V_j$ ,  $j \in \{1, 2, 12\}$  are real-valued, even, and such that

$$\|V_{j} * |\phi|^{2}\|_{\infty} \lesssim \|\phi\|_{H^{1}}^{2} \qquad \forall \phi \in H^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{3}) \qquad j = 1, 2, 12$$

$$\|V_{j}^{2} * |\phi|^{2}\|_{\infty} \lesssim \|\phi\|_{H^{1}}^{2} \qquad \forall \phi \in H^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{3}) \qquad j = 1, 2, 12.$$

$$(11)$$

(A2) The initial data for the system (10) are u(0) = u<sub>0</sub> and v(0) = v<sub>0</sub> for given functions u<sub>0</sub>, v<sub>0</sub> ∈ H<sup>1</sup>(ℝ<sup>3</sup>) with ||u<sub>0</sub>||<sub>2</sub> = ||v<sub>0</sub>||<sub>2</sub> = 1. By general theory, this is enough to have a unique global-in-time solution

$$(u_t, v_t) \in C(\mathbb{R}, H^1(\mathbb{R}^3) \oplus H^1(\mathbb{R}^3)) \cap C^1(\mathbb{R}, H^{-1}(\mathbb{R}^3) \oplus H^{-1}(\mathbb{R}^3)).$$
(12)

• (A3) The many-body initial datum is  $\Psi_{N_1,N_2} \in \mathscr{D}[H_{N_1,N_2}] \cap \mathscr{H}_{N_1,N_2,\text{sym}}$  with  $\|\Psi_{N_1,N_2}\|_2 = 1$ .

Let  $\Psi_{N_1,N_2}(t) := e^{-itH_{N_1,N_2}}\Psi_{N_1,N_2}$  be the unique solution in  $C(\mathbb{R}, \mathscr{D}[H_{N_1,N_2}] \cap \mathscr{H}_{N_1,N_2,\text{sym}})$  to the many-body Schrödinger equation

$$i\partial_t \Psi_{N_1,N_2}(t) = H_{N_1,N_2} \Psi_{N_1,N_2}(t), \qquad \Psi_{N_1,N_2}(0) = \Psi_{N_1,N_2},$$
 (13)

and let  $(u_t, v_t)$  be the unique solution to the system of coupled NLS (10) as in (12). Our main result in the mean-field regime is the following Theorem.

**Theorem 1 ([12])** Consider a two-species bosonic system under assumptions (A1)–(A3) above. Let  $\gamma_{N_1,N_2}^{(1,1)}(t)$  be the double reduced density matrix associated with  $\Psi_{N_1,N_2}(t)$ , given by (5), and define

$$\alpha_{N_1,N_2}^{(1,1)}(t) := 1 - \left\{ u_t \otimes v_t , \gamma_{N_1,N_2}^{(1,1)}(t) \ u_t \otimes v_t \right\}.$$
(14)

Then

$$\alpha_{N_1,N_2}^{(1,1)}(t) \leq \left(\alpha_{N_1,N_2}^{(1,1)}(0) + \frac{1}{N_1 + N_2}\right) e^{f(t)},\tag{15}$$

where f does not depend on N.

Corollary 1 ([12]) In the same hypothesis of Theorem 1, if

$$\lim_{\substack{N_1 \to \infty \\ N_2 \to \infty}} \gamma_{N_1,N_2}^{(1,1)}(0) = |u_0 \otimes v_0\rangle \langle u_0 \otimes v_0|,$$

in trace norm, then

$$\lim_{\substack{N_1 \to \infty \\ N_2 \to \infty}} \gamma_{N_1,N_2}^{(1,1)}(t) = |u_t \otimes v_t\rangle \langle u_t \otimes v_t|,$$

again in trace norm.

We show here the immediate proof of Corollary 1, postponing to Sect. 3 a sketch of the proof of Theorem 1,

*Proof (Corollary 1)* The thesis follows from (15) using the chain of inequalities (see [12] Eq. (3.7) or [11])

$$\alpha_{N_1,N_2}^{(1,1)}(t) \leq \operatorname{Tr} \left| \gamma_{N_1,N_2}^{(1,1)}(t) - |u_t \otimes v_t\rangle \langle u_t \otimes v_t | \right| \leq C \sqrt{\alpha_{N_1,N_2}^{(1,1)}(t)}.$$
 (16)

A few remarks on the results we stated are in order.

*Remark 1* Assumption (A1) covers, by Hardy inequality, the physically relevant case of Coulomb singularities  $|x|^{-1}$ .

*Remark 2* To keep the exposition short and self-contained, we limited the class of Hamiltonians for which a result like Theorem 1 holds; in particular, one could

deal with several meaningful generalizations of the one-body operator  $-\Delta$ , as for example the magnetic Laplacian with external potential  $-\Delta_A + U(x)$ , or its semi-relativistic counterpart  $(1 - \Delta_A)^{1/2} + U(x)$ , where  $\Delta_A := (\nabla - iA)^2$ .

*Remark 3* The second bound in (16) is not sharp: indeed, one could adapt a recent result [14] and obtain convergence in trace norm *with the same rate as the convergence of*  $\alpha_{N_1,N_2}^{(1,1)}$ . This, by (15), implies that the total rate is the worst among the rates of  $\alpha_{N_1,N_2}^{(1,1)}(0)$  and of  $(N_1 + N_2)^{-1}$ .

The functional  $\alpha_{N_1,N_2}^{(1,1)}(t)$  is a two-component generalization of the one-component functional

$$\alpha_N(t) := 1 - \langle \psi_N(t), p_1(t)\psi_N(t) \rangle$$

where

$$p_1(t) := |u_t\rangle_1 \langle u_t|_1 \tag{17}$$

is the projection onto the condensate wave-function in the variable  $x_1$ ; for later convenience we also define the orthogonal complement to p as

$$q_1(t) := \mathbb{1} - p_1(t). \tag{18}$$

Such a construction is the starting point of the so-called "counting" method introduced by Pickl in [20] and by Knowles and Pickl in [9]. In those works,  $\alpha_N(t)$  is used to prove trace-norm convergence with a quantitative rate for a wide class of potentials in the single component case.

The meaning of Eq. (16) (and of its one-component counterpart, see Lemma 2.3 in [9]) is that  $\alpha_{N_1,N_2}^{(1,1)}$  is a convenient indicator of condensation, namely its convergence to zero is tantamount as the convergence in trace norm to the condensate wave-function. In our two-component case, one could also argue that condensation can also be expressed in terms of one-component reduced density matrices, which can be defined as

$$\gamma_{N_1,N_2}^{(1,0)} = \operatorname{Tr}_{N_1-1} \otimes \operatorname{Tr}_{N_2} \gamma_{N_1,N_2}, \qquad \gamma_{N_1,N_2}^{(0,1)} = \operatorname{Tr}_{N_1} \otimes \operatorname{Tr}_{N_2-1} \gamma_{N_1,N_2}.$$
(19)

The control of condensation by means of both  $\gamma_{N_1,N_2}^{(1,0)}$  and  $\gamma_{N_1,N_2}^{(0,1)}$  has been addressed by Heil [6] (we also refer to [1] for a more recent work); in Lemma 3.1 in [12] we establish the bound

$$\max\left\{1 - \langle u, \gamma_{N_{1},N_{2}}^{(1,0)} u \rangle, 1 - \langle v, \gamma_{N_{1},N_{2}}^{(0,1)} v \rangle\right\} \leq 1 - \langle u \otimes v, \gamma_{N_{1},N_{2}}^{(1,1)} u \otimes v \rangle$$
  
$$\leq (1 - \langle u, \gamma_{N_{1},N_{2}}^{(1,0)} u \rangle) + (1 - \langle v, \gamma_{N_{1},N_{2}}^{(0,1)} v \rangle),$$
(20)

which shows that our collective indicator  $\gamma_{N_1,N_2}^{(1,1)}$  covers (and is in fact equivalent to) such a control.

### 2.2 Gross-Pitaevskii Regime

The mean-field result stated above can be extended to the more interesting and realistic Gross-Pitaevskii regime we describe in the following; in its essence, what we report already stems from the work [12]. Nonetheless, we state here the result and present the main steps of the proof, in order to provide an explicit reference.

Consider the two-component Hamiltonian

$$H_{N_1,N_2} = \sum_{i=1}^{N_1} (-\Delta_{x_i}) + N_1^2 \sum_{i < j}^{N_1} V_1(N_1(x_i - x_j)) + \sum_{r=1}^{N_2} (-\Delta_{y_r}) + N_2^2 \sum_{r < s}^{N_2} V_2(N_2(y_r - y_s)) + (N_1 + N_2)^2 \sum_{i=1}^{N_1} \sum_{r=1}^{N_2} V_{12}((N_1 + N_2)(x_i - y_r)),$$
(21)

where now the potentials are rescaled according to the Gross-Pitaevskii scaling. This implies very strong ( $\sim N^2$ ) but rare interactions, since particles interact only when their distances are of order  $N^{-1}$ , and this makes the regime quite different from the mean field in Sect. 2.1: whereas in mean field each particle only feels the average density of the whole gas, in the Gross-Pitaevskii regime interactions are very strong and effective only on short spatial scales. For this reason, this scaling is a much more realistic approximation for a gas in a zero temperature and high dilution regime.

One can prove a statement similar to Theorem 1 also in this case, but with an amount of modifications. Indeed, now the limit (9) holds for  $(u_t, v_t)$  solutions to the *local* system of NLS

$$i\partial_t u_t = -\Delta u_t + 8\pi a_1 |u_t|^2 u_t + c_2 8\pi a_{12} |v_t|^2 u_t$$
  

$$i\partial_t v_t = -\Delta v_t + 8\pi a_2 |v_t|^2 v_t + c_1 8\pi a_{12} |u_t|^2 v_t,$$
(22)

where, for  $j \in \{1, 2, 12\}$ ,  $a_j$  is the *s*-wave scattering length of  $V_j$ .

Since, to treat the Gross-Pitaevskii case, one also has to take into account energy comparisons between many-body and effective dynamics, we define the following two functionals: the many-body energy functional

$$\mathscr{E}_{N_1,N_2}(\Psi_{N_1,N_2}) := \frac{1}{N_1 + N_2} \langle \Psi_{N_1,N_2}, H_{N_1,N_2} \Psi_{N_1,N_2} \rangle, \tag{23}$$

and the Gross-Pitaevskii energy

$$\mathscr{E}^{GP}(u,v) := \langle u, -\Delta u \rangle + \langle v, -\Delta v \rangle + 4\pi a_1 \langle u, |u|^2 u \rangle + 4\pi a_2 \langle v, |v|^2 v \rangle + 8\pi a_{12} \langle u, |v|^2 u \rangle.$$
(24)

We suppose the following on the potential and on the initial data.

- (B1) The potentials  $V_{\alpha}$ ,  $\alpha \in \{1, 2, 12\}$  are positive, spherically symmetric, compactly supported,  $L^{\infty}$ -functions.
- (B2) The initial data for the system (10) are  $u(0) = u_0$  and  $v(0) = v_0$  for given functions  $u_0, v_0 \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$  with  $||u_0||_2 = ||v_0||_2 = 1$  chosen such that the solution belongs to

$$L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}, H^2(\mathbb{R}^3) \oplus H^2(\mathbb{R}^3)).$$

• (B3) The many-body initial datum is  $\Psi_{N_1,N_2} \in \mathscr{D}[H_{N_1,N_2}] \cap \mathscr{H}_{N_1,N_2,\text{sym}}$  with  $\|\Psi_{N_1,N_2}\|_2 = 1$  and

$$\lim_{\substack{N_1 \to \infty \\ N_2 \to \infty}} \gamma_{N_1, N_2}^{(1,1)} = |u_0 \otimes v_0\rangle \langle u_0 \otimes v_0|.$$

• (B4) The sequence  $\Psi_{N_1,N_2}$  satisfies

$$\lim_{\substack{N_1\to\infty\\N_2\to\infty}} \mathscr{E}_{N_1,N_2}(\Psi_{N_1,N_2}) = \mathscr{E}^{GP}(u_0,v_0).$$

Here is our main result.

**Theorem 2** Consider a two-species bosonic system under assumptions (B1)–(B4) above. Let  $\gamma_{N_1,N_2}^{(1,1)}(t)$  be the double reduced density matrix associated with  $\Psi_{N_1,N_2}(t)$ , given by (5). Then

$$\lim_{\substack{N_1 \to \infty \\ N_2 \to \infty}} \gamma_{N_1, N_2}^{(1,1)}(t) = |u_t \otimes v_t\rangle \langle u_t \otimes v_t|,$$
(25)

and

$$\lim_{\substack{N_1 \to \infty \\ N_2 \to \infty}} \mathscr{E}_{N_1,N_2}(\Psi_{N_1,N_2}(t)) = \mathscr{E}^{GP}(u_t, v_t),$$
(26)

where  $(u_t, v_t)$  are solutions of (22) with initial data  $(u_0, v_0)$ .

*Remark 4* A generalization of the technique used in the proof allows one to cover also the case of one-body Hamiltonians more general than  $-\Delta$ . This has been pointed out in the single component case in Remark 2.1 in [21]; we refer the reader

to [18] for a more detailed analysis of what is needed in order to adapt the argument to the relevant case of the magnetic Laplacian  $\Delta_A = (\nabla - iA)^2$ .

*Remark 5* Assumption (B1) on the potential is crucial in this formalism; with different techniques (see [2]) it is possible to consider potentials with some singularity and unbounded support. Conversely, the removal of the positivity condition is an important open problem in the subject; in [19], it is proven positivity can be removed for a much softer scaling than the one in (21).

The one-component problem, namely the derivation of the Gross-Pitaevskii equation

$$\mathrm{i}\partial_t u_t = -\Delta u_t + 8\pi a |u_t|^2 u_t,$$

has been an important open problem in mathematical physics in recent years. It was first solved by Erdős, Schlein and Yau in 2006 (see [4] and [5]); their proof was based on the BBGKY formalism and did not provide a convergence rate. Later results by Benedikter et al. [2] and by Pickl [21] relied on different techniques and allowed to get a quantitative control of the convergence.

### **3 Proof of Theorem 1**

The strategy to get (15) is to establish an estimate of type

$$\partial_t \alpha_{N_1,N_2}^{(1,1)}(t) \leq f(t) \left( \alpha_{N_1,N_2}^{(1,1)}(t) + \frac{1}{N_1 + N_2} \right),$$
(27)

and then to apply Grönwall lemma to get the result. The function *f* will depend on the population ratios  $c_1, c_2$  and on certain norms of the potentials  $V_1, V_2, V_{12}$  and of the solutions  $u_t, v_t$ . For brevity, we will use from now on the shorthand notation  $\alpha^{(1,1)} := \alpha^{(1,1)}_{N_1,N_2}(t)$ .

One can show that our hypothesis certainly assure  $\alpha^{(1,1)}$  to be differentiable in time; its derivative can be shown to split into three pieces, each one of them containing only one potential, according to

$$\dot{\alpha}^{(1,1)} = i(C_{V_1} + C_{V_2} + C_{V_{12}}), \qquad (28)$$

with

$$C_{V_1} := \left\langle \Psi, \left[ \left( \frac{1}{N_1} \sum_{i < j}^{N_1} V_1(x_i - x_j) - \sum_{i=1}^{N_1} (V_1^u)_i \right)^A, \sum_{k=1}^{N_1} \sum_{\ell=1}^{N_2} \frac{\mathbb{1} - p_k^A p_\ell^B}{N_1 N_2} \right] \Psi \right\rangle,$$
(29)

$$C_{V_2} := \left\langle \Psi, \left[ \left( \frac{1}{N_2} \sum_{r < s}^{N_2} V_2(y_r - y_s) - \sum_{r=1}^{N_2} (V_2^v)_r \right)^B, \sum_{k=1}^{N_1} \sum_{\ell=1}^{N_2} \frac{\mathbb{1} - p_k^A p_\ell^B}{N_1 N_2} \right] \Psi \right\rangle,$$
(30)

$$C_{V_{12}} = \left\langle \Psi, \left[ \frac{1}{N_1 + N_2} \sum_{i=1}^{N_1} \sum_{r=1}^{N_2} V_{12}(x_i - y_r) - c_2 \sum_{i=1}^{N_1} (V_{12}^v)_i^A - c_1 \sum_{r=1}^{N_2} (V_{12}^u)_r^B, \sum_{k=1}^{N_1} \sum_{\ell=1}^{N_2} \frac{\mathbb{1} - p_k^A p_\ell^B}{N_1 N_2} \right] \Psi \right\rangle.$$
(31)

Here and in what follows, the superscript *A* (respectively *B*) indicates that  $p_1^A$  acts on the first variable of the sector *A*, namely  $x_1$  (respectively  $y_1$ ). Each of these three summands will be estimated in terms of  $\alpha^{(1,1)}$  and of  $(N_1+N_2)^{-1}$  so as to obtain (27). The terms  $C_{V_1}$  and  $C_{V_2}$  contain only infra-species interactions, and, for this reason, their estimate is less involved; the detailed proof can be found in [12] (see also [9] for the single-component case).

To estimate  $C_{V_{12}}$  one can exploit the bosonic symmetry of  $\Psi$  and the definition of  $c_i$  to obtain the bound

$$|C_{V_{12}}| \leq \frac{N_1 N_2}{N_1 + N_2} \left| \left\langle \Psi, \left[ (V_{12})_{11} - (V_{12}^v)_1^A - (V_{12}^u)_1^B, \sum_{k=1}^{N_1} \sum_{\ell=1}^{N_2} \frac{p_k^A p_\ell^B}{N_1 N_2} \right] \Psi \right\rangle \right|.$$
(32)

At this point, one is free to insert, on both sides of the commutator, the identity

$$\mathbb{1} = (p_1^A + q_1^A)(p_1^B + q_1^B), \tag{33}$$

with p and q as in (17), (18). The insertion clearly produces 16 terms, that we can split into two groups with a self-explanatory notation

$$\Lambda := (pp, pp) + [(pq, pq) + (qp, qp)] + (qq, qq)$$
  
+ [(pq, qp) + complex conjugate] (34)

and

$$\Omega := (pp, qp) + (qp, qq) + (pp, qq) + (pp, pq) + (pq, qq) + \text{ complex conjugate.}$$
(35)

The terms (pp, pp), (qq, qq), (pq, pq) + (qp, qp) in (34) vanish identically, which can be easily checked using the fact that  $p_1^A q_1^A = 0$ ; all the others could, in principle, provide some contribution to (27). While we refer the reader to Sect. 5 in [12] for the detailed computation, we try to sketch here how each term can be handled.

Since we need to reconstruct  $\alpha^{(1,1)} = 1 - \langle \Psi, p_1^A p_1^B \Psi \rangle$  [as in (27)], we can make a clever use of every  $q_1^A \Psi$  or  $q_1^B \Psi$  in the non-vanishing terms: indeed,  $||q_1^A \Psi||^2 \leq \alpha^{(1,1)}$ . For this reason, when at least one q from (33) appears on each side of the commutator, one only has to control the operator norm of  $p_1 V_{12}(x_1 - y_1)$  and this allows to obtain the bound

$$\left| [(pq,qp) + c.c.] + [(qp,qq) + (pq,qq) + c.c] \right| \\ \leq f(t) \left( \alpha_{N_1,N_2}^{(1,1)}(t) + \frac{1}{N_1 + N_2} \right).$$
(36)

The term (pp, qq) has the correct number of q's too, but they appear on the same side, and this would not allow to extract  $||q_1^A \Psi||^2$ ; however, one q can be brought to the other side at the expense of some  $(N_1 + N_2)^{-1}$  smallness. This allows to obtain

$$\left|(pp,qq) + \text{c.c.}\right| \leq f(t) \left(\alpha_{N_1,N_2}^{(1,1)}(t) + \frac{1}{N_1 + N_2}\right).$$
 (37)

The only remaining term, (pp, qp), is the most important: in this case, only one *q* is surely not enough to re-create  $\alpha^{(1,1)}$  and thus, some cancellation is needed to close the Grönwall estimate (27). Indeed, the key fact is that

$$p_1^B V_{12}(x_1 - y_1) p_1^B = p_1^B \Big( V_{12} * |v|^2 \Big) (x_1) p_1^B.$$

This "dressing" of the true potential  $V_{12}$  allows one to get an exact cancellation with the mean-field potential and obtain

$$(pp, qp) + c.c. = 0.$$
 (38)

Collecting (36)–(38), one finally gets (27).

## 4 Proof of Theorem 2

To describe how the proof proceeds, we need to revisit more in detail the so-called "counting" method developed by Pickl. In order to get more compact expressions, we drop the subscript  $N_1, N_2$  in  $\alpha, \Psi, \mathcal{E}$ ; the reader should keep in mind that everything always depends on the two population numbers. Given  $p_1^A$  and  $q_1^A$  as in (17) and (18), we define a new family of projectors: for each  $k \in N$ , take

$$P_k^A := \left(q_1^A \dots q_k^A p_{k+1}^A \dots p_N^A\right)_{sym},\tag{39}$$

with the convention that  $P_k^A = 0$  if  $k > \mathbb{N}$  or k < 0; we remark that the symbol 'sym' in (39) denotes the mere sum (without normalisation factor) of all possible permuted versions of the considered string of projections. A perfectly analogous definition of  $P_k^B$  of course holds for the sector *B*. By definition, the range of  $P_k^A$  is the component of the Hilbert space in which exactly *k* particles of type *A* are in a

state orthogonal to *u* (recall that  $p = |u\rangle\langle u|$ ), that is to say outside of the condensate. Thus,  $||P_k^A \Psi||^2 = \langle \Psi_{N_1,N_2}, P_k \Psi_{N_1,N_2} \rangle$  is a measure of how large the component of  $\Psi_{N_1,N_2}$  is, with exactly *k* particles of type *A* outside the condensate.

Now, given a positive function  $g : \mathbb{N} \to \mathbb{R}$ , define the operator

$$\widehat{g}^{A} := \sum_{k=0}^{N_{1}} g(k) P_{k}^{A}, \tag{40}$$

and the functional

$$\alpha_{N_1,N_2,g}^{(1,0)} := \langle \Psi_{N_1,N_2}, \ \widehat{g}^A \Psi_{N_1,N_2} \rangle.$$
(41)

This amounts to assign some weight g(k) to the component of a many-body state with exactly k particles of type A outside the condensate, and then summing over k. In the same way one defines

$$\alpha_{N_1,N_2,g}^{(0,1)} := \langle \Psi_{N_1,N_2}, \, \widehat{g}^B \, \Psi_{N_1,N_2} \, \rangle. \tag{42}$$

The interest in this construction of course depends on the choice of g; it turns out that for some g's, convergence to zero of both  $\alpha_{N_1,N_2,g}^{(1,0)}$  and  $\alpha_{N_1,N_2,g}^{(0,1)}$  is equivalent to convergence in trace norm (25). This is true, for example, for the special choice of the weight function s(k) := k/N, which yields to the single-component analogous of (14).

# 4.1 The Functional $\alpha_{m,<}^{(1,0)}$

Unfortunately, the scaling in (21) is too singular to allow one to close a Grönwall argument for the weight s(k). We try to explain here all the modifications needed in order to get the machinery working. It turns out that, if one tries to perform calculations with the weight *s*, one gets

$$\left|\partial_t\langle\Psi,\,\widehat{s}^A|\Psi\rangle\right| \leq C\Big(\langle\Psi,\,\widehat{s}^A|\Psi\rangle + \langle\Psi,\,\widehat{n}^A|\Psi\rangle + o(1) + \left|\mathscr{E}(\Psi) - \mathscr{E}^{GP}(u,v)\right|\Big),$$

where  $n(k) := (k/N)^{1/2}$ . Since  $n(k) \ge s(k)$ , the summand  $\langle \Psi, \hat{n} \Psi \rangle$  cannot be bounded and the estimate cannot be closed. This would suggest, in principle, that a Grönwall estimate could be proven only by choosing as functional to control

$$\widetilde{\alpha}^{(1,0)} := \langle \Psi, \ \widehat{n}^A \ \Psi \rangle + \big| \mathscr{E}(\Psi) - \mathscr{E}^{GP}(u,v) \big|.$$
(43)

We observe that the convergence to zero of such  $\tilde{\alpha}$  would allow again to obtain the statement in trace norm (25), since (see Lemma 6.1 in [21], adaptable to the

two-component case)

$$\lim_{\substack{N_1 \to \infty \\ N_2 \to \infty}} \langle \Psi, \ \widehat{n} \ \Psi \ \rangle = 0 \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \lim_{\substack{N_1 \to \infty \\ N_2 \to \infty}} \gamma^{(1,1)}(t) = \ |u_t \otimes v_t \rangle \langle u_t \otimes v_t|.$$

The functional  $\tilde{\alpha}$  is however not efficient enough yet; the reason is that its first and second derivative, which crucially enter in computations (see again [21], Appendix A.2), are singular for k = 0. For this reason, one defines a new weight, with a less singular behavior for small k's. For some fixed  $\xi > 0$ , we define

$$m(k) := \begin{cases} \sqrt{k/N}, & \text{for } k \ge N^{1-2\xi} \\ \\ \frac{1}{2} \left( N^{-1+\xi} k + x^{-\xi} \right), & \text{else.} \end{cases}$$
(44)

With this weight, we define a new functional as

$$\alpha_{m,<}^{(1,0)} := \langle \Psi, \ \widehat{m}^A \ \Psi \rangle + \big| \mathscr{E}(\Psi) - \mathscr{E}^{GP}(u,v) \big|.$$
(45)

The vanishing of this indicator and of its corresponding  $\alpha_{m,<}^{(0,1)}$  is again equivalent to convergence in trace norm since

$$n(k) \leq m(k) \leq \max\{n(k), N^{-\xi}\}.$$

It turns out that  $\alpha_{m,<}^{(1,0)}$  and  $\alpha_{m,<}^{(0,1)}$  allow to control convergence for the softer scaling

$$V_N = N^{-1+3\beta} V(N^{\beta}(x-y)), \tag{46}$$

with  $0 < \beta < 1$ , but *not* for the true Gross-Pitaevskii scaling, corresponding to the case  $\beta = 1$ . The reason is that, for  $\beta = 1$ , an important role is played by the short-scale correlation among particles.

## 4.2 Adding Correlations

In the derivation of Gross-Pitaevskii equation, correlations are customarily accounted for (see for example [2]) by means of the solution  $f_N$  to the zero-energy scattering equation

$$\left(-\Delta_x + \frac{1}{2}V_N(x)\right)f_N(x) = 0, \quad \text{with } f(x) \to 1 \text{ for } |x| \to \infty, \quad (47)$$

where  $V_N(x) = N^2 V(Nx)$ . In the setting we are considering, it is however more efficient [21] to consider a slight modification of (47). Recalling that we defined  $a_k$  as the scattering length of  $V_k$  for  $k \in \{1, 2, 12\}$ , we can define, for given constants  $C_i$ ,  $C_{12}$ , the new potentials

$$W_{j,\beta}(x) := \begin{cases} \frac{4\pi a_j}{N_j} N_j^{3\beta}, & \text{for } N_j^{-\beta} < x < C_j N_j^{-\beta} \\ 0 & \text{else,} \end{cases}$$
(48)

with  $j \in \{1, 2\}$ , and

$$W_{12,\beta}(x) := \begin{cases} 4\pi a_{12}(N_1 + N_2)^{3\beta - 1}, & (N_1 + N_2)^{-\beta} < x < C_{12}(N_1 + N_2)^{-\beta} \\ 0 & \text{else.} \end{cases}$$
(49)

One can show that there exist  $C_j$ ,  $C_{12}$  such that the scattering lengths of  $N_j^2 V(N_j^\beta \cdot) - W_{j,\beta}(\cdot)$  and of  $(N_1+N_2)^2 V((N_1+N_2)^\beta \cdot) - W_{12,\beta}(\cdot)$  are zero (see Lemma 5.1 in [21] or Lemma 5.5 in [8] for a more detailed proof). One can now define two functions  $f_{j,\beta}$  and  $g_{j,\beta}$ , j = 1, 2, by means of a modified zero-energy scattering equation, namely

$$\left(-\Delta_x + \frac{1}{2}\left(V_{j,N_j}(x) - W_{j,\beta}(x)\right)\right)f_{j,\beta}(x) = 0, \quad \text{with } f_{j,\beta}(x) \to 1 \text{ for } |x| \to \infty,$$
(50)

and

$$g_{j,\beta} := 1 - f_{j,\beta},\tag{51}$$

with the analogous definition for  $f_{12,\beta}$  and  $g_{12,\beta}$ . By insertion of the new potential, it turns that out the norms of  $g_{j,\beta}$  have a better behavior in  $(N_1 + N_2)$  than they would have without the additional potential.

Now, by construction, the key properties of  $W_{i,\beta}$  are

$$||W_{j,\beta}||_1 \sim O(N_1 + N_2)^{-1}$$
, and  $||W_{j,\beta}||_{\infty} \sim O(N_1 + N_2)^{-1+3\beta}$ 

and the same holds for  $W_{12,\beta}$ . For this reason, replacing  $V_{j_N,j}$  (respectively  $V_{12,N_1+N_2}$ ) in the proof with  $W_{j,\beta}$  (respectively  $W_{12,\beta}$ ) one would deal with a potential with a much less peaked scaling; of course the price to pay is the appearance of their difference, but this can be dealt with by adding a further term to the functional one aims to control.
**Definition 1** ( $\alpha_m^{(1,0)}$  and  $\alpha_m^{(0,1)}$ ) We define *the* indicators of convergence for the Hamiltonian (21) as

$$\alpha_m^{(1,0)} := \alpha_{m,<}^{(1,0)} - N_1(N_1 - 1) \operatorname{Re} \langle \Psi, g_{1,\beta}(x_1 - x_2) R_{(12)}^A \psi \rangle - N_1 N_2 \operatorname{Re} \langle \Psi, g_{12,\beta}(x_1 - y_1) R_{(12)}^A \psi \rangle$$
(52)

and

$$\alpha_m^{(0,1)} := \alpha_{m,<}^{(0,1)} - N_2(N_2 - 1) \operatorname{Re} \langle \Psi, g_{2,\beta}(y_1 - y_2) R_{(12)}^B \psi \rangle - N_1 N_2 \operatorname{Re} \langle \Psi, g_{12,\beta}(x_1 - y_1) R_{(12)}^B \psi \rangle,$$
(53)

where  $R_{(12)} := p_1 p_2 (\widehat{m} - \widehat{m}_2) + (p_1 q_2 + q_1 p_2) (\widehat{m} - \widehat{m}_1)$ , having used the shorthand notation  $\widehat{m}_j := \sum_{k=0}^N m(k) P_{k+j}$ .

*Remark* 6 The terms  $\hat{m} - \hat{m}_1$  and  $\hat{m} - \hat{m}_2$  are bounded in operator norm by  $\sup_k |m'(k)|$ . This is the reason why we had to define m(k) by cutting  $(k/N)^{1/2}$  for small k's.

*Remark* 7 The terms subtracted from  $\alpha_{m,<}^{(1,0)}$  and  $\alpha_{m,<}^{(0,1)}$  in Definition 1 are real but with no definite sign. However, one can easily prove a priori estimates for them; for example

$$N_1(N_1 - 1) \operatorname{Re} \langle \Psi, g_{1,\beta}(x_1 - x_2) R^A_{(12)} \psi \rangle \le N^{-\eta},$$
(54)

for some  $\eta > 0$ , and the same holds for the other four terms. This helps in closing the Grönwall estimate even though the considered functionals have no definite sign.

By repeating the computations in Appendix A.2 in [21] with minor changes, one can prove the estimate

$$\frac{d}{dt}\left(\alpha_m^{(0,1)}(t) + \alpha_m^{(1,0)}(t)\right) \leq f(t)\left(\alpha_{m,<}^{(1,0)}(t) + \alpha_{m,<}^{(0,1)}(t) + (N_1 + N_2)^{-\eta}\right).$$

Now, by using the a priori estimate (54) and Grönwall Lemma, this is enough to get

$$\alpha_{m,<}^{(1,0)}(t) + \alpha_{m,<}^{(0,1)}(t) \leq e^{\int_0^t f(s) ds} \Big( \alpha_m^{(0,1)}(0) + \alpha_m^{(1,0)}(0) + N^{-\eta} \Big).$$

Since  $\alpha_m^{(0,1)}(0) + \alpha_m^{(1,0)}(0)$  is converging to zero by Assumption (B3) and by Eq. (16) for t = 0, we get the thesis by using again Eq. (16) for t > 0.

### 5 Spinor Condensates and Other Multi-Component Models

As already remarked, the study of multi-component condensates is a very popular topic in theoretical and experimental physics; we would like to present in this section an account of some highly studied models, different from the mixture gas considered in this paper, that fall under the name of multi-component condensates.

In Sect. 2 we mentioned that a well-known example of multi-component condensate is a gas of spin bosons. Consider for example a system of atoms allowed to populate different hyperfine states; it is often assumed (and easily realizable with modern experimental techniques), that an external field is tuned in such a way that only two hyperfine levels are coupled and enter the effective Hamiltonian. When this is the case, then one can model the system by means of an auxiliary spin-1/2 bosonic theory. These systems are often referred to as *pseudo-spinor condensates*, since a proper spin-spin interaction is not present; nonetheless, the situation is already non trivial since one could even account for transitions between the two hyperfine levels: this can be realized for example by a (possibly time-dependent) external magnetic field. In this setting, the effective equations for the spin-1/2 case are (see for example [22, Sect. 21.3])

$$i\partial_t u_t = -\Delta u_t + 8\pi a (|u_t|^2 + |v_t|^2) u_t + B(t) v_t$$
  

$$i\partial_t v_t = -\Delta v_t + 8\pi a (|u_t|^2 + |v_t|^2) v_t + B(t) u_t,$$
(55)

where *a* is the scattering length of the interaction and B(t) is the magnetic field; the linear coupling provided by B(t) is called *Rabi coupling*. We refer the reader to [13] for the derivation of (55) from the many-body dynamics of a pseudo-spinor condensate.

An even more interesting situation is the presence of spin-spin interaction. In the relevant case of a gas of alkali atoms, one should in principle take into account the presence of different values of hyperfine spin (e.g. F = 1 and F = 2); however, due to energetic arguments, a good low-energy approximation for the interaction can be obtained by completely neglecting the presence of one of the two hyperfine level, say F = 2. Under this approximation, it turns out that a general interaction Hamiltonian that preserves the hyperfine spin of the individual atoms and is rotationally invariant in the hyperfine spin space has the form

$$\delta(x_i - x_j) \big( c_0 + c_1 \mathbf{S_i} \cdot \mathbf{S_j} \big), \tag{56}$$

where  $S_i$  is the vector of spin-1 operators for the particle *i*. This not only provides population transfer, but it also correlates particles and for this reason the effect must be present on the non-linearity too. The factor  $\delta(x_i - x_j)$  can be modeled by some Gross-Pitaevskii potential with scattering length  $c_1$ , and thus we can write the total

spin-spin interaction term for a *spinor condensate* (neglecting the irrelevant  $c_0$ ) as

$$N^{2} \sum_{i < j} V(N(x_{i} - x_{j})) \mathbf{S}_{i} \cdot \mathbf{S}_{j}.$$
(57)

For the spin-1 case, this produces the equations [7, 17]

$$i\partial_{t}u_{t} = -\Delta u_{t} + 8\pi a \Big( |v_{t}|^{2}u_{t} + \overline{w}_{t}v_{t}^{2} + |u_{t}|^{2}u_{t} - |w_{t}|^{2}u_{t} \Big)$$
  

$$i\partial_{t}v_{t} = -\Delta v_{t} + 8\pi a \Big( |u_{t}|^{2}v_{t} + 2\overline{v}_{t}w_{t}u_{t} + |w_{t}|^{2}v_{t} \Big)$$
  

$$i\partial_{t}w_{t} = -\Delta w_{t} + 8\pi a \Big( |v_{t}|^{2}w_{t} + \overline{u}_{t}v_{t}^{2} - |u_{t}|^{2}w_{t} + |w_{t}|^{2}w_{t} \Big),$$
  
(58)

where again a is the scattering length of V. The rigorous derivation of the system (58) from many-body quantum dynamics is undoubtedly one of the next frontiers in the mathematics of the Bose gas.

Acknowledgements Partially supported by the 2014–2017 MIUR-FIR grant "Cond-Math: Condensed Matter and Mathematical Physics", code RBFR13WAET and by Gruppo Nazionale per la Fisica Matematica (GNFM-INdAM).

### References

- 1. I. Anapolitanos, M. Hott, D. Hundertmark, Derivation of the Hartree equation for compound Bose gases in the mean field limit (2017). arXiv:1702.00827
- N. Benedikter, G. de Oliveira, B. Schlein, Quantitative derivation of the Gross-Pitaevskii equation. Commun. Pure Appl. Math. 68(8), 1399–1482 (2014)
- N. Benedikter, M. Porta, B. Schlein, *Effective Evolution Equations from Quantum Dynamics*. Springer Briefs in Mathematical Physics, vol. 7 (Springer, Cham, 2016)
- 4. L. Erdős, B. Schlein, H. Yau, Derivation of the cubic non-linear Schrödinger equation from quantum dynamics of many-body systems. Invent. Math. **167**, 515–614 (2007)
- L. Erdős, B. Schlein, H. Yau, Derivation of the Gross-Pitaevskii equation for the dynamics of Bose-Einstein condensate. Ann. Math. 172(1), 291–370 (2010)
- 6. T. Heil, Mean-field limits in bosonic systems (2012). http://www.mathematik.uni-muenchen. de/~bohmmech/theses/Heil\_Thomas\_MA.pdf
- 7. T. Ho, Spinor Bose condensates in optical traps. Phys. Rev. Lett. 81(4), 742–745 (1998)
- 8. M. Jeblick, N. Leopold, P. Pickl, Derivation of the time dependent Gross-Pitaevskii equation in two dimensions (2016). arXiv:1608.05326
- A. Knowles, P. Pickl, A. Knowles, P. Pickl, Mean-field dynamics: singular potentials and rate of convergence. Commun. Math. Phys. 298(1), 101–138 (2010)
- A. Michelangeli, Role of scaling limits in the rigorous analysis of Bose-Einstein condensation. J. Math. Phys. 48, 102102 (2007)
- A. Michelangeli, Equivalent definitions of asymptotic 100% BEC. Nuovo Cimento Sec. B 123, 181–192 (2008)
- 12. A. Michelangeli, A. Olgiati, Mean-field quantum dynamics for a mixture of Bose-Einstein condensates. Anal. Math. Phys. (2016). doi: 10.1007/s13324-016-0147-3

- A. Michelangeli, A. Olgiati, Gross-Pitaevskii non-linear dynamics for pseudo-spinor condensates. J. Nonlinear Math. Phys. 24(3), 426–464 (2017). doi:10.1080/14029251.2017.1346348. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/14029251.2017.1346348
- D. Mitrouskas, S. Petrat, P. Pickl, Bogoliubov corrections and trace norm convergence for the Hartree dynamics (2016). arXiv:1609.06264
- G. Modugno, M. Modugno, F. Riboli, G. Roati, M. Inguscio, Two atomic species superfluid. Phys. Rev. Lett. 89(19), 190404 (2002)
- C.J. Myatt, E.A. Burt, R.W. Ghrist, E.A. Cornell, C.E. Wieman, Production of two-overlapping Bose-Einstein condensates by sympathetic cooling. Phys. Rev. Lett. 78(4), 586–589 (1997)
- T. Ohmi, K. Machida, Bose-Einstein condensation with internal degrees of freedom in alkali atom gases. J. Phys. Soc. Jpn. 67, 1822–1825 (1998)
- A.Olgiati, Remarks on the derivation of Gross-Pitaevskii equation with magnetic Laplacian. *Advances in Quantum Mechanics*, vol. 18. Springer INdAM Series (2017), pp. 67–74
- 19. P. Pickl, Derivation of the time dependent Gross-Pitaevskii equation without positivity condition on the interaction. J. Stat. Phys. **140**(1), 76–89 (2010)
- 20. P. Pickl, A simple derivation of mean field limits for quantum systems. Lett. Math. Phys. **97**(2), 151–164 (2011)
- P. Pickl, Derivation of the time dependent Gross-Pitaevskii equation with external fields. Rev. Math. Phys. 27(1), 1550003 (2015)
- 22. L. Pitaevskii, S. Stringari, *Bose-Einstein Condensation and Superfluidity*. International Series of Monographs on Physics (Oxford University Press, Oxford, 2016)
- D.M. Stamper-Kurn, M.R. Andrews, A.P. Chikkatur, S. Inouye, H.J. Miesner, J. Stenger, W. Ketterle, Optical confinement of a Bose-Einstein condensate. Phys. Rev. Lett. 80(10), 2027– 2030 (1998)

# **Remarks on the Derivation of Gross-Pitaevskii Equation with Magnetic Laplacian**

### Alessandro Olgiati

**Abstract** The effective dynamics for a Bose-Einstein condensate in the regime of high dilution and subject to an external magnetic field is governed by a magnetic Gross-Pitaevskii equation. We elucidate the steps needed to adapt to the magnetic case the proof of the derivation of the Gross-Pitaevskii equation within the "projection counting" scheme.

**Keywords** Bose-Einstein condensate • Effective evolution equations • Gross-Pitaevskii scaling • Magnetic Gross-Pitaevskii equation • Magnetic Laplacian • Magnetic Sobolev space • Magnetic vector potential • Many-body quantum dynamics • Non-linear cubic Schrödinger equation • Reduced density matrix

### 1 Introduction and Result

The purpose of this note is to provide explicitly the non trivial adaptations of the known result [9] which are needed to prove the derivation of the so-called time-dependent magnetic Gross-Pitaevskii equation from the many-body Schrödinger dynamics of a dilute gas of identical bosons subject to an external magnetic field. The presentation is therefore somewhat technical; nonetheless, since, to our knowledge, no explicit details were so far available in the literature, we propose it as a reference for the increasingly interesting topic of the effective many-body quantum dynamics with magnetic field.

The rigorous derivation of the Gross-Pitaevskii equation has been over the last two decades a central topic in the mathematics of the Bose gas; in its essence, it is a problem of persistence of condensation, or propagation of chaos, in the following sense. Suppose that the initial datum of a three dimensional Bose gas displays condensation onto a one-body state  $u_0 \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ , namely

$$\lim_{N\to\infty}\gamma_{N,0}^{(1)}=|u_0\rangle\langle u_0|,$$

A. Olgiati (🖂)

SISSA - International School for Advanced Studies, via Bonomea 265 Trieste, Italy e-mail: aolgiati@sissa.it

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2017

A. Michelangeli, G. Dell'Antonio (eds.), Advances in Quantum Mechanics, Springer INdAM Series 18, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-58904-6\_15

where  $\gamma_{N,0}^{(1)}$  is the one-particle reduced density matrix associated to the initial datum  $\psi_{N,0}$ . Then condensation persists up to some time *T* if

$$\lim_{N\to\infty}\gamma_{N,t}^{(1)}=|u_t\rangle\langle u_t|,\quad\forall t\in[0,T],$$

for a condensate wave-function  $u \equiv u_t(x)$  solution to the Gross-Pitaevskii equation

$$i\partial_t u = -\Delta u + 8\pi a |u|^2 u$$

with initial datum  $u_0$ . Here *a* is the scattering length of the pair interaction among the particles of the many-body system.

The first complete proof of a result of this type is due to Erdős, Schlein, and Yau in 2006 (see [3, 4]); it was later reproduced with different methods by Pickl [9], by Benedikter, de Oliveira, and Schlein [1], and by Brennecke and Schlein [2]. All such derivations deal with a system of N interacting bosons in the Gross-Pitaevskii scaling limit with non-relativistic kinetic operator given by  $-\Delta$ ; this corresponds to a many-body Hamiltonian of the form

$$H_N = \sum_{i=1}^{N} (-\Delta_i) + \sum_{i < j} N^2 V(N(x_i - x_j)).$$

Such methods can be adapted if the one-body Laplacian is modified by the insertion of an external (confining) potential. Analogously, it is of great relevance and interest to insert an external magnetic field which the charged particles are coupled with; mathematically this is modeled, with minimal coupling, by replacing the kinetic part in  $H_N$  with its magnetic counterpart

$$\sum_{i=1}^{N} (-\Delta_{\mathbf{A}})_i := \sum_{i=1}^{N} (-i\nabla_i + \mathbf{A}(x_i))^2,$$

where  $\mathbf{A} : \mathbb{R}^3 \to \mathbb{R}^3$  is a vector potential. This would in turn imply the effective dynamics to be ruled by the magnetic Gross-Pitaevskii equation

$$i\partial_t u_t = -\Delta_{\mathbf{A}} u_t + 8\pi a |u_t|^2 u_t. \tag{1}$$

The fact that an external magnetic field can be accommodated into the many-body dynamics, and that the one-body marginal can be controlled analogously to what is done when the one-particle operator is simply the negative Laplacian, is to be expected and indeed is mentioned explicitly in [9, Remark 2.1]. However, such an adaptation is not as straightforward as the analogous insertion of an external trapping potential: the magnetic Laplacian is formally the sum of the ordinary Laplacian plus a derivative term that is linear in the magnetic potential and a further

quadratic term in the magnetic potential itself; this more complicated structure requires an a priori not immediate adjustment of a number of crucial estimates and steps in the main proof. The related (simpler) problem of derivation of the magnetic Hartree equation from many-body quantum dynamics is dealt with in [7].

Before stating the result, let us define the magnetic Sobolev space  $H_A^k$  as the set of  $u \in L^2$  such that

$$\|u\|_{\mathbf{H}^k_{\mathbf{A}}}^2 = \sum_{0 \le j \le k} \|(\nabla - \mathbf{i}\mathbf{A})^j u\|_2^2 < +\infty.$$

We will consider the magnetic Hamiltonian

$$H_{N,\mathbf{A}} := -\sum_{i=1}^{N} \Delta_{i,\mathbf{A}} + \sum_{i < j} N^2 V(N(x_i - x_j)),$$

as the generator of the linear many-body Schrödinger dynamics. Moreover, we define the two **A**-dependent energy functionals

$$\mathscr{E}_{N}(\psi_{N}) := \frac{1}{N} \langle \psi_{N}, H_{N,\mathbf{A}} \psi_{N} \rangle$$
<sup>(2)</sup>

and

$$\mathscr{E}^{GP}(u) := \langle u, -\Delta_{\mathbf{A}}u \rangle + 4\pi a \langle u, |u|^2 u \rangle.$$
(3)

They represent the energies conserved along the flow of, respectively, the manybody Schrödinger equation and the magnetic Gross-Pitaevskii equation. We can now state the result as follows.

**Theorem 1** Let V be a positive,  $L^{\infty}$ , spherically symmetric, and compactly supported function on  $\mathbb{R}^3$ , and let  $\mathbf{A} \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{R}^3)$  be chosen such that  $\nabla \cdot \mathbf{A} = 0$ . Suppose that the sequence of initial many-body states  $\{\psi_{N,0}\}_{N \in \mathbb{N}}$  is condensed in the sense of reduced densities, i.e.,

$$\lim_{N\to\infty}\gamma_{N,0}^{(1)}=|u_0\rangle\langle u_0|$$

on a condensate wave-function  $u_0 \in H^2_A$  (here  $\gamma_{N,0}^{(1)}$  is the one-particle reduced density matrix of  $\psi_{N,0}$ ). Suppose in addition that

$$\lim_{N\to\infty}\mathscr{E}_N(\psi_{N,0})=\mathscr{E}^{GP}(u_0)$$

Then one has condensation for all t > 0, that is

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \gamma_{N,t}^{(1)} = |u_t\rangle \langle u_t| \tag{4}$$

on a state  $u_t$  that solves the magnetic Gross-Pitaevskii equation (1) with initial datum  $u_0$ . Here a is the scattering length of the interaction V.

We remark that our hypotheses on **A** certainly ensures that  $\|\cdot\|_{H^k_A}$  is equivalent to the standard Sobolev norm  $\|\cdot\|_{H^k}$  for  $k \in \{0, 1, 2\}$ ; indeed, for any  $f \in H^2$ , one has

$$\|\Delta_{\mathbf{A}}f\|_{2} \lesssim \|\Delta f\|_{2} + \|\mathbf{A}\|_{\infty} \|\nabla f\|_{2} + \|\mathbf{A}\|_{\infty}^{2} \|f\|_{2} \lesssim \|f\|_{\mathbf{H}^{2}}$$

and, for any  $f \in H^2_A$ ,

$$\|\Delta f\|_2 \lesssim \|\Delta_{\mathbf{A}} f\|_2 + \|\mathbf{A}\|_{\infty} \|\nabla f\|_2 + \|\mathbf{A}\|_{\infty}^2 \|f\|_2.$$

Since  $\|\nabla f\|_2 \lesssim \epsilon \|\Delta f\|_2 + 1/\epsilon \|f\|_2$  for any  $\epsilon > 0$ , by choosing  $\epsilon > 0$  small enough one gets  $\|f\|_{H^2} \lesssim \|f\|_{H^2_A}$ . The cases k = 0 and k = 1 follow trivially.

We also stress that, again due to the hypotheses  $\mathbf{A} \in W^{1,\infty}$  and  $\nabla \cdot \mathbf{A} = 0$ , the global existence of solution to the magnetic Gross-Pitaevskii equation (1) in the magnetic Sobolev spaces up to k = 2 is granted due to standard arguments. It would be of great interest to find a larger class of vector potentials such that a result similar to Theorem 1 holds: for example, a constant magnetic field  $\mathbf{B} = \nabla \times \mathbf{A}$  is not attainable by  $\mathbf{A} \in W^{1,\infty}$ .

An interesting future outlook is the derivation of the magnetic Gross-Pitaevskii equation for time-dependent magnetic potentials  $\mathbf{A}(t)$ . Since the treatment in [9] already deals with time-dependent external (electric) fields, it is expected that such result could be extended to cover a suitable class of  $\mathbf{A}(t)$  having enough space and time regularity.

### 2 Proof of Theorem 1

Theorem 1 is proven with the same strategy as Theorem 2.1 in [9]. The crucial quantity one wants to control is

$$\alpha_{N,t} := \langle \psi_N, \widehat{m}\psi_N \rangle + |\mathscr{E}_N(\psi_N) - \mathscr{E}^{GP}(u)| - N(N-1)\operatorname{Re}\langle \psi_N, g_\beta(x_1 - x_2)\widehat{r}\psi_N \rangle.$$
(5)

For the definition of  $\hat{m}$  and  $\hat{r}$  in (5) see [9, Def. 6.1 and Def. 6.2]. The definition of  $g_{\beta}$  is recalled in eq. (10), since its role is slightly modified by the presence of **A**. The core of the proof is to look for an estimate of the form

$$\partial_t \alpha_{N,t} \le C(t) \Big( \langle \psi_N, \widehat{m} \psi_N \rangle + |\mathscr{E}_N(\psi_N) - \mathscr{E}^{GP}(u)| + N^{-\eta} \Big)$$
(6)

for some  $\eta > 0$ . By Grönwall Lemma, this is enough to get (4) (see [9, Sect. 6] for details). The factor C(t), which varies from step to step during the proof, represents

a function depending on the magnetic Sobolev norms  $\|\psi_{N,t}\|_{H^1_A}$  and  $\|u_t\|_{H^2_A}$ ; for this reason, it is in general exponentially growing in time, but not *N*-dependent.

Computing the time-derivative of  $\alpha_{N,t}$  one gets

$$\partial_t \alpha_{N,t} \le \gamma_b + \gamma_c + \gamma_d + \gamma_e + \gamma_f + \gamma_l, \tag{7}$$

where the terms  $\gamma_j$ ,  $j \in \{b, c, d, e, f\}$  are defined in [5, Def. 6.6] and [9, Def. 6.3], while the new summand

$$\gamma_l := N^2 \left| \langle \psi_N, \, \nabla_{x_1} g_\beta(x_1 - x_2) \, \mathbf{A}(x_1) \widehat{r} \, \psi_N \rangle \right| \tag{8}$$

emerges in our case due to the presence of **A**; let us remark that for us  $\gamma_a = 0$  since we are not considering external traps.

In [9, Appendix A.2] it is shown in detail how  $\gamma_j$ ,  $j \in \{b, c, d, e, f\}$  (see [5, Sect. 6.4] for the estimate of  $\gamma_f$ ) can be bounded in terms of  $\langle \psi_N, \widehat{m}\psi_N \rangle$ ,  $|\mathscr{E}_N(\psi_N) - \mathscr{E}^{GP}(u)|$  and  $N^{-\eta}$ , in order to obtain (6). We report in what follows the main adaptations needed in the magnetic case for the treatment presented in [9, Appendix A.2], plus the estimate of the additional term  $\gamma_l$ .

### 2.1 Cancellation of the Kinetic Part

A remarkable feature of the counting method we are considering here (introduced in [6, 8]) is that the single-particle terms in  $H_N$  (among them the kinetic part) get canceled exactly when computing  $\partial_t \alpha_{N,t}$ ; in [9], this happens in Lemma 6.2 and it occurs in the case of  $-\Delta_A$  as well. More precisely, when computing  $\partial_t \langle \psi_N, \hat{m}\psi_N \rangle$ , one has

$$\partial_t \langle \psi_N, \widehat{m} \psi_N \rangle = \mathbf{i} \Big\langle \psi_N, \Big[ H_{N,\mathbf{A}} - \sum_{i=1}^N (-\Delta_{\mathbf{A},x_i} + 8\pi a |u|_i^2), \widehat{m} \Big] \psi_N \Big\rangle,$$

and one easily sees that the magnetic Laplacians get exactly canceled. This cancellation is the reason why, in the less involved mean-field case considered in [6], not much needs be done to deal with magnetic Laplacians. Apart from technical assumptions, all the proof proceeds in the same way since  $-\Delta_A$  does not play a role. In the Gross-Pitaevskii regime however, even though the cancellation takes place and the kinetic part does not have to be directly estimated, nonetheless  $-\Delta_A$  still plays a role along the proof through the emergence of the energy difference  $|\mathscr{E}_N(\psi_N) - \mathscr{E}^{GP}(u)|$ .

# 2.2 Cancellation of $V_N - W_\beta$

In analogy to the other known derivations of the Gross-Pitaevskii equation, one needs to include in the treatment a function displaying some short-scale structure that allows one to weaken the strong singularity of the interaction term  $N^2V(N\cdot)$ . This is done by means of the solution  $f_\beta$  to the zero-energy scattering problem relative to the modified potential  $V_N - W_\beta$ , where  $W_\beta$  is the less singular potential introduced in [9, Sect. 5] so as to make  $V_N - W_\beta$  have zero scattering length.  $f_\beta$  is thus the solution to

$$\left(-\Delta + \frac{1}{2}(V_N - W_\beta)\right)f_\beta = 0, \tag{9}$$

with  $f_{\beta} \to 1$  for  $|x| \to \infty$ . The function  $g_{\beta}$  that appears in (5) is defined as

$$g_{\beta} := 1 - f_{\beta}. \tag{10}$$

As explained in [9, Sect. 6.2], the function  $g_{\beta}$  plays a crucial role in the replacement of the strong potential  $V_N$ , which is of order  $N^2$  at short distances, with the softer  $W_{\beta}$ , which is instead of order  $N^{3\beta-1}$ ; this is of course at the expense of the appearance of their difference, but this can be shown to disappear exactly modulo terms that can be estimated. Performing all calculations for  $\partial_t \alpha_{N,t}$  in the magnetic case, one gets as already mentioned the terms  $\gamma_b$  to  $\gamma_f$  as appearing in [9, Def. 6.3] and [5, Def. 6.6]; however, when computing  $[H_N, g_\beta(x_1 - x_2)]$  as one can find after [9, Eq. 6.17], one gets

$$[H_N, g_\beta(x_1 - x_2)] = [\Delta_{\mathbf{A}, x_1} + \Delta_{\mathbf{A}, x_2}, f_\beta(x_1 - x_2)]$$
  
=  $(V_N - W_\beta) f_\beta(x_1 - x_2) - 2(\nabla_{x_1} g_\beta(x_1 - x_2)) \nabla_{x_1}$   
 $- 2(\nabla_{x_2} g_\beta(x_1 - x_2)) \nabla_{x_2} - 2\mathbf{i} \mathbf{A}(x_1) (\nabla_{x_1} g_\beta(x_1 - x_2))$   
 $- 2\mathbf{i} \mathbf{A}(x_2) (\nabla_{x_2} g_\beta(x_1 - x_2)),$  (11)

having used  $\nabla \cdot \mathbf{A} = 0$  and (9). The terms containing  $(\nabla g_{\beta})\nabla$  are present in [9] too, and they provide the term  $\gamma_c$ . The terms containing  $\mathbf{A}$  were instead not present in the purely kinetic case, and they exactly correspond to  $\gamma_l$ .

### 2.3 Adapting the Estimates

To get the desired estimate (6) one has to treat separately  $\gamma_b$ ,  $\gamma_c$ ,  $\gamma_d$ ,  $\gamma_e$ ,  $\gamma_f$ ,  $\gamma_l$ . The calculations proceed exactly as in [9, Appendix A.2], with some modifications we describe here.

### **2.3.1** Insertion of $h_{\beta_1,\beta}$

Lemma A.4 in [9] is used to prove the bound for  $\gamma_b$  and in its proof (to treat the term of type III for small  $\beta$  and of type I, II and III for arbitrary  $\beta$ ) one replaces  $V_{\beta}$  with  $U_{\beta_1,\beta} + \Delta h_{\beta_1,\beta}$ ; for example, one has (see [9, proof of Lemma A.4 (3), for  $\beta$  small])

$$N^{2} |\langle \psi_{N}, q_{1}p_{2}V_{\beta}(x_{1}-x_{2})\widehat{m}q_{1}q_{2}\psi_{N}\rangle| \leq N^{2} |\langle \psi_{N}, q_{1}p_{2}U_{0,\beta}(x_{1}-x_{2})\widehat{m}q_{1}q_{2}\psi_{N}\rangle| + N^{2} |\langle \psi_{N}, q_{1}p_{2}(\varDelta_{1}h_{0,\beta}(x_{1}-x_{2}))\widehat{m}q_{1}q_{2}\psi_{N}\rangle|$$

The first summand can be bounded easily, since  $U_{0,\beta}$  is less singular than  $V_{\beta}$ . To treat the second summand, the strategy is then to integrate by parts  $\Delta h_{\beta_1,\beta}$  once or twice and then to manipulate the outcome in order to obtain the Sobolev norms of  $\Psi_{N,t}$  or  $u_t$ . This procedure can be adapted to the magnetic case since one can use the trivial relation

$$\nabla = \nabla_{\mathbf{A}} + \mathbf{i}\mathbf{A},$$

which allows to get a magnetic gradient at the expense of a  $L^{\infty}$ -bounded term. This allows to bound the second summand by

$$N^{2} \left| \left\langle \nabla_{1,\mathbf{A}} q_{1} p_{2} \psi_{N}, \left( \nabla_{1} h_{0,\beta} (x_{1} - x_{2}) \right) \widehat{m} q_{1} q_{2} \psi_{N} \right\rangle \right|$$

$$\tag{12}$$

$$+ N^{2} \left| \left\langle \psi_{N}, q_{1} p_{2} (\nabla_{1} h_{0,\beta} (x_{1} - x_{2})) \nabla_{1,\mathbf{A}} \widehat{m} q_{1} q_{2} \psi_{N} \right\rangle \right|$$

$$\tag{13}$$

$$+ N^{2} |\langle \psi_{N}, q_{1}p_{2}\mathbf{A}(x_{1})(\nabla_{1}h_{0,\beta}(x_{1}-x_{2}))\widehat{m}q_{1}q_{2}\psi_{N}\rangle|.$$

$$(14)$$

At this point one can repeat the computations performed in [9] to bound the terms (A.14)–(A.17), the only difference being that  $\nabla_A$  will produce magnetic norms in the estimates of (12) and (13); (14) is even less singular, since it contains only one derivative, and it can again be bounded by repeating the bounds for [9, Eqs. A.14–A.17].

### 2.3.2 Magnetic Norms

The Sobolev norms  $\|\psi_{N,t}\|_{\mathrm{H}^{1}}$  or  $\|u_{t}\|_{\mathrm{H}^{k}}$  with k = 1, 2 emerge frequently along the proof, not only due to the integration by parts of  $\Delta h_{\beta_{1},\beta}$ , but also typically by a Sobolev embedding argument (see e.g. [9, Eqs. A.37 and A.15]), or due to [9, Prop. A.3]. While in the non-magnetic case, such terms are bounded by some *N*-independent function of time, in the case of  $\mathbf{A} \neq 0$  one needs to use the inequality  $\|\cdot\|_{\mathrm{H}^{k}} \leq C \|\cdot\|_{\mathrm{H}^{k}_{\mathrm{A}}}$  granted by the equivalence of the two norms for k = 1, 2. Then, by general facts about magnetic Schrödinger equations, the two norms  $\|\psi_{N,t}\|_{\mathrm{H}^{1}_{\mathrm{A}}}$  and  $\|u_{t}\|_{\mathrm{H}^{1}_{\mathrm{A}}}$  are uniformly bounded in time. The magnetic Sobolev norm  $\|\cdot\|_{\mathrm{H}^{2}_{\mathrm{A}}}$  is instead

not a priori bounded, but the  $W^{1,\infty}$ -boundedness of A allows to get

$$\|u_t\|_{\mathrm{H}^2_{\mathbf{A}}} \leq De^{K|t|},$$

in the same way as for the non-magnetic case. The norm  $||u_t||_{\infty}$  often appears as well, typically every time [9, Lemma 4.1 (5)] is used;  $||u_t||_{\infty}$  can of course be bounded by  $||u_t||_{H^2}$  by standard embedding arguments, and hence by  $C ||u_t||_{H^2_A}$  again by equivalence of norms.

### 2.3.3 Lemma 5.2 of [9]

Lemma 5.2 in [9] allows one to bound a part of the kinetic energy by means of the functional  $\alpha_{N,t}$  and  $N^{-\eta}$ ; it plays a role in the estimate of the term of type III in Lemma A.4 of [9] and in the bound of  $\gamma_d$  [9, pp. 39–41]. It still holds in our case, with the substitution  $\nabla \mapsto \nabla_A$  and with the appropriate magnetic energy functionals defined in (2) and (3). In the proof (see [9, Appendix A.3]), one has exactly all the magnetic analogous of the terms [9, Eqs. A.53–A.60]. The term corresponding to [9, Eq. A.54] can be bounded by

$$\begin{split} |\langle \nabla_{1,\mathbf{A}}q_{1}\psi_{N}, \mathbb{I}_{\mathscr{A}_{1}}\nabla_{1,\mathbf{A}}p_{1}\psi_{N}\rangle| &\leq |\langle \nabla_{1,\mathbf{A}}q_{1}\psi_{N}, \nabla_{1,\mathbf{A}}p_{1}\psi_{N}\rangle| \\ &+ |\langle \nabla_{1,\mathbf{A}}q_{1}\psi_{N}, \mathbb{I}_{\widetilde{\mathscr{A}_{1}}}\nabla_{1,\mathbf{A}}p_{1}\psi_{N}\rangle| \\ &\leq |\langle \widehat{n}^{-1/2}q_{1}\psi_{N}, \Delta_{1,\mathbf{A}}\widehat{n}_{1}^{1/2}p_{1}\psi_{N}\rangle| \\ &+ \|\mathbb{I}_{\widetilde{\mathscr{A}_{1}}}\|_{op}\|\nabla_{1,\mathbf{A}}q_{1}\psi_{N}\|\|\nabla_{1,\mathbf{A}}p_{1}\|_{op} \\ &\leq C(t)\Big(\langle \psi_{N}, \widehat{n}\psi_{N}\rangle + N^{-\eta}\Big), \end{split}$$

having used [9, Lemma 4.1 (3)] as well as the fact that  $\hat{n}^{-1/2}$  is well defined on Ran  $q_1$  for the second step and [9, Prop. A.1 (2)] for the third one. Here  $\mathbb{I}_{\mathscr{A}_1}$  is the characteristic function of the set  $\mathscr{A}_1$  defined in [9, Def. 5.2], while C(t) is a function depending on the magnetic Sobolev norm  $||u_t||_{\mathrm{H}^3_A}$ . With similar arguments one can bound the magnetic analogous of [9, Eq. A.59], i.e.,

$$\|\mathbb{I}_{\mathscr{A}_1}\nabla_{1,\mathbf{A}}p_1\psi_N\|^2-\|\nabla_{1,\mathbf{A}}u\|^2,$$

and this is enough to get the thesis of [9, Lemma 5.2] (the interaction terms are of course unmodified by the insertion of **A**).

#### **2.3.4** Bound on $\gamma_l$

We show here how the term  $\gamma_l$  defined in (8) can be estimated in order to get (6).

**Lemma 1** There exists  $\eta > 0$  such that

$$\gamma_l \leq C(t) N^{-\eta}$$

for a function C(t) depending on  $||u_t||_{H^2_{A}}$  but not on N.

Proof We recall that

$$\widehat{r} := p_1 p_2 \widehat{m}^b + (p_1 q_2 + q_1 p_2) \widehat{m}^a,$$

where  $\widehat{m}^{b}$  and  $\widehat{m}^{a}$  are in [9, Def. 6.2]. By symmetry of  $g_{\beta}$ , we can integrate by parts in the  $x_{2}$  variable; we get

$$\begin{aligned} |\gamma_l| \leq N^2 |\langle \nabla_{x_2} \psi_N, \, g_\beta(x_1 - x_2) \, \mathbf{A}(x_1) \widehat{r} \, \psi_N \rangle| \\ + N^2 |\langle \psi_N, \, g_\beta(x_1 - x_2) \, \mathbf{A}(x_1) \nabla_{x_2} \widehat{r} \, \psi_N \rangle|. \end{aligned} \tag{15}$$

We can use the definition of  $\hat{r}$  for the first term and get

$$N^{2} |\langle \nabla_{x_{2}} \psi_{N}, g_{12} \mathbf{A}(x_{1}) \widehat{r} \psi_{N} \rangle| \leq N^{2} ||\nabla_{2} \psi_{N}|| ||\mathbf{A}||_{\infty} ||g_{12} p_{1}||_{\infty} (||\widehat{m}^{a}||_{op} + ||\widehat{m}^{b}||_{op}),$$

having used the short-hand notation  $g_{12} := g_\beta(x_1 - x_2)$ . Now, by [9, Lemma 4.1], [9, Lemma 5.1] and [9, Eq. 6.11], one gets

$$N^{2}\left|\left\langle \nabla_{x_{2}}\psi_{N}, g_{12}\mathbf{A}(x_{1})\widehat{r}\psi_{N}\right\rangle\right| \leq C(t)N^{1+\xi}\|\psi_{N}\|_{H^{1}_{\mathbf{A}}}\|g_{\beta}\| \leq C(t)N^{-\beta/2+\xi},$$

for some  $\xi > 0$  to be chosen suitably small. Here we used the uniform boundedness of the first magnetic Sobolev norm  $\|\psi_N\|_{H^1_A}$  and the fact that  $\|u_t\|_{\infty}$ , produced by [9, Lemma 4.1], is bounded by  $C \|u_t\|_{H^2_A}$ .

As for the second term in (15), we can remark that two summands of  $\hat{r}$  contain  $p_1$ , and their sum is equal to  $p_1\hat{r}$ . For them, one can use Hölder inequality in the variable  $x_2$  and then Sobolev inequality again in the variable  $x_2$  to get

$$N^{2} |\langle \psi_{N}, g_{12} \mathbf{A}(x_{1}) \nabla_{x_{2}} p_{1} \hat{r} \psi_{N} \rangle | \leq N^{2} \int d^{3}x_{1} d^{3}x_{3} \dots d^{3}x_{N} ||g_{\beta}(x_{1} - \cdot)||_{3/2} \times ||\psi_{N}(x_{1}, \cdot, x_{3} \dots x_{N})||_{6} ||\mathbf{A}(x_{1}) (\nabla p_{1} \hat{r} \psi_{N})(x_{1}, \cdot, x_{3} \dots x_{N})||_{6} \leq N^{2} ||g_{\beta}||_{3/2} ||\mathbf{A}||_{\infty} \int d^{3}x_{1} d^{3}x_{3} \dots d^{3}x_{N} \times ||\nabla \psi_{N}(x_{1}, \cdot, x_{3} \dots x_{N})||| (\Delta p_{1} \hat{r} \psi_{N})(x_{1}, \cdot, x_{3} \dots x_{N})|| \leq C(t) N^{2} ||\psi_{N}||_{H^{1}_{4}} ||g_{\beta}||_{3/2} ||\Delta u||(||\hat{m}^{a}||_{op} + ||\hat{m}^{b}||_{op}),$$

having used in the last step the definition of  $\hat{r}$ , the fact that  $||\Delta p||_{op} = ||\Delta u||_2$  and [9, Cor. 4.1]. By interchanging the roles of  $x_1$  and  $x_2$ , the same estimate can be proven

if  $q_1 \hat{r}$  replaces  $p_1 \hat{r}$ . One can now use  $\|\Delta u\| \leq C \|u\|_{H^2_A}$ , [9, Lemma 5.1] (plus a standard interpolation argument to obtain  $\|g_\beta\|_{3/2} \leq \|g_\beta\|_2^{2/3} \|g_\beta\|_1^{1/3} \leq CN^{-1-\beta_1}$ ) and [9, Eq. 6.11] and get

$$N^2 |\langle \psi_N, g_{12} \mathbf{A}(x_1) \nabla_{x_2} \hat{r} \psi_N \rangle| \leq C(t) N^{-\beta+\xi},$$

which is enough to get the thesis.

Acknowledgements Alessandro Olgiati is Partially supported by the 2014–2017 MIUR-FIR grant "Cond-Math: Condensed Matter and Mathematical Physics", code RBFR13WAET and by Gruppo Nazionale per la Fisica Matematica (GNFM-INdAM). The author also warmly thanks the GSSI, for the kind hospitality and financial support during a visit in L'Aquila.

### References

- N. Benedikter, G. de Oliveira, B. Schlein, Quantitative derivation of the Gross-Pitaevskii equation. Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 68(8), 1399–1482 (2014)
- C. Brennecke, B. Schlein, Gross-Pitaevskii Dynamics for Bose-Einstein Condensates (2017). arXiv:1702.05625
- L. Erdős, B. Schlein, H. Yau, Derivation of the cubic non-linear Schrödinger equation from quantum dynamics of many-body systems. Invent. math. 167, 515–614 (2007)
- L. Erdős, B. Schlein, H. Yau, Derivation of the Gross-Pitaevskii equation for the dynamics of Bose-Einstein condensate. Ann. Math. 172(1), 291–370 (2010)
- M. Jeblick, N. Leopold, P. Pickl, Derivation of the Time Dependent Gross-Pitaevskii Equation in Two Dimensions (2016). arXiv:1608.05326
- A. Knowles, P. Pickl, Mean-field dynamics: singular potentials and rate of convergence. Commun. Math. Phys. 298(1), 101–138 (2010)
- J. Lührmann, Mean-field quantum dynamics with magnetic fields. J. Math. Phys. 53(2), 022105 (2012)
- 8. P. Pickl, A simple derivation of mean field limits for quantum systems. Lett. Math. Phys. **97**(2), 151–164 (2011)
- P. Pickl, Derivation of the time dependent Gross-Pitaevskii equation with external fields. Rev. Math. Phys. 27(1), 1550003 (2015)

# On the Inverse Spectral Problems for Quantum Graphs

M. Olivieri and D. Finco

**Abstract** We review some aspects of inverse spectral problems for quantum graphs. Under hypothesis of rational independence of lengths of edges it is possible, thanks to trace formulas, to reconstruct information on compact and non compact graphs from the knowledge, respectively, of the spectrum of Laplacian and of the scattering phase. In the case of Sturm-Liouville operators defined on compact graphs and in general for differential operators on compact star-graphs, unknown potentials can be recovered from the knowledge of the spectrum of operators obtained imposing different boundary conditions.

**Keywords** Inverse problems • Inverse scattering problems • Sturm-Liouville operators • Quantum graphs

MSC 2010 35R30, 81U40, 34B24

# 1 Introduction

Quantum graphs are metric graphs provided with a selfadjoint operator that describes the dynamics of waves on the graph. The most natural application of a quantum graph is in the study of nanoscopic networks and their quantum properties, and in the new important area of technological development in quantum wires. Quantum graphs are in general good models for wave dynamics in thin structures, for example in the case of photonic crystals, or in chemistry for the study of dynamics of  $\pi$ -electrons in naphthalene molecule (see [7]).

M. Olivieri (🖂)

Dipartimento di Matematica, Universitá di Roma "La Sapienza", P.le A. Moro 5, 00185 Rome, Italy

D. Finco

e-mail: d.finco@uninettunouniversity.net

267

e-mail: olivieri@mat.uniroma1.it

Facoltá di Ingegneria, Universitá Telematica Internazionale "Uninettuno", Corso V. Emanuele II, 39, 00186 Rome, Italy

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2017

A. Michelangeli, G. Dell'Antonio (eds.), Advances in Quantum Mechanics, Springer INdAM Series 18, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-58904-6\_16

In the present work we deal with the spectral problems of quantum graphs. (Direct) spectral problem is usually referred to the problem of obtaining the spectrum of an operator from information about the graph; instead the inverse spectral problem is in general referred to acquiring information about the graph from the knowledge of the spectrum of a selfadjoint operator defined on the graph.

We review some inverse problems under different sets of hypotheses. In the first section we introduce fundamental definitions concerning selfadjoint operators and quantum systems on graphs. In the second and third ones we study inverse problems on compact graphs and we answer to the question of which information on the graph we can recover with or without the hypothesis of rational independence of lengths of edges. In the fourth section we consider non compact graphs and search for the relations between the scattering on graph, its spectrum and its topological structure. The final section is dedicated to recovering potentials of Sturm-Liouville operators defined on compact graphs from spectra of different problems that are obtained varying boundary conditions at vertices. We present the same problem for general differential operator on compact star-shaped graphs.

### 2 Fundamental Definitions

A graph is a couple of at most countable sets:  $\Gamma = (\mathcal{V}, \mathcal{E})$ , with  $\mathcal{V} = \{v_i\}_{i=1}^V$  set of vertices and  $\mathcal{E} = \{e_i\}_{i=1}^E$  set of edges.

Every edge is a binary relation between two vertices: if  $e \in \mathcal{E}$ , then  $e = \{v, w\} = \{w, v\}, v, w \in \mathcal{V}$ ; we say that the vertices v, w are *incident* to e and indicate it with  $v, w \sim e$  (loops and multiple edges are also admitted, for example:  $e = \{v, v\}$  is a loop).

With *oriented* graph we mean a graph in which an orientation has been defined on every edge. We will call *bonds* the oriented edges and indicate the set of bonds with  $\mathcal{B}$ , so if  $b \in \mathcal{B}$ , then  $b = (v, w) \in \mathcal{V} \times \mathcal{V}$ . The inverse bond of b is simply defined as  $\overline{b} = (w, v)$ . By definition,  $\mathcal{B}$  contains the bonds and their inverse bonds (so  $|\mathcal{B}| = 2\mathcal{E}$ ), instead if we consider a precise orientation for every edge, we can indicate the set of such bonds always with  $\mathcal{E}$ , without considering the edges with inverse orientation. From now on we are going to consider only oriented graphs.

If we put an orientation on a graph it is possible to turn the graph into a metric system defining a length function. A *metric graph* is a graph with a length assigned to every bond:  $L_b \in (0, +\infty]$  for every  $b \in \mathcal{B}$  and the property that  $L_b = L_{\bar{b}}$ . So it is possible to define the length of every edge without contradiction:  $L_e := L_b = L_{\bar{b}}$ , if b = (v, w) and  $e = \{v, w\}$ .

A *compact* graph is a graph with a finite number of edges with finite length, otherwise we will call it *non compact*.

On an edge *e* of a metric graph we can define a coordinate  $x_e \in [0, L_e]$  and the respective Lebesgue measure  $dx_e$  (the coordinate increases following the orientation).

In the case of a quantum system we need to identify a Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$  as space of states. In our case, if not specified otherwise, we will always take the Hilbert space associated to one particle moving on the graph

$$\mathcal{H} = L^2(\Gamma) := \bigoplus_{e \in \mathcal{E}} L^2(e, dx_e)$$

that is, a square-integrable function on a metric graph can be thought as a collection of  $E L^2$ -functions defined on every edge:

$$\psi := (\psi_1(x_1), \psi_2(x_2), \dots, \psi_E(x_E)), \quad x_1 \in [0, L_1], x_2 \in [0, L_2], \dots, x_E \in [0, L_E]$$

and so an operator on a graph acts on the set of these functions.

A *quantum graph* is a triple  $(\Gamma, H, \mathcal{D}(H))$  with  $\Gamma$  metric graph, H a selfadjoint operator and  $\mathcal{D}(H) \subseteq \mathcal{H}$  its domain.

A concrete example is given by the Laplacian on a metric graph, defined as

$$H := -\frac{d^2}{dx^2} = \left(-\frac{d^2}{dx_e^2}\right)_{e \in \mathcal{E}}$$

that acts on every edge as a second derivative. The next theorem from [2] guarantees conditions on its domain for selfadjointness, under reasonable physical hypotheses on graph structure (that from now on we will always assume). Let us denote the degree of a vertex v by  $d_v$  that is the number of edges incident to v, that we assume finite for every vertex:

$$d_{v} := |\{e \in \mathcal{E} : e = \{v, w\}, w \in \mathcal{V}\}|.$$

**Theorem 2.1** Let  $\Gamma$  be a metric graph with every length of edge bounded from below by a length  $L_0$  (i.e.  $0 < L_0 \leq L_e$ , for every  $e \in \mathcal{E}$ ), and H the Laplacian with domain  $\mathcal{D}(H) \subseteq \mathcal{H}$ . The operator H is selfadjoint on  $\mathcal{D}(H)$  if and only if  $\mathcal{D}(H)$  is the set of  $\psi$  such that:

(i)  $\psi \in \bigoplus_{e \in \mathcal{E}} H^2(e, dx_e)$ , with  $H^2(e, dx_e)$  Sobolev space on edge e:

$$H^{2}(e, dx_{e}) := \{\phi_{e} \in L^{2}(e, dx_{e}) : \phi_{e}^{\prime\prime} \in L^{2}(e, dx_{e})\}$$

(ii) (vertices condition) for every  $v \in V$  exist  $A_v, B_v \in Mat(d_v)$  such that

- $rk(A_v|B_v) = d_v$ , with  $(A_v|B_v)$  matrix that has as columns the union of columns of  $A_v$  and  $B_v$ ;
- $A_v B_v^*$  is selfadjoint;
- $A_v\psi(v) + B_v\psi'(v) = 0$ , where  $\psi(v)$  is the vector  $(\psi_1(v), \dots, \psi_{d_v}(v))$  of the components of  $\psi$  on the edges incident to v valued in the coordinate corresponding to v on the edge;

and it is assumed that  $||B_v^{-1}A_vQ_v||$  is uniformly bounded (where  $Q_v$  denotes the orthogonal projection onto the range of  $B_v^*$ , and  $B_v^{-1}$  is the inverse matrix of  $B_v$  acting from the range of  $B_v^*$  to the range of  $B_v$ ).

So with the previous conditions,  $(\Gamma, H, \mathcal{D}(H))$  is a quantum graph.

We observe that the vertices conditions are implicitly determined also by assigning a *scattering matrix*  $\sigma^v$  at each vertex v, defined as follows:

$$\sigma^{v}(k) := -(A_{v} + ikB_{v})^{-1}(A_{v} - ikB_{v}), \quad k \in \mathbb{C}.$$
(1)

See [2] for the physical meaning of the scattering matrices and their relation with transmission through the vertices of waves moving along the graph.

Let us consider a particular case of conditions at vertices that assure selfadjointness thanks to the Theorem 2.1. We take for every vertex v

$$A_{v} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -1 & 0 & \dots & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & -1 & \dots & 0 & 0 \\ \dots & \dots & \dots & 1 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & \dots & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad B_{v} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & \dots & \dots & 0 & 0 \\ \dots & \dots & \dots & \dots & \dots \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & \dots & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 1 & \dots & \dots & 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

and so we obtain *Kirchhoff-Neumann* (K-N) conditions: for every vertex v,  $\psi$  has to satisfy

$$\begin{cases} \psi \quad \text{continuous in } v \\ \sum_{e \sim v} \psi'_e(v) = 0. \end{cases}$$
(2)

where the derivatives are taken in the outgoing direction from the vertex v and the continuity condition is:  $\psi_1(v) = \ldots = \psi_{d_v}(v)$ .

In this case the scattering matrices are k-independent (so energy independent, see [2]) and their elements have the explicit form [8]:

$$\sigma_{i,j}^v = \frac{2}{d_v} - \delta_{i,j},\tag{3}$$

where  $\delta_{i,j}$  is the Kronecker delta.

# **3** Compact Graphs: Inverse Problem with Rational Independence of Edges Lengths

In this section we deal with the inverse spectral problem for compact quantum graphs. From now on  $\Gamma$  will be a metric compact graph,  $(H, \mathcal{D}(H))$  the Laplacian with K-N conditions (from now on called as K-N Laplacian).

Under these hypotheses a *trace formula* exists that gives a relation between the spectrum of the Laplacian and the topological structure of the graph.

First of all let us remark that from [2] (Theorem 3.1.1) we have that the K-N Laplacian on a compact quantum graph has a discrete spectrum composed by positive eigenvalues with finite multiplicity and accumulation at infinity. So we can express the spectrum in this way:

$$\sigma(H) = \{k_n^2\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subseteq \mathbb{R}, \qquad 0 = k_0^2 < k_1^2 \le k_2^2 \le \dots$$

Now we can define a distribution, the *spectral density u*:

$$u(k) := 2\delta(k) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (\delta(k-k_n) + \delta(k+k_n))$$

and its Fourier transform:

$$\sqrt{2\pi}\hat{u}(l) = 2 + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (e^{-ik_n l} + e^{ik_n l}).$$

The trace formula gives an alternative formula for the spectral density and its transform involving periodic orbits on the graph (see [9]).

**Theorem 3.1** Let  $\Gamma$  be a metric, compact, connected graph and  $(H, \mathcal{D}(H))$  the *K*-*N* Laplacian. Then the following trace formulas establish the relation between the spectrum  $\sigma(H) = \{k_n^2\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  of *H* and the set of periodic orbits, the total length and the Euler characteristic of the graph:

$$u(k) = \chi \delta(k) + \frac{L}{\pi} + \frac{1}{2\pi} \sum_{p \in \mathcal{P}} (\mathcal{A}_p e^{ikl_p} + \mathcal{A}_p^* e^{ikl_p}), \tag{4}$$

$$\sqrt{2\pi}\hat{u}(l) = \chi + 2L\delta(l) + \sum_{p \in \mathcal{P}} (\mathcal{A}_p \delta(l - l_p) + \mathcal{A}_p^* \delta(l + l_p)), \tag{5}$$

where

$$\mathcal{A}_p = l_{p'} \left( \prod_{\sigma_{ij}^v \in \mathcal{T}(p)} \sigma_{ij}^v \right), \quad \mathcal{A}_p^* = l_{p'} \left( \prod_{\sigma_{ij}^v \in \mathcal{T}(p)} \overline{\sigma_{ij}^v} \right),$$

- $\chi := V E$  is the Euler characteristic of the graph;
- *L* : sum of the lengths of the edges of  $\Gamma$ , called the total length;
- $\mathcal{P}$  set of periodic orbits on  $\Gamma$ . A periodic orbit is an equivalence class of oriented closed paths invariant under the action of a cyclic permutation of edges of the path;
- p' primitive orbit of p. If p has a length multiple of lengths of other orbits, p' is the orbit among these ones that has the minimal length;
- *l<sub>p</sub>* length of the orbit *p*;
- $\mathcal{T}(p)$  set of all scattering matrices elements  $\sigma_{i,j}^{v}$  associated to vertices v and edges i, j that belong to the periodic orbit p.

Knowledge of the spectrum allows one to define the spectral density, and thanks to the trace formula we obtain that the support of (5) is the set of the lengths of all periodic orbits of the graph. In [9], if we assume hypothesis of rational independence of edges lengths and cleaning of graph (absence of vertices with degree 2), an algorithmic procedure to recover information about the graph is presented. The most important steps are the definitions of three sets  $\mathcal{L}' \subseteq \mathcal{L} \subseteq \mathcal{L}$  where:

- *L* := {*l<sub>p</sub>* : *p* ∈ *P*} is the set of the lengths of periodic orbits that can be obtained by the support of (5);
- $\mathcal{L}' := \left\{ l \in \mathcal{L} : \sum_{p \in \mathcal{P}: l = l_p} \mathcal{A}_p \neq 0 \right\}$  gives connectivity of the graph because it contains the lengths of the edges and combination of lengths of couples of edges that are connected;
- $\mathcal{L}'' := \{l \in \mathcal{L}' : l \leq 2L\}$ , that is a finite set, and so one can find a basis of lengths such that any element of  $\mathcal{L}''$  can be obtained as semi-integer combination of the elements of the basis. The basis with the minimal lengths is the set of the lengths of the edges of the graph or their double (depending if an edge forms a loop or not respectively).

And so it is possible to recover the edges lengths  $\{L_e\}_{e \in \mathcal{E}}$  and how they are connected, i.e. it is possible to reconstruct the graph.

**Theorem 3.2** Let  $\Gamma$  be a compact, connected, quantum graph with  $(H, \mathcal{D}(H))$  K-N Laplacian. If we suppose that

- (i)  $\Gamma$  is clean (no vertices of degree 2),
- (ii) the lengths of the edges are rational independent,

then from the spectrum  $\sigma(H)$  it is possible to reconstruct uniquely the graph  $\Gamma$  (that is, the lengths of edges and how they are connected).

In [4] a counterexample is produced that shows the failure of reconstruction of graphs without the hypothesis of rational independence. Let us take  $\Gamma_1$  in Fig. 1 and K-N Laplacian  $(H, \mathcal{D}(H))$ .

Fig. 1 Graph  $\Gamma_1$ 



**Fig. 2** Graph  $\Gamma_2$ 



Its lengths are rational dependent. The spectrum of H is obtained solving the secular equation (see [4]), and consists of zeros of the function

$$f_1(k) = \tan(2(a+b)k) + \frac{2\tan(ak) + 2\tan(bk) + \tan((2a+b)k) + \tan((a+2b)k)}{1 - (2\tan(ak) + \tan(bk))(\tan(bk) + \tan((2a+b)k) + \tan((a+2b)k))}.$$

If we consider now  $(H, \mathcal{D}(H))$  on graph  $\Gamma_2$  in Fig. 2, always with rational dependence lengths, this time the spectrum of *H* consists of zeros of the function

$$f_2(k) = \tan(2ak) \cdot \frac{2\tan(ak) + 2\tan(bk) + \tan((a+2b)k) + \tan((2a+3b)k)}{1 - (\tan(ak) + \tan(bk) + \tan((a+2b)k)(\tan(ak) + \tan(bk) + \tan((2a+3b)k))}$$

From [3] we have that zeros of  $f_1$  and zeros of  $f_2$  are the same, that is,  $\Gamma_1$  and  $\Gamma_2$  are isospectral graphs. So there is the failure of unique reconstruction of the graph from the spectrum of the Laplacian.

### 4 Compact Graphs: Inverse Problem in General

Now we do not assume the rational independence of edges lengths. Without this hypothesis only the Euler characteristic can be recovered (see [8]) and we have, thanks again to the trace formula, an explicit formula for  $\chi$ .

**Theorem 4.1** Let  $\Gamma$  be a compact, connected, quantum graph with  $(H, \mathcal{D}(H))$  the *K-N* Laplacian. Then from the spectrum  $\sigma(H) = \{k_n^2\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  it is possible to recover

uniquely the Euler characteristic  $\chi$  of the graph by the formula:

$$\chi = 2 + 2 \lim_{t \to +\infty} \sum_{k_n \neq 0} \cos(k_n/t) \left(\frac{\sin(k_n/2t)}{k_n/2t}\right)^2 \tag{6}$$

$$=2-2\lim_{t \to +\infty} \sum_{k_n \neq 0} \frac{1-2\cos(k_n/t) + \cos(2k_n/t)}{(k_n/t)^2}.$$
 (7)

It is possible to extend this result to bounded perturbation of the Laplacian (see [8]): let  $H_q$  be the operator

$$H_q = H + q, \quad \mathcal{D}(H_q) := \mathcal{D}(H).$$

where  $q \in L^{\infty}(\Gamma)$  acts as a multiplication operator.  $H_q$  is selfadjoint in its domain and has a discrete spectrum:  $\sigma(H_q) := \{(k'_n)^2\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ . Taking into account of the asymptotic formula  $|k_n - k'_n| = O(\frac{1}{n})$ , where  $k_n^2$  and  $k'_n^2$  are the eigenvalues of H and  $H_q$  respectively, formula (6) still holds replacing  $k_n$  with  $k'_n$ .

**Theorem 4.2** Let  $\Gamma$  be a compact, connected, quantum graph with  $(H_q, \mathcal{D}(H_q))$  the operator defined above. Then from the spectrum  $\sigma(H_q) = \{(k'_n)^2\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  it is possible to recover uniquely the Euler characteristic  $\chi$  of the graph by the formula:

$$\chi = 2 + 2 \lim_{t \to +\infty} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \cos(k'_n/t) \left(\frac{\sin(k'_n/2t)}{k'_n/2t}\right)^2$$
(8)

### 5 Non Compact Graphs: Inverse Problem with Scattering

Now we are going to consider graphs with finite number of edges but also with infinite lengths. We deal with inverse problems for graphs that consist of a compact part and bonds of infinite length attached to some vertices and going to infinity. We call these bonds *leads*, their set  $\mathcal{B}^{ext}$ , and denote them with  $(v, \infty) \in \mathcal{B}^{ext}$ , with v vertex the lead is attached to (inverse bonds of leads are not admitted).

So the graph can be expressed in the form  $\Gamma = (\mathcal{V}, \mathcal{B}), \ \mathcal{B} := \mathcal{B}^{int} \cup \mathcal{B}^{ext}$  where  $\mathcal{B}^{int}$  are the bonds of the compact part.

Let us also make, for simplicity, the hypothesis of at most one lead attached to every vertex, so  $|\mathcal{B}^{ext}| = N \leq V$ . If we do not consider inverse bonds, we denote with  $\mathcal{E} = \mathcal{E}^{int} \cup \mathcal{E}^{ext}$ ,  $\mathcal{E}^{int}$  set of internal edges of compact part of the graph, and  $\mathcal{E}^{ext}$  edges associated to leads (obviously  $\mathcal{E}^{ext} = \mathcal{B}^{ext}$ ).

The eigenvalues problem for the Laplacian with general selfadjoint conditions at vertices

$$-\frac{d^2}{dx_b^2}\psi_b(x) = k^2\psi_b(x), \quad b \in \mathcal{B}$$

on the bonds in the compact part of the graph has the solutions:

$$\psi_b(x) = \alpha_b e^{ikx_b} + \alpha_{\bar{b}} e^{ikL_b} e^{-ikx_b}, \quad \text{if } b \in \mathcal{B}^{int}$$
(9)

while on leads we are interested in solution of the form:

$$\psi_b(x) = C_b^{in} e^{-ikx_b} + C_b^{out} e^{ikx_b}, \quad \text{if } b \in \mathcal{B}^{ext}.$$
(10)

In [2] it is explained how are related the 2*E*-vector of coefficients of outgoing waves from vertices  $\alpha := \{\alpha_b\}_{b \in B^{int}}$ , the *N*-vectors of coefficients of waves that leave the graph on leads  $C^{out} := \{C_b^{out}\}_{b \in B^{ext}}$  and the ones that reach the graph on the leads  $C^{in} := \{C_b^{in}\}_{b \in B^{ext}}$ :

$$\begin{pmatrix} C^{out} \\ \alpha \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} R(k) \ T_o(k) \\ T_i(k) \ S(k) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} C^{in} \\ \alpha \end{pmatrix}$$
(11)

where in the previous expression the matrix is  $(2E + N) \times (2E + N)$  and

- *S*(*k*) describes the evolution of waves inside the compact part of the graph;
- *R*(*k*) describes the immediate reflection of waves from the graph (from leads into leads);
- *T<sub>o</sub>*(*k*) and *T<sub>i</sub>*(*k*) describe transmission from the compact part out and from the leads into the compact part correspondingly.

Solving Eq. (11) (see [2] for explicit calculation) we find that

$$C^{out} = \Sigma(k)C^{in}$$

where  $\Sigma(k) := R(k) + T_o(k)(\mathbb{1} - S(k))^{-1}T_i(k)$  is the *scattering matrix*<sup>1</sup> ( $\mathbb{1}$  is the identity matrix). The knowledge of this matrix gives the opportunity to obtain again a method of reconstruction of a metric graph. If we define the *scattering phase*  $\Phi$  by

$$\Phi(k) := -i \log \det(\Sigma(k))$$

and the resonance density u by

$$u(k) := \frac{1}{2\pi} \frac{d\Phi(k)}{dk}$$

we have in this case a trace formula for the resonance density (see [6] and [5]).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The scattering matrices defined in the previous chapter can be thought as a restriction of this one for compact graphs. In fact for compact graphs there are not the lead-transmission terms and in a proper base:  $\Sigma = \text{diag}(\sigma^1, \dots, \sigma^V)$ .

**Theorem 5.1** Let  $\Gamma$  be a non-compact, metric graph formed by a compact part with at most one lead attached to every vertex,  $(H, \mathcal{D}(H))$  the K-N Laplacian and  $\Sigma$  the scattering matrix associated. The next formula holds for the resonance density:

$$u(k) = \frac{\tilde{L}}{\pi} + \frac{1}{2\pi} \sum_{p \in \tilde{\mathcal{P}}} \left( \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_p e^{ikl_p} + \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_p^* e^{-ikl_p} \right)$$

where

$$\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_p = l_{p'} \left( \prod_{\sigma_{ij}^v \in \tilde{\mathcal{T}}(p)} \sigma_{ij}^v \right), \quad \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_p^* = l_{p'} \left( \prod_{\sigma_{ij}^v \in \tilde{\mathcal{T}}(p)} \overline{\sigma_{ij}^v} \right),$$

- $\tilde{L}$  is the total length of the compact part of the graph:  $\tilde{L} := \frac{1}{2} \sum_{b \in \mathcal{B}^{int}} L_b$ ;
- $\tilde{\mathcal{P}}$  is the set of periodic orbits in the compact part of the graph;
- *p' primitive orbit of p;*
- $l_p$  the length of the orbit p;
- $\tilde{\mathcal{T}}(p)$  set of all scattering matrices  $\sigma^{v}$  associated to vertices that belong to the periodic orbit p in the compact part of the graph.

From the knowledge of the scattering phase and under the same hypotheses of Kirchhoff-Neumann conditions, cleanliness and rational independence of lengths, it is possible to reconstruct uniquely the graph with the same algorithm (find the support of the Fourier transform of u, and from it the lengths of edges and connectivity).

**Theorem 5.2** Let  $\Gamma$  be a non-compact, connected, quantum graph with  $(H, \mathcal{D}(H))$ *K-N Laplacian, formed by a compact part with at most one lead attached to every vertex. If we suppose that* 

- (i)  $\Gamma$  is clean,
- (ii) the lengths of the edges are rational independent,

then from the scattering matrix  $\Sigma$  it is possible to reconstruct uniquely the compact part of the graph  $\Gamma$ .

Also in this case it is possible to find some counterexamples. The impossibility of unique reconstruction holds also for more general operators than the Laplacian H: let  $\Gamma$  be a non-compact graph with a finite number of bonds and leads, and  $H_Q$  be the Schrödinger operator

$$H_Q := H + Q$$

$$H_Q \psi = \left\{ -\frac{d^2}{dx_e^2} \psi_e(x_e) + q_e(x_e) \psi_e(x_e) \right\}_{e \in \mathcal{E}}$$
(12)

where  $Q = \{q_e\}_{e \in \mathcal{E}} \in L^1(\Gamma) := \bigoplus_{e \in \mathcal{E}} L^1(e)$ , Q real-valued and on the leads b there is the further request

$$\int_b (1+|x_b|)|q_b(x_b)|dx_b<+\infty.$$

We have seen that the knowledge of the scattering matrix allows to find the scattering phase and, with the hypothesis of rational independence, reconstruct the graph.

The results given below show that if one knows the scattering matrix associated to operator (12) without further hypotheses on lengths of edges, reconstruction is no more possible. Also information on the potential can not be obtained.

We remark the fact that if two scattering matrices  $\Sigma$  and  $\Sigma'$  are similar (see [10]) then the corresponding Schrödinger operators are unitarily equivalent. So the next results have to be intended up to unitary equivalence of operators and up to similarity for scattering matrices (for further details, see always [10]):

- 1. (Bargmann) the knowledge of the graph, the selfadjoint boundary conditions at the vertices and the scattering matrix  $\Sigma$  for the Schrödinger operator  $H_Q$  is generally not enough to determine the real-valued potential Q (for a proof see [1]);
- 2. the knowledge of the scattering matrix  $\Sigma$  for the K-N Laplacian is generally not enough to determine the topological structure of the graph uniquely;
- 3. the knowledge of the topological structure of the graph and of the scattering matrix  $\Sigma$  for the K-N Laplacian is generally not enough to determine the graph uniquely;
- 4. the knowledge of the graph, the real-valued potential Q and the scattering matrix  $\Sigma$  for the Schrödinger operator  $H_Q$  is generally not enough to determine the Schrödinger operator uniquely.

If not otherwise specified, the counterexamples are all shown in [10].

## 6 Inverse Problem for Sturm-Liouville Operators on Graphs: Recovering Potential

We now consider the problem of the reconstruction of the potential from the knowledge of the spectrum of the operator associated to various vertices conditions on compact graphs in the case of Sturm-Liouville operators, and then more in general for differential operators of a variable order.

Let  $\Gamma = (\mathcal{V}, \mathcal{E})$  be a compact graph. We call

$$\mathcal{V}_0 := \{ v \in \mathcal{V} : d_v = 1 \}$$

the set of *external vertices*, i.e., the set of vertices of degree 1 ( $|V_0| = V_0$ ). The others are called *internal* and indicated with  $V_1$  ( $|V_1| = V_1$ ), so that

$$\mathcal{V} = \mathcal{V}_0 \cup \mathcal{V}_1, \quad V = V_0 + V_1.$$

Edges that are incident to external vertices are called *external edges* and indicated with  $\mathcal{E}_0$  (the same for bonds).

A *cycle* is an ordered sequence of bonds  $(b_1, b_2, \ldots, b_n)$  such that they form a closed curve:  $b_1 = b_n$ . We indicate the set of edges whose bonds form a cycle with  $\mathcal{E}_2$ , instead the ones that do not form a cycle with  $\mathcal{E}_1$ . Obviously  $\mathcal{E}_0 \subseteq \mathcal{E}_1$  because we are not considering inverse bonds.

We enumerate the edges as follows:

- $\mathcal{E}_0 := \{e_1, \ldots, e_p\};$
- *E*<sub>1</sub> := {*e*<sub>1</sub>,...,*e<sub>r</sub>*}, *r* ≥ *p*, *p* = *V*<sub>0</sub> (every external vertex is incident to only one external edge);
- $\mathcal{E}_2 := \{e_{r+1}, \ldots, e_E\}.$

As in the previous cases, we assign lengths to edges and consider an orientation on the graph so that coordinates on the edges are well defined. Let us take a function  $\psi = (\psi_e)_{e \in \mathcal{E}}$  with every  $\psi_e \in AC(e)$ , where AC(e) is the set of absolutely continuous functions on e; we take  $Q = (q_e)_{e \in \mathcal{E}} \in L^1(\Gamma)$  to play the role of potential.

We define the *Sturm-Liouville problem*:

$$-\frac{d^2}{dx_e^2}\psi_e(x) + q_e(x)\psi_e(x) = \lambda\psi_e(x), \quad e \in \mathcal{E}$$
(13)

with K-N conditions on every internal vertex, that here we rewrite for convenience: for every  $v \in V_1$ 

$$\begin{cases} \psi \quad \text{continuous in } v \\ \sum_{e \sim v} \psi'_e(v) = 0. \end{cases}$$
(14)

With the specification of conditions on external vertices, we can produce various associated problems:

L<sub>0</sub>(Γ) problem: (13)–(14) problem with Dirichlet conditions on external vertices, that is: for every v ∈ V<sub>0</sub>

 $\psi_e(v) = 0$ , for every  $e \sim v$ ;

•  $L_k(\Gamma)$  problems, k = 1, ..., p - 1: (13)–(14) problem with Dirichlet conditions on external vertices except for the vertex  $v_k$ , that has *Neumann* condition

$$\psi'_e(v_k) = 0, \quad \text{for every } e \sim v_k,$$
  
 $\psi_e(v) = 0, \quad \text{for every } v \in \mathcal{V}_0 - \{v_k\}, e \sim v;$ 

L<sup>ξ</sup><sub>ν</sub>(Γ) problems, ξ = r + 1,..., E; ν = 0, 1 : ξ identifies an edge eξ part of a cycle. Denoting with vξ the vertex with coordinate zero on eξ, the L<sup>ξ</sup><sub>ν</sub>(Γ) problem is (13) problem with K-N conditions on every internal vertex but not in vξ. In vξ we have K-N condition involving every incident edge except eξ,<sup>2</sup> while along eξ, the problem with ν = 0 corresponds to Dirichlet condition on vξ, while the problem with ν = 1 corresponds to Neumann condition on vξ. In the external vertices there are Dirichlet conditions:

$$\begin{cases} \psi_{e_{\xi}}(v_{\xi}) = 0, & \text{if } v = 0; \\ \psi'_{e_{\xi}}(v_{\xi}) = 0, & \text{if } v = 1; \end{cases}$$
$$\psi_{e}(v) = 0, \quad \text{for every } v \in \mathcal{V}_{0}, e \sim v_{k}.$$

Every problem defined above gives a different spectrum of the operator  $H_Q := -\frac{d^2}{dx^2} + Q$  as solution. Let us associate every spectral set to problems in this way:

Problems	Eigenvalues sets
$L_0(\Gamma)$	$\Lambda_0 := \{\lambda_{0n}\}_{n \ge 1}$
$L_k(\Gamma)$	$\Lambda_k := \{\lambda_{kn}\}_{n\geq 1}$
$L^{\xi}_{\nu}(\Gamma)$	$\Lambda^{\xi}_{\nu} := \{\lambda^{\xi}_{\nu n}\}_{n \ge 1}$

Knowledge of all this spectral sets allows one to recover an unknown potential of the  $H_0$  operator, as stated in [11].

**Theorem 6.1** Let  $\Gamma$  be a metric, compact, graph, and  $H_Q := -\frac{d^2}{dx^2} + Q$  a Schrödinger operator as previously defined. From the knowledge of

- $\Lambda_0$ ;
- $\Lambda_k$  for k = 1, ..., p 1;
- $\Lambda_{\nu}^{\xi}$  for  $\xi = r + 1, \dots, E$  and  $\nu = 0, 1$

it is possible to recover uniquely the potential  $Q = (q_e)_{e \in \mathcal{E}}$ .

$$\sum_{v_{\xi} \neq e \sim v_{\xi}} \psi'_e(v_{\xi}) = 0$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>So in the vertex  $v_{\xi}$  K-N conditions have to be rewritten as

Let us now deal with the case of general differential operators of variable order. In this case, if we admit also the presence of cycles, we have a result for star-shaped graphs.

Let  $\Gamma = (\mathcal{V}, \mathcal{E})$  be a metric, compact star-shaped graph with a cycle, i.e. if  $\mathcal{V} = \{v_0, \ldots, v_{E-1}\}$  and  $\mathcal{E} = \{e_0, \ldots, e_{E-1}\}$  we suppose that  $e_0 := (v_0, v_0)$  is a loop, and all the other edges are incident to  $v_0: e_j := (v_j, v_0)$ , with orientation in the direction entering in the vertex  $v_0$  (so we can denote the edges simply with correspondent indices). Also in this case we take functions  $\psi \in \bigoplus_{e \in \mathcal{E}} AC(e)$ .

Fix numbers  $2 = n_0 \le n_1 \le \ldots \le n_{E-1}$ , and consider differential equations

$$\psi_j^{(n_j)}(x) + \sum_{\mu=0}^{n_j-2} q_{\mu j}(x) \psi_j^{(\mu)}(x) = \lambda \psi_j(x), \quad j = 0, \dots, E-1$$
(15)

where  $q_{\mu j} \in L^1(e)$  for every *j*, and so we have a potential  $Q := \{q_{\mu j}\}$  with  $j = 0, \ldots, E-1$  and  $\mu = 0, \ldots, n_j - 2$ .

Let us define conditions on the vertex  $v_0$ . First of all we introduce the linear forms

$$U_{j\nu}(\psi_j) := \sum_{\mu=0}^{\nu} \gamma_{j\nu\mu} \psi_j^{(\mu)}(L_j)$$

with j = 1, ..., E - 1;  $\nu = 0, ..., n_j - 1$  and  $0 \neq \gamma_{j\nu\mu} \in \mathbb{C}$  are fixed complex numbers. Consider also the form

$$U_{0\nu}(\psi_0) := \psi_0^{(\nu)}(L_0), \quad \nu = 0, 1.$$

We define continuity conditions  $C(\nu)$ ,  $C(0, \alpha)$  and Kirchhoff conditions  $K(\nu)$  of order  $\nu$  as follows:

• C(v):

$$U_{E-1,\nu}(\psi_{E-1}) = U_{j\nu}(\psi_j), \quad j = 0, \dots, E-2; \ \nu < n_j - 1;$$

- $C(0, \alpha) : C(0)$  conditions and  $\alpha \psi_0(0) = \psi_0(L_0)$ ;
- K(v):

$$\sum_{j:\nu < n_j} \psi_j^{(\nu)}(L_j) = \delta_{1\nu} \psi_0'(0)$$

where  $\delta_{ik}$  is the Kronecker delta and  $\alpha \in \mathbb{C} - \{0\}$ .

We define now, for fixed  $s, k, \mu$ , with  $s \in \{1, ..., E-1\}, k \in \{1, ..., n_s - 1\}$  and  $\mu \in \{k, ..., n_s\}$ , the  $L_{sk\mu}$  problem for the variable order differential operators. It can be defined as the problem (15) with

- 1. continuity conditions:  $C(0, \alpha_s)$ ,  $C(\nu)$ , for  $\nu = 1, ..., k 1$ , and  $K(\nu)$ , for  $\nu = k, ..., n_s 1$  at the vertex  $v_0$  ( $\alpha_s$  being non-zero numbers at least two of which are different);
- 2. boundary conditions:

$$\psi_k^{(\nu-1)}(0) = 0, \quad \nu = 1, \dots, k-1, \mu;$$
  
$$\psi_j^{(\nu-1)}(0) = 0, \quad \nu = 1, \dots, n_j - k; \ j = 1, \dots, E-1; \ j \neq s : n_j > k;$$
  
$$\psi_j(0) = 0, \quad j = 1, \dots, E-1 : n_j \le k$$

Solutions to these problems give discrete spectra  $\Lambda_{sk\mu} := \{\lambda_{lsk\mu}\}_{l\geq 1}$ , for  $s = 1, \ldots, E-1; k = 1, \ldots, n_s - 1; \mu = k, \ldots, n_s$ . Always from [11] we have a theorem of reconstruction of the potential Q.

**Theorem 6.2** Let  $\Gamma$  be a metric star-graph with a loop in the internal vertex. Consider Eq. (15) with associated  $L_{sk\mu}$  problems,  $s = 1, \ldots, E-1$ ;  $k = 1, \ldots, n_s - 1$ ;  $\mu = k, \ldots, n_s$  on the graph. Then from the knowledge of  $\Lambda_{sk\mu}$ , for every  $s, k, \mu$ , it is possible to recover the unknown potential Q.

### References

- 1. V. Bargman, On the connection between phase shifts and scattering potentials. Rev. Mod. Phys. **21**, 488–493 (1949)
- G. Berkolaiko, P. Kuchment, *Introduction to Quantum Graphs*. Mathematical Surveys and Monographs, vol. 186 (American Mathematical Society, Providence, 2013)
- 3. J.S. Chapman, Drums that sound the same. Am. Math. Mon. 102, 124–138 (1995)
- B. Gutkin, U. Smilansky, Can one hear the shape of a graph? J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 34, 6061– 6068 (2001)
- 5. T. Kottos, U. Smilansky, Chaotic scattering on graphs. Phys. Rev. Lett. 85, 968–971 (2000)
- T. Kottos, U. Smilansky, Quantum graphs: a simple model for chaotic scattering. J. Phys. A Math. Gen. (Special Issue: Random Matrix Theory) 36(12), 3501–3524 (2003)
- 7. P. Kuchment, Graph models for waves in thin structures. Waves Random Media **12**(4), R1–R24 (2002)
- P. Kurasov, Schrödinger operators on graphs and geometry I: essentially bounded potentials. J. Funct. Anal. 254, 934–953 (2007)
- 9. P. Kurasov, M. Nowaczyk, Inverse spectral problem for quantum graphs. J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. **38**, 4901–4915 (2005)
- P. Kurasov, F. Stenberg, On the inverse scattering problem on branching graphs. J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 35, 101–121 (2002)
- V.A. Yurko, Inverse spectral problems for differential operators on spatial networks. Russ. Math. Surv. 71(3), 539–584 (2016)

# **Double-Barrier Resonances and Time Decay** of the Survival Probability: A Toy Model

Andrea Sacchetti

**Abstract** In this talk we consider the time evolution of a one-dimensional quantum system with a double barrier given by a couple of repulsive Dirac's deltas. In such a *pedagogical* model we give, by means of the theory of quantum resonances, the asymptotic behavior of  $\langle \psi, e^{-itH}\phi \rangle$  for large times, where *H* is the double-barrier Hamiltonian operator and where  $\psi$  and  $\phi$  are two test functions. In particular, when  $\psi$  is close to a resonant state then explicit expression of the dominant terms of the survival probability defined as  $|\langle \psi, e^{-itH}\psi \rangle|^2$  is given.

**Keywords** Lambert special functions • Quantum resonances • Quantum survival probability • Singular barrier potential

# 1 Introduction

The phenomenon of exponential decay associated with quantum resonances is well known since the pioneering works on the Stark effect in an isolated hydrogen atom. Atomic hydrogen in an external electric field was first studied experimentally in 1913 by Stark [18] and Lo Surdo [11], and quantum mechanically in 1926 by Schrödinger [16]. The time independent Schrödinger equation for a hydrogen atom of nuclear charge Z, electron charge e, electron (reduced) mass m, in a uniform external electric field F directed along one axis (i.e. the z axis) has the form

$$H(F)\psi = \mathscr{E}\psi, \ H(F) := -\frac{\hbar^2}{2m}\Delta + \frac{eZ}{r} + Fez.$$
(1)

A. Sacchetti (🖂)

Dipartimento di Scienze Fisiche, Informatiche e Matematiche, Universitá degli Studi di Modena e Reggio Emilia, Via Campi 213/A, Modena 41125, Italy e-mail: andrea.sacchetti@unimore.it

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2017

A. Michelangeli, G. Dell'Antonio (eds.), Advances in Quantum Mechanics, Springer INdAM Series 18, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-58904-6\_17

When the external electric is absent, i.e. F = 0, then H(0) has discrete negative eigenvalues given by (we set  $\hbar = 1, 2m = 1$  and e = 1)

$$\mathscr{E} = \mathscr{E}_{n,n_1,m} = -\frac{Z^2}{2n^2}$$

where  $n = n_1 + n_2 + |m| + 1 = 1, 2, ...$  is the *principal quantum number*, |m| = 0, 1, 2, ..., n - 1 and the quantum number  $n_1$  is the number of nodes of the wave function.

In fact, when we switch on the electric field then the eigenvalues problem (1) has no eigenvalues at all as soon as  $F \neq 0$ . Thus, the quantum states experimentally observed in the Stark effect are not truly bound, but are instead *quantum resonances* associated with a *decay effect* of the *survival probability*. In fact, they are *s*hape resonances, which correspond to confinement of a particle by a barrier, through which tunneling occurs; although the strength of the electric field may be small, the perturbation interaction remains large somewhere far from the origin.

In order to explain the decay effect due to resonances let us consider, in a more general context, an Hamiltonian with a discrete eigenvalue  $\mathscr{E}_0$  and an associated normalized eigenvector  $\psi_0$ . We suppose to weakly perturb such an Hamiltonian and that the new Hamiltonian *H* has purely absolutely continuous spectrum, that is the eigenvalue of the former Hamiltonian disappears into the continuous spectrum. Then we physically expect that, after a very short time, the *survival amplitude* has the following asymptotic behavior

$$\langle \psi_0, e^{-itH}\psi_0 \rangle \sim e^{-it\mathscr{E}}$$
 (2)

where  $\mathscr{E}$  is a quantum resonance close to the unperturbed eigenvalue  $\mathscr{E}_0$ , i.e.  $\Re \mathscr{E} \sim \Re \mathscr{E}_0$  and  $\Im \mathscr{E} < 0$  is such that  $|\Im \mathscr{E}| \ll 1$ . The *survival probability* is defined as the square of the absolute value of the survival amplitude (sometimes in the literature, with abuse of notation, both objects are named survival probability).

The validity of (2) has been proved when the perturbation term is given by a Stark potential. In such a case Herbst [10] proved that (2) holds true with an estimate of the error term. However, we should remark that Simon [17] pointed out that the exponentially decreasing behavior is dominant for large times only when the perturbed Hamiltonian H is not bounded from below. In fact, in the case of Hamiltonian H bounded from below we expect to observe a time decay for the survival amplitude of the form

$$\langle \psi_0, e^{-itH} \psi_0 \rangle = e^{-it\mathscr{E}} + b(t) \tag{3}$$

where the *remainder* term b(t) is dominant for small and large times, and the exponential behavior is dominant for intermediate times. On the other hand, dispersive estimates for one-dimensional Schrödinger operators suggest that for large times the remainder term b(t) is bounded by  $ct^{-r}$ , for some c > 0 and r > 0,

as in the free model where  $r = \frac{1}{2}$ . However, this estimate is very raw because it does not take into account the resonances effects.

The analysis of the problem of the exponential decay rate *versus* the power decay rate in the time dependent survival amplitude defined by (3) is a research argument since the '50. In the seminal paper by Winter [20] it has been numerically conjectured that a transition effect between the two different kind of decays starts around some instant *t*. Recently a more rigorous analysis of the Winter's model, consisting of a one-dimensional model with one Dirac's delta potential at x = R > 0 and Dirichlet boundary condition at x = 0, has been done [7]. Such a transition effect has been also observed in ultra-cold sodium atoms trapped in an accelerating periodic optical potential [19]; more precisely, they show a transition from non-exponential decay for short times to exponential decay for intermediate time. Furthermore, Winter-like models, where a more general singular potential is considered, have been recently studied, see e.g. [4].

In this paper we consider a simple one-dimensional model with a symmetric double barrier potential with Hamiltonian

$$H_{\alpha} = -\frac{\hbar^2}{2m} \frac{d^2}{dx^2} + \alpha \delta(x+a) + \alpha \delta(x-a)$$

on the whole real axis [13, 14]. The two barriers are modeled by means of two symmetric repulsive Dirac's deltas at  $x = \pm a$ , for some a > 0, with strength  $\alpha \in (0, +\infty]$ . This model has been considered by [9], as a *pedagogical* model for the explicit study of quantum barrier resonances. However,  $H_{\alpha}$  also has some physical interest as a model for ultra-thin double-barrier semiconductor heterostructures [12].

When  $\alpha = +\infty$  the spectrum consists of a sequence of discrete eigenvalues  $\mathscr{E}_{\infty,n}$ ,  $n = 1, 2, 3, \ldots$ , embedded in the continuum  $[0, +\infty)$ . When  $\alpha < +\infty$  the spectrum of  $H_{\alpha}$  is purely absolutely continuous and the eigenvalues obtained for  $H_{\infty}$  disappear into the continuum. More precisely, such eigenvalues becomes quantum resonances  $\mathscr{E}_{\alpha,n}$  and the time decay of  $\langle \psi, e^{-iHt}\phi \rangle$ , where  $\psi$  and  $\phi$  are two test functions, has the form (3) where

$$b(t) = c_{\alpha}t^{-3/2} + O(t^{-5/2}) \tag{4}$$

for large t and for some  $c_{\alpha} > 0$  (see Theorem 1 below); in particular, in the case where the two test functions coincide with the unperturbed eigenvector then  $c_{\alpha}$  may be explicitly computed (see Theorem 2 below) and it turns out that  $c_{\alpha} \sim \alpha^{-2}$  in agreement with the fact that the asymptotic behavior (4) cannot uniformly hold true in a neighborhood of  $\alpha = 0$ .

In fact, we prove that a cancellation effect occurs and that the  $t^{-1/2}$  factor coming from the free evolution propagator  $e^{-itH_0}$ , as usually occurs for the free onedimensional Laplacian problem, is canceled by means of an opposite term coming from the two Dirac's deltas barrier. Hence, we can conclude that the effect of the double barrier is twice:

- the time-decay becomes faster, for t large for any  $\alpha > 0$ ;
- for intermediate times the time-decay is slowed down because of the effect of the quantum resonant states.

Finally, we also find out the asymptotic value, for large  $\alpha$ , of the instant *t* around which the transition between exponentially and power decay rate starts.

We should mention some papers where a weighted  $t^{-3/2}$  dispersive estimate has been proved for the evolution operator under some assumptions on the potential. In particular, [8] (see also [15]) assumed that the potential is a  $L^1$  function and that zero energy is not a resonance. We have to point out that the condition about the absence of zero energy resonance is crucial. In fact, in our model we see that the first resonance  $\mathscr{E}_{\alpha,1}$  has limit zero when  $\alpha$  goes to zero and the asymptotic behavior (4) does not hold true in such limit because  $c_{\alpha}$  goes to infinity. We could overcome this problem by choosing the test vector  $\psi$  in a suitable subspace [3].

### 2 Description of the Model and Quantum Resonances

We consider the resonances problem for a one-dimensional Schrödinger equation with two symmetric potential barriers. In particular we model the two barriers by means of two Dirac's  $\delta$  at  $x = \pm a$ , for some a > 0. The Schrödinger operator is formally defined on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}, dx)$  as (let  $\hbar = 1$  and 2m = 1)

$$H_{\alpha} = -\frac{d^2}{dx^2} + \alpha\delta(x+a) + \alpha\delta(x-a)$$

where  $\alpha \in (0, +\infty]$  denotes the strength of the Dirac's  $\delta$ .

When  $\alpha < +\infty$  it means that the wavefunction  $\psi$  should satisfies to the matching conditions

$$\psi(x+) = \psi(x-)$$
 and  $\psi'(x+) = \psi'(x-) + \alpha \psi(x)$  at  $x = \pm a$ , (5)

and  $H_{\alpha}$  has self-adjoint realization on the space of functions  $H^2(\mathbb{R} \setminus \{\pm a\}) \cap H^1(\mathbb{R})$ satisfying the matching conditions (5). When  $\alpha = +\infty$  it means that  $H_{\infty}$  has self-adjoint realization on a domain of functions satisfying the Dirichlet conditions  $\psi(\pm a) = 0$ . In this latter case then the eigenvalue problem  $H_{\infty}\psi = \mathscr{E}_{\infty}\psi$  has simple eigenvalues  $\mathscr{E}_{\infty,n} = k_n^2$  where  $k_n = \frac{n\pi}{2a}$ , n = 1, 2, ..., with associated (normalized) eigenvectors

$$\psi_n(x) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } x < -a \\ \frac{1}{\sqrt{a}} \cos\left[k_n x - \frac{\pi}{4}(1 + (-1)^n)\right] & \text{if } -a < x < +a \\ 0 & \text{if } +a < x \end{cases}$$
(6)



Fig. 1 Double-barrier model with two repulsive Dirac's  $\delta$  at  $x = \pm a$ . Resonances are associated with the *outgoing* conditions A = F = 0 or, equivalently, to the poles of the kernel of the resolvent operator in the *unphysical complex half-plane*  $\Im \mathcal{E} < 0$ 

The spectrum of  $H_{\infty}$  is then given by the continuum  $[0, +\infty)$  with embedded eigenvalues  $\mathscr{E}_{\infty,n}$ .

In the case  $\alpha \in (0, +\infty)$  then the eigenvalue problem

$$H_{\alpha}\psi = \mathscr{E}_{\alpha}\psi$$

has no real eigenvalues, but resonances; where resonances correspond to the complex values of  $\mathscr{E}_{\alpha}$  such that the wavefunction

$$\psi(x) = \begin{cases} Ae^{ikx} + Be^{-ikx} & \text{if } x < -a\\ Ce^{ikx} + De^{-ikx} & \text{if } -a < x < +a \\ Ee^{ikx} + Fe^{-ikx} & \text{if } +a < x \end{cases}, \quad k = \sqrt{\mathcal{E}_{\alpha}}, \quad \Im k \ge 0,$$

satisfying the matching condition (5), satisfies the *outgoing* conditions too (see Fig. 1)

$$A = 0 \quad \text{and} \quad F = 0 \,. \tag{7}$$

We should remark that the *outgoing condition* A = F = 0 implies that the wavefunction behaves like  $e^{ik|x|}$  and thus it exponentially decays when the energy belongs to the *unphysical complex half-plane*  $\Im \mathscr{E} < 0$ .

The matching condition (5) and the resonance condition (7) imply that k satisfies to the following equation  $M_{2,2} = 0$ , where M is the transfer matrix  $\begin{pmatrix} E \\ F \end{pmatrix} =$ 

 $M\begin{pmatrix}A\\B\end{pmatrix}$ . A straightforward calculation gives that equation  $M_{2,2} = 0$  takes the form

$$\frac{1}{4k^2} \left[ e^{4ika} \alpha^2 + 4k^2 + i4k\alpha - \alpha^2 \right] = 0$$

that is

$$\left(e^{2ika}\alpha\right) \pm i\left(2k + i\alpha\right) = 0\tag{8}$$

which has two families of complex-valued solutions

$$k_{1,m} = \frac{i}{2a} \left[ W_m(-a\alpha e^{a\alpha}) - a\alpha \right] \text{ and } k_{2,m} = \frac{i}{2a} \left[ W_m(a\alpha e^{a\alpha}) - a\alpha \right]$$
(9)

where  $W_m(x)$  is the *m*-th branch,  $m \in \mathbb{Z}$ , of the Lambert special function. The Lambert function [2], denoted by W(z) and introduced by Johann Heinrich Lambert (1728–1777), is defined to be the multivalued analytic function satisfying the equation  $W(z)e^{W(z)} = z, z \in \mathbb{C}$ .

It turns out that  $\Im k_{j,m} < 0$  for any *j* and *m*, but  $k_{2,0} = 0$ , and thus equation  $H_{\alpha}\psi = \mathscr{E}_{\alpha}\psi$  has no eigenvalues for any  $\alpha > 0$ . However, we have to remark that for m < 0 then  $\Re k_{j,m} > 0$  and  $\Im k_{j,m} < 0$  and then  $\mathscr{E}_{\alpha} = (k_{j,m})^2$  belongs to the *unphysical sheet* with  $\Im \mathscr{E}_{\alpha} < 0$  for  $m = -1, -2, -3, \ldots$  Therefore, we conclude that the spectral problem  $H_{\alpha}\psi = \mathscr{E}_{\alpha}\psi$  has a family of resonances given by

$$\mathscr{E}_{\alpha,n} = \begin{cases} k_{1,-(n+1)/2}^2 = \left[\frac{i}{2a} \left(W_{-\frac{n+1}{2}}(-a\alpha e^{a\alpha}) - a\alpha\right)\right]^2 & \text{if } n = 1, 3, 5, \dots \\ k_{2,-n/2}^2 = \left[\frac{i}{2a} \left(W_{-\frac{n}{2}}(a\alpha e^{a\alpha}) - a\alpha\right)\right]^2 & \text{if } n = 2, 4, 6, \dots \end{cases}$$

Let a > 0 be fixed, then it follows that for *n* fixed and  $\alpha$  large enough the asymptotic behavior of the resonances follows from the asymptotic expansion of the Lambert function (see Eq. (4.18) by [2]) and it is given by (see [14] where the correct asymptotic expansion of the imaginary part of the resonance is reported)

$$\mathscr{E}_{\alpha,n} = \left(\frac{n\pi}{2a}\right)^2 \left[1 - \frac{1}{a\alpha} + \frac{1}{a^2\alpha^2} - \frac{i}{a^2\alpha^2}\frac{n\pi}{2} + \mathscr{O}\left(\frac{1}{\alpha^3}\right)\right]^2$$
$$\sim \left(\frac{n\pi}{2a}\right)^2 - i\frac{n^3\pi^3}{4a^4\alpha^2}$$

The explicit form of the resolvent of  $H_{\alpha}$ ,  $\alpha \in (0, +\infty)$  is given by [1]

$$\left(\left[H_{\alpha}-k^{2}\right]^{-1}\phi\right)(x)=\int_{\mathbb{R}}K_{\alpha}(x,y;k)\phi(y)dy,\quad\phi\in L^{2}(\mathbb{R}),\ \Im k\geq 0\,,$$

where the integral kernel  $K_{\alpha}$  is given by

$$K_{\alpha}(x, y; k) = K_0(x, y; k) + \sum_{j=1}^{4} K_j(x, y; k)$$

with  $K_0(x, y; k) = \frac{i}{2k} e^{ik|x-y|}$  and  $K_j(x, y; k) = L_j(x, y; k)/g(k)$  where g(k) = 0 is the resonance's equation,

$$g(k) := -2k\left((2k+i\alpha)^2 + \alpha^2 e^{i4k\alpha}\right),\,$$

and

$$L_1(x, y; k) = -\alpha (2k + i\alpha) e^{ik|x+a|} e^{ik|y+a|}, \ L_4(x, y; k) = L_1(-x, -y; k)$$
$$L_2(x, y; k) = i\alpha^2 e^{2ika} e^{ik|x+a|} e^{ik|y-a|}, \ L_3(x, y; k) = L_2(-x, -y; k).$$

Resonances can be defined as the complex poles in the *unphysical sheet*  $\Im \mathcal{E}_{\alpha} < 0$  of the kernel of the resolvent, too; that is the pole of the function g(k) in agreement with (8).

### **3** Time Decay: Main Results

Let  $\phi$  and  $\psi$  two well localized wave-functions, we are going to estimate the time decay of the term

$$\langle \psi, e^{-itH_{\alpha}}\phi \rangle \tag{10}$$

**Theorem 1** Let us assume that  $\phi$  and  $\psi$  have compact support. Then we have that

$$\langle \psi, e^{-itH_{\alpha}}\phi \rangle = c_{\alpha}t^{-3/2} + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty}\beta_n c_n e^{-i\mathscr{E}_{\alpha,n}t} + O(t^{-5/2})$$
(11)

for some constants  $c_{\alpha}$  and  $c_n$  and where

$$\beta_{n} = \begin{cases} 1 & if \left| \Im \sqrt{\mathscr{E}_{\alpha,n}} \right| < \left| \Re \sqrt{\mathscr{E}_{n,\alpha}} \right| \\ \frac{1}{2} & if \left| \Im \sqrt{\mathscr{E}_{\alpha,n}} \right| = \left| \Re \sqrt{\mathscr{E}_{\alpha,n}} \right| \\ 0 & if \left| \Im \sqrt{\mathscr{E}_{\alpha,n}} \right| > \left| \Re \sqrt{\mathscr{E}_{\alpha,n}} \right| \end{cases}$$
(12)

We may remark that in the case  $\alpha = 0$ , that is when there are no barriers, then  $\langle \psi, e^{-itH_0}\phi \rangle \sim t^{-1/2}$  and an apparent contradiction appears. The point is that the asymptotic expansion (11) is not uniform as  $\alpha$  goes to zero. In fact, in an explicit model, see Theorem 2, it results that  $c_{\alpha} \rightarrow \infty$  as  $\alpha \rightarrow 0$ . We can explain this apparent contradiction by remarking that the first resonance  $\mathscr{E}_{\alpha,1} \rightarrow 0$  when  $\alpha \rightarrow 0$  and that  $H_0$  has a zero energy resonance.

*Remark 1* Some authors [5, 6] discuss if and how the smoothness of the wavefunctions  $\psi$  and  $\phi$  plays a special role in the asymptotic behavior of the survival probability. Although this is a quite interesting question we don't treat it in such a paper.
We consider now, in particular, the asymptotic behavior of (10) when the test vectors  $\phi$  and  $\psi$  coincide with one of the *localized* states, e.g. with  $\psi_1(x) = \chi_{[-a,+a]}(x) \cos(k_1 x)$  defined by (6) for n = 1.

**Theorem 2** Let  $\psi = \phi$  coinciding with the eigenvector  $\psi_1$  of  $H_{\infty}$  associated with  $\mathscr{E}_{\infty,1} = \left(\frac{\pi}{2a}\right)^2$ , let  $\ell(k)$  be the function defined as

$$\ell(k) = 2\pi \sqrt{a} \frac{e^{2kai} + 1}{\pi^2 - 4k^2 a^2},$$
(13)

and let  $\mathscr{E}^2_{\alpha,1} = k_{1,-m}$  be the resonances defined by (9). Then

$$\langle \psi_1, e^{-itH_{\alpha}}\psi_1 \rangle = c_{\alpha}t^{-3/2} + \sum_{m=1}^{\infty}\beta_m c_m e^{-i\mathscr{E}_{\alpha,1}t} + O(t^{-5/2})$$
 (14)

where  $\beta_m$  is defined by (12) and

$$c_{\alpha} = -\frac{2^{3/2}(1+i)a}{\pi^{5/2}\alpha^2}, \ \ c_m = -\frac{\alpha\ell(k_{1,-m})^2}{1+\alpha a\left(1+\frac{2k_{1,-m}}{i\alpha}\right)}$$

This result agrees with the limit case when  $\alpha = +\infty$ . Indeed, we check that

$$\ell(k_{1,-m}) = \frac{4i\pi\sqrt{a}k_{1,-m}}{\alpha(\pi^2 - 4k_{1,-m}^2a^2)}$$

Hence

$$\ell(k_{1,-m}) \sim O(\alpha^{-1})$$
 if  $m \neq 1$ 

as  $\alpha \to +\infty$ . For m = 1, from the asymptotic behavior of  $k_{1,-1}$  it follows that

$$\pi^{2} - 4k_{1,-1}^{2}a^{2} \sim \pi^{2} - 4a^{2}\left[\frac{\pi^{2}}{4a^{2}}\left(1 - \frac{2}{a\alpha}\right)\right] = \frac{2\pi^{2}}{a\alpha}$$

and then

$$\ell(k_{1,-1}) \sim i\sqrt{a}$$
, as  $\alpha \to +\infty$ .

Hence, as  $\alpha$  goes to infinity it follows that the dominant term of  $\langle \psi_1, e^{-itH_{\alpha}}\psi_1 \rangle$  is given by

$$\langle \psi_1, e^{-itH_{\alpha}}\psi_1 \rangle = e^{-i\left(\frac{\pi}{2a}\right)^2 t} + O(\alpha^{-1})$$

in agreement with the fact that  $\langle \psi_1, e^{-iH_{\infty}t}\psi_1 \rangle = e^{-i\mathscr{E}_{\alpha,1}t}$ .

The proof of the Theorems is given by [13] and it is based on the explicit calculation of the evolution operator, obtained by the expression of the kernel of the resolvent operator, on the stationary phase theorem and the residue theorm.

## 4 Decay Transition

Let us compare, in the limit of large  $\alpha$  and *a* fixed such that  $a\alpha \gg 1$ , the absolute values of the two dominant terms of  $\langle \psi_1, e^{-itH_\alpha}\psi_1 \rangle$  given by (14); that is the power term  $\frac{d_1}{\alpha^{2}t^{3/2}}$ , where  $d_1 = \left|\frac{2^{3/2}(1+i)\alpha}{\pi^{5/2}}\right| = \frac{4\alpha}{\pi^{5/2}}$ , and the exponential term

$$\left|c_{1}e^{-i\mathscr{E}_{\alpha,1}t}\right| = d_{3}e^{\Im\mathscr{E}_{\alpha,1}t} \sim d_{3}e^{-d_{2}t/\alpha^{2}},$$

where

$$d_2 = \frac{\pi^3}{4a^4}$$
 and  $d_3 = |c_1| = \left| \frac{\alpha \ell (k_{1,-1})^2}{1 + \alpha a \left( 1 + \frac{2k_{1,-1}}{i\alpha} \right)} \right| \sim 1$ 

In order to understand when the power behavior dominates and when the exponential behavior dominates we have to solve the inequality

$$\frac{d_1}{\alpha^2 t^{3/2}} < d_3 e^{-d_2 t/\alpha^2} \, .$$

A straightforward calculation gives that this inequality is satisfied for any  $t \in [t_1, t_2]$ , where  $0 < t_1 < t_2$  are given by

$$t_1 = -\frac{3\alpha^2}{2d_2}W_0(z)$$
 and  $t_2 = -\frac{3\alpha^2}{2d_2}W_{-1}(z)$  (15)

where

$$z = -\frac{2}{3} \frac{d_2 d_1^{2/3}}{\alpha^{10/3} d_3^{2/3}} \,.$$

This interval is not empty provided that the argument z of the Lambert function is between (-1/e, 0); which holds true for  $\alpha$  large enough. Furthermore, we should remark that

$$t_1(\alpha) \sim \frac{d_1^{2/3}}{\alpha^{4/3} d_3^{2/3}} \ll 1 \text{ and } t_2(\alpha) \gg 1$$



**Fig. 2** Plot of the absolute value of the survival amplitude  $P(t) = |\langle \psi_1, e^{-itH_\alpha}\psi_1 \rangle|$  given by the dominant terms of (14) for large times  $t \in [100, 6000]$  and for different values of  $\alpha$ , here we fix  $a = \frac{1}{2}$ . Around  $t = t_2(\alpha)$  a transition of the decay law starts; for  $t < t_2(\alpha)$  the exponential decay dominates, while for  $t > t_2(\alpha)$  the power law decay dominates

because  $W_0(\zeta) \sim \zeta$  if  $|\zeta| \ll 1$  and

$$W_{-1}(-\xi) \sim \ln(\xi) - \ln(-\ln(\xi))$$

if  $0 < \xi \ll 1$ .

Finally, we can resume these results in the following statement.

**Proposition (decay transition)** Let  $\alpha > 0$  be large enough, and let  $t_2(\alpha)$  given by (15). Let  $\langle \psi_1, e^{-itH_{\alpha}}\psi_1 \rangle$  be the survival amplitude of the state  $\psi_1$  given by (14) and consisting by a superposition of the exponential and power law decay terms. Then a transition from the exponential to the power law decay term starts around  $t_2(\alpha)$ . More precisely, for  $t < t_2(\alpha)$  the exponential decay term dominates, while for  $t > t_2(\alpha)$  the power law decay term dominates (see Fig. 2).

Acknowledgements I'm very grateful to Sandro Teta for fruitful discussions. I thank very much Gian Michele Graf and Kenji Yajima for useful comments to my talk. This work is partially supported by Gruppo Nazionale per la Fisica Matematica (GNFM-INdAM).

## References

- 1. S. Albeverio, F. Gesztesy, R. Hoegh-Krohn, H. Holden, *Solvable Models in Quantum Mechanics* (Springer, Berlin, 1988)
- R.M. Corless, G.H. Gonnet, D.E. Hare, D.J. Jeffrey, D.E. Knuth, On the Lambert W function. Adv. Comp. Math. 5, 329–359 (1996)
- M.B. Erdogan, W. Green, M. Goldberg, Dispersive estimates for four dimensional Schrödinger and wave equations with obstructions at zero energy. Comm. PDE 39, 1936–1964 (2014)
- 4. P. Exner, M. Fraas, Resonance asymptotics in the generalized Winter model. Phys. Lett. A **360**, 57–61 (2006)
- 5. P. Exner, M. Fraas, The decay law can have an irregular character. J. Phys. A **40**, 1333–1340 (2007)
- 6. P. Exner, Solvable models of resonances and decays, in *Proceedings of the Conference Mathematical Physics, Spectral Theory and Stochastic Analysis*, ed. by M. Demuth, W. Kirsch (Goslar 2011; Birkhuser, Basel, 2013)
- G. García-Calderón, I. Maldonado, G. Villavicencio, Resonant-state expansions and the longtime behavior of quantum decay. Phys. Rev. A 76, 012103 (2007)
- M. Goldberg, Transport in the one-dimensional Schrödinger equation. Proc. Am. Math. Soc. 135, 3171–3179 (2007)
- 9. K. Gottfried, Quantum Mechanics: Fundamentals (Springer, New York, 2003)
- 10. I. Herbst, Exponentially decay in the Stark effect. Commun. Math. Phys. 75, 197–205 (1980)
- A. Lo Surdo, Sul fenomeno analogo a quello di Zeeman nel campo elettrico. Atti R. Accad. Lincei 22, 664–666 (1913); Über das elektrische Analogon des Zeeman-Phänomens. Phys. Zeit. 15, 122 (1914)
- Yu.G. Peisakhovich, A.A. Shtygashev, Formation of a quasistationary state by Gaussian wave packet scattering on a lattice of N identical delta potentials. Phys. Rev. B 77, 075327 (2008)
- A. Sacchetti, Quantum resonances and time decay for a double-barrier model. J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 49, 175301 (2016)
- A. Sacchetti, Corrigendum: quantum resonances and time decay for a double-barrier model. J. Phys. A Math. Theor. 49, 175301 (2016)
- W. Schlag, Dispersive stimates for Schrödinger operators: a survey, in *Mathematical Aspects* of *Nonlinear Dispersive Equations (AM-163)* ed. by J. Bourgain, C.E. Kenig, S. Klainerman (Princeton University Press, Princeton, 2007), pp. 255–286
- E. Schrödinger, Quantisierung als Eigenwertproblem (Dritte Mitteilung: Störungstheorie, mit Anwendung auf den Starkeffekt der Balmerlinien). Ann. Phys. (Leipzig) 80, 437–490 (1926)
- 17. B. Simon, Resonances in *n*-body quantum systems with dilation analytic potentials and the foundations of time-dependent perturbation theory. Ann. Math. **97**, 247–274 (1973)
- 18. J. Stark, Observation of the separation of spectral lines by an electric field. Nature **92**, 401 (1913)
- S.R. Wilkinson et al., Experimental evidence for non-exponential decay in quantum tunnelling. Nature 387, 575–577 (1997)
- 20. R.G. Winter, Evolution of a quasi-stationay state. Phys. Rev. 123, 1503–1507 (1961)